SI 2.3:59

BUREAU

OF
AMERICAN

ETHNOLOGY

BULLETIN 59



KUTENAI TALES

BOAS



(6881)

WASHINGTON STATE LIBRARY

Date I

May 19'47		
1092		_
May 2	150	_
Deci	3,2007	_
		_
		_
		_
		_
		-
		-
		_
		-
		-
		-
		-
		-
•		

SMITHSONIAN INSTITUTION BUREAU OF AMERICAN ETHNOLOGY BULLETIN 59

KUTENAI TALES

FRANZ BOAS

TOGETHER WITH TEXTS COLLECTED BY ALEXANDER FRANCIS CHAMBERLAIN



WASHINGTON
GOVERNMENT PRINTING OFFICE
1918

LETTER OF TRANSMITTAL

SMITHSONIAN INSTITUTION,
BUREAU OF AMERICAN ETHNOLOGY,
Washington, D. C., March 3, 1915.

SIR: I respectfully submit herewith for your consideration the manuscript of a work entitled "Kutenai Tales," by Franz Boas, "together with texts collected by Alexander Francis Chamberlain," with the recommendation that this material be published, with your approval, as Bulletin 59 of this Bureau.

Yours, very respectfully,

F. W. Hodge, Ethnologist-in-Charge.

Dr. Charles D. Walcott, Secretary of the Smithsonian Institution.

 \mathbf{m}

PREFACE

THE following collection of Kutenai tales embraces a series of texts collected by the late Alexander F. Chamberlain in 1891, and another one collected by me in the summer of 1914. The texts collected by Dr. Chamberlain were told by two men—Paul, who, according to information received in 1914, lived near St. Eugène Mission, and who had spent some time among the Blackfeet; and Michel, who belonged to the same region. The name of the narrator of the Lower Kutenai tales is given in "The International Congress of Anthropology" (Chicago, 1894) as Angi McLaughlin. The texts recorded by Chamberlain are brief. It should be remembered that these were recorded on the first field expedition ever undertaken by Dr. Chamberlain, and that it requires a considerable amount of practice to record long tales. This accounts to a great extent for the fragmentary character of his notes.

Among the texts collected by me, one was told by Pierre Andrew, a man about 33 years of age, who has a good command of English. He is not able, however, to interpret with any considerable degree of accuracy the grammatical forms of Kutenai, so that his own translation is always a rather free rendering of the Indian sentences. Two tales were told by Pierre Numa, an older man, who, however, spoke so rapidly that the tales had to be redictated by Pierre Andrew, who served as interpreter. Three other tales were told in the same way by Mission Joe, a man about 60 years old, whose dictation was repeated by Felix Andrew, a young man who speaks English very well, but whose ability to interpret the Indian texts word by word was even less than that of Pierre Andrew. One tale was told by Felix Andrew himself and was recorded by Mr. Robert T. Aitken. The rest of the stories were told by Barnaby, a man about 60 years of age, who, after very short practice, learned to speak slowly and distinctly, and whose dictation was perfectly satisfactory. All these tales were recorded without translation; and the translation was made later on, in part with the assistance of Pierre Andrew, in part with that of Felix Andrew. All my informants were Upper Kutenai, and the revision of Chamberlain's tales was also made by Upper Kutenai; so that the dialectic forms of the Lower Kutenai have probably disappeared.

It is interesting to note that Barnaby refused to tell the Mosquito story (p. 25), because, as he said, it was proper for children, not for adults.

I wish to express my sincere thanks for much kindly assistance rendered to me in the course of my work by Rev. F. E. Lambot, O. M. I., and the Sisters in charge of the Government School of St. Eugène.

Franz Boas

CONTENTS

Ата	PHABET	P
	I. Texts Collected by Alexander F. Chamberlain in 1891 (Nos. 1-4	(4)
,		/
	[NOS. 1-23 (WITH INTERLINEAR TRANSLATION). TOLD BY PAUL]	
1.	Coyote and Fox	
2.	Coyote and Locust	
3.	Coyote and Locust	
4.	Coyote and Grizzly Bear	
5 .	Coyote goes visiting	
6.	Coyote and Buffalo	
7.	Coyote and Butterfly	
8.	Coyote and Grouse	
9.	Coyote and Star	
10.	Coyote and the woman	
	Coyote and the manitou with the hat	
12.	Coyote and the Ducks	
13.	Coyote and Owl	
14.	Chickadee and Elk	
15.	Frog and Partridge	
16.	Beaver and Turtle	
17.	Skunk and Panther	
18.	The Mosquito	
	The Man and the Wasps	
20.	Lame Knee	
21.	The youth who killed the chiefs	
22.	The white man	
23.	The Frenchman and his daughters	
[1	NOȘ. 24-31 (NOS. 24 AND 25 WITH INTERLINEAR TRANSLATION). TOLD BY MICH	EL]
24.	Coyote and Owl	
	Coyote and Trout	
	Skunk and Panther	
27.	The Deluge	
	Chicken Hawk and Toad	
	Race of Frog and Antelope	
	The woman and the giant	
	The two Tsa'kap	
	[NOS. 82-87, LOWER KUTENAI. TOLD BY ANGI MCLAUGHLIN]	
32.	Chipmunk and Owl	
	The Sun	
-	Fox and Skunk	
	Coyote and Caribou	
	Coyote and Owl	
	Covote and Deer	

[NC	os. 38-44 (WITH INTERLINEAR TRANSLATION). DESCRIPTION OF DANCES, GAMES,	AND
	HUNTING]	Dom
20	Kissing dance	Page 50
	Sun dance	50
	Manitou performance	52
	Medicine performance	52
	Gambling	52
	Games	52
	Hunting on the plains	52
	II. Texts Collected by Franz Boas (Nos. 45-77)	
	[NO. 45 (WITH INTERLINEAR TRANSLATION). TOLD BY PIERRE ANDREW]	
4 5.	Rabbit, Coyote, Wolf, and Grizzly Bear	55
	[NOS. 46 AND 47. TOLD BY PIERRE NUMA AND PIERRE ANDREW]	
46.	Frog and Chipmunk	58
47.	Coyote and Buffalo	60
	[NOS. 48-50. TOLD BY MISSION JOE AND FELIX ANDREW]	
40	The animals and the Sun	66
		68
	Coyote's contests	72
٠٠.	The war our bary trees to the same of the	
	[NO. 51. TOLD BY FELIX ANDREW (RECORDED BY ROBERT T. AITKEN)]	
51.	The giant	82
	[NOS. 52-77. TOLD BY BARNABY]	
5 2	Nałmo/qtse·	84
	Ya,uk ^u e',ka m	88
	(a) The birth of Ya.uk ^u e' _i ka'm	88
	(b) Ya.ukue'ika'm obtains arrow wood	92
	(c) Ya.uk ^u e' _i ka m obtains feathers	98
	(d) Ya.uk ^u e', ka m obtains the arrow straightener	100
	(e) Ya.ukue', ka m obtains sinew	104
	(f) Ya.uk ^u e', ka m obtains flint	104
	(g) Ya.uk ^u e',ka'm obtains bow wood	108
	(h) Ya.ukue'ıka m goes to the end of the world	108
54 .	Coyote and Ya.ukue'ıka m	110
	(a) Coyote and the fat	110
	(b) Coyote and the Giant	112
	(c) Coyote and the Thunderbirds	112
	(d) The animals make the Sun	116
	(e) The Lynx children	118
	(d) The animals make the Sun (continued)	118
5 5.	The people try to kill Ya.uk ^u e' _i ka m	120
	Coyote and Dog	126
	(a) Coyote misses the Deer	126
	(b) Coyote roasts shrews	128
	(c) Coyote and the Beavers	130
	(d) Death of Coyote's son	132
	(e) Coyote tries to steal the Sun	132
57.	Coyote and Grizzly Bear	140

CONTENTS

		Page
5 8	. Coyote and Fox	14
	(a) Young Coyote and Young Fox steal the hoop	14
	(b) Coyote gambles with Salmon	15
	(c) Salmon Woman tries to drown Coyote	15
	(d) Salmon Woman tries to kill Coyote in her tent	15
	(e) Fox kills Salmon	15
	(f) Turtle rescues the Salmon head	160
59 .	. Coyote and the Ducks	160
60 .	. Coyote kills Panther and liberates the Salmon	164
	(a) Coyote kills Panther	164
	(b) Coyote pretends to be Panther	168
	(c) Coyote steals the Salmon	170
	(d) Coyote liberates Salmon	172
	(e) Coyote meets the fisherman Wolverene	174
	(f) Coyote meets the fisherman Sparrow	176
	(g) Coyote leads the Salmon into the fish trap	176
61.	Origin of the seasons	178
	Coyote juggles with his eyes	182
	Coyote and Deer	186
	Coyote and Tree Chief	190
	(a) Coyote becomes Tree Chief's friend	190
	(b) Coyote tries to kill Tree Chief	190
	(c) Wolf rescues Tree Chief	194
	(d) Tree Chief provides food for his grandparents	194
	(e) Tree Chief visits the town of Golden Eagle	198
	(f) Tree Chief provides food for the people	204
	(g) The end of the world	210
65.	Raven	212
	(a) The origin of death	212
	(b) Why the ant has a thin waist	212
	(c) Raven hides the game	212
66.	The Deluge	218
	Wolf	224
	Skunk	230
	Frog and Antelope	244
	The Star husband	246
	Little Sun	248
	Pine Cone	260
	The Kuyo'ukue	266
	The great epidemic	268
	The giant	272
	The giant	272
	The mother-in-law taboo	278
• • •		
	III. ABSTRACTS AND COMPARATIVE NOTES	
Ab	stracts and comparative notes	281
	IV. VOCABULARY	
Kıı	tenai–English	313
	glish-Kutenai	352

ALPHABET

Vowels

\mathbf{a}	e i	o u
(a~)	£.	u, <i>ö</i>
a	i	\mathbf{u}
$\mathbf{a_a}$	$\mathbf{e_i} \; \mathbf{i_i}$	o_u

Consonants

					(dl)
\mathbf{p}	\mathbf{t}	\mathbf{ts}	k, k ^u	\mathbf{q}	
$\mathbf{p}!$	t!	ts!	k!, k! ^u	q!	
	\mathbf{s}		$(\dot{\mathbf{x}})^1$	X	ł
\mathbf{m}	\mathbf{n}				
h, w,	у, '				

- · long sounds.
- : very long sounds.
- short sounds.
- ' principal stress accent.
- ' secondary stress accent.
- separate sounds, particularly in t.s and t.t, indicating that these sounds are not affricatives.
- high tone.
- sinking tone.

Description of Sounds

- e, i represent a sound which is by origin probably a somewhat open i. In contact with velars and palatals, it inclines toward the sound of e. When long, the sound is always slightly diphthongized.
- o, u represent a u with very slight rounding of lips. In contact with velars, it inclines toward the sound of o. When long, the sound is always slightly diphthongized.
- (a"), ι , υ open vowels, often followed by long consonants.
 - ö open short, about as German ü in Hütte. The pronunciation of this vowel differs very much among individuals. Some pronounce a clear ι; others a u. All admit that both these extreme forms are correct.

¹ Only in Coyote's pronunciation.

- a, i, u vocalic resonance of consonants.
- a, e, i, u short weak vowels, very slightly voiced.
 - E very weak vowel of indeterminate timber, lips, palate, and tongue almost in rest position, larynx not raised.
- a_a, e_i, i_i, o_u diphthongized vowels, ending with a decided glottal stricture, so as to be set off from the following consonants, without, however, forming a complete glottal stop.
- p, t, ts, k, k^u , q strongly aspirated surd stops (k^u labialized, q velar). ts is pronounced by many individuals as tc; but careful speakers, particularly old men, pronounced a clear ts. When followed by w or y, the stops lose some of the strength of their aspiration. Terminal k is somewhat palatalized, except when it follows a u.
- p!, t!, ts!, k!, q! very strong glottalized consonants (fortis). ts! has in its continuant part a pure s character.
 - s as in English.
 - x velar spirant.
 - ł voiceless l.
 - dl voiced affricative, only in the word kudlidlus ("butterfly").
 - m, n often strongly sonant, with sonancy beginning suddenly before complete labial or lingual closure.
 - ' glottal stop.
 - 'aspiration. All surd stops are strongly aspirated, but the aspiration has been indicated only in words beginning with a_a '.

The primary accent is always on the penultima, the weak vowels, a, 1, u, not being counted.

KUTENAI TALES

By Franz Boas

TOGETHER WITH TEXTS

Collected by Alexander Francis Chamberlain

I. TEXTS COLLECTED BY ALEXANDER F. CHAMBERLAIN IN 1891 (Nos. 1–44)

[Nos. 1-23. Told by Paul]

1. COYOTE AND FOX

Coyote started. He saw Fox. Coyote said: "Give me your blanket. Let us be friends." Coyote said: "Let us go." Fox said: "Yes, let us be friends." Then he started. He went along. He saw people. There were many tents. Then they had a race.

2. COYOTE AND LOCUST¹

Coyote went along. He saw Locust. He said to him: "Give me your shirt. If you give it to me, you will be my younger brother.

1. COYOTE AND FOX

Ts!\(\text{na'\time' sk\(\ell'\) n'ku'ts. n'u'p\(\time\)_ane na'\(\k\)! eyo's. qake' ine sk\(\ell'\) n'ku'ts He started Fox. He said Coyote: Covote. He saw hamati'ktsu si't!ne's. huts!:n'ala'ane swo'timo. ta'xas qake'ine We shall be "Give me your blanket. friends." skı'n·ku·ts hułts!/naxa'ala. qake'ine na·'k!eyo he ta'xas "Let us go." "Yes. He said Fox: huts!:nała'ane swo'timo. ta'xas ts!:na'xe. qa'na'xe. n'u'pxane we shall be friends." Then he started. He went along. He saw a'qlsma'kinck!s. aa'kat.la'e's. ta'xas n'tkt'n'e yu'naqa'ane' people. Many were their tents. Then he made kałnuxu'kna m. a race.

2. Coyote and Locust

ske'n ku ts. n'u'pxane a_a'kuk.łako'wum's. qak/lne. Qa'na'xe' He went along Coyote. He saw Locust. He said to him: hentsxal'e'n e aa'qa'twumła'atinis. ha'mata'ktsa'p hamate'ktsu "Give me your shirt. If you give it to me you will be

I shall carry you." He said to him: "Don't, we shall be brothers." Coyote started. He carried Locust. The two went. He saw Grizzly Bear coming. Locust said: "Put me off." He was put off. There was a cliff, on the edge of which he staid. (Grizzly Bear Woman) arrived, and (Locust) scared her, and (Grizzly Bear) fell down. Coyote went back. He went around. He reached the place where Grizzly Bear lay. He ate her. He took her out of the fire. He took the meat and the fat. He ate. He tied it up. Coyote started. He carried Locust. He went along. He saw Grizzly Bear (Man) coming. Locust said: "Put me off." Coyote said: "It is my turn. Let me scare him." (Grizzly Bear) arrived. Coyote became a stump. Grizzly Bear arrived. He said: "Let me bite him." He saw it was Coyote. Coyote said: "I am Coyote. Let us start." He knew where Locust was. Coyote said to Grizzly Bear: "Will you eat grease?" Grizzly Bear said: "Yes, I'll eat it." Coyote untied

ka'tsa'. qak.ła'pse a'tutsxalxon'sine. maats huts!mata'ane "Don't! I shall carry you." He said to him: my younger brother. aa'kuk.łako'wum's. tsa'atımo. ts!ına'xe ske'n ku ts. nalxo'une He started Coyote. He carried qa·nak/kine·. n'u'pxane· k.la'wlas ska'se·. qake'ine· aa'kuk.lako'wum The two went. He saw Grizzly Bear coming. He said psxo'unu. psxo'he: sm'umu'k!se: i'nta:s. qaosaqa'ane:. wa'xe:. "Put me off!" He was put off where was a cliff, at edge. There he staid. He arrived. 5 naq!maxo'une;ts wa't!m/ta-ktse'ite. la-qanxa'xe sk/n-ku-ts. made her fall down. He went back He scared her and qakxałaka'me'nqa''tse'. qaoxa'xe' qa'kqa'pse' k.la'wlas. n''kine'. He went around. He reached where lay Grizzly Bear. He ate it. ła.upkak!o'une. tsukua'te aa'ku'łaaks aa'q!u'taals. n'e'kine He took it out of fire. He took meatn'tuk!sa'ane. ts!ma'xe skt'n'ku'ts. nalxo'une aa'kuk.lako'wum's. Coyote. He carried Locust. He fried it. He started qa·na'xe·. n'u'pxane· ska'se· k.ła'włas. qake'ine· aa'kuk.łako'wum He went along. He saw coming Grizzly Bear. He said 10 p/sxo'unu. qake'ine sk/n·ku·ts ła·ts ka'min huts!/s/nł-"Put me off." I myself shall He said Coyote: "In turn ske'n ku ts. qaoxa'xe. n'anqa'pte'k aa'qulu'k!pko. haq!maxo'une'. Coyote. He became He arrived n'u'pxane k.ła'wła. huł'' t!xa. qake'ine qawaka'xe' "Let me bite He arrived Grizzly Bear. He said: He saw ske'n'ku'ts. qake'ine ske'n ku ts hun'e'n e ske'n'ku'ts'. "I am Coyote. it was Covote. He said Coyote: hułts!/naxa'ala. n'u'pxane: sa.usaqa'pse: aa'kuk.lako'wum's. qa-He said where was Locust. He knew qake'ine aa'q !u'tał. k.ła′włas sk⁄n·ku·ts kıntsxa'l'e'k 15 ke'he grease? " He said "Will you eat ${
m to}$ ${
m him}$ to Grizzly Coyote: Bear ka'łxo· ske'n'ku'ts. k.ła′wła hutsxal''\(\ell'\)kine'. n'aqte'ite he. Coyote. I will eat it." He untied what "Yes, Grizzly carried Bear:

what he was carrying. He gave it to him. (Grizzly Bear) saw it. Grizzly Bear said: "Did you not see an old woman? She must have passed here." Coyote said that he had not seen anything. Coyote said: "It is Beaver, therefore it is fat." Grizzly Bear said: "It is not Beaver." Coyote said: "You ought to have said, 'It is the old woman.'" Coyote started to run. Coyote was going along. (Grizzly Bear) pursued him. Grizzly Bear thought: "First let me bite the little one." Grizzly Bear thought he was on the right trail. "Later on, after I have bitten him, I will bite (this one)." Grizzly Bear started. He pursued Coyote. Coyote went along. He was tired. He chased him around the tree. He fell down and thrust his hand into a (buffalo) horn. Coyote pursued Grizzly Bear. He overtook him. He struck him. Coyote turned back.

3. COYOTE AND LOCUST

Coyote went along. He saw Locust. He (Locust) carried his leg. Coyote saw it. Coyote thought: "Let me also break my leg."

namate'ktse'. tseika'te'. qake'ine' k.ła'wła kınqa.upxa'ke'ł tı'lna Grizzly Bear: He saw it. He said "Did you not see He gave it to him. woman? nas qa'kilqaha'xe'. qake'ine ski'n ku ts lu'ne la tseika'te qake'ine Here she must have passed." He said Coyote nothing he saw. ski'n·ku·ts n'i'n·e· si'n·a słaqałsi'kine·. qake'ine· k.ła'wła qa.i'n·e· "It is beaver, therefore it is fat." He said Grizzly st'n'a. qake'ine skt'n'ku'ts xmanqake'ine n't'n'e tt'ha. no tsanqku-"Ought you to have 'It is beaver." He said Coyote: He started woman.'" pekt'me'k skt'n'ku'ts. qana'xe' skt'n'ku'ts. mtyaxna'pse'. qalwi'yne' Coyote. He pursued him. He thought Coyote. He went along to run k.ła'wła hu'pa_aks hułsł'c't!xa na ktsaqu'na. qałwi'yne k.ła'wła Grizzly Bear: "First let me bite this little one." He thought Grizzly Bear ksu'kqanme'te-k. ta'xta hunul'et!xa'mi-l kutsxal'e't!xa. ts!ena'xe-"Later on after I have bitten him I'll bite him." he was on right trail. He started k.ła'wła. m/tya'xane sk/n'ku'ts. qa'na'xe sk/n'ku'ts. nukulu'kune. Grizzly Bear. He pursued Coyote. Coyote. He went along He was tired. aa'kts!la'e'ns na'kamala'tnota'pse'. qanaxu'ne' qanaq!aleixo'me'k he chased him around it. He fell down: he thrust his hand into łaxanxo'une. 10 aa'ku'qle''s. mtya'xane' ske'n ku ts k.ła'włas. He pursued Coyote (subj.) Grizzly Bear (obj.). He overtook him. a horn. qanla'lte'. ła·łuquałqa′tse· ske'n ku ts. Coyote. He struck him. He turned back

3. Coyote and Locust

Qa'na'xe skt'n'ku'ts. n'u'pxane aa'kuk.lako'wum's. nalxo'une He went along Coyote. He saw Locust. He carried aa'ksa'q!e's. n'u'pxane skt'n'ku'ts. qalwi'yne skt'n'ku'ts a'a'ke his leg. He saw it Coyote. He thought Coyote: "Also

Then Coyote broke his leg. He carried it. Then Coyote started. Coyote carried his leg. He saw Locust. Locust said: "Is there any one similar to me?" Coyote said: "I am that way, too." Locust said: "We shall be friends." Then Locust said: "Now, go ahead. You go first." Then Coyote started ahead. Behind him was Locust. He went along. He thought: "I shall kill Coyote." Then Coyote ran. He went way around. He caught up with him and went ahead. He went along. He was tired. Locust reached him. He kicked him. Locust killed Coyote. Locust started. He went along. Coyote lay there for several days. Magpie flew along. He saw Coyote lying there. He thought: "Let me eat Coyote's eyes; he is dead." Then Magpie ate Coyote's eyes. Coyote came back to life. Coyote said: "A manitou passed by here. He carried

ka'min huł'um'tskin kaa'a'ksaq!. ta'xas n'umitski'n e aa'ksa'q!e's let me break my leg." Then he broke his leg ske'n kurts. nalyo'une. ta'xas ts!ena'xe ske'n kurts. nałyo'une· He carried it. he started Covote. Then He carried Coyote. aa'ksa'q!e's ska'n'ku'ts. n'u'pxane aa'kuk.lako'wum's. qake'ine He saw Locust. his leg Coyote. He said a'akuk.łako'wum a'a'ke k.łqa'qa qa'psin huya'aqaqapm'lke. "Also is there something that is like me?" 5 qake'ine a'a`ke ske'n ku ts ka'min huqaqa'ane. qake'ine am that way." "Also Coyote: Ι He said huts!/n·ała/ane· aa'kuk.łako'wum ta'xas $swv't_imo.$ qake'ine "We shall be friends." Then a 'kuk.łako' wum ta'xa łu'n u n'nko u's' me k. ta'xas ts!:na'xe' "Now go ahead you first." Then started n'/n'e' u's'me'ks sk/n'ku'ts. iłna'ha'ks aa'kuk.łako'wum. qa'na'xe'. Behind Coyote. Locust. He went along. qałwi'yne huł'u'pi ł sk'n ku ts. ta'xas tskna'kine sk'n ku ts. Then "Let me kill Coyote!" He thought: he ran Coyote. 10 n'tktkqla 'lalqa 'tse'. la laxanxo'une qa'yaqa na'xe'. qa'na'xe'. He caught up with him he went ahead. He went way around. He went along. nuk.łu'kune. ła xa'xe a kuk.łako'wum. qanaqł/kxane. n'ip/lne He kicked him. He was tired. He reached him Locust. He killed sk/n·ku·ts· aa'kuk.łako'wum. ts!/na'xe· aa'kuk.łako'wum. qa·na'xe·. Covote (obi.) He started Locust (subj.). Locust. He went along. qakqa'ane skt'n ku ts. qa'na'n'oxo'une' a'n'an. na qsanmi'yet.s Several days he lay there Ho flew along Coyote. n'u'pxane sakqa'pse skı'n ku ts. qalwi'yne hul'ı'kımi laa'kaqlı'l'e s He saw him He thought: "Let me eat lying there Coyote. pa·ł ks/l'e·p. ta'xas n'c'kine 15 sk/n·ku·ts aa'kaql:l':/se's a'n'an Coyote's, he has been Then he ate Magpie his eyes dead." ske'n'ku'ts'. sk/n·ku·ts ła 'tq !a'nxa'm'ne'. qake'ine sk/n·ku·ts Coyote's. Coyote came back to life. He said Coyote:

10

Locust (obj.)

his leg and killed me." Coyote started and went back. He saw Locust. He slapped himself. Out came his corpses. He said to them: "Tell me, how shall I kill him?" He was told by one of them: "He is always carrying his leg." He was told by the other one: "I shall be a knife. I shall be on the sole of your foot. When you overtake him and he says, 'You shall go ahead,' you shall say, 'You go ahead.'" Locust started. Coyote was behind. Coyote ran. He overtook Locust. He kicked him. Coyote killed Locust. Enough.

4. COYOTE AND GRIZZLY BEAR

Coyote went along. He saw Grizzly Bear's dung, unchewed wild rhubarb. Coyote laughed. Coyote took Grizzly Bear's dung. Coyote hung Grizzly Bear's dung on a pole in a line. He laughed. Coyote started. Grizzly Bear was staying there. He thought: "Let

na_as qaha'xe nöpı'k!a. nalxo'_une a_a'ksa'q!e s n'upla'p_ine ts!ına'xe "Here passed a manitou. his leg and killed me." He carried He started a_aʻkuk.łakoʻwum's. sk/n·ku·ts łaxa/xe·. n'u/pxane· qanla'lte k Coyote and went He saw Locust. He slapped himself. n'akaxo'se a_a'kuq!layet!/n'e's. qak/lne tsxanata'pkil Out came his corpses (dung). He said to them: "Tell me. kutsa_aqal'u'pe·l. k!o'k!we·'s qak.la'pse· pec'k!a·ks n'upsla·'t_iyi·lqalshall I kill him?" he was told: "Already By one always he carries xo'une aa'ksa'q!e's. k!o'k!we's qak.la'pse ka'min hutsxal'.'n'e his leg." By the other he was told: a_a 'k. $k'k_i$ ne·s hutsqa'kdq!a'ane. han'i nalaxa'me l a, ktsa'ma'i. I shall hang at it. The sole of your When you overtake qa'k.le's nı'nko u's'me'k ı'n'en' hınts!qakı'lne' nı'nko ı'n'en' u's'me'k' first be,' you will say to him, 'You be ts!/na'xe' aa'kuk.lako'wum ilna'ha'ks n'/n'e' sk/n'ku'ts. ts!/na''kine' behind was he Coyote. skı'n ku ts. łaxa'xe' a 'kuk łako'wum's. qa nak likxane. n'ipi'lne He overtook Locust. He kicked him. He killed him aa'kuk.łako'wum's skr'n ku ts. ta'xas.

4. COYOTE AND GRIZZLY BEAR

Enough.

Coyote (subj.).

Qa·na'xe·sk'ın·ku·ts. n'u'pxane· aa'q!ul''se·s k.la'wlas qaa'qtsxane· He went along his dung Coyote. He saw Grizzly Bear's, wu'm'a:ls. n'uma'tsine: skt'n:ku:ts. tsukua'te: aa'q!ul't'se:s k.la'wlas He laughed Coyote. He took his dung Grizzly Bear's skan kurts. ne lilqa hatsxomu'n e kala'wlas a 'q lul'a'sers ska'n kurts. He hung it on a pole in a line Grizzly Bear's n'uma'tsine: ts!/na'xe sk/n·ku·ts. qaosaqa'ane k.la'wla. qalwi'yne He laughed. He started Coyote. There staid Grizzly Bear. He thought:

¹ Two pieces of dung.

me go (and see) why Coyote is always laughing." Grizzly Bear went there. He saw his dung hanging there. Grizzly Bear became angry. He thought: "Let me go and kill Coyote." Grizzly Bear started. He saw Coyote coming. He thought: "What does Coyote like?" Grizzly Bear thought: "Let me make sisketoon berries." He made sisketoon berries. He staid there. He thought: "I shall bite him right here." Coyote went along. He saw many sisketoon berries. He went there; he ate and spit them out again. Coyote said: "If Grizzly Bear had seen this, what an amount of dung there would be!" Coyote started. Grizzly Bear was angry. He thought: "If I don't bite you!" Coyote went along ahead. Grizzly Bear made choke cherries just at that place. Coyote went there. He ate and spit them out again. Then Coyote started. Then (Grizzly Bear thought): "I shall bite you." Coyote went along ahead. Just there Grizzly Bear made large rose hips. Coyote went there. He saw many rose hips. Then

hułts!/na'meił qa'psins sła'qała'tiyił'u'mats sk/n'ku'ts. qaoxa'xe' long time laughs Covote." what k.ła'wła. n'u'pṣane aa'q!u'l'e's sakilq!a'nse sa'ndwi'yne k.la'wła. Grizzly Bear. He saw his dung hanging. He became angry Grizzly Bear. qałwi'yne hułts!\na'meił huł'u'peił sk\'n ku'ts. ts!\na'\xe k.lawła. let me kill Covote." He thought: "Let me go He started Grizzly Bear. n'u'pxane ska'se sk'n kuts. qalwi'yne qa'psins n''n'e ns ktsla'keil He thought: "What Coyote. does he coming skı'n ku ts. qalwi 'yne k.la'wla hul'e' itkın sq !o'm o. n'ıtkı'ne sq !o'm os. He thought Grizzly "Let me sisketoon He made sisketoon make berries." berries. qaosaqa'ane: qałwi'yne: naasts kutsqaakil'i't!xa. qa:na'xe: sk/n:-I shall bite him." He staid there. • He thought: "Here He went along Coyn'u'pxane yu naqa'pse s sq!o'm o's. qaoxa'xe n'c'kine ts sisketoon berries. He went there; he ate and He saw many ła'matqłaxwa'ate: qake'ine: ski'n:ku:ts ła.isnakatni'kte:t k.ła'wła he spit them out again. He said Coyote: "If he had seen this Grizzly Bear, xma ła'akasqantsłaq!uxne'ile'k. ts!:na'xe ski'n'ku'ts. sa'n:lwi'yne' how big he would have defecated." He started Coyote. He was angry 10 k.ła'wła. qałwi'yne hukntsxałqa't !xant'sine qa'na'xe skt'n ku'ts "If I do not bite you." He went along Grizzly Bear. He thought: u's'me·ks. qaoxal'itk/ne· aa'ke·'lma·k!s k.la'wla. qaoxa'xe· sk/n-Grizzly Bear. He went there choke cherries Just there he made łamatqłaxwa'ate. ta'xas ts!/na'xe' sk/'n'ku'ts. n'c'kine ku^ts. he spit it out again. Then he started Covote. ote. ta'xas huts'/t!xan/sine. qa'na'xe sk/n'ku ts u's'me ks. qaoxal'/t-He went along Then "I shall bite you." Coyote first. There wuq!o''pe's 2 k.ła'wła. qaoxa'xe sk'n ku ts. k⁄n'e∙ n'u'pxane large rose hips (?) He went there Grizzly Bear. Coyote. He saw he made

² Similar to rose hips (q!u'lwa), but larger.

he ate. He stood there eating. He saw many rose hips in the bushes. He went to the place where there were many rose hips. There was Grizzly Bear. Then Coyote shut his eyes and chewed rose hips. He did not see Grizzly Bear. [He was lying there.] He went there to pick and eat them. Grizzly Bear took hold of him together with the bushes. Grizzly Bear said: "What did you say?" Coyote said: "I said, 'I wonder whether Grizzly Bear is hungry." Grizzly Bear said: "No, you said something else."—"No, I said, 'I wonder whether Grizzly Bear is hungry."—"No, I didn't mean that first; I said that before ??." He hit him while saying so; Coyote hit Grizzly Bear with his elbow. Coyote ran off quickly. Nothing runs so fast as he was running. Coyote started. Coyote was pursued by Grizzly Bear. Coyote went along. Grizzly Bear made many turns. Grizzly Bear caught up with him. Coyote went ahead.

yu naqa'pse q!u'łwaas. ta'xas n'e'kine. ya'wetsi'net!xa'me k. Then rose hips. he ate. He stood eating. n'u'pxane: ło qtsqa 'haks yu naqa'pse: wuq!o 'pe s . qaoxa'xe: rose hips (?). He went there in the thick (bushes) many ya'k¿łyu'naqa'pske' wuq!o''pe's. saosaqa'ane' k.ła'wła. ta'xas to where there were many rose hips (?). There was Grizzly Bear. ts!o·p/nła·te`qł/łxa'me·k sk/n·ku·ts wuq!o·'pe·s·. qa.u'pxane· k.la'w-Coyote rose hips (?). he shut his eyes and chewed Not he saw Grizzly [słqa'oxakqa'pse:.] qa'oxuałhałq!at!e:xa'me:k. nct!qaoxała's. 5 [He was lying there.] He went there to pick and eat them. Bear. q!o·nawo·k/nmun·a/pse· k.ła/wła. qake/ine· k.ła/wła qa· k/\nskił/a-hold of him with the bushes Grizzly Bear. He said Grizzly "What qake'ikił. qake'ine ski'n ku ts ma koqua'ke łaa 'qak.ła tinkiki no'uk-"I said. say?" 'I wonder whether he may be He said Coyote: qake'ine k.la'wla wa'ha ma kın'ak!lana'ke wa'ha tse k k.ła wła. He said Grizzly Bear: "No, you said differently." - "No, hungry ma koqua'ke łaa 'qak. ła 'tınkık ino'uktse k k. ła 'wła. wa'ha hoqa. e -'I wonder whether he may be hungry Grizzly Bear.'" - "No, I said, ł/kte· qo ho·'pa·k qo· ta·x ma hu`skiłqake'ine·. nałatke`k/lq!anluk- 10 that then I said before." He hit him while saying xo'ume·k neis qaqkupnu'qtaptsek!ane·ya'xane· k.lawlas sk/n·ku·ts. that he hit him with his elbow Grizzly Bear (obj.) Coyote. no tsangkupe ka me k ska n ku ts. xa'tsqa'nuxu'nek₄'me·k He ran off quickly Coyote. Nothing runs as fast ma'łqa. ts!:na'xe ski'n ku ts. mitiyaxna'pse k.ła'wła ski'n ku ts. He started together(?). Coyote. He was pursued by Grizzly Bear Coyote. ske'n ku ts. ła'łaxann'tkkkqla.'lalqa.'tse qa'na'xe sk'n ku'ts. He made many turns Coyote. Coyote. He caught xo'une k.ła'wła. qa'yaqa'na'xe: qa'na'xe: sk/n'ku'ts. n'/tk/kqla'- 15

He went along

Coyote,

He made

He went ahead.

Grizzly Bear.

He went along. Coyote made many turns. Then Coyote became tired. He asked for the help of the manitous. He said to them: "Tell me, what shall I do? Grizzly Bear is pursuing me." He was told by one of them: "I shall be a river." He was told by another one: "I shall be a tree." He was told by another one: "I shall be a tent. Then when Grizzly Bear comes, you will come out, you will say to him, 'Dead!¹ you wish you could bite me.'" A tree was bobbing up and down. He said to him: "I shall hold the tree with my feet." He held it with his foot. (The Bear) walked across the water. He just came to the middle. He was in the middle over the water. Coyote let go of the tree [with his foot]. Then it bobbed up and down again. Grizzly Bear fell into the water. He was drowned. Enough.

5. Coyote Goes Visiting

Coyote had a tent and was married to Dog. He told his children: "Over there is the tent of your uncles; they are never hungry; you

łałąa·'tse· ski'n·ku·ts. ta'xas nuk.łu'kune· ski'n·ku·ts. n'akmi'nte·. Then many turns Coyote. became tired Coyote. He asked for the help qak/he· tsxa\nata'pkeił kaas kuł'aqa'ke·n skanuta'pine· k.ła'wła. "Tell me, what shall I do? He said to he pursues me them: klo'klwe's qak.la'pse ka'min hutsxal'ı'n'e a_a'kınmi'tuk. klo'klwe's shall be he was told: a river." qak.ła'pse· ka'min hutsxał'.'n'e aa'k.ts!ła'e'n. k!o'k!we's qak.ła'pse· he was told: By one aa'kit.la''nam. ta'xas he'n'wa'm k.la'wla 5 ka'min hutsxał'ı'n e when he comes. Grizzly Bear shall be a tent: Then hen tsł'a kaxa''mne. hentsqake'lne n'epna'mne kenga'lwiy kents!you will come out. You will say to him, 'some one dead you wish 't!xanap. wane'ise aa'kets!la'e'ns. qake'lne hu'tsawi'tseke'n'e en bite me.'" Moved up and down He said to him: "I shall hold with my feet the aa'kets!la'e'n. na wetseke'n e'. nu lqanka qoq!unu'ne. qa l'en qayatree." He held it with the foot. He climbed across water. Just ske'n ku ts a 'kets!la'e ns. qa'skaqo'qunu'n'e'. pæke'n'e qa'wo_us he was on the middle of it the middle He let go with the tree. Coyote on the water. the foot 10 ta'xas ła wane' ine'. nonaqu'n'e' k.ła'wła. ta'xas. n'upo'qune: He fell into the He was drowned. it moved again. Grizzly Bear. Enough. water

5. COYOTE GOES VISITING

Kqa·ni′t.ła ske'n'ku'ts. ksa·le'ite·t xa′altsins. kqa''ke'ł Coyote. He was married to \mathbf{He} told There being a tent Dog. at qahuwa'sane ałaga'lt!e's sa nit.la ane ałhatsan/ske_ił neis "That there is the tent your uncles, his children: they are never hungry,

^{&#}x27;An exclamation similar to "Confound it!"

ought to visit them." At night Coyote slept. Early the next morning Coyote said to his wife: "Where are my clothes?" Coyote was given his clothing. Coyote dressed himself. Coyote started. He went along. He saw the tent of Kingfisher. Coyote went there. Coyote entered the tent of Kingfisher. He sat down. Kingfisher said: "Where is my sharp horn?" He stretched his hand back. He brought it forward. He put it down in front of himself. Kingfisher took it. He said to his children: "Go and get a switch." His two children went out. They brought in two switches. Kingfisher took them. He tied up his hair over his forehead. Kingfisher hopped about. He made noise when he started. He jumped and stopped on the smoke hole. He jumped down. The two children thought they would look out. Their mother said to them: "Don't look out! He might not find the hole in the ice where he went in."

xma hange na miłka hee. sk'n'ku'ts. kts/łmi'y/t q!u'mne'ine At night you to visit them." he slept Coyote. ought qak/lne wυ'łna·ms telnamu"e sts sk/n·ku·ts kkanmi'yet.ts Coyote: early he said to his wife The next morning ka ku'qła'nt!. namatektse'he aa'kuqla''nt le's ske'n'ku'ts. "Where are my clothes?" He was given them his clothes Coyote. skı'n ku ts. qa·na'xe. n'ituqla'nta'le'k ske'n ku ts. ts!/na'xe He started He went along. He dressed himself Coyote. Coyote. qaoxa'xe. samit.la'ase q!a'pqa'ls. n'u'pxane sk'n kuts. 5 Kingfisher. He went there He saw there was the Coyote. tent of tinaxa''mne a_aʻkzt.łaz'se s q!a'pqa'ł. qaanqa'me'k. sk'n'ku'ts He entered the tent of Kingfisher. Coyote He sat down. q!a'pqa'ł kaas ke''e'n kul'a'sinq!a'k.le'. la'ntaqahe'ine'. qake'ine Kingfisher: "Where my sharp horn?" He put backward his hand. łoʻnquwaʻakaki'nie. qaoxak_in/kts/'he'. tsuk^ua'te' q!a'pqa'l. He put it before himself. It was put there. He took it a'nyaxa'ke_il la·m'.
"Go out and get a switch!" n'anakesxa''mne ałaqa'łt!e's qaki'ine He said to his children: a switch!" They two went out ne_i łkamuk^u'ste k. ła'tkaki's/łk/n'e ła'm's. tsukua'te 10 two children. They brought in two switches. He took tnem q!a'pqa'ł. n'tuk!ua'tstnk!o'nt'le'k. qakqanmt'tinqa'me'k q!a'pqa'l. He tied his hair in front. He hopped about n'a'qkupkilq!a'nlo'kuakı'me'k. a_a'k!anqo''t!e's qaowaxmit'witsq!-He made noise when starting. To the smoke hole he jumped and stopped n'o'nmeno'xunqa'ane'. qalwi'yne łkamuk^u'ste k ne_i He jumped down. there. They thought two children the . kan'a'n'awatska'kine'. qak.ła'pse ma'e's an'awatske'i ma_ats they would look out. She told them "Don't their look out! mother: ła·t- 15 ke_ił. ła'qa.i.'ktsk!a.'qon/le.k. qaosaqa'ane. sk/n·ku·ts. He might not find the hole in the ice where he went in." He staid there Coyote. \mathbf{He}

Coyote staid there. Kingfisher re-entered carrying two switches. He boiled them. Coyote ate. After eating, Coyote left for his tent. He got back at night. Coyote slept that night.

Dog said to her children: "To-morrow you ought to visit your uncles. There is their tent." Coyote slept. Early next day Coyote started. He went along. He arrived at the tent of Moose. He entered the tent of Moose. He sat down. (Moose) said to his wife: "Look this way." She looked at her husband. Moose took a knife. He cut off her nose. He took ashes. He threw them on, and it was whole again. He threw it into the fire. He rolled it in the fire. He took it out of the fire again. He said to his children: "Go and get the roots of a tree." They brought them in. He threw these roots into the fire. He rolled them in the fire. They became guts. He

kaxa''mse q!a'pqa'ls laa'se la'm's. na'nmukule'sine'. n'e'kine' Kingfisher with two switches. He boiled them. He ate re-entered ku'l'e kts ske'n ku ts. ła ts! na'xe sk/n·ku·ts aa'ktt.ła'e's. After eating he left again for his tent. Coyote. Coyote łałaxa'xe kts/mi''y/t.s. q!u'mne'ine sk/n ku ts neis kts/mi''y/t.s. He got back at night. He slept Coyote that Qakt'ine xa'altsin alaqa'lt le's kkanmi'ytt.s xma htnqona'milkt'ine She said Dog to her children: "To-morrow ought sa·n⁄t.ła′ane·. ne_is kq!u"mne sk'n ku'ts. ałhatsan'ske ł. ne_is your uncles. That there is their Heslept Coyote. tent." kkanmi''yet wo'lna'ms ts!ena'xe ske'n ku'ts. qa·na′xe·. łaxa'xe. Next day he started early Coyote. He went along. He arrived sa'nıt.ła'ase' nıtsna'pkous. tınaxa''mne' aa'kıt.ła.ı'se's nıtsna'pkous. Moose. He entered where was the the tent of Moose. tent of qa'nqa'mek. qakı'lne tılnamu''e s la'n a qa'kawıtskı'ke n'. tse ka'te "This He sat down. He said to his wife: look." She looked at aa'ktsa'ma'ls natsna'pku. nu łaqana es. tsuk^ua'te' tuqsata'ate. her husband. He took a knife He cut off her Moose. 10 tsukua'te: aa'koq!mo'ko:ps.1 qawaxmi'te. łaq!ape'ise. xunme'te. He took He threw them on. He threw it into It was whole again. the fire. qa·kqayk!o′une·. ła'upkakı'n'e'. qakı'lne' ałaqa'lt!e's a'nyaxa'ke_ił He rolled it about. his children: He took it out of the He said to "Go and get fire again. aa'kuk!pv'ka'm. ła'tka ke'sełke'n e. xunme'te neis a 'kuk!po'ka ms. the root of a tree." They two brought one in. He threw into those roots. the fire aa'ku'qt!e's. n'n qapta'kse qa·kqayk!o'une: ła u pkak lo une . He rolled them about. They became its guts. He took them out of the fire.

¹ Also aakuq!mö'ko:ps.

He started back

Moose.

Enough.

took them out of the fire. He arose. He slapped his backside, and camas came out. They put it into the kettle. It was given to Coyote. He ate. He finished eating. Coyote said: "To-morrow you will visit my tent." Coyote started back. Coyote arrived back at his tent. On the following day Moose arrived at the tent of Coyote. Coyote was seated. He said to his wife: "Look this way!" His wife looked at him. At once he cut off her nose. At once Dog ran out howling. Dog re-entered. He threw ashes on her, but her nose was not restored. Moose took ashes. He put them on her nose and it was whole again. He said to the two children: "Bring a root." They two went out. They brought it in. He took it. He threw it into the fire. He took it out of the fire. It turned into guts. He rolled them in the fire and gave them to (Coyote). Moose said to him: "Eat." Moose started back. Enough.

n'uwu'kune:. t!akpuk!xo'ume:k n'anan:tsk!a'se: ҳа′ре_is. He slapped his backside, He arose. it came out camas. n'o qo xa'nt.le'sine a'tsous. qaoxakinektse'hne ske'n ku ts. n'e'kine. He ate. the kettle. It was given to Coyote. ku'l'e·k. qake'ine· skı'n·ku·ts kkanmi·'yıt hıntsqona'xe· kakı't.la. "To-morrow He said Coyote: you will visit my tent." He finished eating. ske'n ku ts. a_a'k*t*t.ła'e's łats!/na'xe' ła łaxa 'xe · ske'n 'ku'ts'. at his tent He started back He arrived back Coyote. Coyote. kkanmi'yıt.s łaxa′xe· ntsna′pku a"'kt.ła.t'se·s sk/n·ku·ts·. Next day arrived Moose at the tent of Coyote. qa'nqa'me·k sk/n·ku·ts. qa·k/lne· t*e*łnamu''e s ła'n a "This He sat down He said to Coyote. his wife: qa'kawıtskı'ke'n'. tse_ikata'pse tchamu'e's. łuqkupqsała'ate. look!" She looked at him his wife. Quickly he cut off her nose. n'anmuqkupnoxo.'ne-łk/kwak/me-k xa'altsin. latkaxa''mne Quickly she ran out howling She re-entered qawaxmi'te: aa'kuq!mo'ko:ps qa'qalha'k!anu'qsala'ase:. xa'altsin. He threw on her ashes her nose was not restored. tsuk^ua'te a_a`kuq!mv'ko:ps natsna'pku. qawaxmı'te: 10 He took ashes Moose. He threw them on a_a'kuqsa'ła.'se's. łaq!ape'ise: łkamuk^uzsta'ke's qaki'ine ne_is It was whole again. He said to her nose. two children: those n'a'nakesxa''mne'. a'nya xa'ke_ił aa'kuk!po'kam. łatkake'sełke'n e. a root." They two went out. They brought it in. tsukua'te: n'mqapta'kse' xunm'te. ła.upkakesk!o'une:. He took it. He threw it into He took two out of the fire. They turned into the fire. aa'ku'qt!e's. ła.upkak!o'une: qaoxakini'ktse: qaki'ine e'ikeił. He rolled them about and gave them to him. "Eat!" guts. He said to him: ta'xas. łats!/na′xe·n/tsna′pku. 15

6. COYOTE AND BUFFALO¹

Coyote went along. There was a bull's skull lying there, and he knocked it about. He started off. He went along. There was a He went up the hill. Coyote staid there. There was noise of running. He raised his head quickly, but there was nothing. He sat down again (??). Again there was noise of running. He saw a Buffalo Bull coming. He started to run away quickly. He went along. Then they met again. He went along. Coyote said: "Oh, where are you staying, manitous?" He said: "Nephew, come, trees standing there. our(?)." Coyote saw burnt arrived, and sat down on top of them. Bull butted the tree. broke it. Coyote started to run quickly. Coyote went along. was tired. He said: "Where are you staying, manitous?" He was told: "Nephew, come, our (?)." Coyote went. There lay a stone. He entered it. Bull butted the stone. He broke it. Coyote

6. COYOTE AND BUFFALO

Qa·na'xe· skın ku·ts. skık la''m ala'kse· ni'lsiks ts!ınaqa'ylikı'n e·. A skull lying there he knocked it about. He went along Coyote, a bull's ts!/na'xe. qa'na'xe. sw/tsle./'t.se. qa'oxualyuxa'xe. qaosaqa'ane. He started off. He went along where was a hill. He went up hill. There staid sk/n·ku·ts. nałukm⁄se·. nuknuqkupq!ała''mne ło′_use• He raised his head quickly, not there Coyote. There was noise of qa'psins. laqa'atstakqa'ane. laha'lukm'se. $n'u'px_ane$ ska'se was anything. Again (?). He saw Again there was noise of coming running. no tsznąku pekz me k. qa na 'xe . ta 'xas ła 'xan 'xona 'pse . 5 ni'lsiks. He started to run away quickly. He went along. Then again they met. $qake'_ine$ sk/n·ku·ts hał ya kın'aqasaqa''lqa qa'na'xe'. where are you staying, He said He went along. Coyote: "Oh, nöpe'k!ane''nte-k. tsxa'se pa-t! qaowakaxa''me-n' kaquxma'la. "Nephew, He said: manitous?" our (?)." tseika'te skı'n ku ts sıng!o mkaki'lnoqaku'pse qaoxa'xe skı'n -He arrived burnt trees standing there. He saw Coyote Coyote kuts naqousaq!maxo'ume k. nako'une aa'kats!la'ens ni'lsik. he sat down on top of them. He butted the tree the bull. ske'n ku ts. ske'n ku ts. **10** k!o′_une·. no tsanqkupeka 'me'k qa'na'xe' He went along He started to run away quickly broke it. Coyote. Coyote. nukułu'kune'. qake'ine kın'aqasaqa'lqa nöpık!anı'ntek. qak.la'pse "Where are you staying, manitous?" He said: He was told: pa·t! qaowakaxa''me·n' kaquxma'ła. qaoxa'xe· sk/n·ku·ts sk/knu'kour (?)." He went Coyote where lay a ts/k!k!o',,se'. nukwaq!ma'kkqa'ane'. nako'une' nu'kwe's ni'lsik. He entered it. He butted the bull. He broke it. the stone

started to run away quickly. Coyote went along. There was a (body of) water. Coyote jumped into the water. He dived. The Bull came to the water and drank. He stood there drinking. He drank it all. Coyote started. He went along. He said: "Where are you, manitous?" He heard speaking, and was told: "Nephew, come, our (?)." The two went. There was a little rosebush. Coyote went. He sat down on top of it. The Bull arrived. He butted it. He couldn't break it. Again he butted it. He tore it into shreds. Coyote said: "Now let me go; I will fill a pipe for you." The Bullsaid: "I don't smoke." Coyote said: "I will fill a pipe; I don't know what the Bull likes to smoke." Coyote was told: "I smoke tobacco. When I finish filling the pipe, I hold it up to the sun. It catches fire. It catches fire by means of the sun." (Coyote) was afraid. (The Bull) smoked. He continued to smoke. The Bull said: "I had a wife

ne. norts!/nqkupek/merk sk/nrkurts. qarna/xer sk/nrkurts sk/k-He went along He started to run away quickly Coyote. Coyote q!nu'kse:. nułn/nm/tqu'łe·k sk/n·ku·ts. k!anwa'ts!ne:. xuna'xe· He jumped into the water Coyote. He dived. He came to the water ni'lsik ne¡qu'lne: qa'w¿tsku'xune: n'okouku'xune: ts!¿na'xe sk¿'nand drank. He stood drinking water. He drank it all. kurts. qarna'xer. qake'iner kın'aqasaqar'lqa nöpı'k!anı''nterk. nul-He went along. He said: "Where are you, manitous?" tsxa'se qak.la'pse pa't! qaowakaxa''me'n' kaquxma'la. 5 pa'ine speaking and was told: "Nephew, comeqawıtskı'kine: sınıqa'pse: sq!o:mowokna'nas. qaoxa'xe: skı'nıkuıts. a little rosebush. He went where was łaxa'xe ni'lsik. qo'nanoxo'nlamaneya'nuqo_usaq!maxo'_ume·k. He arrived the bull. He hit it with his head (?). He sat down on top of it. qata'ł'ak!o'une. łaqonaxo'nłamaneya'xane. nata'mk!o'une. $\mathbf{x_a}$ ne: Again he hit it with his head (?). He tore it into He could not break it. qake'ine ski'n ku'ts ta'xas qa'qaski'n u. hutsku'lnak!uk-Coyote: "Now I'll fill a pipe for atuqa.¿knoqo′kuneʻ. qake'ine ni'lsik qake'ine ska'n - 10 $ts_{\ell}'s_{i}ne$. "I do not smoke." He said you." He said the bull: Coyku ts hutskułnak!o'une: hoqa.u'pxami'łne: qa'psinsts l'e'kinoqo'ko "I'll fill a pipe. I do not know what $wasa'q_{\boldsymbol{a}}na\boldsymbol{\cdot} n$ ni'lsik. huts!\(\ell\)knoq\(\nu' \ku\)ne\(\cdot\). qakil'lne skı'n'ku'ts "Tobacco (?) the bull." He was told Coyote: nułkułnak!o'une qaoxawi'tsxane nata'nik!s. tsuku'pxane. It catches fire. I hold it up toward When I finish filling the the sun. pipe qa·k/l'/kno $n' \iota knoq \upsilon' k_u ne'$. $k \nu p x a m \nu' n \cdot e \cdot$ n'on/he. nata''nık!s. fire by means of the sun." He smoked. He was afraid. He continued

"I had a wife

hunała 'lte'tine husł'a qak. lam ala' - 15

where my head

qake'ine ni'lsik.

He said

the bull:

 $qv'k_{u}ne'$.

to smoke.

where my head lay. Let us be friends." Coyote said: "We will go to your wife." The two started. The two went along, and he saw his wife among a crowd. Coyote sharpened his friend's horns. Coyote said: "Now go ahead. When you run along, turn this way." The Bull went there. The Bull was seen running toward the place where Coyote was. He went past. Another Bull arrived. He shot him. Coyote killed him. The other Bull came back. He said: "Let us go to my wives." The two went. Coyote was told: "Which one will you take?" Coyote said: "Let me take the larger one." Coyote started with his wife. The two went along. He said to his wife: "Now go ahead; go up the valley and go across." Coyote started. He went to the valley. He staid there. He saw his wife coming. He broke a stick when his wife was coming. He hit her. It did not enter her body. He laughed at his wife. He said to her:

kine. huts!/n'ala'n'e swo'timo qake'ine sk/n'ku'ts hults!/na'-We shall be friends." He said Covote: xała'e's tełnamu'''ne's. ts!enake'kine'. qa'nake'kine'ts n'o'pxane' They two started. They two went along and he saw thy wife." sakımnalilı'sine tılnamu''e's. laı'sınq!aqle''xane swo''e's skı'n'-He sharpened his horns again his friend's among a crowd his wife. qake'ine: skı'n'ku'ts ta''xa lo'n'u na hınslaqakaxa''mkku^{*}ts. "Now go ahead here when you turn." Coyote: qaoxa'xe' ni'lse'k. n'upxana'pse' ni'lse'ksts mityaxana'pse' 5 tse·k. He went the bull. He was seen the bull łaqaka'xe· yaqaosaqa'pske· ski'n·ku·ts. łaqayaqaha'xe·. wa'xe· where was He went past. coming toward Coyote. He arrived nao'k!we ni'lse k. mi'txane n'ilwa'n e ski'n ku ts. ława'xe• He shot it. He killed it bull. Coyote. He went back nao'k!we ni'lse k. qake' ine hults!ina'xala'e s katalna'mu. qao-He said: "Let us go my wife." bull. They xakı'kıne. qakilı'lne skı'n ku ts ka kı'ntsıltso'uku t. qatwo went. He was told Coyote: "Which will you take?" kwi'lqa $10 \text{ ke'}_{i} \text{ne}$ hutseltsuk^ua'te: sk/n·ku·ts ts!/na'xe \mathbf{na}^{\centerdot} "This let me take!" He started Coyote: large one said qa·nake'kine'. ske'n ku ts n'asma'he tehamu'es. qaki'ine tiltwo together his wife. They two went along. He said to namu''e's ta'xa lo'n'u qo' hank!a'm'na'ke' hantsqanalwat!a'xe'. you will go through across." "Now go ahead, that the valley aa'k!a'm'n'a's. qaqxa'xe ske'n'ku'ts. ts!/na'xe' qo_us qaosa-He started He went there to the valley. Coyote. He staid yaqe'ite a'a'kats wa'se . n'o'pxane ska'se tahamu''e's. coming his wife. He broke a stick coming there. 15 tdnamu"e's. mi'txane'. qatak!o'une'. n'umatsna'ate' tdnamu"e's. It did not go in. He laughed at her He shot her. his wife.

him

Coyote.

"Now go ahead." She started, and he said to her: "Go up the valley and go across there." Coyote started. He ran. there. He stopped there. His wife came. He shot her and killed her. He butchered her and skinned her. There was a flat stone, and he sat down on it. He saw Wolf coming. He thought he would hit it. He was going to get up. He couldn't get up. He shot at that Wolf. He had no more arrows. He took off his bowstring and The Wolf ate that game. struck him with his bow stave. it all. Coyote got up again. He went and took the bones. thought he would break them up. He was told by (a bird): "Don't strike them." Coyote stood there holding an ax. Then Badger pounded them. He finished breaking the bones and put the marrow into the tripe. Coyote was told: "Take hold of my tail." Coyote took hold of (Badger's) tail. (Badger) finished putting in the marrow. Badger started to run away. Coyote followed him.

qaki'ine ta'xa io'n'u. ts!:na'se qaki'ine qou hank!a'm'na'ke He said to her: "Now go ahead." She started. He said to her: "There up the valley qo tax hantsqanalwat!a'xe. ts!:na'xe ske'n ku ts. ts!\ta'kine'. you will go through across." there then He started Coyote. He ran. ła xa xe. qaosaqa ane. wa se tahamu es. mi txane n'awa n'e. He got there. He stopped there. She came his wife. He shot her, he killed her. qa·kts!lanu'kse· nu mitse'ite konu'q!me. qaoxal'esakanu'ne. he skinned her. There was a flat stone; He butchered her, he sat down on it. n'o'pxane ska'se ka'ake ns. qalwi'yne ktsqanla'le t. ktsxal'o'uwuk. He thought he would hit it. He was going to rise. the wolf. coming qatal'uwu'kune: mi'txane neis ka'ake'ns. ła 'litka' ane : luku' c'n e He shot at that wolf. He was without arrows. He took off t!awum'ka'e's qanlaltemu'n'e' aa'k.la'kwo'ute's. n'e'kine ka'ake'n he struck with it his bow stave. his bowstring He ate the wolf q!a'pxane. ła.uwu'kune. skt'n.ku.ts. iya'mu's. qaoxa'xe. ne_is He ate it all. that He got up again Coyote. He went and qałwi'yne ktsaqtsa'kxo. qak.ła'pse· tsuk^ua'te ma'k!/se's. its bones. he would break them up. He was told by took He thought wa'ku'ks maats qanla'lte'n'. qa·qaw/tsk/n/'le·k aa'qu'ta·ls sk/n-(a bird with "Don't strike it." He stood holding an ax white spot on head): ta′xa n'aqtsaxo'une na'ime't!. ku'ts. kułya'q!a qo_us tsın Then he pounded only there Badger. ote. Having finished breaking qana''nte' aa'k.laqpe'sqaps aa'kinu'lmak. qakil'ine ske'n ku ts the marrow. he put them into He was told Coyote: nawitsqatkinka'ane sk'n'ku'ts. kulqana''ne't hawitsqatki'nu. He took hold of the tail "Take hold of my tail." Coyote. He finished putting it inside nu tsanqkupeka me k na'ime't!. aa'kınu'lma'ks. m/te;xa\m\umu-He started to run away Badger. He followed the marrow. $k^{u}a'_{a}ne$ ske'n ku ts. n'upsłatnu tmo'mukua'ane. ła.iłeiqa'ninmitk- 15

He continued to run.

It is thrown backward

continued to run. The tripe was thrown back at him. Coyote licked the tripe. He thought: "I will break it." He was told by (a bird): "I will break it." Coyote was told: "Start for the place where there is a plain on the hill, Coyote." Coyote started. He was told: "Come back when you see smoke; then you shall eat grease." (The bird) was pounding it. He finished pounding it, and put green boughs on the fire. Coyote saw the smoke. He started to come back. Coyote came back. He stood there and looked about. There was nothing there. Here (the bird) dropped a little grease. He looked up. He saw (the bird) flying off. Coyote was standing there helplessly. Coyote was without even a mouthful of (the meat of) his wife.

7. COYOTE AND BUTTERFLY

Coyote went along. He heard some one singing. Coyote reached there. He saw Butterfly. Coyote thought he would steal Butterfly. He said to him: "I don't steal men." Coyote started.

a 'k. ładp' sqaps. n'ta' xane a 'k. ładp' sqaps sk'n kuts. tse'ine the tripe. He licked to him Coyote. qałwi'yne kuts!aqtsa'kxo. qak.la'pse wa'kuks huts!:\sinila\qtsa-He thought: "I will break them." He was told by (a bird): "I will break qakile'lne: ske'n ku ts ts!e'n an' qou haq!an uqle.e'tke kxo'_une . them." "Start for there where is a plain on a hill, He was told Coyote: ske'n kurts. tskna'xe ske'n kurts. qakile'lne hen'u'pxa ya'm uts He was told: "When you see Coyote!" He started Coyote. ta'xas hıntsxal'ı'kine t!ına'mu. 5 hantsła tska 'xe' qa·k/l'aqtsathenyou will eat grease." Along he pounded then come back, kxo'une· wa'kuks. koułaqtsa'kxo· xunakı'n·e· aa'ku'ła·łs. n'u'p-Having finished pounding it he put on fire green boughs. (the bird). ya'm'u's skı'n'ku'ts. ła ts!/na′xe. ła łaxa′xe sk/n·ku ts. $\mathbf{x}_{\mathbf{a}}$ ne: the smoke He started back. He got back Coyote. qaakqa'nwesqa'ane· ło'use· qa'psins. na_as qa'wa_akal'okm_ℓ tse• He stood and looked about; not there was anything. Here she dropped a little t!/na'mu's. wa·w/tsk/kine. n'u'pxane wa'kuks nulnuxu'se. He looked up. (the bird) flew towards water He saw ske'n kurts. parł selre'tkek. le'lqutmo'n rer telna-10 qakuqkatwesqa'ane He was without even a mouthful of his wife In vain he stood there Coyote. mu"e's ske'n ku'ts. Coyote.

7. COYOTE AND BUTTERFLY

ske'n ku ts. nułpałnite't ine ka waszoneya'm es. qao-Coyote. He heard He reached He went along xa'xe sk'n ku ts. n'u'pxane ko dli'dlus pa i niłk'lse qałwi'yne Butterfly it was he. He thought He sawsk'n ku ts ktsxa'lay ko di'dlus. qak.la'pse atu'qaa'yne t'tqa t!. He said to him: "I do not steal he would steal Butterfly. 15 ts!/na'xe ske'n'ku'ts.

He started Coyote.

8. COYOTE AND GROUSE

Grouse was living in a tent and had many children. They were in her tent. Grouse started with her husband. They two were going along. Coyote was going along. He saw the tent of Grouse. Coyote reached there. He entered. There were many children. He took a bag, put them into it, and carried them along. He started. He went along. They broke the bag by scratching it, and went right through the hole. Coyote was going along. He thought: "Now I'll eat." He looked, and there was nothing. Coyote started.

9. COYOTE AND STAR

Star was going along. He saw a child eating earth. It was Goose. He started. He saw a Golden Eagle sitting on a tree. He saw him, and he was screeching. Star also said . . . (??) He went up. He reached the place where the bird was, and killed it (?).

8. COYOTE AND GROUSE

Qanct.la'ane kia'wats yunaqa'pse alaqa'lt le's. qaqa'pse She lived in tent her children. They were in Grouse many kia'wats n'asma'he nulaqana'es. qanak'kne ts!/na'xe Grouse her husband. tent. She started two together They two went qa·na'xe· skı'n ku·ts. n'u'pxane· sanıt.la'ase· kia'wats. qaoxa'xe• He saw He went along Coyote. the tent there of Grouse. He arrived skė'n ku ts. t_ina xa''mne'. yunaqa'pse' łkamnė'nta'ke's. tsuk^ua'te He entered. Many were the children. Coyote. He took aa'tsu'la's qana''nte nalaxo'une ts!na'xe qa'na'xe n'umtshe carried them. He started. he put them He went along. a bag, They kı'n'e' neis aa'tsu''la''s sukqa'naltinaxa'mne'. qa'na'xe' skı'n'ku'ts. broke by that scratching they went right there through He went along a hole. bag, huł'e·'ek. tse_ika'te·ts ło′use: qałwi'yne: ta'xas ts!/na'xe He looked, there was nothing. He thought: "Then let me eat." He started ske'n ku ts. Coyote.

9. COYOTE AND STAR

Qa·na'xe· aa'kklno'hos. n'u'pxane· lka'm·u's n'l'kse· a'm·aks pal He went along He saw a child eating n't'nse kaxu'lo ks. ts!:na'xe n'u'pxane qawtsq!nu'se kiaq!nu'- 10 He started. Goose. He saw standing on a tree $t!alo'_ukse$. a'a'ke k^uats. n'u'pxane. qake'ine aa'kkho'hos. Eagle. He saw it screeching. Also Star. n'iktka'xe. toq!tsqa'mnas łaxa'xe. yaaqaosaqa'pske. ne_is He went up. He reached the bird where it was there n'upla'pse: (and) killed it.

85543°—Bull. 59—18 ——2

10. COYOTE AND THE WOMAN

Coyote went along. There was a hill. He arrived on top. He saw a woman. Then the woman saw Coyote. She was afraid. Then she lay down. Then Coyote started. He saw the woman lying there. He thought she was dead. Coyote said: "Why is she dead? Let me see what killed her." Then he looked. He did not know what had killed her. Then Coyote started toward the backside of the woman. Coyote looked. He saw her backside. He tore it. He put his finger in. He smelled of it. He said: "It stinks. She has been dead for a long time." Then Coyote went on. The woman lay there. She thought: "Let me go to Coyote; let me marry him." Then the woman started. She got there. She said to Coyote: "Let us go to my tent." She started; she got to her tent. She staid there.

10. COYOTE AND THE WOMAN

yoʻʻxa'xe. ske'n ku ts. switslei't.se'. n'u'pxane. Qama'xe There was a hill. He got on top. He went along Coyote. pa''łkeis. ta'xas nei pa''łkei n'u'pxane' ske'n ku'ts'. n'oni'łne'. ta'xas that woman · Coyote. saw She was afraid. ta'xas ts!:na'xe $sk_{\ell}'n$ ·ku·ts. n'u'pxane pa 'ikeis n'itxo'_ume k. Then he started she lay down. Coyote. He saw the woman sakqa'pse: qałwi'yne ks/ł'e ps. qake'ine ske'n•ku•ts qa'psins He thought "What lying there. she was dead. He said Coyote: ks/'l'e'p.'' ta'xas 5 kse'l'e'p. hultseika'tmil qa'psinstse_ika'te: killed her." is she dead? what Let me see Then he looked. qa'psins ks'l'e'ps. ta'xas ts!/na'xe sk/n·ku·ts qa.u'pxane Not be knew killed her. Then he started Coyote aa'kkkpuk!k'se's pa''lkeis. tseika'te ska'n'ku'ts. n'u'pxane aa'kkkputhe He looked to her backside Coyote. woman's. k!/se's. n'u'mitse'ise'. tsaqa'natsq!ahe'ine'. nakums/ke'ite'. qake'ine' side. He tore it. He put his finger into it. He smelled of it. He said: per'k!aks k.lsl'upr'le'k. ksłuktu′k^ue's ta'xas ts!/na'xe' sk/'n'ku'ts. Then Covote. "It stinks, long ago she has been started killed." 10 qa.kqa'ane. qałwi'yne hułts!/na/mi·ł pa''łke_i. ske'n ku ts $\mathbf{ne_i}$ that woman. She thought: "Let me go to She lay there Coyote, kułsał v'te t. ta' xas tskna' xe pa'łke, łaxa' xe qakv'he skv'n ku ts Then she started She said to let me marry him." She got Coyote: woman. there. łaxa'xe ts!na'xe' hułts!/naxa'ła kaa'k/t.ła. a 'kt.la'e's. "Let us go to my tent." She started, she got to her tent. qaosaqa'ane: She staid there.

11. COYOTE AND THE MANITOU WITH THE HAT

Coyote went along. He saw a manitou having a hat made of belly fat. He touched it. He took a piece off. He ate it. Again he broke a piece off. Again he ate it. He was told: "Go away." He was told: "You hurt me." Coyote went off.

12. COYOTE AND THE DUCKS 1

Coyote with his two children went along. There was a lake. He saw many ducks. He said to his children: "Cry!" The children cried. They cried thus: "My father's brothers-in-law!" Coyote cried thus: "My brothers-in-law!" One Mallard Duck said to his children: "Listen! a manitou is crying." Mallard Duck said: "Go to him (and listen to) what he is talking about." One of them went ashore. He came to Coyote. He said to him: "What do you refer to when you cry?" Coyote said: "Come ashore, all of you!" All the ducks came ashore. He pulled out their feathers. Enough.

11. COYOTE AND THE MANITOU WITH THE HAT

ske'n ku ts. nöpι'k!as $n'u'px_ane$ k!ayukua'ase Qa·na'xe· He went along Coyote. He saw a manitou having a hat qasel·uk^ue'n·e·. a_a'kowuma'lqa_aps. qunya'xane'. n'ı'kıne: He took a piece off. made of belly fat. He touched it. He ate it. łaqaszł·uk^uz'n·e·. ła.z'k_ine·. qak.la'pse yu'wa. qak.ła'pse· He was told: "Go away." Again he took a Again he He was told: piece off. h/n'upła'pine:. ts!/na'xe' ske'n ku ts. "You hurt me." He went off Coyote.

12. COYOTE AND THE DUCKS

xałe'es ske'n'ku'ts n'asma'ine Qa·na'xe sk/kq!nu'kse'. with two He went along Coyote his children to where was a lake. yunaqa'pse' xale'e's n'u'pxane kia'qła's. qaki'he e'lan'. ducks. He said to his child: He saw many łka'm'u. qało'ukune ałska't!e's katı'tu. skı'n'ku'ts n'da'n'e $\mathbf{ne_i}$ He cried thus: "His brothers- my father!" \mathbf{child} . He cried that ałka'skat. n'ok!we'ine qało'ukune. kanq!usqwe'ikak qaki'me cried thus: "My brothers-in-Mallard Duck One said to law!" ałaqa'lt!e's tsın k!a'palteixa'keil. nöpe'k!a st'eta'n'e. qake'ine "Only his children: listen ye! A manitou is crying." He said k!o'k!we 10 kanq!usqwe'ikak qunam'lkeil qa'psins k!u'pske'. "Go to him Mallard Duck: what he talks about." One łaxa'xe sk/n kuts. tsinał'upa'xe'. qaki'me qa'psin kin'u'pske went ashore. He came to Coyote. He said to him: "What do you say qake'ine sk'n ku ts q!a'pe upka'keił. q!a'pe n'upka'xe do you cry?" He said come ye ashore." Coyote: "All came ashore q!a'pe's lu''nte kia'qła. aa'kınqoa..'se's. ta'xas. the ducks. he removed their feathers. Enough.

13. COYOTE AND OWL¹

There was a town. A child was crying. It was told: "Don't cry, Owl will take you." The child cried. Owl took it. He put it into a birch-bark basket. Then there were no more children. Coyote said: "I shall cry." At night Coyote cried. He was told: "Don't cry, else Owl will take you." Coyote cried aloud. Owl arrived. He said: "Give me the child." (Coyote) was given to him. (Owl) put him into the birch-bark basket. He carried him away. Owl arrived at his tent. Coyote saw many children dancing. He took gum. He rubbed it on Owl's eyes, and (Owl) was blind. He threw him into the fire. (Owl) was burned entirely. All the children started back to the tents of their parents.

13. COYOTE AND OWL

Qa·k.luna'mne·. n'ila'n·e· lka'm·u. qakek'ine e''lan' maats "Don't There was a town. It cried a child. It was told: cry; tsxaltsuk^uate's_ine ku'pi'. n'ila'n'e lka'm'u. ku'pi. tsuk^ua'te• Owl." he will take you It cried the child. He took it Owl. n'oqoxuakı'n e na'he ks. ta'xas lalo'une lka'm u. qake'ine sk/n-Then He put it into a birch-bark no more children. He said Соуkuts ka'min hutsxal'ila'nte. kts/lmi'y/t.s n'iła'n'e sken kuts. I shall cry." ote: At night he cried Coyote. 5 qakel/he· maats e·lan', to'xwa ku'pi tsxaltsukuat/sine·. w/lke'ine· He was told: "Don't Owl cry, else will take you." He cried aloud qake'ine ts!ka·k/nke_ił ku'pi. sk'n ku ts. wa'xe łka'm'u. He said: He arrived Owl. "Give me the child." namatektse'he. n'oqoxuake'n'e na'he'ks. ts!enałke'n'e. łaxa'xe' He was given to him. He put him into the birch-bark He carried him He arrived at away. aa'ktt.la'e's ku'pi. n'u'pxane skt'n'ku'ts yunaqa'pse lkamnt'nta'his tent Owl. He saw Coyote many children ke's naqwe'lse'. tsukua'te c'iwa's. yu'hak'n'e' a 'kakaqld'' se's dancing. He took He rubbed it on his (Owl's) eyes, gum. 10 łałztąłz'łse. xunmz'te. q!apku'une. łats!zna'xe. q!a'pe. łkamnz'nand he was He threw him He was burnt They started the children into the fire. blind. entirely. back te k a kt. łaż se s ała kenek!e's. their parents. to the tents of

¹ See pp. 37, 50.

14. CHICKADEE AND ELK

Chickadee went along a river. On the other side he saw Elk. Chickadee said: "There is a good place on the other side; I wish I could get across." Elk said he would take him across. He went across in the water. (Chickadee) was riding. Elk walked in the water. He just got ashore and (Chickadee) stabbed him. Chickadee killed Elk.

15. Frog and Partridge

Frog was going along. She saw Partridge. She said to him: "You shall be my husband." He went to her tent. He arrived. He always went hunting. He killed much (game). Frog said: "Now look for your wife." Partridge started. He found his wife. He said to her: "Where are the children?" That woman said: "They are where you come from." The two started. He arrived at his tent. He staid there again.

14. CHICKADEE AND ELK

Qa·na'xe· m.ts!qa'qas aa k.nmi'tuks. le'ine·s n'u'pxane· la'wo's. He went along Chickadee he saw Elk. river. other side qo le'ine huleini'nam. qake'ine m/ts!qa'qas: ks/lsuk.le'et Chickadee: "A good place there on the other side if I could get across." He said qake'ine ła'wo ałqanyaxaqo'ukił. n'ałqananu'qune youxal'isuk-He said Elk he would take him across. He went across in the he was riding, nu'n'e' ts!manu'qune'. qakn n'ëpanu'qune' naak!o'une'. n'ipe'hne he walked in the water. Just reaching the shore, he stabbed him. ła'wo's mzts!qa'qas. 5 Chickadee. \mathbf{Elk}

15. Frog and Partridge

Qa na'xe wa'tak. n'u'pxane t!a'n qu ts. qaki'he hintsxal'i'n e She went Frog. She said to "You will be She saw Partridge. along him: kanuł'a'qana. ts!:na'xe aa'k.t.la'e's. laxa'xe at n'upsla'tiyil'ana'xe. He started for my husband." He arrived. He always went hunting. ta'xas yunaqa'pse kk'lwa. qake'ine wa'tak ta'xa lu'n'u itsk'len' She said Then many he killed. Frog: "Now look for tchamu''ne's. ts!:na'xe' t!a'n'qu'ts. n'u'pxane' tchamu''e's. qakc'he' Partridge. your wife." He started He found his wife. He said to kaas łkamn''ntek. qake'ine ne_i pa'lke_i qo ta'xa han yaqake_i- 10 the children?" "Where that woman: "Then She now where you saosaqa'ane. ka'mke·1 ts!mak/kine. łaxa'xe a 'kt.la'e's. come from they are." They two started. He arrived at his tent. ła ts x anit. ła ane. He staid there again.

¹ Barnaby prefers qo'sEnla'yaqa'keikami'lke'.

He lived in a tent

16. BEAVER AND TURTLE

Beaver and Turtle were living together in a tent. (Turtle) started. There was a town. He went there. He entered the tent of the chief. The chief was asleep. Turtle cut off the chief's head. He went out again; he passed outside to the rear of the tent. He crawled under the cover. He staid there. In the morning the chief was lying down. His food had been prepared. He did not arise; and the chief was shaken. He was told: "Rise, I have finished your food." He did not arise. He was shaken again. He was told: "Arise." He was looked at. He was dead. They searched for tracks (to discover) who had done it. Tracks were seen. The tracks did not go out again. They were looked at. (Turtle) was seen. He was there. He was brought out. He was carrying the head of the chief. Some one said: "Where is a knife?" Turtle said: "I do not fear a knife." Some one said: "Where is a bow?" Turtle said: "I do not fear a bow." Some one said: "Where is

16. Beaver and Turtle

Beaver, they were two together

Qa·nct.ła'ane· sc'n·a n'asqunama'łne· ka'xaxs. ts!cna'xe qa·k.łu-

Turtle.

He started to where was a

a_a'k.t.ła.'se's qaoxa'xe'. tanaxa'mne' naso'ukue'ns. $nam_{\ell}'s_{i}ne'$. He went there. the tent of town. He entered the chief. łuła'ma'ane naso'ukue'ns naso'ukue'ns. qa·k.łe′itse· ka'xax. He cut off his head Turtle. · Was asleep the chief. (of) the chief łaanaxa'mne nas qaha'xe a'pko'k!s. qanal'oundnaxa'mne. outside, opposite the door (behind the tent). here he passed He crawled under the cover. Again out he went; 5 qaosaqa'ane: kkanmi'ytt.s qakqa'ane: naso'ukue'n. n'atkanla'sine He staid there. In the morning lay down the chief. It was prepared qao'knoxa"mne wan kin/he qakil'he ki'ek. naso', kue'n. He was told: Not he arose; he was shaken the chief. food. oknoxa'men' hunok^u''n'e' k'n'e'k. qao'knoxa''mne'. ławan'kin'he'. I have finished your food." Not he arose. Again he was shaken. oknoxa'men'. qakil/he tseikate'ine pał n''n'e. υpna'mu. He was told: "Arise." He was looked at was dead. tse_ikat.kk_in'ine qa'psin no'ła. n'upxałkkin/łne. łaqaanak'kine. It was looked for tracks Tracks were seen. did it. Again not out went tracks. what n'upxa'ine. 10 tseikate'ine. saosaqa'ane. tunwa_aka'nułk_ini'łne. He was seen. It was looked at. He was there. He was brought out. naso'ukuems. qakiya'mne kaas aa'ktsa'mal qake'ine nał amk/n e He held the head (of) the chief. Some one said: "Where is the knife?" qakiya'mne ka'xax huqa.on/he a 'ktsa'mal. ka_as knife." "Where is the bow?" "I do not fear Some one said: qakei'ne. ka'xax huqa.on/he t!a'wu. qakiya'mne kaas aa'u'tal. "I do not fear Some one said: "Where He said bow."

an ax?" Turtle said: "I do not fear an ax." Some one said: "Pour water on him." Turtle said: "Don't." Some one said: "Throw him into the water." Turtle lied when he said he was not afraid of ax, knife, and bow. He lied when he said that he was afraid of water, for that was the place from which he had come ashore. He was taken to the water. He carried the chief's head. He was thrown into the water. He sank. After a while there in the middle he emerged. He shook the chief's head in the water. Some one said: "It is Turtle." Turtle started for his tent. Turtle came home. Then Beaver made holes in all directions. He bit them off (the bows), he dragged them into his hole, then the manitous went back. (Their bows) were broken. (They said:) "My bow is bad."

17. SKUNK AND PANTHER 1

Skunk went along. He saw Panther. Panther was afraid of Skunk. Panther pretended to be dead. Skunk went there. He

qake'ine ka'xax huqa.on'he aqu'tal qakiya'mne yu_uxakulxa'kil. Turtle: "I do not fear ax." Some one said: "Pour ye water on him." qake'ine ka'xax maats. qakiya'mne xunmitqu'lkil. slutske'ine "Throw him into the water." Turtle: "Don't." Some one said: He lied ka'xax neis kqa'ke kqa.o'nił aqu'tałsts aa'ktsa'malsts t!a'wu's. saying not afraid of and knife and axsłutske' ine ne is kaa'ke k!o'ne ł wu'o s pa ł ne sts kaake ikalu'pkam. saying being afraid of water that where he came ashore from. xunmitqu- $_5$ qa'oxalxu'nanulkin'lhe. nal'amk'n'e naso'ukue'ns. He was taken to the water. He carried the head the chief's. He was thrown l'Ine. niktsnoqu'n'e. qawunik't.se qo's qaya_aqa'wo's After a while He sank. there in the middle into the hekal'awa'akawa'ts!ne. wan qouk.la'mk/ne naso'ukuens. qakiya'm-He shook the head in the water the chief's. Some one emerged. ka'xax. ts!:nam:/lkil aa'k:t.la'e's n'ı'ne ne pari ka'xax. said: "It is he Turtle. Start for his tent Turtle." aa'ktt.la'e's ka'xax. ta'xas st'n'a n'ttqanltlq!aqo'uk!a-He got home to his tent Turtle. Then Beaver he made holes in all aaqo·k!ame'es qa'naltsa'qanawes:nuk- 10 mekn'le'k. q!aanina'xane. directions. He bit them off. His hole he dragged them into it. qu'xune. łaxa'xe. nöpc'k!a. saha'n e kat!a'wu. n'umetskinle's ine. They the manitous. It was broken for them. my bow." "Bad is went back

17. SKUNK AND PANTHER

xa'xas. n'u'pxane swa's. Qa·na'xe· n'one'ine xa'xas'. swa' He went along Skunk. He saw Panther. Panther was afraid of Skunk. n'v'pse·k qaoxa'xe swa'. xa'xas. tsukua'te: swa's nalxo',ne: He pretended Skunk. Panther. He went there He took Panther and carried him to be dead on his back.

took Panther. He carried him on his back. Skunk went along. Panther thought: "What shall I do with him?" He thought: "He shall put me down." He put him down. Skunk let out his fluid. Panther arose. Panther kicked Skunk's bucket. He broke his bucket. Panther started away. He went along, going in a circle. Skunk arrived. He saw the bucket there. He was angry. He started. He looked for Panther. He saw his tracks. Panther went along and came back to the same place. Skunk started. He saw the tracks where (Panther) had been going. He made tracks. He knew it was the same one. He followed the tracks. He tracked him. saw the tracks were still there. He followed the tracks. He tracked There were tracks. He drank. him. There was a lake. looked into the water. There he was. He thought he saw him. Then he broke wind. Many times he broke wind. He looked again. There he was. He broke wind again. He looked again. There he was. Then he was tired. He lay down on his back. He saw

qa'na'xe xa'xas. qalwi'yne swa' kaas hul'aqa'ke'n? qalwi'yne He thought Panther: "How shall I do?" He thought: He went Skunk. along pesxo'une:. n'u'xte:k xa'xas. n'owu'kune: łpesxo'unap. He put him He defecated down. "He shall put me Skunk. He arose qanaqlı'kxane yıtskimei'se's swa' xa'xas'. n umetske'n e He broke it He kicked Panther Skunk's. the bucket ytskimet'se's. ts!tna'xe' swa'. qa'na'xe' n'uk!qalqa'atse'. qaoxa'xe' He started Panther. He went along he went about in a circle. He arrived 5 xa'xas. n'u'pxane saoqa qa'pse ytskt'me's sa ndwi'yne tskna'xe. He was angry. his kettle. there was swa's. n'u'pṣane aa'k.kkk'se's. qa'na'ṣe swa' a'a'ke n'itskz'ine Panther. He saw his tracks. He went along Panther n'u'pxane sakilale'kse. ła.uk!qak.lati~qa'atse. ts!:na'xe. xa'xas. he went around in a circle. He started Skunk. He saw tracks being there. kaas n'aaqo'nas n'tkt'n'e aa'k.ltk!!'se's. n'u'pxane o k!uina'mus Where he went he made He saw the same as n't'nse: pał n'aq!as lite'tine. ts!man'uqkuanxo'une. ta'xas Then He pursued him. he followed the tracks. he. sakiłał/kse: ts!man'uqkuanxo'une n'aq!as:litz'tine:. 10 n'u'pxane He followed the tracks. tracks being there. He pursued him He saw qaoxal/kse. n'ıku'lne. n'u'pxane xa'xas neis wu'os. sk/kq!nu'kse to where was a lake where were tracks. He drank. He saw Skunk the water. saosaqa'pse. qalwi'yne ksi l'u'pxa. ta'xas n'atsu'kpine yunaqa'pse' he broke wind: He thought Then It was there. he saw him. many (times) łaatsu'kpine. łatseika'te saosaqa'pse. łatse_ika'te: k!a'tsu kp. where he was. He looked again Again he broke wind. Again he looked breaking wind. nuk.łu'kune'. saosaqa'pse: tuwuł'itxo', mek. n'u'pxane. ta'xas where he was. he got tired. He saw Then He lay down on back.

Panther. He thought: "I will break wind against him." Then he turned his backside to him. Panther took off his last finger-nail and put it on his arrow. He shot Skunk. Panther killed Skunk.

18. The Mosquito

Mosquito went along. He saw a town. He was told: "Come, eat choke cherries." Mosquito said: "I don't eat choke cherries." Mosquito went along. He saw a town. He was told: "Come, you shall eat service berries." Mosquito said: "I don't eat service berries." Mosquito went on. Mosquito was going along. He saw a town. He was told: "Come, you shall eat blood." Mosquito went there. He ate blood. He ate much. His belly became big. He went out again. He broke sticks and all (?). Mosquito died. Little birds flew out of him. Those were mosquitoes. "Wuu, wuu! you are a manitou; you shall be mosquitoes."

ta'xas qaoxak!alaxe'kpine. qałwi'yne ktsłaatsukpu'xa. swa's. He thought he would break wind again. Then he turned his backside up. Panther. kiapt!aha'nlukp qaoxak!o'nne swa'. a', k!e's. ło·k^uι'ne· Panther. He broke off the claws He pointed his arrow. n'upe'he swa'. xa'xas' me'txane xa'xas. He killed Skunk He shot Skunk. Panther.

18. The Mosquito

qatsts!a'ła. n'u'pxane sak.lunam'sine qakil'he Qa·na'xe· a village was there. He went Mosquito. He saw He was told: c'ke n' a 'ke'lma k!.'' qake'ine qatsts!a'la hutsqa.c'kine ła'n'a 5 choke cherries." He said Mosquito: "I do not eat qatsts!a'ła. n'u'pxane aa'ke'lma'k!. ts!/na/xe sak.luname's ne. choke cherries." He started Mosquito. He saw a village was there. ła'n'a hentsxał'e'kine sq!u'm'o. qake'ine qatsts!a'ła qakil/'lne "Come. service berries." He said Mosquito: He was told: you shall eat hutsqa. \(\alpha'\) kine. sq!u'm.o. ts!\(\alpha\) na'xe. qatsts!a'la. qana'xe. n'u'pxane. "I do not eat service berries." He started He went along. Mosquito. He saw hentsxal'e'kine qakel/lne ła'n'a wa''nmo. sak.luname'sine. there was a village. He was told: "Come, you shall eat blood." qaoxa'xe qatsts!a'la. n'c'kin'e wa''nmo's. yunaqa'pse n'e'kine. 10 He went there Mosquito. He ate blood. Much he ate. łaanaxa'mne n'upła'pse łouk!s ła.uk!el'anaxo'se ts. watwu'mne: broke him (?). His belly was big. He went out again, he was killed stick n''epine qatsts!a'la. tsaqona'ne tuq!wetsqa'mna qakxa'l'anano-Little He died Mosquito. birds xu'n e pał n'e'n e qatsts! a'la. wu'u, wu'u nöpe'k! a ne'nko. ke'nłe_in those were Mosquitoes. "Wu'u, wu'u! a manitou you. You shall be qatsts!a'ła. mosquitoes."

19. The Man and the Wasps

An old man went along. He defecated. Wasps stung his anus. He put his hand in. He soiled his hand. He shook his hand. There was a stone. He hurt his hand. He put his hand into his mouth. He tasted his excrement.

20. LAME KNEE

There was a town. The chief said they would break camp in order to plant. They broke camp. The chief's wives went to draw water. There were the friends of Lame Knee. His friends said: "You ought to steal the chief's wife." Lame Knee started. He went there limping. The chief's wife came back carrying water. He seized her. She said to him: "Let me go; the chief wants to drink." Lame Knee said: "I will not let you go." The woman said: "Let me go;

19. The Man and the Wasps

qaoxał'u'xte·k. n'itk!ona'pse yu'wat!s Qa·na'xe· nu·la'qana. They stung him an old man. He defecated. Hewent along aa'k!ałaxe'kp!ēs. qa'naq!ałe'ine mats!e'ine. neis qaqana'ane aa'ke'es He put his hand in, he soiled his hand. That his hand swetsnu'kse. t!aqtseyxo'ume.k. naqtuq!waq!ale.'ne. n'u'ktukue'ise. He hurt his hand. He put his hand into his mouth. It smelled his where was a stone. hand of aa'q!u''le''s. his excrement.

20. LAME KNEE

qake'ine naso'ukuen tsu'qnaneya'mne ts Qa·k.luna'mne·. 5 He said the chief they would break camp to sow There was a town. ta'xas n'um/tsk.luna'mne. xunyaxak!o'use. t/inamo'k!o''ine'. They went and dipped the Then they broke camp. in the ground. qahaqa'ane. $alswo't_imo$ $naso'_{u}k^{u}e \cdot n.$ q!o·maiq!a'n·k!o. mu''e's friends Lame Knee. the chief. There were wives of xma'nhawtsnutem'he t/lnamu''e's qak.ła'pse ałswu'e's the wife of "You ought to steal They said his friends: qaoxuaq!ank!o'ute'k. q!o·malq!a'n·k!o. naso'ukue'n. ts!/na'xe He went there limping. the chief." Lame Knee. He started telnamu.e'se's naso'ukue'ns. tsınkı'n e. qak.la'pse 10 łaapskałko'lse He took hold of She said to him: his wife the chief's. She came back carryq!o·małq!a'n·k!o ma kts!e'iko'ł naso'ukue'n. peske'n'u qake'ine Lame Knee: 'the chief." He said he wants to drink "Let me go, qak.la'pse pa'łke_is ne_is hutsłaga 'peskene's ine'. peske'n'u tu'xwa "Let me go, almost woman: "I will not let you go." She said that

¹ The planting of tobacco is meant.

the chief might be angry; the chief wants to drink." Then they broke camp. They went to the chief. The chief was told: "Lame Knee is holding your wife." The chief said: "Go to him. Tell him to let her go because I am thirsty." They went to him. He was told: "The chief says he wants you to let her go because he wants to drink." Lame Knee said: "Go to the chief; tell him that I shall not let her go." They went to the chief. He was told: "Lame Knee says that he will not let her go." The chief said, being now angry: "Ha, ha, hoya!"—"Tell him I shall not let the chief's wife go." (The chief) took a knife. He went there. He arrived at the place where his wife was. Lame Knee was holding the wife of the chief. (The chief) said to him: "Let go of her." Lame Knee said: "I shall not let go of her." The chief went there. He cut off his head. He threw it away. The head turned over; it smiled while it was rolling

 $naso'_{u}k^{u}e^{\cdot}n.$ lsan∵'lwey ma kts!e'iko'ł naso'ukue'n. ta'xas the chief." may be angry the chief. He wants to drink Thenn'um/tsk.luna'mne. qaoxaxam/sine. qakili/lne naso'_uk^ue'n. they broke camp. They went to the chief. He was told naso'ukuem sawetske'nee q!omalq!a'nk!o tehamune's'meil. qathe chief: "He holds her Lame Knee your wife." ke'ine naso'ukuen qo'name'lkeil qake'lkeil kelpe'skein ma kohoku-"Go to him the chief: tell him he shall let her go nuq!tuma'meil. qoʻnaxamı'sine. qakitı'tne naso'_uk^ue'n $qake'_ine$ They went to him. He was told: "He says I am thirsty." kznipzskz'nmei ma kts!e'iko'i. qake'ine q!o'maiq!a'n'k!o qo'namz'ihe wants to drink." He said you shall let her go Lame Knee: ke_il naso'_uk^ue·n. kınlqakı'lke_il ku'sl·aqa'pıskı'nme_il. qo·naxamı's_i-Tell him I shall not let her go." ne naso'ukuen. qakili'he qake'ine qlomalqla'n klo ksil aqapi'skin. "He said Lame Knee he will not let her go." He was told: naso'ukue'n ta'xas ksa'ne'lwey ha'ha'ho'ya. "hā hā hōva." nowbeing angry: Hesaid k'lkeil ku'slaqa'peske'nmeil telnamu''e's naso'ukue'n. tsukua'te' 10 I shall not let go him the wife of the chief." He took sa·wesqa'pse· temamu"e's. qaoxa'xe'. a_a'ktsa'ma'ls. łaxa'xe' Hearrived his wife. He went there. where was a knife. telnamue'se's $naso'_{u}k^{u}e \cdot ns.$ **q!o**·małq!a'n·k!o sa wetske'n e the wife of Lame Knee held the chief. k.ła'pse prskr'ne'n'. qake'ine q!o'małq!a'n'k!o hutsła'qaprskr'n'e'. He said to him: "Let go of her." He said Lame Knee: "I shall not let go of her." łułama'ane. n'dqanme'te. łuqa'q'makek. $naso'_{u}k^{u}e^{\cdot}n$. qaoxa'xe. He threw it away. He went there the chief. He cut off his ya'qa'oxaqa'ye'xome'ike' la'tuwitslihu'kuena'n'e'. 15 ła''mne qo_us the place where it rolled he was smiling. turned over; there

to

along. He cut off his arm. It remained hanging down. He cut off the other arm. It was thrown away. Then both arms were off. One leg was cut off. It was thrown away. The other leg was cut off. The body fell down. Then it was cut to pieces. Then the people went away and put up the tents at Where-they-used-to-sow-Tobacco. At night the people were asleep. Some one was heard singing. The people said: "It sounds like Lame Knee, who is dead." Lame Knee arrived. He killed the chief. He married his two wives. He took both of them.

21. THE YOUTH WHO KILLED THE CHIEFS 1

An old man who had a daughter lived in a tent. A man arrived. He kept his daughter.² She had another child. It was a male. He killed him. The woman lived in the tent. She had another child.

łu quałt's ine a 'k.ła't le's. qa qaq lma wtsłatxo'une. nao'k lue's a 'k.-It remained hanging down. The other ła't!e's łuquale'sine. n'elqanmet.le'sine. ta'xas xatsendualet.la't!ne. It was thrown away. Then he cut off. both arms were off. nao'k!usa'q!e's łu'saq!qa'łne'. n'dqanmat.la'sine. nao·k!usa′q!e·s was cut off. It was thrown away. The other leg One leg n'o naxo'une . ta'xas na'n·oque·qa'lne·. $tuq^uate's_ine'$. Then was cut off. The body fell down. it was cut to pieces. 5 no'q!naneya'mne qaoxuat.lana'mne aa'qa'nak!alamu'k!o. and put up the tents at Where they used to sow-Tobacco. people went away kts/mi'y/t kq!u'mne''nam. nułpałn/łne nawaszoneya'mne. people were asleep. It was heard At night some one singing. qakeya'mne ndke'ine q!o'malq!a'n'k!o. ma ki'ip. sl'axa'xe "It must be Lame Knee who is dead." People said: He arrived q!o·malq!a'n·k!o. n'ipe'lne naso'ukue'ns. n'asa'tte't.se'. ne_is He killed Lame Knee. that chief. He married them. xa`tsınıltsukua'te. Both he took.

21. The Youth who Killed the Chiefs

Qant.la'ane nul'a'qana naqa'ite pa'łke_is. wa'xe' te'tqa.t!. 10 had a child There lived in a an old man a woman. Hearrived a man. tsukua'te swene'se's. łahaqa'łte n'e'nse te'tqa't!s. q!akpakitxo'une. his daughter. a male. She also had a He killed him. He took it was child, łahaqa'lte· qanıt.la'ane tcha'mu. n'''nse na.utena'nas. ne_i She lived in a tent that old woman. Again she had a · it was a girl. child;

¹ According to Barnaby, a Blackfoot tale.

² Evidently he had married the girl, and he was in the habit of preserving the lives of his daughters, but killing his sons.

"No,

not it is

yours.

It was a girl. He kept her. The chief lived there, driving game. He skinned a buffalo cow. He started to go back. He took a travois. He started off. He put the meat into it. He started to go back. He came back. That chief did not give any meat to his parents-in-law. The old woman was hungry. The old man's son-in-law did not give him anything to eat. She had another child, a male. She said: "Do not tell the chief that I have given birth." She said to her father: "Early to-morrow shoot a buffalo cow. Don't be afraid of the chief." Early the next day the old man shot a buffalo cow. He killed a cow. (The chief) went out early. He saw the old man skinning. He went in again. He took a bow. He thought: "I will kill that old man." The chief started. He arrived. He said to him: "Did you kill a cow?" The old man said: "Yes, it is mine." The chief said: "No; it is not yours, it is mine." The chief took his bow.

tsukua'te. qaosa qa'ane ne naso'ukuen naqan'lek. n'umitse'ite He took her. He staid driving game. the chief łu'kpu's. łats!/na'xe'. tsukua'te aa'q!ukamał'/se's. ts!/na'xe'. n'o-He started back. He took qoxa''nte a 'ku'la ks lats!/na'xe lalaxa'xe qah/se nawaspa'l'e s He put into it the meat. He started back. He got back. Not he gave ne_i naso'_uk^ue'n. nuwa's_ine' ne_i taha'mu. qahasa'pse' nawaspa'l'e's She was hungry the old woman. Not he gave him that ne nul'a'qana. lahaqa'lte te'tqa t!s. qak.la'pse maats tsxana'ten' 5 She had a child a male. She said: " Don't old man. the naso'ukue'n neis kohaqa'pmił. qakt'łne ttu'e's kanmi'yit wo'łna m that I have given birth." She said to her father: "To-morrow the chief hentsme'txane . łu'kpu. $ma_a ts hents!one' tne$ naso'ukue'n. Don't the chief." you will shoot a cow. be afraid of kkanmi'yıt.s wo'lna ms mı'txane lu'kpu's ne_i nul'a'q_ana. he shot old man. The following day early a cow n'uk!uil'dwa'ne lu'kpu's wo'lna ms n'anaxa'mne n'u'pxane sak-One he killed Early he went out. cow. He saw neis nul'a'qanas. la tanaxa'mne: tsukua'te t!a'wu's. 10 He went in again. skinning that old man. He took a bow. qalwi'yne hul'u'pil ne nul'a'qana. naso'ukue'n. ts!/na'xe ne_i "Let me kill that old man." chief. He thought: He started that ke′≀n łu'kpu kinsł'c'łwa. gake'ine ne'nko łaxa'xe. qake'ine He arrived. He said to "Is it a cow did you kill?" He said yours nuł'a'qana naso'ukue'n he n't'n e ka'min. qake'ine ne_i that it is mine." He said that chief: n'e'n'e' wa'ha ne'nko. ka'min. tsukua'te: t!awu''e's ga.e'n'e'

mine."

It is

He took

his bow

He did not see the youth who was there. He thought he would kill the old man. The youth arose. He took his bow. He shot the chief. He killed him. He said to his father: "Now take the meat and go back home." He took it. He arrived at home. The youth entered the chief's tent. At once he killed the chief's wives. He threw them outside. He said to his father: "Go in, it shall be your tent."

He said to his mother: "Are there no people?" He was told: "There is a town down the river." He was told: "The chief there is like this one was. He does not give away any food." The youth said: "I will start." The youth started. He arrived there. He entered an old woman's tent. He said to her: "I am hungry." He was told: "We are hungry." She took a dish. She put something into it. She gave it to him. She was told: "I said I am hungry." The old woman said: "We are hungry. There is much

naso'_uk^ue'n. qa.u'pxane natsta'hals saosaqa'pse'. qalwi'yne. Not he saw the youth being there. the chief. He thought ktsu'pi'ł ne's nul'a'qanas. n'owo'kune ne ntsta'hal. tsuk^ua'te' old man. that he would kill the He arose youth. qake'ine tetu'e's n'ip'lne. t!awu''e's. m'txane naso'ukue'ns. He killed him. He shot the chief. He said to ta'xas tsukua'te'n' aa'ku'la'k kenlats!e'n am. tsukua'te'. la laxa'-"Now the meat and go back home." He took it. He arrived at take 5 xe. t_inaxa'mne a_a'kt.łat'se's ne_is naso'ukue'ns nei natsta'hal. He entered his tent that chief's that youth. telnamu. es s n'uk! uilq!akpakitxo'une. n'anaqanme'te. qake'lne. He threw them outside. at once he killed them. His wives He said to tetu''e's ne'nko tenaxa'me'n'. tsxal'e'n'e' aa'kit.la''ne's. It will be his father: "You your tent." enter. Qakt'ine ma'e's ke'iu aqisma'kintk! qakia'pse ne k!unanmi'tuk people?" He was told: "That He said to his mother: "No down river a_a''ke sa_ak.luna'mne'. qak.la'pse' ya_aqaqa'_ake' qaqa'ane. na· "The way as was is a town." He was told: this also oneat qaheska'ane: qake'ine: nei netsta'hal huts!ena'xe: 10 naso'_uk^ue'n. "I'll start." He said Not he gives to eat youth: the chief. to any one." aa'ktt.ła.t'se's tinaxa'mne ntsta'hal. ła · xa ′ xe · . ts!:na'xe ne_i He entered He started that youth. He arrived there. hunuwa'sine: qak.ła'pse: hunuwas'nała'ane: taha'mu's. qaki'ine He was told: "We are hungry." He said to her: "I am hungry." an old woman's. tsuk^ua'te n'oqoxa''nte: namate'ktse: a'tsus. qak.la'pse She gave it to him. She put it in. She took a dish. She was told: hoquake'ine hunuwa'sine qake'ine ne taha'mu hunuwas'nala'ane. "We are hungry. "I said that old woman: I am hungry." She said

¹ Evidently this is the son, who had grown up meanwhile.

to'une

"There is

none

ku.ik_ina'ła.

our food."

food in the chief's tent, but nobody goes in there." The youth said: "I'll go." He was told by the old woman: "Don't go." The youth arose. He went there. He entered the chief's tent. (The chief) was asleep. (The youth) said to him: "I have entered your tent." (The chief) got up from his bed. He became a rattlesnake. (The youth) took his arrow. He struck him. He knocked him down. His wives at once became rattlesnakes, and he knocked them down. He went out again. He said: "Come in, all of you, and get meat."

The youth said: "Are there no other people?" He was told: "There is a town down the river." The youth said: "I will start." He was told: "The chief is bad." He started. He arrived at the town. There an old woman was living in a tent. He entered. He said to her: "I am hungry." He was told: "We are hungry." She took a dish. She put something into it. She gave it to him. He said to her: "I said I am hungry." He was told: "There is no food." He was told: "There is much food in that tent, but nobody goes in

naso'ukuen aa'kat.la'e's yunaqa'ane k!i'keil at qaatinaxamna'mne. muchfood, but not any one goes in." his tent qake'ine nei natsta'hal huts!ana'xe. qak.la'pse ne_is taha'mu's He was told by that "I'll go." He said that youth: maats ts!/nan'. n'owo'kune nei n/tsta'hał. qaoxa'xe. t/naxa'mne He went there. "Don't He arose that youth. He entered go!" aa'ktt.lat'se's naso'ukue'ns. sak.le'itse'. qakt'lne hustltkaxa'mne He was asleep. He said to the tent of the chief. "I have entered aa'ktt.la''ne's. n'ukunoxa'mne'. n'tnqa'pte'k wt'lma'l. tsukua'te' He got up from his bed. He became your tent." a rattlesnake. He took qanla'lte'. q!akpakitxo'une'. a'a'k!e's. ałt/lnamu"e's ne_is He struck him. He knocked him down. Then his wives n'uk!uil'an qapta'kse wa'lma ls. n'uk!uilq!akpakitxo'une. rattlesnakes. One at a time he knocked them down. at once became He went xa'mne: qake'ine: q!a'pe: qokuayaxa'keil aa'ku'la.k. come and get " All Qake'ine ntsta'hał ki'lu aqlsma'kintk! laa'k!la'k. qakili/lne· nei the youth: He said "Are others?" people He was told: "That k!unanmi'tuk saak.luna'mne: qake'ine: nei nitsta'hal hults!ina'xe: 10 is a town." that He said youth: qakil_''he saha'n e naso'_uk^ue n. ts!ına'xe laxa'xe sa_ak.lunam_''s_i-He was told: the chief." He started. He arrived where was a town ne: sanct.la'ase: tclna'mu's. tınaxa'mne. qaki'he hunuwa'sine. Where lived in a tent an old woman. He entered. He said to "I am hungry." qak.la'pse hunuwas'nala'ane tsukua't.se a'tsu's. n'oqouxaki'nse He was told: "We are hungry." She took a dish. She put it into it, qaki'ine hoquake'ine hunuwa'sine. namatiktsa'pse. qak.la'pse "I said she gave it to him. He said to I am hungry." He was told:

qak.la'pse ne hant.lana'mke

where tent is

He was told: "That

yunaqa'ane· 15

is much

He was told: "That

where tent is

not any one

there." The youth said: "I'll go." He went out. He got there. He entered, and the chief was asleep. He said to him: "Get up." The chief got up from his bed. He became a grizzly bear. The youth took his arrow and struck him. He knocked him down. At once (the chief's) wives became grizzly bears. He knocked them down. He threw them outside. The youth went out again. He said: "Take the meat." They took the meat.

The youth said: "Are there no other people?" He was told: "There is a town down the river." The youth started. He arrived at the town. He entered the tent of an old woman. He said to her: "I am hungry." He was told: "We have no food." She took a dish and put something into the dish. She gave it to him. He spoke to her, he said: "I am hungry." He was told: "There is much food in that tent, but nobody goes in there." The youth said: "I'll

```
k!/ke'ł at qat/naxamna'mne: qake'ine nei n/tsta'hal huts!/na'xe:
     food
            but not any one goes in."
                                          He said
                                                           vouth:
                                                                        "I'll go."
                                                   that
   n'anaxa'mne:
                                                                     naso'ukue'n.
                      qaoxa'xe'. tenaxa'mne'. sak.le'itse'
                                                                         the chief.
      He went out.
                       He got there.
                                         He entered.
                                                      He was asleep
   qak'lne o'kunoxa'men'. n'okunxa'mne
                                                                     naso'ukue'n.
                                                            \mathbf{ne_i}
    He said to
                     "Arise."
                                                                         chief.
                                      He got up from the bed
                                                             that
      him:
   n'ınqa'pte k k.la'wla's. tsukua'te a'a'k!e s ne nıtsta'hal. qanla'lte.
     He became a grizzly bear. He took
                                                              youth. He struck it.
                                            his arrow
                                                      that
 5 q!akpakitxo'une.
                                    altdnamu. e'se's no'k!ud'enqapta'kse'
                           ne_is
     He knocked it down.
                           Then
                                         his wives
                                                                  each became
   k.ła'wła's no'k!uiłq!akpakitxo'une: n'anaqanme'te: łaanaxa'mne
                    he knocked them down.
                                               He threw them outside.
                                                                    He went out again
                              qake'ine
                                               qok<sup>u</sup>ayaxa'ke<sub>i</sub>ł
                                                                       aa'ku'la'k.
            nztsta'hał.
   ne_i
                                He said:
                                                    " Take ye
   that
                youth.
                                                                        the meat."
   qokuayaxa'lne aa'ku'la k.
                          the meat.
      Qake'ine ne netsta'hał ki'lu aqłsma'kinek! łaa'k!la k. qakile'lne
        He said
                                  "Are
there no
                  that
                         youth:
                                              people
10 ne<sub>i</sub> k!unanmi'tuk sa<sub>a</sub>k.luna'mne: ts!:/na'xe: ne<sub>i</sub> n:/tsta'hal. laxa'xe:
                           there is a town."
                                              He started
            down river
                                                       that
                                                               youth.
                         tenaxa'mne a 'ket. ła. e'se's telna'mu's.
   sa_ak.lunam's_ine.
                                                                         qak/lne.
      there was a town.
                             He entered
                                             the tent of
                                                           an old woman.
   hunuwa'sine: qak.la'pse: lo'une: kukna'la. tsukua't.se: a'tsus n'oqou-
                     He was told:
                                 "There
                                           our food."
                                                         She took
                                                                     a dish;
                                  is none
   xa"nt.se a'tsus. namatiktsa'pse akt'ine hoquake'ine hunuwa'sine.
     it into it the dish.
                        She gave it to him.
                                           He said to
                                                        "I said
                                                                     I am hungry."
                                              her:
   qak.la'pse· ne, hant.lan'a'mke· yunaqa'ane· k!t'ke·l at qattnaxam-
```

is much

food,

go." He was told by the old woman: "Don't go there." He arose. He went out. He went there. He entered. He sat down. He said to (the chief): "Arise." The chief got up from his bed. He became a buffalo bull. (The youth) took his arrow and struck him with it. He knocked him down. (The chief's) wives at once became buffalo cows. He knocked them down. He threw them outside. He said: "Come and take the meat."

22. THE WHITE MAN

A white man went along. He saw (another) white man on the branch of a tree. He was chopping off the limb close to the trunk. The white man was told: "You will fall." The white man said: "I shall not fall." He said no more. This one started. (The other one) was chopping along. He chopped it off. He fell down.

na'mne: qake'ine: nei nztsta'hał hułts!zna'xe: qak.la'pse: He said "I'll go." He was told by that goes in." that youth: taha'mu's maats ts!a'nan'. n'owo'kune: n'anaxa'mne: qaoxa'xe: old woman: "Don't go there." He arose. He went out. He went there tanaxa'mne: n'asakunu'n'e: qaka'he oknoxa'men'. n'oknoxa'mne He sat down. "Arise." He said to He entered. He got up from his. naso'ukuem. n'anqa'ptsek na'lseiks. tsukua'te He became a bull. that chief. He took his arrow: qanlaltimu'n'e'. q!akpakitxo'une'. neis altanamu.e'se's n'ok!uil'anhe struck it with it. He knocked it down. Then his wives at once qapta'kse· łu'kpu·s n'ok!uilq!akpakitxo'une·. n'anaqanm'te·. at once he knocked them down. became He threw them outside. qake'ine qo kawayaxa'keil aa'ku'la k. He said: "Come and take the meat."

22. The White Man

Qa·na'xe· soya'pe·. n'u'pxane· soya'pe·s aa'kts!la'e·ns qawtsq!-He went along a white man. He saw a white man a tree standing on aa'kets!k!a'laks. nu'se qak.la'pse n'ıntaakitsxo'une". soya'pe's a branch. He chopped off the limb He was told the white man: close to the trunk. hents!onaxu'n'e'. qake'ine nei soya'pe at huqa'onaxu'n'e. la'qats- 10 "You will fall." He said the white "I (shall) not fall." qaankitsxo'une. na ts!/na/xe. k!axo'une. xa'n'e'. n'onaxu'n e. He chopped it off. He chopped along. more. This one started. He fell down. 85543°—Bull. 59—18——3

23. THE FRENCHMAN AND HIS DAUGHTERS

There lived a Frenchman and his three daughters. He said to them: "You shall do whatever I tell you." The Frenchman went away. There was a stump. He arrived and struck it. It opened, and it was a door. Grizzly Bear came to look, and (the Frenchman) was told: "Come!" The Frenchman entered. He took food. He ate, and after eating he was told: "You will give me your child. I shall marry her." The Frenchman said to the Grizzly Bear: "I will give you my daughter." He went back. He arrived at home. He said to his eldest daughter, he said to her: "I told you, 'Whatever I tell you, that you must do.'" The girl said: "You said so." Her father said to her: "Let us go to-morrow." On the following day the Frenchman went with his daughter. He arrived at the stump. The Frenchman knocked at the stump. The door opened. The Grizzly Bear came out and said to him: "Come in!" The two entered.

23. The Frenchman and His Daughters

Qa·n·t.la'ane· nu·l'a'qana qalsaqa'lte· na.u'tē's. qakı'lne· ka· hu'an old man three children girls. He said to "Whatever (Frenchman) them: n'aqak.le'ke'lts qa'len a'tenstsqa'qanapke'lne. ts!ena'xe ne nu'l'however, you shall do." He started that sznqołukpku'pse·łaxa'xe·qanła'łte·. nuk!umnmuxu'se He arrived, he struck it. Frenchman to where was a stump. It opened, pa·ł sznk!ała·xwe.z'ts·e·. nakaawztskz'kse· k.ła'włas qak.ła'pse· ła'n·a. it was a door. Came out to look Grizzly Bear, he was told: "Come!" 5 t_inaxa'mne· ne_i nu'l'a'q_ana. n'itk/nse· ki'ek. n'i'kne· ku'l'e·k. Frenchman. He took He ate; He entered the food. he finished qak.la'pse· hentsa'matektsa'pne· aaqa'ltne·'s huts·alite'tne·. qake'lne· "You will give me your child, I shall marry her." He said to him nei nu l'a'qana k.la'włas hutsa'matiktsi'sine ka'swin. lats!ina'xe. "I'll give her to you Grizzly Bear: my daughter." He went back. ła ła ża ży że a kit. ła że s. qak ż łne ne is kw ż ł qaps sw ż ne s. qak ż łne He said to his daughter. He said to her: his tent. that eldest He arrived at ma koqa'k.le's ka hun'aqa'k.le's qalın at kıntsqa'qana. qake'ine' just, however, you must do." I tell you "I whatever told you 10 ne_i na.u'te ma koqa'ke qak.la'pse su''ēs kkanmi'yt hutsts! "I said so." She was told by her father: that naxala'ane. kkanmi'yet.s ts!enake'kine swe'ntmo nei nu'l'a'qana. they two went with his daughter that Next day shall go." łaxa'xe qanla'lte nu l'a'qana sınqulukpku'pse: ne_i Frenchman He knocked that . He arrived at the stump. a_a'qvlu'kpko_up's. nuk!^u/n/nmoxo'_une' łak!anxo'una·ł. n'akaxa'mse the door. He came out It opened n'itke'nse tka_axa'mke_ił. tına kışxa'mne. k.ła'włas. qak.ła'pse the Grizzly Bear. He said to him: "Come in." He prepared The two entered.

He prepared food. They ate. After he had finished eating, he said to his daughter: "You shall marry him." The Frenchman went back. At night his daughter came back. He said to her: "Why did you come back?" His daughter said to him: "I was afraid; he is a Grizzly Bear." The Frenchman said: "He will bite us." He said to his (next) daughter: "To-morrow we shall go to him. You shall marry him." On the following day he went with his daughter. The two went there. He knocked at the door. (The Grizzly Bear) opened it. They entered. He prepared food. After they had eaten, the Frenchman went back. In the evening his daughter came back. He said to her: "Why did you come back? The Grizzly Bear will bite us." He said to the youngest daughter, he said to her: "To-morrow we shall go to the Grizzly Bear. You shall marry him." The following day they two went together. They went there He arrived. He knocked at the door: The Grizzly Bear opened it. They entered. He prepared the food. After they had eaten, the Frenchman went back. In the evening the woman went

qakı'ine $n' \iota' k_i ne$: ku'ł'e·k. swe'ne's hents alite the. ke'e k. They finished his daughter: "You will marry him." He said to food. They ate. eating. nu l'a'qana. ktsilmi'yet.s ła wa'se ła ts!/na/xe swe'ne's. ${
m ne_i}$ that Frenchman. At night his daughter. He started back came back qake'ine qa'psin ke'nsd ats!e'ka m. qak la'pse swe'ne's hun'one'ine She said to him his daughter: "I was afraid; He said to her: "Why do you come back?" k.ła'wła. qake'ine nu'l'a'qana ke'en tsxa·lit!xanapał ${
m ne_i}$ Said that "He will bite Grizzly Bear." Frenchman: wa'sine: qakı'lne: swı'ne:s kkanmi'yıt hutsqona'xala.ı'sine: He said to his daughter: "To-morrow we shall go to him, ts'alite'tine. kkanmi'yet.s qo'nakekma'lne swe'ne's. laxa'kekma'lne. Next day they two went together his daughter. They two went back. will marry him." qanla'lte laq!anxō'na'ls nuk!"\(\alpha\)n'e trnaxa'mne n'\(\alpha\)tk\(\alpha\)nse the door. He opened it. He knocked at They entered. He prepared ke'ek. ku'l'ek la ts! na'xe ne nu l'a'qana. kts/lmi'y/t.s la wa'se food. When they fin- he went back Frenchman. the . In the evening came back kansal·a·ts!a/ka·m. qa'psin qaki'ine swe'ne's. tset!xanawa'sine his daughter. He said to her: did you come back? He will bite us qakt'ine ne is ktsaqu'nas swt'ne's. qakt'ine kkanmi'yt 10 k.ła'wła. He said to her that youngest one his daugher— He said to her: "To-morrow the Grizzly Bear." k.ławła. hents a lite the kkanmi yet s telenahutsqona'xała''sine the Grizzly Bear. You will marry him." k/kma'lne. qao xwak/kma'lne. łaxa'xe. t!axo'une łaq!anxo'nals. They went there together. He arrived. He knocked at went together. nuk!"\(\alpha\)r'\(\max\)e' k.\(\frac{1}{4}\)a'\(\max\)e' ta'\(\max\)e' n'\(\alpha\)ta'\(\max\)e' n'\(\max\)e' k\(\alpha\)' n'\(\max\)e' \(\max\)e' n'\(\max\)e' n'\(\max ku'l'ek the Grizzly They entered. He prepared food. He opened is red earing, ła ts! na'xe nei nu l'a'qana. kts/mi'y/t.s q!u'mne'ine nei pa'lkei. he started back that Frenchman. that In the evening she slept

to sleep. She did not see where her husband slept. Early the next morning she saw her husband. He was walking about. The Frenchman thought: "I might go to my daughter to see whether he bit her." He started. He arrived. He knocked at the door; he opened; he entered. There was his daughter; Grizzly Bear had not bitten her. He went back. He came back. He said to his wife: "Go to the Grizzly Bear." The old woman started. She arrived at her daughter's tent. She knocked at the door. The Grizzly Bear opened it. He said to her: "Come in!" The old woman entered. Food was prepared for her. She ate. After she had eaten in the evening, she staid there over night. At night she wanted to see how the Grizzly Bear slept. The old woman went to sleep. She did not see where he slept. In the morning she saw him walking about.

kkanmi'yet.s na_aqalq!u''mne_is nu laq_ana'ēs. qa.u'pxane ka_as Not she saw her husband. Next day we'łna ms n'u'pxane nu łaqana'e s sła tzqa 'atse'. qałwi'yne' nei he walked about. He thought her husband she saw nu·l'a'qana hults!/na'mi·l ka'swin naaqanqa./t!xanaps. ts!/na'xe. my daughter whether he did not bite her." Frenchman: "I might go to łaża'że. t!ażo'une łaq!anżo'nałs. nuk!unki'n'e tinaża'mne. the door. He arrived. He knocked at He opened. He entered. 5 sa'osaqa'pse: swe'ne's pa'l qae't!xana'pse'sne: k.la'wlas. his daughter: he had not bitten her the Grizzly Bear. He started She staid there zna'xe: ła ła xa'xe: qakz'łne: tzłnamu''e:s ts!znamz'łe:n' k.ła'wła. He said to back. He went back. his wife: "Go to him the Grizzly Bear." ts!/na'xe' nei t/lna'mu. łaxa'xe' aa'k/t.la./ses sw/ne's. t!axo'une' old woman. She arrived at her daughter's. She knocked at She started that her tent ła q!anxo 'na łs. nuk! un kt'n e k. ła wła. qake'he tkaxa'men'. the Grizzly Bear. He said to her: the door. He opened "Come in!" tkaxa'mne ne taha'mu. n'atkanla'sne ke'e'k. n'a'kine ku'l'e'k old woman. She entered that It was prepared food. She ate. When she fin-ished eating 10 wałkwa.iye't.se· łaqa·'kiyikse'łek. ktsełmi'yet.s qałwi'yne· ktsu'pxa At night in the evening, she staid over night. she wanted to see k.ła'włas ka_as tsa qalq !u''mne's. q!u'mne'ine tdna'mu. ne_i he would sleep. old woman. the Grizzly Bear She slept that kaas kkanmi'yet qa.u'pxane. na qalq!u''mne's. n'u'pxane. In the morning Not she saw how he slept. she saw him słatzqa'atse. walking about.

[Nos. 24-31. Told by Michel]

24. COYOTE AND OWL¹

There was a tent far away. Owl was there. When a child cried, its mother said: "Don't cry. Owl may take you!" At night, however, Owl came to the tent and took many children in his bark basket in which awls were standing. With these he killed them. Coyote said: "I shall become a child." Then Coyote became a child. Coyote said: "At night you shall throw me out." At night Coyote was taken and thrown out. He was taken by Owl. Owl started back to his tent. There were many children. They were there in the tent of Owl. At night Coyote said: "To-morrow you will get gum." The following day gum was taken. At night they danced. First Owl danced there. He perspired. Coyote said: "Later on I shall speak." Coyote said: "Throw the gum into the fire." The gum was thrown into the fire. It became hot. Coyote took

24. COYOTE AND OWL

Qaat.lana'mne ilqa'ha k. ku'pi saosaqa'ane. n'e'la lka'm u ma'es There was a tent was there. Owl a child e'łan' łtsuk^ua'te's ku'pi. qak.ła'pse $\mathbf{ma_ats}$ ts/lmi'y/t.sts cry, he may take you "Don't Owl." At night ever notsa'xe ku'pi at tsukua'te yunaqa'pse łka'm'u's na'hi'k!e's came to tent Owl but many children his bark basket tooknakiłw*i*tsqa′pse· $qake'_ine$ ło'o's. at n'up/mu'n'e. ske'n'ku'ts stood in it He said awls. But he killed them Coyote: with them. ta'xashutsxal'e'ne ske'n 'ku 'ts n'enqa'pte 'k ka'min łka'm'u. shall be it a child." Then Coyote qake'ine ske'n ku ts tselmi'yet hents! an mitapke'lne. łka'm'u's. a child. He said "At night you shall throw me out." Coyote: tschniye't.se' tsukuate'he' ske'n'ku'ts. n'an'mite'he' tsukuata'pse' he was thrown out. he was taken by At night he was taken Coyote aa'ket.la'e's. łats!/na'xe ku'pi yunaqa'ane ku'pis. Owl. He started back to his tent. Owl There were many children saosaqa'ane aa'kat.łaa'se's ku'pis. kts/łmi'y/t.s qake'ine sk/n·ku·ts they were there Owl. At night said Coyote: kanmi'yet hents!tsukua'te i'hwas. kkanmi'yet.s tsukuate'ine i'hwas. 10 "To-morrow you will take The next day it was taken kts/łmi'y/t naqw/ha'mne: u'sme'ks ku'pi qaosaqw/'łne: naq!ako'uthey danced. First Owl there danced. At night He perspired. ne: qake'ine: sk'n:ku:ts ma'qak hutsxa'n:e:. qake'ine ska'n ku ts Coyote: "Later on I shall speak." He said Coyote: xunakin:'ine' xunak/nkił i'lwas. n'ut_ime'_ine'. i'lwas. tsuk^ua'te· "Throw ye into gum." It was thrown into the gum. It became hot. He took the fire the fire

the gum. Coyote said: "Later on Owl (shall do so)." He closed Owl's eyes with the gum. Owl had no eyesight. He could not see. Owl was taken. Coyote himself took Owl. He threw him into the fire. Owl died. Small ones flew out. Coyote said: "You shall be owls."

25. COYOTE AND TROUT

There was Coyote. It was winter. Coyote went along. Some one said to Coyote: "Coyote, come, come!" He went there. He saw a woman. He stole her and slept with her. He was told: "We shall start for a water hole in the ice." The woman started. Coyote went with that woman, his wife. Then Coyote staid in the water. His wife was Trout. On the following day he was told: "We shall start to where many people are fishing; there is much food." Then they started. There were many trout. Coyote went along. They came to a fish line. All the people were fishing. They

qake'ine ski'n ku ts ma'qak ku'pi. n'itki'n e i'twas sk/n ku ts. He said "Later on Coyote: the gum Coyote. a 'kaqld''ese's neis i'lwas. lo'use a_a'kaq½'i'e's ku'pi. ku'pis None his eyes gum. ske'n ku ts n'esnitsuk a'te ku'pis. tsuk^uate'he ku'pi. $u'px_ane$. himself took him Owl. Coyote he saw. He was taken xunm'te a 'kınq lu'ko's. n''pine ku'pi. tsaquna'n e. nulnoxo'ne. He was dead Owl. They were small. They flew out. He threw him into the fire

5 qake'ine: ske'n; ku:ts ne'nko kenle'en ku'pi.

He said Coyote: "You shall be an owl."

25. COYOTE AND TROUT

Qaosaqa'ane ske'n ku ts. wanuye't se . qa.na'xe. ske'n ku ts. He went along It was winter. Coyote. Coyote. ske'n ku ts ske'n ku ts ła'n'a ła'n'a. qaoxa'xe. qakyamı'sine come!" He went there. "Coyote, come, They said to Coyote: n'u'pxane· pa'lkeis. n'a'yne· q!u'mnema'ine·. qak.ia'pse· hutsts!:na-He stole he slept with her. He was told: "We shall start a woman. xa'ła a'a'ka·k. ts!:na'xe· nei pa'łkei. skt'n·ku·ts qsama'łne· neis went with her that that woman. She started Covote the water hole." taxas qaosaqa'ane ske'n ku ts wu'us 10 pa'lkeis n'i'nse tilnamu''e's. staid Coyote (at the) his wife. that woman, n'''nse tahamu''e s qu'stat!s. kanmi'yat.s qak.la'pse hutsts!anaxa'-"We shall start Trout. Next day he was told: his wife at nałuqławu'te a a 'qłsma'k inck! yunaqa' ane ła ne_is yunaqa'pse. are fishing where many qu'stet!. yunaqa'ane. qsama'ine ts!/na'xe'. k!ike;ł. taxas trout. He went with them they started. Many Then food." a_a'kuqla'wo's. naluk.lawu'te q!a'pe a_a'qlsske'n ku ts. łaxa'xe a hook with line. They were fishing Coyote. He came to

killed trout, many trout. Coyote alone broke the hook. The people made a fish hook, a thick and big fish hook. The people were fishing. The (fish) ate the bait. Coyote was pulled out of the water. Then Coyote was taken. Then Trout was no longer Coyote's wife. Coyote staid among the Indians.

n'up'he qu'stit!s. yunaqa'ane qu'stit!. n'ok!ue'ine ma'kinık!. They killed Many were trout. people. Only one sk/n·ku·ts at n'umitsk/n·e· a 'kuqła'wo·s. n'itk/n·e· a 'kuqła'wo·s Coyote broke the hook. They made fish hook welqa'pse. tsu'wak!s. a_a 'q $lsma'k_in\iota k!$ n'ale'ise nałuqławu'te: the people, thick large fish hook. They fished aa'qlsma'kinkl. n'uq!uyun ko'xune. n'öpkaqo xa'he ske'n ku ts. He was pulled out of water They took the bait. łaqa..'n'e skı'n ku ts ske'n kuts. tsukuat/he tzłnata'xas he was taken Coyote. No more Covote mu"e's qu'stet!s. łaqaosaqa'ane a_a 'q $lsma'k_in\iota k!$ ske'n'ku'ts. He staid (among) Trout. the Indians Coyote.

¹It was explained to me that when Coyote was caught, he was clubbed, and shouted: "I am no trout, I am Coyote!"

26. SKUNK AND PANTHER

Qaosaqa'ane xa'xas. qa.onc'he q!a'pe's qa'psin. qa'na'xe'. n'u'pxane swa's. n'on/he xa'xas qalwi'yne: "ksa'han xa'xas; kłts!/płap xa'xas." n'txo'umek. qa'na'xe xa'xas, n'u'pxane swa's. tseika'te: qalwi'yne: "kqasts!u'mqa'qa swa'; qa'psins 5 ksk'płaps?'' tsukua'te xa'xas swa's, n'oqouxakı'n'e yıtskıme'e's. n'ałaxo'une: ts!/na'xe: qa'na'xe. qalwi'yne: swa': "qa'psins n'o'ne·l xa'xas?" qake'ine xa'xas: "n'ok!we'ine koo'nil aa'ki'łukwaxni'yam.'' qa'na'xe'; pæke'n'e'. skana'xe'. nu'xte'k xa'xas. qaosaqa'ane. nal·ukwaxniyame'sine. n'one'hne. xa'xas. ts!ena'xe. 10 xa'xas. swa' n'ömitskı'n e' yıtskımeı'se's. ts!ına'xe swa' qalwi'yne ma ksa'han xa'xas. ts!:na'xe swa'. n'on:'he xa'xas. qa:na'xe swa'. skikiłats!łac'nse neis skana'xe nas łaqaka'xe neis łaqana'xe: łaqawaaka'xe: yunaqa'pse: aa'k.ł/k!e's. ts!/na'xe: xa'xas. qalwi'yne naqalsle'tske swa'. lqa'ep. latslena'xe. 15 ła·łaxa'xe ytskime''es n'ömitse'ise ytski'mes n'u'pxane ło'use swa's. n'u'pxane: pa·ł qa.¿'pse: n'u'pxane: aa'k.l¿k!¿'se:s. ts!¿na'xe· aa'k.lkk!e'se's. qa'na'xe' xa'xas yunaqa'pse' aa'k.lkk!e'se's. qa.u'pxane kaas naaqa'nas swa's. n'itske'ine yunaqa'pse aa'k.iek!e'se's. aa'k.lkk!e'se's. snale'kse'. ts!ena'xe'. ts!ena'k!ine'. $n'u'px_ane$ 20 qałwi'yne: "kots!u'pił swa's." łaxa'xe a_a'kınmi'tuks swa'. waaq!nu'ne: aakats!la'ens. laxa'xe: xa'xas. n'eku'lne: n'u'pxane: swa's aa'kınmı'tuks saosaqa'pse: mı'txane: yunaqa'pse: k!a'atsukp. łało'use aaq!ułu'kp!e's. at łatsukua'te aa'q!ułu'kp!e's, at n'itk'n'e at łaatsu'kpane nuk.łu'kune, n'itxo'umek n'u'pxane swa's 25 a_a'kts!da'ens qaosaqa'pse'. mc'txane'. n'cpc'ine' swa's xa'xas.

27. The Deluge

Qaat.lana'mne: at yunaqa'ane kalq!a't!e lawi'yals. naqa'ptahamu''e's a'nla'k. nalq!at!e'ise lawi'yals. ts!ana'xe ι'nła·k. n'u'pxane· tanamu''e's. qa.u'pxane tdnamu''e's yawo''nık! tahamu''e's tsukuat.lı'sine: tsukua't.se yawo''sa ndwi'yne: m'txane: n'æk!o'une: n'eku'ine yawo''nık!. łało'une: łatsukua'te: łało'une: q!a'pe: wu'u:. n'eku'îne: yawo''nɛk!. latsukua'te: ɛ'nla·k a'ak!e's. lakxa'mne: wu'u. nutsu'k_une:. q!a'pe: a_a'qłsma'k_in_ik! notsinga'atse. ta'xas łaża'że wu'u qałwi'yne q!a'pe aa'qłsma'kinck! 35 ketsxa'lep. łukue'n e a 'kenuq!mana'e's e'nła k. n'eyake'n e. qake_i'ne: "ła'łu a_akınuq!ma'_anam ta'xas hutsłał·unała'_ane:." xaatsanma'q!lilnoq!mana'ane: ta'xas n'uk!qape'ise: ta'xas qake'ine "ła'łu kaako'q!łiłnoq!ma'ana ta'xas q!a'pe huts!upnała'ane:" ta'xas łaxa'xe: ts!:nek/me·k wu'u. ta'xas 40 łakiłu'k, ne: ła. una'xe: a, qłsma'k, n.k!.

26. SKUNK AND PANTHER¹

There was Skunk. He was not afraid of anything. He went along. | He saw Panther. He was afraid of Skunk. He thought: "Skunk is bad; | Skunk may kill me." He lay down. Skunk went along, he saw | Panther. He looked at him. He thought: "Panther is smart; what | may have killed him?" Skunk took Panther. He 5 put him into his bucket. | He carried him on his back. He started. He went along. Panther thought: "What | may frighten Skunk?" Skunk said: "I am afraid of one thing- | whistling." He went along. He put him down. He went along. Skunk squirted out his fluid. He stopped there. Somebody whistled, and Skunk was scared. Skunk started. | Panther broke his bucket. Panther started. He 10 thought | Skunk was bad. Panther started. Skunk was afraid. Panther went along. | There were trees where he went. He came back here. | When he went along, he came back where there were many tracks. Skunk went along. He thought Panther had lied and that he was not dead. (Skunk) started again. || He got back to 15 his bucket. His bucket was broken. He saw no | Panther. He knew that he was not dead. He saw his tracks. He started | (following) his tracks. Skunk went. There were many tracks. He did not | see where Panther was. He looked for him. His tracks were many. He saw his tracks. There were tracks. He went. He went quickly. He thought: "I'll kill Panther." Panther came to a river. | He 20 climbed a tree. Skunk arrived. He drank. He saw | Panther in the river. He shot him. He broke much wind. He had no more fluid. He took back his fluid. He did it | and he broke wind again. He was tired. He lay down. Then he saw Panther || in 25 the tree. He shot him. Skunk killed Panther.

27. The Deluge ²

There was a camp. There were many who picked huckleberries. | Chicken Hawk had a wife. She picked huckleberries. Chicken Hawk went. | He saw his wife. He did not know that | Yawo'nik! had taken his wife. Yawo'nik! had taken her. || He was angry. He 30 shot him. He hit him. Yawo'nik! drank water. | There was no more (water). He took it again. There was no more water. | Yawo'nik! drank. Then Chicken Hawk took (pulled out) his arrow. Out came | the water. There was a flood. All the people went up the mountains. | The water reached there. All the people thought || they would die. Chicken Hawk took off his tail. He put it up. | He 35 said: "If there is no more tail, then we shall all be lost." | The tail had four stripes. Then there was one left. | He said: "If there is no stripe on my tail, then we shall all die." | It reached there. The water stopped. Then || it went down. The people went down.3 | 40

¹ Or n'umatska'n'e.

¹See pp. 23, 48.

² See p. 218.

³ Chicken Hawk put up his tail, and said that if the water should cover the four stripes on the tail, then the people would all die.

28. CHICKEN HAWK AND TOAD

Qaosaqa'ane ko'uko n'asma'ine kiaq!nu'kuats. qaki'ine qake'ine ko'uko: "Hults!:na'xala'e's; kanulaqanana'la .'nla:kts kiaqka'louk." łaxa'xe. ta'xas n'e'nse nulaqana'e's. qastsu'm-·qaqa'ane: tsukua'te: tsu'pqa's. kanmi'yet.s n'etske'ine• 5 tsu'pqa's. kanmi'yıt.s qake'ine ko'uko: "hulqsana'la." ta'xas ts!/na'xe: n'/tsk/'he: tsu'pqa's, q!a'pe's qa'psins kwi'lqle's. qa·na'xe· t'nla·kts ko'uko. tsemak!e'·se· no'kwe·s. t'nla·k qałwi'yne: "huł'ı'pe·ł." n'ipı'łne ko'uko's łats!ına'xe aa'kıt.ła'e's 'nła'k. ała 'kını'k!e's ko'uko n'upxana'pse tsukuata'pse. 10 łats!:nałkna'pse· a 'kt.la'e's. sa niłwi'yne· ma'e's ko'uko· qake'ine ma'e's ko'uko: "hułts!:naxa'ła." ts!:na'xe qake'ine: "na·s at kaha'xe· 'nla·k." qaosaqa'ane· ki'as ma'timo ko'uko na'k
ơłwetske'łne: e'nła·k. n'u'pṣạne: ; ska'ṣe: e'nła·k. n'et.
łatsu'n:eko'uko ma'timo. wa'xe 'ı'nla'k. tsukuatı'lne. latsinamnalı'lne 15 c'nła k a 'kct. łana 'me's. k! imnaqaqa 'ane'. a 'kcnq!o'kops atwcseya'mne: noko'une: k!umnaqaqa'ane: n'u'pxane: kiaqka'louk k!umnaqa'qaps tsa''e's. ts!!na'xe'. tsukwa'te' tsa''e's. łatskałkı'n e. n'ıtkı'n e łasou'kse tsa''e s. kiaqka'louk. kanmi'yıt.s n'tskt'ine q'a'pe's qa'psins. so'ukse qak!umnaqaqa'ane t'n-20 ła kts kiaqka łouk. ta żas.

29. RACE OF FROG AND ANTELOPE

Qaqa'ane wa'tak. qake'ine: "hults!naxa'la nı'ltuk!p aa'kıt.la'e's hutsalnuxonaqnemalnala'ane." nalnukupqa'ane nı'ltuk!p. qamatı'lne nalnukupqa'ane. laxaxe wa'tak. qakı'lne q!a'pe's wa'taks: "ne qakna'pkeil." n'ıtxo'ume'k q!a'pe wa'tak. pıskı'n'e q!a'pe's aa'kuqla''nte's. pıskı'n'e nı'ltuk!p aa'kuqla''nte's. ta'xas na'lnuxonaqna'mne. n'itkıs-wisqa'ane. ts!na'xe. qa'ts!na'kne nı'ltuk!p. ta'xas wa'tak ts!na'kne matı'lne nı'ltuk!p. tsukuat.lı'sine aa'kuqla''nte's. lats!na'xe. wa'tak q!a'pe sakqa'ane. nuwa'sine nok!nuqlu-30 ma'n'e. kwalkwa'yit.s lats!na'xe q!a'pe wa'tak. matı'lne nı'ltuk!p.

30. THE WOMAN AND THE GIANT

Qaosaqa'ane: aa'qlsma'kinzk!. ts!zna'xe: qa:na'xe: n'u'pxane: e'ka's; n'ipla'pse: laqawa'xe: aa'kzt.la'e:s. ts!zna'xe: n'ok!ue'ine: pa'lkei. naqa'pse: aa'qa'lt!e:s. qa:na'xe: n'u'pxane: e'ka's. 35 qak.la'pse: "qa'psin?" qake'ine: e'ka: "ka's kzn'aqa'ki:n." qak.la'pse: neis pa'lkeis: "n'z'n:e tsa''ne:s." qake'ine:: "ka's kzn'aqa'ki:n kslaqts!zxma'la." qak.la'pse:: "hukue'kine:ts slaqts!zxma'la." qake'ine:: "ke'kinu." qak.la'pse: neis pa'lkeis:

¹ This sentence is unintelligible.

28. CHICKEN HAWK AND TOAD

There was the Toad. With him was Golden Eagle. Toad said | [he said to him]: "Let us go! Chicken Hawk and Blue Hawk (?) shall be our husbands." | Then he was her husband. He was skillful. | He caught Deer. One morning he was watching | the Deer. In the 5 morning Toad said: "I'll go with you." Then | he started. He watched the Deer and everything—mountain sheep, rams. 1 | Chicken Hawk and Toad went along. His stone was hard (?). Chicken Hawk | thought: "I'll kill her." He killed Toad. Chicken Hawk started back | to his tent. Toad was seen by her parents. She was taken. | They went to their tent. The mother of Toad was angry. | 10 The mother of Toad said: "Let us go!" They started. She said: "Chicken Hawk passes by here." The two, Toad and her mother, staid there. | Chicken Hawk was watched for. They saw Chicken Hawk coming along. | Toad and her mother were in hiding. Chicken Hawk arrived. He was taken. | Chicken Hawk 15 was carried back to the tent. He was poor. He was made to perspire over the fire (?). | He was poor. Blue Hawk (?) knew | that his younger brother was poor. He went. He took his younger brother. | He went to take him. Blue Hawk (?) restored his younger brother. On the following day | he looked for all kinds (of animals). He was well. || Chicken Hawk and Blue Hawk were no 20 longer poor.

29. RACE OF FROG AND ANTELOPE 2

There was Frog. He said: "Let us go to Antelope's | tent! We will race with him." Antelope was a fast runner. | He was never beaten in racing. Frog arrived there. | He said to all the Frogs: "Do this." || All the Frogslay down. (Frog) put down all her clothes. | 25 Antelope put down his clothes. Then he ran fast. | They two stood together. He started. Antelope did not run fast. Then Frog | went fast, got ahead of Antelope, and took her clothes. | She started again. All the Frogs were lying there. (Antelope) was hungry and thirsty. || In the evening all the Frogs started. They got ahead of | Antelope. | 30

30. THE WOMAN AND THE GIANT

There were the Indians. They started. They went along. They saw | a Giant, who killed them. They did not return to their tents. One | woman started. She had a child. She went along. She saw the Giant. || She said to him: "What is it?" The Giant said: "What 35 are you doing?" | The woman said to him: "This is your younger brother." He said: "What | did you do to make him so white?" She said to him: "I cooked him | to make him white." He said:

¹ That means he was hunting deer, mountain sheep, and other animals.

"tsukua'ten' łuk!." tsukua'te łouk!s. ta'xas n'itkt'ne aa'k.ła'xwe k!s (sktk.łaxwt'k!ne). łu'unte tsa'hałs ne pa'łke tsukua'te no'kue s. tsukua'te łouk!s. ta'xas n'itxo'mek e'ka. ta'xas n'ttktht's ne a'm a'ks. yunamok!o'une ne pa'łke n'ta'xas łaqatsxa'n e e'ka. ta'xas n't'p ne. łats! na'xas laqatsxa'n e e'ka. ta'xas n't'p ne. łats! na'xas ne pa'łki qake' ne: "tse ka'tke hun't pt'łne e'ka." ta'xas.

31. THE TWO TSA'KAP 1

Qaosaqa'ane: tsa'kaps asma'ine: altskt'i'es. qak.la'pse: "maats alqa'nam." qalwi'yne: nei: "ho'yas nei hulqa'nam." 10 ts!na'xe: qa'na'xe: qaawtsq!nu'se: aa'kts!la'ens ta'k!ats. mt'txane:, qaalak!o'une: tsukua'te: ntpt'k!as a'a'k!es. mt'txane: n'tsk!o'une: n'ipt'ine: n'tskt'ine: sakq!nu'kse: qa'halin qayaaqa'wos loukwt'n:e aa'koqla''nt!es. ts!na'qne: qaoxa'xe: k!ule:etnana'se: to'hols. n'onoq!oyata'pse:

15 Qaosaqa_a'ne al_'tsk_''l'e's. lo'_une tsa'kaps. qalwi'yne ne_i pa'łke_i: "qa'psin kse_i'ł·o· tsa'kaps?" ts!¿na'xe· ne_i pa'łke_i ne_is a_a 'ko'q!nouks. tseika'te: a_a 'kuqlawu't!e:s. nakunkt'n:e:. n'opkaqu'xane to'hols. tse'k!qane tsxa'ne tsa'kaps. qake'ine: "ts/k!k/ne'n'." ta'xas ts/k!qane'. ts/k!qane' aa''kwums. n'uku-20 noxa'mne: tsa'kaps. łats!:nak:kma'łne: ał:tsk:/le:s tsa'kaps aa'kt.la'e's. qak.la'pse': "maats nei qa'nam." qalwi'yne': "hułts!/nam." ts!/na'xe. sw/tsq!nu'se ta'k!ats. m/txane. qałak!o'une: tsukua'te: nopk!aka'e's. mo'txane: n'osk!o'une:. n'étské'ine: a_a'k!es. qa·na'xe: snit.ianamé'sne: ténaxa'mne: 25 snakna'kse: pa'łki_is. qak.ła'pse:: "qa'psin." qak'lne:: "husłitski'hne: kaak!." qak.la'pse: "hults!inaxa'la hulha'wiskaxuktsia'ła." qak.ła'pse": "ho'ya." qake'łne.: "ho'pak ne'nko." n'esakmu'n·e·. qaki'łne·: "ho'pak ni'nko." qak.ła'pse·: "ni'nko ho'pak." ta'xas naweskaxo'uktsek tsa'kaps. qaomitse'ise. 30 ła.unaxa'mne tsa'kaps. qakı'lne neis pa'lkeis:. "la ts nı'nko naweskaxo'uktsek." n'omitse'ise: n'e'pine nei pa'lkei lats!ena'xe tsa'kaps. łałaxa'xe aa'kat.ła'e's.

Qak.ła'pse· ałctskc'ł'e's: "maats at na słqa'nam." ts!cna'xe.
n'u'pxane· nopc'k!a's. słctski'łse· sc'n'as. yunaqa'pse· aa'qłsma'ki35 nck! nopc'k!as. qake'ine: "hułtsu'kuat sc'n'a." n'ipiłc'sine·,
tsukua'te·. łats!cna'xe·. mctyaxna'pse· tsa'kaps. qak.ła'pse·:
"pcskc'nen', ka'min n'c'n'e·. hcnsł'ayniła'pin." qake'ine·: "maats
ka'min n'c'n'e." łałaxa'xe· aa'kct.ła'e's. qakc'łne· ałctskc'ł'e's:
"ke'lou's katitunała'e's.?" qak.ła'pse·: "ło'use·." qałwi'yne·:
40 "ła'kakati'tu." kanmi'yct.s qakc'łne· ałctskc'ł'e's: "słutske'ine·.

"Cook me." The woman said: | "Bring wood." He gathered wood. Then she made | a pit (it was a pit for cooking). The woman pulled out grass. | She took stones. She took wood. Then the Giant lay down. | Then soil was taken. The woman threw it on top. || She set fire to it. Then the Giant said: "Iskuku', iskuku', | 5 iskuku'!" Then the Giant spoke no more. Then he was dead. The woman | started to go back. She said: "Look! I killed the Giant." Enough. |

31. THE TWO TSA'KAP

There were two Tsa'kap, brother and sister. (The brother) was told: | "Don't go there!" He thought: "I will go there." || He 10 started. He went along. There was a squirrel sitting on a tree. |
He shot at it. He did not hit it. He took his manitou arrow and shot | and hit it. He killed it. He watched. There was a lake.

Just | in the middle he took off his clothing. He swam. | A little ways out in the water there was a charr. It swallowed him. ||

There was his sister. The Tsa'kap had disappeared. That woman 15 thought: | "Why is there no Tsa'kap?" The woman started to | the lake. She looked at the fish-line. She pulled it up. | She pulled the charr out of the water. She cut it open. The Tsa'kap spoke (inside). He said: | "Split it." Then she split it. She split the belly. The Tsa'kap arose. They two, the Tsa'kap brother and 20 sister, went back together | to their tent. She said to him: "Don't go there." He thought: | "I will go." He went. There was a squirrel on a tree. He shot at it. | He did not hit it. He took his manitou arrow and shot. He hit it. He looked for his arrow. He went along. There was a tent. He entered. A woman was 25 sitting there. She said to him: "What is it?" He said to her: "I am | looking for my arrow." She said to him: "Let us go! We'll go swinging." | He said to her: "Well." She said to him: "You first." | He sat down. He said to her: "You first." She said to him: "You | first." Then the Tsa'kap swung. (The rope) did not break. | The Tsa'kap went down again. He said to that 30 woman: "Now you | swing!" (The rope) broke, and the woman was dead. | The Tsa'kap went on and arrived at his tent. |

He was told by his sister: "Don't go that way." He started. | He saw a manitou looking for beaver. There were many | manitou 35 people. He said: "Let me take a beaver." He killed it. | He took it. He started back. The Tsa'kap was pursued. He was told: | "Put it down, it belongs to me; you stole it from me." He said: "No; | it is mine." He went home to his tent. He said to his sister: | "Have we no father?" She said to him: "No." He thought: || "Oh, if I had a father!" On the following day he said 40

¹ Chamberlain translates this word by "ghost." My informant did not know the word.

² Throughout this story the forms used by a man talking to his sister, and vice versa, are used.

łmaqa'pse· katitu'mił." qak.la'pse·: "naqa'pse· tetu'e's. n'epłapse's;ne: k.ła'włas tetu'e's qo's sakq!yułe.e't.se'.'' kanmi'yet ts!/na'xe' tsa'kaps. łaxa'xe'. tsxa'n'e: "ła'n'a, huts!upl/'sine'." łaxa'xe k.ła'wła. qakı'łne: "kaa kinaqa'ke?" qake'ine: 5 "huts!uple'sine:" qake'ine:: "me'txan'!" me'txane tsa'kaps aa'kats!la'e'ns. snaxu'se: qaka'lne:: "ts!a'nan." ts!ana'xe k.la'wla a 'koq!yule'et.s. łaxa'xe. n'etwesqa'ane k.la'wla. welee't.se m/txa'łne k.ła'wła. n'ipił/łne . qaoxa'xe tsa'kaps. n'om/tsqane . tsukua'te· tatu'e·s aa'kuq!lam'a'se·s. ts!ana'xe· laxa'xe· aa'koq!-10 yułe'et.s. qake'ine::"k.ła'wła, ła'n'a, huts!uple'sine:" ts!ena'xe k.ła'wła. łaxa'xe: qake'ine: "qa'psin?" qake'ine: tsa'kaps: "huts!uple'sine:" qake'ine. k.la'wla: "me'txan' aa'kets!la'e'n." me'txane:; snaxu'ne: aa'kets!la'en. qake'ine: k.la'wla: "maats huts!uple'sine: tsa'kaps." qake'ine:: "huts!uple'sine:" qake'lne: 15 k.ła'włas: "łu'n'u." ts!ına'xe k.ła'wła a 'koq!yułe'et.s. n'itwesqa'ane: mitxa'îne: n'ipile'îne: ts!ena'xe: tsa'kaps. tsi'k!qane. tsukua'te: aa'koq!łam'e'se:s. łats!ena'xe: aa'ket.ła'e:s. qaosaqaa'ne: kanmi'yet.s qake'ine: aletske'i'e's: "huluqunanyała'e's.'' taxas ts!:na'xe'. wat!a'xe'.

[Nos. 32-37. Lower Kutenai. Told by Angi McLaughlin]

32. CHIPMUNK AND OWL

Qaosaqa'ane wa'tak. tete'e q !u'tsats. n'ila'ne q !u'tsats, nuwa'sine: qak.ła'pse ttte'e's: "aa'ktnuxo'unuk ts!t'nan' łe"ne:" k.ła'xam q!u'tsa'ts naqa'pse q!u'lwa. nalxo'une na'heks. ta'xas tsukua'te: n'uk!uniloqouxa''nte: ta'xas n'et!qa'pse aaq!una'awouk. qaosaqa'ane q!u'tsa:ts. nułpa'łne ku'pis, t!a-25 ło'kse: "ła'n'a." ta'xas ts!:na'se aaqa't!aks q!u'tsa'ts yaaqaosaqa'ake: qake'ine: ku'pi: "hutsxalts!!naxala.!'sine: ma"ne's." qake'ine q!u'tsa'ts: "wa'ha, pe'k!aks e'pine ka'ma." n'onc'ine q!u'tsa ts. qaiwi'yne: "ktsxai'c'plaps." qake'ine q!u'tsa:ts: "manwitsi'yin'." k!okuina'ane (?) ku'pi: "ts!up-30 naqk'len'." łaqanalts!:na'xe q!u'tsa:ts. neis qaqna'ane ku'pi. yu'k!kaka'te ta'xa ne q!u'tsa'ts pał k.lats!c'nam a kt.ła. e'se's tete'e's. ta'xas łatenaxa''mne: qake'lne: tetu'e's: "tsxal'pła'pne: t.łatsu'to." qake'ine: wa'tak. qake'ine: "qa'psin kuł'e'tkin?" qanałtsukua'te ne wa'tak tete'e's. n'oqounaqke'n'e wo'q!ka''s. n'e'pine q!u'tsats.

¹ Or ktszał' ö'płaps.

to his sister: "You told a lie. I ought to have a father." She said to him: "You have a father. |Your father was killed by Grizzly Bear. There is a mountain over there." The following day | the Tsa'kap started. He arrived. He said: "Come, I'll kill you!" | The Grizzly Bear came. He said to the two (the Tsa'kap): "What did you say?" The Bear said: || "I'll kill you!" He said: 5 "Shoot at it!" The Tsa'kap shot at | a tree. It fell down. (The Tsa'kap) said to (the Grizzly Bear): "Go!" The Grizzly Bear went | to the mountain. He got there. The Grizzly Bear stopped. From far away | he was shot and was killed. The Tsa'kap went there. He skinned it. | He took his father's hair. He started. He arrived at | the mountain. He said: "Come, Grizzly Bear, I'll 10 kill you!" Grizzly Bear started. | He got there. He said: "What is it?" The Tsa'kap said: | "I'll kill you!" The Grizzly Bear said: "Shoot that tree!" He shot at it. The tree fell. The Grizzly Bear said: "I will not | kill you, Tsa'kap." (The Tsa'kap) said: "I will kill you." He said to | the Grizzly Bear: "Go on!" 15 The Grizzly Bear started for the mountain. | He stopped. He was shot and was killed. The Tsa'kap started. He cut him open. He took his hair. He went back to his tent. | He staid there. The following day he said to his sister: | "Let us move camp." Then he started. He went across the mountains.

[Nos. 32-37. Lower Kutenai. Told by Angi McLaughlin]

32. CHIPMUNK AND OWL¹

There was Frog. His grandmother was Chipmunk. Chipmunk 20 was crying. He was hungry. He was told by his grandmother: "Go to the river; go to the other side." | When Chipmunk arrived, there were rose hips. He carried a bark basket. Then he took it. He filled it at once. Then it was full. | There were willows. Chipmunk heard Owl making a noise. || "Come here!" Then he started. 25 (Owl) went to where Chipmunk | was sitting. Owl said: "Let us go home to your mother." | Chipmunk said: "No; my mother died long ago." | Chipmunk was afraid. He thought: "He will kill me." Chipmunk said: | "Cover your eyes with your hand." Owl did so. He shut his eyes. | Then Chipmunk started, going along. Owl did 30 thus.2. He could not get him. Then Chipmunk got home to the tent of | his grandmother. Then he entered. He said to his grandmother: "He will | kill me. Hide me!" Frog said: "What | shall I do?" Frog took her grandson and put him into || the soup. Chipmunk 35 died.

¹ See p. 58.

² Owl stretched out his hand to catch Chipmunk, and scratched him.

33. THE SUN

Qa·na'xe·sk''n·ku·ts n'asma'he· 'nha·k. qake'ine· sk''n·ku·ts: "hułts!:naxa'ła qo iłka'hak aa'qłsma'knek! sakel'etke'n e nata'n'ık!s." u's'meks skı'n'ku'ts qake'ine : "hutsxal'ı'n e nata'nık!." qake'ine ı'nla'k: "u's'mek ka'min." qake'ine 5 sk/n·ku·ts: "wa'ha." ta'xas ts!/na'xe. qa·na'xe qake'ine "hentsxalhułpałna pne" qake'ine ske'n ku ts: ι'nła·k : "qa'psin?" qake'ine c'nla'k: "nei hutsyaaqanaxala'ake." qake'ine ski'n ku ts: "qa'psin?"—"ta'xa nei hutsqaosa'qowała'ane ne antonik. te't. tsaqa'ane t!na'm'u; at qaha'xam 10 a 'qłsma'kn/k! at qa's x ane: ' ta' x as ła x a' x e. qa's x ane: ι'nła·k·. "ta'xa nι'nko," qake'ine ι'nła·k. ta'xas qayaqaha'xe. 'nla.k. ta'xas tsukua'te. sk'.n.ku.ts. n'onaxu'n.e. ne_i t!/na'm'u. ne_is qanaqayaqa'ane sk/n'ku'ts. ta'xas ts!/na'xe sk/'n ku ts ta'xas ts!/na'kine łaxa'nxo'une /'nła k. 15 qake'ine: c'nła'k. "hułpa'hu ka huts!a qa'k. łeis." ta'xas qatsxa'n'e'. łaxa'xe'. ta'xas tszłmiyz'tine qake'ine skz'n'ku'ts: "u's'mek ka'min." qake'ine c'nła k: "maats." ta'xas tskna'xe. w'inam qawunik'tine. walkway'tine lawa'xe skı'n ku ts. qake' ine a 'qłsma'knık!: "saha'n e skı'n ku ts." qa-20 wunik/t.se qake'ine /nłak: "ta'xa ka'min ta'xa hutsxal/sniłts!/na'xe'.' qake'ine' /'nła'k. ta'xas yuwaak!menuqka'n'e'. so'ukune nata'nık! ı'nla k. saanlwi'yne skı'n ku ts. qalwi'yne kinmitane this. naq!aku'pse aa''k!e's skinkuts q!apiłaq!aku'pse· a_a''k!e·sts t!awu'e·s. pɛskɛ'n·e·. q!apił-25 aq!aku'pse a'm'a'ks. ts!:/na'xe hanlukpqa'ane q!apil'aq!ako'une. qa.u'pxane qa'psins l'e'tkin. qaosa'xe aa'kimana'me's. qanal'itxo'mek. qahaq!aku'pse aa'kimana'me's. ta'xas qake'ine sk'n ku ts: "Husuk ilq lo'k ne ne kuqa'e p." ta'xas.

34. Fox and Skunk

Qana'xe xaxastai'ya qaqa'ane na'k!iyu nalxo'une ytskme'e's qalwi'yne kts!isa'knu ptsxo'une ytskme'e's qa'na'-xe qake'ine: "lu'une qa'psin kuo'nil xaxastai'ya." qake'ine: "qaqal'uk!ue''ne kuo'nil ne kalukwaxni'yam." ta'xas n'isakinu'n'e qanal'uknoxa''mne na'k!iyu qaoxalhalukwax-35 ni'le k nosanoxunqa'ane xaxastai'ya n'umtskt'n'e ytskmet'se's na'k!iyu ts!tna'xe na'k!iyu lawa'xe xaxastai'ya n'u'pxane ne k!umt'tseis ytskme'e's n'ila'ne qalwi'yne ktsxal't'pil na'k!iyu ta'xas ts!tna'xe xaxastai'ya n'u'pxane aa'ktnmi'tuks n'eku'lne xaxasta'ya n'u'pxane na'k!iyu ya'wo's 40 wu'os ta'xas n'atsu'kpne n'uk!u'kune n'itxo'me kneisqalwakakilwitskt'kine n'u'pxane na'k!iyus qo's na'atas qaosaqa'pse neis qal'ukaxo'mek qalwi'yne tsxalaxaq!u'lukp, mtxna'pse na'k!iyus ta'xas.

33. The Sun¹

Coyote went along with Chicken Hawk. Coyote said: | "Let us go there far away, where the people are making | the sun." Coyote said first: "I'll be | the sun." (Chicken Hawk said:) "I first." | Coyote said: "No." Then they started. They went along. Chicken 5 Hawk said: | "You shall listen to me." Coyote said: | "What is it?" Chicken Hawk said: "It is where we are going." | Coyote said: "What is it?" (Chicken Hawk said:) "Then we'll stay | over there. There will be grease. When people pass, || they bite off a 10 piece." They arrived there. Chicken Hawk bit off a piece. | "Now you," said Chicken Hawk. Then Chicken Hawk passed. | Then Coyote took it. The grease fell down. | Coyote went rolling along. Then | Coyote started. He went quickly. Chicken Hawk overtook him. || Chicken Hawk said: "Listen to me, what I tell you." 2 Then | 15 he did not speak. They arrived there. Then in the evening Coyote said: | "I first." Chicken Hawk said: "No." Then | they started early. After a little while it was evening. Coyote arrived. The people said: "Coyote is bad." | After a little while Chicken 20 Hawk said: "Now I, now I myself shall | start." Thus spoke Chicken Hawk. Then the sun rose. | Chicken Hawk was a good sun. Coyote was angry. He thought | he would shoot Chicken Hawk. Coyote's arrow burned. | His arrow and his bow were all burned. He put it down. | The earth was all burned. He started running, and 25 everything was on fire. | He did not know what to do. He came to a trail | and lay down there. The trail did not burn. | Then Coyote said: "I am glad that I am not dead." | Enough. ||

34. Fox and Skunk³

Skunk was going along. There was Fox. He carried a | pot.4 30 He wanted to sit down. He put down his pot. He went along. | (Skunk) said: "There is nothing I am afraid of." He said: | "The only thing I am afraid of is whistling." Then | he sat down. Fox arose. There was the sound of whistling. || Skunk ran away. Fox 35 broke the pot. | Fox started. Skunk arrived. | He saw that his pot was broken. He cried. He thought | he would kill Fox. Then Skunk started. He saw | a river. He was going to drink. He saw Fox inside || the water. Then he squirted his fluid at him. He be-40 came tired. He lay down and | looked up. He saw Fox, being above. Then | he turned around. He thought he would squirt his fluid at him, but Fox shot him. | Enough. |

¹ See pp. 66, 116.

² See p. 110.

³ See pp. 23, 40.

⁴ That is, Fox was in the pot that Skunk was carrying.

25

35. COYOTE AND CARIBOU

N'asma'îne na'xane at ts!ma'xe na'xane sandwi'yne ske'n-kuts. qalwi'yne tsxal'u'pil ne na'xane sandwi'yne ske'n kuts: "qa'psin at skilwunike'tine ?" qake'ine na'xane: "at husil'e'kine ktsaqu'na tsa'hal at huslaqalwa'sdse'kine." n'ipe'îne ske'n kuts ne na'xane sandwi's ske'n kuts qaoxaltenaxa'mne ne is a'kit.la.e'se san'e'pine na'xane n'ila'n e ske'n kuts. qake'ine "ma kutsla'ke ka'swu." ta'xas.

36. COYOTE AND OWL

Ku'pi sakiła'yne łkamnı'nta'ke's. qake'ine skı'n ku'ts: "huts-xal'ı'n'e łka'm'u." n'da'n'e skı'n ku'ts tsiłmiyı't.se qakilı'lne: 10 "hınsa nluxlitı'tine, to'xwalıntkayaxni'sine ku'pi." qanalqunyaxa'l-ne skı'n ku'ts. qa waxmitı'lne aa'k!alaxwe'et.s. qanaltsukuata'pse ku'pi's, ts!!nalkna'pse qake'ine: "hun'ı'n'e skı'n ku'ts." qakı'lne ku'pi's: "hula'qwilna'la." naqwi'lne skı'n ku'ts a'a'ke ku'pi. skı'n-ku'ts n'ipı'lne neis ku'pis. k.laa'yne lkamnı'nta'ke's. lats!!na'xe'. 15 qake'ine: "hun'ipı'lne ku'pi." ta'xa.

37. COYOTE AND DEER

Qa'na'xe'. n'u'pxane tsu'pqa's. qalwi'yne ktsxalmi'txa. nalomi'se', sl'onela'pse neis qakı'n'e. lats!\na'xe qawısqa'pse n'ısqawitsla''mse. qake'ine skı'n'ku'ts: "k!\s\nyu'k\ua' t\tu''ne's?" qake'ine nei qa'psin: "qa'psin? kinq!akpa'mek nei kinı'plap?" 20 qake'ine skı'n'ku'ts: "huq\ualwi'yne pal ke'lo qa'psin." ta'xas.

[Nos. 38-44. Description of Dances, Games, and Hunting]

38. KISSING DANCE

Kt!amu'xo'l ka'qw'l t'tqa't!ts pa'lke kalqok!alma'xnam. namabrum dance men and women kiss. They tiktsi'lne se'it!s. laa'k!laak nalqok!almaxa'lne namatiktsi'lare given blankets. Another one is kissed. They are ne yunaqa'ane qa'psin. given many things.

39. Sun Dance

N'it/t.lana'mne tsxalhanquxo'ulne ts!/s/n /nquxonalka''ne will be Sun dance.

They build a tent will be Sun dance.

The Sun-dance leader

25 na'ksaq.
is master.

1 Or ag'kiyuka''nam,

35. COYOTE AND CARIBOU

There were two—(Coyote and) Caribou. Caribou started. Coyote was angry. | He thought he would kill Caribou. Coyote said: | "Why does it take you so long?" Caribou said: "I eat | small grass and I quickly get fat." Coyote killed || Caribou. Coyote 5 came along. He entered | (Caribou's) tent. Caribou was dead. Coyote cried. He said: | "I loved my friend." Enough. |

36. COYOTE AND OWL 1

Owl stole children. Coyote said: | "I'll be a child." Coyote cried in the evening. He was told: | "You make a bad noise. Owl may al- 10 most take you away." | Coyote was taken. He was thrown out of the doorway. Owl took him along. | He carried him along. He said: "I am Coyote." Owl was told: | "Let us dance!" Coyote and Owl danced. Coyote | killed Owl, who had stolen the children. They started back. | He said: "I killed Owl." Enough. |

37. COYOTE AND DEER

He went along. He saw Deer. He thought he would kill him. |
The wind was blowing and frightened him. He did thus to it. He
went on. He stood there holding (in the hand) | his head thus. Coyote said: "Is that your father's war bonnet?" | The thing said:
"What is it? Do you forget that you killed me?" || Coyote said: 20
"I thought it was nothing." Enough.2

[Nos. 38-44. Description of Dances, Games, and Hunting]

38. KISSING DANCE

The drum is beaten. Men and women dance and kiss one another. In return blankets are given. Another person is kissed and many things are given.

39. Sun Dance

They build a tent to have a Sun dance. The Sun-dance leader is master.

¹ See pp. 20, 37.

²This story was not known to my informants. It seems to mean that Coyote intended to kill Deer and in pursuing him was frightened by the wind. It seems that then he shot Deer, and Deer was standing there holding his own head in his hands. He did not recognize it, and asked the Deer: "Is that your father's war bonnet?"

40. Manitou Performance

Kq!axna'mnam. n'esin'wisxa'ine Na'qane qake'kse nëpek!a'e's He is behind a screen "He Swims."1 They tie up some one. Hesays his manitou łatikmi'tił. qaki'kse nöpek!a'e's tsxalhaqayeqa'mek. when he is He says his manitou he will roll himself. thrown back.

41. MEDICINE PERFORMANCE

T!amoxo'ułne: salwanaqananuq!namna'mne: yunaqa'pse: qa'psins they practice medicine performances The drum is beaten ktso'ukuaat xatknouku'ne. who take save him.

42. Gambling

Kałuwa'ts!nam yunaqa'ane k!skaxamı'til qa'psin; kq!a'laxa'al-Gambling are lost things; aa'qatwu'mła, t!a'wu, aa'ktsa'mał, nc'łko; q!a'pe tsin, se'ct!, blankets, shirts. qa'psin n'eskaxamete'ine. things are lost.

43. Games

K!tkt'nił kene'he, łaa'k!łaak kawesk!akana'nam, k!iktsikna'm-It is done dancing in circle other one down squatting, blind man's hand in hand, nam. at sktkine'hee kk.knq!o'yam, at sktkine'hee qa'la kka'm'u · buff. It is made a toy, it is made child. 10 n'iktsi'kil ''n'e'n n'etsta'halna'na at swu'ute aa'k\'\nu'la'ms, na.utif he is caught, he is given as a bow a boy, na'na n''nse kiyukmu'l'e's at n'e'nse a, 'kınu'la'ms. her digging-stick, however, it is girl, however, she a snake.

44. HUNTING ON THE PLAINS

	•		s the moun- when the		en they	'unc's nam y went out on prairie,		at however,		niłc'łne· re feared
	sa'nła. the Piegans.	at How- ever,	q!untkalha	awasxu ound they	-	mne.	at but	sl'ounile's		sa'nla the Pie- gans
	ktsxał'a they would:	•	kq!ał·axa′a horses.	ltsins.	at But			viłqanike'i this always	t_i ne·	ninał- when
15	hultune'	-	irie when the			_		tił'akni'ys ed up buffaloes		ta'xas
	_	qask _i ı hey sto	ne'lne'.	-						

¹ Name of a man, known under the French name Louis.

40. Manitou Performance

KUTENAI TALES

Some one was tied up. Louis was sitting behind the blanket. His manitou spoke when he was thrown back. His manitou spoke when he would roll himself about.

41. MEDICINE PERFORMANCE

The drum is beaten, and somebody does medicine work. They take many things. They save (the patient).

42. Gambling

In gambling many things are lost—horses, blankets, shirts, bows, knives, money—everything is lost.

43. GAMES

Children play, dancing hand in hand in a circle, swinging their hands. Other games are dancing about squatting, and playing blind-man's buff. Toys are made. Some child is caught: if it is a boy, a snake is given to him for a bow; if it is a girl, a snake is given to her for a digging-stick.

44. Hunting on the Plains

Across the mountains they went out on the prairie, but they were afraid of the Piegans. They sang, traveling around there. They were afraid that the Piegans would steal their horses. They did that always when they went on the prairie. They came back when they finished rounding up the buffaloes. Then they stopped.

II. TEXTS COLLECTED BY FRANZ BOAS (NOS. 45-77)

[No. 45. Told by Pierre Andrew]

45. RABBIT, COYOTE, WOLF, AND GRIZZLY BEAR

There was Coyote. All at once he saw Rabbit coming. He said to him: "Why are you running?" Rabbit said: "I am running away." He went past and went on. Coyote was sitting there. He thought: "Oh, something must have happened, and I might almost have been in trouble myself!" Coyote started to run. He went along and went along. There was a little prairie. There was Wolf. Wolf was there, and saw Coyote coming. Coyote arrived, and said to Wolf: "Why are you running?"—"I am running away." Coyote went past. Wolf was sitting there. He thought: "Oh, some-

45. RABBIT, COYOTE, WOLF, AND GRIZZLY BEAR

ske'n·ku·ts. n'uk!uenl'o'pxane kianuqlu'mnas Qawasaqa'ane He staid Coyote. All at once he saw Rabbit ska'se: qaki'ine qa'psin kenselts!e'na'k. kianuqqake'ine He said to "Why coming. are you running?" He said Rabbit: husxa''mktse k. qaanka'qayaxa'xe' skana'xe'. łu'mna $\mathbf{ne_i}$ "I am running away." He went past; that He was me'k ske'n'ku'ts. qalwi'yne' a' at ktsenma'lqa tu'xwa kuł'is/n-He thought: "Oh, something happened I might have almost qapwtska'axa. sqa·lwuts!c'n·qkupekc'me·k skc'n·ku·ts. qa·n a'xe· 5 been in trouble in He also started to run He went Coyote. along, his place!" sk/knu'qle.itnana'n'e'. saosaqa'ane ka'ake'n. qa·na'xe. went along. There was a little prairie. Wolf. There was There osaqa'ane' ka'ake'nts n'o'pxane' ska'ase ske'n ku ts. wa'se'ts he saw Coyote. coming He arrived Wolf qake'ine qa'psin kensetts!e'na·k. huxxa''mktxi.k.1 qayaqa''xe' and he said to him: are you running?" - "I am running away." "Why He went past

¹Coyote uses x (palatalized x) instead of s.

Then

[BULL. 59

thing must have happened, and I might almost have been in trouble myself!" Wolf started to run. He went along and went along. There was a little prairie. There was Grizzly Bear. He saw Wolf coming. When he was coming along and when he arrived, he said to him: "Now, why are you running?" He was told: "I am running away." Wolf went past. Grizzly Bear staid there, and thought: "Oh, something must have happened, and I might almost have been in trouble myself!" Grizzly Bear started to run. Grizzly Bear went along and went along. There was a prairie. There he saw the three friends. He went on, and arrived there. He saw Wolf sitting there, a little farther along Coyote, a little farther along Rabbit. Grizzly Bear said to Wolf: "Now, why did you run away? There is hardly anything to run away from." Wolf said: "I was staying there, and saw Coyote coming. When he arrived, I said to him, 'Now, why are you running?' He said to me, 'I am running

ske'n ku ts. ka'ake'n. qa'nqa'me'k qalwi'yne at kts/nma'lqa Coyote. He was sitting Wolf. He thought: "Something happened, tu'xwa atulini'sinqapwitska'ax ne. nuts/nqkupek/me'k almost I might be in trouble my olace." He started to run ka'ake'n. qa·na'xe· skiknu'qle.itnana'se. qa'na saosa-Wolf. He went along, went along. There was a little prairie. There $n' v' p x_a ne'$ ska'se; ka'ake'ns wolf. qa'ane. k.ła'wła. qa'waka'se'. Grizzly Bear. He saw He was coming. 5 ki'wasts qaki'ine ta'xa qa'psin kenselts!e'na·k. qak.ła′pse• When he he said to "Now, why are you running?" He was told: husxa''mktse'k. qayaqa'xe. ka′ake·n. qaosaqa'ane' k.ła'włats "I am running away." He went past Wolf. He staid Grizzly Bear, qalwi'yne. ktse'nmałne'ke't. atulene'sengapwetstu′xwa and he thought: "Something happened to him. Almost I might be in trouble myself in ka'axane. nuts/ngkupek/me·k k.ła′wła. qa'na'xe' k.ła'wła. his place." He started to run Grizzly Bear. He went along Grizzly Bear. qa'na'xe'. skknugle. 't.se'. $n'v'px_ane$ saqa'pse alsw $v't_imos$. There was a prairie. He went along. He saw those there 10 qa·oxa'xe·ts łaxa'xe·. n'v'pxane· qou naqna'kse· ka'ake·ns a·nłv'-He went on and arrived. He saw there sitting down Wolf; n·o·'sts ske'n·ku·ts· a·nło'n·o·'sts kianuqłu'mna. k.ła'wła qake'łne· farther Coyote; a little farther Grizzly Bear said to Rabbit. $ka'_{a}ke$ ns ta'xa qa'psin kensxa'mktsa'keil ma'nqa'nekaxa''mk-Wolf: "Now, did you run away? There is hardly anything to run away from." why tse·k. qake'ine· ka'ake'n huqa'osaqa'ane· hun'v'pxane ska'n-Wolf: "I was staying, I saw Coyote ku ts ska'xe. ki 'wamts huqakı'lne ta'xa qa'psin kınsılts!ı'na k. I said to him: 'Now, coming. When he arrived, are you running?'

away." Coyote was told: "And why did you run away?" He said: "I was staying there, and Rabbit came. When he arrived, I said to him, 'Now, why?' He said, 'I am running away.' I thought, 'Oh, something must have happened, and I myself might almost have been in trouble!' Then I ran away." Then Rabbit was told: "Now, why did you run away?"-"I was eating branches, the wind was blowing, the snow fell from the trees, and a branch broke off the tree; it almost fell on me. Then it made me run away. That is what I meant when I said, 'I am running away.'" Then they laughed and separated. Now it is ended.

ne'nko' ske'n ku tsts qakile'lne huxxa"mktxe'k. qak.la'pne "And you, Coyote: 'I am running away.'" He was told He said to me: ska'xe qake'ine huqa'osaqa'ane qa'psin kensla'qakalts!e'na'k. he came "I was staying there; were you running?" He said: kianuqlu'mnats ki 'wamts huquak'lne ta'xa qa'psints qake'ine and he said: I said to him: why?' 'Now, when he Rabbit, arrived at huł'.'huqualwi'yne at ktsenma'lqa tu'xwa husxa''mktse'k. I myself almost Something I thought: 'I am running away.' happened Qakile'lne 5 kusłaqakałts!/na·k. ta'xa sınqapwıtsqa'axa \mathbf{ma} He was told therefore I ran away." might be in trouble in his however, then, place, qa'psin kınsl'aqakaxa''mktse'k. ne'nko ta'xa kianuqlu'mnats did you run away?' now, why "Now you, Rabbit: n'uk!unihalume'n e nupuma'kqake'ine. huqua'akil'ikula't!ne. snow fell from at once the wind was blowing, "I was eating branches, He said: tu'xwa ma ksal'yuwitsxo'uqake'ikal'yaqetsk!ala'akine', \mathbf{nets} it fell on me. almost a branch broke off a tree, the trees \mathbf{and} ku/lki·t ta'xa husihutsqankaqkupeke'me'k. ta'xa \mathbf{ma} na'p. however I meant that towards it made me run. Then Then when I said łapaatsqa tsa'm ne: 10 numats'na'm ne ts ta'xas kusxa''mktse'k. separated again. they laughed and 'I am running away.'" Then ta'xas qaqa'sane: it is ended.

[Nos. 46 and 47. Told by Pierre Numa and Pierre Andrew]

46. Frog and Chipmunk

Qamit.la'ane wa'tak n'ı'nse tıte'es q!u'tsaats. q!u'tsaats at qqa'atse, at n'etske'he qa'psens. qake'he tete'e's wa'tak: "maats nei at qa'na n'." ta'xas at łaqqa'atse q!u'tsaats. qalwi'yne: "qa'psıns sı'k.la'p, maats neis at kulqana'meil?" qalwi'y-5 ne q!u'tsaats: "ne hulqa'nam ne ya qanalqake' ike maats at ku lqana'meil." ta'xas ts!:na'xe: ta'xas n'u'pxane: ku'peis. ta'xas ku'pe, tsxa'n'e'; qake',ne': "kuts!/t!xa lka'm'u." salalq!atxa'me'k tsa'qa's, q!u'lwa's. ta'xas neists k!aqaka'leil słaqawanxa'mne: qake'ine: ku'pei: "qake'ine: ma:"nis kul:ats!-10 naxała"es."—"peck!aks n'c'pine ka'ma:" qake'ine: "tso"nis kuł ats! naxała "e's." qake 'ine.: "pec'k! aks n'c'pine ka'tsu." qake'ine: "ko''ktinis kul'ats!/naxala''e's."—"pe/k!aks n'/pine ka'koukt." — "qak.k'sine telte't!ne's kul'ats!enaxala"e's."— "per'k!aks n'r'pine: katr'ite't!."—" qak.ir'sine: nana'ane's ku-15 ł'ats!:naxała''e's.''—"pec'k!aks n'c'pine kana'na.'' qake'ine q!u'tsaats; qaki'ine ku'peis: "hin'iseikate'ine; hinwikisqii'ine. ma ne'yın' a 'kaqlı'lne's, ta'xas hutslats!\na'xe:.'' mane' ine ku'pe i aa'kaqle'l'eis. ta'xas neists kma'ne aa'kaqle'l'eis ku'pi, lahutsenqkupek/me·k q!u'tsaats. qaqkupq!ałe'ine· ku'pi. n/ksiat/lne· 20 q!u'tsaats. tseika'te aa'ku'kp!e's ku'pei, nakumalu'kpine'ts n'Ata'xane: ta'xas la laxa'xe: a 'kat.laa'se's tate'e's. qaka'lne: "kate'te, s'nuta'pine ko'upi." qak.la'pse tete'e's; "hoqua'aloqaltil:/sine:" tsukua'te tete'e's wa'tak, ts!en'oqo:xake'n'e na'he'k!e's. qa'atskek.leknate'tne q!u'tsaats qous v'qouks 25 na"he ks. wa'tak qalwi'yne ktsxalhawatsqo'uxuats pal saha'nse. ta'xas ła aqtuq! iqaqkı'n e. qaaku'kse na'qponks hu'q !uka·'s qanal'o'qonaqk/n·e·. ta'xas tsın sanqa'mik wa'tak. ta'xas tkaxa''mne ku'pi. qake'ine ku'pi; qake'ine wa'ta ks;1 "kqa.u'pxa łka'm'u's?" wa'tak qake'ine: "kusa'kqanq!ał-30 sa''me_ił, hoqa.upxamı'lne:.'' qake'_ine: ku'pi; "na_a sılqa'wa:kałc'kse." qake'ine wa'tak: "hoqa.upxamc'he łka'm'u's." "k.l/tuks? hunuk!nu'q!lumam/lne:." ku'pi: qake'ine. qake'ine wa'tak: "ktu'kse." ta'xas qake'ine ku'pi: "k.le'tuks na'qpouks?" qake'ine wa'tak: "letu'kse; es ne'nse 35 hu'q!uka.'s." qake'ine ku'pi: "hutsekułm/łne." qake'ine wa'tak: "tsxalq!atskuxaktsa'pane:." taxas n'e ku'lne ku'pi. n'u'pxane pał nas wesu'qse neis łkam u's qake ine ku'pi: "nas w su'qse; pał słutske ine ne s kqa'ke kqa u'pxa." tsxa'n·e· wa'tak, qakı'lne: "tsxalsoukuı'n·e· ma·k!ı'se·s." ta'xas 40 n''t !xane ku'pi neis łka'm'u's. ta'xas n''t'kine neists ku'l'eiks ta'xas ła akaxa''mne: ta'xas n'ila'ne: wa'tak neis ke'ips tete'e's.

[Nos. 46 and 47. Told by Pierre Numa and Pierre Andrew]

46. Frog and Chipmunk¹

Frog was living in a tent, and her granddaughter was Chipmunk. Chipmunk | went around. She looked for everything. Frog said to her granddaughter: | "Don't go that way." Then Chipmunk went about again. She thought: | "What did she mean me to do, that I should not walk there?" Chipmunk || thought: "I will go that way 5 where she told me not | to go." Then she went. She saw Owl. | Owl spoke, and said: "I shall bite the child." | (Chipmunk) was picking partridge berries and rose hips. On account of what had been said she did not move. Owl spoke, and said: "Your mother says we shall go | home."— "My mother died long ago." He said: "Your 10 sister (says) | we shall go home." She said: "My sister died long ago." | He said: "Your mother's sister (says) we shall go home."-- | "My mother's sister died long ago." He said to her: "Your father's sister says we shall go home."— | "My father's sister died long ago."— "Your younger sister | says we shall go home."—"My younger 15 sister died long ago." Chipmunk spoke, | and said to Owl: "You look terrible; you have big eyes. | Cover your eyes with your hands, then I'll go along." Owl covered his eyes with his hands. | When Owl had covered his eyes with his hands, Chipmunk began | to run. Owl tried to kill her, and scratched || Chipmunk. Owl looked at his 20 claws, and he licked off the blood that was on his claws. | Then she got back to her grandmother. She said: | "Grandmother, Owl is pursuing me." She said to her granddaughter: "There is no place where I can hide you." | Frog took her granddaughter and put her in a birch-bark basket. Chipmunk made a noise inside | that 25 basket. Frog thought she would hold her in her mouth, but it was very bad. | Then she took her out of her mouth. There was soup of | rotten bones. She dipped her into it. Then Frog just sat down. Owl came in. Owl spoke, and said to Frog:2 | "Did you see the child?" Frog said: "I did not look around. | I did not see her." Owl 30 said: "There are her tracks." | Frog said: "I did not see the child." | Owl said: "Is there no water? I am thirsty." | Frog said: "There is no water," Then Owl said: | "Is there no soup?" Frog said: "There is no fluid. This is | rotten bone." Owl said: "I'll drink 35 of it." Frog said: | "Leave some fluid for me." Then Owl began to drink. | He saw the child was inside. Owl said: | "She is inside; you told me a lie; you said that you had not seen her." Frog spoke, and said to him: "You shall preserve her bones." Then || Owl bit 40 the child. Then he ate her. After he had eaten, | he went out of the house. Then Frog began to cry because her granddaughter was

¹ The following is in the form of speech used between sister and brother.

[BULL. 59

BUREAU OF AMERICAN ETHNOLOGY

kouł'e'iła wa'tak tsukua'te ma kk'se s. ne s yaqawutsiknak'ske n'ıt!qa.oxakı'n'e: ta'xas ts!ınalkı'n'e wuu"e's. qaoxalpısuqke'n'e'. ta'xas lat.ts!:na'xe' wa'tak aa'ket.la'e's. latinaxa''mne'ts 45 n'esaknu''ne: qawun'eke't.se: ła:tenmoqkupnoxunqa'mek q!u'tsaats. neists ma ya''qaqa'pske'ts o'k!una'mu's ła.c'nse'. sukwdq!o'ukune: matia'xane, nakam'nwutska'n:e: qaka'lne:: "husukwd'qo'ukune. kate'te kuła '`upxanamna ''la.'' ta'xassłqa qa's ne:

47. COYOTE AND BUFFALO

Kqa'namskı'n'ku'ts. n'u'pxane' sak.la'm'se' nı'lse'ks. qunya'xane'ts n'dqanmı'te. ta'xas la ts!ına'xe. qa na'xe ts, ne is qalqa'tsets laman'qa'atse neis ma yaaqana'mke. qana'xe słałaxa'xe neis ma yaqa k.ła'mske qałao 'q!ukua qa'pse neis 5 a'ak.la'ms ne'lse'ks. qalsaq.la'le'lqana'xe'. ta'xas qake'lne': "qa'psin pe'k!ak na huqa'xets nanqakqa'anets kenlao'k!qwa'qka." tsuk^ua'te no'_ukwe'sts n'aqtsxo'_une ne_i tsuk^ua'te ts paatsınmı'te. ta'xas ts!ına'xe qa'na'xe ts skıkts!lanu'kse. qaoxalit!namı'te sı't!es. n'ıtxo'umek. neists haqa'akets 10 n'da''ne. qake'ine, qalo'ukine:

> "Hałma" t_i mu xa'altsın q!uta'ptse_ik mıs quło'uwo m ha'haho'ya; we's, wes, wes."

 $Nułpałn\prime t\prime' t_i ne\cdot nało\cdot km\prime' se\cdot.\ nuk_u ninm\prime' tek.\ tse_i kałit\prime' t_i ne\cdot ts$ ło'use qa'psins. "ha, ko'qa'luwey ksło'kume ts tsın ksl'aka'qa 15 oʻk!uquna kyuna'qa a'q!utsa'ne·k k.loʻula.'' la¿txoʻume·k. $qawunik \ell' t.se \cdot \ \, ia \cdot uipain \ell t \ell' t_i ne \cdot \ \, iahai uk_u m \ell' se \cdot . \quad iao \cdot knuqkup$ q!ała''mne. n'u'pxane pec'k!aks słwa'se nc'łse ks pał scłmctyaxna'pse. nat!nmuqkupno:xun:qa'm:e:k. nutsanqkupeka'm:e:k. qananuta'pse. ta'xas q!awats!/nme'k. ta'xas słuk.łu'kune. 20 tsxa'n'e sk''n'ku'ts, qake'ine: "qa'la k!un'aqalo'qniya'xnu." qakik'lne:: "so'ukune, paat!, qaqa'qnan' qo'ukan' na ka'min." n'oqosaq!maxo'ume·k. ta'xas wa'xe n'ilse·k. n'u'pxane neis kalsaosa'qa'ps. nako'une na'lse'k neis aa'qul'u'qpko'ps. tsak!k!o'une. nuts/nqkupek/me·k sk/n·ku·ts. ła·ts!/na/xe·. qawułe/it.se· 25 ła psq!awats!/nme·k; łatsxa'ane·; qake'ine·: "ka· k/naqasaqa'lqa nöpe'k!a; husldq!o'kune:" qakile'lne: "paat!, tsen qaqa'qana'n' qo'uka'n' na ka'min.'' tseika'te'ts n'c'nse no'ukwe'sis ta'xas kuna'xe'ts n'o'qosaq!maxo'ume'k. ta'xas wa'xe'nı'ls'ek. nako'une ts ts/k!k!o'une· neis no'ukwe's. n/t!/nmuqkupno xun'qa'me'k 30 skı'n·ku·tsts nutsınqkupekı'me·k. qa·na'xe·ts qawułe·'t.se· ła'ps/łq!awats!/nme·k. łatsxa'n·e·: "p/k!ak huła·ps//d!o'kune·." tsxaname'sine, qakile'lne: "la'n'a na qawa'kan' na ka'min." n''e'nse t!a'peswukna'na's. n'oqo'usaq!maxo'ume'k. łaxa'xe ne'lse'k. naako'une: qawuk!o'une: ta'xas qatal'esk!o'une neis 35 tla'pswukna'na's. sdqa'alo'qalnu'klune nc'ise'k. qake'ine'

dead. | After Frog had cried, she took her bones. She laid them out | and put them together. She carried them to the water. Then she threw them into the water. Frog went back to her tent. She went in || and sat down. After a while, Chipmunk ran back into the tent | 45 the same way as she had been before. | She was glad. She jumped at her. She embraced her. She said to her: | "I am glad, grandmother, that we meet again." | That is the end. |

47. COYOTE AND BUFFALO 1

Coyote went along. He found the head of a Buffalo Bull. He picked it up | and threw it away. Then he went on. He went along and | went about and came back the same way, there where he had gone before. He went along | and came back to the place where the head was, at the same place where the || head of the Bull was. It 5 happened three times when he went along. Then he said to it: "Why, I went here before, this way where you are lying, and you lie in the same place again." | He took a stone and smashed it. He took it and | scattered the pieces about. Then he started. He went and found a flat stone. | He threw his blanket over it. Then he lay down. While he was lying down, | he cried. He said while crying: | 10

> "Their mother Dog, 2 Q!uta'ptsek and Mis'qulo'uwom ha ha ho'ya; wes wis wis!"

He heard noise of running. He arose. He looked around, | and there was nothing. "Oh, I thought I heard running; but it is nothing, | because there are many passers-by who did it." He 15 lay down again. | After a little while he heard noise of running again. He raised | his head quickly. He saw a Bull approaching, that ran after him. He jumped up quickly. | He started to run. He was pursued. He was out of breath and was tired. | Then Coyote 20 spoke, and said: "Somebody shall help me." | He was told: "It is good, nephew, come to me." | He disappeared inside. Then the Bull arrived. He knew that (Coyote) | was in there. The Bull butted it. It was a stump. He split it in two. | Coyote ran away quickly. He started again. When he had gone a little ways, | he was out of breath 25 again, and he spoke again, saying: "How far are you, | manitou? I am in danger." He was told: "Nephew, come to me, | come in." He saw it was a stone, and then | he disappeared in it. The Bull arrived. He butted it and | broke the stone in two. Coyote jumped up quickly | and jumped away. He went along, and after a short distance | he 30 was out of breath again. Again he spoke: "I am already in danger." Somebody spoke to him, and he was told: "Come, come to me." That was a small bush. He disappeared inside. The Bull arrived and butted it. He missed it. He could not hit | the little bush with 35 his horns. The Bull could just not get it. Coyote said: | "Stop, stop

¹ For another version see p. 12.

²Dog is Coyote's wife; Q!uta'ptsek and Mis qulo'uwom are his children.

[BULL. 59

ske'n kurts: "ta' xas, ta' xas qa qaske'nu, hentselqatal'upla'pne." qake'ine ne'lse'k: "so'ukune; ta'xas hutsqa'qaskne'sine." qakile'lne ske'n ku ts: "ta'xa la'n a." ta'xas qanal'aqa't louxa'xe. skı'n.ku.ts. dake'ine. skı'n.ku.ts: "hutsxalkulnak!o'une.ts 40 huts!knoquknała'ane:" qake'ine nı'lse k:: "so'ukune; huts!knoquknała'ane: qa'psin koutsel'iknoqokna'ła?" qake'ine skı'n·ku·ts: "kq!a·wo'uqa·l hutsl'ıknoquknala'ane:." qake'ıne. n/lse·k: "at huqua/knuqu'kune kq!awo'uka·l." qake'ine ske'n ku ts: "ta'xa qa'psin at kenseleknoqo 'ko?"—"aa'kmoq!o'-45 ma·ł at husł'ıknuqu'kune:" qake'ine skı'n·ku·ts: "so'ukune, ta'xa hutsl'knuqukunala'ane: naqa'ane ka'min." ta'xas kulnaklo'une: ta'xas n'ıknuqu'kune: qake'ıne skı'n kuts: "na sts at tsqaqa'ane, taxta' neis ktsyuna'qa aqlsma'kinik! saani'lwiyna'ata·m at ts!knuqu'kune at ktsla'souks aa'kklwi'ye's." qake'ine 50 ne'lse'k: "so'ukune'. hutsxaltsxan'ate'sine' ya'qaqa'ake' ka'min. na· aa'kma'ana·m o'k!le·etna'm·u at ko·laqaha'k.lam·a'la·k huwakaltile'lne: n'a'sne: katelna'mu. hulahaya'xa katelna'm'u at na sts hułaqaskam a'lne ts at qa wa ka a'lwa'xe aqlsma'kn k!ts at hun'opik'lne:" qake'ine ske'n ku ts: "ta'xas hents!e'ne 55 ka'swu. huts!łats!/nyaxnała'an'e' t/łnamu'ne's.'' tseika'te' a'koqłe. ¿'se's swu'e's skı'n ku'tsts n'ume'tsıng!ak.le' ise'. tsuku'a'te' aa'ktsama'l'e's lae'ta'xane ta'xas la. esenq!aqa'pse:.qake'lne: "ta'xas hułts!:naxa'ala." ta'xas qa:nakı'kıne swo'tımu. ta'xas n'u'pṣane: aa'kkk.luna'me's.qakt'he: skt'n:ku:ts swo'e's:: "ta'xas 60 na hutsqaosaqa'ane: łu'n'u', łats!/nya'xan' t/lnamu''ne's.'' ta'xas łats!/nya'xane:, t/lnamu''e's n/lse'k. ta'xas łatsukua'te:. ta'xas wanaqna'lne: laqa oxa'xe nc'lse k neis ya qaosaqa'ake skė'n·ku·ts. ta'xas nawu'kune· skė'n·ku·ts. n'u'p \dot{x}_a ne· sł·awa'se·s swo'e's ta'xas metya'xane ske'n'ku'ts neis aqlsma'knek!s. 65 n'upxa'lne pal n'a's ne ni'lse k ske'n ku ts. n'o nele'lne ts ta'xas $qa\cdot qaskn\iota'lne:\ ta'xas\ ts!\iota n\cdot ak\iota'k_ine\cdot sw\iota't_imu.\ ta'xas\ xa_atsa'n\cdot e\cdot,$ ki'as te'tqa't!ts ki'as paa'lke, qaoxal'etqa'ane. tsxa'n'e nc'lse'k; qakc'lne' skc'n'ku'ts': "na ki'as katclna'mu tseika'ten', ka· hanqa'lwiy hantstsukua'te· tsxal'a'n·e· talnamu''ne·s." 70 ta'xas skı'n·ku·ts tse_ika'te: qałwi'yne: "na ki·'ın ktsaqu'n·a naqants!ma'k!eis ma'k!ei. na ki''ın kwı'lqa naqa'alsouk. ta'xas na hułsztso'ukat, na_aqa'ałsouk.'' qakz'ine nz'iseks: "na hutszitsukua'te:.'' qakila''mne:: "ta'xas hutsyanqa:tsala'ane:.'' tsxa:małktsała'mne, ke' isouk kiyu'k iye it. ta'xas yan qa'atse. qa na-75 ke'kine: tełnamo'utimu skenikuits. n'u'p x_a ne: suq!yułe.e't.se:. qakı'lne tılnamu"es: "qou nak!amnaqale.ı'tke qo hıntskana'xe. ka'min hutsxal'uk!ena'xe.'' ta'xas ts!\na'xe nei lu'kpo. ta'xas ts!:nal'o k!uina'xe skı'n ku ts. ts!:na'kine ts wa'sd axa'xe ne_is tsxałyaqana'ske tałnamu''e s. ta'xas łaxa'xe ts n'asaknu'-80 n.e. damnekt.se.ts faxa'xe. ne' fu'kbo. dafmi, he. skt, u.kn. skt.

doing this to me! You can not kill me." | The Bull said: "Well, I'll let you go." | Coyote was told: "Now, come!" Then Coyote went near him. |

Coyote said: "I'll fill my pipe. || We will smoke." The Bull said: 40 "It is well. Let us | smoke. What shall we smoke?" Coyote said; | "Let us smoke block tobacco." The Bull said: | "I don't smoke block tobacco." Coyote said: | "What do you smoke?"—"I smoke leaf tobacco." || Coyote said: "It is well. | Let us smoke it. I have 45 some." Then he | filled his pipe. Then they smoked. Coyote said: "It will be this way | in later times, when there will be many people. When they are angry at one another, | they will smoke to make their hearts (feel) good."

The Bull said: || "It is well. I'll tell you what happened to me. | 50 On this road, at the same place where my head lay, | my wife was taken away from me. I had two wives. When I went for my wives, | I came with them to this place. Then people came here, and | I was killed." Coyote said: "Now you will be || my friend. 55 We shall get back your wives." Coyote looked | at the horns of his friend. The points were broken off. He took | his knife and sharpened them. Their points were sharpened again.

He said to him: | "Now let us go." Then the two friends went along. | They saw tents, and Coyote said to his friend: | "I'll stay 60 here. Go on, go and get your wives back." | Then the Bull went to get back his wives. He took them back. They made war on him. The Bull went back to where Coyote was staying. | Then Coyote arose. He saw his friend coming. | Then Coyote attacked the people. | They saw there were two-the Bull and Coyote. They 65 were afraid of them, and | they left them. Then the friends went along. They were four— | two men and two women. They stopped there. The Bull spoke, | and said to Coyote: "Look at these my two wives! | Which one do you want to take? She shall be your wife." | Coyote looked at her. He thought: "This younger one | 70 must have strong bones. The big one must be good. | I think I will take her. She must be good." He said to the Bull: "I | take this one." They said to each other: "We will part now." | They. shook hands and said good-by. Then they parted.

Coyote and his wife went off. He saw a mountain in front. | 75 He said to his wife: "That place looks like a valley. Go there. | I shall go roundabout." The Buffalo Cow went on. | Coyote went another way. He went quickly. He came back quickly | to the place where his wife was going. He arrived and sat down. | After a 80 short time the Cow arrived. Coyote thought: | "I will shoot her.

"ta'xas huł'c'łwa; ta'xas kutsxa'l'e'k, kuhu'was." neists k.ła'xam ne_i łu'kpo nasqasa'se'ts km¿'txa sk¿'n ku'ts. ta'xas n'dwa'n'e neis yaaqakqa'pske qawde't.se skakts!lanu'kse. ta'xas qaoxal'ısaknu'n e neis a 'kıkts!la'anouks. qa'nqa'me kts 85 n'da'n e. slila'x ne tdnamu'' es ne kk'dwa qawunektt.se. n'uk!unihutska'se ka'akens. yunaqa'pse n'uk!uni'c'kine neis k!dwana'm'e's. qalwi'yne' kts!o'uwuk ske'n'ku'ts; t!aptse'kpu'k!une: n'upsłatwetsno texa''mne ts qa'tał ałuxu'se a 'kekpu'k!ue's. ta'xas n'e'kine nei ka'akein neis iya'mu's. q!a'pxane. 90 ta'xas łało'use: tsin saqno'une ske'n kuts, nawo'kune słałoxu'se a 'kıkpu'k!ue's. qake'ine skı'n ku'ts: "t!aptse kpu'k!uso, t!aptse·kpu'k!uso·!" qaoxa'xe, tsın ma'k!s n'ınqapta'kse. qałwi'yne: "ta'xas huł'yaq!axa'me k." ta'xas n'ct!qaoxake'n'e neis maak!s. ta'xas sel'yaq!a'ane qakele'lne: "paat!, 95 at ma kuqa''qanla'ltse's ma_ak!." qake'_ine.: "mı'k_a ma kqanı'ke:" tseika'te:ts n'e'n:se: na'lme:t!s. qak.la'pse: "huts!esenlyaq!a'ane:" qak.la'pse: "hıntsxalhawıtsqatkna'pine:" Ta'xas nawitsqatkı'n.e. qak.la'pse: "maats tsmak!wıtskı'n.e.; hanina'imat!qatka'nap." ta'xas qakna'ane: qatsmak!watska'nre: 100 tsukua'te: na'lmıt! a_a'kuktsı'ke_ins; qan'akı'n'e ne_is aa'knu''lma'ks, neis k!almanu''lma'ks. qakile'lne ske'n'ku'ts: "ye'sınwuqoukpı'tske:" at qasakinlı'sine aa'k!alma'es; aa'ke at qake'ine: skı'n:ku:ts: "huye:'sınwu'qoukpı'tske:" no:tsınqkupe·ke'me·k na'łmet!. nałke'n·e· a_a'knu-'łma·ks. ta'xas metya'xane· 105 ske'n kurts, qaknu'ter. n'upsla't yil'e'k ner na'lmet!, slalo'user. ne_is qalamanınmı'te· ne_is a_a'ko·ktsı'ke_ins. qakilı'lne· skı'n·ku·ts: "'ın hınlın'o'ute:" ta'xas ts!ına'xe: na'lmıt!. tsukua'te: skı'n:ku ts ne is a 'ko ktse'ke ins. n'eita' xane, pał kts! a'qa ps. qa kqa'nwesqa'ane: ske'n kuts, tsin enqapta'ks e: aa'q!a'n a ks. qal-110 wi'yne.: "hul't!qaoxa'ke nts kuts!aqtsa'kxo:" ta'xas n'tsaknu'n e kts!aqtsa'kxo ske'n ku ts. qakile'lne.: "pa t!, at ma kuqaqanla'ltse's maak!.'' tseika'te' n'a's'e' pa'lkeis, n'i'n'se' ei'qo'lsts wa'ku'ks. qak.la'pse: "ta'xas huts!aqtsa'kxo'nała'ane: ne'nko ts!e'na nts, qo hentstsukua'te qa'psi n, hents-115 xałhału 'qkinilxneimu'n e. hanu'pxa na qa'ski lhanq!o 'ko'. ta'xas hatslats!ka'xe:" ta'xas ts!aa'xe ska'n ku ts. n'a'ka'nklo'une; n'aqtsxo'une n'atmase'ite: qaosaqa'ane ska'n kuts, n'u'pxane, tax'as wdanq!oko'pse. ta'xas lats'ana'xe. ta'xas k.ła·ła′xa·m. ło′use· qa′psın. tseika′te· na's a'kits!ła′e·ns 120 swetsq!nu'se· wa'ko·ks, n'ao·'k!we·s ne_is łuha·'wetsq!nu'se· n'ao''k!we's nalxo'use t!na'mu's n'ao''k!we''s nalxo'use. hoq!kat'se: ta'xas lo'use: ke'tk neis k!t'lwa neis iya'mu's. ta'xa.

Then I will eat her. I am hungry." The | Cow arrived. As she walked along, Coyote shot her. | He killed her. There she lay. A little ways off there was a flat stone. | He sat down on the flat stone. He sat there and || began to cry. He cried for his wife whom he had killed.

After a little while | many wolves arrived. They ate at once | what he had killed. Coyote thought he would stand up, but he stuck (to the stone). | He tried to get up, but he couldn't get off. | Then the wolves ate the Cow. They ate it all. || Nothing was left. Coyote just got up. He arose. His backside came off from the stone. | Coyote said: "Let me stick on, | let me stick on!"

He went there, and there were only bones. | He thought: "Well, I will break the bones." He piled | the bones together, and he was about to break them. He was told: "Nephew, | I do not allow you 95 to break bones." He said: "That is so." | He looked, and there was Badger. He was told: "I'll break the bones." | He was told: "You shall hold my tail." | Then he held (Badger's) tail. He was told: "Don't hold on too tightly, | you will badger my tail." He did so. He did not hold the tail tightly. | Badger Woman took the bladder 100 and put | the marrow into it. It was a big, round piece of marrow. Coyote was told: | "I shall eat that much," and (Badger) passed her hands close to her mouth. | Coyote also said: "I'll eat that much." Then Badger | ran away quickly, carrying the marrow. Coyote pursued her. | He ran after her. Badger was eating all the time. 105 When she had finished, | she threw back the bladder. Coyote was told: | "I suppose you want that." Badger went off. Coyote took | his bladder. He licked it. It was greasy.

Coyote was standing there. There were only the remains of broken bones. || He thought: "I will pile them together. I will pound them 110 to pieces." He | sat down. Coyote began to pound. He was told: "Nephew, I won't | allow you to break bones." He saw two women. They were | two birds. He was told: "We will pound it. | Meanwhile go and get something that you may || use for a spoon. When 115 you see that there is a fire, | come back." Coyote started. He took a root out of the ground, | pounded it, and dried it. Coyote staid there. | Then he saw a large fire. He went back, and | when he got back, nothing was left. He looked up the tree, || and there was one 120 of the birds. The other one was on another tree. | One carried the grease; the other one, | the chopped bone. He had nothing to eat of the game he had killed. Enough. |

¹ Species unknown.

[Nos. 48-50. Told by Mission Joe and Felix Andrew]

48. THE ANIMALS AND THE SUN

Qa·k.lu'unam n'dwat!tka'ane naso'ukuen. qake'ine: "qa'la's tsxa'l'ıns nata'nık!s?" ta'xas nakq!yı'tine: k!o'k!we qakeł/łne: "h/ntsxal'/ne:" ta'xas tsxanatamna'mne neis k!o'k!we ktsxa'l'in nata'n k!s. ta'xas q!a'pe nulpalnet na'mne 5 ne_i ktsaqan/ke·t. ta'xas ts!/na'xe· ne_i k!/dwa't!te·l ktsxa'l'/n nata'nık!s. qal'atı'lne qo'kuin. ta'xas ts!n a'xas ta'xas kts/łmi'yet. kkanmi'yet nakilwetskile'lne ktsi'wakmenu'qka: ta'xas yuwa kmnuqka'n e qatalso'kuaka't.ktttine'ine nei k!ktt'kmnu'qka; n'u'psła'tiyi'lhamqoq!u'kul'a'akat.le'tttine'i-10 ne ne ktyoʻkwe t; n'upsla't iytlqaqa'ane ts kwalkwa 'ytt. lawa'xe ne nata'n k!. qakya'mne: "silsaha'n e na sts k!aqa'qa k!upsla'tiyilhamqoq!u'ku'l'akat.le'ti'tine'.'' qakya'mne'ts qa.c'n·e·. tseikate'he·, n'o·k!we'ine· n'elwat!te'he·. n'e'ne· e'nla·k. kts/łmi'y/t.s, ta'xas ts!/n'a'xe' //nła'k. kkanmi'y/t yuwa'kmE-15 nuqka'n'e'. ta'xas k!kkkkmenu'qka', namak!tsa'akat.le'tatine'ine na a'm'ak. n'upsla't_iyilqaqa'ane ts kwalkwa'ye t. ta'xas kts/łmi''y/t.sts ława'xe ne nata'n'/k!. qakya'mne tsxalqa./'n'e sa'sa'hanle. 'tine'. kt!qaoxa'xa'mts k.laha'kq!ye't. qake'ine' sk/n·ku·ts: "hutsxal'/n·e·." qakya'mne: "so'ukune." tsxalts!/-20 n·a'xe· ske'n·ku·ts. ta'xas ts!en·a'xe· ske'n·ku·ts. ktselmi·'yetts q!u'mne'na'mne'. kkanmi'yetts yuwa'kmenuqka'n'e'ts kanu'qka. n'o·k!"unla til utime lettine. ts!ma k!e·lst u'time lettine. ta'xas kiu'kiye't, aqlsma'kinck! n'ctkc'n'e' ke'ek. tsxa'n'e' nei nata'n'ık!; qake'ine': "tsxalhaqa'ane' ka'kwe'sın'." nulpalnı'lne' 25 ne_is k!aqa'ke ktsxałha'qaps kwese'n'e s. me'ka n'oniłoxaxa'mna·m ne'le ts at n'u'tme le 't ine : ta'xas at n'ela'n e lka'm u neis ko'uknaps nata'n'ik!s. at naqktsiya'mne: qalwi'ynam ktsxa·'lsoukts pa·l qaqa'nal'utime'ikune: ta'xas qaqala'tilqaqa'ane ya qala'til'onanuqka'ke. luquala'til'u'timele'tine nei 30 kwałkwa'yet. ktsiłmi'ye't qa'nm/łxu'nena'mne'. n'oukwil'öpkwu'mne: lawa'xe: ski'n ku:ts. qakili'lne:: "hintsqa.e'n·e·. hensaha'n·e·. ts!ma`k!e·łsel'u`timele.e'tine· ne'nko·." qa·n/t.la/ane· k!u'k!we pa'lkei; n'asqa'lte: qak.la/pse: "hutsxalts!/naxala'ane qo ya kd'/tiya'mke nata'n /k!." ta'xas ts!/-35 nakı'kıne: k.la'xamts qakilı'lne: "qa'pseın kınse'ılqa'ts?" qake'ine:: "hu'nułpałne" tttinała'ne nei ksaktl'ttyam nata'n tk!." qakik'ine: "so'ukune: hentsxalts!en:a'xe:" ta'xa n'e'n:e: nei kwe'lqa, ta'xas ts!na'xe: ta'xas q!u'mne:na'mne: kkanmi'yet ta'xas yuwa kmenuqka'n e. nala 'te 'qo tla'mal ec'tine wc'l-40 nam. ta'xas k!ktikmenu'qka n'upsla'tiyilso'kuil o xonatatine'ine: ta'xas kiu'kiyit n'utimat.lea'tine: n'atkini'yam na'le ts at soukudoo'xona'tatne'ine: yaaka'qktseik at qa'n'makxone'ine at

[Nos. 48-50. Told by Mission Joe and Felix Andrew]

48. THE ANIMALS AND THE SUN

There was a town. A chief gave his commands. He said: "Who | will be the Sun?" Then they began to talk about it. One of them was | told: "You shall be the Sun." After this one had been told that he was to be the Sun, all heard about what | was to be done. 5 Those who were told to be the Sun went. | The name (of this one) was Raven. Then he started. | It became dark. On the following morning they watched for him to come up. | He came up. It was not bright enough when | he came up. The day was always blackish. It was always like evening. The Sun came back. | They said: "This 10 way is bad. It is always | blackish." They said that he could not be it. | Another one was looked for. Chicken Hawk was sent. | It grew dark. Then Chicken Hawk started. On the following morning he went | up. When he went up higher, the world looked yellow. | 15 It was always like that. He went down. | In the evening the Sun came back. They said: "You can not be it. | It looks like bad weather." 1 They assembled and talked it over again. Coyote said: "I will be it." They said: "Well." Coyote was about | to start. 20 Coyote started. At night | they slept. On the following morning Coyote went up. | When he went up, it began to be hot. It was fairly warm, and | then it was noon and the people cooked food. The Sun spoke, and | said: "Will there be any left for me?" It was heard | what he said, and they left food for him. Even when they 25 went into | the shade, it was warm. The children began to cry, | for the Sun burned them. They went to the water, and they thought | it would be good, but the water was hot. It was the same | when the Sun went down. It became warmer and warmer until | sunset. 30 When it was dark, they felt well. They had almost | been burned to death. Coyote came back. He was told: "You can not be it; | you are bad. You were too hot."

There was one woman with two children. They said: "We will | go there where they are playing Sun." | The two went. They ar- 35 rived there, and they were told: "Why do you come?" | They said: "We heard that they play Sun." | They were told: "It is good. You shall go." Then he, | the elder one, started. They slept. The next morning | he went up. In the morning it was coolish. || He went high 40 up, and they always felt comfortable. | At noon it became warm, and when they were in the shade | it felt comfortable. They went swimming, and they felt well. | They felt cool. Then he came down. Then

¹ The narrator said that many others were tried, but he did not remember their names. See pp. 48, 116.

n'ztqo't!ama'ine: ta'xas k!unanu'qka: ta'xas so'kuzl'oxo'natztne'ine: o'k!uquna kszlwałkwa'ye't. ta'xas ktszlmi'ye't, ta'xas 45 ława'xe'nei nztsta'hał. q!a'pe qałwiyna'mne neists ktsxa'l'zn nata'n'eik!. qakilz'he'nei nztsta'hał: "hzntsxal'z'n'e' nata'n'eik!." ktszlmi'yzt.sts ta'xas lats!zn'a'xe' o'k!uquna ksla'matz'ktseił ktsxa'l'zn nata'neik!s. nei nao'k!e'n ztsta'hał nei ktsaqu'n'a saosaqa'ane: qakilz'he': "nz'nko hzntsxalts!zna'xe' na 50 ktszlmi'yit. hzntsxal'z'n'e ktszlmetzlnu'qka." ta'xas ts!zn'a'xe: qawunekz'tine: ktszlmi'yeit yuwakmenuqka'n'e ktszlmetzlnu'qka n'upsla'tiyilhu'k!ukyz'tine: yz'sznwunmeyz'tke tszlme'yztna'm'u. kkanmi'yzt ława'xe: qakilz'he: "ta'tine's tsxal'z'n'e' yo'kwiyetna'm'us nata'n'eik!s. nz'nko hzntsxal'z'n'e' 55 ktszlme'tilnu'qka:" na ki'a's nata'n'eik! n'asts n'z'n'e'; n'z'n'e na ki'as nztsta'hał ta'xas q'a'pe qalwiyna'mne kse'ilsoukuts soukutalokna'mne: ta'xas słoknz'he:

Sa'handwi'yne: sko'n:ku:ts. qalwi'yne:: "hul'o'pi:l ne; nata'n'eik!." ta'xas n'et'wukune'leik; .ta'xas a''ke n'aimaka'ane. 60 ta'xas ts!:n'a'xe' ts:lme'y:tna'mu's qo's tsxalya'qa'kalyuwa'kmenu'qka'ske'ts qaoxa'xe'. qaosaqa'ane' kkanme'yit. ta'xas sukxo'ume·k neis qal'o'ndqakqa'ane: ta'xas na'watsnulk!o'une: ta'xas yu'wa'kmenuqka'n'e: ta'xas suknułk!o'une: ta'xas tsxalmı'txane qanalhaq!aku'pse a'a'k!e's. ts'ılq!an-65 ku'pse: n'elqanme'te: ta'xas naq!a'lekwae'tine: no:sanoxunqa'ane: qa'metenq!o'kupxu'se: nas yana'ha ks neis tsxalya'aqana'mke: ta'xas pa'l kanlu'kpqa: ta'xas nolu'qune: ta'xas tsxał'houko'une: n'u'pxane: słqa'nama'name'sine: qa'oxał'a'qapo·'xał'¿txo'ume·k. wa·'m¿'t¿nq!o·'kupxu'se· ts!e·nał·u'qxałha'-70 q!a·l·kwa·/t.se. o·/k!uquna ke/ilo·s tsa/ha·ls aa'kmana·'mists s/lxa'tknu'kune: na aa'kik.lu'una'm n'upxa'line ne haq!alo kwa'et.1 qakya'mne: qa'psein: "ksl'a'qale'e't?" qakya'mne:: "lo'une ske'n ku ts, lentskal ula'n e ... qake'ine ske'n ku ts: "ne s tsxalya qa'nalhaqa'ake aqlsma'kneik! na sts at sqaqana'ane 75 neis tsxałho'uko at tsxał' txo'ume k qa's na qana man a'me sts at tsxałxatknu'kune:" ta'xa na a a'kık.lu'nam qakya'mne: "maats at qa'qanapme'lkeil neis ya'qaqana'ake ske'n ku'ts; na's tsxalya'qa'nalhaqa'ake aqlsma'kneik! maats at k.lınq!o.c'mu nata'n'eik!s." qakya'mne: "ta'xas henslu'pxane at 80 hantsya 'qaqana'ake: ' ta'xas soukuda !okna'mne ts lapa 'tsqa'atsa'mne: ta'xas slqa'qa'sane:

49. Coyote's Contests

Qa·k.luna'mne·ts kinelwi'ytik skı'n·ku·ts. qalwi'yne· palktslyuna'qwum neits yaaqanakılhaqwu'mke·. silkinilwiyteya'ate· neis aaʻkık.luna'mıs at yaʻqaoxaqalıpnamı'ske·. qakı'lne· al-

1 Or haqlalökwa'et.

they felt comfortable, | because the Sun was setting. At night the || youth came back, and all thought that he should be | the Sun. The 45 youth was told: "You shall be the Sun." | In the evening he came back, because it was given to him | to be the Sun. The other youth, the younger one, | staid there. He was told: "You shall go in || the 50 evening; you shall be the Moon." Then he went off. | It had not been dark long before the Moon went up. | It was always light throughout the night. | On the following morning he came back. He was told: "Your elder brother shall be | the Sun during the day. You shall be || the Moon." These two became the heavenly orbs [Suns]. These | 55 two youths were thought to be good, | and they were glad. Then it was decided. |

Coyote was angry. He thought: "I will kill the Sun." | Then he made his bow, and he also had two arrows. | Then he went in the 60 night to the place where the Sun was to come up. | He staid there. On the following morning he took a good seat. He lay on his stomach. Then he aimed at the right place. | The Sun rose. He aimed well | and was about to shoot. Then his arrow was burned. | It burned 65 quickly, and he threw it away. Then everything was on fire. He ran away. | There was fire on each side where he was going along. | He ran and went into the water. He was almost burned. He saw a trail and | lay down on it. The fire arrived, and it turned back because there was no grass on the trail. He was saved. The people 70 saw that the land was burning. | Some one said: "Why is this?", They said: "Coyote is not here; | it must be he who has done it." Coyote said: | "Later generations of people will do this. | When there 75 is a fire, they will lie down on a trail. Then they will be saved." Then the people said: | "Don't do what Coyote has done. | Later generations shall not | play Sun." Some one said: "Now you know what | to do." Then they were glad. They | scattered. That is 80 the end.

49. Coyote's Contests

There was a town. Coyote was thinking about (the future). He thought | there would be many generations of people. He thought of | the town where the people had been killed. He said to | his friends:

BOAS

[BULL. 59

swo'e's: "hults!:naxa'la hults!:nalwats!na'la." ts!:na'xe n'i'n e 5 naso'kue'n's ske'n'ku'ts', yama'kpa'l, ma'aka, kiakqa'louk, c'nła·k, ła'to·q! qoqu'ske·. wust!ała'ane· nei ta'xa kts!e·'nam. łaxa'xe sak.lunam'sine qakil'lne: "qa'psin kın'o'tkeil?" qake'ine: "housdwats!nala'ane:" qakile'lne tsxalsdwats!na'mne kak!a'nwats!ti'yam. qakile'lne ske'n ku ts: "qa'la 10 ktsxal'esne'lwa-ts!?" qake'ine; "tsxal'e'n-e la'to-q!." haak.lo'ukue qake'ine: "kamına'la tsxal'ı'n'e sı'n'a." qakya'mne: "ta'xa." ta'xas kxo'nam neis wu'os qo's qana'xe sk/n·ku·ts. qawa'ka·l'u'pkaxo·na'kse· yaqso''me·ls. luq!oxune'he: qake'he: latoq!na'nas: "husl·o·q!oxne'he: na yaq-15 so''me'ł. nei henk!a'nwaats! hentsłaqawa'kawa'ts!ne hents!qa'ka la'kawitsqo'k!un ka'kane." ta'xas k!a'n wats! nei ki'as. ta'xas nei kyuna'qa aqlsma'kinzk! nakzlwitskz'lne qa'las layuwa·kme'qo·s kse'l'ips, ta'xas ktsxaltslhu'qua. se'n·a n'e'n·e· kqa hu'qua l. at sl'aqaqa'pse ne ists la'xalwa'ts!xa lts at slqanal-20 wa'ts!ne', sł'a'qaqa'pse' at kqaho'qua'l. ta'xas na'k&w&tske\'lne ne ists słwa łkwayc't.se. qakc'ine skc'n ku ts latoq ina na's. naa qa'skeilha'luk.le'et ta'xas tsxaltsl'a'yuwa kme'wesu'qune se'n a. ta'xas qoʻ hentslaqanawa'ts!nec ta'xas to'xwa tselwałkwaye'tine qo's kelya'qanalk!anwa'tske se'n ats qakal'-25 a kałtsimo'ukune. ta'xas k!a'kałtsu'm o kts qa'wune k't.se ła awa kmewisu kune. ta xas nałok. łee tine so kuliq lo kuna mne· koʻqaka''nam. ta'xas lats!\(\alpha\) awa'ts!ne· la'tuq!na'na.

n'u'pxane kts/lhoqua'ka: ta'xas k.laaka'wats!. Qake'ine nei naso'ukuen ske'n kuts: "ta'xas hutslaats!enaxa-30 ła'ane: pa ł kosłhoquna'was." łaxa'xe a'ke sa k.łonam's ine: qakile'lne:: "qa'psin ken'o'tkeil?" qake'ine: "huselwats!nala'ane:." qakile'lne: "qa'psin kalwa'ts!na'm?" qake'ine: "qa'psin henqalwe'ykeil." qakile'lne: "huts'dwats!nala'ane kelnoqo'ykaxna'mna'm.'' qakik'lne': "qa'la'n' q!a'kpakı'txoul tsxaltshoqua'l-35 ne:." qakı'lne: skı'n:ku:ts alaqa'lt!e:s: "qa:'la ktsısnı'lwa:ts!?" qake'ine ma'aka: "hutsxal'i'n'e:." qakile'lne: "maats, henlq!akpakı'txouł." qake'ine ktsxa'l'e'n n'alsı'nte'k. naqa'ane kqastsumqa'qa neis kanoqo'ykaxnamna'me's. qataltsxa'n'e' n'e'nse tsa'e's neis ma'aka's. nei ta'xa ha'k.lo'ukue n'e'n'e 40 kqastsumqa'qa yu'wesq!a'na'k. ta'xas k!et!qaoxo'na'm. ta'xas yaakaxmatyaxna'mne ne ktsk.laqna'na'm. qanaqkuplalta'lne ma'aka. ts!en'o'k!uenlatil'e'kti kmetxo'ulne: n'o'k!uenla'atiye'ltsha'qazyzłmo'xona'titmo'łne: na'lq!anteixa'lne: k.łaxa'nxouł łao 'nił a 'qxaqku 'płałt/'he ts ła ts!/nm/txo 'ułne. qa 'nqa 'mik kia-45 qka'łoukts n'u'pṣane neis tsa'e's. pec'k!aks pa'ł tsł'c'nse up'na'moʻs. nuqoʻkxamu'mek. ta'xas łaxanxoʻne neis yuʻwaq!a'naksts kqa'naqkupla'lte: ts!nha'q!mak!ax'na'kse neists kqa'naqkupła'łeit. łaxanxo'une ts k.łaqanaqkupła'łeit. ta'xas qa'sd"Let us go and play with them!" They started. | Coyote was their 5 chief. Woodpecker, Flicker, Hawk, | Chicken Hawk, Duck, and Bluejay, seven of them, went. | They reached the town. They were told: "What do you want?" | (Coyote) said: "We come to play." He was told they would play | at diving. Coyote was told: "Who | will play?" He said: "Duck shall be the one." The | people of the 10 town said: "Our (player) shall be Beaver." | Some one said: "Ready!" Then they went to the shore. | Coyote went there. There on shore was a canoe. | He pulled out the calking, and he said to the little Duck: "I have taken the calking out of this canoe. || When you 15 dive, come up here! You shall | stick your nose up through the hole." Then the two dived, | and many people watched. Whoever | should float dead on the water, he was to lose. Beaver | never lost. Therefore he was selected when any one came to play with them. | He 20 was never beaten. Then they were watched. | The sun was going down. Coyote had said to the little Duck: | "When (you hear) shouting, then Beaver comes up out of the water. | Then you may come up, too." It was almost | sunset. Then at the place where Beaver had dived | bubbles came up; and not long after the bubbles 25 had come up, he floated on top of the water. Then there was a noise. They were glad | because he had won. Then the little Duck dived back. | He knew that he would win. Then he came up. |

Chief Coyote said: "Now we will go on. | We have won over you." 30 They came to another town, | and they were told: "What do you want?" (Coyote) said: "We will play." | He was told: "What will you play?" He said: "Whatever you | like." He was told: "We will play boxing." | He was told: "Whoever is knocked down, he will lose." | Coyote said to his children: "Who will play?" | Flicker 35 said: "I'll be it." He was told: "No; you will be knocked down." | He said he wanted to be the one. There was | an expert boxer. He could not speak. | Flicker was the younger brother. || The most expert 40 one in the town was Kneecap. Then they met. | They went against each other, those who were to fight. Flicker was struck a hard blow, and at once he was thrown upward. He was always rolling about, and lost his senses. He was thrown back, | and he was struck again from below. He was knocked back still farther. Hawk was sitting there, | and saw that his younger brother had almost been killed. | 45 Then he went out of his own body. He went up to Kneecap | and struck him hard. He gave him a hard knock | when he struck him. He went up to him and struck him again. Then he | knocked a piece

¹ This was explained that his supernatural power went out of his own body to attack the enemy.

onm/txo'une. ta'xas k!u'pxa ktsl'o'peil. ta'xas lahama'te:k-50 ts/lne. ma'aka. ta'xas laqakxal'/n:e. ta'xas lao'kwal-aqana'mik ma'aka, pe/k!aks op'na'mus pa'l ke'e:ns. ta'xas a''ke: slasa:'nilhoquaka'ane: sk/n:ku:ts.

Qake'ine ta'xas: "hutsla'ts!'nax'ala'ane." ta'xas kts!'na'm laxa'xe saak.lunam'sne qakil'lne: "qa'psin kin'o'tkeil?" 55 qake'ine ski'n'ku'ts: "husdwats!nala'ane." qakil'lne tsxalsdwats!na'mne k!'ke'l. n'itkinli'sine k!'k.le'sts yunaqa'pse qakil'lne ski'n'ku'ts ala'qalti'timu: "qa'la ktsxal'isni'lwa'ts!?" qake'ine qoqu'ske: "hutsxal'i'n'e." ta'xas tinaqanxa''mne neis aa'kit.lana'me's. ta'xas n'isaknu'n'e qoqu'ske. ta'xas naqal-60 pa'lne'ine qo's pi'k!a'ks qo's ats!miq!aluk!puka'm'e'sts lu'n'o's. ta'xas n'i'kneits kaqalpa'lne. pa'l kslsokua'ka'te nei k!i'ke'l. le'etkeka'lhaqa'lpalne'ine ts k!o'kxats litqawu'mne. ta'xas slhoquaka'ane. qake'ine: "ta'xas." lats!inawismakni'le'k.

N'ok!"

50. The War on the Sky

Qaak.luna'mne: naqa'pse: luna't!eis ha'nq!o. qalwe'yne: ktsxaltso'ukat. ta'xas tsak.la'pse. sa'nilwe'ynets me'txane at n'ak!la·naqa'ane· a·k! sa'nak!lanakı'n·e· ne¡s kmıtxa'm·u. ta'xas łahosanuxunqa'ane. qakt'he papa'e's: "so'q !une'ito'." ta'xas n'u-5 metskenle's ine a 'ka'q !ne 's. ta' xas wokqa'lne ne pałke ine ki'e p. qaohu'ine ne a k!. neyaxa'ine wa'ta k, n'ı'n e kq!ape 'ikqa ts nas a'm'a'ks. słqałwiyname'sine ktsupxa''l'e's ka''s n'aqakekanık!e''ne a'k!. ta'xas tınaxa'mne neis aakıt.lana'me's ya'qa'kiłkenle'ske neis a k!s. n'o'une n'ese'nse papa'e's neis a k!s. 10 qae·lo'uqaqna'ane· pa·l ke'ins papa'e·sts silqata·'ltsxanatka'axane· n'oqo'xaq!o'k.loma'n'e' aa'ke'e'sts neis qanalqaqna'ane'. qalwiyna'mne'. k.łsa'kqa a'm
'a·kne $_i$ s a_a 'k
złmi'yzt.s.k.łsa'kq!nuk. ta'xas qakya'mne ktsxalts!'nal'anaxaka'ana m. ta'xas k!o'k!ue n'c'n e kwu'łaq!makanı'le'k. ta'xas wa'mıtak!o'une'. n'upxalı'sine' 15 ka·kq!me¡lmo·k!ona′ate·t. ta′xas łaa′k!ła·k kmc′txa·ts at łazsk!o'une· neis aa'q!anq!a'iks. ta'xas q!a'pe· pa·ł kmz'txa'lts off from him. Then he knew that he could kill him, and he was given | back to Flicker. It was he again. Then | Flicker fought him down, 50 and that one was killed. | Thus Coyote won again in a bad manner. |

He said: "Now we will go." They went, | and arrived at a town. He was told: "What do you want?" || Coyote said: "We will 55 play." He was told | somebody would play eating. Much food was prepared. | Coyote and his children were told: "Who will play?" | Bluejay said: "I'll be it." Then they went into | the tent. Bluejay sat down and || began to talk of his great-great-grandfathers, who 60 lived long ago, and | those before them. Then he ate and talked. There was a great pile | of food. He had not been talking very long before he had eaten it all. He was still hungry. | Then they won. (Coyote) said: "Enough!" They went along. |

At once they began to quarrel. Coyote said || he would take 65 them through swamps. Coyote was told: "You | may go there alone, for you like them, therefore you say so." Little Duck said: | "We will go through little lakes." He was told: | "You may go alone. You like them, therefore you say so." | Flicker said he would take them through young dry trees. || He was told: "You 70 may go there alone. You like them, therefore | you say so." Woodpecker said he would take them through | thickly wooded places. He was told: "You may go there alone. | You like them, therefore you say so." Hawk said he would | take them through places with scattered trees. Thus they quarreled. || They became 75 angry at one another and separated. That is the end. |

50. THE WAR ON THE SKY²

There was a town. There was Muskrat's brother's widow. He thought | he would marry her. Then she refused him. He was angry and shot her. | The arrow was of a different kind. He made it in a different way, what he used for shooting her. | Then he ran away. He said to his grandmother: "--- (?)" Then | his face 5 was torn up. Then the dead woman was discovered. | The arrow was not known. They sent for Frog, who (was in the habit of going) all | over the world. They wanted to know where that | arrow came from. Then she (Frog) went into the house where | the arrow was kept. She herself knew that it was her grandson's arrow. | She did 10 not know what to do, because it was her grandson, and she did not want to tell on him. | She spat into her hands and nodded. | They thought there must be a country in the sky, and that there must be a lake. | Some one said they would go on the warpath. One of them | was able to shoot far. He shot upward, and a noise was heard | as the point hit. Then another one shot and | hit the notch 15 of the (first) arrow. Then all of them shot, | but they did not reach

¹ That is to say, Hawk's power had entered Flicker, and now left him again.

² For another version see p. 87.

³ My interpreters did not understand this sentence. The word so q!une' ito is derived from aa'ka'q!ne ("face").

sina·łaqaoqaxo'ume·k. qo'kue·n aa'k!unka·'k!e·s salqaoxaka'n·i·ts ta'xas słtsma'k!e·l'o·kuaxo'ume·k. ta'xas ktsts!e·naxa'mists qake'ine a'ts!po: "hantsa'watskpaya'tapka'he. huts!ai'mats-20 sł'c'tkinc'łck qoqa'pmouts huts!aimatswesiłnukte'le'k." n'upsa'kil'tkine'le ku qoqa'pmousts kts!maxa'me 's. sa ndwi'yne a'ts!po k_ima'te'ł. qunya'x_ane' ne_is yaqanałwa'q!nonam_''ske'ts łaq!apił'umetske'n e. łao'kuił'o kaxo'use ts sanelwiynata'pse pa'łke s pał ts!/n k!/nqapta'keis neis aa'k/k.luna'me's. ta'xas m/te'xa'lne 25 tsxał'q!akpa'kıtxo''hne. qa'k.latnutı'lne a'ts!potsta'xaskq!awats!/nme·k. qonya'xane· aa'k/nq!alqa'e·sts qasn/nqa'me·k. n'/nqapta'kse ta'k!a'ts. n'apak!ını''nte na saa'ka'mt!e sqahal'akamahaqa'psets ta'xas qanal'antso'xa'xe pal k.laqa'psalxo'une ku'k.łouk. ta'xas k!op@qanaxa''me'sts qakiłamname'sine': "na's 30 n'ı'n e a'ts!po.'' qake'ine ': "hoqua.'n e hoqua'k.le k ksın akpa'me'k kqaqunmetkpa'me'k ka snaqanc'ke'ts, na' kusl'aqaqa'le'k/nme·k pał ta'k!ats kskik/łm/txa." ta'xas nei kyu·xa'xa·m, ta'xas ts!ına'xe ha'nq!o. ta'xas n'ıtkı'n e kwı'lq!noks. ta'xas n'ttt.la'ate k' pal at kyuna't.la mt'kan o'k!ue ta'xas kqa'kyam 35 ksa·k.ło′unam. ta′xas k.łaxaxa′mis ne_i.s a_a'kik.ło′e·s. ta′xas wanaqna'łne'. n'ometskenle's
ine' $a_{\bf a}$ 'ket.la'e's. neists k!ometske'nleis ne_is hu'paksts n'upxa'ine te'tqa t! qaka 'lakaxa'mne kulwiya't!ne matxa'ka ts aa'kwumna'me s. ta'xasts ne s ya qa'nal'omætskenle'ske: aa'ket.la'e's neists n'o'k!la'tiyelqape'ke'me'k. 40 n'ometske'nie's a ket.ia'e'sts at kulwiya't!ne. ne te'tqa't! km/txa'ka. ta'xas nakq!ey/'tine'. qakya'mne' l/n'/'n'e' o'k!na'muła te'te k. ta' xas n'up xa'lne pa l n'e'nlate'te k ha'ng lo. qakya'mne: "ta'xas qa'kaskı'nke_ił n'o'knuq!me'wumk!o'neske'hee.'' ta'xas selqa'kask_ine'hee. ta'xas k.la'ts!ena'xam 45 ma yaqa'ka'lyo'uwa'kaxa'mke. lalo'une pa'l'a'om/tskin/'lne. ta'xas szł·a'qa'łoqa'łno'k!uz'nme·k nöpzk!anz''nte·k. tsxa'n·e ne_i k!aṇaxa'kana'łka. qake'_ine: "hutsha'n iłwukna'xnała'_ane nu'm a a k!akuxa'e s.'' ta'xas na'nilwo kuinxa'lne ts n'upik'he ne nu'm'a. ta'xas lo kuink's ne a 'kinqawa'e's. ta'xas 50 namatektsa'mne q!a'pe naqanqo'wa ktsxa'l'ens aa'kenquwa'e's. naqa'ane' n'a'sne' swo'timu aa''k.loum'. aa''ke naqa'ane' swo't_imu na'laqle'lekts kiaq!no'k^ua_at. n'a'sne ne_i ke'so_uk aa'kınqo''wa ne qawoxaknı'he: qakya'mne: "maats hıntsqako kakınkı'ine: tsxal'ı'nse swo'tımu.'' aa''k.loum' swo'tımu 55 qanq!ma·łwan·xo·na'mne· qałwi'yne· k!e'k'kte'l. k!o·'ku¿łhamat¿'ktse·ł a"'k¿nqo·'wa's. ta'xas namat¿kts¿'łne· ne¡s swo'timu naso'kuinke'ste'k. ta'xas k.łaqo'naxa'mne' nei ya'qa'kałyu wakaxa mke: ta xas k. ła onaqa noxu nam. a 'k. ło m' swo'timu namate'ktseił aa'kenqo'wa'sts at qayaqa'hake'n'e 60 pa ł kqa'łwiy ta'xta ktsa'qaps nenko'e's. ta'xas k.ła'alousts pa·ł scłk!umna qałałkc'n e pa·ł scł·o'use ncnko'e s. ta'xas

down. When Raven put his nose there, | then it reached the ground. When they were going to start, | Wolverene said: "Wait for me. It will take me two days | to put away my things. It will take me 20 two days." He was still | putting away his things when they started. Then Wolverene became angry | because he was left. When they had gone up, he took hold of (the arrows) and | tore them down entirely. They all dropped down. Then the women became angry | at him because they were left alone in the town. They pursued Wolverene, | and he was about to be killed. They pursued 25 Wolverene, and he was out of breath. | He took up his sinews and cut himself to pieces. He changed himself | into a squirrel. He put it under the belt which was | around his waist. Then he went back somewhere, because he could do no more, | being tired. He went around, and some one said: "Here | is Wolverene." He said: "I am 30 not he; I am called | He-who-wants-to-act-differently-from-othersand-who-does-not-care-for-whatever-may-be-done. | I am shooting squirrels."

Now, Muskrat, who had gone up, | started and made a large lake. | He built tents for himself, many tents, although he was only one. ||
There was a village. Then the people reached the village. They | 35 began to make war. They tore up the tents. When the first one was broken up, | a left-handed man was seen to come out. | They shot (?) him in the stomach. Then, when they tore up another | tent, he came out again in the same clothing that he had worn before. || His tent was broken, and that left-handed man | was shot (?). 40 Then they began to speak, and some one said: "Maybe | he is always the same one." Then it came to be known that he was always the same one; namely, Muskrat. | Some one said: "Stop shooting him—shooting at his stomach." | Then they left him.

Then they started back | to the place where they had come from. 45 There was nothing. (The arrow chain) was broken down. | The manitous did not know how to get down. | The war chief said: "We will wait | at the drinking-place of Thunderbird." They waited for the Thunderbird and | killed him. Then his feathers were taken off. | Then they gave them to every one to be their feathers. | There were 50 two friends, the Bats; and there were | two friends, Golden Eagle and Young Golden Eagle—two of them. Then the good | feathers were laid aside. Some one said: "Don't touch | them, they are for the friends." The Bat friends | nudged each other. They thought they 55 were meant. Then | all the feathers were given out. Then the | two chief friends were given feathers. They went back to | the place where they had come up, and they began to fly down. When the Bat | friends were given feathers, they passed them on. || They thought 60 (the best ones) would be theirs. When (all the feathers) were gone, they knew they were mistaken. There was nothing for them.

[BULL. 59

łao 'nan uxu'n e a 'k. ło m'; sttle's neis qanułkt'n e ta'xas salsqapan quwa'ane: yaqa'nla lt neis qa l'alqa'nal'akunka'n e aa'kuqla'e's. ta'xas salsqapan'qowa'ane at salkuno xo'mu'n'e. 65 q!a'pe· kia'kxo· tsın łao.'naqanmı'te·k. | q!u'me n'ı'ne· k!o.'k!uil'aqtsxo'ume·k. ła.etke'nelts at łaqa'tal'etkene'lne. nöpe'k!ane"nte k q!a'pe qunya'xane la e'tkents pa 'mek at qa'selqaoxak/n·e· aa'kuła'k!e·sts at qałwi'yne· ktsła'souksts at ła·qa·so'ukse: naqa'pse: łunat!e'es q!u'me: n'c'nse: ya:qaoxał:a'tiyclqal-70 we'yke: pa'mik a'a'ke k.lqunya'xana:ps. ta'xas aa''ke: qunyaxana'pse neis lunat!e'es qaoxaxa''mse ts ta'xas laq!a'piłtsemak!e'ine: nei yesaqapte'ike k!anaxa'ka k.łaqa'łoqałnok!"'/nme'k. qake'ine ktsqa'piłno'k!"'/n'mo a'm'a'ks k!anaxa'ka. ktsxalts!e'nam neis ya'qaoxalao'naxonake'ske 75 a_a'kėlmi'yet.s. tsxal·ao·mok^uėl'anaxa'ka. n'ė'n·e· altsa'_at_imu yama'kpa'ł. ta'xas k.łats!/na'mts k.łao''na'm qo'sts łaya'qaoxał a'o na'mke : ta'xas łao moka'xe : ta'xas łake ka'mke ne_is a_a'qeya'mła pshak.le'tske qa'k'u'pxane ma'lne nöp'k!a's, qak.la'pse: "'ın hıntslaya'qana'mke: hın''u'pxa kia'kxo: maats 80 hantsqunya'xane hanta'a'qaoxayaksa'te'k." ło'quałqake'lne: "maats hentsqaoxa'yekse'le k n'a'qakelhaq!anqots!la'e n'." ta'xas szłyahał'antsakna'mne: ta'xas kts!/na'm yama'kpa'ł altsa'atimu. qana'xitsqawa'qa'l'upkaqa'iluqu'se to'ho'ls. qalwi'yne yama'kpa·ł ktsxał'u'pe·ł. qak.la'pse· ma'aka.'s: "a· qanaqas-85 nike'tine: ken'wel'atelts xma kentsla.e'sinqalneketkina"te:t." ta'xasts l'e'ne ma'aka qa'akn tsxalqunya'xats at amlaho lqailuqu'se ts at qawok" c'n e : qa'akn ne is laqal'u'pkalqaqa'pse wu'u sts qa.u'pxane ts pe.c'k!aks pa ł sł'o'noq!wiyatqła'pse yawo'une·k!s. ta'xas neists n'ao·'k!we· kts!:/na·m qa·na'xe· 90 qa'akn łaxa'xe ya kalhaq!a'nqots!la a'nske salwalkwaya'ts·e·ts k/k_iy/ks/'le·k. ta'xas kq!u''mne qahak.le'_itsne·ts n'o'k!unl'aqsa'na lenk!alaq!nuxna'pse koukuna'na s. qalwi'yne xma hakamxune'ike yama'kpa'l naasts kn'dd'kte'ts qa.an'tse'ite: ta'xas kq!u''mne pa ł sat!apts!e'ise neis koukuna'na s. 95 ta'xas słqa'qałqaqa'ane: ta'xas pa·ł ksł'o'k!u'l'cps altsa'e's yama'kpa'ł kszl'upła'pse's yawo'une'k!s. n'ztinumo'tstz'lne yama'kpa'ł. qake'ine: "hułuq!ma'łk.łu'nisna'ala aa'kuwuk.łe'et." ta'xas n'ana'xe: ta'xas ko'kuin ke'e'k. ta'xas k.lats!!kam qo''s aa'ko''q!nu'ks. łaqawa'aka'ł yu'waqa'xe'. n'esaknu'n'e'. 100 qa_akil'u'px_ane· nałmö'qtse's. nałmö'qtse· n'ı'n·e· ne_i kwı'lqa te'tqa't!. ta'xas sa'kilhamate'ktse aa'kek.leye.e'se's naas a'm'a'ks. neis qaha'xe naas aa'k!ale'et.s neis k!u'pxa yama'kpa·ls altsa'atimu's qake'lne.: "a alkaha'tsa o kumetpesta'pke_ił." yama'kpa·ł sa'hanłukpakta'pse ne_is hatsa''e sts 105 sa ndwiyna ate ts tsukua'te aa'kte mo's. xunma'te ts kktuk.ła'ako'ps. tsukua'te aa'kt'łweys n'oqoxakt'n'e

Then | the Bats flew down, spreading out their blankets. | They used them for wings. The Flying Squirrel pulled out | his skin and used it for wings. He used it to fly with. || All the fish threw themselves 65 down. The Sucker was the | only one who was broken to pieces. All tried to restore him, but it could not be done. All the manitous | touched him; and when some one tried to fix him, he put | pieces of his own flesh on. They thought it would cure him, but he was not cured. | There was Sucker's brother's widow. He always wanted her to touch him. || Then she also went to him, and | his brother's widow touched him. Then he | was well again.

Those warriors who were left behind | did not know how to get back. They said: "Being warriors, we shall finally reach the earth (?)." They were about to start for the place where heaven and earth meet. They were about to go to war. These were the brothers | Wood- 75 pecker. They started back to go down to the place | where they had come down. Then they reached the ground. When they came back, | at Nelson they met the manitous, | and were told: "When you go back, you will see a fish. Don't | touch it, wherever you may stay 80 over night." They were also told: | "Don't stay over night where there are thick trees." Then | they bewitched one another. Woodpecker and his | brothers were going along; and while they were going along, they found a charr drifted ashore. | Woodpecker thought he would kill it. He said to Flicker: "Many things | have been done. 85 Have you a great name, and is it right that you make trouble? (?)" Flicker was just about to touch the charr when it | went back into the water, and he did not touch it. It happened that the water was rolling in toward the shore, | and without his knowing it he was swallowed | by the Water Monster. Then the other one started and went along. | He came to a place where there were thick woods. 90 It was getting evening, | and he camped there over night. Then, while he was asleep, | a little toad went under his blanket. Woodpecker thought | what he had been told did not mean anything, and he did not mind what was said to him. | Then he went to sleep. The little toad stuck on his body. | It was always like that. At one time 95 the younger brother | Woodpecker died. The Water Monster had killed him. A law had been made | for Woodpecker (?).

He said: "We will go around the mountains." | Then they went hunting. When the food was done, they started to come back | to the lake. They came up and sat down. || Then he saw Nałmu'qtse. 100 Nałmu'qtse was a large | man. He was going about giving names | to the country. He followed this Kutenai River. He saw Woodpecker | and his brothers, and said to them: "O nephews! give me some food." | Woodpecker hated his uncle Nałmu'qtse. || He was angry at 105 him, and took a whetstone, threw it into the fire until | it was red-hot. He took the heart of a Mountain Goat and put | the whetstone into

BOAS]

aa'kte'imo's. ta'xasts' qakı'lne' k.lma'lan'k!alo'ma's. ta'xas ts!:\(\text{nmi'}\)te'. n'u'pxane nalm\(\text{o'}\)qtse neis ks:\(\text{dsa-}\) ndwiyna'ated n'esqaq!ana'q!ne'ne'he. n'a stsenio xalhaq!ma-110 nqa'pse: qake'ine: "he'he he'he he'." "ksdsa ndwiyna'tap alka'tsa, ksdyu k!kua ka'ta p." k.lqa 'l'at.łctc't;na m kndwi'ynana'ke: ta'xas scłaoka'xe: cs a, 'ko'q!nu ksts n'u'pxane: we'tsweits: tse'tsqo'ms. qake'he: namate'ktse: ke'eksts qakı'ine: "hıntsxalya'nalu'q!nu'ku'kı'ine hıntsqake'ine 115 'mantsuk!una'lkil, mantsuk!una'lkil, mantsuk!una'lkil, mantsuk!una'lkil.''' qakile'lne: "henqa'elkina'pkeil hentske'lkulmolk/lne." ta'xasts qake'ine ne kianaluq!unoku'kwe ta'xas kts!/n·a·m naa qaoxal'altina·we'tsq!no·ks. ta'xas at qa'kelhaqwe'he'ts at słqake'he'. q!a'peis kia'kxo's k.l'u'pa's aa'ket.-120 łac'se's yama'kpa'łs ktsxa'l'e'ks. ta'xas k.łała'xaam ta'xas q!a'pe· kia'kxo· n'upa'xe· qous aa'ktt.lana'me·s. qakilt'lne· yama'kpa'ł n'upsakmoxo'une naso'ukwe'n, taxta' tsxal'e'sniltoq!tsqak.le'sine: nawetskpayate'lne:ts wa'xe k!e'k!o'm'. ta'xas łaxa'xe namatektse'lne aa'ko'la 's. ta'xas k!eknu-125 qo''qo' pa'l yama'kpa'l altsa'atımu q!a'pe ke'en te'tqa't!s n'o k!uita'mne pa'ike n't'nse ałnana'e's ka'tska'ts. ta'xasts ka'tska'ts n'e'snel'u'pxane k!e'k!o'm's neis k!e'knuqo'qus pa ·ł pec'k!a.ks sats!nme'q!ate kaku'pse. qake'ine': "ka''as kapapana'la k!aqa'qna." neis qan-130 m/q!al''kako'unets naas qaoxaq!akkaqo'une. ta'xas satsxa'natka'ane neis ksaosa'qa:ps naas aa'ko'q!no:ks. ta'xasts sahultoq!tsqake'ine: ta'xas qakila'lne: ta'xas huso'ukudq!o'ukune: "ta'xa lu'n'u." ta'xas laholqkupdqakana'ane kia'kxo ta'xas ts!:nalqana''nte ki'e k. at slaqa-135 qa'ane kia'kxo naas at kia'q!ano'hos n'e'nse aa'ko' ne_is ki'e·k. ta'xas n'itaqna'me·l ktsxał'o'pił yawo'une k!s. qake'ine: hutsxalhulnu'qune', "ta′xas hutsxal'ts!kt'he:" ta'xas pa'l kaqa wu'sa'q! n'o'k!uilqal'ate'ine: nulnu'qune ts. qake'ine: "ka'min wu'saq!; 140 ka'min wu'saq!.'' ta'xasts sahal·axwa'te·k n'u'pskalqa'wilhułnu'qune: at k!ktsno''qo: ta'xas ła.upka'xe c'n'ta'sts qaakilqa'atse yama'kpa'l. n'i'snilkinu'qune n'itski'lne. ta'xas k!u'pxa: qalwi'yne ktsxalq!a'kpak/tqo''ke aa'kłam'e'se's ktsxałqaoxak.le'kxa. we't!qkupqo'qłam'aki'ne'ts 145 yu'k!ka aka'te: ta'xas neis łu'qano 'tqo le'lne neis k.lo'quak!ale'et.s neis łałoka'xe ya 'kił'c'nske ya qo na'ske. łaqaka'xe. neis yaknuso'ukske: qałwi'yne: ktsxałqa'nałtsaqa'na·m. qunakenxa'ine·. n'o ia'n e yama'kpa·i aa'ke· łayu'k!kaaka'te: no'k!ułoqłaqłe k!o''lne: qakaltunwa'akalha-150 nuso'ukune, sl'akaqa'ane kqal'at.ltt'tnam ya'knoso'ukue. ła tska ze ts ze ya kwu ła ks a 'a ke qa o xał upa ze.

it. Then he told him to open his mouth. Then he threw it. Nalmu'qtse knew that he was | angry with him. He nodded his head, and (the whetstone) stood there just alongside of him. | He said: 110 "He'he he'he he'!" He said: | "My brothers are angry with me. I have escaped." | The name of that place was Little Heart. Then he came down the lake and | saw a Water Bird² and a Water Ousel. He spoke to them and gave them | food. He said to them: "You will go along each side of the lake. You will say, | 'You are invited, you are invited, you are invited, | you are 115 invited, you are invited." They were told: "If you don't come to me, your lake will be dried up." | Then those who went on each side of the lake said so. | Wherever there is a bay here, there they danced. | He said to them: "All the fish shall come ashore to the tent of | Woodpecker to eat (his food)." Then, when he came back, | 120 all the fish came ashore, there at the tent. Woodpecker | was told: "The chief has not come back yet. He will | tell you something." They waited for him, and the fish 3 arrived. | When he arrived, he was given a pipe. Then he, | Woodpecker, and his brothers, smoked. 125 They were all men. | Only one of them was a woman; namely, their younger sister (a bird with yellow breast and gray feathers). | Then. the sister herself saw the fish smoking | and moving his eyebrows while he was smoking. | He said: "Where is our grandson?" Then he moved his eyebrows in this direction. He moved them a little 130 ways. | Then he told them that (the grandson) was on this lake. He finished telling the news. Then he was told: "Now | I am glad. Now go!" Then the fish went back into the water quickly. | Then he had some food. | The fish is like that. He is red on each side; | 135 that is the meat, the food (that he was given).

Now they made ready to kill | the Water Monster. Woodpecker said: "I'll go into the water; | I'll search for him." Now they saw one person named Long Legs. | He went into the water and said: "I am Long Legs, || I am Long Legs." He was proud of himself. He had not gone | far 140 from the lake shore when he sank down. Next Woodpecker himself went along the lake shore | and went into the water. He searched for him. | Then he saw (the monster). He thought he would kick him dead in the water. He intended to kick him | on the head, but the blow glanced off from the head. || He missed it. Then (the monster) was 145 chased this way along the | other big river. It came back this way by way of Windermere. | It came back to Red Water. It thought it would go along that river, | but it was stabbed by Woodpecker. The monster | escaped again. It was hit on the foot. There was some blood, || and the water turned red. Therefore it is named Red Water. | It 150

¹ Name of a place east of Nelson, which was given its name by Nałmu'qtse owing to this incident.

² A small gray bird living on the lake shore.

³ A small fish with large head and small tail.

qa'oxal'upa'xe a_a'kil a'laqu'no ksts aqanaqo xu''mne ya-ma'kpa l. namat'ktse a_a'k_iyuk^ua'e s nalmuxna'yi t tsu-k!otiya'l'e s. qak'lne : "ne_is h'n'u'pxa lapska l'aka'wats!ts

155 hentsqake'lne: 'a he'i.'" ma n'o'psawetsa'ake'nxa yama'kpa'l üpelna'we yawo'unek!s. qakile'lne: "naasts hentsqake'lne tsxa'ltsl'o'nile'sine ts hentselso'kqa'oxakina'xane." ta'xas n'o'naqouq!anke'me'k yama'kpa'l sel'ets!kelqo'kue'n'e. ta'xas qakile'lne: nalmexna'yet' laapsa'kxawa'tsine: taxas na-

160 wtsnułk!o'une: qake'ine: "a', ma ła'psaawtsa'kt'nxa nałmuxna'yit u'piłna'we yawo'une'k!s." ma kqa'k.laps yama'kpa'łs kts!ak!łana'ke si'l'u'pt!enmtt'lwiyxona'pse pa'ł kst'tseka'te's. ta'xasts styu'k!kua'ka'te: ta'xasts kuwu'uka't yawo'une'k!s qak.la'pse: "ma kuł't''m'qo'ł."

165 szłpzsnznmz'te: neis ktsquna'akinxa'm.o. tszłaho'usanuxun-qa'ane: ta'xas qakiz'ine: naimö'qtse:: "lats!z'na:n'zn yzso'uxaq!no'uke: hzntsxaima'nuqiz'knatz'tine: maats iznia-qaya'aqai'qa'atse:" n'zsts ke'iwa:m yzswaakaq!nu'kskeszlqanaqiz'kxane: zs aa'kwuk.le'ets. szlqaszl:u'n:mztzkz'n:e:

170 ta'xas sı'ltsı'nilqouqmıxumu'n'e' aa'q!ana'k!e's. ta'xas yama'kpa'l k.laatskanu'tqo'l. ta'xas yunaquwu'mne kanutqu'le'l. skı'n'ku'ts pal n'ı'n'e kalnuku'pqa. kwa'nxo nalkı'n'e aa'kınu'qle's. ta'xas kwa'nxo tsxaltslqa'naqkupla'lte neis qaltseikata'pse. qak.la'pse: "ma kul'ı'm'qo'l."

175 ła'ho saan xunqa'ane na'k!iyu. ta'xasts qa'sousa'xe ta'xasts n'i'sniłtsukua'te neis aa'knu'qle's. ta'xasts k.laxa''nxo neis qaltseikata'pse qaki'lne: "a he'i. ke'ilo ti'tqa't!; ho'paks koi'snilqanla'le yawo'une k!." aa'k.lam'i'se's qaoxala'lte ta'xas pa'l ksilq!aqpaki'txo ta'xas qaaki'oumitsqa'lne.

180 ta'xas tsk!qa'lne: laqakxal'anaxa'mne: ma'aka a'a'ke la'tuq! tklnamo'timu: naas at pa'l kqa'akksq!an:menu'qlo: la'tuq!ts a'a'ke ma'aka. ta'xasts skl'ktoqo'ume:k. ta'xasts n'k'snilqake'ine: la'tuq!ts ma'aka; pa'l la'tuq! tklnamo'utimo ke'en k!o'noq!uwi-'yatqulmu'n:aps yawo'une:k!s yaqso'mk'l'e's. qake'i-

185 ne qoʻusts haosaqa'ake a'kwum't'ses yawo'une k!s at kstnq!oʻukoʻxa'me k yaqso'mt'l'es at qa'k.laps: "ma'ats k.lu—wt'ltnq!oʻkoʻxa'me k. loʻq!koʻps aqatt'ses. ta'xasts ma'aka stlqasnanukʻxo'lne sl't'ne sqa'pte k.

Ta'xas n'om/tsqa'ine luqual/sine aa'knoka'k!es. ts!:kim/t.190 l/sine: na nal'o nanmito'uke na han umu'k!ke sts n'/nse aa'knoka'k!es. n'ao'k!uists qous laluquan/n mit.l/sine qousts yaakil'omitsqa'ike: ta'xasts sl'aqa'l'at.l/titna'mne yaak/noka'ke: neists aa'kula'k!sts ta'xas k!om/tsqa'le's pa'tsn/nmit.l/sine: naasts iy/sa'ts qa'kilhaqa'ake aqlsma'kin/k!

¹ Or nalmuxna'yet. ² Or sc'ltsc'nilqouqmuxumu'n'e.

came back to Long-Water Bay,¹ and | there it went ashore. It went ashore into a cave under water. There it went in. | Woodpecker gave his war bonnet and his | spear to Flicker, and said to him: "If you see it coming out of the water, || say 'Ahei!' " Woodpecker was 155 ready | to kill the Water Monster. He was told: "You must say this, 'Ahei!' | Then it will be afraid of you, and you will hit it in the right place." Then Woodpecker | stepped into the water. He waited for it. Then | he was told that Flicker was going there. He stood || ready to spear the monster. He said: "Ah! Flicker is waiting to 160 spear it. | He will kill the Water Monster." | Woodpecker had told him differently. He trembled for fear, for | the monster looked fierce. Then he missed it. When | the Water Monster saw him, it said to him, "I shall swallow you." || Then Flicker let go the spear and ran 165 away. |

Then Nałmu'qtse was told: "Start for | the end of the lake and shut up the water. Don't let it | go through." When he arrived at the end of the lake, | he kicked this mountain² and broke a piece off. | Then he made the mud solid with his knees. | Then Wood- 170 pecker started in pursuit. Many were pursuing | the monster. Coyote was the fastest one. He caught up with it. | He carried his tomahawk pipe. He caught up with it, and was just about to strike it. | Then the Water Monster looked at him, and said, "I'll swallow you," | and he ran away. Next Fox overtook him and | took the 175 tomahawk pipe. When he caught up to it, | he looked at it, and said: "Ahei! there is no other man like me. I shall be the first | to strike the Water Monster." He hit its head, | killed it, and it was cut to pieces. | Then it was cut open. Then Flicker and Duck | and his wife 180 came out. Duck and | Flicker were white on each side. They washed themselves. Then | Duck and Flicker and Duck's wives, | those who had been swallowed by the Water Monster in their canoe, said | that 185 while they had been in the belly of the Water Monster | they had made a fire with their canoe. They had been told: "Don't | make a big fire; it might melt the fat (of the monster)." Then Flicker | was worn down to his present size.

Then the ribs on one side of the monster were cut off. They were thrown away || down the river. The one side of the ribs is now a cliff 190 below. | Then the other side was thrown away, there | where it was being cut up. Therefore the cliff is named Standing Rib. | Then its body was cut up and was | scattered about where there are people. ||

¹ South of Windermere.

195 ktsxa'l'ıns ke'e kts a 'kula'k le s. ta'xas k.la'lous aa'kuła'k!e'sts q!akpayo't'a'he' na aqłsma'kinak!. qousts ya_aqa'aknuq!me'lke sa'kelqaskiki'letu'kune qakya'mne **εsts** ksuwe'suqs aa'kouk!ala'ak!e's. ta'xas kselhone'keit qakilamna'mne: "kaasts ktsxa'l'ıns na ha'kılhaqa'ake aqls-200 ma'kinzk! hoʻsiqa'akil'oʻpilna'la n'z'sine amʻa'kleʻs." ta'xas łatsoko kn'łne wa'n'mo' pa·ł kpaatsınmu'xo: qakya'mne: "naas tsxal'¿'nse· aqlsma'kine'k!. ta'xas $\mathbf{na_a}$ tsxałn'e'n e tsxałtsamna'ne $\mathbf{n}\mathbf{a}$ aqlsma'kine'k!. tsxałqayunaqa'ane• tsqae'telxo'ume'k. ts!upsla'teyilhaqa'ane 205 me'ka yuna'qaps kwa'naqna'napsts tsxalqatal'o_ukta'pse:." ta'xas sihokni'he. ta'xas siqaqa'sine.

[No. 51. Told by Felix Andrew (recorded by Robert T. Aitken)]

51. THE GIANT

Qaak.luna'mne ki'as netsta'hal n'en tsa'atimo klokunmi'yt.sts nał ana 'xe' ne tsa 'atimo. qa kqa 'tse' ne kwt'lqa n'u'pxane kwe'lqle 'sts, n'elwa'n e latskalo kalke'n e ta'xas selwalkwayı't.se', ta'xas nowa'sine'. qalwe'yne': "hul'aq!amal'ılkoxa'-5 mektshutsxal·uk!moxa'me·k. hunhe/l'aktskuts'atwask!ona'lek." ta'xas qasdxunme'te neis kwe'lqle'sts ku'kopsts n'e'kine. ltk!amxonelaxni'se'tsqalwe''yne':"hulqasi'oqa''mek kuluk!moxa·'mek.'' ta'xas qasd·o·qa'mekts xunme'te. ko·'kopsts ta'xas n''kine so kaxne'ise laqasi o qune ts laxunm' tets la. 'kine. 10 n'aimeye't.sits kq!apxa'mek. ta'xas tsen enqapta'kse ma'k!e's. ta'xas neistsa'e's k.łała''xasts, kkanmi'yet.s qałwe''yse': "hułts!enałc'tskel ka'ta't.'' ts!ena'xe. qa'na'xe neis ma ya'akel'ana'amke. qaoxa'xe nulpalnite'tine naluk.lee't.se n'etuwesqa'ane ts tsın k!apalte'le'k. qahaq!yu'mina'se' qo'sts pa'l qanak!a'-15 pałte'le'k. qaoxa'xe'ts k_iyu'_uxa'm. qo'nawetske'k_ine' sanenq!oku'pse. qaoxa'xe nułpa'łne pał ndk'kse ne ta't!es pał qake'kse: "heyâ', ma kutsla'kel ka'tsats kutsa.imete'timo." ta'xas qaoxa'xe k!u'pxana ps m/tyaxna 'pse qanlaltmona 'pse a 'ko qut!e. 'se sts qanm txomona' pse ts n'upla 'pse qa qa-20 qwu'mne'ts qak_iya'mne': "xma ha'n'atskaka'he' ne_i tsa'_at_imu." ts!/na'se ne kw/'lqa t/hamo''e s n'/tsk.la'pse. qa'na'xe ne pa'łke_i. qanak!a'pałtc'łe·k nałuk^ułec't.se[·]. qaoxa'xe[·] qonawctsk'ine sanaqana'kse pa'l qak'kse: "heyâ' ma kutsla'ki'l kanxa'le'ts kutsa.im/t/timo." n'ok!u'nl'aa'ntsoxa'xe nei pa'lkeits 25 qakik'lne: "tapts!e'itin' ak!ano'uko aa'qa'twu'mlatni'smi'l tsxalqanla'ltimun'sine aa'ko'qut!e'e's. tsxalsla'lasqanaps'sine ne_is no'_uk^ue_is. tsxa lslqata lts:nk:nc'sine:." ta'xas kta'pts!e_it no'ukueis aa'qatwumla'at!e's. ta'xas k!q!aaqat!o''xam qanlalta''psets q!axoma'kse aa'koqt!e.c'ses. pał ka'łkon neis aqa'łt!es

Its flesh was to be their food. Then its body was gone entirely, | and 195 the people here had been forgotten, where | it was being carved. There was no water there. Some one said: "Is that | in the water there its backbone?" When it was all done, they talked | among themselves. "What shall belong to these || people, because we killed 200 it on their own land?" Then | they picked up the blood and scattered it. They | said: "This will belong to these people: | These people will be few. They will | not be many. They will not increase, but they will always remain; || even if many make war against them, 205 they can not be exterminated." | Now it is finished. The end. |

[No. 51. Told by Felix Andrew (recorded by Robert T. Aitken)]

51. THE GIANT¹

There was a town. One day | two men, brothers, went out hunting. The two brothers were going along. The elder one | saw a bighorn sheep and shot it. He carried it down. Then toward | sunset he became hungry. He thought: "I'll make a fire | and roast a piece of meat. When I have finished eating, I will hang up the meat and dry it." | Then he threw a piece of the bighorn-sheep meat into the fire. When it was cooked, he ate it. It was without taste. He thought: "I'll cut a piece of my own body and I'll roast it in the fire." | Then he cut a piece off of himself and threw it into the fire. When it was done, he ate it. It tasted good. He cut off another piece and threw it into the fire and ate it. | After two days he had eaten himself entirely. Only his bones were left. | Then his younger brother went home, and the following morning he thought: "I will go and | look for my elder brother." He started and went along to the place where they had been hunting. | He arrived there and heard a sound. He stood still | and listened. There was a hill. He heard the sound \parallel from that direction. He arrived there and went up. A 15 little ways off | there was a fire. He went there, and he heard his elder brother making that noise. He was | saying: "Oh, I love my brother, and it will take me two days to eat him!" | Then he arrived there. The elder brother saw him and ran after him. | He struck him with his intestines, and threw him down with them and killed him. Those at home said they ought to look for the brothers. | The elder one's wife started looking for them. The woman | went along. She heard a sound somewhere. She went there, and she saw him from a little ways off | sitting down. He was saying: "Oh, I love | my son! It will take me two days to eat him." The woman went along behind a hill. | Something told her: "Stick sharp stones on your clothing. He will strike you with his intestines, and the stones will cut them. Then he will not be able to catch you." Then she stuck | stones on her clothing. She went nearer. He struck her, | and his intestines

30 qawoqanki'nse neis no'laqana'e's. lahe'tsi'nqkupe'ki'me'kts m/tyaxna''pse'. pa'ł ke'/ns ma'k!s qata'lts!/na''kse'. łaqa'oxa'xe'ts qake'ine: "pał q!a'pxane kanul'a'qana tsa'e's. qafwe'yne a'a'ke ktsxal'e'txa kanxale'imil. mats tsxa'xe.'' ta'xas qakiya'mne: "hułhoqunaneya'la." qakiya'mne: "qa'la ke'n 35 kwil'twey tsxalqahaosaqa'ane'ts tsxal'up'lne n'aqaske'lwas." qake'ine ski'n kuts: "hutsxal'isi'nilqaha'o saqa'ane." qakil'he: "maats." qake'ine qasp'l'o'k": "hutsxal'si'nilqaha'osaqa'ane:." qakile'lne:: "so'ukune:." ta'xas qaha'osaqa'ane: qaspe'l'u'kuts, a'a'ke' telnamo''ests xale'e's nei te'tqa't!. ta'xas 40 no'quane'ya'mne'. qaosaqa'ane' nei kqa'lsa. qawuneki't.se', ta'xas kts!/na·m qałsp/l'oku. ta'xas wa'xe nei t/tqa·t!. łałoname'sine. n'asqapta'kse telnamu''e sts xale'e s. k!u'pxa telnamu''e'sts qake'lne': "tskake'nin' łka'm'u." namatektsa'pse', ktsu'uka't.s neis qa'l'asqaoxaya'xane'ts tsık!kı'n'e'. qalwe''yne' 45 ktsxa'l'e'k. qak.la'pse tahamu"e's: "tskake'nen hutsxalts!inał'iktuqo'une. saha'nse a'q!ołe'es." namate'ktse telnamu''e's. tsukua'te ne pa'lke ts!andxona lka'n e k!antso'xamts n'aqanme'te ts n'etsinqkupe ke'm e k. selts!enanxok a'ane. k.laxan xo'ka ts qake'ine: "wa'xe neis yaqake'ikalhoqunaneya-50 m/ske. n'up/he. xale'e's." ta'xas qakil/he. qasp/l'ouku: "ła ts! name'l'en'ts hentsxal'upe'lne." ta'xas ła ts! na'xe qaspr'l'ouku. qaoxa'xe srn omo'k!se qanal'rtk!a'meknr'le k qa'alrn ye'senwosa''q!ke' qa'senwouk!ame'se: ta'xas qa'haosaqa'ane:

Ta'xas qahaosaqa'ane. nei te'tqa't!. laqawa'ase tehamu'e's. 55 qalwe'yne: "hults!ena'mi'lts a'a'ke kutsxal'u'pe'l." qaoxa'xe na's ma yaqana'ske'ts lo'use n'uk!kekqa'pse neis xale'e'sts n'e'kine: ta'xas ts!ena'xe neis yaqanaxame'ske: qana'xe sen'umo'k!se. skekel'aq!asnamaname'sine ests qaosaqa'pse qaspe'l'o'kusts qaoxa'xe'ts qa.u'pxane neis ksa'osa'qaps qasqaspe'l'o'kus. ta'xas manq!anke'me'k neis ak!a'ame's. k!u'pxanaps qaspe'l'o'kus neis qal'et!naqkupq!alsa'q!se'ts wat!me'te'kna'-pse'ts xunaqo'une: ta'xas n'e'pine'ts ta'xas ts!ena'xe' qaspe'-l'ouku: ta'xas.

[Nos. 52-77. Told by Barnaby]

52. Nałmυ'qtse·1

Ho'ya's, hutsxalqake'ine yaqal'u'pke nalmo'qtse kapapana'la.

Qa'naqanu'kune nalmo'qtse ta'xas tsxalqawuneko't.se kts-xa'l'e pnaas a'm a k's ktsxal'a'lo qalwi'yne "ta'xas hulama'at-5 ke ts aa'kok liyi'e s na a'm a k ktsxa'lsolqaq!akpaya'ata p alka-a'qa'lt." ta'xas ts!ona'xe ta'xas namato'ktse aa'kok liye.o'-se s naas am ak!o'se s alaaqa'lt!e s. ta'xas kq!a'pilhama'atkits

were torn. She carried her child. | Her husband could not catch 30 her. She started to run, | and he pursued her. He was only bones. He could not run fast. | She got back, and said: "My husband ate his younger brother, | and he intended to bite my son. He is coming." Then | they said: "We will move camp." Some one said: "Who has enough courage to stay and kill him when he comes?" | Coyote said: 35 "I myself shall stay." | He was told: "Don't." Crane said: "I myself shall | stay." He was told: "That is good." | Then Crane and the wife and son of that man staid. | They moved camp, but the three 40 staid there. It was not long before | Crane started. Then the man arrived. There | was nobody left. Two only were there—his wife and his son. When he saw | his wife, he said to her: "Give me the child." She gave it to him. | When he took it, he took hold of it at the two ends and tore it. | He thought he would eat it. His wife 45 said to him: "Hand it to me. I shall | go and wash it. The dung is bad." He gave it to his wife. | The woman took it and carried it down to the water. Then she went behind. | She threw it away. She began to run. She followed (the other people). When she reached them, she said: "He arrived at the place where we moved camp. | He has killed his boy." Then Crane was told: | "Go 50 back and kill him." Crane went back. | There was a steep bank. He made a hole for himself. The hole was as long | as his legs. Then he staid there.

That man staid there. His wife did not come back. | He 55 thought: "I'll go and kill her." He went | in the direction in which she had gone. There was nothing there. Only his son was lying there, | and he ate him. Then he started in the direction in which she had gone. He went along | the steep bank. The trail passed close to the bank, and | Crane staid there. He went there, and did not know that Crane was staying there. | He walked past 60 that hole. Crane saw him. | He stretched out his foot quickly and kicked him over the bank, | and he fell into the water. Then he was dead. Then Crane went off. | Enough. |

[Nos. 52-77. Told by Barnaby]

52. Nałmu'qtse

Well, I am going to tell how our grandfather Nałmu'qtse | died. | Nałmu'qtse was crawling about in the water. It was not (to be) long before he was | to die in this world, which was to be without him. He thought: "Now let me give || names to this land, so that 5 my children may not forget me." | Then he started, and he gave names | to the places of his children. He gave | names to this their

¹ Several times the speaker used the form Nalmöqtsin,

aa 'kik.liye.'se's naas am'a'k!e's; at qa.owu'kune' neis ke'ikqa'ts at nanu'kune'. tu'xua at qanalso'ukse'. neis ne'nha ks neists qa'-10 nam o'k!uquna at ka'nuk sd'aqaqa'pse neis k!almanmi'tuks. kqa'na'm mö'ka n'o'ulo'ps at qananu'kune. n'u'pxane yama'kpa·ls altsa'atimo·s. qous aa'kwok.le'et.s yu'no·'s qous qaha·k!aqomate'tse. yama'kpa-i sakeisa-niiwi'yne neis ha'nq!o-'s neis ku'tski ks, ta'xas kts!/nam k!anaxa'ka neis kqa'nalwa'ha m 15 k!anaxa'ka; ta'xas k!ome'tskin neis aa'kamana'mes a'ts!po: k!upxa'le's pał schotske'ine ha'nq!o. ta'xas kqalwi'ynam ktslao kua'xam, pał n'umetske'n e a'ts!po a 'kamana'me's. łaqa'tal'ukaxa'mne: n'etk!o'ulne: no'm'a. ta'xas kama'atil aa'kenqo'wa q!a'pe aq!o'k.lu'pqa. yama'kpa'l altsa'atimu lo'use nako'e's. 20 ta'xas sa'ndwi'yne'. neis ya'qa'naqa'nuqka'ske qana'xe at yaqa'nałwat!menuqka'ske. łaqahał'una'xe. ta'xas łats!ka'xe. am·a'k!e·s. n'u'pṣa aqlsma'kink!s neis layaqaka'mke at n'u'kte. qous qaaki·łme'txane kianu'kxo's qawułe.e't.se aa'ku'q!nuks. ta'xas ke'e'k neis kianu'kxo's.

25 N'u'pxane neis u'me's haqanu'kske nalmo'qtsins. pal sa'kilsa:no'lwey yama'kpa'l ne ists k!u'pxa neis nul'a'qana's. sa'nlokpakta'pse: n'u'pxane ksa'kilhamaa'tki:ts aa'kik.leyo'se's naas a'm'a'ks. qalwi'yne: "hol'u'pil n'o'nse hatsa'e's." qako'lne: "kaha'tsa." nulpa'lne nalmo'qtsin hatsa'e's. qake'ine: "ha'i." qakilo'lne: "hutsxalhe'so'sine: n'donqa'apskilqahwasiko'me'k konsa'ke'lat.le'ite't." qake'ine nalmo'qtsin: "Há; hoso'kuilq!u'kune:" qakilo'lne: "malonk!alo'man'.'' yama'kpa'l xunako'n'e no'ukue's n'oqoxuako'n'e aa'ko'lwi's kianu'qxo''s. neis k!u'time''s no'ukwe's. ta'xas nalmo'qtsin malonk!alma'n'e.

35 ta'xas yama'kpa'l tslonal'onmo'te neis a'ko'lwi's. pal kenüpk!aqa'qa yama'kpa'l tslonal'onmo'te neis a'ko'lwi's. pal kenüpk!aqa'qa yama'kpa'l, a'a'ke qaqa'ane nalmo'qtsin. ta'xas tu'xua ktslaxmo'xus nalmo'qtse: n'u'pxane pal solsa nilwiynata'pse hatsa'e's. naq!an'a'q!aneno'lne neis a'ko'lwe'ys, neis luwa'xamoxu'n'e nei a'ko'lwey. qake'ine nalmo'qtse: "e',

ma'tke'ts a'a'kik.liye.'se's naas a'm'a'ks.

Qakik'he: "maats hentsxalqaoxalq!u'mne'ine na qa'akilhaq!a'nqu'ts!la'in." luqualqa'kilka'ane: "maats hentsxalqunyaxa45 ke'he: to'ho'l na'xqakqa'yqoke'me'k to'ho'l." ta'xas ts!enaqanu'kane: ta'xas n'e'nse neis tsema'akk!unuq!uwiya'ataps
yawo'unek!s ma'aka.

40 kiniqal'at.lite'tinam kenilwiynana'ke'.'' mö'ka kselsa'nelwiyna'a-

ti·ł pa'amik sd'at.lititmu'n·e· o·'k!uquna kse'ilkqaats ktsxalha-

Qa·na'xe· nałmö'qtse·. qałwi'yne·: "huła'q!mał'o'uwo·k kułı't!e·ka'ame·k." ta'xas n'uwo'kune·. ta'xas tsɛma'k!a·le·t!-50 naot!a'laka'me·k. (pał koqua'ke· kwi'lqa nałmö'qtse·. neists k!o'wok aa'kiyukwa'e·s woxomu'n·e· aa'kilmi'yit.s neis

country. He did not arise when he was going about, | but crawled on hands and feet. It was almost the best way, || for there is water 10 now where he crawled along. Therefore the rivers have that width. | He crawled along, even where there was much water. He saw Woodpecker and | his brothers sitting in a row on the top of a mountain. |

Woodpecker was still angry at Muskrat, who | had lied at the time when the warriors started off, at the time when the warriors went up (to the sky), || and when Wolverene tore their trail, | and they knew 15 that Muskrat had told a lie. When they wished to come down again, | Wolverene had torn the trail, and they could not go down. | They shot the thunderbird, and they were given its feathers and | down. There were none for Woodpecker and his brothers. || Then they got 20 angry. They went to the place | where the sun goes down, and there they came down and returned | to their country. When they saw the people, as they were going home, | they killed all. Then they saw a mountain goat not far from | a lake, and they ate the goat. ||

They saw below Nałmu'qtse crawling along. | Woodpecker was still 25 angry; and when he saw the old man, | he hated him. He knew that Nałmu'qtse was still giving names | to the country. Then he wished to kill his uncle. He said to him: | "Uncle!" Nałmu'qtse heard his nephew. He said: || "Hai!" He was told: "I'll give you 30 to eat. Maybe you are hungry on account of your | going about and giving names to the land." Nałmu'qtse said: | "Oh, I am glad!" He was told: "Open your mouth." Woodpecker | put a stone into the fire and put | the hot stone into the heart of the mountain goat. Then Nałmu'qtse opened his mouth, | and Woodpecker threw the 35 heart into it. Woodpecker had manitou | power, and Nałmu'qtse was the same way. | When Woodpecker reached him, Nałmu'qtse knew that his nephew was evilly disposed | toward him. He nodded to the heart, and it | fell down on one side. Nałmu'qtse said: "E,|| you will be named Little Heart." Even though somebody was 40 angry with him, | he gave names to places, because he was walking about this world | in order to give names.

(Woodpecker) was told: "Don't sleep where there is a | thick forest." (Nałmu'qtse) turned around, and said also: "Don't touch the || charr while it is rolling in the water." Then Nałmu'qtse 45 crawled along in the water, | and there it was where Flicker was swallowed by the | Water Monster. |

Nałmu'qtse went along. He thought: "I'll stand up for a while. | I'll stretch myself." He stood up and || stretched his back. (I said 50 Nałmu'qtse was large. When | he stood up, his war bonnet touched the sky.) His | war bonnet fell down; and when his hat fell down, |

¹ That is, the rivers were formed on the trail which he made by crawling along.

aa'kiyukwa'e's.) qanaxu'n'e' neis yaqanmoxu'ske' aa'k!ayukwa'e's nınko'e's aa''ke' neis yaqanmoxu'ke'. qake'ine': "kaas na' qawaxamu'xo ka'k!ayu'kwa k.lqal'at.letı'tnam wı'tsquwat!." 55 ta'xas qanaxu'n'e, pal sl'u'pane' naso'ukue'n nalmö'qtse'. neists na'moxu'kue' ktsxa'l'e'pts pa'ame'k lao'k!ue.ı'se' k!at.le'ite't.

Ta'xas hos/łhułtsxam/'łne· ya'aqal'u'pke· kaa'tsimi·lq!a'lu-k!upukamna'la nałm/'qtse:

53. YA.UKUE'IKA'M

Ho'yas, hutsxaltsxanem'line yaqalaqa'ake naso'ukue'n ya.-ukue'ıka m ktuna'xa neıs p'k!a ks.

(a) THE BIRTH OF YA.UKUE'IKA'M

Qa·n/t.la'ane· wa'ta·k.· naqa'pse· t/te'e·s qak.la'kse· nilouquatna'nas. at nałq!at!e'ine niłouquatna'na. qaki'lne wa'tak 5 tete'e's: "at maats hentsxal'e ku'lne ne a'a'k!a'q. ta'xta hınlatka'xa'm ka 'kıt.lana'la at hınts!e ku'lne'." na qsanmi'yıt.s at qaqna pse tete'e's. k!ouk!unmi'yet.s la lq!at!e'ine nelouquatna'na ława'xe nok!unuq!luma'ne qałwi'yne : "ho'yas, hul'e'ikoll na aa''k!aq.'' n'e'ku'ine: qakai'akahe'ise: te'tqa:t!s n'ektsenuq-10 kına'pse: qafwi'yne: ktsxaltsı'l'ip. n'u'pxane: pa:l n'ı'nse: ne_is ya_aqa'oxal'ıktsınuqkını'lke: pa'l sıl a_a 'k ι t.lana'me's tsukuata'pse te'tqa:t!s. pał selhalalite'tine nei te'tqa:t!. qa'k.le'k aa'kmınuqlu'nuk. qasaqa'ane'. ta'xas at n'ana'se' neis nułaqana"e's. k.łuma'yit.s naqa'pse aqa'lt!e's. ta'xa 15 ne_i łka'mu qał'atı'łne· ya.uk^ue'_ika·m. qał'ata'pse· tıtu'e·s ma''e's ya.ukue'ika'm's. n'u'pxane nei te'tqa't! ktsxa'l'e'ns naso'ukue'ns xale'e's slaqaqa'pse kama'atketts aa'kkkleyee'se's. Ta'xa aa'km/nuqlu'nuk naqa'pse ta'tle's. saha'nse ta'xa nei te'tqa·t! at sanifwiynawe'ine: qaf'ate'fne·aa'quxma'nuks. ta'xa 20 nei tsa'atimu aa'quxma'nuk nao'k!ue at sa'nilwiynawe ine; nao''k!ue ne ktsaqu'na at qasanilwi'yne. tsemak!qa'pse aa'kelwi'ye's. ta'xas neists ka'qa ya.ukue'ikam na'qt!oxa'nuk aa'quxma'nuks at nalukulwita'kse: ta'xas keikqa'ts ya.ukue'ikam qak.la'pse ma''e's: "atınsahankı'kq!aanxo'une 25 xa'ane's aa'quxma'nuk. ta'xas pał kınsılwı'lqa ts!ınamı'len' neis sant.la'ane: papa''ne's. qa'k.le'k wa'taks; at tslakt'lne' q!a'pe's łka'm'u's kw'ldaps q!a'pe aqłsma'kn'k! n''nse papa''e sts tete'e's. n'e'n'e kate'te wa'tak. neists helaxa'nme i n'u'pxaneis tsxalqak.lu'sine.: 'kapa'pa, kulsul'u'pxatsxalslak.lu'sine' qo tax 30 hantsqa'akiłk.lang!u'le k."

Ta'xas ya.ukue'ika'm ts!!na'xe sant.lanam'sine laxa'xe tenawetske'kine. n'u'pxane telna'mu's saosaqa'pse sla'tiyi-

he also fell. He said when he fell: "The place where | my hat falls is to be called Ear." || Then the chief fell and died. Nałmu'qtse 55 fell and was nearly dead, and nevertheless | he named one more place. |

Now I have told you how Nałmu'qtse, our great-great-grandfather generations back, died.

53. YA.UK^UE'IKA'M

Well, I'll tell about Chief Ya.ukue'ika'm, | the Kutenai, long ago. |

(a) THE BIRTH OF YA.UK^UE'IKA'M

Frog was living in a tent. There was her granddaughter, named Young Doe. | Young Doe went picking berries. Frog said to || her 5 granddaughter: "Don't go and drink at the water hole in the ice. | When you come into the house, drink here." For a few days | her granddaughter did so. One day Young Doe was picking berries again. | She came to be thirsty, and thought: "Let me drink | from the water hole." She drank. Then a man put out his hand || to pull her 10 into the water. She thought she would die. She saw, however, there was | a tent where she had been taken into the water. | The man took her and married her. | The name of this man was White Stone. She staid there. | Then her husband went hunting. In the spring of the year she had a child. || Then the child was called Ya.ukue'ika m. His 15 father and | his mother called him Ya.ukue'ika m. That man knew that his son would be | a chief, therefore he gave him this name. |

Then White Stone had an elder brother. That man was bad. | He was quick-tempered. He was named Gray Stone. Then among these || brothers, Gray Stone, the one, was always angry; | the other, 20 the younger one, was not angry. He had a strong | mind. Then Ya.ukue'ikam was like stones striking together (?). | Gray Stone made noise inside. Then when he went around, | Ya.ukue'ikam was told by his mother: || "Your father's brother, Gray Stone, does not 25 feel good when you are here. Now you are large, go to your | great-grandmother's tent. Her name is Frog. She loves all | children and all big people who are her grandsons | and her granddaughters. Frog is my grandmother. When you get there and she sees you, | she will say to you: 'My grandchild, let me see you and love you.' || You 30 will always play there." |

Then Ya.uk^ue'_ika·m started for the tent. He arrived and | looked in. He saw an old woman | sitting there in the rear with her back

¹ Pronounced continuously: maatsentsrale ku'lne.

ł'a'n'taqanaqna'kse'. n'on'the'. pał ktsaqu'na sil'aimakti'tine ya.ukue'ikam. ta'xas tsxalsd'etke'n e qa'psins qunakana'xane 35 q!u'mne''nis neis tana'mu's qa'naqa'me'k wa'ta'k, atqaq!u'mne'ine. n'uk!unithats!ataqa'ane. n'itxo'ume.k. q!u'mne'ine. ta'xas tanaxa'mne ya.ukue'ikam. ta'xas k.lanq!u'le k. n'u'pxane: ma qak.la'pse: ma''e's neists kqa'kxa's. no'une: aa'k.lttt!-'se's ma''e's. ta'xas k.lenq!o.imu'n'e'. kwalkuwa'yit.s lats!-40 na'xe ma''e's. k.łaxa'xam qak.ła'pse ma''e's: "qa'psin kı'nsiłats!/ka'm ma k/nsqaosa'qa' n'/n'e' papa'ne's.'' qake'ine' ya.ukue'ikam: "hun'onc'he n'eseikate'ine nei teha'mu." n'umatsinata'pse alakni'k!e's. qak.la'pse: "taxta' hintsxalslak/'he'. q!a'pe' łka'm'u atsłak/'he' /s t/ha'mu's." qahak.le' itsine' 45 wa'ta'k nukunuxa''mne: n'u'pxane k!aaqale'e't.s neis a'qla''s a 'kt. ła'e's. tse ika'te' pał n'uła'se' łka'm'u's. qake' ine: "ha''ksa, kate'te, kapa'pa, klswa''ka'm koa'qalq!u'mne'imil." Kanmi'yıt.s a'a'ke latsına'xe ya.uk 'e'ikam. neists klu'pxa kalikina'atits lka'mu's wa'ta'k. "qa.u'pxane qa'psins nı'n'ıns 50 sel'aqake'ine kapa'pa kate'te: ' ta'xas n'etke'n e t!awue'se's na'hekinana'se's. peske'n'e'. qalwi'yne': "pal koselq!u'mne"me'ł neists ktka'xa"m. na'pit a'a'ke hułag!u'mne"mił tka'xam, ta'xas kuts!u'pxa qa'psin n'e'n'e'.'' sl'aqaqa'pse k!asqana'qaps k!e'tkin k.l/nqo'imo's. qaosaqa'ane wa'ta'k 55 nats!ałaqa'ane n'atxo'ume k q!u'mne'ine a'a'ke łao ła'se ya.uk^ue'ika·ms sal'a'qal·aq!u'mne'ine. tanaxa'mne ya.uk^ue'ika'm. n'u'pxane saaksqa'pse t!awuna'na's nahekina'na's. mitiya'xane neis t!awuna'na's pał a'a'ke n'tkt'nse tsa'atsas. ta'xas tsukua'te neis t!awuna'na's. n'anaxa''mne ta'xas me't-60 xane ne is tsa'atsas. tuwo'xa kwalkwa'yit.s q!apnuq!umok!o'une ne_is tsa'_atsas. łatnałkı'n·e·. łats!:na'xe· no'k^unoxa''mne· wa'ta·k. tse_ika'te ne_is ma ke'_itk*i*n sła'tq!a'nse ne_is nahek_ina'na's. ne_is t!awuna'na's skknoq!ume'se: n'u'pxane: pał n'e'nse: netstahalna'na's. qake'ine.: "ha'ksa kapa'pa kapa'pa. k.le'wa'm ku-65 aqalwul·e·e/tsme·l." kanmi'y/t.s qalwi'yne: "m/ka honats!ała'aqa. maats kutsq!u''mne:" ła. tkt'n'e tsa'atsas. łapskt'n'e. n'txo'ume'k. qalwi'yne': "holakqa'p'me'l." qaoza'xe ya.ukue'ika'm. tenawetske'hne: pał słatkik.łe'itse neis tełna'mu's. qałwi'yne: "pał ksi łq!u"mne:" ta'xas tanaxa"mne: tsukua'te 70 ne_is t!awuna'na's a_a''ke ne_is tsa'_atsas. ta'xas tsxaltsil'anałk/nse tsxałk.l/nq!o'imo's: n'u'pxane wa'ta'k. sukunohu's e a 'kuqla'nt! 'se's ne s lka'm u's so' kuse mit ya'x ne; ts/nk/n·e·. qak/he·: "ha·'ksa, kapa·'pa, kapa·'pa." qak.ła'pse: "ta'xa's psk/no." ta'xas n'anaxa''mse. ta'x s 75 me'txane tsa'atsas ya.ukue'ika m. ta'xas wa'ta k ak!e'se s n'tkt'n'e aa''ke tsa'atsas. ta'xas pał ksłu'pxanaps ya.ukue'ika m neis taha'mu's. ta'xas qaosaqa'ane pal ksak.-

toward the door. He was afraid. | Ya.uku'e'ikam was small, two years old. Then he was going to throw something, to throw || sleep into the old woman. Frog was sitting there, and did not sleep. | She became sleepy and lay down. She slept. | Then Ya.uku'e'ikam entered. He began to play. | He knew, for his mother had told him, how she was. He knew the belongings | of his mother. Then he played with them in the evening and went || back to his mother. When he arrived, his mother said to him: "Why do you | come back? You ought to stay with your grandmother." Ya.uku'e'ikam said: | "I was afraid; that old woman looks terrible." | His parents laughed at him. They said to him: "Later you will love her. | All children like that old woman." Frog was asleep. || She arose and saw that the inside of her tent looked strange. | She looked, and she found out a child had been there. She said: | "Oh, my grandchild, my grandchild has arrived, and therefore I slept." |

KUTENAI TALES

In the morning Ya.ukue'ikam started again, and Frog saw | the evidence of a child having been there. "Nobody knows whether | it is my grandson or my granddaughter." Therefore she made a bow and | a little basket. She put them down. She thought: "I was asleep | when he came in. If I should go to sleep again, when | he comes back I'll know what it is." That was the reason why | she made the two kinds of toys. Frog was | sleepy. She lay down and 55 slept. Again | Ya.ukue'ikam came in. Therefore she went to sleep again. | Ya.ukue'ikam entered. He looked, and there was the little bow and the little basket. | He ran for the little bow. She had also made two figures of deer (of grass). | Then he took the little bow and went out. He shot | at the figure of the deer. When it was almost 60 evening, | the figure of the deer was torn to pieces. He carried it in again and went back. Frog arose. | She looked at what she had made, and the little basket was hanging there. | The little bow was lying there. It was broken. Then she knew that her grandchild was | a boy. She said: "O grandson, grandson! He must have come while | I was sound asleep." On the following morning 65 she thought: "Even if I do | feel sleepy, I'll not go to sleep." She made a figure of a deer (of grass) and put it down. | She lay down. She thought: "Let me lie down again." There was | Ya.ukue'ikam. He looked in, and the old woman was asleep. | He thought: "She is sleeping." Then he entered. He took | the little 70 bow and the figure of the deer. Then he carried | them out. He was about to play with them. Frog saw him. His clothing was | bright red. The child was good-looking. She ran for him | and took him. She said to him: "O grandchild, grandchild!" | He said to her: "Let me go!" Then Ya.ukue'ikam went out and || shot at the figure. 75 Frog had made an arrow | and the figure of a deer. Then | Ya.ukue'ikam was seen by the old woman; and he staid there, on the pil-

80

93

ła·"mxo's ma"e's. ta'xas wa'tak suk.lkkinatt'tine aa'kemoxo.t'se's papa'e's. n'u'pxane neis ksuku'qła'ns. słaqaqa'pse 80 ktsema'k!iłsuk.lkkina'ate't, aa'kemoxo't'se's ya.ukue'ika'ms.

(b) YA.UK^uE'_iKA'M OBTAINS ARROW WOOD

Ta'xas wdqa'ane ya.ukuei'kam: qalwi'yne: "qa'psin huł'e'tke'n ?" neis pe'k!a'ks ło'une sq!u'm'o na's yeslee'tske. tsın ok!kık.le.ı't.se yaki'laqa a'ke. o'k!quna kqawunı'ki t.s ka'qa ya.ukue'ika'm sl'aqalqa.u'pxane' na's a'm'a'ks. qake'ine:: 85 "hya' ła'qa a'k!uwo'k huł'e''tken ka'ak!." neis pe'k!a'ks at n'e'n'e' a'k! sq!u'm'o' aa'k!uwokua'e's, pał ke'ilo'us sd'a'qa'ke'ine' ya.ukue'ikam. qake'ine wa'tak: "ha'ksa, kapa'pa, kapa'pa, iłqa'ha'ks qa'kiłhaqa'ane a'k!uwo'k at qa'oxal'upina'm'ne naya'xał a'k!uwo'k n'esenkikiłwetske'lne k.ła'wła neis a'k!uwo'ks. 90 qa'la laxaya'xa at n'ıt!xana'pse k.la'wla's." ta'xas ts!ına'xe ya.uk^{·u}e'_ika·m. łaxa'xe sawasaqa'pse n'a'se qaspe'l'uks at t!ało'ukse n'upxa'ka's. ta'xas at n'u'pxane k.ła'wła kskaxa'm'e's k!u'pxanaps qaspe'l'uks ya.ukue'ika'm qalwi'yse' ktsxalt!a'luks. qake'lne: "a' maats tsxana'atki'l k.la'wla. taxta'' 95 hułaqa'ham hentstsxanatke'hne." łaats!ena'xe. n'u'pxane n'a'se kianle'k!xo's, qalwi'yse ktsxalt!a'louks. qake'lne: "maats tsxana'atki'l. taxta'' hulaqa'ham he''ntsxa'natkı'lne'.'' la'ts!na'xe. n'u'pxane. n'a'se. st'n a's. qalwi'yse. ktsxalt!a'louks qakı'lne: "maats t!alo'ukue'l." ta'xas ya.ukue'ıka m n'u'pxane 100 sq!u'm·o·'s sukuakate' ise. ta'xas tsukua'te a'k!uwo·ks yunaqa'pse. ta'xas q!a'pe's a'm'a'ks qawaxamı'te. qake'ine: "taxta" pał ktszyuna q'wo m na a'm a k xma ktsqa qa tszn xma kts!u'k!k.k.le'et.s am a'k!e's sq!u'm o'." ta'xas q!a'pe's a'm'a'ks at silhaqa'ane sq!u'm'o'. n'ola'n'e ya.ukue'ika'm.

Ta'xas nałaxo'une neis a'k!uwo'uks. łats!ana'xe. łałaxa'xe 105sı'n·a's. qakı'lne·: "ta'xas tsxana'atki_il k.la'wla." ta'xas t!alo'_ukune: nułpa'łne k.ła'wła se'n a's, qake'ine: "'yà, 'yà, qa'psin ks/łaqo'łqałukułmi'yit?" qawuni'k/t.se a'a'ke t!ało'ukune. kianł/k!xo. a'a'ke łaqake'ine k.ła'wła qawunik/t.se t!ało'u-110 kune qaspi'l'uk a'a'ke laqake'ine k.la'wla. qaki'lne alaqa'lt!e's: "anaxa"mki l. k!aaqan/ke t?" n'anaxa"mse alaqa'lt!e s n'u'pxa's łało'use sq!u'm·o·'s aa'kuwokua. 'se's qak. ła'pse: "łało'une sq!u'm·o." sa niłwi'yne k.la'wła. nawaszo'mek. tsukua'te: aa'qa'tuwumla't!e:s. n'e'nse: aa'qa'tuwumla't!e:s 115 k.ła'wła's aa'ku'qła's. qanaxa''mne: n'enqa'pte k k.ła'wła's. n'anaxa''mne latekime tiya'xane alaqa'lt!e's. la'ntaoxakesink!ata'kse'. qaka'he': "koa'qaka'te'?" qak.la'pse': "ni'n'ese'kate"ne"." ta'xas ła 'naxa"mne k.ła'wła. tse kat.l/k!ne. n'u'pxane n'esente kse ya.ukue ika ms. nułpałnite tine kuła k. łe s netslow of | his mother. Frog made a good place | for her grandson to sit down on. She knew that he had good clothing. Therefore she made || a really good place for Ya.ukue'ika m to sit down. |

(b) YA.UK^UE'IKA'M OBTAINS ARROW WOOD

Now, Ya.ukue'ikam was growing up. He thought: | "What shall I do?" Long ago there were no service berries in this world. | There was just one place where there were some. Because it was not long since Ya.ukue'ika m was born, therefore he did not know this world. He said: | "Hya! I wish there might be some arrow wood! Then 85 I might make arrows." Long ago | arrows were made of serviceberry shoots. There were none. Therefore | Ya.ukue'ika'm said so. Frog said: "O grandchild, grandchild! | far away there is arrow wood. | Those who go to get arrow wood die there. Grizzly Bear watches the arrow wood. Whoever goes to get it, is bitten by 90 Grizzly Bear." Then | Ya.ukue'ikam started. He arrived where two Cranes | made a noise when they saw anybody. Then Grizzly Bear knew | that somebody was coming. When the Cranes saw Ya.ukue'ikam, they wanted | to make noise. He said to them: "Oh, don't tell Grizzly Bear! || When I pass again, then you may tell him." 95 He started again, and saw two | Marmots. They intended to whistle. He said to them: "Don't | talk now! Later on, when I pass again, you may talk." | He started again, and saw two Beavers. They intended to make a noise. | He said to them: "Don't make a noise!" Then Ya.ukue'ikam saw | plenty of service berries. He took much 100 arrow wood. | He threw it all over the country. He said: | "By and by there will be many people in this world. It would not be right if service berries were | only in one place in the world." Then there were | service berries in every country. It was he, Ya.ukue'ikam, who did it.

Then he put the arrow wood on his back. He started back, and 105 came to Beaver. He said to him: "Now tell Grizzly Bear." Then (Beaver) made | a noise. Grizzly Bear heard Beaver. He said: "Yà, yà!-what does it mean? | I hear noise going back." After a little while | the Marmots also made noise, and Grizzly Bear said so again. After a little while | the Cranes made a noise, and Grizzly 110 Bear spoke again. He told his children: | "Go out (to see) what has been done!" His children went out, and | they saw there were no more service-berry bushes. They said: | "There are no more serviceberry bushes." Then Grizzly Bear became angry. He sang. He took his coat. The coat of | Grizzly Bear is a skin. He put 115 it on and became a grizzly bear. He went out and jumped near his children. The two (children) jumped back. | He said to them: "How do I look?" He was told: "You look terrible." Then Grizzly Bear went out. He looked at the tracks, and he saw | that it was Ya.ukue'ikam. He had heard that | the youth had grown up and 120

BOAS]

120 ta'hałs ktsxa'l'ıns naso'ukwe'ns. ta'xas sa'nilwiyna'ate:. ta'xas ts!ına'xe' neis laya'qana'ske'. laxa'xe' sı'n'a's. qakı'lne': "kaa kina'qakına'pke'l kınsılqa.upxa'ke'l nakılqaha'xam?" qakıla'pse': "hoq!u'mne'nala'ane'." lahats!ına'xe' laxa'xe' kianlı'k!xo's. qakı'lne': "kaa kın'a'qaqna'pke'l kınsılqa.up-125 xa'ke'l nakılqaha'xa'm?" qakıla'pse': "hoq!u'mne'nala'ane' hosılqa u'nx nala' ne'" lahats!ına'xe: laxa'xe' qaqna'pke'l kınsılqa.up-

hoszłqa.u'pxanała'ane." łahats!zna'xe. łaxa'xe qaspz'l'uks. qakz'łne: "kaa kzn'a 'qana'pke ł kznszłqa.upxa'ki ł naqłqaha'-xa'm." qak.ła'pse: "ne_i ma kski łwal'ni'kit hoq!u'mne nała'ane hoszł'a'qalqa.upxanała'ane." qakz'łne: "taxta' honuł!z't!xa

130 ya.uk^ue'_ika m hola'wa m hutsxal'uplæke'lne:'' sla't_iyil'aq_ane'-tsa'pse' ne_is elwat!na''e's. taxa ne_i alswo't_imu qalspe'l'uk no'h_une' ne_is ke'e'ns ya.uk^ue'_ika ms sl'aqal'o_one'lne'. ta'xas k.la'wla ts!enanu'te' ya.uk^ue'_ika ms. ta'xas n'u'px_ane' ya.uk^ue'_ika m k!u'pska s k.la'wlas ktsxal'u'plaps. n'etke'n'e' nöpe'k!a''s.

135 qatał axanxona pse n'itkine a qayiyumiyas. ta xas q!awats! nme k k. ła wła. qałwiyne ya. ukue kam: "ka huła a qa o xam lqa tał i t!xnap k. ła wła?" qałwiyne: "hołats! na ma ka ma ka han ka xa a quxma nuk." ta xas lałaxa xe ya. ukue ka ma ma "es. qake ne: "skanuta pane"

140 k.ła'wła." aa'quxma'nuk qake'ine: "hê:." n'owo'kune: aa'quxma'nuk. nawasxo'ume:k. n'etke'n:e nöpe'k!a:'s. qake'ine: "huts-xal'upe'lne: k.la'wła." ta'xas n'enqa'pte:k no'ukue:s aa'quxma'nuk. ta'xas tsukua'te: t!ena'mu's q!apelts!aqa'me:k. la'welil'ilkule'sine: n'itxo'ume:k neis aq!a'saks aa'kenq!u'kups. qawune-

145 kz't.se: ta'xas łaxa'xe: k.ła'wła. qake'ine:, "o'k!"znkz'nki łaq lanxo'una ł." qakz'łne: ya.uk"e'ika:ms: "qoq"awz'sqan' aa'ku'q!yuk!ałaxwe'et." ta'xas wa'xe: k.ła'wła. n'u'pxane: ya.uk"e'ika:ms sawzsqa'pse: neis aa'ku'q!yuk!ałaxwe'et.s. qake'ine: k.ła'wła: "hà:, k.łseilhonmela'k.łe: ya.uk"e'ika:m na-

150 so'ukuemts kutsxal'o'pi l." ta'xas aa'quxma'nuk n'owo'ukune. lats neis luqualitxo'ume k pal k!!nqa'pte k no'ukues. ta'xas sel'u'timeku'me k. tsema'k!!l'u'time tsxalt!anoko'une. ta'xas k.la'wla qake'ine: "hoya'sults!o'pin'laa't!ql!!xani' yat ya.u-kue'ika m naso'ukuen." ta'xas mitiya'xane. n'!'t!xane. aa'qux-

155 ma'nuk neis łożąd!ana'd!anin'the ya.ukue'ika ms neis łoż'd!mawsqa'ane a'ko'd!yuk!ałażawe'e ts ya.ukue'ika.m. ta'żas
pa'ł kts!opna'dlił k.ła'wła. n''t!żane sq!amaw'tsżane a'ma'le t.s. małnadł'he, pa'ł n''nse a'ma'łe ts neis kaw'tsża. tseika'te ya.ukue'ika ms neis łon'k!d!yok!ałażwe'e t.s swesda'pse.

160 qake'ine: k.ła'wła: "ho'yas, holts!o'pinłaatælækani'iyat ya.u-kue'ika:m naso'ukue:n." ta'xas a'a'ke: ła.æ't!xane: aa'quxma'-nuk latsæneisło:xuaq!anaq!ninæ'he:, ya.ukue'ika:ms neis lo:aq!-mawæqa'pse: małnaqlæ'he: k.ła'wła pał swæ'tsxane: aa'ku'q! yo-k!alaxwe'e:t.s. tseika'te: ya.ukue'ika:ms neis sæ'oaq! mawæqa'-

that he was to be a chief. Then he was angry at him. Then he started after the one who was going back. He came to the Beavers. He said to them: | "What have you done to me? Why did you not know that somebody passed by?" | He was told: "We were asleep." He went on, and he came to | the Marmots. He said to them: "What have you done to me? Why didn't you | know that somebody passed 125 by?" He was told: "We were asleep, | therefore we did not know." He went on, and he came to the Cranes. | He said to them: "What have you done to me? Why did you not know that somebody passed by?" | They said: "There was a snowstorm at that time, and we were asleep. | Therefore we did not know." He said to them: "After I have bitten | Ya.ukue'ika m, I'll come back and I'll kill you." 130 His servants were fooling him. | Then those friends the Cranes | knew it was Ya.ukue'ikam. Therefore they were afraid of him. Then | Grizzly Bear pursued Ya.ukue'ika'm. Then Ya.ukue'ika'm knew that Grizzly Bear | was coming to kill him. He called his manitou, and Bear could not catch up with him. He made a hill. Then Grizzly 135 Bear | became tired. Ya.ukue'ikam thought: "Where | shall I go so that Grizzly Bear can not bite me?" He thought: "I'll | go back to my mother, but my uncle Gray Stone is bad." Then | Ya.ukue'ika'm came to his mother. He said: "Grizzly Bear | is pursuing me." 140 Then Gray Stone said: "Hé!" | Gray Stone arose. He sang. He called his manitou, and he said: "I shall kill the Grizzly Bear." Then Gray Stone became stone. | He took grease and rubbed himself all over. A large fire was made. He lay down near the fire. It was not long | before Grizzly Bear arrived. He said: "Open | the 145 door!" They said to Ya.ukue'ikam: "Stand there by | the doorway." Then Grizzly Bear arrived. He saw | Ya.ukue'ikam standing there by the doorway. | Grizzly Bear said: "Há! Chief Ya.ukue'ika'm is a full-grown man. | I shall kill him." Then Gray Stone arose and | lay 150 down the other way. He became stone. He heated himself by the fire. He became very hot, and was about to burst from the heat. Then | Grizzly Bear said: "Well, I'll close my eyes. I will bite Chief | Ya.ukue'ika'm." Then he attacked him. He bit him. || Gray Stone 155 made signs to Ya.ukue'ikam, who (then) stood a little to the other side of the doorway. | Grizzly Bear had his eyes shut when he bit him, and he stood biting the post. | He opened his eyes and had the post in his mouth. | He looked at Ya.ukue'ika'm. He stood on the other side of the doorway. | Grizzly Bear said: 160 "Well, I'll close my eyes and bite | Chief Ya.ukue'ikam." Then he bit again. Gray | Stone just made a sign to Ya.ukue'ikam, who | jumped to the other side. Grizzly Bear opened his eyes, and he stood there biting the doorway. He looked | for Ya.ukue'ikam, who was standing on the other side. Now Gray 165

165 pse·. ta'xas aa'quxma'nuktsema'k!d'utime'ine·. qake'ine· k.la'w-la: "ta'xas hulak/lw/tsk/kxane'iya't ya.ukue'ika'm naso'u-kue'n." ta'xas malenk!alma'ne· k.la'wla. ta'xas aa'quxma'nuk t!anoko'une·. k.la'wla aa'k!alma''e·s qanaltseqan'm/nxouqa'a-ne. aa'quxma'nuk. n'upsd'oqo'uname·t/lne·. aa'k!alax/kp!/-

170 se's. łaqa'nał'anaxa''mne' a 'quxma'nuk. k.ła'wła tuwu'nin-muxu'n'e'. a 'quxma'nuk qo's qana'qayqa'me'k. qake'ine' łama''tsxmałataksa'pane'. ta'xas sd'opiłi'łne' k.ła'wła. ta'xa nei k.ła'wła pał k!ınqa'pte k k.ła'wła's. łaqa.ı'n'e' aqłsma'kinık!s qo'sts kts!ı'ka'm a 'kıt.la'e's. ta'xas pał k!ınqa'pte k k.ła'wła's.

175 ta'xas n'upsla't_iyil'ı'n'e k.la'wla's ne_is k!u'plaps a_a'quxma'-nuks. laqa.ı'n'e tı'tqa't!s.

Qo wzsqa'ane ya.ukue'ikam. qalwi'yne: "pal szlqasts!oumqa-qa'ane ka'xa aa quxma'nuk. k!u'pi k.la'wla's. le'ilo aa quxma'-nuk xma na qan'u'plap k.la'wla." qalwi'yne ya'ukue'ikam:

180 "ho'yas, hułtse'ika t kapa'pa wa'ta k, kaas xma n'aqa'qana neis huł aqaoxa'mi ł aa'kt la'e's." qake'ine: "ho'yas łułama'aki ł n k.ła'wła. hutsts knano 'kuitmt'lne kapa'pa wa'ta k, kaas xma aqaha'te na'lap." ta'xas łułama'alne k.la'wła a'a'ke aa'keisi'ye's. ta'xas ts knanokue'ite ya'ukue'ika'm. łatnaxa'mne papa'e's.

185 qak/łne: "kapa'pa skanuta'pane: k.ła'wła." qake'ine: wa'ta:k: "ha'ksa kapa'pa, kapa'pa. kaa ko'l'aaqak/n'e's koqo'quahaq!-a'l'e'n'. kqa'qana k/nsil'aaqa`wa'ka'xa''mktse'k. xma he'n-laqao`xam/lne: alakin/k!ne's. m/ksan qasts!oumqaqa'ane: xa''-ne's aa'quxma'nuk. xma n'up/lne: k.la'wla's." n'uwo'kune: wa'-

190 ta·k. nawaxo'ume·k. tsukua'te· namı't·a·s n'ıtınosla'q!tsa'ame·k. tsukua'te· aaʻkınuq!la·'nuk!uı'n'es. qaoʻxakı'n·e· aaʻk!alaxwitı't!- e·s. tsukua'te· popo''e·s. ta'xas nawıtsınulxo'une· k.la'wla's. qawuka'te· wa'ta·k neis aaʻkts!ı'ka·'s kanukwe'ıtımo's ya.ukue'ı- ka·ms qusılqaqaltkaxuna'kse·. ta'xas k!u'pxa ya.ukue'ıka·m

195 kułat/qinaps papa"es. ta'xas n'a'ko nk/n e neis a 'kts!/ka's. ta'xas k.la'wła a 'k.la'm'es n'o niłkaxu'n e qo's łaq!anxo'una ls. qaskałtkak!unka'kine k.la'wła n'u'pxane wa'ta k ta'xas ktka'-la'ms k.la'włas neis ya'qahakqa'pske a 'kınu'q!lanok!u'n'es. ta'xas tu'xuats q!a'piłtkano'xo'nła"mse k.la'wła's. qałwi'yne

200 wa'ta k: ''ta'xas tu'xua l'a'pko k!una'm'te'xa kapapa'mil.''
ta'xas qanaqkupla'lte aa'k.lam't'se's k.la'wla's. ta'xas ksa'qxa'lat!xo'ume k wa'ta k, ya.ukue'ıka m n'akonqkupkt'n e ne'ıs
aa'kts!t'ka 's. ttkımt'txane aa'k.lam't'se's k.la'wla's wa'ta k
tst'neıs qao xaqkupla'lte aa'ktnu'q!lanuk!ut'n'e's. nan'u'qo.i-

205 xo'une aa'kınu'q!lanuk!u'n'es. n'u'pxane wa'ta k pal sd-k!umna'nta'pse papa''es. n'da'n e pal ksd'dkilxa'mqana na'ksaps papa''es sd'aqal'da'n e.

Stone had become very hot. Grizzly Bear said: | "I'll watch and bite Chief Ya.ukue'ika'm." | Then Grizzly Bear opened his mouth, and Gray Stone | burst from the heat.¹ He flew into the mouth of Grizzly Bear. | Gray Stone went right through him, and came out | at 170 his backside. Then Grizzly Bear fell back. | Gray Stone rolled himself about and said: | "I have soiled my flesh." Thus Grizzly Bear was killed. Then | Grizzly Bear was changed into a grizzly bear. He was not a person | when he started from the tent. Then he changed into a grizzly bear, || and he remained a grizzly bear when Gray Stone 175 had killed him. | He was no longer a man. |

Chief Ya.ukue'ika'm stood there. He thought: "My uncle Gray Stone is skillful. | He killed the grizzly bear. If it had not been for Gray | Stone, Grizzly Bear would have killed me." Ya.ukue'ika'm thought: | "Well, let me see my grandmother Frog. What may she 180 do | if I go back to her tent?" He said: "Well, cut off the head of | the grizzly bear. I'll drag it to my grandmother Frog. What | may she do for me?" Then the head of the grizzly bear and its paws | were cut off. Ya.uk^ue'_ika·m dragged it along. He entered his grandmother's | tent. He said to her: "Grandmother, Grizzly Bear is 185 pursuing me." Frog said: | "O grandson, grandson! what can I do for you? | What am I? Why do you come back to me? | You should go back to your parents. Your uncle | Gray Stone is very skillful. . He ought to kill Grizzly Bear." Frog arose. | She sang(?). She 190 took red paint and painted her legs. | She took a sharp flat stone and put it up by the doorway. | She took her hammer and stood ready to strike Grizzly Bear. Frog did not | see the rawhide strap with which Ya.ukue'ika m was dragging the head. | (The head) was lying in the doorway. When Ya.ukue'ika'm | saw his grandmother 195 ready (to strike), he pulled the strap. | Then the grizzly-bear head dropped down under the door. | Grizzly Bear put his nose into the tent. Then Frog saw | Grizzly Bear put in his head where the flat stone lay. | Almost the whole head of Grizzly Bear came in. Frog thought: || "The head might jump at my grandson," | and she struck 200 the grizzly-bear head. | When Frog was striking it, Ya.ukue'ika'm pulled hard at | the strap and pulled the grizzly-bear head in. Just then Frog | struck it and hit her flat stone. She broke | the flat stone. 205 Then Frog saw that her grandson | was fooling her. She cried because | her grandson had done some damage. Therefore she cried. |

¹ Here the narrator indicated the flying about of the stone by clapping his hands.

^{85543°—}Bull. 59—18——7

(c) YA.UK^UE'₁KA'M OBTAINS FEATHERS

Ta'xas qao saqa'ane ya.ukue'ikam. qake'ine: "la'q'a aa'kınqo'wa hul'tkaxnt'lik." qake'ine wa'tak: "n'tlqalaqa'ane aa'-210 kınqo'wa neis sakq!anu'kune sakılhaqa'ane kia'q!la lu'n qo's, at qa'halhaqa'ane at qa'upka'xe. yakaya'xa aa'konqo'wa's at tsın tsu kuqkı'n e neis a 'q!a'so ks, at qa hala qa'ane a 'kınqo''wa n'e'nse k.lunqowa''xo kia'q!la.'' ta'xas ya.uk''e'ika'm ts!/na'xe'. k.ła'xa'm nałk/'n'e' aa'ku'k!ºpma'k!s. n'u'pxane' 215 pał tsemak!ke'kse papa'e's ło'n'qo''s qa'łaqa'pse kia'q!ła's. ta'xa n'ı'ne: qo kwı'lqa wu'o ne_is yaqao`xa'mke: ya.uk^ue'_ika:m qo''s a'q!a'so'ks. qahanqa'me'k. qaa'lo'qalnu'k!une. kia'q!la''s. n'u'pxane na 's a'qa't!aks pał n'uk!wilsla hatqa'nwisqu'kse, me'ksa'n qo's kiyuna'qaps welka'nilpalnexu'se k.lenq!u'kse. 220 n'u'pxane: nei k!o'k!ue kia'q!la neis aa'q!a'sq!nuks te'tqa:t!s sla·hat/qa·'tse·. ta'xas n'/sakinu'se·. sukunusxu'se· at qa.u'pxane neis te'tqa t!s. pał at k!upsła tiyił axaya'xał a kenqo -wa. sł'aqaqa'pse kqao'ho ne kia'q!ła ne s te'tqat!s. qake' ine ya.ukue'ikam, qaki'he neis klo'klue's kia'qla's: "haqlmal'-225 u'pka'n'." qalwi'yne ne kia'q!la: "lants!upla'pine:" qatal'upa'xe: qake'ine: ya.ukue'ika'm: "maats one'lo: hutsxalqa.upłe'sine: hutsxal'etkine'sine: nentsxalso'ukune:" ta'xas n'upa'xe ne kia'q!la. n'u'pxane tsınla kate'ise ne is nıtsta'hals. qak.la'pse: "hutsxaltsuk"a'te: aa'kanqowa"ne:s. hunaltso'ukwa:t 230 hutsxal'itenmakanele'sine:." ta'xas qalwi'yne nei kia'q!la: "pał kszłsuku'qła'nt naa nztsta'hał. naqa'ntsxalsuk"znmakanz'ła·p." qake'ine: "ho'yas tsukua'te·n'." ta'xas ya.ukue'ika·m łu"nte a 'kınqowa. 'se's ne is kia'q la's. kulq la'pil o'une t. ta' xas tsukua'te: aa'kuk!pma'k!s ya.ukue'ika'm. ta'xas t!apts!a'ante: 235 ne_is yaqake'_ikal·uk^u''nke· a_a'kınqowa.ı'se·s. qakı'lne·: "ta'xa łu'n u łahułu'que'n'." ta'xas nei kia'q la łahułu'qune qo''s a:nło'nqo's. qakı'he::"ho'yas, nei qalwanwı't!e'n'." ta'xas kia'q!la nit!na`kıswı't!ine neis qalwanwı't!ine tsenlakate'ise aa`kınqowa'e's. ta'x qo' kıyuna'qa kia'q!la n'u'pxane' qo's hana'-240 qanake'ske te'tqa t!s. qo's k!o 'k!uil'elqawesqo'kues sa'qxal'opa'qse: n'u'pxane. k.łaqank.ła'pse:s qo's te'tqa:t!s k!u'pa:'s. ta'xas k.lats!/ka·s nas a:nlo'niqo·'s n'u'pxane· wanw/t!se·. q/n·a ts/n-ła kate ise hà, ne sts k. łaho logs ya ukue ika m qak ilne: "łagoname'le'n' qo aa'kenek!namo''ne's. tsxal'upka'xe'. na'sts yaqaqa'a-245 ke[·] ku. tkt'n e[·]s q la'pe[·] hutsxalqal' tkt'n e[·].'' ta'xas k.lala'xa'm aa'kenek!namu''e's me'tsu'k. ta'xa ne ko'l'etke'naps ya.ukue'ika ms. qal'ate'lne me'tsu k. k.lala'xa'm qo's yaqa'halyunaqa'pske kia'q la's, n'upxana'pse yaqa qa'pske aa knquwa''e s lało'use n'ak.ła na 'qapqa' pse so'ukse . qake' ine mc'tsu k: "tse i-250 kata'pki'ł kaa koa'qa'qa." qakile'lne: "nentse'nlakatimu'n'e en kqaaktha'qa aa'kwt!nt'simi'l.'' qak.lt'lne': "ho'yas nei qalwanwe't le n'." ta'xas me'tsuk wankeswet lne n'upxale's ne n'ese il-

(c) YA.UK^UE'_IKA'M OBTAINS FEATHERS

Then Ya.ukue'ika'm staid there. He said: "If there were | feathers, I should feather my arrow." Frog said: "There are | feathers 210 far off. There is a lake, and there are some ducks way out on the lake. | They stay there and do not come ashore. Those who go to get feathers | just pick them up along the shore. | The feathers are there. They come off from the ducks." Then Ya.ukue'ikam | started. When he arrived there, he carried ear ornaments. He discovered that his grandmother | had spoken the truth. Way out on the lake 215 were some ducks. It was a large (body of) water. Then Ya.ukue'ika'm | went to the shore and sat down. He did not know how to get the ducks. | He saw one there swimming not far away; | but many ducks were making a noise with their mouths, playing. || One Duck 220 saw the man | walking along the shore. Then (Ya'ukue'ika'm) sat down. He was bright red. The Duck had never seen a man. They always went to get feathers on shore. | Therefore the Duck did not know (what) a man (was). | Ya.uk^ue'_ika m said to the one Duck: "Come ashore for a while." | Duck thought: "He might kill me," and 225 did not come ashore. | Ya.ukue'ikam said: "Don't be afraid of me, I won't kill | you. I will make you (look) nice. You will be handsome." Then Duck came ashore. It saw that the youth looked nice. | He said to Duck: "I'll take your feathers. When I have taken them, | I'll pay 230 you for them." Then Duck thought: "This youth | is well dressed. Maybe he will reward me well." | He said: "Well, take them!" Then Ya.ukue'ika'm | plucked out the feathers of the Duck. | He took them all off. Then Ya.ukue'ikam took the ear ornament and stuck it on | where he had plucked off the feathers. He said: 235 "Now | go, swim away!" Then Duck swam away there, | far out to sea. (Ya.ukue'ika'm) said (to Duck): "Well, move your wings!" Then | the Duck stretched out its wings and moved them. | Its feathers looked pretty. Then many ducks saw the man sitting there away off. | That one floating about alone started to swim 240 ashore. They knew that the man must have called it ashore. When they saw it coming back, farther out to sea, they saw it spreading its wings. Oh, | they were 'pretty, ha! When (the Duck) began to swim back, Ya.ukue'ika'm said to it: | "Go back there to your relatives! They shall come ashore. I'll make them all (look) in the same way | in which I made you." Then, when (the 2.5 diver¹) came back to its relatives after it had been finished by Ya.ukue'ika'm, | it was called Diver. When it arrived back where the many ducks were, | they saw how its feathers were. | It had pretty new ones. Diver said: | "Look at me, how I am!" They said to 250 him: "You look pretty on account of the things that are on | your wings." He was told: "Go on, move your wings!" | Then Diver

¹ The duck had been transformed into a diver called *mitsuk*, smaller than a loon, with a long slender neck, white belly, and dark back.

270 ła'e's ya.uk^ue'_ika'm.

BOAS]

[BULL. 59

290

so'ukse: qake'ine: me'tsu:k: "qake'ine: qo: netsta'hal, kenl'upame'lki-l na:sts ya'xqal'itkina'pke-, a'a'ke tsxalqal'etk-255 neske'lne:" ta'xas q!a'pe kia'q!la n'upa'xe: ta'xas ya.ukue'ika·m łoku/n·e· aa kingowa. /se·s q!a/pe·s. qak/he·: "ta/xas łahułqa'atski ł, kinła'k.linq!o'yki ł. na's tsxałqaqa'ane. ts!up'na''kot tsxal'awuqua'ane' aa'kanqowana'ski'l. luma'yit.s tsxal'ałuxu'n e. łaa'k!ła k at tsxal aka'łak.le' ine." ta'xas qak'line 260 kia'q!ła's: "ta'xas atinhołnoxok"''lne'. suk.le''tine' nei 'nta. q!a'pe naqa'ane aa'ko'q!nuk na yeslee'tke a'tentsq!apilkqatske'he: taxta' ts!upna'ko't atentsławake'he: na am ak ne'ski ł m'e'ksa''n qo' elqa'ha'k at n'esqa't!le.e'tine:'' ta'xas laholqa'' atse kia'q!ła. sukuiłq!u'kune ksukuil'itkin'ktsaps ya.ukue' 265 $_{\rm i}$ ka·ms. ta'xas tse $_{\rm i}$ kata'mne· pał q!a'pe· soʻ $_{\rm u}$ kse· a $_{\rm a}$ 'kınqowa''e·s aaku'k!pma·k!s. ta'xas ya.ukue'ikam tsukua'te aa'kanqo'was, łats!/na'xe: ta'xas s/ł'/tk/'n'e' ya.uk^ue' ika'm na's y/słe./'t.ske' at saq lape laqa'ane kia'q la aa'qsu'k luitna'mo's. neis pa'k la ks kia'q!la at qa.upka'xe qo's kwe'lqaps wu'o s. lalaxa'xe a 'ket.-

(d) YA.UK^UE'_IKA'M OBTAINS THE ARROW STRAIGHTENER

Qaosaqa'ane: qake'ine: "ła'qa koapswouk!on'lmo:" qake'ine wa'ta k: "ło'une at qa'oxał'upna'mne ya keil'aqa'ake a'pe'swok!one'lmo'l. n'isenkikelke'n'e kwe'lqle; at qaoxa'qal'opałka'ane łaża'yaża'łe s." tskna'xe ya.ukue'aka m. qałwi'yne: 275 "hułts!/na 'm, me' ika n'u'płap kaha'tsa." n'ı'nse alıtskı'l'e's ma. e'se's ya. ukue' ika ms kwe'lqle. laxa'xe san et. laname's ine. tinaxa''mne: sanaqana'kse: nul'a'qana's wuq!la''mse: ta'xa nei nuł'a'qana neists k!seiłwu'q!ła'm scł'aqał'atc'łne kwc'łqłe's. qake'ine kwe'lqle: "qa'psin ke'n'out?" qake'ine ya.ukue'ikam: 280 "hun'o'ute a piswouk!o'una l." qake'ine kwi'lqle: "lo'une nas kakıt.la''mi'l qo's le'ines aa'kınmı'tuks saq!a'n'e'. hutsxal'alqa'na'nte'sine." ta'xas n'alqana''nte. neists kts!e'ka''m ya.ukue'ika'm papa''e's tsxane'ta'pse' tsxalyaqakna'pske' neis nul'a'qana's tsxalyaqakı'n ke: ta'xas neis k!alqana''ntaps qak.la'pse: 285 "ta'xa łu'n'u. ın qa'nałyu'uxuan' ıs a:nlu'n'us saq!a'n'e hıntsxałtskałkı'n e.'' ta'xas n'u'pxane ya.ukue'ıka m ta'xas kts!u'płaps. yoʻxa'xe qoʻs a:nqana'xe layux'a'xe tse ka'te ne s nuł'a'qana''s pał Ałaho'łqu'ise qo's qayaqa'wo''s tsukua'tse qa'psins. n/de kṣaqk/nse wanuqk/nse nawasṣuna'kse nawasṣuna'kse . 290 qak/kse:

1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 z "al- qan- me'- nit- ka'- na- we' he he- ha he he ha." łaoqo'xaqkı'nse. ta'xas łats!:naqu'łse. ta'xas ya.uk''e'ika'm sukud'u'pxane yaqaqana'pske neis nul'a'qana's pal ksukuiltsmoved his wings, and they saw that he looked nice. Then Diver said: "That youth said, 'You shall | go to the shore there. He will make you look the same way as I am." | Then all the ducks 255 went ashore. Ya.ukue'ika'm | took off the feathers of all of them. He said to them: "Now | swim out again and play. It will be this way: | in the fall your feathers will be long again; in the spring they will | come off, and others will grow." Then he said | to the ducks: 260 "You may fly to a nice place there back from the shore. There are lakes all over that place, and you shall visit all of them. | Then in the fall come back here to this your country; | but there far away it is very cold." Then the ducks swam away. They were glad. Ya.ukue'ikam made them look nice. | Then they looked at one an- 265 other, and all the ear ornaments had become pretty feathers. | Then $Ya.uk^ue'{}_ika\cdot m\ took\, the\ feathers\ |\ and\ went\ back.\ Then\ Ya.uk^ue'{}_ika\cdot m$ did this. There are | ducks all over the country in the summer time. Long ago | the ducks did not come ashore out on the big sea. | 270Ya'uk'e'ika'm went back to his tent.

(d) YA.UK^UE'_IKA'M OBTAINS THE ARROW STRAIGHTENER

There he staid. He said: "I wish I had an arrow straightener!" Frog said: | "There is none, but people die where there are | arrow straighteners. Mountain-sheep Ram has them. He kills those | who go to get them." Ya.ukue'ikam started. He thought: | "Let me 275 start, even if my uncle should kill me." The Ram was | the brother of Ya.ukue'ika'm's mother. He arrived there, and there was a tent. He entered. An old man with long hair was seated there. Now, this old man with long hair was called Bighorn. | Bighorn said: "What do you want?" Ya.ukue'ikam said: | "I want an arrow 280 straightener." Bighorn said: "There is none here | in my tent. It is hanging on the other side of the river. I'll take you across in my canoe." | Then he took him across. When Ya.ukue'ikam was about to come, | his grandmother had told him what the old man | would do to him. When he had taken him across, Ya.ukue'ikam was told: "Now go on, climb up the mountain! Farther along it hangs. You | 285 shall bring it." Then Ya.ukue'ikam knew that (Bighorn) intended to kill him. | He went up and went on some distance. Then he went up again. He looked at the | old man, who was going back in his canoe. When he was in the middle of the water, he took | something, put it into the water, and shook it in the water, and sang, saying:

"I always take them across in my canoe, he he ha, he he ha!" |

Then he put it back into the canoe and went back. Now, Ya.ukue'ika'm | knew very well what the old man had done. He had been

¹ My interpreter could not translate the words of this song, but explained it in the way given here.

xana "taps papa" e's tsxalya qaqna ake. ta xas kultse kat neis 295 nul'a'qana's. neis qana'xe k!unanmı'tuks. n'u'pxane sanıt.łaname'sine: tenaxa''mne: ta'xas wa'miłnike't.se: tsema'k!el'esqat!le.e'tine: qak.la'pse neis ktina'xa'm: "há; qa'psins xma ksiłaqaha'kqa ka'pa't!?" qak.ła'pse aqsakaxa'm'le'n'. ałkenu'k!ko xa'ma ł. ta'xas ya.uk^ue'ika m n'itxo'ume k. 300 ta'xas n'o'uyankina'pse: qao'saqa'ane: qanla'lte: a'a'kmaq!a'n'e's. k.łayo''xam kwe'lqle. n'etxo'ume'k youxaqanme'te' klo'ya's. youxaqanmitxa'me'k. ta'xas saqa.itlko'une at qa'kalqal'tkt'n'e'. qa'hakqa'ane' nei nul'a'qana neis qanla'lit a k'maq!a'n'e s qo hanit. ła'ake. qake'ine nei nul'a'qana: "hoi, 305 sk/kq!me·qo·ku'muql/lko:" ya.uk^ue'_ika·m ku'n'me·la'k.le· nıtsta'hal wunekı't.se a'a'ke k.laqanla'lit aa'k'maq!a'n'e's qo hanit.ła'ake a'a'ke łaqake'ine kw'lqle neis ma silya qake'ike. qake'ine: "ta'xas maats la. esqat!le'e't." ta'xa nei nul'a'qana at sel'etke'n e nöpe'k!as. qakile'lne ya.ukue'ıka m: "ta'xa 310 łu'n u. wa's/łaqunam/łe'n'. nei nul'a'qana pe/k!a'kstsxal'aałqa'kaqu'łne hinłaxa'm'il. n'upka'qo'l maats tsupxani'sine. ta'xas yu'uxua'm n'antso'uxua'm; ta'xas nı'nko hıntsxal aoqoxaxa"mne yaqso"mił. ta'xas natsłahołqu'łne neis yaaqaqana'ake neis kqa'lwi y ktsxal'u'ple's. hatsxalqaka'n e. ta'xas 315 henłaałqana'qo'l henłayo'uxwa'm. ta'xas hentsxalyouxwaqa'nmitxa'me'k k!o''ya qa'psin. hentsa'wutsk!apałte'le'k hen'u'pxa nakq!meqouku'muqle'lko. a'a'ke laha'q!me'qouku'muqle'lko. ta'xas hentsxalqake'ine: 'ta'xas maats la.e'sqat!le'et.' ta'xas hıntsxal'aa'lqakaqu'lne: hıntsxalyouxa'xe:. tsxalsak-320 qa'ane: tsxal'ınqa'pte:k kwı'lqle: ta'xas hıntsxaltsukua'te: a'pe·swok!o·'na·l.'' ta'xas nulqakile'lne ya'ukue'ika'm. ta'xas łats!/na'xe. łaqao xa'xe. n'u'pxane neis nul'a'qana's qa:'l/n słu'pkaqu'łse qa.upxana'pse ta'xas youxa'se neis a kuq!yu'muk!s. ta'xas nenko'e's ya.ukue'ikam ła.oqoxaxa''mne łahoł-325 qu'îne: sakrî'oqoha kqa'pse: neis kwanu'qkins n'ı'nse: a'kułats!/se's neis at kwanu'qkens. ta'xas tsukua'te' ya.ukue'ikam. tseikate nei nul'aqana yaqso'mtl'es pal petklaks sahulqu'ise ya.ukue'ikams. pal qatal'opa'ine qaka'ine: "ła.upkaqu'łe'n'." qatseikate'lne nei nul'a'qana. yunaq!an-330 ke'ine: ta'xas qayaqa'wous qa'oxal'ctuwitsqu'lne: ya.ukue'ika·m. tsukua'te· aa'kulats!/se·s neis nul'a'qana's. qake'ine· nei nul'a'qana: "maats qunya'xan' ın hakqa'ake xale'ine." ta'xas kqunya'xa qake'ine: "maats xunaqke'ne:" ta'xas kxuna'qke'n. nawasxo'umek ya.uk'e'ika'm. qake'ine': 335

"ałganme"nitka nawe, he he ha, he he ha!"

Ta'xas n'da'n'e ne nul'a'qana. ya.ukue'ikam la.upaqu'lne. łatenaxa"mne a 'ket.ła.e'se's. n'etxo'ume'k. yo xa'qa'nmetxa'-

told | by his grandmother what he would do. Then, after he had looked at the | old man, he went down the river. He saw a tent | 295 standing there, and entered. Then there was a snowstorm. It was very | cold. He was told to come in. "Ha! why | should my nephew be lying here?" He was told: "Come in here | to your brothers and sisters!" Then Ya.uk^ue'_ika·m lay down, || and they 300 warmed him. He staid there and struck his testicles. | When Bighorn went up again, he lay down and threw warm things on him, | and he threw them on himself. Thus he was not cold. | He always did so. The old man lay there while the tent owner was striking | his testicles. The old man said: "Hoi, | there is noise 305 of bursting eyes!" Ya.ukue'ikam was a full-grown | man. After a long time the tent owner again struck his testicles, | and Bighorn said again what he had said before. | Now he said: "Don't let it be cold any more!" Then the old man | called his manitous. Ya.ukue'ika'm was told: | "Go on; go there quickly! The old man 310 will soon be on this side of the water. | When you get there and he comes ashore, don't let him see you. Then, | when he goes up, go behind and get into | his canoe. Then go back in the canoe. Do the same as he did | when he wanted to kill you. You shall do the same. When | you get across in the canoe, then go up and throw | warm 315 things on yourself. Then listen; and when you hear | again noise of eyes bursting, | then say: 'Don't let it be cold any more.' | Then come back in your canoe and go up. | He will be lying there, and he will be- 320 come a mountain sheep. Then take | the arrow straightener." Thus Ya.ukue'ika'm had been told. Then | he started. He got there, and he saw the old man just | coming back to this side in his canoe. (The old man) did not see him. He went up the cliff | on the bank of the river. Now Ya.ukue'ika'm went aboard and went back. | His penis 325 that he had moved in the water | and that he shook in the water was lying in the canoe. Then Ya.ukue'ikam took it. | The old man looked at his canoe, and Ya.ukue'ika m was already on the water. (The old man) had not been able to kill him. He said to him: | "Come back to the shore!" (Ya.ukue'ikam) did not look at the old man, who said this many times. | When he was in the middle of the water, he 330 stopped there | and took the old man's penis. The old man said: | "Don't touch the thing that lies there, son." | Then, when he touched it, he said: "Don't put it into the water." When | he put it into the water, Ya.ukue'ikam sang. He said: 335

"I always take them across in my canoe, he he ha, he he ha!" |

Then the old man cried. Ya.ukue'ika'm went back ashore.

me·k klo·'yas qa'psins. qahakqa'ane·. ta'xas tsema'klii'æqatlle't.se·. nułpa'łne· n'asqla'liłha'kqlme·qouku'muqlæku'pse· ne¡s

340 nul'a'qana's. qake'¡ne· ya.ukue'¡ka·m: "ta'xas maats łaæqatlle'e·t." ta'xas łao·kunuxa''mne· łaałqanaqu'łne· ya.ukue'¡ka·m.
youxa'xe· sakqa'pse· pał n'ænqapta'kse· kuwæ'lqle·'s ne¡s nul'a'qana''s. pætsxo'une· aa'kuqleæ'se·s. ta'xas tsxal'æ'nse·
a'pæswo·kluna'l'e·s. łatslæna'xe· ta'xas a'a'ke· sæ'upæ'lne· ne¡s

345 xma ktsxa'l'æns yaqao xa'qa·l'up¡namæ'ske·. ta'xas lalaxa'xe·
papa''e·s. qao saqa'ane·.

(e) YA.UK^UE'_IKA'M OBTAINS SINEW

Qake'ine.: "ła'qa a'kınq!a'łqa, ta'xas xma ko'tkaxanı'le k." qake'ine wa'ta k: "ha'ksa kapa'pa, kapa'pa; ło'une aa'kınq!a'iqa: ts!:name'ie'n' nei sanet.ia'ane'; qa'k.le'k te'tqa:t! e'n-350 tsu·k!s. sawesqa'pse· aa'ket.la'e·s. kaq!a'le·'s to·'xua tsxa·l'ometsk!o'use· aa'ktt.ła'e's. htntsxal'thwamt'he htntsxaltsukua'te a 'kınq!a'lqa:." ta'xas ts!ına'xe ya.uk'e' ika'm. laxa'xe aa'kt.ła.t'se's t'ntsuk!s aa'qo'ła'aka''s. ttnaxa''mne'. qake'ine' 'ntsuk!: "qa'psin k'n'out?" n'u'pxane ke'e'ns ya.ukue'ika ms. 355 nułpałnite'tine ka'qaps netsta'hałs kqaqła'ke's ya.uk''e'ika'ms, ktsxa'le'ns naso'ukue'ns neis tskqa'k.laps c'ntsuk!s: "qa'psin ke'n'out?" nałatsukue'kse: qake'ine: ya.ukue'ika'm: "huselwa'xe:" wdke'ine neis ke'itsxa ya.ukue'ikam. qake'ine c'ntsuk!: "maats welki kme'len'. to'xua tsxal'o metsklo'une ka kit.-360 łanała'e's kaq!a'łe'.'' qake'ine ya.ukue'ika'm: "ho'yasts tskakı'ne'n' t!awu''ne's.'' namatıktsa'pse'. tseika'te', pal saha'nse: ławaq!wu'se: tsa. e'se's. qake'he: neis k. ława'q!wo's: "tskakı'ne'n' t!awu"ne's." namatiktsa'pse'. tseika'te'. to'xua pał so'ukuse. ta'xas ła anaxa''mne ya ukue'ıka m. mı'txane 365 ne s kaq!a'le's a'a'ke lamı'txane ta'xas n'ılwa'n e qakı'lne: "ta'xas tsukua'tki laa'ku'la ka'a'ke aa'ku'qla. hents!alasqa k/he na aa'ku'qla. ka'mi'n ts/n tsuk!ue'ine aa'k/nq!a'lqa. hutstsukua'te:." ta'xas n'um/tse'ite: /ntsuk! altsa'atimo. ta'xas łats!/na'xe ya.ukue'ikam. k.łała'xam papa''es. gao sa-370 qa'ane: ta'xas n'tkt'n'e a'kle's. ta'xas qla'pe's no kut'n'e.

(f) YA.UK^UE'_IKA'M OBTAINS FLINT

Qake'ine: "hoł'u'pxa kaas naqa'aki łha'qa a qa'tsko: huła-ya'xa." qake'ine: wa'ta k: "ha'ksa, kapa'pa, kapa'pa. wułe. 't.se: yaakiłaqa'ake a qa'tsko: n'. 'n e te'tqa t!s nei a qa'tsko: pał ke'e n no'ukue is neists ła'xa m te'tqa t! qa'łwiy 375 ktsxałtso'ukwa t, neis no'ukue s at n'enqa'pte k te'tqa t!s. ta'xas at qa'tałtsukuate'lne: "qałwi'yne ya.ukue'ika m: "hułts!ena'me ł nei no'ukue: "ta'xas ts!ena'xe. łaxa'xe aa'ket.-

He entered the old man's tent and lay down. He threw | something warm on himself and lay there. Then it became very cold. |
Twice he heard the bursting of eyes of the || old man. Ya.ukue'i- 340 ka·m said: "Don't let it be cold any more." | He arose. Ya.ukue'i-ka·m went across. | He went up, and there he was lying. The old man had turned into a mountain sheep. | Ya.ukue'i-ka·m chopped off its horn, which was to be | his arrow straightener. Then he started, and he also killed that || which was to be killed by the people. Then 345 he went back to | his grandmother. He staid there. |

(e) YA.UK^UE'_IKA'M OBTAINS SINEW

He said: "If there were sinew, I should put feathers on my arrow." | Frog said: "O grandson, grandson! there is no sinew. | Go there. There is a tent. The name of the man is Mouse. | His tent 350 stands there. Bull Moose almost breaks | his tent. You will kill him. You will take | the sinew." Then Ya.ukue'ika'm started and came | to the tent of Mouse at Aa'qo'la'ka's. He entered. Mouse said: "What do you want?" He knew it was Ya.ukue'ikam. He had 355 heard that there was a youth named Ya.ukue'ikam | who was to be chief. When Mouse spoke to him, "What | do you want?" he whispered. Ya.uk^ue'_ika'm said: "I have come." | When Ya.uk^ue'_ika'm spoke, he spoke loud. Mouse said: | "Don't speak loud. Bull Moose might break our tent." | Ya.ukue'ika'm said: "Give me | your 360 bow." He gave it to him. He looked at it. | It was bad. (Mouse's) younger brother carried meat. He said to the one who brought the meat: | "Give me your bow." He gave it to him. He looked at it. It was almost | good. Then Ya.ukue'ika'm went out. He shot | the 365 Bull Moose, shot it again, and killed it. He said to them: | "Take the meat and the skin. You shall split | this skin. I shall take only one thing. I shall take the sinew." | Then Mouse and his brothers cut it up. | Ya.ukue'ikam went back, and arrived at his grandmother's (tent). | He staid there. Then he made an arrow. 370 Then it was all finished.

(f) ya.uk^ue'_ika'm obtains flint

He said: "If I knew where there is some flint, I should get it." |
Frog said: "O grandson, grandson! | it is far away where the flint is.
The flint is a man. | It is a stone. When a person arrives and intends |
to take it, then the stone becomes a man. | Then it can not be taken." 375
Ya.ukue'ikam thought: "I'll | go after that stone." Then he started,

¹This is a small hill on the south side of St. Marys River, an isolated part of the lowest terrace in the valley of the Kootenay River. The hill is called A_a'qo'la'ka's.

łac'se's. ta'xas pec'k!aks n'enqapta'kse' te''tqa't!s neis no'ukue's, neists k!u'pxanaps k.ła'xa'm n'enqapta'kse. no'u-380 k^ue_is. a'_a'ke· ne_is qa'wts_inu'kse· at qa'ke_ika'ktnlt's_ine·. ta'xas at salqanlaltmula'sine: qa'la n'atanma'ka ta'xas at settsukua'te neis no'ukueis. ta'xa nei no'ukuey at qakeikakını'ine nıiko'uts!ap aa'ktsa'ma'i. at sıl'aqaqa'ane at k!ctc'n·ma·k neists n'itcnma·ka nc'leil a·qa'tsko· at qatal'cn-385 qa'pte·k no'ukueis. qa.itenmakane'le·l at n'enqa'pte·k te'tqa·t!s. at qa·ma'ate aa'kula'k!e·s. ta'xas ya.ukue'aka·m kt/na'xa'm, pec'k!a.ks pał n'enqapta'kse .te'tqa.t!s. qałwi'yne. a.qa'tsko: "pał ke'ens naso'ukue'ns ya.ukue'ıka'ms ktsxalwılınmakanı'łaps." qake'ine. a qa'tsko: "qa'psin kı'n'out?" qake'ine 390 ya.ukue'ikam: "hun'o'ute' a'qa'tsko:" qake'ine a'qa'tsko.: "hents!etenmaka'ane, ta'xas hutsenqa'pte k ta'xas hentstsukuata'pine:.'' $qa \cdot nqa' me \cdot k$ ya.ukue'ikam. qalwi'yne: "hul'a'qanets." ta'xas la.anaxa''mne: qaoʻxa'xe: tuwukxo'una:ls. qakt'lne:: "qake'ine: 395 a·qa'tsko· at kınqata'axo:" qake'ine tuwukxo'una: "ha· słutske'ine a qa'tsko, pał kutsma'k!e at wcłqał unmctxo'une husaaniwi'ynaat, k.iaqa'ke?" la.anaxa''mne ya.ukue'ıkam. łaqao xa'xe a'qa'tsko's. qakı'lne: "tuwukxo'unal sła'tiyiłqake'ine. at kwilqa'l'unmitnukxo'une's." qake'ine 400 a qa'tsko: "a:, słutske'ine tuwukxo'una ł. at qataxona'pine ne_i huts!aqa'me·k at hutsEmak!e'_ine·." ła.anaxa"mne· ya.uk^ue'ika·m. qao xa'xe· tuwukxo'una·ls. qakt'lne: "qake'ia qa'tsko at kıngata'axo kınslutskı'kımi l. kts!aqa'me'k, ta'xas at ktsema'k!e'.'' qake'ine' tuwu-405 kxo'unał: "qoname'łe'n' kenłqa'ke'ł kutsk.łaqanane'ma'ł." ła.anaxa''mne ya.ukue'ika m. qake'ine a'qa'tsko's: "qake'ine tuwukxo'una 'l, kenk.laqanane 'ma l.' ta'xas tsukua'te aa'ktsama'l'e's tuwukxo'una'l, aa'ke a'qa'tsko qake'ine: "ho'ya hułk.łaqanamna'ła:" ta'xas mitiyaxna'mne qanlalta'mne. 410 qe'n'a, a'qa'tsko' litilixuste'le'k. welqa'l'u'nmetnukxo'ulne'. ta'xas ya.ukue'ikam tso:kokuc'n:e a:qa'tsko:sts tuwukxo'una is. ta'xas yunaqa'pse sakilk.laqanana'mse ta'xas tsukua'te: a'qa'tsko'sts tuwukxo'una'ls. pa'tsınmı'te: na's a'm'a'ks. qake'ine': "ta'xas k.lq!a'pe'lha'qa' a'qa'tsko'ts 415 tuwukxo'una'l na's a'm'a'ks. pa'l ktsxa'lwun'ke't.s ktsxalqahakelha'qa aqlsma'kinek! na's a'm'a'ks. at xma ktsxał'esełke'n e's naya'xa a qa'tsko sts tuwukxo'una ls." sakilk.łaqana'mne swo'timo. qa.u'pxane po'k!a ks sła'tiyiłpa tsonme't.se ya.ukue'ika ms. ta'xas kul'e'tkin qa'psins ya.ukue'i-420 ka·m. qak/'lne· swo'timo:'s: "ta'xas qaqaskina'mki·l. ma kuszł'aqanetsz'ske-ł. ta'xas atz'ntsxal-aqa.znkz'lne- aqlsma'kinik! neis nayaxanı'skeil. ta'xas husil ulitki'n e tsxal'-

and arrived at | the house, and already the stone had become a man. When the stone saw him coming, it had changed its form, | and there 380 was another stone there where they get it from, | which is used to hit (the flint). Those who pay | can take the stone. Then it is a stone | from which they get arrow points and knives. For this reason | they pay for it; namely, that | the flint may not transform itself. When 385 they do not pay, it turns into a man | who does not give his flesh. When Ya.ukue'ika'm entered, | the stone had already turned into a man. Flint thought: | "Ya.ukue'ikam is a chief; he will pay a great deal." | Flint said: "What do you want?" Ya.ukue'ika m said: | "I 390 want flint." Flint said: | "You will pay for it. Then I'll become a stone. | Then you may take me." Ya.ukue'ika m sat down. | He thought: "I'll fool him." Then he went out. | He went to Diorite,1 and said to him: "Flint says | you can not break him." Diorite said: 395 "Oh, | Flint lies, I am strong. I break him into big pieces | when I get angry. Why did he say so?" Ya.ukue'ika m went out. He went back to Flint. He said to him: "Diorite | always says he will break you into big pieces." Flint said: | "Oh, Diorite lies, he can not 400 break me. | When I grease my body, I am strong." Ya.ukue'ika'm went out again | and came to Diorite. He said to him: "Flint | says you can not break him. He says you are lying. When he | greases himself, then he is strong." Diorite said: | "Go back and tell him 405 that I'll fight with him." | Ya.ukue'ikam went out again and said to Flint: "Diorite says | you shall fight with him." Then Diorite took his knife, | and also Flint. They said: "Well, | let us fight!" They attacked each other and struck each other. || Oh, Flint lost. 410 Big pieces of stone were coming off from him. | Then Ya.ukue'ika'm took the flint and diorite. | He had much because they were fighting. Then | he took the flint and diorite and scattered them over | this world. He said: "Let flint and | diorite occur all over this world. 415 For a long time people will be | here in this world. It might be | difficult for them to get flint and diorite." | The friends were fighting. They did not know that | Ya.ukue'ika'm had scattered the stones. When Ya.ukue'ika'm finished doing this, || he told the friends: "Now 420 stop doing this to each other. | I cheated you. You will not be | people any more when they come to get you. Now I have put an end

KUTENAI TALES

[BULL. 59

ya'qaqa'ake neis u's'me ks.'' ta'xas lapıskına'mne swu'timo. ta'xas lats!ınalxo'une a'qa'tsko's ya.ukue'ika'm. ta'xas 425 a'qa'tsko q!apilaqa'ane. na's a'm'a'ks.

(g) YA.UK^UE'_IKA'M OBTAINS BOW WOOD

Ta'xas n'uk!qa'pd'o'use tawu''e's. k'lala'xam ya.ukue'ika m papa''e's. qake'ine': "hol'u'pxa kaas na' qa'kalha'qa aa'k.la'akuo'. houłaya'xa." qake'ine wa'ta k: "ha'ksa kapa'pa, kapa'pa. wułe. 't.se' ya kathaqa'ake' aa'k. la'akuo at qa'oxal'opina'mne 430 naya'xa'ł." ts!:na'xe ya.uk'e'ika'm. wułe.c't.se yaqana'mke. qana'xe: nulpalnete'tine: nak.le.e't.se: qak.la'pse: papa''es: ne_ists qa'qa'ps ta'xas ktsxalsda'xam. qa'na'xe: nulpa'lne ta'k!a ts t!alo'ukse tax nei ta'k!a ts at n't!xaka'ane. n'u'pxane: ya.ukue'ika:m neis aa'kmana'm:e:s neis qalya:nets!-435 ła. 'nse ya kxała 'tqa 'noxu'nqa 'pse n' se kate ise at n'up lka'ane ne aa'kats!la'e'n. qatal'upa'lka ta'xas ta'k!a'ts at n't!xaka'ane neis pt'k!a.ks yt'ske k.la'wla.'s at qa'sine ta'k!a ts. at n'ese kate' ine: tsukua'te tsuk!otiya'l'e's ya.ukue'ikam neis qarlayanın morxu'n er nei aa'kıts!la'ern qao xa-440 q!ałkı'n'e' tsuk!otiya'l'e's ya.ukue'ika'm. łaqawane'ise'. ta'xas qayaqana'xe ta'k!a ts. ta'xas sa ndwi'yne qalwi'yne ktsxal'ι't!xa ya.ukue'ika:ms. n'aako'ułne: ta'k!a:ts. n'upilι'łne: neists ki'e p ta'k!a ts qakxaq!anu'n e tuq!tsqa'mna. na's qa nats!la-'nse qanafwa'haq!anu'n'e qake'ine ya.ukue'ika'm: "a:, 445 ın tax kınle'e'n ta'k!a'ts. pa'l ktsyu'na'quo'm. taxta'' at xma ke ntsxalıt !xa'ka mı'ksa'n k.lınq !oymu'n e s lka'm u, atents!e't!xane: aa'ke'y'e's.'' ta'xas q!axo'une: ya.ukue'ika:m aa'k.la'kuo'ut!e's. ta'xas pa'tsenme'te'. qake'ine': "ta'xas k.lq!apiłha'qa c'ts!na't! na's a'm'a'ks." ta'xas sł'aqaqa'ane kq!a-450 piłha'qa 'ts!na't!, at ke'e'ns aa'k.ła'kuo'ut!e's aqłsma'kn'k!. ta'xas łats!:na'xe ya.uk''e'ika m.

(h) Ya.ukue'ika'm goes to the end of the world

Lałaxa'xe papa"es qak'lne: "kapa'pa, k!a'qa's na a'm'a'k!" qake'ine wa'ta'k: "tsaquna'ne a'm'a'k." qake'ine ya.uk'e'ika'm: "qa'psins a'm'a'ks at qake'ika'm nata'nk!!"

455 qake'ine wa'ta'k: "wule't.se." qake'ine ya.uk'e'ika'm: "kaas at k!a'qa'oxam nata'nk!." qake'ine wa'ta'k: "wule'tine at yaqao xa'mke nata'nk!." qake'ine ya.uk'e'ika'm: "huts-xal'u'pxane kaas at n'a'qake'ika'm nata'nk!. a'a'ke hutsxal'-u'pxane kaas at n'aqa'oxa'm nata'nk!. taxta'."

160 Ta'xas husdqaqaso'uxad'upxamı'lne yaqad'ıtkı'n ek naso'ukue'n ya.ukue'ıka'm neı pık!a'kınık! aqlsma'kınık!. to this as | it was going to be first." Then the friends let go of each other. | Ya.ukue'ika'm carried the flint along, and now || there is 425 flint everywhere in this world. |

(g) YA.UK U E $'_{I}$ KA'M OBTAINS BOW WOOD

Now, there was one thing that he did not have, a bow. When Ya.ukue'ika'm came back | to his grandmother, he said: "Let me see where there is bow wood. | I'll get it." Frog said: "O grandson, grandson! | it is far away where bow wood is found, and those who try to get it are killed." | Ya.ukue'ika m started. He went a long ways. | 430 He went along and heard a noise. His grandmother had told him that he would be near by when it would be like that. He went along and heard | squirrels making a noise. That squirrel bit everybody. | Ya.ukue'ikam saw a tree standing on each side of the trail. || They 435 struck each other continually. It looked terrible. The trees killed | every one. If they could not kill him, the squirrels | bit him. Long ago they were of the size of grizzly bears. | The squirrel was big and looked terrible. Ya.ukue'ika'm took his spear, | and, when the trees went apart, he | put his spear across. Then they did not move any 440 more, and he went through. Then the squirrels were angry and tried | to bite Ya.ukue'ikam, but the squirrel was stabbed and killed. Then | the squirrel was dead, and from it crept a little animal, which | climbed up the tree here. Ya.ukue'ika'm said: "Oh, || you shall be 445 Squirrel. There shall be many of you. | You may continue to bite, but you may bite only the hands of children | that play with you." Then he chopped down | the bow wood and scattered it. He said: | "Let cedar grow all over this world." Therefore | cedar, that is 450 the bow wood of the people, grows everywhere. | Then Ya.ukue'ika'm started back.

(h) YA.UK^UE'_IKA'M GOES TO THE END OF THE WORLD

He came back to his grandmother, and he said to her: "Grandmother, how big is this | world?" Frog said: "The world is small." Ya.ukue'ika m said: | "From what place does the sun start?" | Frog 455 said: "It is far." Ya.ukue'ika m said: "Where | does the sun go to?" Frog said: "It is far | where the sun goes to." Ya.ukue'ika m said: "I shall | look for the place where the sun starts from, and later on I | shall look for the place where the sun goes." |

That is all I know about what Chief Ya.ukue'ika m did | among the 460 people of ancient times. |

54. COYOTE AND YA.UK^UE'_IKA'M

(a) COYOTE AND THE FAT

Ts!/na'xe sk/n·ku ts n'as'ma'ine ya.ukue'ika ms. qake'ine ya.ukue'ikam, qake'ine ske'n kuts: "saq!a'n e t!ena'm u, at n'o ku lqnalqasxa'lne ne tlaa'mu." ta'xas laxa'xe ta'xas qa'sxane· ya.ukue'ıka·m. ta'xas ts!ına'xe·. łaxa'xe· skı'n·ku·ts 5 a'a'ke qasalu'xune ta'xas a'a'ke tslana'xe ta'xas n'unuq!wiya'ate: sukwaxane'ise: no:kuma:'nxa'me:k. qatsxana'ate: ya.ukue'ika ms. łałoqałqa'atse sken ku ts. łalaxa'xe neis t!ena'mu's yaaqaq la'nske: ta'xas n''kine: nuqaxu'se: neis tl:na'm'u's. yaqlei't.se neis yaqaqla'nske neis tlaa'mu's neists koqa'xo 10 ts!/naqayqa'ane: ta'xas mitiya'xane: sk/n.ku.ts. qas/hu'xune:. nanoq!wiya'ate:. n'u'pxane: pa:ł tsxałxunaku'se: neis t!/na'm'u's. noułu'se: ta'xas łamitiya'xane: a'a'ke: łaqaszlu'xune: pz'sxane: łamitiya'xane a'a'ke łagaszłu'xune; a'a'ke łapz'sxane ta'xas xunaku'se: ta'xas niktsinoku'se neis t!na'mu's. qawasqa'ane 15 ske'n ku ts. qalwi'yne : "ta'xas hulats!e'na m, ta'xas kule'e k ne koquasdu'xua." ta'xas łats!:/na'xe sk/n'kuts. łaqaoxa'xe neis yaakdpesxa'ke neis t!ena'mu's. laqa.e'nse t!ena'mu's; n'enqapta'kse n'o'ukueys kamnu'qlu's. ta'xas qa'wesqa'ane ske'n'ku'ts. n'unuq!wetsta'pse neis t!ena'mu's neis kxuna'qo's qalwi'yne: 20 "huł'itoukwi'ke n." ta'xas n'etke'n e. ta'xas kuno'uko ps, ta'xas qunalqunok!o'une neis yaqa w.so'qske neis t!ma'mu's.

Qana'xe ya.ukue'ika m łamanwtskt'kine n'u'pxane 'ło'use ske'n ku ts. qalwi'yne ma kqaape'se ske'n ku ts. lats!ena'xe ya.uk^ue'_ika·m. łałaxa'xe· qo's yaqaq!a'nske· t!\(\alpha\)a'mu's. ło'_use· 25 neis t!:na'mu's. qaw:sqa'ane pa'l kiyaqle'et.s. n'u'pxane neis pa ł szłganał una 'q !małz'kse skz'n ku ts. a'a 'ke ne is t !zna'mu's pa ł szłgana 'g !małzkma 'lse'. ta 'xas ts!znał 'una 'xe'. n'u 'pxane' qo's u'me's nanq!oku'pse. n'u'pxane. ski'n kuts qous pal 30 neis yaqawasu'qske t!aa'mu's. qa'sa'awak!muwasu'qse neis t!/na'mu's. sk/n.ku.ts qsakoxamu'n.e neis t!/na'mu's. k.ła'xa m ya.uk^ue'ika m. qawukatka'ane ske'n ku ts. n'u'pxane ya.ukue'ikam pad sekklumnaqaktsla'kikta'kse swo'es. qake'he: "qa'psins kın'u'pskein?" naq!manaxwatı'lne skı'n ku'ts. 35 qake'ine: "sukwa'xane'nela'pane:" qakile'lne: "ma.uqak.le'sine at tse n k!o 'ku!qna iqa 'silu' xwa il. '' ta' xas tsukua' te ya.ukue'ikam a'a'kirts. qa'oxalt!aptsake'nre aa'ktsa'marls. ta'xas qunakna'xane qo's t!:na'mu's. ta'xas n'umitse'ine nei t!:na'm'u. ta'xas n'awak!mousu'qune' nei t!:na'mu. ta'xas qakili'lne

40 ske'n ku ts: "ta'xas e'ke n' q!a'pe:." ta'xas ske'n ku ts n'up-ka'nqu'ine ne is t!ena'mu's.

¹I heard: K!owo'k!qna'lqa'silu'xwil. ²Creston dialect: n'awakaqu'ne.

54. COYOTE AND YA.UKUE'IKA'M

(a) COYOTE AND THE FAT 1

Coyote went along with Ya.uk^ue'_ika m. Ya.uk^ue'_ika m said, | he said to Coyote: "Fat is hanging there. | They bite that fat once." Then they got there. | Ya.ukue'ikam bit off a piece. Then he started. Coyote arrived | and bit off once. Then he went on. Then 5 he swallowed. | It tasted good, and he wanted more. He did not tell | Ya.uk^ue'_ika'm. Coyote turned back. He came back to where | the fat was hanging. Then he ate of it. The fat fell down. | It was steep where the fat was hanging. When it fell, | it began to roll. Then Coy- 10 ote ran after it. He bit a piece off | and swallowed it. He saw that the fat was about to roll into the water | where it was deep. Then he ran after it and bit off another piece. He put it down with his mouth, ran after it, and bit off another piece, and he put it down with his mouth. Then | the fat fell into the water and sank. Coyote remained there. | He thought he would go back and eat | what he had 15 bitten off. Then Coyote started back. He arrived | where he had put down the fat with his mouth. There was no fat. It had become | a white stone. Then Coyote stood there. | He wanted to swallow the fat which was in the water. He thought: | "Let me heat stones." 20 Then he did so. When they were red-hot, he took them with sticks to where the fat was in the water.

Ya.ukue'ika'm was going along. He looked back, and he saw there was no | Coyote. He thought Coyote was not acting right. Ya.ukue'ikam went back. | He came to where the fat had been hanging. There was no | fat. It was steep there. He saw the | tracks of Coyote 25 going down, and also the fat | and the tracks going along with it. Then he started down. Way below he saw | a fire. He saw Coyote, who was there. He went down. He saw him carrying the stones with sticks | to the place where the fat was in the water. A piece of 30 the fat came up to the top of the water. | Coyote took a mouthful of the fat. | When Ya.ukue'ika m arrived, Coyote did not see him. Ya.ukue'ika m saw | his friend suffering. He said to him: | "Why did you do that?" Coyote was scared. | He said it tasted good. He was 35 told: "I told you | they take just one bite." Then Ya.ukue'ika'm took | a pole. He fastened a knife to it. He speared | the fat. Then the fat was broken up. | The fat came to the top of the water. Then Coyote was told: | "Now eat all." Then Coyote took | the fat ashore. | 40

BOAS] .

(b) COYOTE AND THE GIANT

Ta'xas tsl:na'xe' neists yaxkana'mke'. qana'xe'. qake'ine' ya.ukue'ika'm, qaki'he' ski'n'ku.ts: "sa'qla'ne' lka'm'u nanklo-ma'he'. at n'ila'ne' nei lka'm'u. at qa'tsink!apa'ltexa'he'.

45 ma'atsentstsink!apa'ltiya'xane'." ta'xas laxa'xe'. n'ulpa'lne' ski'n'ku ts neis lka'm'u's. seil'da'se'. ta'xas k.la'xam ya.ukue'ika'm qayaqana'xe'. qatseika'te' neis lka'm'u's' ta'xas k.la'xam ski'n'ku ts a'a'ke' qatseika'te' neis lka'm'u's. qayaqana'xe'. qawulinqa'atse' k!umnanle'kpayaxwata'pse'i neis lka'm'u's. lalo'50 qualqa'atse' laqaoxa'xe' naqtu'q!uatsqlahe'ine' aa'kalma.i'se''s. ta'xas tsutila'pse' neis aa'kitsqahe'e's neis lkam'u's. soukikq!anaxna'pse'. ta'xas laqa.ila'se' neis lka'm'u's. ta'xas ts!:nanuqueixuna'pse'. ta'xas n'u'pxane' pa'l tsxaltsil'unuq!wiyata'pse'. ta'xas n'akunla't!ne' laqa'tal'akala't!ne'.

Ta'xas n'u'pxane ya.ukue'ika m lamanwi tski'kine lo'use ski'n ku ts swo'e s. pal silaqa.ila'se neis lka'm u's. laloqa l-qa'atse ya.ukue'ika m. lalaxa'xe neis lka'm u's ski'n ku ts. pa l silaqa lka'm u's. tsukua'te ya.ukue'ika m aa'ktsa'm a's n'a komu'n e neis lka'm u's aa'klam'i'ses.

60 ta'xas n'i'pine nei lka'm u. ya.ukue'ika m tsukua'te ski'n ku ts aa'k lat!!'se s la litq!uxmala 't!ne ski'n ku ts. n'u'pxane ski'n ku ts pa l qai'nse lka'm u's, pa l n'i'nse e'ka 's. ta'xas lats!!na'xe swo'timu. nao 'k!ue la litq!u'xmala't!ne.

(c) COYOTE AND THE THUNDERBIRDS

Qama'xe swo'tımu qakile'lne ske'n kuts: "ne hutsyaxto_uq!utsqa'mna. 65 qanaxala'ake n≀ntsxałhułpa′łne· ma′_atsentstsenk!apa:ltiya'xane:" ta'xas qa:na'xe: ta'xasts nułpa'łne neis tuq!utsqa'mna's. ta'xas t!ało'ukse ta'xas qayaqana'xe ya.uk'e'ika'm, a'a'ke ski'n ku'ts qatsink!apaltiya'xane neis tuq!utsqa'mna's. ta'xas t!alo'ukse qake'ine 70 sk/n·ku·ts: "a: kułse·qa'tsink!apałte' ixats ła:ko'lsak, ko'lsak, ko'łsak." ta'xas neis k!aqa'ke ski'n kuts, ta'xas qa.u'pxane pec'k!aks pa·ł łaqa'wum·ekc'n·e· swo'timu. pa·ł słktka'xe. ta'xas łaxa'xe qo's toq!utsqa'mna ta'xas n'oqoxa'xe neis aa'kuq!no kat!/se's. pa'l n'/nse no'm ananak/sta'ke's. xa'ts'-75 ne·l'o·qoxa′xe· swo′t_imu skoʻn·ku·tsts ya.uk^ue′_ika·m. ta′xas qao saqa'ane: qak'lne ya.uk'e'ikam neis lka'm'u's: "at k!aqa'swo·k sła'wam a'łak/ne·k!ne'iske·ł?'' qak.ła'pse· nao'k!ue·: "tu'xua at wałkwayc't.se ła'wam nao'k!we, at wałkway't.se a'ke la'wam. n'ese kat.le'tetne se pa l ke'e ns 80 a 'kwuk. le'et.s lawoq!o'ha'ks a 'knukxuna'ke's." qak'lne' swo"e's ya.ukue'ika'm: "hatsxalhulpalna'pine'. hanga.-

(b) COYOTE AND THE GIANT

Then they started to where they were going. They were going along. | Ya.ukue'ika m said, he said to Coyote: "A child is hanging in a cradle. | The child is crying. One does not listen to it. || Don't 45 listen to it!" Then they arrived there. Coyote heard | the child crying. Then, when Ya.ukue'ika marrived, | he went past. He did not look at the child. When | Coyote arrived, he also did not look at the child, and went past; | but he had not gone past far when he took pity on the child. || He turned back and arrived there. He put his finger 50 into the child's mouth. | The child sucked his fingers and | found them nice. The child did not cry. Then his hand began to go into the mouth, | and he knew that the child was going to swallow him. | He pulled at his arm, but could not pull it out. ||

Then Ya.ukue'ikam knew it. He looked back, and | his friend 55 Coyote was not there. The child was not crying. | Ya.ukue'ikam turned back, and he came to the child | which was swallowing Coyote. Ya.ukue'ikam took | his knife and stabbed the child's head with it. | Then the child was dead. Ya.ukue'ikam took | Coyote's arm. 60 There was no flesh on Coyote's arm. Coyote saw | that it was no child, but a giant. | Then the friends went on. One of them had no flesh on his arm. |

(c) COYOTE AND THE THUNDERBIRDS

The friends were going along. Coyote was told: "The way where we | are going along you will hear birds. Do | not listen to them." 65 Then they went along. Then | they heard the birds. They made a noise. | Ya.ukue'ika'm went past, and also Coyote. He did not | listen to the birds that made a noise. | Coyote said: "I am not listening to 70 you, but łāko'lsak, ko'lsak, ko'lsak!" When Coyote said so, the friends, without knowing it, | were already raised from the ground. They were going up. | Then they arrived there where the birds were. They had gone into | their nest. These were two young thunderbirds. Both | friends went in, Coyote and Ya.ukue'ikam. Then | they 75 staid there. Ya.ukue'ika'm said to the children: | "Where is the sun when your parents come back?" One of them said: | "It is almost evening when the one comes back, and it is evening | when the other comes back. They look terrible." It was | on rocks on 80 one side of the mountain, and Ya.ukue'ikam said to his friend: "Listen to me! If you do not | listen to me, we shall die. You know | 85543°—Bull. 59—18——8

¹ Felix Andrew: k!umnantu'kpayaxwata'pse.

IBULL. 59

ułpa'łnap, ta'xas hutsxal'upnała'ane pa ł kın'u'pxa pa ł ks:l'.seka'le t: 'tine'. la'wam nao 'k!ue' tsxalqake'ine.: 'ha: ku sukw 'lq!ok. ta'xas ksd' tpötske 'mek alkaa 'qa lt.'" 85 n'u'pxane neis ke'ens naso'ukue'ns ya.ukue'ika ms sa'aqake'ine. ksoukwi'lq!o'k k!u'pe'ls alaqa'lt!e's. ta'xas waloq!kuku''tine'. t!ało'ukune: no'm'a. ta'xas n'u'pxane: ławanuxu'n'e: no'm'a qake'ine no'm'a: "ha: ku sokwe'lq!o'k. ta'xas kseltsma'k!e'npötskı'nme'k alkaa''qalt.'' (paluqa'silq!akpa'me'k. qaki-90 k'lne ske'n ku ts: "ne sts qa'ke no'm a kso kwe'lq!o k. tsxalqake'ine: 'qa'la at kuk.lokkakı'me'k, hutsxa'l'o'qokaxa'ktse'' qakile'lne ske'n ku ts: "neists qak.la'wa's no'm a 'hatsxalo wo'kune',' hentsxalqake'ine; 'kouqua'sake'me'k, ko_uq^ua·sakt'me·k, at k!t'sne·lsakniya'we· ka'tsa o·'k!^uq_una 95 ksa.'ne·łk!one'¡qa.' ") ta'xas ła.zsaknu'n·e· skz'n·ku·ts. qakił/łne ya.ukue'ikam: "a: /nqaka-l'it!nasa'q!en'. hutsxal'oqokaxaktse'sine." ta'xas n'et!nasa'q!ane ya.uk'e'ika'm. ta'xas qaoxak!alma'ne: no'm'a. qa'psqa'qa'pse: lalatinulma'kine: ya.ukue'ikam. qunakanxamu'ne tsukotiya'l'es a 'kuk!p-100 ła'mkak!/se's neis no'm'a's. n'up/he' neis no'm'a's. neis a 'koq!nokuate'se's n'umetsxo'use yaqa'nal'unaxu'ske ta'xas qaosaqa'ane: qakı'lne: neis lkamıukuısta'ke's: "la'wa'm tetune'skeil qa'ke: 'qa'psins ksl'ume'tse: kaket.lana'la,' hentsxalqakiłki'he: 'is qa'ka-lyuwaka'ke-'sqkati'le-k''' in-a-ke-sin-105 qame'ike: nöpe'k!a sel'umetsloxonate'tine: ta'xas qawunike't.se' ta'xas a'a'ke lawaluxko ku'tine a'a'ke lat!alo 'kune nυ'm·a. ta'xas a'a'ke· ławanoxu'n·e· nυ'm·a neis ma ski·łyaqake'ike nao'k!ue a'a'ke qake'ine qake'ine no'ma: "qa'la at ksakı'me'k, hutsxalwuqoqaxa'ktse','' nuwu'kune' skı'n ku'ts neis 110 ma ski 'lyaqake' ike: a 'k' aqake' ine: naquw' ine: qake' ine: "koʻqwaʻsakı'mʻe·k koʻqwaʻsakı'mʻe·k. k!/s'ne·lsakaniya'we· ka'tsa, o'k!uquna ksa'nik!one'qa." ła. saknu'n'e sk'n'ku'ts. qake'ine no'm'a: "inqa'ka:l'it!inasa'q!e'n'. hutsxalwu'qo'qaxaktse'sine:" ta'xas n'et!enasa'q!ane ya.ukue'ika'm neis 115 ma skalyaqaka'pske: aa''ke: laqaqa'pse: aa'kainulma'k!e's; a_a''ke łaquna kana'x_ane a_a''ke n'upa'lne.

Qakı'lne neis ikam ukuzta'ke s. ta'xas la.una'nuxuma'lna-wa'sno qake'ine nao 'k!ue nei ika'm u. ta'xas yuwa 'kal'-zsa'kanu ta'xas ya.ukue'ika m yu xalzsakanu'n e nao '-120 k!ue's. qakı'lne swu''e s: "hıntsxalalukulitı'le k." ta'xas nulnuxu'n e num ana'na, neis qa'nalwa nuxu'n e. ta'xas nakılwutskı'kine skı'n ku ts. ta'xas wı'lilwa nuxu'n e. ta'xas na-luk.liti'le k skı'n ku ts. ta'xas lats!kal'okuanuxu'n e laqayaqa hanuxu'n e. ta'xas la.u'nanuxu'n e qo's a'm a'ks. qakilı'lne 125 skı'n ku ts: "ta'xas a'a'ke nı'nko. yu wakal'ısa'kanu skı'n -

they look terrible. When one of them arrives, he will say, | 'I am glad, now my children have something to eat." | He knew that 85 Ya.ukue'ika'm was chief. | Therefore he said that he was glad that his children killed him (?). Now it began to rain. | The Thunderbird made a noise. Then they saw the Thunderbird flying home. | Thunderbird said: "I am glad, now | I have something to eat for my children." (I forgot something. || Coyote was told that when the Thun- 90 derbird would say he was glad, | he would say, "Who is tired from walking? I shall take the marrow out of his leg." | Coyote was told: "When the Thunderbird says this to us, | get up and say, 'I don't get tired, | I don't get tired; my younger brother always gets tired because | he is shaped badly.'") Then Coyote sat down again. | 95 Ya.ukue'ika'm was told: "Stretch your leg this way, I will pull out | the marrow with my mouth." Then Ya.ukue'ika'm stretched out his leg. Then | Thunderbird put his mouth there, and it was just as if Ya.ukue'ikam had no more marrow. | Then (Ya.ukue'ikam) threw his spear and stabbed | the Thunderbird with it in the nape of the 100 neck. He killed the Thunderbird, who | broke his nest while he was falling down. Then | he was there. The two children were told: "When your father comes, | and if he says, 'Why is our nest broken?' | tell him: 'That happened when they came up.'" | The two 105 manitous were sitting down in the place that was broken. It was not | long before it began to rain again, and the Thunderbird made a noise again. | Then the Thunderbird flew back; and this one | spoke in the same way as the other one had spoken. The Thunderbird said: "Who | is tired from walking? I shall pull out the marrow from his leg." Coyote arose | and said this. He said the same as before. He 110 danced and said: | "I don't get tired from walking, I don't get tired from walking; my younger brother always gets tired | because he is badly shaped." Then Coyote sat down again. | Thunderbird said: "Stretch your leg this way, I will pull the marrow out of it." | Ya .ukue'ıka'm stretched out his leg | the way he had done before, and 115 his marrow was as it had been before. | He threw his spear at him and killed him.

Then he said to the two children: "Now fly down with us." | One of the children said: "Sit down on my back." | Then Ya.ukue'ikam sat on the back of the one. || His friend was told: "You shall make 120 a noise." Then | the young Thunderbird flew away. He flew upward. | Coyote was looking on. He flew way up. Then | Coyote shouted, and he began to come down. | He flew by. Then he flew down to the land. Coyote was told: || "Now it is your turn. Sit on me, 125

ku ts." yuxual'ısakanu'n e nao'k!ue 's. ta'xas a'a'ke wa noxu'n e ta'xas a'a'ke la lukulit!le k. ta'xas a'a'ke la unanuxu'ne na's a'm a ks. sukulq!u'kune swu'timu skı'n ku ts. qakı'lne : "ta'xas at maats hıntslasa nlwiyna'ate aqlsma'kine k!. qa'la nutske qa'lıkıle 's atın'tsaq!maxo'une :" ta'xas sıltsxa ma'lne ya ukue'ika m. ta'xas sıltalo'une nu'm a neis aa'kamana'm e s at la qao pılka'ane na's. ta'xas tsın at t!alo 'kune nu'm a

(d) THE ANIMALS MAKE THE SUN

Ta'xas ła ts! na'xe swo't imu ne is ts! na'mke swo't imu skı'n·ku·ts nułpałne·tı'tɨne· tsxal'itkɨnı'lne· nata'nık!. ta'xas 135 satts!ana'xe: tsxal'a'n:e nata'ne:k!. na'qa:ntsxa:ltsukwa'te:l tsxa'l'e'n nata'ne'k!. ta'xas sel'aqanake'kine saki let!qaoxaxa"mne: tsxal'ına'mne nata'ne k!. qala ne n souk tsxaltsukuate'ine, tsxal'e'ne nata'ne k!. ta'xas laxa'xe ne s a kik.luna'me's. qakilı'lne: "kanmi'yit hıntsxalts!!na'xe:" n'ilik-140 te'lne ya.ukue'ıkam. ta'xas ktsilmi'yet. wo'lnams ts!:na'xe ya.ukue'ikam. ta'xas nawetskpayate'he: ta'xas yu'wa'kme'nuqka'n'e'. nanoho'sine' nata'ne'k!. nula'se' ya.uk'e'ika·m n'upsla't_iyil'¿tnu'ste· a_a'kuqla·'t!e·s. ta'xas n'upsla't_iyil'sukunuhu'sine a'k.lo'uk!wa. qa.utimdec'tine so'ukune neists 145 k.ła'wa·m qakile'lne: "nen so'ukune"; tsen·ok!ue'ine q!apilsoukunuhu'sine q!ape qa'pse'n nula'n'e nei kenano'ho's ya.ukue'ıkam; at qa'tal'itkene'lne qa'psin o'k!uquna q!apilsoukuno'ho's.

Qakile'lne ske'n ku ts: "kanmi'yit ta'xas ne'nko." ta'xas 150 q!u'mne na'mne: wυ'łna ms ts!ına'xe skı'n ku ts. ta'xas yuwa·kme·nuqka'n·e·. ta'xas n'u`k!unil·u`timile.\(\ell'\)tine·. ta'xas kiyu'kuyi't ta'xas tsma'k!e'l'utimile.e'tine'. n'etke'ne'l ne'le', at nupsła't_iyił'ut_imił'e.¿'t_ine'. xunaqk¿'ne'ł łka'm'u a_a'k¿nm¿'tu'ks at no ku na pse ne s wu o s. q!apił ut me kine me ka ne i 155 k!sqa't!o·k qaqa'nal'utime'ikine: ta'xas n'upsatiyiltsxa'n·e· ne_i nata'ne·k!. ne_ists k!u'pṣa skư'n·ku·ts ta'ṣas k!e'_iła·'s łka'm·u·'s, qake' ine· k.łxonaqkı'nle·s k!/sqa't!o·ks. a'a'ke·n'u'pxa n''/k.le's at qake' ine: "hentsxalhesapke'lne tsxalaqa'ane kakwe'se'n'. hutsxal'e'kine tselme 'yit hulala'xa.'' ta'xas n'upsa'-160 teyeltsxanatka'ane: kaas n'a qane'keits nei nata'ne k!. ta'xas naso'ukue'n sa'niwi'yne'. qake'ine ska'n'ku'ts qo' ksal'a'ynam pa'lke; a'a'ke neis ksaltsanka'na m ta'tqa't!ts pa'lke. ta'xas kwa'lkuwa'yi t, nei tu'xwa ktsuwalkuwa'yit n'upsla'tiyil'utimiłe. ¿'tine: tsche'y ct.s ława' xe sk z'n ku ts. ta' xas quna' xe 165 ne_is ma ya'kil_ik.l_i'ske: ta'xas s_ilquna'xe ktsxa'l'e k kuwise'n'e's, ma kqa'ke' ktsxala'qa'ps ku'se'n'e's.

Coyote." Coyote sat on the bird's back. | He sat on the back of the other one, and he also flew up. | Then he shouted again, and he flew back down to | the ground. The two friends, Coyote (and Ya.ukue'ikam) were glad. He said to the (Thunderbird): | "Don't be angry with the people. || You may scare whoever lies about you." 130 That was Ya.ukue'ikam's prayer. | Then there were no more thunderbirds. That is the reason | why they do not kill any one now. The thunderbirds only make a noise. |

(d) THE ANIMALS MAKE THE SUN

The friends went along. The way the friends Coyote (and Ya.ukue'ikam) were going along | they heard that the sun was being made. Then || they started. He was to be the sun. Perhaps the 135 one who was to be taken | would be the sun. Therefore the two went on together. | Some one was to be the sun. The one who was good was to be taken. | He was to be the sun. Then they arrived at that town. | They were told: "To-morrow you will start." || They meant 140 Ya.ukue'ikam. Then night came. Early in the morning Ya.ukue'ikam started. | They waited for him, and he went up. | The sun was red. Because Ya.ukue'ikam | always painted his clothing with ochre, | therefore his shadow was bright red. It was not hot. It was good. When || he came back, he was told: "You are good. There is 145 only one thing, everything | is entirely red. Your red paint has done it." | Ya.ukue'ikam could not do it because he was | bright red. |

Then Coyote was told: "To-morrow you shall go." Then they 150 slept. Early in the morning Coyote started. Then | he went on. At once it was hot. At noon it was very hot. Shade was made, but | it was always hot. The children were put into the water of the river, | but the water burned them. The water was entirely hot. Even | cold water was hot. Then the Sun always talked. | When 155 Coyote saw a child crying, | he said: "Put it into cold water;" and when he saw | the people eating, he said: "You will give me something to eat, something must be left for me. | I shall eat in the evening when I return." Then the Sun | told everything that was 160 being done. Then | the chief was angry. Coyote said: "Somebody stole | a woman, also the man and the woman catch each other." Then | it was evening; and when the sun had almost gone down, it remained | always hot. At night Coyote came back. Then he went to | where they were eating. He went there to eat | what was left. 165 He said it should be left for him. |

[BULL, 59

(e) THE LYNX CHILDREN

KUTENAI TALES

The two young Lynxes (Short Faces) arrived. There was the tent of Lynx. | His wife had two children, twins. Lynx started | to look for soup. His wife was to drink it in order to get | milk. He 170 arrived where the salmon were. | Lynx looked for them. One day he got one. He ate it all. He staid there another night. On the following day he looked again, | and he got one more. He was there a long time, but he kept nothing | because he ate it at once. Then the two children grew up. || One of them said to his mother: "Who 175 is our father?" His mother said: | "Your father went that way." He said to his mother: "What | is he looking for?" His mother said: "He is looking for salmon for you, | but he did not come back." The two children listened, | and went together where somebody was to be the sun. | The children said: "We will go, we shall be the sun." | 180 Then they started. They went. They saw a lake. | There was an old man. He was looking for fish. | They knew it was their father. He was poor. They said to him: | "What are you here for?" Lynx said, he said to them: | "Long ago I had two children. Then I 185 started | to look for soup, which my wife was to drink to get milk | for my children. I can not kill them." He was told by the youths: "Well, say that again." Lynx said: "I | raise the water with you." Then the two youths saw the water rising. | Lynx said: "Let the 190 water go down with you." And | the water went down. Then the two youths saw | many salmon. They took sticks and | killed the salmon. They saw their father | going after them. He went after one to kill it, and they laughed at him. | Lynx looked at the pile of 195 salmon. He was told: | "Now you try!" Then he knew it. He ran after them. | He was glad. He knew they were his children. He was told: "We are going | where they are playing sun. You | go back to your wife."

(d) THE ANIMALS MAKE THE SUN (CONTINUED)

Then the two youths started, and they arrived at the town. | They 200 were told by the chief: "To-morrow you | will go." One night passed, and early he started. | Then he went up. It was almost cool. Then | he came up, and it was almost warm. When || it was almost noon, it 205 was warm. Then at noon | it was warm. Shade was made. Then

(e) THE LYNX CHILDREN

A'a'ke łaxa'xe k!o q!unenanak/ste k. qanit.ła'ane k!o 'q!une naqa'lt.se tahamu''e's n'asoqo'use ts!na'xe k!o''q!une . selts!enalets!ke'heena'qpo'ks. tsxal'e'ko'lstelnamu''e's tsxala'ko'ls 170 tsu'o's. ta'xas łaxa'xe yaki łaqa'pske suwa'q!amo''s. ta'xas n'its!k'ine k!o'q!une k!o'ukunmi'yet.s at n'ukuke kiki'n e at q!a'pxane: alaqa hakeyıksı'le k. kanmi'yet.s at la.its!kı'lne, a'a'ke' at łao'k!ukik'lkin. ta'xas wune'k't.se' n'upsa'tiyil'o'use', at n'o uk!unqa'nxane: ta'xas wdqa'ane ne lkam uku'ste k. 175 qak/łne ma'e's: "qa'ła ke'e'n katituna'ła?" qak.ła'pse ma'e's: "ne_is qa·na'xe· titun'ske_ił." qak'lne· ma'e's: "qa'psins ksł/ts!ki·ł?" qak.ła'pse ma'e's: "s/l'/ts!k/lne suwa'q!amo's n'esteske'hne: łaqawa'xe:" ne łkamukue'ste k nułpałni te'tine ksaki·l'/t!qaoxaxa'me·s ktsxal'ina'me·s nata'ne·k!s. qake'ine· 180 ne_i łkam·uk^uc'ste·k ktsxałts!c'na·m, ktsxa'ł'cn nata'ne·k!. ta'xas ts!:na'xe: qa:na'xe: n'u'pxane: sakq!anu'kse: sa:usa qa'pse nul'a'qana 's. n'u'pxane sil'its!k'lse kia'kxo s. k!umnaqaqa'pse: qaki'ine: no'h_une ke'e'ns titu'e's. "qa'psin kı'nsil'aqaosa'qa?" qake'ine k!o''q!une qakı'lne: 185 "pec'k!a·ks neqa'ane· kaa·'qa·lt n'a'sne·, ta'xa huscltska'xe·, husya'xane: na'qpo'ku, tsxal'e'iko'l katılna'mu tsxa'altsuut kaa·'qałt. huqua'tal'up¿'lne:.'' qak.la'pse· ne¡s nɛtsta'ha·ls: "hu'ya's a'a'ke laqak'le'n'." qake'ine k!o'q!une: "hutskulmune'ıki·ł." ta'xas n'u'pxane neı netsta'hałke'ste k notsu'kse. 190 qake'ine· k!o·'q!une·: "ta'xas łakiłkułmune'iki-l." ta'xas ła.unakxu'n·e·. ta'xas n'u'pxane· nei nztsta'hałkz'steik yunaqa'pse suwa'q amo 's. ta'xas tsukua'te aa'kınq a'woks. ta'xas q!akpa'kitneinxo'une nei suwa'q!amo. n'u'pxane titu''e's słategkatke'nse: n'uk!łategkatke'nse: ta'xas n'umatsna'ate: 195 tseika'te: klo''qlune: sanmuxuna'kse: suwa'qlamo. qak.la'pse: "ta'xas hantsxal'atmase'ite:" ta'xas no'hune: mitiya'xane sukudq!o'ukune k!u'pxa aa'qa'lt!e's. qak.la'pse "hutsts!maxała'ane nei ya'akił'itiya'mke nata'ne k!. ta'xas nı'n ko słats!-¿nam¿'îne: t¿inamu''ne's.''

(d) THE ANIMALS MAKE THE SUN (CONTINUED)

Ta'xas ts!/na'xe n'tstahałk'ste k. łaxa'xe neis a 'k/k.lu-na'me's. ta'xas qak.la'pse naso'ukue'n: "kanmi'yit h/ntsxal-ts!/na'xe." nao'k!ue ta'xas ktsiłmi'yit, wo'łna'ms ts!/na'xe. ta'xas yu wakme'nuqka'n'e. to'xua n'/sqat.le./'tine. ta'xas tska'nuqka'n'e. ta'xas to'xua n'utimile./'tine. ta'xas 205 to'xua kiyu'kiyit. n'utimile./'tine. ta'xas kiyu'kiyit. ta'xas n'utimile./'tine. n'itk/n/'he n/'le. ta'xas laqa'haq!akwu'm-

220

ne: naq!a'kuwum at naqtsiya'mne: alaqahaq!akuwu'mne:. n'upsat_iyd'esqat!o'k_une at qatsxa'n'e nata'ne k!. ta'xas k!onanu'qkua. ta'xas to'xua łaqa.utimiłe.c'tine. ta'xas kwal-210 kwa'ye't. ta'xas łaqa.ut_imiłe.c't_ine'. ta'xas wune'kc't_ine' kwat!me'nu'qka' wune'ke'tine. ta'xta' ta'xas ktselmi'yet, ta'xas ława'xe nei natsta'hał. qake'ine naso'ukue'n: "salso'ukune nata'ne k!. ta'xas tsxal'ı'n e nata'ne k!s." qakilı'lne nao 'k!ue: "tsalme'yat na'n ko nants!ana'xe. ntsxal'a'n e tsal-215 miyıtna'mu." ta'xas ktsılmi'yit. ta'xas ts!ına'xe nao'k!ue k!o 'q!une na'na. ta'xas yu wakme 'nuqka'n e. ta'xas noq!ukye'tine sukwilo k!ukye'tine; at to'xua n'ohu'lne q!a'pe qa'psin ne tsame yatna'mu. to'xua wule'it at wo kata'lne qa'psin. ta'xas salso'ukune tslme yatna'mu nata'ne k!. ta'xas 220 a'a'ke szltsukuatz'lne: tsxa'l'en nata'nek! tszlmeyitna'mu. Ta'xas kanmi'yet we'ina ms ts!ena'xe ske'n ku ts. selsa ndwiyna'ate nata'ne k!s, o'k!uquna kma'ta ps naso'ukue ns. łaxa'xe qo's yaqa'ka lyu wakme'nuqkua'ske qawasaqa'ane nawtsnułk!o'une nata'ne k!s. ta'xas kiyuwa kmenu'qkua 225 n'upxana'pse nata'ne k!s ne ks/dsa nilwi'yna t. ta'xas luqua l-

sa niłwiynata pse naq!ako ptse itse a'k!e s n'u'pxane pa ł pec'k!a·ks scłaq!aku'pse· a'k!e·'s. ta'xas nełqa·nmc'te· a'k!e·'sts t!awu''e's. ta'xas nutsınqkupe'kı'me'k ne_is ya'qawaxmı'tke' a'kle''sts tlawu''e's. ta'xas naqlalikwa.c'tse'. ta'xas nanuta'p-230 se nejs a'a'kınq!o'ko'ps. n'u'pxane pał pı'k!a'ks sıl'axaanexoʻna'pse· a'kınq!o'koʻps. n'u'pxane· sılqaʻhamanamı'sine· qa'oxal'ıtq!ankıkqa'ane: yu'halhaqaku'pse sı't!e's. ta'xas qa'tałhoko'une qayaqanmete'nq!o'kupxu'se: ta'xas at selaqaqa'ane at qa'talhaqla'likwa'it aa'kama'anam. ta'xas 235 sd'e'n:e nata'ne:k!s k!o:\q!une:nanake'ste:k.

Huszig !a'pqaiq !a'nuxwa'te

55. THE PEOPLE TRY TO KILL YA.UKUE'IKA'M

Ho'ya's a'a'ke hutsxal·atsxamu'n e ya.ukue'ikam yaqal'upił/łke ts k.ła.itq !a·"nxa'm.

Qahak.luna'mne saosaqa'ane ya.ukue'akam ne aa'kkk.luna'me's. n'ok!unilsa hanilwiynata'pse aqlsma'kinck!s. ta'xas n'e'-5 n.e. kuwi'lqa nitsta'hal n'u'pxane. ktsxal'upi'le.l. qalwi'yne.: "ma'atsul'o'unil, ma'atsulsa nilwi'ynat kaakinkk!na"mu, me'ksa'n nei yaksa'han qa'psin pał at ku'si'l'u'pe'l.'' n'onila'pse aqlsma'kinzk!s. qa.upxa'se kaas łaa qakz'n a ps. ta'xas n'upła'pse: xunmıtqla'pse: aa'kınmı'tuks. ta'xas aqlsma'kınık! sukwıl-10 q!u'kune k!u'pi ł ya.ukue' ika ms. ta' xas nuqona' me k q!a' pe : qakile'lne qaspe'l'uk: "hentsxalhanokwi"te aa'kuqlu'pin. hentsxałt!/słe·kxokua'ane:" ta'xas ts!/n'alu'nisna'mne: n'/'n'e'

they were not perspiring any more. When they were perspiring, they swam in the water, and they stopped perspiring. The water was always cool. The Sun did not talk. Then, | when he went down, it was not warm. Then | he went down, and it was not hot. After 210 some time | he went down. Some time passed, and it became dark. | Then the youth came back. The chief said: | "The Sun is good. He shall be the Sun." The other one was told: | "You shall go at night." He was to be | the Moon. Then it was dark. Then the 215 other | young Lynx started. He went up, and | the Moon shone brightly. Almost everything could be seen | by the Moon. They could almost recognize things at a distance. | Then the Moon was good, and | he also was taken. He was to be the Moon. |

Early the next day Coyote started. | He was angry at the Sun, because the chief had rejected him. | He arrived at the place where the Sun rises. He staid there, aiming at the Sun. Then, when he 225 saw the Sun coming up, he was angry. Then (the Sun) | was angry with him, and made his arrow burn. (Coyote) saw that | his arrow was burning. Then he threw away his arrow and his | bow. Then he ran, after he had thrown away | his bow and his arrow. Then the ground began to burn, and | the fire pursued him. He saw that | the 230 fire had almost caught up with him. He saw there was a trail. Then he lay down quickly, and his blanket was burned over, but he could not burn, and the fire went by him. | Therefore the trails do not burn. | Then the two young Lynxes were Sun and Moon. | 235

It is all finished.

55. THE PEOPLE TRY TO KILL YA.UKUE'TKA'M

Now I will talk more about Ya.ukue'ikam, how he | was killed and came to life again.

There was a village, and there was the tent of Ya.ukue'ikam. | At one time the people became angry at him. He was now | a full-grown man, and he knew that he would be killed. He thought: | "Don't let me be afraid. Don't let me be angry at my people, only | at those bad things that I have killed." The people were afraid of him, | and did not know what to do with him. Then they killed him | and threw him into the river. The people were glad | because they had killed 10 Ya.ukue'ika'm. Then they all broke camp. | Crane was told: "You shall drag a young tree. | You shall cover our tracks." Then they started. It was | winter time, and they made tracks on the snow.

A few days after they had broken camp | in winter, Ya.ukue'ika m was down below. The people did not know | that Ya.ukue'ikam's mother 15 had gone | down into the water, and that Ya.ukue'ikam was born there | and had come from the water. Now, when they had thrown Ya.ukue'ikam | into the water in winter, then the fish ate him | because he was dead. Therefore the fish did so. | They are up his body. 20 Ya.ukue'ika m knew at once that the fish | were eating of his feet, and he kicked them. He said: | "Why are you eating me?" The fish said to him: "We are | not angry at you. Why do you kick us? We are restoring you." Then Ya.ukue'ikam knew himself." The fishes said to him: "Go ashore! You shall go. | The people 25 went in that direction. | Don't think that it is a long time since they broke camp. | Crane dragged a young tree along to cover their tracks. They thought you would not know which way they went." | Then Ya.ukue'ika'm went ashore to the village site. He looked at it | and 30 saw which way they had gone. He started. After about | three or four days he saw a village site. He saw that there was | some fire left at the village site. He knew that they had started from there early in the morning. He started and went along. He heard Crane | singing. He reached him, and said to him: "What are you doing | with that young tree?" Crane said: "Several days ago | 35 Ya.uk^ue'_ika·m was killed and was thrown into the water. We are afraid he may | come back to life, and he will go the way we are going and will kill everybody. | I have been told to drag along this young tree, so that, if he should come back to life, | he may not recognize the trail." Then (Ya.uk^ue', ka m) knocked | Crane down. 40 Ya.ukue'ika'm went on, and reached | Crane's wife. Then he knocked her down. He started, and saw | somebody going along. He reached that person, and saw that it was his sister-in-law. | She went along crying. She said: "My brother-in-law Ya.ukue'ika m used to take me along this way. | The people were afraid of him, | and the 45 other day they killed him. Now I am poor. I am hungry, | for the people are not afraid of him. My husband's brother is no more." She carried her child on her back. Her child's name was Duck.² Ya.ukue'ikam poked the child with a stick. The child looked at him | and saw him; and Duck said to his mother: | "Uncle Ya.u- 50 kue'ikam is here." Then the mother of Duck turned around and looked. | There was a tree, and Ya.ukue'ikam had gone behind it | when his sister-in-law looked at him. There was nothing there. The woman thought | her child had told a lie. She struck him. She said to him: "Oh, | don't you know how I feel because my brother-in-law has been killed? | The people make us suffer." | She 55 was crying while she was naming Ya.ukue'ika m; | and Ya.ukue'ika m ² Species unknown. 1 Probably "came to his senses."

wanu'yitna'm'o ne's aa'k!aluku'l'e's. naqsanmi'yit kuqnani'yam qao wsu'qune qo's ya'wo's ya.ukue'ikam. qa.u'pxane 15 aqlsma'kinik! neis pi'k!a'ks mae'se's ya.uk'e'ika'ms ma kts!i'nas ya'wo's wu'o's, ma kqahakilha'qaps ya.ukue'ika'ms qo'sts ma kqake'ika s wu'o s. sd'aqake'n e kxunme'tqo l ya.ukue'ika ms. ta'xas qawisu'qune ya.uk'e'ikam. ta'xas nıkina'pse kia'kxo's o'k!uquna ke'e'n up'na'mo's, sd'aqaqana'ane ne kia'kxo ke'-20 e·k a_a'kułak!¿'se·s. n'u'pxane· ya.uk^ue'_ika·m pał p¿'k!a·ks sła't_iyil'ek_ana'pse· kia'kxo's a_ak.k'k!e's. qanaqk'kx_ane·. qak'lne·: "qa'psin kınsıl'ikina'pki l?" qak.la'pse ne s kia'kxo 's: "huqaa'psi łsa niłwi ynatawa sane: qa psi n kenselqana qłek ana was? hoszłae'tkanawa'sane'.'' ta'xas ła.upxa'me'k ya.uk'e'ika'm. 25 qak.la'pse neis kia'kxo's "ta'xas la u'pan'. hıntsxalts!\na'xe . ne, ganaxa'mne: maats qalwi'ye'n' kwun'ke't kuqnani'yam. nuła'n'e qaspı'l'uk nanukue'ite aa'kuqlu'pins. sılt!!slıkxoka'ane: qałwi'yne: kıntsqa.upxa'me:l yaqanalu'n:isnamı'ske:." ta'xas ya.uk^ue'_ika·m ła.upa'xe· ne_is ko'o·s. ta'xas tse_ika'te·. 30 n'u'pxane yaqanak!alukile'ske ta'xas ts!ena'xe naqanqalsanmi'yıt.s xa'tsas klu'pxa ko'o's. ta'xas n'u'pxane qa'qaanang!oku'pse neis ko'o's. n'u'pxane neis wa'ina ms kiskaiqakxału'n isna'me's. ts!/na'xe qaha na'xe nułpa'łne qasp/'l'uks suwasxuna'kse: łaxa'nxo'une: qakı'lne:: "qa'psins kınu'pskein 35 na_a a_a'kuqlu'pin?'' qake'_ine qaspe'l'uk: "sel'aqsanmi'yet.s n'upili'lne ya.ukue'ika m xunmitquli'l'ne sil'onili'lne, na'pit ła.e·tq!a'n'xa·m tsxała''nxołun'ı'stka; tsxał'o·kutka'ane. huszlqakil'lne kulano'kueit na a'a'kuqlu'pin; na'pit la.itq!a'naxa'm ya.ukue'ikam tsxalqa.u'pxane aa'kamana'me's." q!akpakit-40 xo'une qaspe'l'uks. ts!ena'xe ya.uk''e'ika'm laxaanxo'une tełnamu. e'se's. a'a'ke' q!akpakitxo'une'. ts!ena'xe', n'u'pxane' senaxa me'sine: łaxa'nxo'une: n'u'pxane: pał n'e'nse atsawa'ts!e's. sła'hatiyil'ila'se', qakı'kse': "na'as at ma qa'nilala'pane' kaatsa'wats! ya.ukue'ikam; at ma o'nila'pse aqlsma'kinck!s. 45 na'sosanme'ye'tske k!u'płaps, ta'xas kok!umnaqa'qa, koho'was. k.łaqao·n/łaps aqłsma·'kin/k!s. kanul'a'qana k.ła'ło''s tsa''e's.'' nałxo'use a 'qałt!/se's. ta'xa ne łkam'u qa'k.le'k ne'its!uq!s. ya.uk^ue'_ika·m qunatsa'_axane· ne_is łka'm·u's. tse_ikata'pse·, nupxana'pse: qake'he ma'e's ne'its!uq!: "neis n'e'n'e 50 ya.uk^ue'_ika·m ka'xa." ta'xa ma'e's ne'_its!uq! łuq^uaq!a'nkekelwitske'kine: snets!lae'nse: nantso:xa'xe: ya.uk'e'ika m. ne_is ktse_ika'ta·ps ne_is atsawa'ts!e·s, ło'_une·. qałwi'yne· ne_i pa'łke, ksal'aqana'tsaps xale'e's. qanla'lte. qaka'lne: "a:, qa.u'pxa kaas n'a qa nikitnala'pe s k!upt'le s kaatsawa'ts!mil. 55 ksousałk!o mna 'qałts!akı'ktaksawa'se s aqłsma'kinık!.'' ta' xas łae ła 'na wa'te k ne is ke'at ya ukue' ika ms, a' a 'ke łaqakı'n e neis łka'm'u's ya.ukue'ika'm; a'a'ke łaqaqna'ane nei pa'łkei

qanla'lte xale'e's. qake'ine ya.ukue'ika'm: "qa'psins keno'pske'n łka'm'u? hent!aktsxo'une'." ło`qua'q!ankike'lwitske'kine' 60 ma'e's ne'its!uq! pał tsemak!ke'kse. xałe'e's pał selwa'se. ya.ukue'ikams, pala.itq!anxa'mse. qake'ine nei pa'lkei: "hoso'kuilq!u'kune: ke''nwam. hok!umna'qaqwala'ane: tsa'ane's n'e'lwa iya'mo''s at tsukuale'sine. ka'min tax na huna'mke huła'xe hutsxał'itke'ne kaa'ke't.ła, tsxałtsukuate'łne łaa'k!-65 ła·k a'a'ke atuła. t. liki natt'tine, honu'kwe a'a'ke at łatsukuate'lne: ta'xas tsilmi'yet, ta'xas at lo'une: kaa'ke't.la. k.la'wa·m k!a·"nam at yunaqa'ane· ka'lxoul aku'lak tso'pqa, tsa'ane's at n'o'k!uil'o'use', pal at n'oukuiltsukuale'sine' n'e'lwa tsv'pqa's. ta'xas ato nowas anala'ane tsvimi'y t.s n'u'x te k 70 naso'ukue'n at naqanki'hee ne'its!uq!s. at niktxonemu'n'ee aa'k.la'm''''se's ne'its!uq!s.'' qake'ine ya.ukue'ika.m: "ta'xa łu'n·u. ts!:na'ke·ił h:nłaxa'ke·ił. h:n'e·'tkin aa'k:t.ła''ne·s qalanqa'lwiy tsxaltso'ukuat neis kenilek'nate'tme'l atentsqanła'łte: a'a'ke ne'its!uq!s qao xał'tkt'n e aa'qa'tsko's aa'k.ła-75 m''se's." qak''lne': "naqa'nk.le's naso'ukue'n, qa'k.le's kts/ktxone''mo' aa'k.la'mn/s'mi'l, h/ntsxalqa'oxalqa'luqka'ła'm'/he: '' ta'xas ts!/na'xe ma' atimo ne' its!uq! ts!/na'xe ya.uk^ue'ıka m neis yaqa'nak!alukwe le'ske . n'u'pxane tsa''e s qake'ine: "ken'e'iwa iya'mo?" qake'ine: "pe'k!a'ks hon'ilu-80 wa'n'e'. tsukuate'he'. a'a'ke' hoselaana'xe at qaqalqaqa'ane. hon't'luwa iya'mo at tsukuatt'lne. mi'ka yuna'qa at n'o'kultsukuate'he: ta'xas tselmi'yet.s hulala'xa'm atonowa'sine'ts a'a'ke' katalna'muts kaa'a'qalt. hok!umnaqaqa'ane:" qaka'lne tsa''e's ya.uk^ue'_ika·m: "ta'xa lu'n·u la.e·ts!k¿'le·n' tsɔ'pqa. a'a'ke 85 henłae'ł wa qa'ła qa'łwiy ktszałtso' w kuat hentszałmitiya' zane. hentsqanla'lte: hentsqake'lne: 'maats tsukua'te:n', henqa'lwiy kıntstso'ukuat hutsmıtxanı'sine.'' qake'ine ya.ukue'ikam: "ka'min hutsxalqamı'txane tsv'pqa taxta' kanme'yıt.s hutsxałme'txane'' ta'xas ts!ena'xe' ne_i te'tqa't!. n'upe'lne' 90 tso'pqa''s, nutsa'se: qa'la's qalwi'yse: ktsxaltso'ukua'ts. mitiya'xane qanlaltmu'n e aa'kınq!a'wo ks. qakı'lne: "na'pit henqa'lwiy kentstso'ukuat na koe'luwa huts'uple'sine'. ma kın'upı'lki'l ka'ta't. ta'xas hutsxalsa'nilwiynatıskı'lne'.'' n'ounile'lne neis k!aqa'qana. k.la'xa'm ma'atimo nei'ts!uq! 95 ta'xas nilikinate'tine tsxalyaqa 'nit.la'ake ta'xas kul'e'itki n, ta'xas a'a'ke n'etke'n e łouk!s. qałwi yname's ne ktsxałtsukua't.le's. mateixaka'ane: tu'xua qanlaltimumokua'ane aa'quta'l'e's. (neis pe'k!aks aqlsma'kinek! at n'e'n's'e aquta'l'e's no'ukue ys popo'e s; aa'q la'le s at n'e'nse ktseklets lla.enxo'umo.) 100 n'o nelc'ine, at skilqaqaqana'ane ts k!aqa'qana. sci'a'qal'o nilc'łne: to'xua ktsuwałkwa'yit.s wa'se: nułaqana''e's. naq!awu'se:. nenko'e's suk.le.e't.se' yaqa'net.la'ake'. yunaqa'pse' aa'koxne'-

did the same thing to the child; and the woman did the same again, she struck her child. Then Ya.uk^ue'ika m said: "Why do you | do that to the child? You hurt him." The mother of Duck turned round quickly, | and it was true what her son had said. Ya.ukue'ika m 60 had arrived | and had come back to life. Then the woman said: | "I am glad that you arrived. We are poor. | When your brother kills game, they take it away from him. When I go along | and put up my tent, it is taken away from me; | and when I go to another 65 place and make my tent and finish it, | it is taken away again. Then it is dark and I have no tent. | When the hunters come back and bring much deer meat, | your brother alone has not any, for they take away all | the deer he kills. Then in the evening we are hungry. When the chief defecates, | they call Duck, and he must rub him | 70 with his head." Ya.ukue'ikam said: "Now | go on! When you get there, make your tent, | and if any one wants to take the place that you have arranged, strike him; | and put flint on the head of Duck." | He said to him: "When the chief calls you, and when he 75 tells you | to rub him with your head, then hit him with your head." | Then Duck and his mother started. Ya.ukue'ikam started | and went along where the snow was trodden down. He saw his younger brother. | He said to him: "Don't you kill any game?" He said: "I have killed some, | but it was taken away from me; and 80 I went hunting again, but it is like that always. | If I kill game, it is taken away from me. Even if it is much, it is all taken away from me. | Then in the evening, when I get home, I and my wife and child are hungry. | I am poor." Then Ya.ukue'ikam said to his brother: | "Go on; look for deer! and | if you kill it and some one tries 85 to take it away from you, go after him | and strike him, and say: 'Don't take it. If you try | to take it, I'll shoot you.'" Ya.ukue'ikam said: | "I shall not shoot deer. Later on in the morning | I'll shoot some." Then the man started and killed | a deer. Somebody went 90 up to him and intended to take it. He went after him | and struck him with a stick. He said to him: "If | you try to take what I kill, I'll kill you. | You have killed my elder brother; now I'll get angry with you." | Then they were afraid of what he had done. When Duck and his mother arrived, | she cleaned a place for their 95 tent; and when she had finished, | she got firewood. Then they wanted to take it away from her, | but she went after them and struck them with her ax. | (In former times the people had for their axes | stone hammers and antler wedges, which they used for splitting trees.) | The people were afraid, for she had not done before 100 as she did now; therefore they were afraid of her. | It was almost evening when her husband arrived. He carried meat. | She had a good place for their tent, and much wood. | Then at night the chief

yi'e's. ta'xas ktsdmi'ytt.s n'anaxa''mne naso'ukue'n n'u'xte'k.
naqankt'he ne'its!uq!s. qakt'he: "ne:ts!uq!, ptk!ako105 n'tt!ko':une." n'anaxa''mne ne'its!uq!, qao xai'qaluqkala''mne
aa'k!ala'xtkp!t'se's neis naso'ukue'ns. qak.la'pse: "ma'qa'k,
ma'qa'k' n'upla'pane. qa'psin ltnsaq!a'ne aa'k.la'mnt's'mi'l."
qatstnk!apaltt'le'k ne'its!uq!. qa waxamoxu'n'e nei naso'ukue'n.
pal'si'upla'pse ne'its!uq!s. ta'xas stlqa'lsa l'uptka'ane xa'atimo
110 ne'its!uq!. ma k!upt'li'l qaspt'l'uk tthamo''timo, a'a'ke k!upt'li'l
nei naso'ukue'n. qao xaxa'mne tseikatt'he: sao saqa'ane
ya.ukue'ika'm. n'upxa'he pal'awa'xe tsxanatamna'mne:
qakiya'mne: "pal wa'xe ya.ukue'ika'm, pal'aetq!anxa''mne
pal'si'aqaqana'ane ne'its!uq!ala'kint'k!timo ksaha'nse k." ta'xas
115 a:n'onelt'he ya.ukue'ika'm. ta'xas n't'ne kwt'lqa naso'ukue'ns neis aa'ktk.luna'me's.

Ta'xas husziq!apqaipainemz'ine yaqaqana'ake neis pz'k!a ks ya.uk 'e'ika m.

56. COYOTE AND DOG

(a) COYOTE MISSES THE DEER

Qa'nıt.la'ane skı'n ku'ts, n'ı'nse tılnamu''e s xa'altsin. n'ı'n e wa'nuyetna'mu. xa'altsints a'a'ke' a laqa'lt le's qsama'lne nayaxaq!anu'kune: qa:nqułuk!pku'pse: q!axo'une: neis pt'k!a:ks tso'pqa at nek!a'akine: neis kq!a'xo xa'altsin a'qulu'k!pkups 5 n'aqtsxuna'ktse tso'pqa, palsankla'akine neis klaqtsxuna'kes qakxalanaqu'mla sxu'ne. pa l kw'lko s mitiya'xine xa'altsin łaża'nżo'une: tsznqatkz'n:e: neis tsv'pqa''s. qakz'łne: ałaqa'lt!e:s: "łats!/nyaxa'ke'ł ała kine'k!en/ski'ł. tsxałm/txane'." ła'ats!/nkzsqku'pekz'me'k ne_i łkam'uk^uz'ste'k. nao''k!^ue' qa'k.łe'k mzs-10 qoło''wum, nao''k!ue' qa'k.łe'k q!o'ta'ptse'k!. mzsqoło''wum n''\(\cappa'\)re n''\(\cappa'\)re nau'te. la laxa'xe aa'kıt.la'e's. qakı'lne' tıtu''e's. qake'ine': "ka'ma kınts!na'me'l tsenke'n'e' tso'pqa''s.'' ske'n'ku'ts n'anmuqkupnu'xo'nka'me'k. tszk!kz'n'e' a 'kuqłu'pe'ns, a 'a'ke' n'aszłyaqe'ite' mztsqo'ko-15 k'łna's. łatinaxa''mne: łog!uałke'n'e aa''ko k!uatsenko''e's. qaoxa'xe: yık!taxo'une: q!u'luwa's qaqsa qapta'kse: ki'e'k. n'e'kine: ta'xas n'itke'n e t!awu''e's a'a'ke nai'maq!makaxne'łe k m/tsqokoł/łna 's. ta' xas ts!/na' xe : la xa' xe : saw/tsqatk/nse tełnamu''e s. nalikine'le k. pał kuwe'lko 's neis yaqa 'wets-20 ke'nske tełnamu''e's tso'pqa 's. u's'me ks qa 'kiłt lats la 'nił uku'n'e'. qakı'lıe': "ta'xas pısla:'tıkı'n'en'." ta'xas xa'altsin pæla:teke'n e. qanaketsluxune'le k tso'pqa. me'txane ske'n ku ts. qa'le'n tsuluxo'use'. yuna'kinc'lne'. ta'xas naoko'qapka'a-

1 Or xa'altsin a'a'ke', also without -ts a'a'ke'.

went out. | He called Duck and said to him: "Duck, || I am cold." Duck went out and hit | the chief with his head. He said: "Stop, | stop! It hurts me. Something must be on your head." | Duck did not mind it. Then the chief fell down. | Duck had killed him. Thus three were killed by Duck and his uncle || —Crane and his wife were killed, | and the chief was killed. They went there and looked, and there was | Ya.ukue'ikam. They knew he had arrived. They talked to one another, | and they said to one another: "Ya.ukue'ikam has arrived. He has come back to life. | That is the reason why Duck and his parents have done so, for they were angry." Then || they were more afraid of Ya.ukue'ikam. He was a great chief | in the town. |

Now I have finished telling what | Ya.ukue'ika'm did long ago. |

56. COYOTE AND DOG

(a) COYOTE MISSES THE DEER

Coyote lived in a tent. His wife was Dog. It was | winter time. Dog and her children with her went out | for fuel. There was a stump. She chopped it down. For a long time | a deer used to have a hole there in the stump that Dog chopped down. | The deer was hit when it fell. There was its hole. It was broken. The deer jumped out quickly. There was snow on the ground, and Dog followed the deer. | She caught up with it and caught it by the tail. She said to her children: | "Go and get your parent. He shall shoot it." The two children started to run. One was named Misqolo'wum; the other one was named Q!ota'ptsek!. Misqolo'wum | was a boy; Q!ota'ptsek! was a girl. They arrived | at their tent and spoke to their father. They said: "Mother says you should come | and take the deer." Coyote ran out quickly. He split a little tree 1 and he broke in two a bush.² | He went in again and pulled off quickly his hair band. He went there. He spilled rose hips, which were all the food that they had. | He ate them. Then he made a bow, and he quickly made two arrows | out of the bush.² Then he started. He got there, and his wife stood there | holding the tail. He had snowshoes on his feet. There was much snow where | his wife was holding the deer. First he tramped down the snow in front of her, and | said to her: "Now let go!" Then Dog | let go of the deer. The deer was running in the deep snow. Coyote shot. | Just then (the deer) broke through the snow and fell. The arrow went over

¹ Species unknown. ² Species unknown; a bush with white berries that are not edible.

30

ne: a'a'ke łamı'txane: qa'le:n yu haqama wısqa'pse n'o ne łna-25 kını'lne: ta'xas lalıtka'ane skı'n ku ts. ta'xas tsu'pqa ts!ına'xe: ta'xas skı'n ku ts sılyu'k!ku aka'te: qa qawısqa'ane xa'altsin. nunuq!u'ı'le:k. skı'n ku ts luq!ualkı'n e t!a'wumka''-es. qanaqku'plaltmu'n e aa'k.la kwu'ut!es neıs tsu'pqa's. t!a'wumka''es lae'tu k!ua'tsınk!une mu'n e. nutsınqkupekı'-30 me k neıs yaaqana'ske tsu'pqaas. pal k.lalı'tuwout qa'psins a'qana.

Qakı'lne: xa'altsins: "nı'ntsxa'l'u'psinama'lne'n' ikamnı''nte'k." qa'psin tsxa'l'o'ts tılnamu''e's alaqa'lt!e's. pal
ko'k.louk xa'altsints aa'qa'lt!e's. n'ı'nse: aa'quta'l'e's nao''35 k!ue''s n'ı'nse: popo''e's sılq!axomu'n'e. neis lo'uk!us. qa'qakqa'pse: lats!!na'xe: aa'kıt.la'e's. k.lala'xa'm tseika'te: ki'e'k
la:lo'use: q!u'luwa's. qakı'lne: alaqa'lt!e's: "qa'psins ksila'lukoukına'la." qak.la'pse:: "nula'n'e: alka'kinık!na'la." ta'xas nuquna'me'k. nuwa'sine: pal k!unuq!uwu'le'k. kiyuk!ka'aka't
40 tsu'pqa''s neists a'a'ke: k!okxa'le''s q!u'luwa's. ta'xas sıl'itqawumxo'ume'k.

(b) coyote roasts shrews

Ta'xas ts!:nałon:'sine: nałxo'une: aa'qułuma''e's. q!uta'p-tse'k! yukukxo'ułne: ta'xas ts!:na'xe neis yaqa'na'q!małk-ma'łske sk:'n:ku'tsts tsu'pqa''s. qa:na'xe sk:'n:ku'ts. ta'xas 45 n'anike'ise. aa'k!aqa'yt!e's. tseika'te: n'u'pxane: pał yuna-qa'pse ts:nlana'na''s, pał słaqaqa'pse k!an:'ke''s aa'k!aqa'yt!e's. pałts yunaqa'pse neis łaqa'nałikin:'le'k, a'a'ke layunaqa'pse: lat!a-xo'une: ta'xas w:lkanmoxona'kse qa'nqu'luk!pku'pse: s:n-50 m:'te: naqtsxouna'kse: n':'lkine: ta'xas luk!mo'une: qa'n moxuna'kse a'a'ke qao xa''nte: ta'xas n':'kine:

Qa'nalon'sine xa'altsin tinoxa'xe skeik!a'nqalu'se qake'ine q!uta'ptsek! o'k!uquna kalxo'unaps ma'es sl'aqalsu'kuil'u'pxane qake'lne ta't!es: "qo's nenq!okupxane'kse tetu''-55 es." (O', palutsik!malenke'n'e me'ka q!uta'ptsek! n'e'sinil'omosa'xe; mesqulo'uwo'm n'e'sinilhalxona'pse ma''es.) qake'lne tsu''es: "qo's nenq!okupxane'kse a'lka'kine'k!nala''es." qa'na'xe xa'altsin qalwi'yne nei lka'm'u ke'ens neis ka'no'ts tetu''es tse'pqa's pal kano'ho's neis aq!ulu'k!pkups slaqake'ine nei qalwi'yne skumale'ets. ta'xas n'aqat!o'xa'xe ta'xas sukudq!anke'ine nei lkam'ukue'ste'k ta'xas k!aqat!o'xam qanawetske'kine xa'altsin n'u'pxane pal tsema'k!ke'kse alaqa'lt!es. pal nakumale.e't.se ta'xas to'xua laxa'xe sukull-q!u'kune xa'altsin pal ko'wa's ma k.la'lo'us ki'e'k laqatsxa'se 65 alaqa'lt!es. k.la'xam latseika'te pal n'u'pxane pal qa.e'nse

it. Then he had one more arrow, | and he shot again. Just then (the deer) stood right on the snow, and the arrow went under it. || Coyote had no more arrows. Then the deer | left, and it escaped from Coyote. There stood | Dog. She was hungry. Coyote pulled off the bowstring. | He struck the deer with his bow stave. | He again used the bowstring as his hair band. Then the deer ran along. || He was without a bow with which to do | anything. |

He said to Dog: "Take the children along." | What should his wife and his children go to get? | Dog and her children were tired. She had an ax || and a hammer, with which she chopped the wood. | 35 It was left there. She went back to her house. When she came back, she looked for food, | and there were no more rose hips. She said to her children: "How does it happen that all our food is gone?" | She was told: "Our parent did it." Then | they moved camp. They were hungry because they had nothing to eat, the deer having been saved || and the rose hips also having been eaten. Then 40 they had | nothing to eat. |

(b) COYOTE ROASTS SHREWS

They started, going away. She carried her parflèche. Q!ota'-ptsek! | was on top of it. Then Coyote started, and | went the way in which the deer tracks went. Coyote went along. Then || his snow-45 shoes were heavy. He looked, and saw that there were many | shrews. Therefore his snowshoes were heavy. | He took a stick. He shook his snowshoes. There were a great many. | When he went on on his snowshoes, there were many more, and he shook them again. | There was a great pile. There was a stump. He threw it down, and || it broke. He started a fire. Then he roasted the shrews. 50 There was a pile of them, | and he added more to them. Then he ate. |

Dog was going along. She walked through soft snow. | Q!ota'ptsek! said, because her mother carried her she could see well, | she said to her elder brother: "There our father is eating near a fire." || (I 55 made a mistake. It was Q!ota'ptsek! who | was going along, and it was Misqolo'wum who was being carried by his mother.) He said | to his sister: "Our parent is eating by the fire." | Dog was going along. The child thought it was | the deer that his father pursued, for the stump looked red. Therefore he said so. || He thought 60 the ground was bloody. They went near. | The two children talked, being happy. When they came near, | Dog looked that way. She saw that her children had told the truth. | The ground was bloody. Now they were almost there. | Dog was glad, for she was hungry. She had nothing to eat. || The children did not say any more. When 65 they arrived, she looked again, and she saw that it was not | meat

aa'ku'ła ks neis ma kqa'łwi y kstkuma'ł o s, pał n't'nse a 'q lułu'k lpko ps. n'e tuwtsqa'ane tu'xua nała'ane o 'k luquna ko 'wa s słaqaqa'pse n'u'pxane pał neis stamuxona'kse ka'łta ts. tseikata'pse skt'n ku ts. ta'xas at łats lałama'ame k skt'n ku ts. 70 qak. la'pse : "a: qa'psin kt la'a tstawt'sqa pt'k la ks xma ha net pt sxo'une lka'm u kt lt'kama ł talaqa'ake tsxal't'nse nt lkuma'lne s łkamnt''nte kts na ka'mi n." tsukua'te neis ka'lxo xa'altsin qo's qa'o xal'unmt'te tsukua'te neis klomowt'sa s, alaxo'une qakt'lne : "lao kq la'le lqasl'o q lui 'yam ma koho '- was."

Ta'xas ts!na'xe qaqa kqa'panaxwa'te k. k!e''la mısqulo'u-wo'm. ta'xas sılmatı'lne tıtu'tımo mısqulo'uwo'm. ts!ına'-xe ma'atımo q!uta'ptse k!. pal ki'e'n nıtsta halna'na mısqulo'uwo'm, sla qa qa'pse kamatı'ktsi l skı'n ku'ts xale'e's.

80 q!ota'ptse k! pal ki'e'n na utena'na s, sla qa qa'pse tsukua'-ta ps ma''e's ta'xas qatal aqa e la'n'e mısqulo'uwo'm. n'u'p-xane ksılma 'ta ps ma''e's. tsukua'te xale'e's skı'n ku'ts. qakı'lne: "ta'xas maats lae''lan'. ne'ına'm' naqa'sına'm' ma''ne's nı''nlo us k!alasxa'ma'l tsxalatska'xe." pal ke'ılous ki'e'ksts k!aqa'ke. qa'psins xma se'l'alasxa'ma'ls. ta'xas n'ıkma'lne xale'e's neıs ka'lta'ts. ta'xas koul'ı'kıma'l. nala-xo'une. ts!na'xe., qa'na'xe.

(c) COYOTE AND THE BEAVERS

Sakılaqa'pse sı'n'a's. pısxo'une xa'le'e's. qakı'lne: "hutsxalupkaanqu'lne ts kul'ckina 'la." ta'xas n'um¿ts-90 kt'n'e aa'ktt.la.t'se's neis st'n'a's a'a'ke aa'q!ankttsqa.-'se's. ta'xas łaktu'kse'. ta'xas n'umtski'n'e aa'qok!am''se's. n'upkaqk''n'e' mo''q lune''s. a'a'ke' la.upkaqk'n·e· mo''q!une·'s. t!apts!axa'ktse· xale'e·s. suk!uatsk!ak!u'se: n'u'pxane st'n a pal tsxalk!umna'nta'pse no'hune 95 pał n'e'nse ske'n kuts. qakiła'mne: "tsxal'o'uktawa's ine hoł'u'psiyała'e's." ta'xas se'n'a n'upkaqke'n'i'ł at nałnuku'xune: ta'xas sukuilq!u'kune: ski'n:ku:ts. ta'xas yunaqa'pse· k!upka'anqo·ł sı'n·a·'s. ta'xas qa'qaskı'n·e·. ta'xas n'tskt'ine io k!us. ta'xas n'tiqana'xe. n'u'pxane st'n a 100 k!dqa'na's ska'n'ku'ts'. qakila'mne': "ta'xas hula'xunaxa'ła wu'o'.'' ta'xas q!a'pe sı'n'a łaxo'n'aqanmıtqu'le'k. pał kqa'e'p tsen pał ksi'ł'aqa'qa'ps neis wa''nmo''s. mesquło'uwo'm aa'kok!ua'tsk!ak!o''we's a'a'ke łaxunmitqu'kse. łaganawa'ts!se aa'gok!am'e'se's. nanukueta'pse mesqoło'u-105 worm. ts:qa'nanukuita'pse: sa'qxa'lya'n'qo'k!ame'ise: la'asqanawa'ts!se: naqankı'ine: tıtu''e's. nuipa'ine: xale''e's ske'n ku ts: qake'kse: "kate:'tu, kate:'tu." layik!ts!na'm·ok!amini'le·k.'' n'u'pxane ska'n·ku ts alqa'ha·ks qaakilawhat she thought was bloody, but it was a stump. | She stopped and almost fainted from hunger. It was so because she was hungry. | She saw that it was a pile of shrews. | Coyote looked at her. Then Coyote rubbed [it on] his hair. | She was told: "Why are you standing 70 about there? You ought to have put down | the child. Eat with them those that are spread out there. They will be | for you and the children. This will be mine." Dog took what she carried | and threw it down. She took it walking about. | She put it on her back. She said to him: "There is another disappointment. I was | hungry." | 75

Then she started. She left Misqoło'wum crying. | Then father and son, Misqoło'wum, were left behind. | Q!ota'ptsek! and his mother left him. Misqoło'wum was a boy, | therefore he was given to Coyote. || Q!ota'ptsek! was a girl, therefore | she was taken by her mother. Then Misqoło'wum could not help crying. | He knew that he was left by his mother. Coyote took his son | and said to him "Don't cry! As your mother is going along there, | if she does not find anything to eat, she will come back." She had nothing || to eat, 85 therefore he said so. What should she have to eat? Then | he and his son ate shrews. They finished eating together. He put the boy on his back | and started. He went along. |

(c) COYOTE AND THE BEAVERS

There were some Beavers. He put down his son. He said to him: "I'll take them out of the water, and we shall eat them." Then he broke | the dens of the Beavers and the beaver dams. | Then there 90 was no more water. He broke open the dens | and took a young Beaver out of the water. He took another | young Beaver out of the water. He tied them on his child as ear ornaments. | Beaver saw him. He was going to get the best of him. He knew | it was Coyote. 95 They said to one another: "He will kill us all. | Let us pretend to be dead." When the Beavers were taken out of the water, they bled from the mouth. | Then Coyote was glad. He had taken | many Beavers out of the water. Then he stopped. | He looked for fuel. Then he went away. The Beavers saw || Coyote going away, and they 100 told one another: "Let us go back | into the water!" Then all the Beavers went into the water. All jumped back quickly into the water. | They were not dead. It only looked like blood. | Misqolo'wum's ear ornaments also went into the water. | They dived into their holes. They dragged Misqolo'wum in. || They dragged him in. 105 There were two holes, one on each side, and one dived into each. Then he called his father. Coyote heard his son | saying: "Father, father!" There was a turn | in the tunnel (into which they had gone). Coyote knew from far away that his | son was calling him. He ran

qank.la'pse xale'es. la.utsinqkupek'mek. laqao xa'xe. 110 lo'use xale'es. nulpa'lne neis ya'wo's qak.ldq!anlo'u'kse. qao xa'xe sl'a'kak'suwts a'q!ase. nakunk'n e la'akak'n e. q!akpakitksxo'une neis mo'q!une's. tseika'te neis kiyuna'qa'ps qa'qa'hake'lhakoma'le.'t.se pal sl'a'sktklk'n e. mo'q!une'na'nakta'ke's.

115 Ta'xas n'¿to'kuwe'yiki'n'e'. ta'xas nank!amu'kupkinmu'n'e'. ta'xas ku'kups. ta'xas n'a'qtsqane'si'kse'. tsɛn aq!u'ta'łs sɛlqao xantɛ'ktse' xale'e's., o'k!uquna ktspo'q!u-xune''s. nɛnko'e's skɛ'n'ku'ts tsɛn aku'la'ks tsxalsɛl'-e'kine'. ta'xas n'ɛ'kine'. latseika'te' xale''e's. n'uno'quwixa-120 na'pse' tsɛn aq!u'ta'ls pal ksɛ'l'e'ks. qakɛ'lne' xale''e's: "ho'yas lemɛ'k!e'st." qao x'ua'ntɛ'ktse' neis aku'la'ks. latsu-kua'te'. n'ɛ'kine'. n'ila'xane' xale''e's. ku'l'i'k. la'ts!ɛna'-lonɛ'sine' skɛ'n'ku'ts xale.ɛ'timu.

(d) death of coyote's son

na· takxaxo'une· skı'n·ku·ts. pa·'me·k wıl- $Qa \cdot na'xe$: 125 ninmoxu'n e ktsınxo'ume k. tse ka'te xale'e s. n'uma'tse. qałwi'yne: "a:, kułsuk.likpa'kit ka'nxa'le: hula'q!ama'lha:m/lu'qkuat/le'k." qa:kilha:milu'qkuat/le'k. ta'xas laqa'welkikg!u'se xale'e's. tsen'a 'witslelnukuna'se. qalwi'yne ta'xas łaqao xa'xe: qałwi'yne ktsłaała'xo: qunya'xane 130 pał n'e'nse up'na'm'o's, pał schot!anc'nmitqa'pse. n'ila'n'e qa'akil'ila'n'e qake'ine: "a:, ta'xas qala ma'qa·ł·a′łousk k!utsxo′unaps ma qaʻłqa´so´kuʻlq!o·k.'' ta′xas tsxak/lmat.lit/le·k, pał ks/l'e·ps xale'e·s. qake'ine: "a: na's at k.lqa'qana aqlsma'kine'k! nı'n'e'ps aa'knık!namo''e's 135 at tsxalse: lqasa·no'xo'nxona'pse· o'p'namo''e's.'' ko'lmat.lite'łe·k ske'n·ku·ts, ta'xas ts!ena'xe·. ta'xas ts!ena'kɨne·. łało'use· kk!utsxo'unaps.

(e) COYOTE TRIES TO STEAL THE SUN

Qa'na'xe'. łaxa'xe' sa'k.łunam'sine'. trnaxa''mne' qanit.fanam'sine'. n'rsakenu'ne'. n'u'pxane' pa'lkeis sla'tiyil'
140 a'ntaqanaqana'kse'. n'u'pxane' łka'm'u's sanaqna'kse' wrlwr'mse'. qalwi'yne' skr'n'ku'ts: "pal srlso'ukse' ma''e's,
ksłsa'han qo łka'm'u." qake'ine' nei łka'm'u: "ka'ma,
qalwi'yne' na nöpr'k!a: 'kse'ilsouks ma''e's, na łka'm'u
ksrlsa'han.'" qalwi'yne': "a: ksrlsa'han nei łka'm'u. k!up
145 xalwi'ytap." qake'ine' nei łka'm'u: "ka'ma, qalwi'yne'
na nöpr'k!a: 'a: ksrlsa'han na łka'm'uts k!upxalwi'ytap.'"
qalwi'yne' skr'n'ku'ts: "a: hutskilpaq!ame'woma'ke'." qake'ine' nei łka'm'u: "qalwi'yne' na nöpr'k!a: 'a: ksrlsa'han, huts-

quickly. He got there. || His son had disappeared. He heard him 110 making noise in the water. | He went there. His legs stuck out. He pulled at them, and took him out. | Then he knocked down the young Beavers. He looked for | the many Beavers, but only the bloody ground was left. | The two young Beavers were all he got. ||

He made a hole in the ground. Then he made a fire and put the 115 meat into it. | When it was cooked, he took it out. | He put the fat there for his son because it was soft. | He himself, Coyote, was going to eat the meat. | Then they ate. He looked again at his son, and he wished to eat || what his son was eating, who was eating 120 fat. He said to his son: | "Let us change!" He put the meat there and took back (the fat). | Then he ate. He made his son cry. After they had eaten, | Coyote and his son moved camp. |

(d) death of coyote's son

He went along. Coyote slipped and fell. || He slid down a long 125 distance until something stopped him. He looked at his son. He laughed at him. | (Coyote) thought: "Let me make my son glad. I'll | slide down on the snow for a little while." Then he slid down. | His son did not laugh aloud. He just smiled. Then (Coyote) thought | he would go back. He thought he would put him again on his back. He touched him || and he saw him. He was frozen to 130 death. | He cried all the time. He said: "There is | nothing that should prevent him from being glad (?)" Then | he threw his things away because his son was dead. He said: "Ah! | This is what people shall do when their relatives die. || Then the dead will not be put 135 into bad condition." After | Coyote had thrown his things away, he started. He went fast. There was nothing | to keep him back. |

(e) COYOTE TRIES TO STEAL THE SUN

He went along, and he came to a town. He entered a tent there. | He sat down. He saw a woman sitting || with her back toward 140 the fire. He saw a child sitting there | which had a big belly. Coyote thought: "The mother is good, | but the child is bad." The child said: "Mother, | this manitou thinks his mother is good, but her child | is bad." He thought: "The child is bad; || it knows my mind." 145 The child said: "Mother, | the manitou thinks this child is bad; it knows my mind." | Coyote thought: "I'll burst his belly by kicking him." | The child said: "The manitou thinks he is bad. | I will

BOAS]

kiłpaq!ame woma'ke:''' qatsxa'n e nei pa'łkei. n'u'pxane 150 ske'n kuts: k!esine't.ła's naso'ukue'ns. łaa'ak!ła'k na ła'a qant.lana'mne, qawtt.lana'mne. tkaxa''mne pa'lke, ne,s yaqa'wesaqa'ake ske'n ku ts. tse ka'te ske'n ku ts n'e'nse tehamu''e's. qak.la'pse: "kaas kın'a 'qal ati'ke l lka'm u ksıl'a qalati'ke. n'c'n'e papa'ne's. kaas ke'e'n ika'm'u ma kingsa'ma'i." 155 ske'n·ku·ts qa·wa\xamitinaxawa'te·k. n'ela'n·e·. qake'ine·: "nut!a no nome tqapamona pine ne qak. la pse ne istoliamu es: "na a qa't la k husınt.la'ane. hults lınaxa'la." ta'xas sılqaqa'pse ne_is ma yaqakt'ike xale'e s ne_is ki 'e ps: "ma kqa'ki i'e'na m ma"ne's ne"nłous k!ałasxa'ma'ł tsxal'ats!kax'e'." ta'xas sel'o'use' 160 k!ałasxa'ma ł xa'altsin szłałoqualqa'atse. skz'n ku ts ta'xas ła $ts_uk^ua'te$: ta'xas t_i naxa''mne xa'altsıns a_a 'kıt.laı'se s. ta'xas n''kine. qak.la'pse tahamu''e's: "sakxa'xe kala'qani l. wałkuwa'yi't tsxał awa'xe'. maats hentstinaxa''mne'. ta'xta' kanmi'yit a'a'ke łaqanı'kit. ta'xas hıntstinaxa''mne. 165 ts/mi'yet hantina'xa'm hantsqatseikata'he: at qaqa'ane at qaqana'ane na naso'ukuen. n'i'ne nata''nik!." ta'xas tslimi'yit. ława'xe kała'qani ł. ta'xas q!a'pe qao xaxa''mne ne s naso'_uk^ue'n a_a'ktt.la'e's. n'tt!qao xalxo'_ulne tso'pqa. ta'xas tsxana''mne: ta'xas k.lanmu'ko:laa'ku'la:k. ta'xas q!a'pe: te'tqa:t! 170 quna'xe neis a 'kit. lana'me's. ta'xas nanmoku'lne. lkamn''nte'k q!a'pe' quna'xe'. n'öpkawi's/łku'łne' neis kanmuku'łe''s. ta'xas skı'n ku ts a'a'ke quna'xe ta'xas sılma't e ke'itsxa's tahamu''e's. ta'xas qsama'he'lkamna'nta'ke's k!opka'lko'ls. qo's a'pko·k!us qawaxamı'te sı't!e's. ta'xas k!opka wısı'lko·l tsu-175 kualı'sine sı't le's. laqawa'xamıt.lı'sine qo's aa'k lala'xawu'e t.s. łatina'łkouł ske'n kurts n'u'pxaner set!e'sers. łka'm o's neis aa'k!ala'xawu'e ts pa'me k at qa'o xalyik!taku'lne, a'a'ke at qa'o xal'upq lumalık xo'ume k. ta'xas ku'ko aa'ku'la k, ta'xas n'i k'îhe. ta'xas pal tsxalo k'uilqahis'îhe. sk'n ku ts. neis 180 yaqa'hanqame'ike at qanalhisa'mname'sine at manq!ale'ine at qakile'lne: "hinqa.este'lne: neiste'lne: en lu'n'u." hanqame'ke: łaa'k!ła ks at n'atska łke'n e. at qakile'lne: "hinqa iste'lne, ne₁ste'łne: en łka'm:u.'' ta'xas pał sł:ało'_use: a_a'ku'ła:ks pał sło 'k !uiłqahis/lne'. ta'xas łaanaxa'mna'mne yunaqan-185 qa'ane kuwise'n a. ske'n ku ts nuk! "ilo'use kuwese'n es o'k! "quna ts qahis/he: ta'xas q!a'pe la.anaxa'mna'mne: qake'ine ske'n ku ts: "ts!kake'nki ł ka'si t! e's ma kwe'ski łqao xa'ke n." qałwi'yne a'pko k!us ksa'kqa ps sz't le s sł'aqake' ine . qakilz'lne : "is łu'n o's skikqa'ane:." tseika'te skt'n ku'ts neis aa'k!ałaxa-190 wu'e't.s skikqa'pse' si't le's. skikq luma'lse', skikqoquts lala'ise'. łatsukua'te, łaanaxa''mne. łat naxa''mne a 'ket. ła e'se's tełnamu"e's. qak.ła'pse": "ki'n'e'k ? kın'wı'lwo'm ?" qake'ine skı'n'ku ts: "a: waha'. hoquahisi'he, husiyanxu'n e." numatsinata'p-

burst his belly by kicking him." The woman did not speak. Coyote knew | that it was the tent of a chief. There was another | tent, 150 which was not large. A woman came in | where Coyote was. Coyote looked, and it was his wife. | She said to him: "Why did you say what the child said? This is your grandson. Where is the child that went with you?" || Coyote fell down crying. He said: | "He 155 froze to death." His wife said: | "My tent is near by. Let us start." Then it was | as he had told his dead son. He told him: "Your mother is going; | but if she has no one to share with her what she eats, she will turn back." Then Dog had no one | to share with 160 her what she ate. Then she turned back. Then Coyote took her back. | He entered Dog's tent. Then | she ate. His wife said to him: "They have | started deer driving." In the evening they will come back. Don't go in. | In the morning they will do it again. Then you may go in. | If you go in in the evening, they will not look at 165 you. | The chief always does that way. He is the Sun." | At night the deer drivers came back. Then all went to the chief's tent. They piled up the deer. | Then they talked, and they boiled the meat. All the men | went to the tent. Then (the meat) was being boiled. | 170 All the children went there, carrying water where the meat was being boiled. | Coyote always went there. He disobeyed his wife. | He went with the children who were bringing water. | There at the head of the tent he threw down his blanket. They brought in water. His blanket was taken and was thrown back to the door. | When 175 Coyote took water into the tent, he saw his blanket. The child | near the door always spilled water on it | and cleaned his feet on it. When the meat was done, it was eaten, but nothing was given to Coyote. | They were passing the food by the place 180 where he was sitting. He stretched his hand out, | but he was told: "It is not for you; it is for the next one." | Another one who was sitting there took it. He was told: "It is not for you; | it is for him, for that child." Then all the meat was gone, and he did not receive anything to eat. Then all went out, and there was much | food left over. Coyote had nothing left over, because | he 185 was not given anything. Then all went out. Coyote said: | "Give me my blanket; I put it there." | He thought that his blanket was lying at the head of the tent; therefore he said so. He was told: "It lies over there." Coyote looked, and there was | his blanket lying 190 at the door. It was dirty and wet. | Then he took it and went out. He went into the tent of his wife. | He was told: "Did you eat? Are you satisted?" Coyote said: | "Oh, no! I was not given anything.

[BULL, 59

se telnamu"e's. qak.la'pse: "ma kinqa'qa'lqa'qa ne pe'k!a'k, 195 at ma ke n'upsla t_i yilmat ko 'utsxa. ma hoqaqle's ne: 'ma ts kintstna'xa.' at qahise'her te'tqart! ne'nwam na's aa'kik.luna'me''s. ta'xta kanmi''yit a'a'ke laqanc'ke ta'xa at tinata'xas at na'lq!a'lhowu'mne: swakalkin'lne aa'ku'la'k kutsxal''c'kina'la. huskilhanmu'kune: is kikqa'ane 200 ta'xas e'ke'n'." ta'xas ske'n ku'ts tsxa'kil'e'kine: ta'xas nowu'm'ne: ta'xas q!u'mne''ne: wc'lna'ms naq!amale'itsne ske'n ku ts. nułpalite't ine a 'k. luk. le'et. s. qakiyame's ine: "hú, hú, hú." qake'ine sk'n ku ts neis kułpałn' te t k!a qakya'm·e·s, qake'ine: "hú, hú, hú. kuł'e'lwa k.le'a·s wa'ma·t! 205 k.łake'se łnoho'sk!umk.łuwest!a'łama łqałte'łe k k.ła'wła." nułpałne'he ske'n ku ts ne s k la qa'ke n'eshkpayaxawa tine kte'tine: "parkk!ane'ke neis ke'as wa'mart! a'a'ke neis kwist!a'la k.ła'wła. tsxałqa.ik't luwo pał at qaha'q lawo ktsamna'mne qo ta'xa hak.luna'mke'.'' ta'xas ts!:naxa'mne'. aa''ke' sk:/n'ku'ts 210 ts!/na'xe'. qanaxa'mne'. n'/sakemu'n'e' naso'ukue'n. ta'xas neis ya qaha 'nqame''ke naso'ukuen. ilna'hak qake'ikala 'qawu'mne: łaxa'xe sk'n ku ts. qayaqana'xe qo's yaqanaqanaki'ske naso'ukuen u's'me ks. qa'o xal'isakenu'n e qalwiyna'mne· ks/lsana'qana sk/n·ku·ts. ts/n ya·kqasts!emqa'qa at 215 kl'sini·l'us'mo·ka·nqa'me·k. kla qa'qana ski'n·ku·ts. ta'xas q!a'pe k.łaxa'xam. qake'ine nata'n:k!: "ta'xas łu'n u ts!:na'ke'ł ne_i wa'kaq!yułe.c'tke' ya'kınts!dk!aku'k^ui'ł hıntsxal'ınkı'lne:." n'ilikte'lne ske'n kurts. o'k !uquna ne is k !aqa'kana sel'aqakiya'mne: ta'xas n'owo'kune: naso'ukue'n. ta'xas skı'n'ku'ts 220 a'a'ke· n'owo'kune·. ta'xas ts!:\text{na'xe· naso'}_ukue·n. ta'xas tsu'k_une'. nałkı'n'e' aa'kıno qua'akops. qao xanq!o'kupq!o'une: tseikate'he: ske'n:ku:ts. ło'use: aa'keno qua'ako:ps. k·a'łkın. qałwiyna'mne tsxalqaqal'o'k!ue nata'nık! ktsxaltsu'ko: ta'xas ske'n ku ts qao xake'n e ma'aka s la'n'e s, 225 a 'kınqowa. ı'se's ma'aka''s. nutsinqkupekı'me'k. tse ikatı'lne' neis ya'qa'naq!male'ike qanaq!ma'k.linq!oku'pse nula'se ne_is ma'_aka''s. ta'xas qakilaq!maxoka'_ane sk'ın ku'ts. tse_ikate'he naso'ukuen nata'nek! taxta' na's qasna'xe per'k!a ks skr'n ku ts, qo us ndqana'xe ta'xas ts!ma'xe 230 kała'qani'ł qanaxa''mne: n'upxa'łne: ske'n ku ts:, pe'k!a ks neis pał szława'xe. pał słakamınga'atse. n'öpski łqa. dqana'xe. ne_i naso'_uk^ue'n. skı'n'ku'ts łao'\k!qana'xe'. ta'xas mıtxa'lne· tsv'pqa neis yaqa'nalhanq!oku'pske o'qouks. qana'xe ske'nku ts. n'u'pxane wa'ma t!s n'a's e . xa'tsınl'ılwa'n e . qa na'xe 235 a'a'ke n'u'pxane west!a'lama'lqa'lte'kse k.la'wla's, a'a'ke n'u'kte: ta'xas k.lats!/naxa'mne: n'u'pxane sk/n ku ts at na 's łaqoquaha'nłukpqa'pse' te'tqa't!s. at ło'use' qa'psi'ns. sanmo'l-

I am starving." His wife laughed at him. | She said to him: "You are always like that. | You always disobey me. I told you not | to go 195 in. A man who comes to this town is not given anything to eat. | At a later time, another day, when they do so again, then he may go in. Then he is given enough to eat. Meat has been brought in | for us to eat. I have boiled it. It is there. | Eat." Then Coyote began to 200 eat. Then | he was satisfied and slept. Early Coyote awoke. | He heard a noise. People were saying: "Hu, hu, | hu!" Coyote said when he heard it (the same as) what they said. | He said: "Hu, hu, hu! let me kill two bucks | and red (?) an old grizzly bear with seven young 205 ones." | They heard what Coyote was saying. It was frightful | what he said. "Two bucks and seven | grizzly bears are too heavy. Those will be nine. The people of that town don't carry meat for one another." | Then they started, and Coyote | started, too. They were 210 going along. The chief sat down. Then | behind where the chief was sitting a row of men started. | Coyote got there. He went past the place where | the chief was sitting. Farther ahead he sat down. The people thought: | "Coyote is doing wrong. Only those who are skillful || may sit at the head. Why does Coyote do so?" | Then they all ar- 215 rived. Sun said: "Go on | to the end of this mountain. Those who go quickly shall do it." | Coyote was meant. Because he had done so, therefore they said it. | Then the chief arose, and Coyote also arose. Then the chief started. | He started a fire. He carried pitch- 220 wood and he started a fire. They looked at Coyote. He did not carry pitchwood. | They thought Sun would be the only one who would light a fire. | Then Coyote put flicker feathers on his moccasins. | Heran. They looked at him; | and wherever he stepped, a fire started. | 225 The flicker did so. Then Coyote scared them. | Then they looked at Chief Sun. He had not gone far | before Coyote was way over there. Then the deer drivers started | and went along. Coyote was seen 230 coming back already. | He went around in a circle. | The chief had not gone far when Coyote went the same way again. Then a deer was shot | where the fire was, in the circle of fire. Coyote went along, | and saw two bucks. He killed both of them. He went along, | and he 235 saw seven grizzly bears—an old one and young ones. He killed them all | and started back. The men had nothing, and Coyote saw them |

[BULL. 59 ·

kt'n'e neis kl'iwa. qaa'iuquakt'n'e qakt'ine: "a: knio'une kın'ı'lwa xma'nlaha'q!woktsa'pine:" qakilı'lne: "at qaha'q!a 240 wo'kktsamna'mne'." ta'xas łałunamı'sine'. qaa'luquakı'n'e' pal kqa.ike't!uwo'us. n'uk!u'nil'akime''nte: qake'lne: neis k!akime"net: "a: tsxanata'pkił kaas kodaqa'kin na kodwa?" qak.ła'pse: "kınqałwi'yme_ił ke'_iło_us k!ı'łwa? na k.łaqahaqa'nqa:ts? at ndkupxo'uhne at tseqapqona'ne at laa'-245 pak!e'nkine'he' aa'ka''wuta'me's.'' ta'xas ske'n ku'ts nelkupxo'une: 1 tseqapqona'se: ta'xas łaapak!ne:"nte: neis kuwast!a'ła's k.ła'wła'sts neis ke'a's wa'ma't!s. ła'utsznąkupekz'me'k. qalwiynamı'sine ktsxalha'lke ks skı'n ku ts pal ksi lyuna'qa ps k!/'lwa. qanaxa'mne. pał kałnoku'pqa ske'n kuts n'öpski ła-250 qalaxaxam'''sine k.laqayaqa'na momo'kua. k.lala'xa m lo'unte k.łaka'łxo'.² qanaqlı'kxane'; tinmitikı'n'e' neis aa'kıt.lana'me's q!a'pe's ławcłqa'pse' sa me'inmuxu'naks neis qa.ikc't!uwo's. ta'xas a'a'ke lahaq!maxoka'ane ski'n ku ts.

Ta'xas tsłmi'yit łae't!qao xaxa''mne naso'ukue'n aa'kt.255 ła'e's. łae'kt'łne: skt'n'ku'ts łaqatinaxa''mne at nułpałnt'łne skt'n'ku'ts. pał k.ła'łou tt'tqa't! neis aa'kik.luna'me's; at qo-qua'kqa'lilq!anlo'ukune skt'n'ku'ts ttlnamune'nta'ke's. sl'ont'lne wa'lkuwa''s ma kqo'una'm ma kqaht'si'l. latinaxa''mne skt'n'ku'ts ttlnamu''e's. qak.la'pse: "qa'psin kinsilqaqo'una'm nei ku'ts ttlnamu''e's. qak.la'pse: "a: wa'lkuwa' ma ku'qo'una'm ma ko'matsqana'ne'ya'ati'l." ts!tna'xe neis ya'qa'ha'qawomt'ske'. tinaxa'mne, qao saqa'ane: ta'xas k!tkinoqoku'le's. ta'xas wunikt'tine ktslmi'yit, ta'xas laana'xa'mna'mne.

N'u'pxane ske'n ku ts neis yaqaha nqame ike qa hanin qo-265 ma'lse: aa'kuqlat! e'se's: nawaspa'l'e's. so'ukuse: qalwi'yne: "kutsxał'a'yni ł." ta'xas qake'ine ske'n ku ts: "a: kusel aqa'ta l'ana'xa'm. kutsxalqaha'k.le'ts na a_a'k.t.la''na'm.'' ta'xas q!u'mne''ne nata'nık!. n'upxalwiyta'pse nawaspa'l'e neis k!aqa'lwiy ktsxal'a'yni·l. qatsxa'n·e· nata'nık!. ta'xas wu-270 nike'tine ktsłmi'yit, n'u'pxane ske'n ku ts q!u'mne's nawaspa'l'e's. nuwo'kune'. tsukua'te' neis aa'kuqla'nta'me's n'aqsanake'n'e'. łaanaxa''mne'. ta'xas ts!ena'xe'. qa'na'xe'. ta'xas qalwi'yne: ta'xas ksd'wde'e'ts. n'itxo'ume'k, q!u'mne'ine pal ku'k.łu'k qahak.łe'itsne ske'n ku'ts. naq!małe'itsne n'u'pxa-275 ne a'k'kq!yet.s. n'uk_unuxa''mne, n'u'pxane pał n''nse ne is aa'ktt.la.t'se's nata'ntk!s. ma kwde'e't.s yaqana'mke'. k!a'qa'qa·ps tsukua'te· neis aa'kuqla'nta'me·s. qake'ine·: "a: k!e·kpaya'ata'p na a'kuqla''nta'm.'' laq!ayakı'n'e. laanaxa''mne ski'n ku ts. tsime 'yit aa''ke latinaxa''mne qahaqowu''mne. 280 ta'xas aa''ke 'aa'naxa'mna'mne ske'n ku ts. qake'ine : "aa''ke

1 Or qunanuqlota'axane.

2 Or k!apak!c'nxo.

running by. | He had a pile of (game) what he killed. He did not know what to do with it. He said to them: "Evidently you have no game. | You ought to carry some meat home for me." He was told: "We do not | carry meat for one another." Then there was 240 nobody left, and he did not know what to do with it, | with the nine animals. At once he called his manitous. He told those whom he had called: | "Tell me what to do with my game." | They said to him: "You think that they, those who went by, killed nothing. | They blow on it and it becomes small. | Then they put it into their belts." 245 Then Coyote | blew on it, and (the game) became small. Then he put on | the seven bears and the two bucks. He ran back quickly. | They thought Coyote would not come home before night, because he had much game. | They went along, but Coyote was able to run fast. | They were not home yet before he passed them. He got home. He 250 pulled off | what he carried on his belt. He kicked it into the tent, and | it was all big again, and the nine animals were piled up there. Then Coyote scared them again.

In the evening they assembled again in the chief's || tent and ate 255 again. Coyote did not go in. They heard | Coyote. There were no other men in the town. | Somewhere Coyote made a noise where the women were. Coyote was afraid; | for when he had gone there the day before, he was not given anything to eat. Coyote entered | his wife's tent, and she said to him: "Why don't you go there || where 260 they are assembled to eat?" He said: "Oh, yesterday I went there, | and they made fun of me." He went to the place where they were assembled. | He went in and staid there. Then they were smoking. | After a long time, in the evening, they went out again. |

Where he was sitting, Coyote saw a skin-drying || frame (?) belong- 265 ing to his father-in-law. It was pretty. He thought: | "I'll steal it." Then Coyote said: "I can not go out; | I'll sleep here in this house." Then | the Sun was asleep. His father-in-law knew | what he was thinking about, that he was going to steal it. The Sun did not speak. Then, || after a while, in the evening Coyote saw that his 270 father-in-law was asleep. | He arose and took the drying frame and put it under his blanket. | He went out again, started, and went along. | He thought he was far away, and he lay down and went to sleep. | Being tired, Coyote slept there. He woke up and heard || people talking. He arose, and he saw that it was | the tent of the 275 Sun. He had gone far, but this happened because he | had taken the drying frame. He said: "Ah! | I long for this drying frame." He hung it up. Then | Coyote went out. In the evening he came in again. They were assembled there. || Then all went out again. 280

kutsłagaha'k.lets." n'itxo'umek. n'u'pxane ta'xas kq!u''mne's nata'nık!s. qawunekı't.se. ktslmi'yit ta'xas latsukua'te neis aa'kuqla'nta'me's. n'anaxa''mne'. ts!:/na'xe'. qalwi'yne': "ta'xas dqa'hak hulqa'nam." ta'xas ts!ma'xe. qana'xe at nanlukp-285 qa'ane: ta'xas siłkanmeye't.se: qałwi'yne:: "ta'xas kselwułe 'et.s." n'atxo'ume k. pał ko'k.łouk. ta'xas n'u'k!uniłq!akpa'kitile'itsne: qahak.le''tsine: na'q!noka'lna'xwat'lne: nu'kunuxa''mne, pał n'''nse neis ma yaa'qakxa'mke. tsukua'te neis aa'kuqla'nta'me's. qake'ine: "a:k!a'qala'teiki'n a p?" laq!aya-290 kt'n'e: qak.fa'pse nawaspa'l'e's nata'ntk!s: "qa'psin kinslate'qana? kenqa'lwiy kentsxal'ana'xa''m n'e'ne ka'ke't.la. na hents!/nam na a'qła ka k/t.ła at/nłaqa'haki l'itxo'ume k, h/nqa'lwiy ktsxa'l'ın a 'kuqla''ntine's, ta'xas tsukua'te'n' kınlts!ı'na'n'. maats hentsxal'etousa qa'ane tselme 'yit. ye'senwun me-295 ye'tke tselme yitna'mu. hents!upsla'tiyilqqa'atse. kanmi'yit maats hents!etxo'ume'k. ye'senwun'miye'tke yu'kueyetna'm'u. maats hents!etousa qa'ane aa''ke latsilmi 'yit; aa''ke hents!lakanmokunate'tine kanmi'yit. qaha'li'n kiyu'kiyit, ta'xas hents!esakanu'n'e. henqa'lwiy henq!u''mne so'ukune. ta'xas 300 hantsal'anaxa''mne ka ki't.la. ta'xas hutslaqa'tsukua'te:." Ta'xas. husdq!a'pqa'dq!a'nuxwa'te'.

57. COYOTE AND GRIZZLY BEAR

Qa.na'xe sk'n ku'ts. qaq!a yumena'se yuxa'xe n'u'pxane k.ła'wła's sawetsqapxana'kse'. qałwi'yne' ske'n'ku'ts: "hułk.lenq!o'ymo'.' qakt'ine': "k.iawia, k!a'"ntsu.'' iaa'ntsuxaxa''mne'. nułpa'łne ski'n ku ts siłtska'se k.ła'wła sił'ata'pse sa nił'a-5 ta'pse: qalwi'yne: k.la'wla: "pal a'a'ke: kentsxa:l:aqa'ke:." qaqana'wetske'kine: k.la'wla. wuniket.se: latseika'te: ske'n:ku ts k.ła'włas. qake'lne: "k.ła'wła kkoułwi 'yat!." ta'xas n'u'pxane k.ła'wła na's a 'kuq!yome'nas qa kilhaqank.ła'pse ske'n ku ts. ta'xas n'e 'ktse k, nak. łatsu łwitske'lne ske'n ku ts. 10 qawunike't.se ske'n ku ts łała n'yunawitske'lne k.ła wła's. qak/łne: "k.ła'wła, ktsaqłiłna'na." sk/n·ku·ts łaa'ntsuxaxa''mne: ta'xas nutsınqkupekı'me'k k.la'wla mitiya'xane skı'n'ku'ts. qawunike't.se· łała'n'yunawetske'lne· ka.'s xama ts!a'qa'ki'l k.ła'wła.'s. qake'ine ske'n kuts: "k.ła'wła —," qaq!ma 'lilq!-15 anło'ukune: n'u'pxane pe'k!a ks pał sełyuwa kemi tiyaxna'pse. k.ła'wła 's ska'n 'ku 'ts. no :sa 'no 'xo unqa' ane 'ska'n 'ku 'ts. mitiya'xanaps k.la'wla's. qake'ine skı'n ku'ts: "qa'xatsqano'xoneke'me'k qa'psin ktspułwina'atam." ta'xas matka'ane ske'n ku'ts. qana'xe skın ku ts. laloqualqa'atse lalaxa'nxo'une k.la'wla's. 20 qana'xe k.la'wła ne_is a_a'k.l_{\elli}k\elli's'e's sk\ell'n ku'ts. nułpa'łne nakuwa'se'·kna'kse· skı'n·ku·ts. pał sıl·alaxa·nxona'pse·. qalwi'yCoyote said: | "I'll sleep here again." He lay down. Then he knew that Sun was asleep. | It was not long before it was night. Then he took the | drying frame. He went out and started. He thought: | "Let me go far away." Then he started. He went along. | He ran. Then in the morning he thought | that he was far 285 away. He lay down. He was tired. Then at once he fell asleep. He continued to sleep. Then he was awakened by the noise of talking. | He arose, and there he was where he had started from. He took the | drying frame. He said: "What is he trying to do with me?" and hung it up. | His father-in-law, Sun, said to him: "Why are you | 290 doing that? Do you want to go out of this my tent? If you start here from the inside of my tent, when you lie down there, and if you | think this will be your clothing, then take it and go. | Don't stop at night. Keep on walking | a whole day and a whole night, until 295 morning. | Do not lie down the whole day and the whole night. | Don't stop anywhere until the next night. | Then walk through that night until the morning. Just at noon | you may sit down, if you think that you will sleep. Then it will be good. | You will be out of my 300 tent. Then I shall not take it back." |

Now I have told you all.

57. COYOTE AND GRIZZLY BEAR

Coyote went along. There was a hill. He went up, and saw Grizzly Bear eating there. Coyote thought: "I'll play with him." He said to him: "Grizzly Bear, Short Tail!" | He hid behind (the hill). Grizzly Bear heard Coyote talking, calling him bad names. Grizzly Bear thought: "You are sure to say that again." | Grizzly Bear did not look. After a while Coyote looked again | at Grizzly Bear. He said to him: "Grizzly Bear, Left-handed One!" Then Grizzly Bear knew that Coyote was on the hill calling him. | He pretended to eat again. He was looking without letting Coyote see it. | It was not long before Coyote looked over the hill at Grizzly Bear. He said to him: "Grizzly Bear, Small Eyes!" Coyote hid again. Then Grizzly Bear ran. He pursued Coyote. | It was not long before he looked over the hill again to say something | to Grizzly Bear. Coyote said: "Grizzly Bear"--- He stopped quickly in his speech. || Coyote saw that Grizzly Bear was already coming right up to him. | Then Coyote began to run away. | He was pursued by Grizzly Bear. Coyote said: "Things that want to catch each other do not run fast together." Then Coyote left him behind. | Coyote was going along. He turned in a circle and got up to Grizzly Bear from behind. || Grizzly Bear was going along in the tracks of Coyote. Covote heard him | panting. He was getting near him. | He thought

ne· ktsxalts/nke· aa'kuwiya't!e's. lo'naqu'mlasxu'ne· sk/nku ts neis kuku'l'e s. łuquan'n'me teixalit'tine k.la'wła. qayaqana'xe sk'n kuts. qana'xe k.la'wla. a'a'ke laqa 'qa-25 na'ane ske'n kurts. qalwi'yne k.la'wla: "ta'xas kutstse'nke n skı'n ku ts. kuts! 't!xa.'' lats! neis lunk! le'e ts lunaqu'm lasxu'n'e sk'n ku'ts k.ła'wła łats! neis a 'kuya't!e's łuquan'nme'te'_ixalit'_tine'. a'_a'ke' laqa'wok''''n'e'. qana'xe' k.la'wla qawułe. 't.se'. n'u'pxane' sk'n ku'ts. s'na'se' pa'ł słuk. łu'kse'. 30 łaxa'nxo'une: ta'xas ya'kaqa'łwtske'kt'me'k skt'n'ku'tsts ławałuna'k!e's. swatsnu'kse'. qałwi'yne ska'n ku'ts: "ta'xas ktsxał'' t!xana'p k.ła'wła." qanał'akamınuta'pse neis aa'kwı'tsinorks. ta'xas tsxaltsankina'pser k.la'wła's. ta'xas n'a'milq!unaaki'n:e: ske'n:ku:ts. qanaxu'n:e: ske'n:ku:ts: qakqa'ane: 35 wunike't.se: qalwi'yne: "qa'psins kslqa.e't!xana p k.la'wla?" na'łxunenała'pse qap'sins a 'ke' i'e's tse ika'te n'u'pxane pał sdqana'ke'swtse'ine' aa'kuqle. 'se's nt'lse'ks. tseika'te' k.la'wla's. pał na's swesqa'pse a 'k. le'k le's. nu kune'nmuqkupno 'xunka'me k. mitiya'xane: qake'ine neis a'tiya xqake'kske ne'ise ks. qake'ine 40 ske'n kurts: "fff." ta'xas n'u'pxane ske'n kurts parkts oniła'pse: ta'xas mitiya'xane: ta'xas k.ła'wła neis ma skiłyaqaqana'pske ske'n kuts. ta'xas a'a'ke qaqna'ane ya'kaqa'luwetskdaka'ame'k k.la'wła. sznmitu'kse'. nułu'qune' n'akahe'ine. skın kurts naork luer's a kurqle's. n'asnalholu'qsker k.larwla's. 45 qanaqku'pła łtimu'n e maqku'pkpo kxumu'n e łats !/nao 'k !ue 's, a'a'ke' n'akahe'ine', a'a'ke' maqku'pkpo'kxumu'n'e'. qaoxal'alqana'kune' k.ła'wła. n'zsakanu'n'e skz'n'ku'ts. k!u'pa'q k.ła'wła łagana 'witski'kine : ski'n ku ts sła : tanagana 'kse : qake 'ine : skı'n ku ts: "k.ła'wła, ma kınts!!t !xana p k.łukq!ua'łe łqakya'me s 50 k.ła'wła n''txane sk''n kuts'' k.ła'wła qatsxa'n e st'one'line: tsemak!ke'kse at qa'it!xanapse'sne k.la'wla's, a'a'ke pał ksiłqsamunała'pse's swuc'se's nc'łse'ks. ta'xa's. Husdq!a'pka'lq!anuxwa'te.

BUREAU OF AMERICAN ETHNOLOGY

58. COYOTE AND FOX

Ho'yas, hutsxalhaqalq!anuxwa'te swo'timu ske'n ku tsts na'ak!eyu yaqaqanaa'ke neis pe'k!a'ks.

(a) YOUNG COYOTE AND YOUNG FOX STEAL THE HOOP

Qa'nıt.la'ane swu'tımo. naqa'lte nıtsta'hals, aa' ke naqa'lte netsta'hals. ske'n kurts tselme 'yet.s at n'ananu'ter. qake'lner: 5 "'ctske'le'n' nöpe'k!a." ta'xas ske'n ku'tsna'na tselme' iyet.s at n'anaxa''mne: at qaq!um'nename'sine: łatka'xa'm. ta'xas n'u'pxa q!u''mne''s swu''e's na'ak!eyu, ta'xas at qakt'he' xale'e's: "ts!/nal'/tsk/'le'n' nöp/'k!a." ta'xas naak!eyuna'na at

¹ Bilabial.

he would catch up with him on the right side. Then Coyote jumped along his side. | Then he jumped around on the left side of Grizzly Bear. | Coyote went past. Grizzly Bear was going along, and | Coyote did the same again. Grizzly Bear thought: "Now I'll 25 catch | Coyote. I'll bite him." Then Coyote jumped along on the other side. | Then Grizzly Bear turned to the right side quickly | to catch him, but again he could not catch him. Grizzly Bear went along | a short distance, and saw Coyote. He was going along tired. He overtook him. Then Coyote was looking from one side to the 30 other. | His tongue was lolling. There was a big stone. Coyote thought: "Now | Grizzly Bear will bite me." He chased him around that stone. | Then Grizzly Bear was about to catch him, and | Coyote was out of breath. Coyote fell down there. He lay there | for a 35 time, and thought: "Why doesn't Grizzly Bear bite me?" | Then he felt something on his hands. He looked at it, and saw | that he had his hands in the horns of a buffalo bull. He looked at the Grizzly Bear. | He was standing by his feet. (Coyote) stood up quickly | and ran after him. He spoke to him in the way a bull bellows, and Coyote said: | "Fff!" Then Coyote knew that (Grizzly Bear) was 40 afraid of him. He pursued him. The way Grizzly Bear had done, that way | Coyote did to him. He also did the same. | Grizzly Bear looked from side to side over his shoulders. There was a river. He started to swim. Coyote put out | one of his hands with the horn where Grizzly Bear was swimming ahead. | He hit him with it. He 45 hit his backside, and he put out the other one | and with it also he hit his backside. | Grizzly Bear swam across there. Coyote sat down. When Grizzly Bear was across, he looked back. Coyote was sitting down. Covote said: | "Grizzly Bear, you were going to bite me. | It should be once that that Grizzly Bear bit Coyote." 50 Grizzly Bear did not speak. He was afraid. | It is true, Coyote was never bitten by Grizzly Bear, and | he was helped by his friend Buffalo Bull. Enough.

It is finished.

58. COYOTE AND FOX

Well, I'll tell you about the friends, Coyote and | Fox-what they did long ago.

(a) YOUNG COYOTE AND YOUNG FOX STEAL THE HOOP

There were the friends. The one had a young son, and the other one also had a young son. | Coyote sent out his son in the evening, and said to him: | "Look for manitou power." Then Young Coyote 5 went out at night. The people were not yet asleep when he came back into the tent. When | Fox knew that his friend was asleep, he told his son to go and look for manitou power. Then Young

n'anaxa''mne: yesenwunmiye't.ske: tselmi:yetna'm'o's. to'xua 10 at kanmiye't.se: latka:xa:'m. ta'xas ske'n:ku:ts nokunu'xa at tseika'te: swu''e's at sla:tkeikesle'itsma'lse: xale.e'se's. ta'xas wune:ke't.se: kqa'qana na'qsa:'s nata'nek!s.

Qake'ine skı'n kurts: "ta'xas hun'u'pxane nakısqlılxuna'pse nöpı'k!a's kanxa'le:" ta'xas laya'xa kk.lınq!oymu'le s. nulpal15 nitı'tine ksakilkı'nle's ke'iso uks kk.lınq!oymu'le s. ta'xas sıl'aqakı'lne swu''e s na'ak!eyu's. ta'xa s namatı'ktse xale'e s
skı'n kurts nöpık!a'e s, n'ı'nse nöpık!a'e s qasq!mamu'xo''s
a'''ke hı'k!o ks. na'ak!eyu namatı'ktse xale'e s kuwılmu'xo s.

Ta'xas ts!:na'xe: qa'na'xe: naqsanmi''yit.s ke'ikqa'ts ta'xas 20 łaża'że neis a 'kkk. łuna'me's. qahotsa'że n'kłqa'akksu'usa 'qa'ane: ta'xas kanmi''yit.s k!unanu'qka's, ta'xas nulpalne'te'tine' tsxaname'sine: aa'kek.luna'me's. qakiyame'sine: "ta'xas k.lenq!o'yki'ł, ma ka'qa kınk.lınq!oymu'keil.'' ta'xas n'u'pxane' neis aa'kik.luna'me's n'anaxa'mname'sine. q!a'pe's te'tqa't!sts 25 pa'łkeists łka'm'u's. qao xaxam'sine qous ilqa'ha ks qant.laname'sine: nakałkinłe'sine: ta'xas n'oqoxa'łkenłe'sine: aa'kek.luna'me's. ta'xas naqts!/lukuaneyam/sine: n'u'pxane: ta'xas ts!/naqayt.l/sine. n'u'pxane. souk/k.let/kse neis yaqa'naqayiqa'pske: ta'xas m/te''xal/'sine: laxa'nxo'ule's at qa'na'ql/kxa-30 le'sine: at soukek.lite'kse: meteixa'le's tsen ya'kkaln'uku'pqa netsta'hałni''nte k. at n'esniłaxanxo'une sukuiłnu'k!uyok!akate'ise: ta'xas kuwalkuwa'yi:ts qaaqa'skink'sine: latskna'lkink'sine qous k!dqamt.lana'me's ta'xas ktslmi'yits n'opskilqatsma`k!i:lts:/me:ye't.se: qake'ine: ske'n:ku:tsna'na: "ta'xas hults!-35 /naxa'ła kułtsukuata'ła." qak.ła'pse swu"e's: "maats pał k!upski lqaq!u'mne 'nam, huts!upxana late'lne." qawuneke't.se qake'ine skı'n ku tsna'na: "ta'xas hults!!naxa'la kultsukuata'la." aa"ke laqak.la'pse swu"e's: "huquake'ine maats kaas ksdq!u"mne aqłsma'kinck!." ta'xas qao saqa'ane ta'xas kuwunc'ke t.s

ła'se neis at kuwa'sd a'wam n't'ts!ke ł nöpt'k!a s. sł'aqaqa'pse kuwt'ł e ts. qakilt'łne: "maats q!u''mne n'. ta'xas hułqo naxa'-45 ła." ta'xas q!a'pe q!u'mne''ne aqłsma'kine k!. ta'xas ts!tha'xe: laxa'xe qous k!dqa'anit.lana'mts. tinaxa''mne: n'u'pxane mika ktsdmi'yt.s qa.atsqa'pse o'k!uquna ksu'kuilnu'k!uyuk!aka'te nei kk.lanq!o'ymul. n'u'pxane neis a'k!a'laxwu'e ts pal słyakle'itse talna'muksta'ke s. xa'tstni lhakt lkt'nse po'po''s yake'ay tsxalq!a'kpa ki txumuna'pse neis po po''s talna'mu's.

40 ta'xas n'u'pxane naak!eyuna'na ta'xas k.lalit.luk.le'et.s q!a'pe's

k.łq!u'mne na'me s. qakił/he sk/n·ku tsna'na: "ta'xas hułts!/-

naxa'ła." n'upxałı'sine skı'n ku tsna'na pał skık.le'itsne nu-

natsq!ana'ane. qao xa'xe neis hadanad la ha'nske nuk!ae.u,natsq!aue. a'kudio kwats! 'ses ta'xas nao k!ae nuk!ae.u,wtskt'ne lad lauxo, 'u, us ls ta'xas staanovo o ke neis a klaFox | went out. He staid out the whole night. || When it was almost 10 morning, he came back into the tent. Then Coyote arose and | looked at his friend. He was sleeping with his son. | They did so a long time for several months. |

Then Coyote said: "I can tell by his eyes that my son has | manitou power. Now let him go and get the toy." He had heard || that 15 some one had a good toy. Therefore | he said so to his friend Fox. Coyote had given to his son | his own manitou power, and his manitou power was Moonlight-just-touching-the-Ground. | Fox gave his to his son. (It was) Darkness-of-Night. |

Then they started. They went along. After they had gone along for several days, | they came to a town. They arrived there, and 20 they staid at a distance. | The following afternoon they heard | the people talking. They said: "Now | play with your toy." Then they saw | the people coming out—all the men, | women, and children. 25 They all went there a little distance from their tents. | They brought it out. Then they carried it into the camp. | Then they began to shout. They saw how | they began to roll it about. They heard (saw) that the thing they were rolling about had a nice sound. Then they went for it. They caught up with it and kicked it. | It 30 made a good sound. They ran for it. Only youths who were very fast could catch up with it. | It was pretty and bright. | Some time in the evening they stopped. They took it back | to the farthest tent. At night before it was very dark | Young Coyote said: "Now let us go | and let us take it!" His friend said to him: "No, | they 35 are not yet asleep, they will see us." It was not long before | Young Coyote said: "Now let us go! Let us get it!" | The friend said again: "I said no, the people are not asleep yet." | Then they staid there. After some time | Young Fox knew that it was quiet. All | 40 were asleep. Young Coyote was told: "Now let us go!" | Then it was seen that Young Covote was asleep. This happened because he returned early when he was looking for manitou power. Therefore | he slept soundly. He was told: "Don't sleep! Let us go there!" | Then all the people were asleep. Then | they started. 45 They got there to the farthest tent. They entered; and they saw | that, although it was dark, it was easily seen, because the toy looked bright. They saw two old people asleep in the doorway. Each held a hammer. | They were to knock down with the hammer 50 whoever came to steal it. | They went in secretly. (The one) went to the place where it was hanging, I took hold of it, and cut the string. with which it was hung up. The other one | held the door open.

85543°—Bull, 59—18——10

146

BOAS]

łaxwi''e'ts neis tsłuwu'xo'sts xama n'ı'skik.letı'kse'. ta'xas 55 łaan axa"mne qous a:n'dqa'ha ks. wu'q!maxo'une na'q!makik.lete'kse: nei telnamukue'ste:k n'o'kuinke'sinme'te:k neis kak.le'e'ts. tseika'te' neis aa'k'!a'almo'ks pal'o'use' nei kk.lenq!oymo'ł. qal'ate'lne aa'k!a'almo'k. qakila''mne telna'm'u: "pał·o'une aa'k!a'ałmok pał n'ayna'mne" ta'xas n'anakes-60 xa"mne: qake'ine: "n'ayna'mne; n'ayna'mne aa'k!a'almo'k." welke'ine neis ke'itsxa. ta'xas nei a'kek.lu"na m qakiya'mne: "yoquake'ike teham'ukue'ste'k." n'anaxa'mna'mne: qakile'lne: "kaas k!a'qa'nalke'n'e'l." neis qanank!on/he: qake'ine: "neis qa'ke'lhaq!make'k.let/le'k." ta'xas 65 wanaqna'lne swo't_imo qanaxa'mne n'u'pxal ne_is na'mke. qak.ła'pse· swu''e·s skı'n·ku·tsna'na: "ma kamatı'ktse·'s tetu''ne's qa'psins. etke'ne'n'.'' ta'xas ske'n ku'tsna'na naqte'ite' qasq!mamu'xo's. n'esqa'xame'te'ine: qawuneke't.se'ts lakanmiyı't.se'. qak.la'pse': "a'a'ke' ma kamatı'ktse's laa'k!la ks'." 70 a'a'ke łaaqte'ite n'e'nse he'klo ks. qa.atsqa'ane swo'timu. ta'xas tsxaltsınkını'lne: qak.la'pse: swu''e's skı'n'ku'tsna'na. "ta'xas ts!kakı'ne'n' ın kina'lke'n." ta'xas tsukua'te na'ak!eyuna'na neis aa'k!a'almo'ks. ta'xas na'ak!eyuna'na naqte'ite kuwahu'xo's. ta'xas n'asqaxameta'he: nulpalna'lne: qa.atski'ki-75 notxon/le·k. qakiya'mne: "lun k!le'et.s sk/kinotxon/le·k." qanaxa'mne: ta'xas łaxa'nxo'ulne: skı'n:ku:tsna'na. tsınkinc'he: n'esqaxamite'he: na'ak!eyuna'na. n'o'la'se: neis ktamu'xo's. qakilamna'mne: "maats upc'lki'l. tsxal'i'n'e kcnk.ł/nq!oymo'kui·ł.'' ta'xas łats!/na'xe na'ak!eyuna'na. ła hał-80 ke'n'e' aa'ka'almo'ks. ske'n'ku'tsna'na tsukuate'lne'. n'etuk!sa'ałne sk'n ku tsna'na. ta'xas łaq lu'mne na'mne. łats kna'xe na'ak!eyuna'na. qa'na'xe'. kanmiye't.se' n'u'pxane' ma kts/nk/nle's swu'e's ma kulpaln/tet ma kqak/lamna/me's maats k.lupe'le's. ta'xas laqa'na'xe' tselmiye't.se'. to'xuats 85 kanmi ye't.se ta'xas to'xuats lalaxa'xe aa'kit.la'e's. ta'xas łaqa'yte neis a 'ka' ałmo ks. sukkuk le tekse ta' xas n'u'p xane ktsułpa'łnaps ałakinz'k!e's. ta'xas nawasxo'ume'k. qake'ine:



sk/n·ku·ts, sk/n·ku.ts nu- p/- le·'l- ne· xa-l e''- ne·s.
sk/n·ku·ts qake'ine·: "hi yá· kanxa'le·" a'a'ke. qake'ine:

90 na'ak!eyu, na'ak!eyu nupde''he xale''ne s. 1

qake'ine. skı'n:ku:ts: "tseika'te:n' neis at ke:nqa:'kiyukpu'k-tse''t xale''ne:s. sıl'upı:lı'lne:." a'a'ke: laqake'ine: na'ak!eyu-na'na:

sk!/n·ku·ts, sk!/n·ku·ts nup/le·'lne· xale''ne·s.1

Then it did not touch the doorway. If it had touched it, it would have given a loud sound. Then | they went out. There far off they 55 just touched it a little, | and it gave a slight sound. The old couple at once got up quickly | when it sounded. They looked for the hoop, but the toy had disappeared. | The toy was called "hoop." The old woman said: | "The hoop is gone. Some one stole it." Then both of them went out, and said: "Some one has stolen the hoop, 60 some one has stolen the hoop!" | They shouted their words. Then the people in the town | said to one another: "Listen to what the old couple are saying!" They went out. | They were asked: "Which way has it been taken?" It was pointed out to them. | They said: "There was a little sound of it in that direction." Then | the friends 65 were pursued. The people went out. They saw them going. | Then Young Coyote was told by his friend: "Your father gave you | something, use it." Then Young Coyote untied | Moonlight-just-touchingthe-Ground, and their tracks were lost. It was not long before | it was daylight again. He said: "He gave you something, too." The other one | then untied his moonlight. The friends were not 70 visible. | When they were about to be caught, Young Coyote was told by his friend: | "Give me what you are carrying." Then Young Fox took | the hoop. Then Young Fox untied | Darkness-of-Night. Then he was lost (to his pursuers). They heard only a rattling noise. They said to one another: "The other way is a rattling noise." | 75 They went that way and overtook Young Coyote. | He was caught. Young Fox was lost because he had the | Darkness-of-Night. The people spoke to one another. "Don't kill him! He shall be your | toy." Then Young Fox went back, carrying | the hoop. Young 80 Coyote was captured. | Young Coyote was tied up. Then they slept again. Young Fox started back | and went along. In the morning he knew | that his friend had been taken. He heard them talking together and saying | not to kill him. Then he went along at night. When it was almost | morning, he almost arrived at his 85 tent. Then | he began to roll the hoop. It made a good sound. Then he knew | that his parents would hear it. He sang, and said: |

"Coyote, Coyote, your child has been killed!"

Coyote said: "Hiya', my son!" Then he said:

"Fox, Fox, your child has been killed!" |

90

Coyote said: "See! You didn't send your son to get manitou power, | and now he has been killed." Young Fox said | again: |

"Coyote, Coyote, your child has been killed!"

¹ Tune as before.

BUREAU OF AMERICAN ETHNOLOGY [BULL. 59 95 qake'ine sk'n kuts: "hyá', kanxałna'na." qake'ine na'ak!eyu: "qa'psin kense'iltsxa ske'n ku ts? maats he'itsxan'. ta'xta lawa'xa'm hutsxa'l'upxanala'ane qa'la n'c'snil'upc'l'e's xale'e's." ta'xas skı'n ku ts łaqatsxa'ne: tsınanqa'me k. ta'xas nułpa'ine: swo'timo ske'n ku ts a 'kik.lite yee'se s a 'k!a' almo ks. sukunike'-100 temala'pse: a'a'ke to'xua at lae la'n e nulpaln'te t kqakiya'mne's k!up/'l'e's xale''e's. ta'xas aqa't!a'ks laqaskakik.le't/'le'k aa'k!a'almo'k. qakile'lne ske'n'ku'ts: "ok!uenke'ne'n' laq!anxo'unal·" ta'xas ske'n'ku'ts nowu'kune'. n'uk!ue'nke'n'e', ła. sakinu'n e. ta'xas waqa'yne a'k!a'almo'k. tkaqa'yne 105 ne_is a_a'k/t.lana'me's. qawa kaqa'yne: sla:tkikqa'ane: na'ak!eyu. qawanxa''mne neis kułpałn'tet kawasxomeya'mes. qaoxaqa'yse yaqakqa'ake na'ak!eyu neis aa'k!a'almo'ks. to'xua qanaxu'se qakxaqa'yse sk'n ku ts yaqa'hanqame'ike. qa'o xalqanaxu'se neis a'k a'almo ks. ta'xas saltsxanata'pse 110 k!/s'n/'l'e ps xale'e s sk/n ku ts. qa waxamitnaxwa'te k k!e''la. qake'ine: "hiyá' kanxalna'na, kanxalna'na." ta'xas lawa'xe na'ak!eyuna'na. łatkaxa''mne: qake'ine:: "hoqua.u'pxane: ka'n'agane'ke't me'ksa'n honulpalnete'tine neis ktsenke'n'e'l. k!u'pxa'ł ta'xas ku'szksqaxamz'teił qakzłamna'mne: 'maats 115 upe'łki ł, pał kenselesqaxame'tki ł kenk.lenq!o'ymo'uku ł tsxal'znga'pte k kznk.lzng!oymo'ukuil.' ta'xas kulats!/kam." Ta'xas qa'nıt.la'ane swo'timo skı'n ku'ts at la'apsilqake'ine ske'n kurts: "ta'xas hults!enal'anaxakana'la." naqa'senwune'ketts qak.la'pse swu''es: "ta'xa's hults!:na'l'anaxakana'la. 120 ta'xas knłaqao kuiqa'ane aqłsma'kinkk!.'' ta'xas tsknakt'kine swo'timo: nuk!qape'ine na'ak!eyuna'na pał ka'qa'ps kk.lmq!o'ymo qao`k.likpa'me k. ta'xas laxa'xe swυ'timo aa'kkk.luna'me's. qawitsa'xe' qaakksu'wksa qa'ane'. k!unanu'qkwa's nułpałnet l'tin'e. tsxanam l'sine qous a kik. luna me's. qakiya-125 me'sine.: "ta'xas anaxa''mki'ł kenlik.linq!o'yke'l." qawuneke't.se', ta'xas n'akaxa'mname'sine'. q!a'pe's neis at yaqaneke'tske neis aa'k!a'almo ks tsxalk.lenq!oymu'le 's qanike'tse. ta'xas dna'haks n'akaxa'mnalde'sine xale'es. nalgoma'tile'sine. n'u'pxane na'q!apq!li sa'kse ma wuq!la''mse, 130 k!a'qa'qa'pqaps. ta'xas qa'naqkupli'kxalı'sine: nutsınqkupeki-

na'kse', ta'xas mitexale'sine'. łaxa'nxo'ule's at qanaqle'kxa-

łe'sine: ta'xas ske'n'ku'ts k!umna'nłekpakta'pse: qake'ine.:

"ta'xas hulqonaxa'la, kul atsukuata'la." qake'ine na'ak!eyu:

"ma'qa'k. hutsxal'tkt'n'e'." naq!a'naq!ne'ine na'ak!eyu.

xo'ułne: łats!/naq!anaq!ne'ine: na'ak!eyu. łats!/na'xe: sk/n:-

ku tsna'na. łaqa'łaxa'nxo'ułne:. łało'quałqa'atse:. ta'xas na'ak!e-

yu ts!e'q!a'naq!ne'ine'. ta'xas skı'n'ku'tsna'na nutsqa'nkaqu-

pe·k/me·k. ta/xas q!a/pe· n'umats!na/mne· k.laqalaxa/anxoul

135 ta'xas ske'n ku tsna'na n'o k!unilhalnokupqa'ane. laqa'laxa'n-

Coyote said: "Hiya', my little son!" Fox said: | "Why did you 95" talk, Coyote? Don't talk! Later on, | when he arrives, we shall know whose child has been killed." | Then Coyote said no more. He was just sitting there. Then | Coyote and his friend heard the noise of the hoop. | They felt glad, but they also almost cried when they heard 100 some one saying | that his child had been killed. Then there was noise of | the hoop. Coyote was told to open the door. | Then Coyote arose and opened it. He sat down, and the hoop came rolling in. It rolled | into the tent. It came along rolling. Fox was lying 105 down. | He did not move. Then they heard some one singing. | The hoop rolled to where Fox was lying. It almost | fell down, but went rolling on to where Coyote was sitting down. | There the hoop fell down. Then they told him | that Coyote's son was dead. He fell 110 down crying, | and said: "Hiya', my little son, my little son!" Then Young Fox arrived. | He entered the tent, and he said: "I do not know what has happened, | but I heard that he was taken. | He was seen when they lost sight of me. They said among themselves: 'Don't | kill him! Since you have lost sight of your toy, he shall | 115 become your toy.' Then I went back."

Then Coyote and his friends lived in the tent. Coyote often said: "Let us make war on them!" After some time | his friends said to him: "Now let us make war on them! | Probably the people are no 120 longer uneasy." Then the two friends started. | Young Fox was left alone. Because he had the toy, he was not lonesome. Then the friends reached the town. | They did not go near. The two stopped. | When the sun was going down, they heard talking there in the town. It was said: "Now go out to play!" It was not | long before they 125 came out. Everything that | used to be done with the hoop when they were going to play with it was done now. Then his son was taken out. They were all around him. | They saw that his hair was all cut. | He used to have long hair, but now he was changed. Then 130 they kicked him hard. He started to run, and they pursued him. When they caught up with him, he was kicked again. | Then Coyote pitied him. He said: | "Let us go nearer! Let us take him back!" Fox said: | "Wait, I'll do something!" He made a sign with his head. | Then all of a sudden Young Coyote ran fast. They could not 135 overtake him. | Fox again made a sign with his head, and Young Coyote started again. | They could not catch up with him. He made a turn. | Fox made a quick sign with his head. Then Young Covote ran their way. | Then all laughed because they could not overtake |

140 skı'n ku tsna'na. me'ka yaka'lnoku'pqa laqalaxa'nxo'une, sla qaqa'ane klomatslnata'mnam. qawaka'xe skı'n ku tsna'na; ta'xas tsema'klil aqamıte xa'lne neis yaqa 'kısosaqa'pske alakını'kle's. lalaxa'xe. nowoku'ste k swı'tımo na'akleyu. n'upxa'lne pal sılatsukua'te xale'es. qakilamna'mne: "ta'-

145 xas maats tseika'tke ił swo'timo ske'n ku ts. at sa ha'ne. xma ts!upława'sine." ta'xas łats!na'xe swo'timo. Hiyá', q!a'pe n'ilana'mne. k.ła'łok.lenq!o'ymo'ł nei aa'kek.lu''na'm. ta'xas łaqa'na'xe ske'n ku ts swo'timo. łałaxa'x'e. ta'xas soukuilq!o'kune.

(b) COYOTE GAMBLES WITH SALMON

Qa`nıt.la'ane swu'timo: ta'xas naqa'pse kk.lınq!o'ymo. nulpalne tı'tine qayeik!ına'mo qa'qaaps aa'k!a'almo ks swu'timo's skı'n ku tsts na'ak!eyu's. ts!ına'xe: ts!ınaluwa'ts!-xne: qalwi'yne ktsxalho 'qua neis aa'k!a'almo ks. sukuaakı'n e qayeik!ına'mo, sl'aqaqana'ane kts!ınaluwa'ts!xa. pı'k!a ks

155 n'upṣalɛ'sɨne: sukuaakɛ'n'e: skɛ'n'ku'ts at qawulaṣa''mne: ta'ṣas sɛltspoˈlwiynatɛ'lne:, mɛ'ksa''n na'ak!eyu at qa'halwa'-ts!ne: qalwiynamɛ'sɨne: ksaana'aki'n. ta'ṣas laṣa'ṣe: qayeɨk!ɛ-na'mo. naqu'lne: nɛtsta'halnɛ''nte-k, nok!ue'ɨse: al'alɛtskɛ'l'e-s: qsama'lne: k.la'ṣa'm qakɛ'lne: swɛ'tɨmo''s skɛ'n'ku'ts: "ho'ya's

160 huła łuwats !na ła." qake 'ine ske'n ku ts: "qa'psin kutsałwats !na ła?" qaki k'łne: "kałq!a'ha łt." qake 'ine ske'n ku ts:
"so 'ukune: hutsałwats !na ła 'ane:" ta 'xas n'ana łetku 'łne:
ta 'xas na łuwats !na 'mne: qake 'ine na 'ak! yu: "ma ts łha 'luwats! xa łe." ne skan xa'łe hents !esni łk ine ma'łne:" ta 'xas na łe

165 wats!na'mne: qawunik'tine: nuqua'ine: ski'n'ku'ts. a'a'ke laha'luwats!na'mne: a'a'ke lahoqua'ine: ski'n'ku'ts. ta'xas q!a'pe'luqua'ine: xa'atimo na'ak!evuna'na. pe'k!a'ks nuqua'ine: aak!a'aimo'kua'e's. pal neists k!o''timo'l. ta'xas qa'nqa'me'k ski'n'ku'ts. qaki'ine: na'ak!eyuna'nas: "ts!inami'le'n' titu''ne's,

170 hatsxalqakalarine kalamatalktsap kmalu'q!uli-ls." ts!ana'xe na'ak!eyuna'na. qaka'lne tatu''es: "qake'ine ka'xa kalama'atke ts kmalu'q!uli-ls." qalwi'yne na'ak!eyu: "qa'psins k!a'lke t? ksalqaha mata'ktsa p qa'psins k!aqa'ke." qaka'lne xale 'es: "ts!anama'len', kanlqa'ke l qa'psins n'a'lk et."

175 lats!/na'xe'. qakil/lne' sk/n'ku'ts: "qake'ine' kat/tu qa.u'pxa qa'psins h/n'itk/timi'l." qake'ine' sk/n'ku'ts: "a: xma lqsa'nmu'ki'lqa.u'pxa? ts!/nam/le'n' k/nlqa'ki'l, maats kltslak/lktsa'p." lats!/na'xe' nei lka'm'u laquna'xe' t/tu'e's. qak/lne': "qake'ine' maats ke'nltslak/lki'ts kinlama'atki'ts.

180 mi'ka h/nwil/lwiyna'atmeil. ktsxa'lst/le'k." n'u'pxane' na'a-

1 Story name of salmon; modern name swa'q!mo.

Young Coyote. Even the fastest runners could not catch up 140 with him. | Therefore they laughed about it. Young Coyote came along. | They could not catch up with him at all. Then he came to | where the parents were. Fox and his friend arose. | Then it was known that he had taken back his son. They told one another: || "Don't look at Coyote and his friend! They are bad. | They might 145 kill us." Then the friends started back. Hiya! they all | cried, because they had no toy in that town. | Coyote and his friend went on. They arrived at home, and | they were glad. ||

(b) COYOTE GAMBLES WITH SALMON

Then the friends lived in their tent. They had the toy. | The Salmon 150 heard that the friends | Coyote and Fox had the hoop. He started to gamble with them. | He thought he would win the hoop. Salmon was a good | gambler, therefore they started to gamble. Long ago | it 155 was known that Coyote was a good gambler, but he did not keep it up. | Therefore they tried their luck with him; but Fox never gambled. | They thought he was a bad gambler. Then Salmon arrived, | traveling by canoe. They were young men, and one (woman) their sister | went with them. When they arrived, (Salmon) said to Coyote and his friend: "Let us | play!" Coyote said: "What shall we play?" | 160 He was told: "The hiding game (lehal)." Coyote said: | "Well, let us gamble!" Then they made a fire outside, | and they began to gamble. Coyote said: "Don't | let him gamble! Your son and my son shall be partners." Then | they played. It was not long before 165 Coyote lost the game; and | he played again, and Coyote lost. Then he lost everything. Young Fox and his uncle had lost | the hoop. That is what they wanted to get. Coyote sat down, | and said to Young Fox: "Go to your father | and tell him to give me the thing 170 striped crosswise." Young Fox went. | He said to his father: "Uncle says you shall give him the thing striped crosswise." Fox thought: "What | does he mean? He did not give me anything. Why should he say that?" He said | to his son: "Go to him and ask him what he means." | He went back, and Coyote was told: "My father says he 175 doesn't know | what you mean." Coyote said: "Oh, how should | he not know it? Go to him and tell him not | to keep it from me because he likes it." The child went back and came to his father. | He said to him: "He says you should not keep it back because you like it, but give it to him, || even if you should like it very much. He wants 180 to bet with it." Then Fox knew (what it was). | Then he gave it to

[BULL, 59

195

k!eyu piklaiks ma kamatiktsaps t!a'nqoits aa'kinuq!uma'ana's. "kltsxal'ilkits." nakaki'nie neis t!a'nqoits aa'kinuq!uma'nai's. namatiktse qaki'lne: "xma ha'k!a'mxone'ike nais tslints!ilikkte." lats!inalki'nie. namatiktsi'lne ski'nikuits.

185 qakili'lne: "qake'ine kati'tu naasts hinaqan'ilki'timii!" qake'ine ski'nikuits: "kaa xma kuii'lket." qake'ine na'ak!eyu: "maatsintsa'q!maliaha'lwats!ki'lne. huts!ts!ina'xei." qakili'lne ski'nikuits: "qake'ine kati'tu kintsa'witskpa'ya't ktsxalts!i'ka." ta'xas nii'tilmo'malqana'meik na'ak!eyu.

190 qawuneki'tise ski'nikuits nai'qainke'ine qake'ine: "a: hinik!utsta'pne. piklaik xma hula'qua'meik." qao'xa'xei na'ak!eyu. qaki'lne ski'nikuitsna'na's: "huts!asnala'ane." ta'xas quna'xei. ta'xas naluwa'ts!ne. nainilki'nici nawasxo'umeik. qalq!ani'lne.

195 · "hun'a''qa ma me n'le'lts k.lqa'e'nwu'n'e'."

Łaa''k!ła'ks a'a'ke' nawasxo'ume'k. qalq!anı'lne.:

"huno'q"a'lts k.l'u'pina'm."

Qawunek!'t.se' nu quaka'ane: łae'tet!'le'k qayeik!!na'mo. a'a'ke' ła'łuwa'ts!ne', a'a'ke' łaoquaka'ane: n'!'sniłhan!lk!nma'lne' 200 sk!'n'ku'tsna'na's, m!'ksa''n na'ak!eyuna'na sk!'n'ku'ts n'!'s!-nlhoqua'lne: ta'xas q!a'pilhoqua'lne' qayeik!!na'mo. qake'ine' qayeik!!na'mo: "xma ke'nqawakate'iki'l alkaa'le'tskilna'la." qake'ine' na'ak!eyu: "so'ukune'; pał k!'nsilqake'iki'l." ta'xas st!'le'k, a'a'ke' la.uqua'lne' qayeik!!na'mo. ta'xas lalitst!'le'k. 205 lats!!na'xe' n'!la'n'e' o''k!uquna ku'qwa'l nana''e's. qake'ine' na'ak!eyu: "xale''ne's tsxal'!'nse' t!namu''e's, kanxa'le' pał k!u'pskiltsa'qu'n'a." ta'xas sk!'n'ku'ts naqa'pse' papa''e's. nalalit!'t.se' xale'''e's.

(c) SALMON WOMAN TRIES TO DROWN COYOTE

Qa'nıt.la'ane swu'tımo. ta'xas naqa'lte skı'nıku tsna'na.

210 n'o''k!uni l'ila'nıe nei pa'lkei pal ka'qaıps yaqso'mı'l'eıs.
o''k!uquna ko'qua'ka na'ak!eyu sd'a'qa'qa'pse qa'qa'ps
yaqso'''mi'ls. n'ok!uini l'e'taqana'me'k nei pa'lkei n'u'pxane skı'nıku ts pal tsxa'lsilıats!!na'se neis papa''eıs, a'a'ke n'itaqana'me'k skı'nıku ts tsxalqsama'lne xale'''eıs neis

215 ktsts!!'na's. qalwi'yne na'ak!eyu: "ma ksaanle'et nei aa'kınmı'tuk. hulqsa'ma'l. xma ktsxa'l'eıp xale'tımo skı'nıku ts." ta'xas a'a'ke n'itaqana'me'k na'ak!eyu. ta'xas lao'qoxaxa''mne nei pa'lkei yaqso''mi'ls. qakelı'lne: "ma'qa'k, huts!oqo'xaxa''mne." ta'xas n'da'nıe nei pa'lkei.

220 qakı'lne xale''e's na'ak!eyu: "hıntsqa'o'sa'qa'ane: hutsxalqsama'lne. xma tsxal'upelı'lne xale'itimu skı'nıku ts." ta'xas n'oqo'xaxa''mne na'ak!eyu. ta'xas ts!!naqu'lne. n'us'moka'n-

him. | "He must mean the partridge tail." Then he took out the partridge | tail and gave it to him. He said to him: "I think he meant just this. | He must have meant it." (The boy) took it back and gave it to Coyote. || He was told: "My father says you must 185 have meant this." | Coyote said: "What else should I mean?" | Fox said: "Don't gamble for a while. I shall go." | Coyote was told: "My.father said you should wait for him. | He is coming." Then Fox got ready. || It was not long before Coyote shouted, saying: "You | 190 let me wait. I ought to have back already what I have lost." Fox arrived there, | and said to Young Coyote: "Let us be partners!" Then | he went there, and they gambled. He moved his hands in the game and sang. | He sang thus: ||

"Whenever I am pointed out, the gambling bone will disappear." |

And he sang also another song. He sang thus:

"If I lose, they'll die."

It was not long before he began to win. Salmon bet again. | They gambled, and Fox won another game. Young Coyote was his partner. || While Young Fox and Coyote themselves had lost, | now Sal- 200 mon lost everything. Salmon said: | "You ought to stake against our sister." | Fox said: "It is well, since you say so." | They staked, and Salmon lost again. They had nothing else to stake. || He started 205 home, and cried because he had lost his younger sister. | Fox said: "She shall be your son's wife. My son | is still too young." Then Coyote had a daughter-in-law. | She married his son. |

(c) SALMON WOMAN TRIES TO DROWN COYOTE

The friends lived together. Then Young Coyote had a child. | At 210 once the woman began to cry. She had a canoe. | Because Fox had won, therefore they had | a canoe. The woman got ready at once. Coyote saw | that his daughter-in-law was going home. Then | Coyote also got ready to accompany his son where | he was going. Fox 215 thought: "There are bad places in that | river. Let me go along. Coyote and his son might die." | Then Fox also got ready. | The woman went aboard the canoe. She was told: | "Wait; I'll get aboard." Then the woman cried. | Fox said to his son: "You stay 220 here; I'll go along. | Coyote and his son might be killed." Then | Fox went aboard, and the canoe started. | The woman was seated in the

qa'me'k nei pa''lkei. qa:naqu'lne: sanlaxapqle'ise. laxaqu'lne: qake'ine: ski'n'ku'ts: "maqa'ak upaqu'le'n' hutsxal'ıntanal-

225 xo'une łka'm'u." qaqałwi'yne ne pa'łke. n'iła'n'e ta'xas łaxaqu'łne ne a a'kaxa'pqłe's. n'u'pxane na'ak!eyu ksasa'nal-wiyna'ataps ne pa'łke. naqa'pse a'kuktsa'ke'ns na'ak!eyu. qaka'łne ne xałe'itimo's ska'n'ku'ts: "qanaxa''mke'l na a'kuktsa'ki'n." ta'xas qanaxa''mne xałe'itimo ska'n'ku'tsts

230 na'ak!eyu. ma'nwitskaxant'le k ko's na'ak!eyu. ta'xas wat!a-qu'n e yaqso'mil. n'iktstnoqu'n e qalwi'yne ne pa'lke ta'xas kts!u'pil. ne aa'kuktst'ki n yo kuqu'n e a:nk!o nanmt'tuks la'wa kaqu'n e yaqso'mil. manwtskt'kine. ne pa'lke sla'tke k!aqo matt'tse pal qa.u'pse.

La:ts!/naqu'łne: qa:wułe:/t.se: a'a'ke: ła:'psanłaxapqłe'ise: a:n'/se:kałet/tne'ise: qake'ine: sk/n:ku:ts: "ma'qa'k, hutsxał-/nta'nałxo'une: kapa'pa." qa'tsekata'pse: neis pa'łkeis. ta'xas łaxaqu'łne: a'a'ke: ła./tk/n:e: na'ak!eyu neis aa'kukts/ke:ns. łao:qoxaxa:"mne: xałe'itimo sk/n:ku:tsts na'ak!eyu. łama:'n-240 w/tskaxn/le:k ko:'s, a'a'ke: ła/kts/nuqu'se: yaqso'm/le:s. a:nk!onanm/tuks łaa'wa:kkem/nxo:nu'qune: yaqso'mil. łaaka-qanxa''mne: na'ak!eyuts sk/n:ku:ts xale'/timo. tseikata'pse: neis pa'łke:s. sła:tke:k!aqo:mat/tine:, a'a'ke: pał:aqa.upła'pse:

(d) SALMON WOMAN TRIES TO KILL COYOTE IN HER TENT

Ta'xas słałaxa'xe a kt.ła'e's ne pa'łke qałwi'yne: "ta'xas 245 kaak'tske ł ktsxal'esnil'o 'kui t." qa q!a'nmoqts!enu'kse , qa'o xał'upaqu'łne. ła e le kxaxa''mne ne pa'lke, qanak.k'kxane neis yaqso"mids. qalwi'yne ktsxalyck!talqoku'mo. n'asqa'nalhotsinga'atse sahanlec't.se. qaa'loqaqana'ane alswo'timo pal ksahanle't.s. na'ak!eyu qao xaqa'nme txo'une ya'q!eits. ta'xas 250 qana'xe alswo'timo. youxa'xe sint.lanami'sine k.latina'xa'm ne, pa'łke, qake', ne: "husiłwam a'łne kal'oku 'tki l." n'e k'kte ta't!e's. ta'xas ktina'xa'm ne_i ałswo't_imo ne_is qa_akqa'pse' netsta'ha'ls, nuwu'kse n'anaxa''mse nuwu'kse n'a's e telna'mo''s tsukua't.se a'tsu''s n'anaxa''mse wunek't.se łatka'-255 k/sxa''mse· nałk/nse· n'/t!qa'pse· aaq!ul'/se·s xa'altsins. xonałye'k!tałe'sine: ta'xas q!a'pe'l'elenk!omatiyame'sine: n'itxoniyame'sine: ta'xas naq!ako'une neis aa'q!u'l'e's xa'altsin. ta'xas sahanoqu'n'e: aa'kiłaqakı'n'e neis aa'kuktsı'ke'ns na'ak!eyu. wunek't.se', ta'xas laqasa'hanoqu'se'. lao'k!uinki-260 nc'her se'it!. tseikatc'her na'ak!eyu. słartkerk!aqormatc'tiner. pał a'a'ke staqa'tal'oktt'ine.

Ta'xas ts/łmiy/t.se'. qak.ła'pse' neis nul'a'qana's: "ło'une' qayeik!/na'mo. ts/łmi'yet h/ntsalnu'quak/lne'. h/nts!e'k/lne'." ta'xas ts/łmi'y/tine'. ta'xas ts!/na'xe' na'ak!eyu, tsxalhaqu'lne.

bow. They traveled along. There was a cascade. They came to it. | Coyote said: "Wait; paddle ashore! I'll carry the child along-shore." || The woman did not want to do it. She cried. | Then they 225 arrived at the cascade. Fox knew | that the woman was angry with them. Fox had a bladder. | He told Coyote and his son: "Go into this | bladder." Then Coyote, his son, and Fox went in. || Fox had his 230 pipe in the hole of the bladder. Then | the canoe upset and sank. The woman thought | they were dead, but the bladder floated. Farther down the river | the canoe came up again. The woman looked back, | and there they were sitting together. They were not dead. ||

She turned back. Not far away there was another cascade, | a still 235 more terrible one. Coyote said: "Wait; I'll | carry my grandchild along the shore." The woman did not look at him. Then | they arrived there, and Fox worked again at his bladder. | Coyote, Fox, and the boy went in again. | He held the pipe at the edge of the 240 hole. Then their canoe went down again. | A little farther down the river the canoe emerged again. | Coyote, Fox, and the child came out. The woman looked at them, | and they all sat down together, and again she had not killed them. |

(d) SALMON WOMAN TRIES TO KILL COYOTE IN HER TENT

Then the woman got back to her tent. She thought: | "My brother 245 shall kill all of them." There was a smooth precipice there. They went ashore. The woman landed, and kicked | the canoe. She thought she would upset it. | Then they climbed up a bad place. The friends did not know what to do | when they came to the bad place, but Fox had thrown tobacco on it. Then | they went on, and the friends 250 reached the top. There was a tent. When the woman entered, | she said: "I bring them all; kill them all." She meant (spoke to) | her elder brother. When the friends arrived there, a young man was lying down. He arose and went out. Two old women also arose. Each took a dish and they went out. After some time | the two 255 came back again, carrying (the buckets) filled with dog manure. They threw it into the fire. Then all the people covered their heads and | lay down. The dog manure was burning, | and there was bad smoke in the house. Fox did the same thing with the bladder. After some time there was no smoke. They took off | their blankets 260 and they looked at Fox. They were all sitting there together, | and again they had been unable to kill them.

Then at night they were told by an old man: "There is no | salmon. At night you shall carry torches. Then you shall eat." | In the even-

[BULL. 59

265 sk/n·ku·tsna'na. tsxal'aako'une· n'o·k!ue'ine· n/tsta'halna'na. tsxałhałnu'qune sk'n kuts tsxałqawu sa qa'ane qakil'lne ske'n ku ts: "maats hentsq!u'mne'ine hents!upsa'tiyiltseika'te aa'kınq!o'ko: hınq!u''mne tsxal'uplı'sine:'' ta'xasts!ınaqu'lne na'ak!eyu n'ı'n e ka'qo l. skı'n ku tsna'na tsxal'ı'n e k!a'ako · 270 qaye_ik!/na'mo''s. ne_i n/tsta'hałna'na tsxał'/n'e kaw/tsnu'q^uaku'pk!oʻ. ta'xas skı'n ku ts qaoʻsa qa'aneʻ. ta'xas wune kı't.se at łaamawktski'kine ski'nkurts. qakili'lne ski'nkurts: "hın'u'pṣa laqawılanq!u'ko", ta'ṣas hıntslaa naṣa''mne: ta'ṣas hu'tsil'up/lamnala'ane:; tsxatsil'aqaqa'ane: nei aa'k/nq!u'ko:." qa-275 wunek/t.se·łaa·na`w/tsk/kine·. n'u'pxane·, ta'xas łaqaw/łanq!uko'pse qous yaqso''mi'ls. ta'xas n'u'pxane: ta'xas k.l'up!'lamna'me's. qous aa'k!a'laxwe'ets ya'wesqa'pse' telna'mo's nawets'nułxomuna'pse· po'po's. ła qa'nam tsxałyaqxa 'lałta'pse: ne_ists k!u'pxa ktseqapqu'na 's aa'k!ałmokuwa'e ts qous yaqso''-280 mi·łs, qałwi'yne· ta'xas ktsłaa·na'xam. qawunekt't.se· łattkamuqkupino 'xunaqna'kse neis netsta halna'na 's. qake'kse : "n'eplawa'sine nö'pı'k!a.'' ta'xas skı'n ku'ts qalwi'yne: "qaı'n e hułtsqa'e'p, pał kszl'zse ka'te qo po'po. mz'ka ke'e'n tzłna'mo qo k^uawı'tske'n, mı'ksa pał ke'e'n no'_uk^uey qo po'po'. ktsxal'o'-285 piłmu'na p.'' ta'xas łaqao xaqu'młasxu'n e sk'n ku ts. qałwi'yne: "hul'a'qane'ts." k!o''pxana'ps neis taha'mo's ta'xas ktsxaltszl·aana'xa'm. ta'xas nei tzlnamukuz'ste'k yu'waka'lat!xunia'ate: xa'tsınl'asqawa'xame:tınsaq!xu'neya'ate: skı'n:ku:ts ktsxałq!akpakı'txo: ta'xas łała'xaqu'młasxu'n:e skı'n:ku:ts. . 290 n'itqkupq!a'nwesqa'ane: ta'xas telnamuk''e'ste k qalwi'yne ta'xas ktsxals: aqayaqa'wa'aqumla'asxo's, ta'xas qana'qkupła'łte, pał ske'n ku ts k!itqkupq!anwe'sqa. ta'xas nei telnamuku'ste k ya'halqanaqku'plalta'mne qaha 'len aa'k.la'm'e s qao xalxuna'mne: xa'tsınilq!akpakitxona'mne: ta'xas lats! 295 na'xe skı'n ku ts. qoʻs yaqa hal a.upaqlamı'ske laqao xa'xe. łaxa'xe: ta'xas na'ak!eyuts ske'n ku tsna'na ła upaqu'łne: qa'ałe'n szłqa'kiła'mnamz'sine': "qaz'nse' łqa'q !a kpakitxo'una ps tzłna'mu's skı'n ku ts, sıl'aqal aqawa'xe naas ı'nta 's.' sıltsxa'n e ske'n ku ts, qake'ine: "a: husel awa'xe, qa.upla'pine telnamu-300 k^uc'ste·k. hułuq^ua·łk!umna''nte·.'' ta'xas n'uma'ts_ine· wcłke'_ine: at qakq!u'n·e· skt'n·ku·ts: "xo:xo:xo:" n'u'pxane· na'ak!eyu k.ł'u'pe ls tana'mu's, klu'pske ks klu'm ats. qaka'lne: "ta'xas woa sa'qanan' la oqo waka xa'm'e'n'. to'xua le'wam kwa'naqnana'wa's."

(e) FOX KILLS SALMON

Neists wa'lkuwa's ke'iwam na'ak!eyu neists ktina'xa'm aa'kt.lana'me's, ma k!u'pxa ntsta'hals ma k!aka'xa'ms. ta'xas nei ntsta'hal xuna'xe neis aa'ktnmt'tuks. ta'xas n'itkt'n-

ing they started. Fox was to paddle, | Young Coyote was to spear 265 (the fish), and the boy was to carry the torch. | Coyote was to remain (in the tent). Coyote was told: | "Don't sleep. Look at the | fire. If you should fall asleep, they will kill you." Then they paddled away. Fox paddled. Young Coyote was the one to spear | the salmon, and 270 the boy was to hold the torch. | Coyote remained (in the tent) for some time. | Coyote looked out. | Coyote was told: | "If you should see a small fire, then come out. Then | we are about to kill one another. For that reason the fire will be thus." | It was not long before 275 he looked out again. Then he saw that the fire | in the canoe was small. Then he knew that they were about to kill one another. There on each side of the doorway stood an old person. | They were holding a hammer each, ready to strike with it | if any one should want to go there. Then they would strike from each side. When he saw the light in the canoe getting smaller, | he intended to go out. 280 It was not long before | the boy came running in, and said: | "The manitous have killed us!" Coyote thought: | "I shall certainly die. That hammer is terrible. Although only an old woman | is holding it, nevertheless the hammer is made of stone, and she will | kill me 285 with it." Coyote jumped there. He thought: | "I'll fool them!" When that old woman saw that he | was about to go out, then the old people lifted their hammers | to hit him. They both stood with legs apart, ready to strike Coyote. | They were about to knock him down. Then Covote jumped there. | He stopped quickly. The 290 old people thought he would jump through between them, and they struck; but since Coyote stopped quickly, the old people struck each other right on their heads. They | hit each other and killed each other. Then | Coyote started to go to the place where they 295 had landed. He went there | and got there. Then Fox and Young Coyote paddled ashore. | They were just telling each other: "Certainly the old woman has knocked down | Coyote, therefore he has not come to the shore." | Then Coyote talked, and said: "I am here. The old people have not killed me. | I have made trouble for them." Then 300 he laughed aloud. | He laughed thus: "So, so, so!" Fox knew now | that he had killed the old people, and that he laughed for this reason. He said to him: | "Hurry up! Come aboard! Those who | make war on us are coming."

(e) FOX KILLS SALMON

Then Fox saw a youth coming out—the same one | whom he had seen 305 the day before when he arrived and entered the tent. | The youth went down to the river. Then | he transformed himself into a salmon.

310 k!umna''ntaps neis k.ł·a'xałwa'ts!xa. (pał husła'tiyiłts/k!ma'-

me'k, n'anqa'pte'k qaye'k!ana'mo''s. tsxalsa'nilwiyna'ate'

swo'timo's na'ak!eyu's. qalwi'yne ktsxal'u'pi'l ma kqa'ke'l-

łaka'n'e'. ma'ka ska'n'ku'tsna'na n'a'sine'lhaqu'lne'; na'ak!eyu

n''sine la ko'une qaye k!:na'mo's.) ta'xas ne is kulqo'l. qana-

qu'îne: n'u'pxane: qayeik!/na'mo's. no'hune: na'ak!eyu ke'e'ns

ne_is wa'łk_uwa''s ma k!aka'xa''ms nztsta'hałs. n'u'pxane'

q!a'lkı'n'e' nei nıtsta'halna'na aa'kınq!u'ko'ps. sa'qana'ane'

maats k.lsukqa'o xal'a'ako's na'ak!eyu's. pal ke'e'ns ta't!e's

pske neis natsta'hałna'nas. qałwi'yne: "huł'a'qaneits."

qakı'lne neis nıtsta'hals neis n'ı'n'e ka'mke qayeik!ına'-

mo. sal'aqana'tse neis yaqaka'ske qanaq!alka'n e aa'kan-

q!u'ko'ps ne_i natsta'hal. ta'xas suk.laako'une na'ak!eyu.

k!u'pṣa ne_i nztsta'hał pał sła'qane'tsa'pse na'ak!eyu's

ktsxa·l'aako·'le·s. n'u'pxane· na'ak!eyu ya·'qaq'na'-

315 k.l'e'nqapta'ke's qaye_ik!:na'mo's'. tsxal'a'ako' at ne_is luqua-

320 ne_is łuk^ui·ka′se· ne_is kia′kxo·'s ne_is łu^{*}q^uank!on⁄łne·.

BOAS]

qatał·awanxa"mse yaqso'm''l'e's. ta'xas łaxa'se kuwana-

qna'naps. tsukua'te neis aa'k.łam'''se's neis netsta'ha'ls.

³²⁵ qakı'lne': ''maats qa'o`xal'a'ako'n' aa'kuwu'm'e's. qa'oʻxal'a'akoun' aa'qa't!e's.'' a'a'ke ne netsta hal selqalwi'yne ktsxał'u'pi-ł na'ak!eyu's. neists qa'o xał'a'ako aa'qat!e'se's na'ak!eyu. ta'xas xma yık!ta'se yaqso'mı'l'es. neis kqa'k.laps: "maats aa'kuwum'e'se's." qatse'nk!apaltiya'xane qao xal'aako'u-330 ne· aa'kuwum'e'se's. n'u'k!uni l'u'ku!qanuxonu'qune· qayeik!ena'mo. n'u'pxane nei netsta'hal pal sel'upele'sine ta't!e's. ta'xas qao xaq!ankı'me k neis o k!ue'haks yaqso''mils. yık!talqoku'n'e'. ta'xas n'ınqa'pte'k qaye_ik!ına'mo's ne_i nıtsta'halna'na. ta'xas lats!/`nal`upa'xe` aa`k/t.la'e`s k.lala'xa'`m. ta'xas s/l'aqa-335 ke'ine: "n'upława'sane;" qałwi'yne me'ksa ta'xas ktsupe'le's neis kluklqa'pe's. a'a'ke' n'a'sil'upla'pse', ta'xas qalsa'kilkina'pse: ta'xas na'ak!eyu swo'timo lats!:naqu'lne: neis k!u'pil n:tsta'ha'ls. naqa'pse' aa'ko'k!uatsk!ak!o.¿'se's. lolama'ane' n'oqoxakı'n'e' yaqso''mı'l'e's. a'a'ke' wu'q!la''mse'. (at qaqana'ane' 340 ne_is pr'k!a·ks aqłsma'k_inrk!. wa'naq_ana'nam qa'ła n'u'pił naso'ukue'ns at łułama''ne at łats!/nałk/'n'e am'a'k!e's.) ta'xas sakanmiya't.se qakila'lne xale'ıtımo ska'n kurts: "maats hentsłama'n_uwetski·ke'łne:.'' qa·naqu'łne: ta'xas yuwa·'kmenuqka'se', ta'xas yu'naqa'ane' ne aqlsma'kinck! ne haak.lou'-345 kue: taxas wanaqana'n'e na'ak!eyu's qalwi'yne ske'n ku ts: "me'ka pe'k!a'k huna'qanla.elqana'qulna'ala." lama'nuwetske'kine: qake'ine: "sukuakate'ine: kuwa'naqanana'wa:s." qak.la'pse· na'ak!eyu's: "qa'psin at kınsılqatso'ukuat ko'utsxa ma huquak.k'sine: 'maats kinla'qanawi'tske k.''' ta'xas 350 n'etwetsqu'her swe't mo ske'n kurts. me'ka k!alse'nterk ka'qol

¹ The two old people and the Saimon.

n'ıktkakı'n e qakı'lne: "a: na kın'o 'tki l?" pısuqkı'n e. n'iktse nuqu'se. lahaqu'lne. n'u k!unil awa'n xa''mse yaqso'-355 mı'l'es. pal sixatkınu'kune. ne kıyu na'qa ta'xas qa'o xal'ı'tuwitsqu'lne ne ya ya qa'nal'ıktsenoqu'ske aa'k.lam'ı'se s nıtsta'hals. ta'xas na'ak!eyu sıl ats!ına'xe laqatse katı'lne.

(f) TURTLE RESCUES THE SALMON HEAD

Qake'inei nei yaqa'sınqa'ltke neis nıtsta'hals: "qa'la łatso'ukuat na as a 'k.łam'' e'se's kanxale'' mi ł. ma ko'o k!qa'p-360 qa'lt na.u'te: tsxalsale:tt'tine:" ta'xas q!a'pe: aqlsma'kintk! n'an_uwa'ts!ne: pał k!o'_uło: qatak_in''lne: ta'xas qa:'lın kiyu'k_iyit qake'_ine ka'xax—n'uk!^ue'_ine n_itsta'ha'l qal'ate'he ka'xaxs—: "hutsxakk!anuwa'ts!ne qak.la'pane ka'xax nei tuq!tsqa'mna ka'xax, at ku'tsqaqana'pmil, pal kinupxa'-365 kił ka'xax at kqasts!u'mqa'qa k!a'nuwats!. hutsxal'ako:kuınmı'ıne, ke'itsxa ka'xax.'' ta'xas nei nıtsta'hal qake'ine: "hutsxałk!anuwa'ts!ne: ta'xas hentsła.upa'qułke'łne: aa'ket.łane'ski ł. kanmi'yet, qa len kiyu'kiyit ta'xas hutsłaa'waakawa'ts!ne: ta'xas hein:tsłaqo'kwaqo:łke'łne:" ta'xas łats!enaxa''-370 mne: kanmi'yit qa'lin kiyu'k_iyit qakiya'mne: "ta'xas ma ktsxal·aa'waaka'wa·ts! ka'xax. ta'xas laquname'lkil." ta'xas q!a'pe· łahołqła'mne·. na'w:tskpayat:'he·. qa:'lin kiyu'kiyit łaa'waakawa'ts!ne: łahałke'n'e aa'k.łam'e'se's neis netsta'hałs. ta'xas tsukua'te neis na.u'te's naqsanme'yıt.s ke'e'ns 375 telnamu"e's. naqan'okunmi'yet.s a's at qatsxa'se: ta'xas at tsen·małatike'n·e· k.łe' itsxa·s at qat!aq!tała'pse·. ta'xas q!utse'ite'. n'uma'tse pal n'uktukue'ise aa'k!alma..'se's. łama'te'.

Ta'xas husdq!apqalq!anuxwa'te qayeik!\na'mo.

59. COYOTE AND THE DUCKS

Ho'ya's, hutsxalhaqalq!anuxua'te skı'n ku ts xale'ıtımo neıs pı'k!a ks yaaqaletkı'nke kia'q!la 's.

Qahana'xe ski'n'ku'ts. nalxo'une xale'e's. xuna'xe. skikq!anu'kse. qak.layi'itine yaaqa'wislqo'uk!awa'ts!e'kina'xanamna'mke. n'u'pxane ski'n'ku'ts qous lu'n'qo's yunaqa'pse kia'q!la's. nonu'q!uwitsta'pse. qaa'lo'qalnu'k!une. qalwi'yne: "ho'yas hul'a'qane'ts kia'q!la." qaki'he xale'e's: "ho'yas, e''la'n'. qalo'ukuin': 'a:lská't!es katitó:'.'" ta'xas ne lka'm'u qake'ine ne yaqak.la'pske titu''e's. ta'xas ski'n'ku'ts a'a'ke n'e'la'ne. qalo'ukune: "a:l'ka'skat, a:l'ka'skat." ta'xas n'uk!ue'ine kia'q!la qou's a:ndqa'ha'ks qawisqu'le'k. qaki'he alaqa'lt!e's: "ma'qa'k tsink!apa'lte'xa'ki'l qou's n'i'n'e nüpi'k!a yo'quake'ike:" ta'xas ne kiyuna'qa kia'q!la tsink!apa'lti'le'k pal slda'se qou's nüpi'k!a's. qakila''mne: "ts!i'nal'upami'lki'l,

said to them: "Is this what you want?" He put it into the water. |
It sank. Again they paddled, and their canoe moved right away. |
They were saved. Then the crowd stopped | on the water when the 355 head of the youth sank. | Fox went on. They did not look back again. |

(f) TURTLE RESCUES THE SALMON HEAD

Then the one who was the father of the youth said: "Who | will get this head of my son? I have one more child, | a daughter. He 360 shall marry her." Then all the people | dived. They went into the water, but could not get it. Just at | noon Turtle—a young man called | Turtle—said: "I'll dive. Turtle, | the animal, said to me | I should do it, because you know | Turtle is an expert diver. I'll try." | 365 Thus said Turtle. Then that youth said: | "I'll dive. You shall paddle back to the shore to your tents. | To-morrow, just at noon, I'll come out of the water; | then paddle back here." Then they went back. | On the following day, just at noon, they said to one another: | 370 "Turtle was to come up at this time. Go back to him." Then | they all paddled back and waited for him. Just at noon | he emerged, carrying the head of the youth. | Then he took the girl. For several days she was | his wife. For one or two days she did not talk. Then | 375 he teased her to make her talk, but she wouldn't talk with him. Then | he tickled her, and she laughed. Her mouth had a bad smell. He left her.

Now, I have told you about the Salmon.

59. COYOTE AND THE DUCKS 1

Well, I'll tell you about Coyote and his children |—what they did, a long time ago, to the Ducks. |

Coyote was going along, carrying his son. He went down to a lake. | It is named Where-they-fight-with-Broken-Pieces-of-Wood in-the-Lake. || Coyote knew that far away there were many | Ducks. 5 He was hungry for them, but had no way of getting at them. He thought: | "I'll fool the Ducks." He said to his son: "Go on; | shout, 'O my father's brothers-in-law!" Then the child | said what his father had told him. Then Coyote also || cried. He shouted: "O my brothers-in-law! O my brothers-in-law!" Then | one Duck was swimming farther away on the water. He said | to his children: "Wait; listen [to] what the manitous | are saying!" There were many Ducks. They listened | to what the manitous were crying.

163

[BULL. 59

15 hentsxal·a'k.lilke'lne· qa'psins." ta'xas n'ok!ue'ine· ts!e'nal'upa'xe: qake'ine: "qa'psin kenske'ike:l?" qake'ine: ske'n:ku:ts: "ha: hansalyaha'nstawa'sine k!aqa'alsouk kenk.lanq!o'ykel. koa'qa'lqa'talholqatsa'la." lats!ana'xe ne kia'q!la: qake'ine: "pało 'siłycha' nstała 'ane kok. knq! oyała 'e s." qake 'ine nei 20 k!u'k!ue: "lu'no's upame'lkil. hentsxaltsukuatke'lne. kenlk.knq!oyma'tki:'.'' ta'xas n'upa'xe: kia'q!la. n'etke'n:e: xale'itimo's ske'n kuts ktsxałqa.ektsinu'qos me'ksa'n qa hamate'ktse a 'kınqowa.ı'se's. qakilı'lne skı'n'ku'ts xale'ıtımo: "ta'xas hułqsana'ła." ta'xas qsama'łne kia'q!ła's sk'n kuts xałe'iti-25 mo. ta'xas k.lunq!oyma'lne kia'q!la's. na kilk.lunq!u'lik kia'q!la at nułqan ożu'n e neis k.łoha'kq!anuuks n'ałoużada'n użu'n e. ske'n ku ts at ła upa' xe at n'entana' xe. xo'na m at nulu'qune, at łaho''lqa'n'uxu'n'e kia'q!la. at ła'tsine''s łało'uxaqa'n'uxu'n·e·. tse:n·o`k!unil'¿tnu`mo·tst¿'lne· sk¿'n·ku·ts. qak¿'lne·: 30 "saha'n e at kenhulqa'n oxo'k i l. ta'xas at maats laqa qa na'pki l. ata'qki l pal k!oho'psi lqayaaqa'alha k. at nei qa'l'aał qałaqa'pki ł, at q!a'pe hen tsawats!ke'he: ' ta'xas qakiła'mne kia'q!ła: "pał scłso'ukuse qous yaaqake'ike nöpc'k!a. hułqa'qanawała'e's." ta'xas kia'q!ła at qaqana'ane. neis ts/l-35 mi'yıt.s at la.upa'xe skı'n ku'ts. at qusqaakiyiksı'le k ı'nta's. ta'xas n'etke'n e ske'n kuts a'a'kets n'alqanamxone'lne neis aa'kınuxo'unuks. ta'xas kia'q!la qaha'wats!. at qaqouqakı'n e u's'me ks. at q!a'pe 's n'tuk!sa'ane: a'a'ke łaqaha'wats!s qaqakı'n'e'. dna'haks laqaha'wats!s at la.c'tuk!sa'ane'. qakı'lne' 40 kia'q!ła''s: "ta'xa ne hants!anawa'ts!ki'l at ts!upena'qla'lki'l. maats ata'kilwi'tske'iki'l." ta'xas sel'elkelwi'yne ske'n'ku'ts. xma ktsxałwo'ukats a 'kak!o"e's kia'q!ła's. ta'xas naqsanmi'yıt.s kqa'kein, ta'xas yunaqa'pse ke'e'k skı'n'ku'ts. tse:n n'u'pxane kia'q!la pal laqaso'kuaakate'ine. qakila'mne: 45 "pału's/tsa'mnaqapta'teyala'ane:" qake'ine k!o'k!ue kia'q!la: "nei qakalo'ume yaaqaanit.la'ake ske'n ku ts at ts!ane'mse k!a'likwa.e'tine: ho'yas, ts!ename'tki:l, kenltseikatme'lki:l aa'kt.la"e's." ta'xas n'uk!"e'ine kia'q!la qal'att'lne mt'tsouk ts!/nawa'ts!ne: k.ła'xa'm aa'k/t.ła./se's. n'upa'xe: n'u'pxane: 50 yunaqa'pse· k!tma'se'ts kia'q!la's. n'u'pxane· pal n't'nse· ske'n ku ts: łats!ena'xe: k.łała'xam qake'ine: "pal n'e'n e ske'n ku ts pał selo ktawa's ne:" ta'xas n'ela'n e kia'q!la. qakila'mne kia'q!la: "kanmi'yt.s a'a'ke laqaqana'was. hentsxałhakelwe'tski'ike'lne. nei hents!enawa'ts!ki'ł hentstse'i-55 katke'he qa'psin naaqantsxa'alo neis aa'kenoxo'unuks." ta'xas kanmi''yt.s ts!maluwa'ts!te'k kia'q!la neis k.lua'kq!nuks.1 ne_i u's'me·k q!a'pe· nak/dw/tsk/kine·. qawile./t.se· n'u'pxane·

Some one said: "Go ashore | and ask him something." Then one of 15 them went ashore. | He said to him: "Why do you say that?" Coyote said: | "We wanted you. You are playing nicely. | We are not able to go on the water." The Duck started, and said: | "They are wishing for us. They want to have our way of playing." Then one of them said: "Go ashore. Take them | and play with them." 20 Then the Ducks went ashore. They made it so that | Coyote and his son should not sink, but they did not give them | their feathers. Coyote and his son were told: "Now | let us go together!" Then they went out together—Coyote, his son, and the Ducks. || Then they 25 played with the Ducks. While they were at play, all the Ducks | flew along to another lake. They flew there. | Coyote went ashore overland. When he came to the water, he swam, | but the Ducks flew again to the other lake. | All at once Coyote laid down a rule. He 30 said to them: | "It is bad for you to fly away. Don't do it any more. | Swim there through the middle of the water. | Arrange yourselves in a line right across, and all of you dive together." Then | the Ducks said to one another: "It is good, what the manitou says. | Let us do it!" Then the Ducks did so. | At night Coyote went ashore. 35 He stepped on shore. Then Coyote made something to stretch across | the brook. Then the Ducks came diving along, and did not do anything. | The first one he tied, the next one that came diving along | he let go, and the last one that dived coming along he tied again. He said | to the Ducks: "When you start diving, close your 40 eyes. | Don't look!" Coyote was clever. | (He thought) they might see his trap. They | did so for several days. Then Coyote had much food. The Ducks just knew that they ceased to be many. They said among themselves: || "We are getting few in number." One Duck 45 said: | "The wind is blowing from the place where Coyote's tent is. | It gives a smell of burnt fat. Now go and look into his | tent." One Duck was called Great Diver. He dived and came to Coyote's tent. He went ashore, and saw | many dried ducks. Then he 50 knew that it was | Coyote. He went back; and when he came back, he said: "It is | Coyote. He is killing all of us." Then the Ducks cried. The Ducks said among themselves: "He will do the same to us to-morrow. | Look out when you dive! You will see whether there is anything in the stream." Then on the following 55 day the Ducks started diving to another lake. | The first ones all looked, and it was not long before they saw | something right across

¹ Mot-head (?).

sał'ałqaqo na'kse qa'psins. łałuqawa'ts!ne. qake'ine ski'n ku'ts: "a: hina'luwiyktse ki'lne ma.ots!ouktiski'lne." ta'xas laqa'qa'qna'ane kia'q!la. ta'xas at laho'lnoxu'n e.

BUREAU OF AMERICAN ETHNOLOGY

Qaanit.la'ane' klo'qlune: n'anaxa''mne neis qakalom'se: n'aqlu'k!une ts!anc'mse k!a'likwa.c'tse ts!cn'mek!u'n'e. łaxa'xe neis a 'ku'q !unouks. n'u'pxane pał sndaxna'kse sku'n kuts. qona'akina'xane q!u'mne''nis. xa'tsinilq!u'mne'ine 65 xale'itimo ski'n ku ts. tsukua'te neis kia'q!la 's k!o'q!une. qonya'xane: aa'qat!:'se's sk:'n'ku'ts. nakunk:'n'e'. wo'qapqa't.se' a'a'ke xałe. e'se's. qake'n'e'. tsukua'te aa'kaq!ane. e'se's. nakunk/n·e·. wo'qapq!ane'ise·. łats!/na'xe·. naq!ama·le'itse· xale'·e·s skı'n·ku·ts. tseikata'pse· sak.le'itsne·. n'upxana'pse·. wo'qap-70 q!ne'ine', wo'qapqa'tine'. ta'xas n'umatsinata'pse' xale'''e's ne_is k!aqaqa'pka. naq!nuka'lnaxwata'pse:. tse_ika'te: xale:''e:s. n'u'pṣane· k!aaqa qa'pqaps neis yaaqa qa'ake. a'a'ke qa qa'pse: tseika'te: neis kia'q!la:'s. lalo'use: ke'e'k. qahao sa qa'ane:. qakı'lne xale''e's: "ne hu'tsqana'xe'." ts!!na'xe skı'n'ku'ts. 75 n'u'pxane: sanct.laname'sine: n'u'pxane: n'esnit.la'ase: k:!oq!une''s. n'u'pxane pal n'esinil'aynela'pse ki'e k. q!u'mne tse'ite. łatsukua'te neis kia'q!ła.'s. qonya'xane aa'qat!/ses tsaqanakı'ne: a'a'ke qakı'ne xale ı'se's. tsın qasılakaqa'puwıtsqatnana'se: qonya'xane: aa'kaq!ne..'se's neis qalyaptsak.'ne: 80 k!ouqa'pq!nenana'se: lats!:na'xe: naq!amale'itsine: xale'i $t_i mo \quad k!o.'q!_u na, \quad n'u'p \dot{x}_a ne \cdot \quad ya_a qaqapqa'_a ke \cdot \quad lalo'_u se \cdot \quad ki'e.k.$ ta'xas słaqaqa'ane skı'n ku ts kuwok!u'nka k kuwo'qa t. n'uła'se k!o'q!une's. sa qa qa'ane k!o'q!une kkloqu'na's aa'k!unka'k!e's kk!oqu'na's aa'qa't!e's. n'ula'se' ski'n'ku'ts.

Ta'xas huszlq!apqalq!anuxwa'te skz'n ku ts yaqal'ztkz'nke kia'q!la's ne s pz'k!a ks.

60. COYOTE KILLS PANTHER AND LIBERATES THE SALMON

Ho'yas, hutsqalq!anuxwa'te swa' k!u'pla ps ske'n ku ts:

(a) COYOTE KILLS PANTHER

Qa'nt.la'ane skt'n ku'ts salett'tine xa'altsins. tsdmi'yt.s qake'ine xa'altsin: "kanmi'yit.s xma htnts!na'melkt'lne alatsa'nt'ski'l nei sant.la'ane. qa'k.le'k swa's. at qahuwa'sine mt'ksa'n at n'u'piyit!e'ine." kanmi'yit.s no kunoxa''mne-skt'n ku'ts. qake'ine: "ts!kakt'ne ka'ku'qla''nt." ta'xas xa'altsin namatt'ktse n'tuqla''ntt'k.le'k skt'n ku'ts. ta'xas ts!tan'xe. laxa'xe sant.la'e's swa's. tinaxa''mne ha: yunaqa'pse a'ku'la'ks. tinamo.t'se's sla'ttnts!dko'se. ala'qalt!t'se's la:lt'-10 tkins a'qu'qt!e's, swa's la'tinilkaxant'kse. qatseikata'pse'.

the water. They dived and went back. Coyote said: | "Oh, you have a (good) mind! I was going to kill you all." || The Ducks did 60 not do it any more, but flew again. |

There was the tent of Lynx. He went out. The wind was blowing this way, | and he smelled the burning fat. He started, following the smell, | and arrived at the lake. He saw that Coyote had much to eat. | Then he made him sleep; and both slept, | -Coyote and 65 his son. Lynx took the Ducks. | He took Coyote by his tail and pulled it. Then he had a long tail; | and he also took his son. He took his face and pulled it | so that he had a long face. Then he started back. Coyote's son woke up, | and he saw (his father) sleeping. He saw that he had a long face | and a long tail. Then the 70 son laughed at him | because he was that way. He woke him up. He looked at his son, | and he saw that he was different from what he had been; and he looked at the Ducks, and there was no food. They staid there. | He said to his son: "I'll go that way." Coyote started | and saw a tent. He knew it was the tent of Lynx. | He 75 knew that he had stolen the food. He made him sleep, | and he took back the Ducks. He took hold of his tail | and pushed it in, and he did the same to his son. Just a little piece of the tail remained sticking out. | He took his face and pushed it in, | and he had a short 80 face. Then he went back. Lynx and his son awoke. They saw how they were, and that there was no food. | Therefore Coyote has a long nose and a long tail. | Lynx did it. | And therefore Lynx | has a short nose and a short tail. Coyote did it.

Now I have told you about Coyote, what he did to | the ducks 85 long ago. |

60. COYOTE KILLS PANTHER AND LIBERATES THE SALMON

Well, I'll tell you a story how Panther was killed by Coyote.

(a) COYOTE KILLS PANTHER

Coyote had a tent. He was married to Dog. In the evening | Dog said: "To-morrow you shall go to your uncle. | His tent is there. His name is Panther. He is not hungry, but || he is very 5 stingy." On the following morning Coyote arose. | He said: "Give me my clothes." Dog gave | Coyote his clothing. Then he started, and arrived | where the tent of Panther was. He entered. Oh, there was much meat. | His wife was scraping fat off a skin. His children were cleaning guts. || Panther was putting feathers on his 10 arrows. They did not look at him. He sat down, and | thought:

¹ Barnaby: hen a'luwiktseyeke'lne.

² Barnaby: qahanat.la"ne.

[BULL. 59

qa:nqa'me·k. qalwi'yne·: "lınqawo·`kata'pne·." la·anaxa''mne. laqa`o`xalkıkq!owasxoneyikı'me·k. latınaxa''mne·. pal sılqatseıkata'pse·. qa·'nqa'me·k. nanuq!uwı'le·k. pal ko·'was. neıs k!u'pxa aa`ku'la·ks tsema'k!iluwa'sane·. laa·naxa''mne·. sıla-15 ts!\na'xe· lıtqawumxo'ume·k. k.lala'xa·m aa`kıt.la'e·s.

Tschmi'yct.s qake'ine: "kanmi'yit hutsuqna'neyala'ane: naqa'ane kakuwc'se: hoquats!kalxo'une:" qalwi'yne xa'altsin: "ma n'upiyit!e'ine k.laqa'qana." kanmi'yct nuquna'me k. k.laxalo''ne's qakc'lne skc'n'ku'ts tchamu''e's: "a: wa'silqun-20 yaxamc'lin' aa'ku'la'ks. lcn'c'kine:" ta'xas xa'altsin ts!cna'xe qous aa'kct.lana'me's. tinaxa''mne, qatse'ikatc'lne: qa''nqa'-me'k', qake'ine: "husiyaxamc'lne kuwcsc'n'e's skc'n'ku'ts:" qatseikatc'lne: kwune'ike'ts la.a'naxa''mne: nonoq!wc'le'k, pal ko''was neists k!u'pxa aa'ku'la'ks k!umnaqaqa'ane: 25 lalaxa'xe: qake'ine: "hoqua'mate'ktsc'lne:"

Qake'ine ski'n ku ts: "pa'mek kinlamati'ktse l. is aa'k!a-laxawu'e ts ma ksa'q!a nqakilhol'itkini'he: "laqao xa'xe xa'altsin. tinaxa''mne a'a'ke laqa'tse kati'he: wa ha witski'ne: n'up'xane naas pal sq!a'nse pal nulu'ksali'sine: 30 qake'ine: "nasts ke'e ns?" ta'xas tsukua'te: luquawitski'ne swa'. nu'pxane pe i'k!aks pal tsxa'ltsil'o kuaki'nse naas qa kqa'pse no'ukueys. tsukua'te: pal kuwaha'la t! xa'altsin qanaqkuplaltimu'lne neis no'ukueys. qa 'lin tsuo''e sqao xaqkupilxo'ulne: qake'ine swa': "a: ksa nla'tiya ka'te laa'nmuqkupnoxo'nilkikwaki'me k xa'altsin.

K.łała'xa''m kułpa'le'n ske'n'ku ts tełnamu''e's. naleng lo'yło'kua'ame'k. n'anmuqkupnu'xoqa'me'k. ts/kqlopna'xnaktse'ite'. n'tkt'ne t!awu'es; a'a'ke xale''es n'tkt'ne t!awuna-40 na. e'se's; tełnamu"e's n'etke'ne popoe'se's; a'a'ke swe'n'e's n'tkt'ne poponanat'se's. qakt'ine: "ta'xas huits!tnaxała'e's. hutsxał'ute'ma'łne ka'ntetqa't!ma'ł; ne'nko hentsxal'ute·ma'ine· pa'ike_ima'ine·'s; nc'nko· hcntsxai'ute·ma'ine· netsta'hałna'nama'łne's; ne'nko hentsxal'ute ma'łne na u'te-45 na'nama'łne's.'' ta'xas ts!:na'xe'. qao'xa'xe'. qakı'lne' telnamu"e's: "hantsxalo'k!ue'la:tikiniktsa'pane laq!anxo"na'l." ta'xas xa'altsin o'k!"enkene'ktse nulaqana'e's. tenaq!axo'uxune swa's; a'a'ke łatinaq!axo'uxune ta'xas tenmitiya'xane swa's ske'n ku ts. tsenke'ne a qa wetski'ne ta'xas n'u'pxane pal 50 szł'c'pse: pzskc'ne: tseika'te: qa:ha'łe:n pał szł'wakiniłę'sine tałnamu"e's popo. e'se's. tswałsałqanłałtimułe'sine mitiya'xane ławakin', he ne pa'łke s. ławakin', he qanaqkupła'łte: q!akpa'kitxo'une: tseika'te: qa ha'łe n pał tsxalsdmi'txamule'sine: t!awu.e'se's xale''e's. wakine'lne: neis lka'm'u. 55 me'txane: a'a'ke: n'upe'he: tseika'te: swe'n'e's. n'u'pxane:

"Maybe they did not see me." He went out again. He went back coughing. | He went in again. They did not look at him, | and he sat down. They did not give him anything to eat, and he was hungry when he saw the meat. | He was very hungry. He went out and went home without anything to eat. | He arrived at his tent. |

In the evening he said: "To-morrow we will move. | My food is there. I did not bring it." Dog thought: | "He was stingy, therefore he did so." On the following morning they moved their camp. | When they got there, Coyote said to his wife: "Oh, go quickly || and 20 get meat, that you may eat!" Dog left | for that tent. She entered, but they did not look at her. She sat down. | She said: "I came for the food that you gave to Coyote." | They did not look at her. After a long time she went out. She did not get anything to eat. | She was hungry when she saw the meat. She was poor. She went back || and said: "They didn't give me anything." |

Coyote said: "Try again. It may be given to you. It is | hanging ready made by the doorway." Dog went there again. | She entered, and they did not look at her. She looked up. | She saw it hanging here. It was all tied up. || She said: "Is this it?" Then 30 she took it. | Panther looked around, and saw that she was taking it down. | A stone was lying there. He took it; and when Dog put her arm up, | he struck her with the stone. He struck her hard right on the breast. | Panther said: "Oh, you bad-looking one! || This is 35 not for you. I am hunting for my children." | Then Dog ran out quickly, howling. |

When she came back, Coyote heard his wife. He uttered his war cry | and ran out quickly. He split a young tree | to make a bow, and made a small bow for his son. | He made a hammer for his wife, 40 and for his daughter | a small hammer. He said to them: "Let us go now! | I'll go against my fellow man;—you go against | your fellow woman.-You shall go against | your boy companion,-and you shall go against your girl | companion." Then they started. They reached 45 there, and he said | to his wife: "Open the door for me." | Then Dog opened the door for her husband, and he shot into the tent of | Panther. He shot in again. Then Coyote attacked Panther. | He took him and held him. When he knew that | he was dead, he put him down. 50 He looked, and just then (the female Panther) was taking | the hammer from his wife. She was about to strike her with it. | Then he attacked her and took it from that woman. He took it from her and | struck her down. He looked, and just then his son was about to shoot | with his bow. (The Panther boy) took it from him. | (Coy- 55 ote) shot him and killed him. He looked at his daughter, and saw

[BULL. 59

qa'ale'n pal tsxa'lsılqanlaltımılı'sıne po'ponana.ı'se's. miti-ya'xane q!akpakitxo'une neis na.ute'na'nas. ta'xas nao'kte:.

Qakı'lne: "ta'xas kınla'qlakı'n:ki:l. maats umıtskı'n:ki:l." ta'xas n'ıtkı'ne: q!apıl:uqla'ate: ta'xas qanaxa''mne: ts!!na-60 wıs'nokue'ite: qous qaank!alu'k!o:poka'mse: ta'xas tinalunı'sine: neis aa'kıt.la.ı'se:s swa's skı'n:ku:ts. ta'xas n'ıtkaxanı'-le:k. tılnamu''e:s sla:tınts!!lk!o'use:; alaqa'lt!e:s sla:tıl'ı'tkıns aa'qu'qt!e:s.

(b) coyote pretends to be panther

Ta'xas tsami'yat.s n'u'pxane xa'altsin at yaqana'pske 65 swa's. ta'xas tsxana'ate ske'n ku'ts. ta'xas qaqana'ane ne_is at yaqaq_ana'pske swa's. nowo'_uk_une q!a'pe ta'xas naqanke'ine: naqanke'lne: iya'm'o''s. qake'ine:: "o: kumeno'ktsa'yki'ł." n'o'k!uniłhułpałnite'tine neis aa'kuwok.łe'e'ts nak.łe. tka' xams iya'm'o; ne is 70 u's'me·ks mưtṣane·. ta'ṣas tṣṣa'ki·ltkaṣa''mse·. Ana'ha·ks a'a'ke łame'txane: ta'xas sel'alo'use: q!u'mne'ine: kanmi'yit n'anaxa''mne: ske kasqa'pse na'lya ps. nomatse'ite: ta'xas n'itkaxanı'le k skı'n ku ts. xa'altsin lots!!k!o'une ; ałaqa'lt!e's n'etke'nse aa'qu'qt!e's. ts/mi'y/t.s a'a'ke' 75 łaqaqana'ane: qake'ine: ski'n:ku:ts: "a:, ksakqa:nq!ale:lne'ke't.'' ta'xas łaha''qanke'he' iya'm'o''s. ta'xas ktka'xa'ms mưtxane: ta'xas tsxakilmưtxane: q!a'pe's mưtxane; me'txane, me'txane, neis visa'ske a'akles qa'len lalo'use, a'a'ke k.ła'łous neis iya'm'o's. q!u'mne'ine kanmi'yat.s 80 n'anaxa''mne: n'askikqa'pse; ne_is ma ksuk^uaka'te's ło'_use: Tsami'yat nulpalnita'lne aa'k.luk.le'it.s neis aa'kuwok.le'ets. ndke'kse: neis ma kme'txa sdukaxa: 'nmete't.se: ta'xas kts/łmi''y/t.s qak.ła'mne' iya'm'o: "l/nqa./'n'e' swa'.s/l'aqakinawa'sine: ts!:na'ki'l. h:ntstseikatk:'lne: qa'la ke'e'n.'' ts!:na'xe' 85 kanu'q!łaqłena'na. k.ła'xa'm ne_is qa'na'xe yaqanawi'tsom $\prime\prime$ ske:. n'aqłu'k!une: n'u'ktok.łe. $\prime\prime$ t.se:. qaoʻxa'xe:. n'u'pxane: sanmoxuna'kse: swa's ałaqałtı'tımo's. qao'xa'xe: aa'kıt.ła.ı'se:s. tenawetske'kine: n'u'pṣane: pal n'e'nse: ske'n:ku:ts. ta'ṣas lats!/na'xe·łaqawu'li·lqana'xe· t!anukqlo'ukune·. qake'ine· sk/'n--90 ku·ts: "hóy, qa'psins k!u'pski iya'm·u." a:nuwunike't.se a:n'ilqa'haks a'a'ke lat!a'nukqlo'ukune. a'a'ke laqake'ine skı'n·ku·ts: "hóy, k!o·'kuna·k iya'm·u." ta'xas łałaxa'xe· ka'nuq!laqlena'na. a'a'ke' n'ık!namu''e's qakı'lne': "pal łaqa.c'n·e· swa', pał n'c'n·e· skc'n·ku·ts. huwu'kqune· swa' ała:-95 qałtı'tımu: sa:nmoxo'ume:k. pał n'o:uktı'lne:."

Qake'ıne q!a'pe iya'm'u: "hułsa'nilweynata'la skı'n'ku'ts." q!a'pe qake'ıne: "ho'ya." ta'xas laowo''kune skı'n'ku'ts

that she was about to be struck with her little hammer. | (Coyote) attacked that girl and knocked her down. He had killed them all. |

He said to them: "Now pull their skins off. Don't tear them." |
They did so. They skinned them entirely. Then they put them
outside. || They dragged them to an old fallen stump, and | Coyote 60
moved into Panther's tent. Then he put feathers on his arrows. |
His wife scraped the fat off the skin, and his children cleaned | the
guts. |

(b) COYOTE PRETENDS TO BE PANTHER

Then it was evening. Dog knew what Panther used to do, # and 65 she told Coyote about it. Then they did | what Panther used to do. He arose, and called all of them. | He called the Game. He said: "Oh, | come down quickly!" At once they heard noise coming down from the mountains. | They put pitchwood on the fire, and the Game came in. | The first one he shot. They began to come in, and the 70 last one | he also shot. Then there was no more. They slept. | The following morning they went out, and there were two sheep lying there. He skinned them. | Then Coyote put feathers on his arrow. Dog cleaned | the fat off the skin, and the children cleaned the guts. When it was dark, Coyote | did the same. He said: "Oh, it's no use 75 to try to do what you ought to do!" | Again he called the Game. Then, | when it came in, he shot. He kept on shooting all. | He shot, he shot, he shot, until his arrows were spent | and there was no more game. Then he slept. On the following morning | he went out. 80 There were only two of them. The big number (which he had shot) were not there.

In the evening he heard a sound on the mountains. | Those whom he had shot were making a noise. It was the noise of their suffering. | Then in the evening the Game Animals said to one another: "That is not Panther. Why does he do that to us? | Go and look and see who it is." Little Flathorn started. || When he arrived, he 85 went where the wind was blowing. | He smelled a stench. He went there, and saw | Panther and his children piled up. He came to his tent, | looked in, and saw that Coyote was there. Then | he started back. He was not far away when he began to snort. Coyote said: || "Oh, what does the Game say?" After a little while, | when he was 90 farther away, he snorted again; and Coyote said again: | "Oh, the Game found something!" Then Little Flathorn got back | and told his relatives: | "That is not Panther; it is Coyote. I found Panther || 95 and his children piled up there, all killed." |

Then all the Game Animals said: "Let us make war on Coyote!" | All said: "Well." Then Coyote and his children arose. | He called

ała qałt timu. ta xas łaha qank the iya mu's. nułpałnete'tine a 'kik.łe'et.s neis n'a'ata's a 'kuwok.łe'et.s. 100 qałwi'yne: ske'n ku ts: "ktsxałselts!ka l'o'k as iya'm u 's." n'ok!unitwat!no'k!une. q!a'pe iya'm'u q!a'pitwat!no'k!uinxa'ine skı'n ku ts. ta'xas n'u'pxane skı'n ku ts pai sılsa nilwiynata'pse· iya'm'u's. ta'xas n'o'k!und'atdemu'ma iqana'me'k neis at yaqaqana'ake' wanaqana'me'k. nutsqanq!lala'a-105 kinxa'me'k. n'apa'k!e'nlouk!onemu'ne' ma'aka''s aa'kınuq!ma'ana's. ta'xa's na'lat.lenq!oylo ka'me k. ta'xas naqa'nkikqa'me·k. ta'xa·s q!a'pe·l'omi'tsit.laxumu'lne· no'ukueys. ta'xas q!akpakitxo'uhe q!uta'ptse k!. ta'xas qalsaqa'pte k mesqoło'uwum ała kinc'k!timo. qa'kqanq!ła'ła'nk!a'te k. taxas a'a'ke 110 q!akpakitxo'ułne mesqoło'uwum. ta'xas n'asqa'pte k telnamo'utimo ske'n ku ts. qa'akesqank!a'te k. ta'xas a'a'ke q!akpakitxo'ułne xa'altsin. n'uk!qape'ine skt'n ku ts. qakqa nke ikqa'me'k. ta'xa's łało'une no'ukuey neis n'a'ata's a'a'kuk.le'e't.s. ta'xas łaqawa't le'no'uk lune iya'm'u. ta'xas at łatsukok''\c'n'e', 115 at wune ke't.se' ławu'k'qa no'uk'eys. ta'xas łało'une'. qawesqa'ane ske'n ku ts. ta'xas selqata'nuk!ne'lne.

Qous łaqana'xe kanuq laqłe na'na. qa kqa'pse aa kınuqla'anuks tsaqona'se tsl.nal'unalaltımu'n'e skı'n ku'ts. qake'ıne: "ho'ya, hakılwıtskı'tki li skı'n ku'ts." qa wısqa'ane skı'n liv ku'ts. nulpa'lne naluk.lee'tse qake'ıne: "hóy." pal kpaqtsena'na neı no'ukuey nala't.louk.litı'le k n'ilkı'kse neıs qalmaq lala''mne skı'n ku'ts. sqa'nq lalk lapaltıya'xane neıs kaluk.litı'ke's. maqku'pla'mxomo'lne. qlakpakitxo'ulne skı'n ku'ts. sa'ka'xmoxu'n'e. aa'kınınmoxo''e's qake'ıne: "kul'inqa'pte'k aa'kınu'q lula'k la'ako." qakaxamoxu'ne aa'kınu'q lula'k la'ako. sınmıtu'kse qa'oxalxunaku'n'e neı aa'kınu'q lulak la'ako.

(c) COYOTE STEALS THE SALMON

Ts!naqu'ne: qa'naqu'ne: sa'k.lunam'sine: sinkitsqa'pse: qao'xaltsinoqo'ume'k. at yaqa'o'xalqsa'k!oli'ske: qawisaqa'ane: na.uteki'ste'k. ts!nyaxha'k!o'une: n'u'pxane: neis louk!us so'u-130 kse: qake'ine: "ho'ya's hultsu'ukua't. ktsxa'l'e'n' kaa'tsu." ts!nalki'n'e: ta'xas n'o'qo'xaki'n'e: kia'kxo's neis atsu''we's. qao'ka'xane: tsimi'yit q!ayaki'n'e; ktsilm'i'yit ta'xas n'i'kine: ski'n'ku'ts neis kia'kxo's. n'aqsanaxa''mne: neis na.u'te's. kanmi'yit.s n'u'pxane: neis atsu''we's n'aqsa'kiki'n'e: nao''k!ue'. 135 qak.la'pse: ala'e's: "qe''na; nilin'o'kua'xane: ka'kuwisen'a'la." ta'xas la.u'pkaqkini'lne: ya'qa. lae'ki'lne: tsimi'yit.s a'a'ke' laq!a'yaki'n'e: kuwisi'n'e's. kq!u''mne: ski'n'ku'ts a'a'ke' lac'kine: neis kia'kxo''s k!oqoha'kqa'ps. k!o''kxa n'aqsa-

1 Felix Andrew: atsu'e's.

again for Game. Then | noise was heard high up on the mountains. Coyote thought the Game would begin to come down, | but all at once 100 all the Game Animals threw down stones. They all threw stones at | Coyote. Then Coyote knew that | the Game Animals were making war on him. At once he got ready. | He did as he always does when going to war. He put stripes on himself | and pinned tail feathers 105 of the red flicker on himself. Then he gave a war cry and jumped sideways. | His whole tent was torn up by the stones. | His son Q!uta'ptsek! was knocked down. Then three, Misqolo'wum | and her parents, were left over. They were jumping back and forth. Then Misqoło'wum was knocked down. Now two were left, Coyote and 110 his wife. They two jumped back and forth. Then Dog also was knocked down, | and Coyote alone was left over. He was jumping back and forth. | Then there were no more stones up on the mountain, and the Game Animals did not roll down any more. They picked up some more, | and after some time they found stones. Then 115 there were no more. Coyote was standing there. They could not kill him.

Little Flathorn went that way. There a small sharp flat stone was lying. | He hit Coyote with it. He said: | "Well, look out, Coyote!" Coyote was standing there. || He heard a noise. He said: 120 "Hey!" It was a | thin stone which made the noise. Then he put his | head sideways quickly. He was listening for the noise. | He was hit hard on the head and was knocked down. | He began to fall, and as he was falling he said: "I'll turn into || a piece of wood." Then 125 a piece of wood fell from his body, and he fell | into the river in the form of a plank. |

(c) COYOTE STEALS THE SALMON

He drifted down. He drifted along. He came to a town. There was a fish trap. | He stopped where they went to dip water. There were | two girls, who went to get water. They saw a good piece of wood, || and one said: "Well, let me take it to use it for my dish!" | 130 She carried it and put fish into her dish. She did not eat all. | In the evening she put it up. At night | Coyote ate the fish. He went under the girl's blanket. | On the following morning the one looked for the dish, and it was with her. || Her friend said to her: "Oh, 135 you must have eaten all that was left over!" | They took the fish trap ashore and ate again. At night they again | put up the food that was left. When they were asleep, Coyote | ate again the fish that was in the dish; and when he had caten all, | he went under the

[BULL, 59

naxa''mne neis nao''k!'ue's na.u'te''s. wc'łna'ms k!okunu'xua''m

140 łatsnao''k!'ue' na.u'te''s. naqsakdkina'pse nei aa'kinu'qła'k!a'ako: qakiła'mne nei na.u'te: "qináa nilin'okua'xane ka'kuwcse'na'ła." qake'ine: "atoqua'e'kinala'ane: at k!aqa'qa?"
qałwi'yne skc'n'ku'ts: "a: qake'iki'l, 'kcnlqa'e'n skc'n'ku'ts,'
kcnlxunmitqla'pki'l." qake'ine nei na.u'te: "a: kcnlqa'e'n

145 skc'n'ku'ts." łaxunmitqu'lne: lats!cnaqu'n'e skc'n'ku'ts.
qa'naqu'ne:

(d) COYOTE LIBERATES SALMON

N'u'pxane n'a'se na.u'te's sakdhalq!at!e'ise n'upa'xe ske'n ku ts. n'etke'nme k łka'm u 's qous qana'xe: at ła qa'naxu'n e pał ktsa qu'na ne łka m u nupxana pse ne s 150 na.u'te's. qake'ine ne na.u'te: "qous n'i'n'e lka'm'u pal saso'ukune: hulmiti'yaxna'la qa'lam'a'tka tsxalsqa'lte:" ta'xas mitiya'xane: nei ala'timu. nao'k!ue: qa'k.le'k p!e'q!s; nao''k!ue qa'k.le k wu'tswits. peq! ho'paks n'zsnilaxa'xe. tsukua'te neis łka'm'u's. qake'ine: "hutsxal'asxomu'neya-155 ła'ane:." ta'xas łats!:nałki'n'e neis łka'm'u's su'kuiłq!u'kune ka'qa'ps aa'qa'lt!e's ke'e'ns netsta'halna'na's. kts!etak.le'ikin we'lqaps at kts!a'ana's. ta'xas k.lala'xa'm, ta'xas qawasaqa'ane: kanmi''yat.s qa'lq!at!e'ine: kanmi''yat.s a'a'ke. łaqa łq!at!e'ine: szłk!utsxo na'pse: neis aa'qa'lt!es, pał k!a-160 ne'ke's salqatalhalxo'une a'a'ke pal k!upskilqa'e'ns xma ł'u·k!qa'pe·'s. ta'xas słaqaqa'pse· k.łaqa'ta·łhałq!a't!e. n'u'pxane ske'n ku ts yaqaqana'pske nao'k!ue's at lan taqahe'yse at q!akpa'kitxo'use suwa'q!amo's at n'ckinala'pse wałkuwa'yi'ts. lats!:nao''k!ue''s at la'ntaqahe'yse at q!akpakit-165 xo'use: tunwaka'kins at n'e'nse aa'kenq!u'tsa ks. at n'ekinała'pse: so'ukse neists k!aqa'qa'ps. ta'xa's yuna nmiye't.se. k.łaqa'hałq!a't!e' nei na.u'te'ki'ste'k, o'k!uquna ke'e'ns aa'qa'ltle's. neis tsdmi'yet.s nao'klue at n'a'skik.leitsma'lne, latsdmi'yıt.s lats!nao'k!ue at n'askik.leitsma'lne qakila'mne: 170 "ta'xas satsa'mnaqapta'te'k aa'kuq!le'e't kuekina'la. ho'ya's hułtseikata'ła na łka'm'u xma n'a'qa'nhoq!u'tsko' neis hoła'q!at.łakuwała'e's.'' nao''k!ue' qous qa'oxanq!okupko'une'. qak/łne neis łka/m·u·'s: "ho'ya's hog!u'tsko·n'." nei łka/m·u tsukua'te aa'kanq!a'wo ks; nuq!u'tskune qake'ine ne na.u-175 teke'ste k: "pa·ł siłqa'sts!o 'mqaqa'ane. ta'xas łqaosa'qa kuła'łq!at!nała'e's.'' ta'xas ts!:na'xe' ła hałq!at!e'ine'. tseika'te' skı'n ku ts qous ła''nta 's. n'u'pxane pał skıkq lnu'kse pał slit!qa'pse· suwa'q!amo.'s. qao'xa'xe· nao.'k!ue.'s. tseika'te· qous ła''nta''s. n'u'pxane pał skt!qa'pse aa'kknq!u'tsaks. ta'xas 180 qalwi'yne: "hule'ay!" ta'xas n'tk!a mok!o'une: qa'o xak!amok!o'une: neis aa'kınmı'tuks. kuwałkuwa:'yıt.s ława'se:

blanket of the other girl. Early the other || girl arose. The plank 140 was with her. | Then the girls said to each other: "Oh, you must have eaten all the food that was left!" | They said: "We did not eat it. How does it happen?" | Coyote thought: "Oh, say: 'May you not be Coyote?' | Throw (the dish) into the water!" Then the girls said: "Oh, may you not be || Coyote?" and they threw it into the water. 145 Coyote swam on and | drifted along. |

(d) COYOTE LIBERATES SALMON

He saw two girls picking berries. Coyote went ashore | and transformed himself into a baby. He went there. A small child fell from his body, and a girl saw him. | The girl said: "There is a child. | 150 It is nice. Let us run for it, and the one who gets there first shall have it for her child!" | Then the friends ran for it. One was named Night Hawk, | the other was named Snipe. 1 Night Hawk reached there first | and took the child. She said: "We will both own it." | Then she carried the child back. She was glad | to have 155 the child. She was going to raise the boy; | and when he was big, he was to hunt. Then they got home and | staid there. In the morning | she did not pick berries, and also the following day | she did not pick berries. She was prevented by her child. It was heavy. She 160 could not carry him on her back, and | he could not stay alone. Therefore she could not pick berries. | Coyote saw what the one was doing. She put her hands behind the tent and knocked down salmon. Then she ate with him. In the evening the other one put her hand back behind the tent. She knocked at it, | and she took out 165 a fawn. He ate with her. | That was a nice way. For many days the two girls | did not go to pick berries on account of that child. | When it was dark, he staid with the one; | and when it was dark again, he staid with the other one. (The girls) said to each other: | "There are not many berries left for us to eat. Let us | see whether 170 the boy can put out a fire if our home should be on fire." | The one then started a fire, and said | to the child: "Now put out the fire." The child | took a stick and put out the fire. Then the two girls said: "He is clever. He may stay here. | Let us go and pick berries." 175 Then they started to pick berries. Coyote looked | there at the back of the tent, and he saw a lake | there which was filled with salmon. He went to the other side and looked | behind the tent, and he saw that it was full of fawns. Then | he thought: "Let me steal them." | 180 He dug a ditch along toward the river. In the evening | his mother

¹ The species is uncertain. It was described as a bird smaller than a snipe, whose call is "Hust!"

ma'e's. sukuilq!u'kse' kqaha'q!at.la'ako'. naqsanmi'yt.s at qaqana'ane: ta'xas ske'n'ku'ts qaya'qak!amok!o'une: tselmi'yt.s. qałwi'yne skt'n ku ts. "ta'xas kanmi'yt.s kutsxa'l'ay." 185 ts/łmi y/t.s. kkanmi y/t.s łats!e nałq!at!e'ine: ta'xas łaqa'pitsqałwi'yne pał ta'xas kqasts!u'mqa'qaps xałe'e's. sk'nkurts no ye't !te suwa'q !amo 'sts aa 'kenq !u'tsa ks. ta'xa s tuno xa'xe ne k!a'lma'nma'tuks suwa'q!amo. n'o 'k!uilq!a'kpakitxo'une: aa'kınq!u'tsa:ks. ta'xas naq!akuptse'ite: neis 190 a 'kt. lana'me's. neis a 'ktnq!u'tsa ks xunmt'te'. ta'xas ts!/na'xe'. qaakilhalq!at!e'ine. ala'timo'. nao'k!ue' laqana'witski'kine. n'u'pxane aa'kinq!u'kups aa'kit.la'e's qake'ine: "a: ma koupṣa'mi'ł to'ṣua ktsṣalqala'lke'n's lka'm'u''s. tse_ika'te'n' yo'q^uale.'tke' kak't.lana'la naq!ako'_une'.'' ta'xas 195 łats!/na'xe. łałaxa'xe. n'u'pxane łało'use aa'k/t.ła'e's q!apku'pse: qous qayaqa'wo''s swaku'pse: xale'''e's mak!a'se's. pał noku'pse: qa.u'pṣane: neis ke'e'ns aa'kanq!u'tsa ks mak!/se's. ta'xas n'da'n'e'. nao''k!ue' qao''xa''xe' neis ke'e'k. tseika'te ła:lo'use aa'kıng!u'tsa.ks. nao'k!ue qao xa'xe. 200 tse_ika'te: a'a'ke: ła_ało'_use: s_uwa'q !_amo''s: k!a_aqale'e't.s pal szłqakxanmitu'kse qao xanmitu'kse neis k!ałmanmz'tuks. tse_ika'te: n'u'pxane: qous słuyct!c't.se: skc'n:ku:ts ne_is ke'e:k pał sd'ay'nła'pse. qakiła'mne: "pal n'ı'n'e skı'n'ku'ts nei łka'm'u qous n'e'n'e pał sal'aynalawa'sine." ta'xas miti-205 ya'xane: nao''k!ue qananlukpqa'ane naqaps lka'm'u's nao''k!ue qananlukpqa'ane, a'a'ke naqa'pse lka'm'u's. qa.u'pxane ne_is at ma k!askik.le'_itsmal pal schaqa'l·ta'la'pse'. qakc'lne' sk'n'ku'ts'. qake'ine': "hóy, pa'me'k łae'sawa'sano. naqa'ane' łka'm'u." sk'n ku'ts n'anuxo'nłat mo'me'k. tsamna'se łału-210 qałqa''atse'. neis yasa'ske'. qaka'he': 'hayó:, hó.'' ta'xas q!a'pe''s nove't!e't. ta'xas n'ila'n'e' nei ala'timo. k!ayne'laps ske'n ku ts ke'e k.

(e) COYOTE MEETS THE FISHERMAN WOLVERENE

Ta'xas qa'na'xe skı'n'ku'ts. n'u'pxane sa'nkıtsqa pset qakı'lne suwa'qlamo's "ma'qa'k, hutsxal'u'pxane na aqlama'-215 kinık!." ta'xas suwa'qlamo qahaqa'ane qao xa'xe skı'n'ku'ts qakilhaqawi'lse laxaxe n'upxana'pse neis na.u'tenı'nta'ke's laxa'xe n'upxana'pse nok!"e'ine nıtsta'halna'na qak.la'pse altsu''e's: "lu'n'u''s la tsı'na''n titu''e's. tsxalqakı'lne ke''wa's nöpı'kla's." latslına'xe k.lala'xa''m. qakı'lne titu''e's: 220 "wa'xe nöpı'kla. qake'ine alka'tsu kulatska'mi'l." qake'ine a'ts!pu: "ka's klaqa'qa?" qake'ine nei nıtstahalna'na: "slama'lne a'qlu'na'qs, n'apa'klinluklunemu'ne ma'aka''s a'kinuqluma'ana''s. nutsqanq!lalakı'nme'k." qake'ine a'ts!pu: "n'i'n'e skı'n'ku'ts. at qa.apıse'ine: ma'ats tse'ka'tke.il." latslına'xe nei

arrived. She was glad, for the tent was not burned. It happened thus several days. | Then Coyote had completed the ditch. At night | Coyote thought: "To-morrow I shall steal them." | It was night. 185 On the following day they went again to pick berries. | They were not afraid now, because their child was clever. | Then Coyote began to drive the salmon and the fawns. | The salmon reached the large river. At once he knocked down | the fawn. Then he burned | the 190 tent. He threw the fawn into the fire. Then | he started. The friends had gone to pick berries. One of them | looked back and saw their tent on fire. She said: | "Oh, I almost knew what would happen to the child! | Look how our tent looks! It is burning." Then | they 195 went back. When they arrived there, they saw that their tent was gone. | It was all burned, and there in the middle the child's bones | were burning. He was burned. They did not know that they were the fawn's | bones. They cried. The one went to get food. | She looked, and there were no more fawns. The other one went there, and she also saw that there were no more salmon, | and she saw the 200 water running down in a stream to the wide river. | She looked, and she saw that Coyote was driving their food | which he had stolen from them. Then they said to each other: "Oh, that child was Coyote, | he who robbed us!" Then | they pursued him. The one ran along, 205 and gave birth to a child. | The other one was running along, and also gave birth to a child. They did not know | that he had slept with two. They said to Coyote, | they said: "Coyote, oh, leave us something to eat for this child! There are | children." Coyote shook his blanket, and a few turned back. | He said to the others, "Hayo ho!" 210 Then | he drove all of them. Then the friends cried because | Coyote had stolen their food.

(e) COYOTE MEETS THE FISHERMAN WOLVERENE

Then Coyote went along. He saw people fishing. | He said to the Salmon: "Wait until I see the people!" || Then the Salmon stopped. 215 Coyote went there, | and arrived where they were dancing. Some girls saw him; | and when he arrived, a boy was told by | his elder sisters: "Go to your father and tell him that | a manitou has arrived." The boy went back. When he came there, he said to his father: || "A manitou has arrived. My elder sister told me to come." 220 Wolverene said: | "How does he look?" The boy said: | "He has a white blanket, and tail feathers of the flicker are pinned to it. | He is striped." Wolverene said: "That is | Coyote. He is not straight.

225 n/tsta'halna'na. łała'xa'm. qak/łne altsu'es: "qak/ksekatitu'mił ke'ens sk/n'ku'ts. maats k.ltse'ika't at kqaap/se'se's." ta'xas łahaquw/łne. łats!/na'xe sk/n'ku'ts. qak/łne suwa'q!amo's: "ta'xa's ts!/na'ki'l. tsak.luwa'sane a'ts!pu." nei ta'xa hak.luna'mke qa'k.le'k naso'ukue'n ats!pu.

(f) COYOTE MEETS THE FISHERMAN SPARROW.

Qa·na'xe· skı'n·ku·ts. łaxa'xe· sa·k.lunamı'sine·. nei ta'xa hak.luna'mke· qa'k.le·k naso'ukue·n m/ts!qa'qa·s. qak/lne· suwa'q!amo''s: "ma'qa'k hutsqonam''lne na aqlsma'kin'k!" qaoʻxa'xe· skı'n·ku·ts. n'u'pxane· sakiłaquwı'lse· na.utenı'nta'ke's. k!u'pxana'ps no k!ue''se' netstahalna'nas. qakile'sine': 235 "łats!/na'm t/tu"e's tsxałqak/'łne ke"wa's nöp/k!a's." k.łała′xa.'m tatu″e's ne_i natsta'halna'na. łats!/na'xe' qakı'lne: "wa'xe aqlsma'kınık!." qak.la'pse tıtu"es: "ka's k!a·qa'qa· ?'' qakı'he: "słama'he: a'q!o''una·qs setsa'ane. ma'aka''s. nutsqa'nq!la'lakı'nme'k.'' qakeı'ine mıts!qa'qa''s: 240 "łu'n u's łats! nam' he altsu"ne's tskalts kukua'te n'' nse ske'n kurts. kar'as n'ałkełke'n er k!e'k.łer's: '' ta'xas łats!ena'xe:. łała'xa'm qak'lne altsu'we's: "pal n''nse sk'n'ku'ts; qakı'kse su''e's k.ltsu''k¹at. ka''a's atkkı'lke'ns k!ı'kle''s.'' ta'xas tsukua'te aa'key''se s ski'n ku ts ne na.u'teni'nte k. 245 yawıtslat!kı'n e. ta'xas naquwilma'ine. ne_i.sts ka'quwil qalq!anı'lne: "pal n'ı'n e skı'n ku ts; hulsalı'te tna la." ta'xas kuła'quwe'ł. ta'xas łats!:na'xe'. łaqao`xałxuna'xe' ski'n'ku'ts. qakı'lne suwa'q!amo's: "hoqua'tsakı'lnalatı'lne."

(g) COYOTE LEADS THE SALMON INTO THE FISH TRAP

Ta'xas qao`saqa'ane: tsdmi''yet.s na`wasxo'ume'k ske'n'ku'ts. 250 qake'ıne: "xma lqsa'nma'kını'ke't; xma lqsa'nma'kını'ke't; kqa'k_iyam ksano`kts_iy¿nk¿'tsqa xma ktsqa'qxalxatk_inu'k_unam.'' ta'ṣas kqu''mne· skṛ'n·ku·ts. wṛ'lna·ms qakṛ'lne· s_uwa'q!amo's: '"hıntsxal'o k!uilo 'qoxakı'lne ne aa'kı'tsqa.'' wı'lna ms qakı'lne tılnamu''e's: "qakı'le'n' su''ne's k.lqo'una'm aa'kıts-255 qa'e's." qakı'lne ne pa'lke su''e's. qakiya'mne : "kınlxu'na 'm aa'kztsqa''ne's.'' ts!:na'xe' mzts!qa'qa's. xuna'xe'. n'u'pxane' n'o'k!ue''se· suwa'q!amo.'s sawasqa'pse·. ta'xas ła.upa'xe·. tsxa'n·e·. qake'ine: "upkaqk!o'uke'il suwa'q!amo. n'o'k!uwaqa'ane aa'ka'tsqa·ps.'' ta'xas n'aako'ulne: ta'xas n'ıt!qa'o xal'ıkı'lne: tsd-260 mi'yıt.s a'a'ke laha'wasxo'umek skı'n'ku'ts. qakı'lıe suwa'q!amo·s. "ts/mi·'y/t h/ntsxal'a·s/lo·qoxak/lne aa'k/tsqa." w/lnam's qakı'lne tılnamu"es: "qakı'len su"nes k.lxu'na'm aa'kıtsqa''e's.'' qao'xa'xe'mıts!qa'qa's. n'u'pxane'n'aswısqa'pse' suwa'q!amo''s. ła.upa'xe'. tsxa'n'e'. qake'ine': "aa'ko'uke'l 265 suwa'q!amo. n'a swesqa'ane: ta'xas xo naxa''mne: n'ako'ulne: Don't look at him." The boy went back. || When he came back, he 225 said to his sisters: "Father said, 'That is | Coyote. Don't look at him. | He is not straight.'" They continued to dance, and Coyote started on. | He said to the Salmon: "Go ahead! Wolverene does not want us." | The chief of that town was named Wolverene. ||

(f) coyote meets the fisherman sparrow

Coyote went along. He came to a town. | The chief of that town 230 was named Sparrow. He said to | the Salmon: "Wait! I'll go to the people." | Coyote went there, and he saw the girls dancing. | When they saw him, they said to a boy: | "Go to father and tell him 235 that a manitou has arrived." | The boy started; and when he arrived at his father's, | he said to him: "A person has arrived." His father said to him: "How | does he look?" He said to him: "His blanket is white, and he has tail feathers | of the flicker pinned to it. He is striped." Then Sparrow said: || "Go back to your sisters and 240 tell them to take him. It is | Coyote. Sometimes he carries food." Then the boy went back. | When he arrived, he said to his sisters: "That is Coyote. | Your father says you should take him. Sometimes he carries food." | Then the girls took Coyote's hand. || They 245 took him by the arms and danced with him; and while they danced, | they sang, "This is Coyote; we will marry him." After | they had danced, they went there. Coyote went back to the river, | and said to the Salmon: "They want us here." |

(g) COYOTE LEADS THE SALMON INTO THE FISH TRAP

Then they staid there. In the evening Coyote sang. | He said: 250 "It would look strange (?). | Although they have a trap, they are starving. They ought to be saved (?)." | Then Coyote slept. Early he said to the Salmon: | "One of you shall go into the trap." Early | he said to his wife, 'Tell your father to go to his trap.'" | The woman said so to her father. She said: "Go to the water, | to 255 your trap." Sparrow started and went down, and he saw one | salmon in it. Then he went ashore and spoke, | and said: "Take the salmon ashore. There is one in the trap." | Then it was speared. They assembled and ate it. | In the evening Coyote sang again, he 260 said to the Salmon: | "In the evening two of you shall go into the trap." | In the morning he said to his wife, 'Tell your father to go down | to his trap.", " Sparrow went there, and he saw the salmon in the trap. | He went ashore, spoke, and said: "Go and spear | the 265 salmon in the trap." Then they went to the water. The two were 85543°—Bull, 59—18——12

290

n'upkakısiłkinı'lne: a'a'ke ła.t!qao xał'ikı'lne: tsılmi'yıt a'a'ke łaha 'wasxo'ume k skı'n ku ts. qakı'lne suwa'q!amo's: "tsılmi'-yıts hıntsxalqalsalo qohakı'lne aa'kı'tsqa." ta'xas q!u'mne'ine skı'n ku ts. wı'lna ms qakı'lne tılnamu''e s: "qakı'le'n' su''ne s

270 k.łxu'na 'm a 'ktsqa'e's." qao 'xa'xe mts!qa'qa's. n'u'pxane qałsa'se suwa'q!amo 's. ła.upa'xe. tsxa'n e. qake'ine: "aako'uke'l suwa'q!amo qalsa'n e aa 'kt'tsqa'ps." xunaxa''mne, n'aako'ulne. a'a 'ke la.it!qa'o 'xal'ikt'lne. ta'xas to'xua nowumna'mne o'k!uquna kqa'lsa suwa'q!amo. tstimi'yt xu-

275 na'xe sk'n ku ts. qak'lne s_uwa'q!_amo's: "ta'xas h'ntsxal''t!qapk'lne a_a'k'tsqa." w'lna ms qak'lne tilnamu''e's:
"qak'le'n' su''ne's k.l_uwa'silxu'na'm' a_a'k'tsqa'e's." w'lna ms
xuna'xe m'ts!qa'qa's. n'u'px_ane n't!qa'pse s_uwa'q!_amo''s ne_is
y'sle.'tske la.upa'xe, tsxa'n'e qake'_ine: "n'tsta'haln'''nte'k,

tsukua'te'n' kın'aako''mo suwa'q!amo kınlupkanu'qk!o suwa'q!amo to'xua tsxal'omıtslu'xo'natı'tine aa'kı'tsqa'ps. sukuakate'ine.'' ta'xas xunaxa'mne n'upxa'lne tu'xua tsxal'omıtsluxo'natı'tine suwa'q!amo ta'xas n'aako'ulne q!a'pe tı'tqa't! pa'lkeinı''nte'k n'upkawı'silxo'une ta'xas n'itk!a'nelı'lne ta'xas sukuakate'ine k!ıtımase'itil. qao'sa-

qa'ane· skt'n·ku·ts. pet'k!a·ks naqa`nqo`uqua·l'a'sqa·lt.
Qake'ine·: "ta'xas hutslaqouqana'xe·." ta'xas stl·amatka'ane·
ta'xas ktslama'tka skt'n·ku·ts ma`nilyaqkt'nme·k.¹ qakt'lne·
suwa'q!amo·'s: "maats at naa hintsqanakt'lne·. naa k.luquan·-

290 me'tuk atensqanake'ine."

Ta'xas husdq!apqalq!a'nuxwa'te:.

61. Origin of the Seasons

Ho'yas, hutsxalhaqalpalne'ine nei pe'k!a k yaqalee'tke na a'm'a k. qa hakilaqawu'mne nei pe'k!a k at wuku'tine wanu-yetna'mots aqsu'k!witna'm'o.

Qa'hak.luna'mne: n'ı'n'e wanu'yitna'm'o. n'ok!ue'ine tı'tqa't! qak.le k skı'n'ku'ts. tınaxa''mne tılına'mu's namatiktsa'pse ke'e'ks. ta'xa ne tılına'm'u qa'k.le k ta'k!a'ts. qake'ine
ta'k!a'ts: "ta'xa's si l'alo'une ko'e k. pal k!u'pski lwunı'ke t
ktsxal'uma'yit. ka kuts!aqa'qana la'lou ko'e k." qake'ine
skı'n'ku'ts: "ho'yas, e'lan'. ta'xas tkaxa''mna'm hın'qakı'le l:
10 'qa'psin kınsil'e'i'la l' atıntsqatsxa'n'e: lalo'una'm hın'o'kulqakı'le l' ta'xas ılına'hak hutsxalqak.lı'sine: 'kın'u'pske k!a'qa'lwunı'ke t ktsxal'uma'yi't ksi l'a'lo' kı'n'e'k. hıntsxalqake'ine:
'hé'i.'" ta'xas skı'n'ku'ts laanaxa''mne.

Ta'xas ta'k!a:ts qałwi'yne pał siłso'ukse nas yaqake'ıke: 15 ta'xas n'i'la'n:e: w.łke'ıne k!e'ıla. neı aa'k.k.lu''nam qaki-

speared | and were taken up. Then they assembled and ate them. In the evening | Coyote sang again. He said to the Salmon: | "In the evening three of you shall go into the trap." Then Coyote slept. | In the morning he said to his wife: "Tell your father | to go 270 down to his trap." Sparrow went there, and saw | three salmon. He went ashore, spoke, and said: | "Spear the three salmon in the trap." They went down | and speared them. Then they assembled and ate them. Then they had almost | enough to eat, because there were three salmon. In the evening $\|$ Coyote went down and said to 275the Salmon: "Now | fill up the fish trap. In the morning he said to his wife, | 'Tell your father to go down early to his trap.'" In the morning | Sparrow went down. He saw that the fish trap was full at | that place. Then he went ashore, spoke, and said: "Boys, | take your 280 spears and spear and throw | ashore the salmon. They are almost breaking the trap. | There are plenty of them." Then they went down. It was seen that the salmon almost | broke it. Then all the men speared them, \mid and the women carried them ashore. Then \parallel they $\,285$ were cut. Then they were plenty, and they were dried. | Coyote staid there. He already had two children.

He said: "Now I'll go to some other place." Then he left his wife. | When Coyote was about to leave, he put himself across the water. He said to the | Salmon: "Don't go this way. You shall go || the other way." |

Now I have told the whole story.

61. Origin of the Seasons

Well, I will tell you a story of what happened long ago in this | world. They were staying at a certain place a long time ago, | and summers and winters were long. |

There was a town. It was winter time. A man || named Coyote went into the tent of an old woman, who gave him | food. The old woman was named Squirrel. Squirrel said: | "There is no more food, and it is a long time | before spring will come. What shall I do? There is no more food." Coyote said: | "Well, cry. Then if the people come in and ask you, || 'Why do you cry?' don't answer. When they have all spoken to you, | I shall say to you, 'Do you say | that your food will be gone long before spring comes?' Then you will say, | 'Yes!'" Then Coyote went out. |

Squirrel thought that what he had said was good. || Then she cried. She cried aloud. The people in the town said: | "What is

¹ This is the portage between Columbia Lakes and the Kutenai River.

¹ This is the portage between Columbia Lakes and Kootenay River.

ya'mne: "qa'psins k!u'pske: taha'mu!" qunaxama'sine: n'ak.lila'he; at qatsxa'n:e tsan ouk!ue'ise k!e'ila walke'ine: ta'xas q!a'pe's n'ak.lila'he: qatsxa'n:e taha'mu. quna'xe ska'n:ku:ts. qaka'lne: neis taha'mu's: "kan'u'pske k!a'qa:lwu'-20 ko:t ksal'a'lo: ka'n'e:k!" laqa.ila'n:e nei taha'mu. qake'ine: "hê'." qakiya'mne: "kaas kula:'qakina'lats k.luma'yit."

BUREAU OF AMERICAN ETHNOLOGY

A'a'ke łaa'k ła k saak luna'mne qousts qa'ha kiłk in/łne aa'kiłk laku'ko t. ta'xa s n't lwomła'a s nata'ntk!, ta'xa s qo aqłsma'k intk! at naqte'ite luma'yitna'mo's, aqsuk luitna'mo's, ts lupna'ku tna'mo's. ta'xas at łatuk lsa'ane wanu'yitna'mo's. sd'aqakiya'mne: "kaas ts la 'qakt in i l." qakiya'mne: "hults lt'nalayna'ła."

Ta'xas ts!:naxa'mne: ta'xas nei haq la n'ukkua'ke: sd'm'misa'ne nata'nk! kuwanu'yit, tsxal'a.c'nme'sa'ne nata'nk!ktsxa-30 l'uma'yit. laxaxa'mne nei aa'kkklu''na'm. qakiya'mne: "qa'la ya'kla'tsqana, tsxal'a'sinilqana'xe:" n'ok!ue'ine natsta'ha'l. n'upxa'lne ke'en k!a'tsqana. qakila'lne: 'a'snil'a'yen'." ta'xas ts!:na'xe: to'xua ktsxala'xam neis aa'kit.lana'me's, n'atka'n'e nöpa'k!a's. ta'xa's kul'e'tke'n tsxanalta'pse nöpa'k!a's tsxalya'-35 qaqana'ke tina'xa'm qous yaqahaq!a'nske tsukua'te a'lwa's. tanaxa''mne neis aa'kit.lana'me's. ta'xa nei klaxa'xam qakiya'mne: "ya:kuwula'le'k tsxal'a'siniltsukua'te neis n'a'kal-ka'nle's. tsxal'alqanma'te: yaaktsema'k!qaa qous tsxalqaasa'qa'ane qous haq!a'nuqlea'tske tsxalqawaxamat.la'sine: natska'lke'n tsxal'u'k!unil'o'matska'n'e:"

N'ok!ue'ine te'tqa't! tsemak!qa'ane n'e'nse nöpek!a'e's k.ła'wła's. qakił/łne:: "n/nko h/nts!/sinił'om/tsk/n'e." ta'xas ne_i natsta'ha'ł ktina'xa'm. n'u'pxane: sawasaqa'pse: talna'mu's. qak.la'pse: "ta'xas sɛl'e'n'e qayaqa'wokuanu'yet." qake'lne: 45 "kaas ke'e'n łuma'ytina'mu." qak.la'pse": "neis qla'n'e'." qak/he: "kaas ke'e'n aqsuk!"itna'mu?" a'a'ke tsxaneta'pse: nawtski'n e neis i'łwa's. qao xawtse'ine a'kinq lo'kups. qalwi'vse neis taha'mu's ksal'u'timiyaku'mek pal kalasqatale'et.s. qa.upxa'se neis ks:l'utim:/nko neis :/l'wa's. wune k:/t.se ta'xas 50 tsema'k!ił·oquenku'pse: mitiva'xane neis telna'mu's, t!ap!ts!e'ite a'k!alma. 'se's ta'xa's mitiya'xane neis kqa'kiks ke'e'ns łumayitna'mu's. łuku''n'e', n'anałk''n'e'. ta'xas ne i taha'mun'a'nmuqkupnuxunqa'me'k. qalwi'yne' ktsxa'ltsxa. qa'taltsxa'ne'. pał kt!a'pts!e aa'k!ałma'e's. Tse:n'upxale'sine pał qous n'e'n'e 55 t/lna'm'u at wanla't!ne at ne's qa'nank!un/'lne m/te xa'lne. k.łaxaxa'me's qao xank!un'line a 'k't.la'e's neis qanank!un'lne, tenawetskekname's ine ło'use ne is łumayetna'mo's. tse ikate'he, n'upxa'he pal qous n'e'n e aqlsma'kınık! nalke'n e. wanaqana'ine: qalwiyna'mne ktsxal'o'kti'l ne ki'ay. ta'xas 60 to'xua tsxal·axa'nxo'ulne· pal qous n'e'ne· łaa'k!la·k nuq!eyu'nthe old woman saying?" They went there | and questioned her. She did not speak. She was just crying aloud. | Then all had questioned her, but the old woman did not speak. Coyote went there. | He said to the old woman: "Do you say || that you will have no more 20 food for a long time?" Then the old woman cried no more. She said: | "Yes!" The people said: "What shall we do to make spring come?" |

There was another town, and there they kept | the seasons. After twelve months had passed, these | people would untie the springtime and the summer time and || the fall of the year. Then they would tie 25 up again the winter. | Therefore they said: "What shall we do with them?" They said among themselves: | "Let us go and steal it!" |

Then they started. Now, those up in the sky counted that the winter would last six | months, and that six months more would pass || before spring came. They arrived at that town, and said: "Who-30 ever | can walk secretly shall go there." There was a boy. | It was known that he could walk secretly. He was told: "You shall stealit." Then | he started. He almost came to the tent. He worked | his manitou power. After he had done so, his manitou spoke to him, and told him || what he was to do when he entered, and where it was 35 hanging. He took some gum. | He entered the tent; and when he arrived, they said: | "Whoever can throw farthest shall take it, after it has been thrown out. | Then he shall throw it away; and the one who is strongest shall stay on | the prairie on the hillside. It will be thrown there; and when he catches it, || he shall tear it at once." | 40

There was one very strong man. His manitou was | Grizzly Bear. He was told: "You shall tear it." Then | the youth went in. He saw an old woman standing there. | She said to him: "It is midwinter." Then he said to her: || "Where is the springtime?" He was 45 told: "It is hanging there." | He said to her: "Where is the summer?" and she told him. | He was holding the gum. He held it in his hand close to the fire. | The old woman thought that he was warming his hands, for it was cold. | She did not know that he was heating the gum. After some time | it melted. Then he attacked the 50 old woman and stuck | (the gum) on her mouth. Then he went to get the thing in which she had said | the springtime was kept. He pulled it off and carried it out. Then the old woman | ran out quickly. She intended to speak, but could not speak. | (The gum) was stuck on her mouth. It was just seen that | the old woman was moving her 55 arms, pointing in a certain direction. They went that way. | When they got there, she pointed to her tent. She pointed that way. They looked in, and the springtime was gone. They looked for it, | and it was known that the people were carrying it away. | Then they made war on them. They wanted to kill all those who had stolen it. When | they were about to overtake them, another one | 60

70

kt'n'e' neis kałkt'nle's. ta'xas n't'n'e' nei kwult'le'k pał ta'xas tu'xuaktsxala'xa's kwanaqna'naps. ts!tnmt'te' qous aq!a'nuk.le.t'tske'. sla:twtsqa'ane' nei ktsema'k!qa. n'tkt'n'e' nöptk!a'e's. n'tnqa'pte'k k.la'wla''s. natskałkt'n'e'. pał ktsema'k!qa tsema-65 k!e'''se' neis k!oqoha'kqaps n'umtskt'n'e. nalumt'se'. qa'talyeku'ne' kqawunt'kit k.lalt't.lu. ta'xas st'umayt'tine'. ta'xas at st'aqaqa'ane' k!tnmt'sa nata'ntk! luma'yit a'a'ke' at k!tnmt'sa nata'ntk! wanu'yit. nula'n'e' nei ttlna'mu. k.la'lo's ke'e'k.

Ta'xas husiq!apqaiq!anuxuwa'te· ne_i pɛ'k!ak yaqaie.e'tke· na· 70 a'm·ak.¹

62. COYOTE JUGGLES WITH HIS EYES

Ho'yas, hutsxaltsxam'lne yaqaqa'pske kle'tkin sk'n kuts aa'kaqlilna'me's neis pi'kla'ks.

Qa'na'xe' sk''n'ku'ts. n'u'pxane' t''tqa't's qous qaha'n'-lukpqa'pse'. n'itw'sqa'pse'. qao xa'xe' sk''n'ku'ts. n'u'pxane' 5 neis t''tqa't's nutsinqkupikna'kse'. la'itw'sqa'pse'. n'u'pxane' pal nei's qanalwaahakilwitski'kse'. lahats!ina'se'. ta'xas laxa'-xe'. qa'upxana'pse'. n'u'pxane' laiitw'sqa'pse'. pal sil'akaki'nse' aa'kaqlil'i'se's. pal sil'iktikmi't.se' neis yaqanmoxu'ske' aa'kaqlil'i'se's qanmuqkup'noxonakna'kse'. n'itw'sqa'pse' neis qalali'i'se's qanmuqkup'noxonakna'kse'. n'itw'sqa'pse' neis qahaqli'i'se's. laqawaakal'ukaxu'se' aa'kaqlil'i'se's. laqawaakal'ukaxu'se' aa'kaqlil'i'se's.

Qałwi'yne ske'n ku ts: "hoya sułtsuk a'tme ł a kaqłe'l'e s." ta'xas lunikqao xa'xe'. qawoukata'pse' a'a'ke' la. tuw sqa'pse. n'akake'nse. n'iktikme't.se. nutsenqkupikna'kse a''ke 15 ske'n ku ts mit iya' xane. n'atskałke'n e ne is a 'ka'qlilna' me's. ta'xa ne_i ta'tqat! qanalwa:watsla''mne: laqao:\kaxu'se: aa'kaqle'l'e's. pal sil aletqle'lne. ts!ena'xe. ta'xa nei k.lale'tqlil qał'atı'lne nu'ktsnaq!a"nkam. łalitqlı'lne nuktsnaq!a"nkam. ts!/na'xe. qous u's'me·ks qao xa'xe sk/n·ku·ts n'/tw/sqa'ane. 20 qaka'wıtsıtsq!ahe'yne qa'halin' aa'kaxapak!!'se's. qao'xatsq!ahe'yne: tu'xua qanaxu'ne: nuktsnaq!a''nkam. la:hats!:na'xe: a'a'ke łaqaqana'ane ske'n ku ts, a'ake tu'xu ła'q!akpakitk!o'une aa'ka'xapak!e'se's. qalwi'yne nuktsnaq!a''nkam "pal saqapsqaqa'ane naqa'ane nula'n e napit a'ke laqa'qa, 25 me'ka n'e'se maats ku'tsxale'ntseit ku'tsxalqanaq la'ley.'' a''ke łaqaahaq!ana'ane' ske'n'ku ts me'ka k!e'se's nuktsnaq!a''nkam nas qana'qkupq!ale'yne: n'u'pxane: te'tqa:t!s nalkine'ise: tsznkz'n·e·. k!u'pxa skz'n·ku·ts kszłtsznkz'ne·ł qake'ine·: "a: maats qouqaki'nu. hutsxal'ama'tiktsi'sine' aa'kaqli'lne's." qa-30 tsenk!a'pałte'łe'k nu'ktsnaq!a''nkam. tsenkine'łne' ske'n'ku'ts.

took hold of what they were carrying. It was he who could throw farthest. When the pursuers were almost | about to overtake them, he threw it. There on the prairie on the hill | the strong one was standing. He worked his manitou power | and turned into a Grizzly Bear. He caught it because he was strong. || The thing that contained it was strong. He tore it. | There was wind. It was not long before there was no more snow, and it was spring. | Therefore spring has six months, and there are six | months winter. The old woman did it when there was no food. |

Now I have told you how | the world was long ago.1 |

62. COYOTE JUGGLES WITH HIS EYES

Well, I'll tell you what Coyote did with | eyes long ago. | Coyote went along. He saw a man | running along and stopping. Coyote went there. He saw || the man running along and stopping again. 5 He saw | that he was looking up. He went on and arrived there. |
The man did not see him. He saw that he stopped again and that he was taking out | his eyes to throw them up. | Then he ran to the place where the eyes were going. The man stopped || and looked up. 10 His eyes came back down, and | he had his eyes again. |

Coyote thought: "Well, I'll take his eyes." | Then he went behind him. (The man) did not see him. He stopped again. | He took them out and threw them up. He started to run. | Coyote also 15 ran after them and caught the eyes. | Then the man looked up, but his eyes did not come down again. He was without eyes. He went on. The one without eyes was named Snipe. | Now Snipe had no eyes. | He went on. Coyote went ahead there and started. | He stretched 20 out his fingers and just put them into Snipe's orbits. | Snipe almost fell down. Then he went on, | and Coyote did the same again, and he almost put his fingers again | into his orbits. Snipe thought: "It is just as though | somebody was doing this. If it should happen again, | even if it hurts, I shall not mind it. I shall just stretch my 25 hands out." | Coyote did so again. Even though it hurt him, | Snipe just stretched out his hands. He felt that there was a man, | and he took hold of him. When Coyote knew that he was caught, he said: "Oh, | don't do anything to me! I will give you your eyes." | Snipe 30 would not listen. Coyote was caught. | His eyes were taken out, and

¹ The youth who stole the spring was Lynx (k!o'uqune').

² Pierre: laats!ena'se.

³ Pierre: laquaq!ana'ane.

¹ The young man who stole the bag containing the spring was Lynx.

nakaqlilkin/'lne: t!apts!ak/'n'e nuktsnaq!a''nkam ne is a'a'kaqld'e'se's ske'n ku'ts. ta'xas lawoukat.lite'tine: n'u'pxane: suwetskı'n se a 'kaqlı'l'es. wakını'lne nutsınqkupekı'mek nuk tsnaq!a''nkam. łalitqle'lne ske'n ku ts. łats!ena'xe nuktsna-35 q!a''nkam aa'kik.luna'me's. k.lala'xa'm qake'ine huwalkınmı'lne· aa'kaqlı'l'e's skı'n ku'ts. qaha na'xe skı'n ku'ts. ta'xas k!umnaqaqa'ane: n'u'pxane: k.lats!la'e'ns. qalwi'yne: at ma ke'isouks: 'l'wa's qakqankike'ine: n'u'pxane: pal sq!a'n'se 'l'wa's. łuk"'n'e' n'oqouxak'n'e'. woukat.le'te'tine'. n'etske'lne' 40 łaa'k!łaks. ta'xas ke'isouks. tsukua'te: t!apts!akı'n'e: łahaqł/łne·sk/n·ku·ts. ts!/na/xe. n'u'pxane·yaaqakeika/ske·nuktsnaq!a''nkam. qahana'xe: pał k!utimele'it.s, łuquan'ku'pse: neis 'łwas. n'unaxu'se: łaktqk'łne sk'n kuts. qa hana'xe: ta'xas łak!umnaqaqa'ane: n'u'pṣane: naknuṣonu'kse: qałwi'yne: at 45 ma ke'isouk aa'qouq!le'lop. qanaqa'nkike'ine'. n'upxalkene'ite' t!apts!akı'n·e. łahaqlı'lne· skı'n·ku·ts. ts!ına'xe· qahana'xe·. pal at ktspu'q!ue· ne· aa'qo'q!ule'lpp. paq!ame'ise· laa'psila'litqł/łne sk/n·ku·ts. qa·na/xe·. nułpa/łne łka/m·u's sqank/kse·. qake'kse: "tsú'à:." a'a'ke naqankiyame'sine: "qa'psin?" 50 qake'ıne neı lka'm'u. "na_as skı'kil'wılk!alaxapa'kse:" qalwi'vne· ske'n ku ts: "k.ła'qa ławi 'va ł." qanaqankike'yne. n'u'pxane pal naqa'pse lawi'yals. luku''n e ne's kw'lqaps. n'oqouxakı'n e aa'kaqlı'l'es. lahaqlı'lne skı'n ku ts. laapsaqlı'lne ławi'yałs. qałwi'yne: "ta'xa's ku'sd'aha'qlil." qao xa'xe 55 ne_is łka'm·u's ne_is ma kaqa'nki·ls tsuz'se·s. qałwi'yne· ne·' łka'm·u ke'e·ns tsu''we·s. qatse¡ka'te·. ta'xas k.la'xam skṛ'n·ku·ts tsınkı'n e neis łka'm u's. łukuı'n e a 'kaqlıl'ı'se's. ta'xa's łahaqa'pse· aa'kaqlı'l'e·s. qous qao xa'xe· qaakilyunaqa'pse· lawi'yałs. qake'ine: "tsú'à:'. na's ski'kiłw/lk!ała'xa'pa'kse:." ta'-60 xas n'esaknu'ne: ta'xas qao xa'xe ne na.u'te: n'esqa'nakana'kse tsiya'es. ta'xas nalq!at!e'ine. n'owo'kune ski'n kuts. qaoʻxa'xe: tsın·kı'ne: ne-'s na.u'te-s. nakakı'ne: a_aʻkaqlıl'ı'se-s. Ts!/na'xe: łaxa'xe: aa'k/k.luna'me's. qous a:n'ilqa'haks qa·ne't.la's telna'mu's. tenaxa''mne: ta'xas n'e'kine: qake'lne: 65 "ka at k!aaqan'/kit na haak.luna'mke'?" qak.la'pse' qakilwalkınlı'sine skı'n ku ts a 'kaqlı'l'e s sa 'kılk lukmulı'sine a:nwunc'kit.s tsxalwa'xe ałkatc'te tsxalts!:nalxuna'pine qak/łne: "at kinawasxo'ume·k?" qake'ine nei t/łna'mu. "pał ku'siłhuł·a'k.łe·; tsznyaake'isouk tz'tqa't!ts pa'lkei at n'z'si-70 n'ilhaqaw''he:'' q!akpakitxo'une neis teha'mu's. luqla'ate: n'dqanme'te ne's a 'kulak!e'se's. a 'kuqla.e'se's qanaxa''mne. n'esaknu'ne: qawuneke't.se: ta'xas wa'se: neis tete.e'se:s. n'a'sane ne na.u'te ke'wam qake'he: "kate'te ta'xas husyaxnawa'sine: ta'xasts laha'quwilna'mne: hutsts!:nalxu-75 nawa'sine'." ta'xas nałaxo'łne skı'n'ku'ts. ts!ınalxo'ulne'.

BUREAU OF AMERICAN ETHNOLOGY

Snipe put on | Coyote's eyes. Then he could see again. He knew (Coyote) | had taken his eyes from him. Then Snipe ran away, | and Coyote had no eyes. Snipe went back | to his town. When he ar- 35 rived, he said: "I brought | here Coyote's eyes." Coyote went along. | He was poor. He knew there were trees. He thought | the gum would be good. He felt for it, and noticed gum hanging down. He took it off and put it in. He could see with it. He looked for another one. Then it was good. He took it and stuck it on. | Then 40 Coyote had his eyes back. He started. He saw the place from which Snipe | had come. He went along. It was hot, and the gum melted. | It fell down, and Coyote was again without eyes. He went along. Then | he was poor again. He knew there was a creek there. He thought: | "The foam will be good." He felt for it. He found it 45 and | stuck it on, and Coyote had eyes again. He started and went along. | The foam was soft. It burst, and Coyote was again without eyes. | He went along and heard a child speaking. | He said: "Sister!" He also heard some one calling. "What is it?" | said 50 that child. "Here is a big berry patch." | Coyote thought: "There must be huckleberries." He felt for them with his hands. | He knew there were huckleberries. He picked off a big one | and put it in his eyes. Then Coyote had eyes again. He had huckleberries for his eyes. | He thought: "Now I have eyes again." He went to where | the child was calling for his sister. The child thought | that 55 his sister was coming. He did not look. When Coyote arrived, he took hold of the child, took out his eyes, and so | he had eyes again. Then he went there where there were many huckleberries. | He said: "Sister, here is a big berry patch." Then he | sat down. The girl 60 went there where her younger brother was sitting. She picked berries. Coyote arose and | went there. He took hold of the girl and took out her eyes.

Then he started and came to the town. There at one end | was the tent of an old woman. He entered and ate. He said to her: "What are they doing in this town?" He was told: | "Coyote's eyes 65 were brought here. They are using them to obtain good luck. After a little while my granddaughters will come. They will carry me." | He said to her: "Do you sing?" The old woman said: | "I am old. Only young men and women dance." || Then he killed the 70 old woman, took off her skin, | and threw away her body. He went into her skin | and sat down. After a short time her granddaughters, | two girls, came. When they arrived, they said: "Grandmother, | we came to get you. They are dancing again. We will take you over there." | Then they took Coyote on the back. He was carried 75

k.łaxa'lxouł qak'line neis na.u'te's: "hutsxalhawasxo'ume'k, a'a'ke hutsxalhaquw'line."

Ta'xas k.ła'xa'm qake'ine nei na.u'tek'ste'k; qake'ine: "t'lna a'ike ktsa'quwi'l." qake'ine nuktsnaq!a''nkam: "so'ukse a'ike tsxalhaquw'lne t'lna'mu." ta'xas naquwilna'mne. ta'xas sk'n'ku'ts n'u'pxane yaaqane k'tske qakili'lne t'lna'mu: "ta'xas n'nko hawasxo'una'm." ta'xa nei ha'kilhaquw'lna'mke at qakiya'mne.:

"a: ksak.lukmo''le's ske'n'ku'ts ske'n'ku'ts aa'kaqle'l'e's."

Ta'xas te'lna nawasxo'ume k ne s ya qakiyame'ske a' ke qake'ine'. pał kqa'e'n taha'mu, pał ke''e'n ska'n'ku'ts. łatk!a'lmukua. e'tine nei yaakilhaquwilna mke qakile'lne nei na. u'teke'ste'k: "owoke'nki'ł tełna'mu, ke'nłhanułke'nki'ł, pał k!umnaqa'qa.'' ta'xas nei na.u'teke'ste'k n'owoke'n'e' tete''e's. ta'xas 90 naquwiłna'mne: n'alsent_iya'mne:, o'k!^uquna tełna'mu k!es_iniłhawasxo'ume k. sukuilq!ukna'mne . ta'xas wo nike'tine ka'quwe'lnam. ta'xas qake'ine nei taha'mu: "k.łpaka'n'i yaakawasxo'ume·k." at nałkι'n·e· ne¡s a¸kιqłιł'ι'se·s skι'n·ku·ts. ta'xas ske'n·ku·ts nałke'n·e· ne¡s aa keqle'l'e·s. qaakilha quwelna'mne:. 95 ta'xas n'upxalı'sine nei tılna'mu laqaa'psilpalnıxu'ne ta'xas słą!awa'ts'neinaxwa'tek. ta'xas to'xua tsłaqawa'lpałna'lne. ta'xa's łaxa'li'lq!anlo'ukune aa'k!a'laxwe'ets. ta'xas łaltke'ine: n'tuwtsquwu'mne: laqaha'quwilna'mne: qakiya'mne: "tsukome'lki-l, tseika'tki-l telna'mu. lensel'upeke'me-k." tsu-100 ku'îne: tseikatı'îne: nei tılna'mu. n'upxa'îne: sakqa'pse: aa'kuqla'e's ne_i talna'mu. lo'_une· tsan aa'kuqla'e's n'anqapta'kse: nułpałne'lne ske'n ku ts qous a:n'elqa'ha ks. sel'uma'tsine: qakiya'mne: "pał n'ı'n'e skı'n'ku'ts, pał qa.ı'n'e ne_i tełna'mu ka'q_uwił. pał n'upe'łne ske'n ku'ts, pał tsen 105 n'ı'n se a 'kuqlaı'se s.''

Ta'xas husd'q la'pqalq la'nuxwa'te· skı'n ku'ts yaqal'ıtkı'nke· aa'kıqlı'l'e·s.

63. COYOTE AND DEER

Hutsxałhaqałq!anuxwa'te ske'n ku ts neis yaqal'etke'nke tsu'pqa''s.

Qa·hak.luna'mne: neis pt'k!a·ks tsu'pqa at n'tt!xaka'ane: at qa.upsla'tiyil'anaxa'mne: tstn ya·kqasts!umqa'qa tt'tqa't!

5 at n'tsinil'ana'xe: yaak.litaka'te: at n'tt!xana'pse: tsu'pqa's. ta'xa ne' hak.luna'mke: o'k!uquna ksa'han tsu'pqa nowasina'-mne: qalwi'yne: skt'n·ku'ts: "hults!tnal'a'ana'm." qakilt'lne:: "maats a'na'n' l't'!xane's tsu'pqa." qake'ine: skt'n·ku'ts: "a'hutsxal'tkt'n'e: nöpt'k!a. tsxalqa.et!xana'pine: tsu'pqa." ta'xas

10 ts!tna'xe: skt'n·ku'ts. qous qana'xe: n'itkt'n'e: nöpt'k!as.

along. | While he was being carried there, he said to the girls: "I will sing, | I will dance." |

When the two girls arrived, they said: | "The old woman also wants to dance." Snipe said: | "Well, she also shall dance." Then 80 they danced. | Coyote knew what was done. | The old woman¹ was told: "Now you sing!" Then, | while the dancing was going on, they sang— |

"Try to get good luck out of Coyote's, Coyote's eyes!" |

The old woman sang that which was said. She also | said so. She 85 was not an old woman; she was Coyote. There was no | light where they were dancing. The two girls were told: | "Let the old woman stand up. Lead her. She is poor." | Then the two girls made their grandmother stand up. | They danced. They tried hard, because 90 the old woman was singing. | They were glad. They danced for a long time. | Then the old woman said: "Let go what you sing about." | They carried the eyes of Coyote. Then Coyote carried his eyes. They were dancing about. | Then it was noticed that (the voice) of 95 the old woman was going down. She was almost out of breath. Almost they could hear her no more. | Then she was heard singing by the doorway. Then she was not heard any more. | They stopped, and did not dance any more. They said: | "Bring a light! Look for the old woman! She may have died of fatigue." | Light was made, 100 and they looked for the old woman. Then they saw the skin lying there. | The old woman was gone. | Only her skin remained. They heard Coyote some distance away. He laughed, | and they said: "It was Coyote, it was not the old woman, | who danced. Coyote killed her. It was only | her skin." 105

Now I have told you what Coyote did to | his eyes. |

63. COYOTE AND DEER

I'll tell you how Coyote made the | Deer. |

There was a town. Long ago the Deer used to bite the people. |
They never went out hunting. Only the men who were skillful || went hunting. Those who were unskillful were bitten by the Deer. | There was that town. They were hungry because the Deer was bad. |
Coyote thought: "Let me go hunting!" He was told: | "Don't go hunting! The Deer might bite you." Coyote said: "Oh, | I'll work my manitou power. The Deer shall not bite me." || Coyote started. 10

188 qake'ine nöpe'k!a: "tsṣana"tu kaas kuts!aqa'ke n tsu'pqa. ho-·qałwi'yne hutsxal'itkı'n e. ta'xta ne yuna'qa aqlsma'kınık! na_as a'm a ks ka_as at kts!aqa'q_ana. pał ktsxa'l'e ns ke'e k at xma ktsxal'upsla't_iyil'u'pla:ps.'' qak.la'pse· nöpεk!a'e:s: "so'_u-15 k^une·. hutsxalqak.lı'sine·. ta'xa lu'n·u. ts!ı'na·n' mit_iya'xane's tsu'pqa. hantsxaltsanka'n'e hantsxal'ukuinma'lne aa'q!ona'n'e's. hants!atkinma'he' aa'kula'k!e's tsxalso'ukse'; a'a'ke' hents!etkenme'ine a qa't!e s." ta'xas ts!ena'xe ske'n ku ts. qous qa·na'xe· at n'a'qlo·k! tsu'pqa. ta'xas at m/te· 'xaka'ane·. qa·ha-20 kq!anqłup
ė'nse· ne $_{i}$ s ya $_{a}$ qa'kałom
ė'ske·. ne $_{i}$ s łuna'xe· sk
ė'n·ku·ts. n'u'pxane neis a'q!a's nak.luxonate'tse tsu'pqa's n'u'pxane ksełmet iya 'xanaps. peske'n e tławu''e s. ta 'xas n'u'pxane tunwaka'se tsu'pqa's mit_iya'xane; tsınkı'n'e. qao'xaya'xane aa'k!ałma. ¿'se's. łuku'ı'n'e' aa'q!onan'ı'se's. ta'xas nawıtskı'n'e'. 25 q!apiłso·ku/n·e· a 'kułak!/se·s. tsukua'te· tsa'ha·łs, so'ukse· neis tsa'ha'łs. t!apts!akı'n'e'. kul'e''tki'n łapıskı'n'e'. qakı'lne': "ho'ya''s t!anukqlo'ukue'n' na ke'nlqa'na'n'." ta'xas tsu'pqa t!anukqlouku!'n.e. neis dana, xe. neis dalana, kadiajda, tine. tsınlakate'ine tsu'pqa. pal ke'so uks a 'kula'k!e's, ke'iso ks 30 aa'qa't!e's. qakı'lne skı'n ku'ts tsu'pqa's: "ta'xas hosılulıtkıne'sine tseika'ta'm' henyuqua ltsenlakate'ike. ta'xas at maats

atentsxalt!anukqlo'ukune:; atentsxalhosanu'xon:qa'ane: tsen ya·kqasts!umqa'qa at tsisiniluple'sine. ya·k.litaka'te. at tsxal-35 qa.upł/'sine'. taxta'' yuna'qa aqłsma'kinck! pał ktsyuna'qaps k!u'płaps a'a'ke at xma kents!u'pe l.'' ta'xas selholetke'n e skı'n ku ts ke' iso ks qa'psins.

hentsła.e't!xane· aqłsma'kinek!. ta'xas atents!oune'her· hen'u'pxa

Łahats!ma'xe ske'n ku'ts, n'u'pxane tsu'pqa's. n'dwa'ne. a'a'ke· ła'ts!ına'xe·. a'a'ke· ła'e·łwa'n·e· łaa'k!łaks. ta'xas 40 łahats!¿na'xe· ła.aimaxo'une· tsu'pqa.'s. łałaxa'xe· aa'k¿k.łuna'me's qous a:n/lqa'haks qahaqa'pse lkamn/'nta'ke's. tse'n tse_ikata'pse: si łaq!maxomu'n'e ne_is k.ła.aima'xo tsu'pqa''s, o''k!uquna at k!up''lka's. qak'lne neis lkamn'nta'ke's: "qa'psin tsın kı'nsiltse ikata'pke il; awu'tke il. at tsxalqake' ine 45 łkamne''nte-k taxta-' yuna'qa aqłsma'kinek! n'u'pxa łkamne''nte-k ławaq!awu-na'me-s at tsxal'awu'te- ta'xa ne a 'kek.łu''nam. at tsxał'upxa'łne k.łapska'q!awu'na'me's k!u'pske łkamn''nte-k." qa.u'pṣane- nei łkamn''nte-k kaas l'aqa'ke-. qak.ła'pse· skı'n·ku·ts. qake'ike·ł: "hó· hó· wú." ta'xas łkam-50 ne"nte-k q!a'pe- qake'ine- neis kułpa'łnił łkamne"nte-k neists k!aqa'ke. qakiya'mne: "qa'psin sk!u'pske lkamn''nte k." "tse_ika'tke_ił sk¿'n·ku·ts n'anaxa'mna'mne: qakiya'mne: tsu'pqa''s." tseikate'ine schawaq!awu'n'e. la.aimaxo'une skı'n·ku·ts pał sıl·awaq!awu'n·e·. qake'ine· skı'n·ku·ts: "ta'xa·s

Then he worked his manitou power. | He said to the manitou power: "Tell me, what shall I do to that Deer? | I want to change it." Later on there will be many people | in this world. What will they do for their food? | It might always kill them." His manitou said: "It is good. | I will tell you. Go on! and if the Deer runs after you, | take 15 it and pull out its teeth | and make it so that its meat shall be good, and | make a tail for it." Then Coyote started. | He went, and the Deer smelled him. Then the Deer pursued him. | There was a bunch 20 of little trees in the direction from which the wind came. Coyote went around this way. | He saw a thicket. Deer made noise, and he noticed | that it would go for him. He put down his bow. Then he saw | the Deer coming out. Coyote ran after it and took it. He took it | by the mouth and pulled out its teeth. Then he held it, | and he 25 made its body good. He took grass, nice | grass, and stuck it on. After he had changed it, he let it go, and said to it: | "Go on, snort! Go this way!" Then Deer | snorted and went along. It put up its tail quickly. | The Deer was nice. Its body was nice. Its tail was nice. | Coyote said to the Deer: "Now I have finished with you. | 30 Look at yourself! Look how nice you are! Now don't | bite people! You shall be afraid of them. When you see them, | you shall snort. You shall run away. | Only skillful people shall kill you. Unskillful ones | shall not kill you. Later on, when there are many people and 35 when there will be enough | to kill animals, you may be killed." | Then Coyote finished making things good.

Coyote started on, and he saw a Deer and killed it. | He went on and killed another one. Then | he went back. He carried two Deer. 40 He reached the town. A little ways from the town, children | were playing. They just looked at him, and he scared them with the two Deer he was carrying, | because they used to kill people. He said to the children: | "Why are you looking at me? Shout for joy! | That 45 is what children will say. Later on, when there are many people and when children see | somebody carrying meat, they will shout for joy. Then it will be known in the town | that somebody is bringing meat. Therefore the children shall shout." | The children did not know how to do it. | Coyote said to them: "Say 'Hohowu!" Then | the chil- 50 dren all said so. When they heard what the children were saying, they all said: | "Why do your children say that?" | They came out and said: "Look at Coyote! | He is carrying two Deer." Coyote was looked at. | He was carrying meat. Coyote said: "Now | go out 55

55 ana'ke_ił. hun'itkı'n·e· tsu'pqa· tsxal'aqa.ıt!xaniskı'lne· n'o·- kwe'ıqapqa'ane· tsu'pqa.''

Ta'xas husdq!a'pqalq!anuxwa'te skd'n'ku'ts neis pd'k!a'ks yaqal'itkd'n'ke tsu'pqa''s.

64. COYOTE AND TREE CHIEF

Ho'ya's hutsqa'lanuxwa'te k!a'k!lan aq!o'xumale 'et.

(a) COYOTE BECOMES TREE CHIEF'S FRIEND

Qao sa qa'ane ski'n ku ts. nułpałneti't ine ka'qa ps nitsta'hads ka'qa'ps natsta'hads ksao'sa'qa'ps. qalwi'yne: "hults!ına'm'i'l. ktsxa'l'e'n ka'swu ne_i nıtsta'hal pal kqa'kyam 5 kqasts!o'mqa'qa." ta'xa ne_i nætsta'hal qal'ate'lne k!a'k!lan·aq!o'xumale'et. ts!ına'xe skı'n·ku·ts. qous qana'xe n'ıtkı'ne kuwe'lquwa't !e.'s. n'u'pste ske'n ku ts yu hanqa'me k. pał k.letq!uxma'saq! tsukua'te: a'l:a:s. qanakı'n:e: aa'ksa'q!e:s. ta'xas wcłkc'sqłe k!a'łne: qaanmctu'kse: yaqaanet.ła'ake: k!a'k!łan a-10 q!o'xumale'et. le'ine's qous qa'qalxona'pse kwe'lquwat!s sk'n ku ts. k!u'pxa ma'e s k!a'k!lan aq!o'xumale 'et, qake'ine ne_i taha'mu: "a: kse'_ilso_uk qo ha'mke le'ins swu'e's kanxa'le:" nułpałnit'tine qous ktsxana'me's ski'n ku'ts. qayaqana'xe. ma'te neis xaltsı'n'es kuwı'lquwat!s. laxa'xe 15 ne_is tełna'mu's. tenaxa''mne: qake'he: "ka_a ke'nskił'a_aqa'ke qou ku qua'ham le'ine:" n'u'pxane nei taha'mu neis pal n'ı'nse neis nıtsta'hals. ma kskılyılna'antstaps. qakı'lne skı'n·ku·ts·: "a: ma koqua'ke· le'e·ns swu'e·s kanxa'le·." qao'une neis ke'e'ns skı'n'ku'ts: ta'xas sla qa'qa'pse 20 ktso'ukuat ktsxa'l'e'ns swuc'se's xale''e's. n'u'pxane neis xałe"e's ktsxa'l'e'ns naso'ukwe'ns. qao sa qa'ane sk'n ku'ts aa'kt.ła.e'se's swu'e's.

(b) coyote tries to kill tree chief

Naqsanmi'yıt.s qakı'lne: swu'e:s: "hults!!naҳa'la aa'kık.lo'u-na'm." n'u'pҳane: pal tsmak!kiyamı'sine: pal tsҳal'itkı'nse: 25 qa'psins ne¡s nıtsta'ha'ls: nulpalnetı'tɨne: qous aa'kık.luna'me:s ne¡s kqao`wısa'qa qaki'kse: naso'ukwe'ns ktsҳalhama''tkıts: swin'ı'se:s ne¡s nıtsta'hals. ta'ҳas sdaqaqa'pse: kqa'lwiy ksҳal'-e'tkın swu'e:s ktsҳal'u'pilts ktsҳal'ı'siniltsu'ukuat ne¡s naso'u-kue'ns swın'ı'se:s. ta'ҳas ts!!na'ҳe: ne¡s aa'kımana'me:s. ta'ҳa 30 ne¡ nıtsta'hal at qa.dqana'ҳe: aa'kıt.laı'se:s ma'e:s. at qaaqona'ҳe: yaa'kilwılk.lunamı'ske:. skı'n'ku:ts ta'ҳas ke'e:ns swu'e:s, ta'ҳas n'ılqanama'lne: n'u'pҳane: skı'n'ku:ts ksank!a'ame:s. ke'-e:ns aa'kinu'kwe¡t!!'se:s ka'ake:n's. qalwi'yne: skı'n'ku:ts: "ne¡s ku'tsҳalqa'akil'u'pil ka'swu." ta'ҳas laҳa'ҳe:. ta'ҳas yuna'qalpal-

hunting. I will change the Deer, and it will not bite you; | but the Deer is wild." |

Now I have told what Coyote did long ago | to the Deer. |

64. COYOTE AND TREE CHIEF¹

Well, I will tell you about Tree Chief.

BOAS]

(a) COYOTE BECOMES TREE CHIEF'S FRIEND

There was Coyote. He heard about a youth. | There was a youth. He thought: "I'll go, | and the youth shall be my friend, because it is said | that he is clever." The name of this youth was Tree Chief. | 5 Coyote started. He went along. He met | a mule. Coyote took him and rode him. Because his legs were lean, | he took moss and stuffed his legs. Then | he had big calves. Tree Chief's tent was on a river. Coyote came riding along on the mule [opposite (the tent). When 10 Tree Chief's mother saw him, the old woman said: | "Oh, I wish the passer-by would be my son's friend!" | Coyote heard her talking. | He went past. He left his mule and came | to the old woman. He 15 entered, and said to her: "What did you say | when I passed there on the other side?" The old woman saw that | he was a youth. She was pleased with him. She said | to Coyote: "I said this: 'I wish you would be my son's friend." | She did not know that it was Coyote. Therefore || she took him to be her son's friend. She 20 knew that | her son was to be a chief. There was Coyote | in his friend's tent.

(b) coyote tries to kill tree chief

After several days he said to his friend: "Let us go to the town!" |
He knew that it was true that || the youth was going to do something. 25
He had heard there in the town | while he was there [he was told] that
the chief would give | his daughter to that youth. Therefore he
thought | he would make him his friend. He wanted to kill him
and take the | chief's daughter for himself. They went along a trail. ||
The youth did not want to leave his mother's tent. He would never
go | to the big town. When Coyote had become his friend, | he took
him along. Coyote saw a pit. It was | a trap of Wolf. Coyote
thought: "Here | I shall kill my friend." Then they arrived there.

Literally, "different kind of tree."

35 n'ı ne skı'n ku ts. at qo_uquanaqa'lenk!onı'lne. ta xas saqana''ne maats k.ltseikat.le'ite ts nasts yaqao xaqa'nq!ankinake'ske. ta'xas to'xua tsxal'axa'xe neis aa'k!a'ames. ta'xa nei aa'k!a'ame natsłe. ¿'tine o'ku!quna ke'en aa'ka'k!o. qa'nam qa'psin, at qao xała qapwa xamo xu'n e q!a'pe qa'psin, tsu'pqa, k.ła'wła; 40 q!a'pe qa'psin at qao xal'e'pine neis a'k!a'ame's. qao xake'kne swo't_imo. ta'xas łaxa'xe ne_is łaqa'nank!onc'łne skc'n kuts wuqkupxo'une swo'e's. naaqapwaaxametxo'une neis aak!a'ame·s. tse_ika′te· sk⁄n·ku·ts. qake′_ine·: "hyá: ka′swo. hutsxal·aqa'louqalnuk!nc'sine pal kslwit!k!a'ame:'' tscnske'ine pal ksil-45 qoqu'nte·k. qakı'lne·: "yuwaakaqan mı'te·n' aa'kuqla''ntne·s. ta'xas hutsłayuwa_akakne's_ine:." pa:'me·k ske'n·ku·ts nakunke'n'e swo'e's. łaga'tałyuwa_akaken'mu'n'e a_aqa't!e's. se't!e's n'ı'nse aaqa't!e's. ta'xas sıl'aqakı'lne ksıl aqata'ake'n. slu'tske'ine: qa.akunxa''mne: ta'xas k!ak!lan'aq!oxumale'et yuwaa-50 km/te a'kiyukwa'es. q!a'pes qa'psins yuwa'akm/te. ta'xas łałtqła"nte: qake'ine: skt'n:ku:ts: "aa'ke yuwaakaqa'n:mitq!u'k-lo-mak!o'unam.'' ta'xas lal/tq!uk.luma'ne k!a'k!lan-aq!o'xumale'et. neis aa'q!uk.luma'e's at n'anqapta'kse k!u''mtsaks. aa'k.la'm'e's at qaawetsq!anu'se kiaq!aku'tats neists n'ilqa'n-55 mitq!uk.lumak!o'umek pal at k!:nqapta'ke's k!u''mtsaks, neists kiak!aku'tats at n'e'kse neis k!u''mtsaks. ta'xas kq!a'piłtso'ukuat skı'n kurts qa'psins. ta'xas ts!:na'xe: na'ate qa'snal's naqa'pse: aa'kanuqle'it!e's; nayu'kwa'ane: na'ate kiak!aku'tats. q!ap&haqoka'mse aa'kuqla''nt!e's. Łaża'że neis a 'kkk.luna'me's tunoża'że a 'kinuqle'ets naqts!/lukua'ame'k. qakiya'mne': "ho'yas wa'xe' k!a'k!lan'aq!o'xumale''et.'' tseikate'lne qou ka'mke qawaka'xe wa'xe aa'kık.luna'me's. qakilı'lne: "qous sınt.la'ane naso'ukue'n." qalwi'ynamı'sine: ta'xas ksılqo'ukam neis k!aqa'ke:ks naso'ukue:ns 65 ktsxal'sale'tit swen'e'se's. t_inaxa''mne'. pee'k!a'ks nulso_uk_inle's_ine' aa'kmoxo'e's, o'ku!quna ke'en naso'ukue'ns. tahamu''e's naso'ukuem su kudq!u'kse neis ke''wam. qa.u'pxane nei na.u'te neis ke'e'ns ske'n'ku'ts. pe'k!a'ks qakilqao sa qa'pse naas a 'kik.łuna'me's. neis k.łaqo'ukua''s. łaqa.o'une n'e'nse nułaqana''e's. 70 sukudq!u'kune: n'asaknu'n'e ska'n'ku'ts. na'ate kiak!aku'tats. n'ilqanmitq!uk.lumak!o'ume k. at n'unanuxu'se neis kiak!a-

ku'tats at n'e'kse neis k!u''mtsaks. at łaqao xanuxu'se

aa'k.ła''m'e's. ta'xas k!u'pxana'ps al'atsawa'ts!e's neis

k!aqa'qa'ps aaq!uk.luma''e's. at tsukua't.se' at laqa.e'kse' neis

ta'xas ske'n ku ts yanxu'se kiaq!aku'tats, a'a'ke łalitq!u'k.lu-

ma'ne: ta'xas szłk!u'mnaqałałkz'ne: nei naso'ukue'n. ta'xa nei

75 tuq!tsqamna'e's. qawunekt't.se' yanxu'se' neis kiak!aku'tats.

naso'ukue'n qal'ate'lne kiaq!ano'kwaat.

Coyote was talking all the time. | He pointed at everything, so that 35 his friend should | not look at the place where he was to step. | Then they had almost arrived at the pit. The pit was | hardly visible because it was a trap. If anything goes along there, | it falls into it; everything—deer, grizzly bear, | everything—dies there in the pit. 40 The friends went there. | They arrived; and while Coyote was pointing at different things, | he pushed his friend. He threw him into the pit. | Coyote looked, and said: "Hya, friend! I shall have no | way of getting you out, for the pit is deep." He just said so on purpose. | He said to him: "Throw up your clothing, | then I'll get 45 you up." Coyote pulled | his friend slightly. He could not get him up with his tail. His blanket | was his tail. Therefore he told him that he could not do any more, | but he was telling him a lie. He did not pull. Then Tree Chief | threw up his war bonnet. 50 He threw up everything. | Then he was without clothing. Coyote said: "Spit up your spittle." | Then Tree Chief had no more spittle. | It became sea shells. A sparrow hawk was sitting on his head. When | he spat, his spittle changed into shells, and | the sparrow 55 hawk ate them. When | Coyote had taken everything, he left. He had | a shield. He had a tomahawk. He had a war bonnet. He had the sparrow hawk. His clothing was fringed.

He arrived at the town. He came out on a prairie, | and shouted. 60 The people said: "Oh, Tree Chief has arrived!" | He was coming along. He came nearer, and arrived at | the town. He was told: "There is the tent of the chief!" They thought | that he was coming to marry the chief's | daughter, according to what the chief had said. 65 He entered, and the place was ready prepared for him, | because he was a chief. His wife | was glad when he came. The girl did not know that he was Coyote. He had staid at this town already. When he came back, she did not know that he was (not) her husband. She was glad. Covote sat down. He had the sparrow hawk. 70 When he spat, the sparrow hawk would fly down | to eat the shells. Then it flew back | to his head. When his sisters-in-law knew that | his spittle was thus, they took it, and | the bird would not eat any 75 more. It was not long before the sparrow hawk was starving. | Then Coyote let the sparrow hawk starve, and he had no saliva. | Now, the chief had made a mistake. The name of the chief was Golden Eagle.

85543°—Bull. 59—18——13

(c) WOLF RESCUES TREE CHIEF

Qao'sa'qa'ane ne nul'a'qana qa'k.lik ka'ake'ns. qasts!o''m-80 qaqa'ane k!ana'ktsek sl'aqal'ate'he ka'akens. kanmi'yet.s ts!/na'xe a 'k/nokuwe' it!e s ka'ake n. łaxa'xe n'um/tsłe./'t.se. qałwi'yne ktsxałha'qa qa'psin ła'nyonawetske'kine neis aak!a'ame's. n'u'pxane sanaqana'kse lka'm'u's tsa qona'se. qakı'lne: "a: mats!lıtıtxana'pane:" qalwiykina'pse neis 85 łka'm'u's: "maats u'pło'. łats!/nam/le' t/lnamo'une's. h/ntsxalts!kakikma'lne:" lats!na'xe ka'ake'n lalaxa'xe aa'kt.ła'e's. qak'line tilnamu''e's: "hults!!naxala''e's. sao sa qa'ane łka'm'u kaa'kın'okue'itimił. hutsxal'akakınala'ane'.'' ta'xas ts!/nak/'kine' t/lnamo'utimo. k.la'xam tseika'te' nei t/lna'm'u 90 ne_is łka'm·u·'s. qałwi'yne· pał szłqa'psqakzsqlz'łne· k!a'k!łan·aq!o'xumale'et. qalwi'yne ne lka'm'u: "halwa'ts!ke'ıl qa'la ho'paks n'esenltsukua'taap tsxal'e'n'e kapa'pa." ta'xas qake'ine: nei t/lna'mu's: "hula'lwats!na'la. qou qa'o xa'n kınlts!ka'kitsmı'ke'n'. ka'min ne hutsqao'xa'xe' a'a'ke huts-95 xaltskakı'tsme kı'n e. qala ho'pa ks n'ısnıl axa'kitsmı'ke n tsxaltsukua'te: na'pit ho'pa'k hen'e'siniltso'ukuat hentsxal'upe'lne: na'pit hun'e'sinilwa'sil'axa'kitsme'ke'n tsxal'e'n'e' kapa'pa." qake'ine ka'ake'n: "ho'ya." qalwi'yne ka'ake'n: "pał kciłsa'han na łka'm'u. kutsxałq!akpakc'txo:" ta'xas 100 nalwa'ts!ne· tcha'muts nul'a'qana. ts!:nakctsmekc'n·e·. xi'n·a ne_i te'tqa't! pał tsxalts!ena'kine: ne_i telna'mu qats!e'ketsme'k/'n·e·. naq!a'naq!ane'ne·. ta'xas qa'kxalwasaqana''ne· nei taha'mu. ne_i nul'a'qana la'qawasa qana''ne: qaha'le'n' qayaaqa'naq !ałe'yne ne i tałna'mu ne is a 'k !a' ame's. sakane' ise ne is łka'mu's 105 nakunkı'n e. n'e lqa kakı'n e. ne nul'a'qana ta'xas a'a'ke qayaaqanaq!ale'yne:; lo'use neis lka'm'u's qake'ine: "ya: hoyu'k!k^ua_aka'te:." ta'xas łaana'k¿sxa''mne: tse_ika'te ne_is łka'm'u's tełna'mu. qałwi'yne: "pe'k!aks maon'u'pṣane k!a'k!łan aq lo 'xumałe 'et nas tsemak lqa 'kasqla'he neis ke'en lka'-110 mu's." ta'xas łats!:na'xe aa'k:t.ła'e's ka'ake'n. łasouku'n'e aa'ken'ukwe'it!e's. k.łałaxa'łkin neis łka'm'u's nei tełna'm'u ta'xas n'ektuqo'une: sukudq!u'kune ka'qaps papa'e's.

(d) tree chief provides food for his grandparents

Ta'xas to'uxua waqa''ne ne ka'm'u. qaka'he papa''e's:
"kapa'pa, ke'ilo aa'kanq!a'lqa?" qakala'pse: "a: kapa'pa,
115 lo'une ne n'ula'qana." qaka'he ne ka'm'u''s: "kaas
xma k!aaqa'keika'ke'n?" n'atska'he ne taha'm'u wu'kqune tsaqona'se namata'ktse papa''e's. n'itka'n'e t!aqu'mo's ne lka'm'u. nanawatsk!o'une, latkaka'n'e q!apxo'use wa'suk!us.
lu''nte a'a'ke la'ana'watsk!o'une. latkaka'n'e. a'a'ke laq!ap-

(c) WOLF RESCUES TREE CHIEF

An old man named Wolf lived there. He was an expert | hunter. 80 Therefore he was named Wolf. In the morning Wolf | started for his trap. He got there, and it was broken. | He thought that there must be something in his trap. | He looked down into the pit and saw a small child sitting there. | He said to him: "You soiled this place for me." The child caused him to think: | "Don't kill me. Go back to your 85 wife, | then come back with her." Wolf started back, and arrived at his tent. | He said to his wife: "Let us go! There is | a child in my trap. We will take him out." Then | the couple went. They arrived, and the old woman looked | for the child. She thought his eyes looked 90 like those of Tree Chief. | The child thought: "Bet who | will get me first. He shall be my grandparent." Then | the old woman said: "Let us bet! Go over there | and start to dig, and I'll go here and | I will also begin to dig. Whoever first gets down to him | shall take 95 him. If you take him first, you may kill him. | If I get him first, he shall be | my grandson." Wolf said: "Well." Wolf thought: | "The child is bad; I will kill him." Then | the old woman and her 100 husband raced digging. Oh, | the man was digging fast! The woman was not digging fast. | She nodded her head. Then the old woman began to dig fast, | and her husband was not fast. The old woman just went through | to the pit. She felt of the child | and pulled him 105 out. She pulled him away. Then the old man also | pushed his hand through, but there was no child. He said: "Ya, | I missed it." Then both went out. The old woman looked | at the child. She thought: "Long ago I saw Tree Chief. | His eyes were like those of this | child." 110 Then Wolf went back to his tent. He fitted up | his trap. When the old woman brought back the child, | she washed him. She was glad to have a grandson.

(d) tree chief provides food for his grandparents

Then the child was almost grown up. He said to his grandmother: | "Grandmother, is there no sinew?" She said to him: "O grandson! || there is none here." The old man said to the child: "Where | 115 should he get it from?" The old woman looked for it and found | a small piece. She gave it to her grandchild, and the child made a netted ring. | He held it outside on the point of a stick. He brought it in, and it was loaded with birds. | He took them off and held it

¹A bird smaller than a robin, yellow at the tips of the feathers, with a single feather on top of its head.

120 xo'use· we'suk!us. qake'ine· papa''e·s: "kapa'pa''. qanawets-ke'kine· nei teina'm·u. sen·moxuna'kse· tuq!tsqa'mna-'s. qak-la'pse· "etke'n·e·n' kul'ikina'la." suku'ilq!u'kune· nei teina'm·u. Kanme·'yit.s qake'ine· papa''e·s: "ke'ilo· aa'k!a'aq!yu qayaaqa'la·m?" qake'ine· nei teina'm·u: "lo'une·." qake'ine· nei teina'm·u: "lo'une·." qake'ine· nei teina'm·u. n'u'pxane· sawetsqa'pse·. qa-ke'ine· nei teina'm·u. n'u'pxane· sawetsqa'pse·.

qaps." n'¿tsk¿'łne ne tałna'm u. n'u'pxane sawatsqa'pse qa-k¿'ł ne: "na n'¿'n e tsaquna'ne:" qake'ine ne łka'm u: "pa-me k tskak¿'ne n'." n'itk¿'n e t!aqo'mo 's ne łka'm u. n'analkı'n e. nuk!ui'nkı'n e łaq!an xo'unals qo's a:n'¿lqa'ha ks qao -

130 xa'xe: qakı'lne papa''e's: "hınts!ı'link!oma'tek." ts!ınaqa'yte neis t!aqo'mo''s qous aa'k!alaxwe'et.s. qakı'lne neis t!aqo''-mo''s: "pa:'me'k hınts!ı'luqlaxo'une nei nul'a'qana. at qatslak.la'pane:" qao'xaq!a'yne nei t!aqo'mo. qake'ine nei nıtsta'-halna'na: "yu'wa, yu'wa, yu'wa, kapa'pa. tsxal'aakonı'sine

135 iya'mo." nalokumi'se. qa.okunoxa'mne nei tilna'm'uts nei nul'a'qana. n'ok!uinq!alki'n'e si't!e's. n'u'pxane iya'm'o's pal siltka'qumlasxu'se aa'kit.la'e's. ta'xas to'xua ts!aakuna'pse. nei nitsta'halna'na qunaakina'xane. n'upi'lne. laqao'xa'xe'. qaki'lne: "kapa'pa. ta'xas omitse'itke'l." n'ukunoxa'mne

140 ne_i tcha'm'u. n'u'pxane: sakqa'pse: qayaaqa'la'ms. sukuilq!u'kune: ta'xas n'omitse'ite: qakc'lne: papa''e's: "maats yc'k!tan' aa'kuwum'a'lq!ol la'ntaoxakc'ne'n', a'a'ke: aa'ku'qla'm." n'oqouxakc'n'e ya't!aps. qakc'lne: "kapa'pa, a'a'ke la'ntaoxakc'n'e'n'." ta'xas tcha'm'u n'ctk!anc'lne: n'itma-

145 se'ite'. ts/lmi'y/t.s q!o'mne'ine'. w/lna'ms n'ukunuxa''mne' nei n/tsta'halna'na. qak/lne': "kapa'pa, hutsxal'/kine' k/lku'lka." qake'ine nei t/lna'mu: "lo'une' kilku'lka." qake'ine nei lka'm'u: "ma k/nla'ntaaxa'ke'n. tseika'te'n'." qao'xa'xe' nei t/lna'm'u. tseika'te' neis aa'kuwum'a'lq!o'ls. n'/nqapta'kse' kil-

150 ku'lka's. qaszluk!o'uktse: papa'e's a'a'ke nei nul'a'qana. a'a'ke n'z'kine kilku'lka's. kanmi'yit qake'ine nei nztsta'-halna'na: "kapa'pa, ke'ilo aa'k!a'aq!iyu lu'kpo:" qake'ine: "lo'une:" qake'ine nei nul'a'qana: "ma ka'qaps. lka'm'u hamatz'ktse'n'." n'ztskz'lne: wu'kqane: qakz'lne papa'e's: "naas

155 n'''n''e' tsa quna'ne'' qak''lne' papa''e's: "pa:'me'k tskak'-n'en'." namatktsa'pse' n''tk''n''e' a:nwklqa'pse' t!aqo'mo''s ne's ma qa'kilyaaqak''n'ke', a'a'ke' laqak''n'e' ne's wa'lkuwas k!o'pi qayaaqa'la''ms n'''nse' sk't!e's. ne' nktsta'halna'na ne'stsousaan-miyk't.ske' k!o'pil lu'kpo''s n'ktk'n'e' skt!k'se's papa''e's.

Neis yaaqaanit.łaa'ke łe'ine saa'kınmı'tuks qaak.lunamı'sine neists qa'o xaltsukuatka'ane skı'n ku ts nei nıtsta'hal qakı'lne papa''e s: "kapa'pa; hamatı'ktsu kilku'lka hutsts!ınyaxaak!o'une:" namatiktsa'pse papa''e skilku'lka ps. peı'k!aks n'u'pxane nei nıtsta'halna'na neis aa'kınmı'tuks tsxal'u'pxane

out again. He took it in, and again || it was loaded with birds. He 120 said to his grandmother: "Grandmother!" | The old woman looked, and there was a pile of birds. | She was told: "Prepare them. Let us eat." The old woman was glad. |

In the morning he said to his grandmother: "Is there no leg skin | of a yearling buffalo calf?" The old woman said: "There isn't any." The old man said: || "Old woman, do you bring it, that there 125 may be some!" | The old woman looked for it. She saw some. She said to him: | "Here it is. It is a little piece." The child said: | "Give it, anyhow." The child made the netted ring. He took it out. | He opened the door a little farther. He went there. | He said 130 to his grandmother: "Cover your head with your blanket." Then he began to roll | the netted ring to the door. He said to the ring: | "Surprise them a little; the old man does not like me." | Then the netted ring rolled along there. The boy said: | "Go away, go away, go away, grandmother! The game will hook you." | There was noise 135 of running, but the old woman and the | old man would not get up. When he threw back his blanket, he saw the game | jumping into the tent. It was about to hook them. Then the | boy threw his lance and killed it. He went there. | He said to her: "Grandmother, cut it up." The old woman arose, | and saw a yearling. She was glad. | 140 Then she skinned it. He said to his grandmother: "Don't | spill the guts. Put them behind in the tent, and also the hair." | She put the coagulated blood inside. He said to her: "Grandmother, put it also . behind in the tent." | Then the old woman cut it up and dried the meat. | In the evening they slept. Early next morning the boy 145 arose, | and he said: "Grandmother, I'll eat pemmican." | The old woman said: "There is no pemmican." The | child said: "You put it away. Look!" The old woman went there. | She looked at the guts. They had become pemmican. | His grandmother took a piece, 150 and also the old man, | and they all ate permican. In the morning the boy said: | "Grandmother, is there no edge piece of the skin of a buffalo cow?" She said: | "There is none." The old man said: "There is some; give it to the child." | She looked and found it. She said to her grandson: "There is a | small piece." He said to his 155 grandmother: "Anyway, give it to me." | She gave it to him. He made a larger netted ring, | the same as before, and he made it in the same way as the day before, when he killed | the yearling. That was his blanket. On the same day the boy | killed a cow and made a blanket for his grandmother.

Across the river from where the tent was there was the town | 160 where Coyote was married. The youth said to | his grandmother: "Grandmother, give me pemmican; I'll draw water." | His grandmother gave him pemmican. | The youth knew already that at the

198

165 naso'ukuemssuwan'a'se's. ta'xassaltsukua'te kalku'lka's. ts!ana'xe: xona'xe: n'u'pxane na.u'te's namatiktse qak'lne: "łats!:nałkı'n·e·n'. hantsxal'e·kı'lne. maats tsxal'u'pxane. nei te'tqa't!. qa'k.le's ma''ne's 'qa'la k!e'se'n naas kilku'lka's,' hentsxałqak/łne: 'n'/sine-lamatiktsa/pine: xunyaxak!ona/we:'"

170 ta'xas łats!ına'xe· ne_i na.u'te·. n'ı'nse· suwı'n'e·s kiaq!anu'kuat naso'ukuem. a'a'ke nei natsta'hal lats!ana'xe.

Kanmi'yet.s qake'ine papa''e's: "ke'ilo aa'k!a'aq!iyu nư'se·k?" qake'ine nei tưna'm·u: "ło'une:" qake'ine. nei nuł'a'qana: "maka'qa'ps. hamate'ktse'n'łka'm'u." wu'kqune:

175 namate'ktse: qake'ine: "naas n'e'n:e tsaquna'ne:" qake'ine: "me'ka ktsaqu'na hamate'ktsu." ne'tken t!aqo'mo's welqa'pse: at sel'itke'n e nöpe'k!a 's at sel'aqaqa'pse mi'ka tsaqu'nas neis $ak!a'_aq!_iyu's\ at\ k_uw\iota'lqa\cdot ps\ t!aqo'mo\cdot 's.\ ne_is\ at\ ya_axqak\iota'n\cdot ke\cdot$ ne_is qaya_aqa'ła·'ms qa'_alin at łaqa'łatikı'n·e· n'upı'łne· nı'lse·ks.

180 ta'xas aa''ke naqa'pse se't!e's ne nul'a'qana. qayaaqa'waaq!anq!lt'lse: neis n'oqouxa'ke'n ya't!aps aa'ku'qla's. nupa'ke'n. kanmi'yet.s łatu'nwa, ka'ke'n at n'ınqapta'kse k!ıtq!anxo'ulis; at qayaaqawaaq!anq!le'lse se't!e's. ta'xas n'oukulhalama'lne ałpapa'timo. ta'xas yunaqa'pse kiłku'łka's, yunaqa'pse aa'quło-185 ma"e's.

Qake'îne papa"e's: "hamate'ktsu kilku'îka. hutsts!enya'xak!o'une: hutsxałpı'tsekı'me:k." qak.la'pse: papa"e:s: "atınsılwa'sdq!a'pxane:" qakc'he: "atunamatc'ktse xunyaxaak!ona'we:" ta'xas ts!anyaxaak!o'une: kxu'na'm a'a'ke łaxokwa'-190 se ne is na u'te's. namate'ktse qake'ine : "hentsxal'e ke'ine. qa'k.le's ma''ne's: 'qa'la at k!esnilamate'ktse's,' hentsxalqake'lne: 'at n'esnilamatiktsa'pine xunyaxaak!ona'we.''' qake'ne "maats atentsxalhes ke'he ne te'tqa t! ne s nul'aq'na "e s tsu"ne's."

(e) TREE CHIEF VISITS THE TOWN OF GOLDEN EAGLE

Ne_i a_a'kik.łu''na'm ta'xas tsema'k!e'l'owask.luna'mne'. ło'_une· iya'm'u łu'kpo'. sd'at.latsu'te· k!a'k!lanaq!o'xumale'et. sdsaanilweyna'ate ske'n kuts. sd'aqaqa'pse kkt.la'atsut łu'kpo''s. qak'line neis na.u'te''s: "kanmi''yit h'ntsxalsouku''n·e· kała'xa. hutsłaxa'xe· a, kt.łant'ski·ł." łats!:na'xe· ne; 200 na.u'te: k.łat_ina'xa'm a_a'kit.ła'e's namat'ktse ma''e's ne_is kiłku'łka's. ta'xas n'e'kse'; a'a'ke' n'e'kse' su''e's. a'a'ke' namate'ktse neis tsu''we's, neis ske'n'ku'ts telnamu''e's, neists ksk'k.leits sk'n'ku'ts: nukuna'kane, n'upinqanawitsk'lne tiłnamu"e's. qake'łne: "qapsqaqa'ane nensel'e'kine qa'psin." 205 qatseitaka'pse tahamu''e's. qak.la'pse ma''e's: "qa'la k!!'sin na_as kiłku'łka's?" qakt'łne: "n't'siniłhamatiktsa'pine: xunyaxaak!ona'we:" kiaq!anu'kwa''t naso'ukue'n qalwi'yne:

"ta'xas hol'u'pxa qa'la k!!'sin na_as kot'k_imil." n'a'naxa''mne

river he was going to see | the chief's daughter. He took the pemmi- 165 can, started, | and went to the river. He saw the girl and gave it to her. He said to her: | "Take it back home and eat it. Don't let that man see it. | If your mother asks who owns this permican, say to her, | 'The one who draws water all the time gave it to me.'" | Then the girl started back. She was the daughter of the chief 170 Golden Eagle. The youth also went back.

In the morning he said to his grandmother: "Is there no leg part of the skin of a bull?" The old woman said: "There is none." The old man said: | "There is some; give it to the child." She found it | and gave it to him. She said to him: "Here! It is small." 175 He said: | "Even though it is small, give it to me." He made a large netted ring. | He worked his manitou power; and although the edge of the skin was small, | it became a large netted ring. He did the same way | as he had done with the yearling. Just as he had done that, he killed the bull. | Then the old man also had a blanket. 180 There was a painting in the center of it. When she had put the coagulated blood in the skin and put it away, | and when she brought it out the next day, it was tanned, | and there was a painting in the center of the blanket. Then the grandparents and the grandson all had blankets. | They had much pemmican and many | parflèches. 185

He said to his grandmother: "Give me pemmican. I'll draw water. | I'll eat it on my way." | She said to her grandson: "You eat it too quickly." He said to her: "I give it to the water carrier." Then he went to draw water. When he came to the water, | the girl 190 also came. He gave it to her. He said to her: "Eat it. | If your mother asks you who gave it to you, then | say to her, 'That one gave it to me himself who goes to the river to draw water." He said to her: | "Don't give any of it to the man, your | elder sister's husband."

(ℓ) TREE CHIEF VISITS THE TOWN OF GOLDEN EAGLE

The people in that town were very hungry. There were no | buffa- 195 loes. Tree Chief had hidden them. He was angry at Coyote. Therefore he had hidden the buffaloes. | He said to the girl: "Tomorrow prepare | my seat; I'll go to your tent." The girl went back. When she entered the tent, she gave the permican to her 200 mother. | Then she ate. Her father also ate, and | she gave some to her elder sister, Coyote's wife, while | Coyote lay asleep. He felt uneasy. He looked sideways | at his wife. He said to her: "It looks as though you were eating something." | His wife did not look at 205 him. Her mother said: "Who owns | this pemmican?" She said to her: "The one who always draws water gave it to me." | Chief Golden Eagle thought: | "Now I'll see who owns what I eat."

kiaq lanu'kwa't. luku''n e aa'q lu'k.lupqa''e's. n'iktikmi'te. 210 qaants!lat'nse qawaxamt'te. n'tnqapta'kse kiaq!anu'kua't.s. ne_is at qakal'itke'n'e kiaq!anu'k^ua't.s; sl'aqaqa'pse kqa'k.lik kiaq lanu'kua'ts. tsxa'n'e'. qake'ine': "naas swatsq lanu'ne' kiaq!anu'kua''t. m/txa'ke'l q!a'pe' lka'm'uts n/tsta'ha'lts kwe'iqa te'tqa t!ts kul a'k.le te'tqa t!. qa'ia n'e'tk!o tsxal'e'nse 215 t/mamu"e's kasw/nmi'ł. ma kloklqa'pe's." ta'xas qla'pe tsukuate'her t!a'wu. n'anaxa'mna'mner nei aa'kik.lo'unarm pal kuwakk.ło'una m. yunaquwu'mne ${
m lka'm'uts}$ netsta'halts te'tqa't!ts kul'a'k.le', q!a'pe' metxa'lne'. qake'ine' kiaq!anu'kua.'t. "at tsxal'o'k!q!anq!axu xwa'lne:" ta'xas mztxa'lne: 220 ske'n kurts n'o k! ilme't xaner, me't xaner, me't xaner. ta' xas numatsnatz'her skz'n kurts. ta'xas q!a'per mztxa'her. ło'uner k!/sk!o. n'u'pxane k!a'k!lanaq!o'xumale'et ksakilmitxa'le's kiaq!ano'kua''t.s. qatsxanat''ine pal ktsaqu'na qalwiyna'mne kqa'nkqa'kana. tsın'öpk!a'qal'u'pxane neis k!aqanı'ke'ts. 225 n'etke'n e' t'awunana'e's aa'k!nana'e's. ts!ena'xe'. qao'xa'xe'. łaxa'xe neis aa'kkk.luna'me's, pał q!a'pe k.lalaha'quwom. n'upxa'ine qous qaka'xe ika'm'u slaatqa'n'mitaak!on/iek qous yesalha'quwome'ske qousts qakeikaq!axo'uxune tsamna'ne k!u'pxa ne s łka'mu's. sk'n ku'ts n'u'k! ilsłaha't -230 yiłme'txane'. me'txane'. qaha''len łame'txane' ske'n'ku'ts neists kınmı'txa's łka'm'u's n'upxaalı'sine nei łka'm'u n'ısk!o'une ne_is kiaq!_anu'k^ua''ts. ske_ikmitk!o'_une'. n'u'pxane' ske'n'ku'ts ske_ikmu'xos. m/tya'xane'. k!oka'xus n'uq!_iyunk/'n'e' n'u'pxane ne kqa'e'ns a'k!e's. n'a'kaq!ałkı'n'e a'k!e's, ło'quałqana-235 q!ałkı'n'e'. łahotsznqkupekı'me'k. łahałk!o'une'. qake'ine.: "nawa'spa'l, nawa'spa'l." wzlke'ine: qakz'lne nawaspa'l'e's: "hon'itk!o'une kiaq!anu'kua't." n'uk!ue'ine te'tqa't! qake'he: "sken'ko''uts, at qouquaakilso'ukue'n' naaqane'ke't kaas kse'l'e'n tse_ika'te'n'; n'ı'n'e' kts!ı'q!la ın kına'lk!o' qo_us sılk!o'_une' 240 łka'm'u ma kszł'e'tk!o." tsejka'te ske'n ku'ts nejs ka'lk!o, pał n'ı'nse kts!/q!la's. ta'xas numatsına'mne ne_is k!aqa'q_ana ske'n kurts. qalwi'yne. a'a'ke ktsl atsu'ukuart kiaqlanu'kuar'ts swen'e'se's, pał kk!omna'ane't kiaq!anu'k'a't.s kqa'lwiy xma kxa'tsniłsałc'tet swan'c'se's. ta'xas łat_inaxa'mna'mne' 245 a 'kt. ła''na'm. qakiya'mne': "pał stłsaquna'ne' ne i łka'm'u ktsxalha'qaps tehamu''e's." me'ksan kiaq!anu'kua''t qalwi'yne: "mː/ka ktsaqu'na ne¡ łka'm'u kutstso'ukuat. ktsxa'l'ins nuł'aqana'e's ka'swi'n."

BUREAU OF AMERICAN ETHNOLOGY

Ta'xas ts/mi'yit q'o'mne na'mne k.lala'xa'm k!a'k!lana-250 q!o'xumale':et papa''e's łaałk/ne kiaq!anu'kua''t.s. qak.la'pse papa''e.s: "qa'ła k!'sinil''tk!o?" qake'ine: "ka'min." qak.ła'pse: "qapsins kınsıl'itk!o'umo?" qakı'lne: "naas n'ı'n e kat!a'wu." pał ktsaqu'na 's neis t!awu''e's. qałwi'yne nei

Golden Eagle went out, | took a feather of his body, and threw it up. There was a tree. Where he threw it, (the feather) became an 210 eagle. | He always used to make eagles, and therefore his name was | Golden Eagle. He spoke, and said: "Here on the tree | a golden eagle is sitting. Let all the children, youths, | big men, and old men, shoot at it! Whoever kills it shall | marry my daughter, the one who 215 remains." Then they all | took their bows. The people of that town went out. It was a big town. There were many boys, youths, | men, and old men, and all shot at it. Golden Eagle said: | "Every one shall have one shot." Then they all shot. || Coyote shot once. He 220 shot, shot. Then | they laughed at him. They all shot, but no one | hit it. Tree Chief knew that they were shooting | at the golden eagle. He was not told about it because he was small. They thought | he would not be able to do it. He just discovered through his manitou power what was happening. | He made a small bow and 225 a small arrow. He started. He went there. He arrived, and all the people were outside. | They saw the boy coming, shooting away while he was coming along. Then just from the edge where they were he shot. Only a few saw the boy. Coyote was still shooting, shooting. Coyote just shot again. When | the child shot, they knew 230 that he had hit | the golden eagle. It fell down. Coyote saw it fall down. He ran after it. When it reached the ground, he took hold of it. He | saw that it was not his arrow. Then he took out his arrow and exchanged it (for Tree Chief's arrow). | He began to run. 235 He had (the bird) on his arrow. He said: | "Father-in-law, father-inlaw!" He shouted. He said to his father-in-law: | "I killed the golden eagle." One man said to Coyote: | "Try to be sensible. Whatever may have happened, this is not it. | Look at it! It is a prairie chicken you are carrying. There, that | boy has it on his arrow. 240 He shot it." Covote looked at what he was carrying. It was a prairie chicken. Then they all laughed at what Coyote had done. He thought he would take Eagle's other | daughter, because he had fooled Golden Eagle before. He thought he | ought to marry both his daughters. Then all went into | the tent. They said: "The 245 boy is too small to have a wife." But Golden Eagle thought: "Even if the boy is small, I'll take him to be | the husband of my daughter."

At night, when the people slept, Tree Chief's | grandmother came. 250 She carried the golden eagle. His grandmother said to him: "Who killed it?" He said: "I did." | She said to him: "What did you kill it with?" He said to her: "With | my bow here." His bow was

255 t/lna'm'u: "ta'xas naqan tsłama'tap kapa'pa pał kqa'e'n k.l/tk!am kiaq!anu'k'a.'t naso'uk'e'n. qa./`nsilqao''la.''

Kwałkwa'yts ts!nyaxaak!o'une. ła.u'pxane neis na.u'te's. qakı'lne.: "kanmi'yit kiyu'k_iyit hutslaxa'xe." n'u'pxane ne_i na.u'te ne_is k!\(\alpha'tk\!o\'\)'s kiaq\!\(\alpha\)'t.s 260 ke'e'ns neis at ke'saps kelku'lka''s. ta'xas lats!ena'xe'. kanmi'yit.s qaki'he papa'es: "ta'xas hutsxal'ama'tiski'he. wa'lkuwa ne_i kuwa'lke'n kiaq!anu'kua't n'ı'n'e' kohoqua'ka nałwats!na'mne. hunoquaqa''ne pa'łke hutsxalts!na'xe." qake'ine nei taha'm'u: "qa'la suwa'n'e's?" qake'ine nei 265 netsta'hałna'na. "kiaq!anu'kua't swe'n'e's." qake'ine nei taha'm'u: "lqa'e'n naso''ukue'n xma hoquaha'mata'sine:" n'ila'n'e ne_i talna'm'u qak.la'pse papa''e's: "ma_ats e''la'n'. hutsxalqamate'sine:'' qake'ine nei telna'm'u: "kentsxała'łxo a' ku'ła k ?" qake' ine ne netsta'hałna'na: "kan-270 mi'yit tsxalyu'naqa''ne aa'ku'la k ne aa'kik.lu''na m. hutsxal'tkt'n'e'." qake'ine nei ttha'm'u: "so'ukune tthamu''ne's tsxaltskaya'xane' aa'ku'la'ks. tsxal'c'kine' kiaq!anu'kua''t.''

Tsami'yit.s taxas tsana'xe ne natsta'halna'na n'an-275 tsuxa'xe: ta'xas ła. tkt'nme'k neis ma yaaqaqa'ake neis qa'waa'qa ma'e's. laqaqa''ne naqoka''mse aa'koqla''nt!e's. naqa'pse qasna'l'e's a'a'ke lahaqa'pse aa'kinuqle'it!e's. naqa'pse poponana'e's. lahaqa'pse a'kiyukua'e's; lahaqa'pse ak.la'm'e's kiak!aku'ta't.s a'a'ke la.c'nse aa'q!uk.luma'e's 280 k!u''mtsaks. ta'xas q!a'pe''s łahaqa'pse' neis ma yaaqaqa'pske aa'k.kt/t't!e's, neis kqao sa'qa ma'e's. ta'xas ts!/na'xe aa'kik.luna'me's; aa'ke la.e'n'e kuwe'lqa netsta'hals. ktina'xa'm a 'kınuqle''et.s naqts!ılu kua'amik. nulpalnı'lne qous aa'kik.luna'me's. qakiya'mne: "ho'ya's salwa'xe k!a'k!la-285 naq!o'xumale''et.'' tseikatı'lne'. n'upxa'lne' ska'xe'. ta'xas n'anaxa'mna'mne: qawaqa'xe: qakile'lne: "qous sn'et.ła'ane: naso'ukue'n.'' qa.oho'łne: neis wa'łkuwa''s ma k!/tk!o kiaq!anu'kua't.s. m/ksan nei na.u'te a'a'ke ne_ists ke''ıns ne_is wa'lkiaq!anu'kua.'t n'u'pxane. 290 kuwa's ma kk'tklo's kiaqlanu'kua't.s. ta'xas nei na.u'te t!axo'une· łaxa..'se's suk.lkkinatı'tine· tsxalyaaqaana'qanakı'ske· nuł'aqana''e's. ta'xas qona'xe'. tanaxa''mne'. pea'k!aks nulkna. tse a 'kmoxo'e's. ta'xas n'esakinu'ne pe'k!aks ne_i na.u'te· n'tkt'n·e· tsxalya_aqa_awtsq!_anu'ske· kiaq!a-295 ku'ta't.s. sanqa'me'k skı'n'ku'ts. ta'xas n'a'sane' ki'haat kiaq!aku'ta't.s s_uwe't_imo. at wuneke't.se n'dqanmetq!ok.lemak!o'umik, at n'enqapta'kse k!u"mtsaks, at t!ało'ukune kiaq!aku'ta't. at n'unanoxu'ne at n'e'kine ne_is k!u"mtsaks. ta'xas sk'n ku'ts sa'nilwi'yne'. nalnu'kp_ine'.

small. || The old woman thought: "Now my grandson may leave me, | 255 because Eagle Chief was not without high rank. | Maybe he did not do it." |

In the evening he went to get water, and again he saw the girl. |
He said to her: "To-morrow at noon I shall come." The girl knew |
that he had shot the golden eagle. || It was he who had given her 260
pemmican. Then she started again. | On the following day he said
to his grandmother: "I shall give you | the golden eagle that I brought
yesterday. This is what I won | by playing. I won a woman. I
shall go there." | The old woman said: "Whose daughter is she?"
The youth said: || "She is Golden Eagle's daughter." The old woman 265
said: | "If he were not chief, I should not give you up." | The old
woman cried. Her grandson said to her: "Don't | cry! I shall not
leave you." The old woman said: | "Do you want to carry meat
along?" The boy said: || "To-morrow there will be much meat in 270
that town. | I shall make it." The old woman said: "It is well. |
Your wife will come for meat. The eagle will eat | it." |

In the evening the boy started. | He went behind the tents. He 275 made himself look the way he used to be when he was with his mother. His clothing was fringed. | He had a shield and he had a tomahawk. | He had a little hammer and he had a war bonnet, and | on his head was a sparrow hawk. His saliva was | shells. He had 280 everything that he used to have | when he was with his mother. He started | for the town, and he was a large youth. | When he came out of the prairie, he shouted, and the people in the town heard it. They said: "Well, Tree Chief arrives." | They looked at him, and 285 they saw him coming. Then | they went out. He arrived. He was told: "There is the | chief's tent." On the day before, | when he shot the eagle, he was not recognized. Only the girl and | Golden Eagle knew that he was the one who had | shot the golden eagle on the pre- 290 vious day. Then the girl | shook his bed. She prepared the seat | where her husband was to sit. Then he went there. He entered. His place was prepared. He sat down. | The girl had prepared the place for Sparrow Hawk to sit down. || Coyote was sitting there. Then there were two | friends who had each a sparrow hawk. After some time he spat, | and his saliva turned into shells. | The Sparrow 295 Hawk screeched, flew down, and ate | the shells. Then Coyote was angry. He was ashamed.

(f) TREE CHIEF PROVIDES FOOD FOR THE PEOPLE

Tsdmi'yits kqlo''mne n'u'pxane kla'klanaqlo'xumale'et nowas'name'sine neis aa'kik.luna'me's. we'lna'ms qake'lne t/lnamu''e's: "h/ntsxalqak/lne su''ne's, tsxaltseika'te aa'kuq!lilme'e's." ta'xas ts!:na'xe'. w:'lna'ms qak:'lne' su''e's nei pa'łkei: "qakiya'mne kıntstse'ikat aa'kuq!liłme'nis." ta'xas 305 kiaq lanu'kua 't tseika'te a'a'kuq lldme'e's n'u'pxane yunał/kse· łu/kpo-'s. n'anaxa''mne· kiłpa'łnek/me·k. qake'ine· netsta'hałne''nte-k: "łatsema-k!ke'ne-n' aa'kuqła'łaak." ta'xas łatsemak!kin/łne a 'kuqła'łak. qa:na'xe k!a'k!łanaq!oxumałe 'et. skikts la 'nuqłe. i't. se : tsxa 'kil itqana 'aqane' a 'q lul' i 'se 's 310 łu'kpo's. yunaqa'pse k!itqana'qa. ta'xas kul'itqana''qa. ta'xas nałuk. ł/tiya' xane. qak/łne: "hú'hú'hu yá'." ta' xas ne_is a_a'q!u'l'e's lu'kpo' q!a'pe' n'uwo'k_une' n'anqa'pte'k lu'kpo'. ta'xas nanuxu'nqa''ne: ta'xas ts!:na'xe: qa:'l:n kiyu'kiyi't.s ta'xas łaxa'xe aa'kuqła'łaaks. n'upxa'łne ska'xe yunaqa'ane 315 łu'kpo: qakiłamna'mne: "ska'xe łu'kpo souk'nki l. maats łsa"nga." ta'xas wa'xe łu'kpo ta'xas qasa'nga"ne q!a'pe wat!qa'me'k. sanmoxo'ume'k łu'kpo'. yunaqa''ne' n't!qa'ane' ne_is a_a'kuqla'la'ks. ta'xas q!a'pe aqlsma'k_in_ik! tsuk^ua'te. qakiya'mne: "q!a'pe tsukwa'tki', hentsqaqa'naltsukwatke'lne 320 a_a'ku'qła.'' ta'xas tsuk^uate'łne q!a'pe qo_us yu'n o's a_a'kuq!yume'n a's. łaqawa qałyuwa ka'xe k!a'k!łanaq!o'x małe'et. n'esakinu'ne: ta'xas q!a'pe tsukuate'he: kiaq!anu'kua't naso'ukue'n tsukua'te se'kse lu'kpo's. n'u'pxane nawaspa'l'e's qaokua'se: qous słatinaqana'kse: ta'xas q!a'pe's tsukuat.lzs'ine 325 ke'iseks łu'kpo's. qake'łne swe'n'e's: "pał ku'k.ło'k k!a'k!łanaq!o'xumale'et, selqao'kwa'xe' naas. n'e'ne' ke'ise'k lu'kpo. tsukua'te'n'. a'a'ke' sukquwa'ate'. tsxal'ı'n'e sı't!ne's.'' neis tsk.ła'wam k!a'k!łanaq!o'xumałe'e't, cłna'haks wa'xe' łu'kpo' n'uk!we''ne', nul'ak.le'ine', tuna'kane' q!apq!ulqa''ne'. a'a'ke' 330 wat!kaxo'ne qous na'ataas. qawaakalts!nxo'ume k at qa.ik/he qou kqa'qa pał ksłhuł·a'k.łe·. szł'a'qałqatseikatz'łne·. n'u'pxane· k!a'k!lanaq!o'xumale'et neis k!aqa'keiks nawaspa'l'e's ktso'ukuats klu'kle's ke'isiks lu'kpo's. ta'xas la.una'xe'. qao xa'xe' ne_is ktu'_una·ks łu'kpo·'s q!apq!u'łqaps. wat!k_im¿'te·. qawa-335 ka'xe tahamu''e's. qaka'he: "qa'psins kansatso'ukuat na łu'kpo pał kiyuna'qa aqłsma'kinzk! xma tsukua'te qou kuwa't!kimet. hułqonaxa'ła, hutsxal'umitse'ite." ta'xas qona'xe n'umitse'ite: ta'xas numats:nata'pse sk:'n'ku'ts, k!o'k!ilq!apq!u'lqaps ks:l'um'tset. ta'xas tsxa'ne sk:'n'kuts. 340 qake'he: "qa'psins ken'u'pske'n? at qa.ike'he: en kqa'qa. ma'te'n' ne_is skikqa'pse' łu'kpos ma ksatso'_ukuat kiaq!anu'kua·'t se'kse', a'a'ke' sukquwa'ate'. tsxalslama'lne' telnamu''ne's.''

(f) Tree chief provides food for the people

At night, when Tree Chief slept, he knew | that the people in the 300 town were starving. In the morning he said | to his wife: "Tell your father to look at the fortune-telling place." | Then she started. In the morning the woman said to her father: | "He says you shall look at your fortune-telling place." Then | Golden Eagle looked at his fortune- 305 telling place. He saw many | tracks of buffalo cows. He went out and shouted. Then | the youths said: "Make the buffalo fence strong." Then | the buffalo fence was made strong. Tree Chief went along. There was a large prairie. He began to pile up the manure of | buffaloes, much of the same kind. After he had piled it up, | he 310 shouted at it. He said to it: "Hu, hu, hu, ya!" Then | all the buffalo dung arose and became buffalo cows. | Then he rounded them up. Then he started. Just as soon as he arrived | at the buffalo fence, he saw many buffaloes coming. | The people told one another: "The buffa- 315 loes are coming. Be careful! Don't | let them disperse!" The buffaloes arrived. They did not disperse, and they all | went over the precipice. They were piled up. Many buffaloes filled up | the buffalo drive. Then all the people took them. | They said: "Take everything. Take even | the skin." Then they were all taken up the hillside. | 320 Tree Chief came up the hill. He sat down, and all were taken. Chief Golden Eagle | had taken the fat of the buffaloes. He saw his son-in-law, | who did not go down. He remained sitting on top. Then all the || fat buffaloes had been taken. (The chief) said to his daughter: 325 "Tree Chief is tired. | Therefore he did not come down. Here is a fat cow. | Take it. It also has good hair. That shall be your blanket." | When Tree Chief came back, one buffalo cow came along behind the others. It was old, thin, and full of sores. It also slid down from above. It stopped up there. It was so old that 330 it was not good to be eaten, | therefore it was not looked at. Tree Chief knew | what his father-in-law had said when he took | one fat cow. Then he went down. He went to the lean buffalo, the sore one. He let it slide down. | His wife came, and he said to her: "Why did 335 you take that | buffalo? There are many people. They ought to take what slides down. | Let us go and skin it!" She went and | skinned it. Then Coyote laughed | at them because they skinned one sore one. Coyote spoke, | and said to him: "Why do you do that? That kind 340 is not eaten. | Leave this cow lying there. Eagle has taken | a fat one with good hair on it for a blanket for your wife." | They did not

qatse_ikate'lne ske'n kurts. ne_ists k!aqa'ke qalwi'yne kiaq!_a-nu'kua't pal kselqa'lwiyts, ksa''qana qatsxa'ne me'ksa'n 345 ske'n kurts nomats_inatka''ne ta'xas n'umetse'_ite k!a'k!-lanaq!o'x_umale'et.

Namate'ktse: a'k!e's telnamu''e's k!a'k!lanaq!o'xumale'et. qake'lne:: "at maats wuxo'umun' xa'altsin a'a'ke'lka'm'u." ta'xas n'umitse'ite'. tseika'te' naso'uk'e.n qa'las ne'n'e'ns u's'me'ks 350 ke'isiks k!ome'tseits q!a'pe's se'kse'. qao'xa'xe' nawaspa'l'e's. ma ksel'ume'tseits kul'a'k.le's. tseika'te' pal n'e'nse u's'me'ks ke'ise'ks lu'kpo's.

N'u'pxane sk'n ku ts neis kama'atkits tinamu'se s aak!/se s swu'e s. a'a'ke namati'ktse tinamu''e s a'k!e s. qaki'ne: 355 "hawitski'n e n'. maats at wuxo'umo n' qa'psin." qa wisqa'pse tinamu''e s k!a'k!lanaq!o'xumale 'et. q!akpa'me k nei pa'lkii neis ma k!aqa'k.laps nulaqana''e s. pal ko'wa s xa'altsin neis k!u'pxa aaku'la ks. ta'xas n'altsi'n te k ke'e k wa''nmo 's. qa.u'pxane nei pa'lkei pal silwuxomu'n e neis kawi'tske n' aak!s. 360 qanaxu'se pal silu'pse. qaki'lne tilnamu''e s k!a'k!lanaq!o'xumale 'et: "ma hoqak.li'sine maats kinlwu'xo neis laqalwuxo'umon' is aak!s." lawuxomu'n e nei pa'lkei neis xa'altsins aak!s la.itq!a'nxa''mse.

N'u'pxane sk'n kuts neis k!aqan'kets. naas qaha'se 365 xa'altsins qanaqkupla'lte q!akpakitxo'une qak'lne tilnamu''es: "qa'psins kinu'psken maoqak.li'sine maats kinlwuxo'umo is kaa'ak!mi'l. neis laqalwuxo'umon'." nei pa'lkei neis laqalwuxomu'n'e. slaha'tkikqa'pse laaqa.itq!a'nxa''mse.

Qakt'he trhamu''e s k!a'k!lanaq!o'xumale 'et: "qonamt'le n' 370 neis krhlqalwuxo''mo ts kaa'ak!mi l qou xa'altsin. qa'la n'tsthritslakt'lne:" qao xa'xe nei pa'lkei neis qalwoxomu'n e neis ak!s xa'altsins. la.itq!a'nxa''mse: ta'xas skt'n ku ts n'umatsinatt'lne neis kiyunaqxowu'me's.

Ta'xas kuł'um'tseit k!a'k!łan'aq!o'xumałe'et qak'lne:
375 "ta'xas qou nawsiłk'nen' aa'ku'łak kaakt.łanała'e's." pał k!sku'ma'łs qa.ałouqakt'n'e' nei pa'łkei qakt'łne trłnamu''e's k!a'k!łan'aq!o'xumałe'e't: "oqounalxo'umon' srt!nt'smi'l." ta'xas nei pa'łkii noqouna'wrsq!owomu'n'e sr't!e's. qałwi'yne nei pa'łkei ktsxalyt'k!ta aa'kuwum'alq!ols. qak.la'pse: "maats 380 yr'k!ta. qaqa'nalts!nalxo'umo'n' re a'a'kuwums." ta'xas nei pa'łkei ts!nalxo'une neis a'a'kuwums qa.yrk!ta'ane aa'q!ul't'se's.

Ta'xas ts/łmi'y/t.s pał k!/sku'ma'łs s/t!e's. nei pa'łkei qał-wi'yne ktsxał'/kt/y'qo s/t!e's. qak.ła'pse nul aqana''e's: "maats ktö'qo'n'. qaqa'nal upak/ne'n'; a'a'ke nei a'a'kuwum nei qa'qaps aa'q!u'l'e's a'a'ke upak/nen'; a'a'ke nei aa'ku'qla

look at Coyote, (and did not listen to) what he said. Golden Eagle thought: | "He wants it, therefore he did not speak." But || Coyote 345 laughed at them. Then Tree Chief | skinned it. |

Tree Chief gave his arrow to his wife. | He said to her: "Don't touch it! Don't touch the dogs and children with it!" Then | he skinned it. The chief looked (to see) who had most || fat when they 350 scraped off all the fat. He went to his son-in-law. | He was skinning the old cow. Then he saw that it was | the fattest buffalo. |

Coyote saw that his friend had given his arrow | to his wife, and he also gave his arrow to his wife. He said to her: || "Keep it. Don't 355 let it touch anything." | The wife of Tree Chief stood there. The woman forgot | what she had been told by her husband. When her hungry dog | saw the meat, it tried to eat the blood. | The woman did not know that she touched it with the arrow that she was holding; || (but when she did so, the dog) fell down and died. Tree Chief said 360 to his wife: | "I told you not to touch it. | Touch it again with your arrow." The woman touched the dog | with the arrow, and it came to life again. |

Coyote saw what had happened. He passed by || a dog, struck it, 365 and killed it. He told his wife: | "Why did you do that? I told you not to touch it | with the arrow. Touch it again with it." The woman | touched it again, but it still lay there. It did not come to life again. |

Tree Chief said to his wife: "Go there and || touch the dog with my 370 arrow! Whoever owns a dog likes it." | The woman went there and touched | the dog with the arrow. It came to life again. Then Coyote was laughed | at by the crowd. |

Tree Chief said to his wife after she had skinned (the buffalo): ||
"Carry the meat there into our tent!" | It was bloody, and the woman 375
did not know what to do. Tree Chief said to his wife: | "Carry it in
your blanket!" | The woman carried it in her blanket. The woman
thought | she would spill the guts. He said to her: "Don't || spill 380
them! Carry them in with the stomach." Then | the woman carried the stomach, and did not spill | the guts. |

Night came. Her blanket was bloody. Then the woman thought | she would wash her blanket. Her husband said to her: "Don't | wash 385 it! Just put it aside; and also the stomach | and the guts, put them

oqouxak'ne'n'; ya't!ap a'a'ke' k'nl'upa'ke'n." ta'xas qaqa-na''ne' nei pa'lkei neis ya'qak.la'pske' nulaqana''e's.

Skt'n·ku·ts k!u'pṣa ne¡s k!aqa'qanaps suwu'e·sts atsawa'ts!e·s 390 a'a`ke· qakt'łne· ttłnamu''e·s łqa'qanaps noqouna`wtsq!ou-womu'se· stt!t'se·s. ta'ṣas tstłmi·'yt.s ne¡s yaqaqana'pske. ttłnamu'timo·'s k!a`k!łan·aq!o`ṣumale·'et.s a'a`ke· qala'ta qnapma'łne· ttłnamu''e·s.

Kanmi'yet.s we'lna'ms klokunu'xua'm telnamu'timo kla'klla-395 n·aq!oʻxumale·'et. ta'xas n'ı'kıne. qakı'lne tılnamu''e·s: "ka_as ke'en k⁄łku'łka hutsxał''/k_ine:" qak.ła'pse:: "tuxua ła'q'a ktlku'lka?" numa'tsine: qakt'lne: "ts'maan'qukualxo'une ts kıkqa''ne:." qak.la'pse tılnamu''e:s: "tuxua le'e'n' kılku'lka ma n''\'n'se' aa'q!u'l'e's." qak\'lne': "tunwakak\'n'e'n'. k\nltse'_i-400 kat." ta'xas ne_i pa'lke_i tunwaka'qkatkı'n'e pal k!anı'ke_is. tseika'te parl n'ınqapta'kse kılku'lkas. laqa.ı'n se aa'q!ul'ı'se s łu'kpo's. ta'xas n'ik'lne: qak'lne: "tunwakak'ne'n' s't!ne's." qak.ła'pse: "tuxua ła'q'a ksa'kqa; ma n'ok!ue'ine ma q!apkuma'lne:." qakı'lne:: "tu'nwakakı'n'e'n'. kınltse'ıka't." tsukua'te 405 nei pa'lkei neis ma k!ısıku'ma'ls sı't!e's. laqaqouqaqa''pse' n'ınqapta'kse wu'pinık!s. sukuq!lı'lse qakı'lne tılnamu''e s: "a'a'ke ne ma kin'upa'ke n tse ka'te n'." tse ka'te ne pa'łke, ne a ku'qła's ma kupa'ken. n'anqapta'kse k!/tq!anxo'ules. qayaaqa'waaq!anq!l/lse: neis ma kq!apq!u'l-410 qaps ma ksa_anqo'_uwa'ts, o'k!^uq_una ma ksahul'a'k.le's ne_is łu'kpo's, q!a'piłso'ukse aa'quwat!!'se's.

Ta'xas skı'n ku'ts kulatkı'ki lwı'tske'l swu''e's yaqaqana'pske: ta'xas a'a'ke qaqana'ane: litilqaqa'pse: xasenmitu'qse sıtlı'se's tılnamu''e's, neis aa'ku'qla''s ma klupa'ke'n qaaqala'til'ı'n se aa'ku'qla''s; neis a'a'kuwums ma klupa'ke'n qaoqala'til'ı'nse aa'qlul'ı'se's lu'kpo's. neila'se tılnamu''e's neis kla'qalklumna'anet. qakı'lne neis atsuwa'tsle's kla'kllan'aqlo'xumale''et: "maats lae'ila'n' la.upa''nte'n'." ta'xas nei pa'lkei skı'n ku'ts tılnamu''e's la.upa''nt.se neis qa'qalsıtlı'-420 se's ma kxasınmı'tuqs; neis aa'ku'qla's neis aa'kwum'a'lqlols. mı'ksa'n kiaqlanu'ku'a't qa:'lın ya'qaqa'pske kla'kllan'aqlo'xumale''ets kle''tkıns, a'a'ke qal'ı'tkinıktsa'pse suk'nikit'nala'pse klu'pxa nawaspa'l'e's yaqaqa'pske kle''tkıns.

425 k!a'qal'ałnukpqaaka'te'na'łaaps.

Ta'xas neis kwun'kit.s qak'lne atsuwa'ts!e's k!a'k!łana-q!o'xumale'et: "ta'xas latseika'te'n' nei k'n'upa'ke'n. k'nl''ki-ma'l łkam'n''nte'k k'lku'lka's." tseika'te' nei pa'lkei. pal n'ınqapta'kse k'lku'lka's neis skı'n'ku'ts ma kqatal'e'itkin. a'a'ke as skl'a's sı't!e's, a'a'ke tseika'te' a'a'ke xa'tsinilso'ukse. ta'-xas sklhol'tkı'n'e ke''souks qa'psins k!a'k!lan'aq!o'xumale'et.

me'ksa'n nao'k!ue's nawaspa'l'e's nahu'kpitsta'pse neis

aside too, also the skin; | put the coagulated blood into it and put it aside." Then | the woman did as her husband told her. |

Coyote saw what his friend and his sister-in-law were doing, || and 390 he told his wife to do the same. She carried it | in her blanket. When evening came, Coyote's wife did the same | as Tree Chief's wife was | doing. |

Early in the morning Tree Chief and his wife arose. | Then they 395 ate. He said to his wife: | "Where is the permican? I'll eat." She said to him: "Is there any | pemmican?" He laughed, and said to her: "You brought it in. | There it is." His wife said to him: "Is that permican? | Those were guts." He said to her: "Bring it out and look at it." || Then the woman pulled it out slowly. It was 400 heavy. | She looked at it, and it had turned into permican. There were no more | buffalo guts. Then it was eaten. He said to her: "Pull out your blanket." | She said to him: "Is there one? There was one, but it was all bloody." | He said to her: "Pull it out and look at it." The woman took | the bloody blanket. It was no more 405 that way. | It had become a new one with beautiful stripes. He said to his wife: | "Look also at the other things we put aside." The woman looked | at the skin which she had put aside. It had become | a tanned skin with a painting in the middle, although it had been full of sores | with bad hair, for it had been an old | buffalo cow. 410 Its fur was very good.

After Coyote had watched what his friend was doing, | he did the same, but nothing happened. | His wife's blanket remained stiff, and the skin that she had put aside || remained rawhide, and the stomach which she had put aside | remained as before. It was buffalo dung. His wife cried, | because he had given her trouble. Tree Chief said to his sister-in-law: | "Don't cry! Put them back again." Then the woman, the wife of Coyote, put back again her || own blanket, the rawhide, and the guts, | but Golden Eagle did just the same as Tree Chief. | He did the same to him. He was glad | when he saw what his son-in-law had done, | but his other son-in-law made him ashamed. || He was ashamed on account of what he had done. |

After a while, Tree Chief told his sister-in-law: | "Look again at the things you have put aside. Eat | pemmican with the children." The woman looked at it, and it had turned | into pemmican. Coyote had not been able to do it. And there || were also two blankets. She looked at them, and both were good. Then | Tree Chief finished 430 his good work. |

85543°-Buil. 59-18-14

Tschi'yit.s qakc'he tchamu'e's skc'n'ku'ts: "a: hentsqakı'lne su"ne s tsxaltse ka'te a ku'q llilme'e s." ts kna'xe ske'n ku ts. ta'xas tsxalselsken ku 'tstik. we'lna ms tseika'te 435 a 'kuq!hilme'e's kiaq!anu'kua't. ht.li'kse qa'psins. latina-. xa''mne: qana'xe: skı'n'ku'ts. skikilhaqa'pse: aaq!ul'ı'se's. tsxa'kil''¿tqana''qane: kul'itqana'aqa ta'xas naluk.litiya'xane łu'kpo's. qawanaxa''mse' neis aaq!uł'e'se's łu'kpo's. qak.ła'tiyil'd_uwa't!te', pał sdąatal'd'nse' łu'kpo's. łahutsingkupekd'me'k. 440 ła qana'xe: łałaxa'xe a kk. luna'me's. łayuxa'xe a koq!yumi'n'as. qake'ine: "kqa'silsa''nqa iya'mu." Wilke'ine neis ke'itsxa. qake'ine:: "wu'ptseil la'psa'ke'sousa'qapnalka''ne:." nle'kte k!a'k!lan aq!o'xumale 'et.s neists k!aqa'ke. (nei k!aqa'kya'm wu'ptso'l at qakya'mne qawunc'ke't.s ktsukua'tka.) 445 ta'xas ła.una'xe a 'kık.luna'mes ne k!a qa'ke skı'n ku ts. ta'xas n'umatsnate'ine pai wa'ikuwas kiyuna'qa iu'kpo k!upe'łeił. słaqaqa"ne kqawanxa"mnam. n'etkene'line aa ku'la kts a'a'ke aa'ku'qła: ta'xas ske'n ku ts łat naxa''mne aa'ket.ła''e s. sła: 'tkikqa'ane k!a'k!łana q!o'xumałe'et. a'a'ke łaqaake'ine 450 ske'n ku ts neis ma yaqake'ike: qous kqaake'iltsxa aa'kuq!yum'n'a's n'ukunuxa''mse k!a'k!lan'aq!o'xumale'et qak.la'pse: "kaa kın'aqa'ke ? a'a'ke laqa'ke n'. kınlıtke kq!a'naqana'me k ne_i ma kana'aqapwa'x'mitxo'unap aa'kinokwe't!e's ka'ake'n?'' ta'xas tsukua'te aa'kuk!paxma'kups k!a'k!lan aq!o'xumale'et, 455 łqa'łwiy ktsxal'u'pe ł sk'n ku ts ts xma n'up'lne słaqaqa'pse kseltso'ukuat aa'kuk!paxma' kups. ta'xas qanlalte'lne ske'n ku ts. ła.a'naqa'yiłxo'ułne. qakił/łne: "ta'xas hutsxał aqa.upxana'mnała'ane: hanqa'łwiy kantsxa'l'ip hantsxal'aqukua'xe na ka'min." Ta'xas husiq!a'pqaiq!anuxwa'te k!a'k!ian'aq!o'xumaie'et. 460 to'xua n'e'n'e' kuwe'lqa qa'psins neists lqa'k.laqanane'imal ske'n ku ts kaasts xma n'aqa'qa.

(g) THE END OF THE WORLD

Ho'ya's, ta'xas hutsxalq!apqalq!anuxua'te k!a'k!lan aq!o'xu-male'et naso'ukuen kk.laqanane'mal ske'n kuts.

Ta'xas neists kk.łaqana'na'm skı'n'ku'ts swo'timo' ts!\n'a-465 qayilxo'ulne' skı'n'ku'ts, neis yaaqa'n'aqa'n'uqka'ske' qanaqayilxo'ulne' skı'n'ku'ts. pal koqua'o'pxana'la kaa n'ı'n'e'ns at yaqa'o'xal'aona'mke' nata'nık! qa'o'xalqa'qaskinı'lne skı'n'ku'ts. qakilı'lne': "na ta'xa qao'sa'qa: maatsıntslakqa'atse' q!a'pe' a'm'a'k. taxta'' o'ne'k kiyu'kiyit ta'xas 470 hutsla'upxanı'sine'. ka'min nei hutslaqana'xe' qo's at yaqa'qa'lyuwaka'mke' nata'nık!. qo' hutsqaanqa'mik. ta'xas ne'ntsxa naso'uk''e'n ktsxal'a'lo' na a'm'a'k, ta'xas hutslaowo'kune'. hutslatska'xe'. nı'nko' skı'n'ku'ts a'a'ke' hıntsla-

At night Coyote said to his wife: "Oh, | tell your father to look at his fortune-telling place." Coyote started. | Now, Coyote was going to play. Early in the morning | Golden Eagle looked at his fortune- 435 telling place. There were no tracks. He came in again. | Coyote went along. There was some manure. | He piled it up; and after piling it up, he yelled | at the buffaloes; but the buffalo manure did not move. He tried to drive the buffaloes, | but he could not move them. He ran back. | He went along, and came to the town. 440 He went up a hill, | and he said: "The buffaloes have dispersed." He shouted | his words. He said: "The bridegroom is staying with his wife!" | He meant Tree Chief by these words. (They | used to call bridegrooms those who had not been married long.) | Then the people 445 of the town went down when Coyote had said this. | They laughed at him, because the day before many buffaloes had been killed; | but now they did not move. The people prepared the meat | and the skins. Then Coyote entered his tent, | and Tree Chief lay there. Coyote said also | what Tree Chief had said before, when he spoke on 450 the hill. | Tree Chief arose. He said to Coyote: | "What did you say? Say it again. Don't you know what you did | when you pushed me into the trap of Wolf?" | Then Tree Chief took a firebrand. || He 455 wanted to kill Coyote. He might have killed him. Therefore | he took up the firebrand. Then Coyote was struck. | He was struck while he was running out. He was told: "We shall never meet again. | If you want to die, come back to me." |

That is the end of the story of Tree Chief. || He would have been 460 the greatest one | if he had not fought with Coyote. |

(g) THE END OF THE WORLD

Now I'll finish the story of Tree | Chief's fight with Coyote. |

When Coyote and his friend fought, || Coyote was beaten away west-465 ward. | Coyote was being beaten. Although we do not know | the place where the sun goes down, there Coyote was left. | He was told: "You shall stay here. Don't | go about any more through the whole world. Later on, at the end of the world, || I'll see you again. I shall 470 go back that way | where the sun rises. There I shall stay. When | the chief says that this world shall be no more, then I'll | arise. I'll

[BULL. 59

owo'kune: a'a'ke hantslats!a'xe qayaaqa'wo a'm'a'k huts-475 xalqa'akil'upxanamnala'ane, hutsxaltsxamalktsalam'nala'ane.'' Ta'xas hutsemak!a'salq!a'piltsxama'lne yaxqal'atka'nke swo'timo k!ak!la'n'aq!o'xumale'etts ska'n'ku'ts neis pa'k!a'ks a'a'ke neis taxta' tsxalya'qa'qna'ake o'naks kiyu'kiyit.s.

65. RAVEN

Ho'ya's hutsqalq!anuxwa'te qu'kue'n.

(a) THE ORIGIN OF DEATH

Qa·k.luna'mne: tsxa'ne naso'_uk^ue·n, qake'_ine: "at tsxa-la·sq!a'lilupna'mne." q!a'pe qalwiyna'mne ne_is yaqake'_ike naso'_uk^ue·n. qu'k^ue·n qaqalwi'yne, o'k!^uq_una at ke'e·k a_a-5 ka'qle·ls, pal ke'en naso'_uk^ue·ns tsuk_uat.l_'s_ine ke'tsxa.

Naqsanmi'yit tsxa'ne naso'ukuen. qake'ine: "hul'ipilna-la'e's alaqa'lt!e's qu'kue'n." qakiya'mne: "mtxa'ki'l tsa'tsa, a'a'ke na.utent''nte'k tkupkt'nki'l. htntsxala'qatsk!o'mi'l-kt'lne xale'e's qu'kue'n; a'a'ke htntsxalyu'witsxomtkt'lne 10 suwu'n'e's." ta'xas mtxa'lne tsa'tsa. naqatsk!ult'sine xale'e's qu'kuen; nei kants!lat'nxo na.utent''nte'k neis tsxalyaqa'nmoxu'ske aa'kts!la'e'ns qawaxmtlt'sine swu'n'e's qu'kue'n. tsxana'mne qakiya'mne: "na'qatsk!ult'sine. xale'e's qu'kue'n." a'a'ke latsxana'mne qakiya'mne: "yuwitsxu'se 15 swu'n'e's qu'kue'n." qake'ine qu'kue'n: "ta'xas at'a'sq!a'lilup'na'me's." qak.lt'lne: "pal kt'n'e'n naso'ukue'n. pt'k!a'k ma ke'ntsxa."

(b) WHY THE ANT HAS A THIN WAIST

Ta'xa ne_i ha'kiłhakq!ayı'tke·, ta'xas ts!_axu'na at tsemak!-ka''mtı'le·k, sa'qana'ane· k.l'ıte·tıla·mna'me·s. tu'xua n'alasxa'-20 m·e·k. n'o·ktsqapxomna'ne·.

(c) RAVEN HIDES THE GAME

Ta'xas qatakı'n'e qu'kue'n pal qa'qa'l'a'sqa'lt ta'xas saanlwi'yne qu'kue'n. n'e'latsu'n'e q!ape'l'datsu'te iya'm'u's lu'kpo's, kamqoq!u'ko'ls iya'm'u's. ta'xas n'eskaxame'te'lne qu'kuents a'a'ke i'ya'm'u. q!a'pe'lkqaatsa''mne pal sel'eskaxa-25 mete'lne. qa.upxa'lne kaas naqa'nam qu'kue'n. n'upxale'sine k!o''la. ta'xas wune'ke'tine nowasna'mne. wune'ke'tine; ta'xas q!a'pe tunakina'mne.

Qałwi'yne qu'kue'n: "hułts!!/na'm aakik.lu''nam na qanha'qa kiya'nxo:" ta'xas ts!!na'xe. n'tkt'nme'k qu'kue'ns. nulnu-30 xu'n'e. laxanoxu'n'e aa'kt'k.luna'me's. na'ata's qa'nuxu'n'e;

come back. You, Coyote, will also | arise, and you shall come back. In the middle of the world || we shall meet. Then we shall shake 475 hands." |

This is the very last of the story of what | the friends Tree Chief and Coyote did | long ago, and what they will do at the end of the world. |

65. RAVEN

Well, I'll tell you about Raven.

(a) THE ORIGIN OF DEATH

There was a town. The chief spoke, and said: | "Everybody shall die twice." Everybody wished for what the chief said; | but Raven did not want it because he eats || eyes. Since he was chief, his word was taken. |

After some days the chief spoke, and said: "Let us kill | Raven's children!" They said: "Shoot at a grass figure, | and the girls shall get fuel. Then you shall shoot | Raven's son, and you shall chop a tree down and make it fall on || his daughter." Now they shot at the grass figure, and Raven's son was shot. | The girls chopped down a tree; and when the tree was about | to fall, Raven's daughter was thrown under it. | They talked, and said: "Raven's son has been shot," | and they said: "A tree fell || on Raven's daughter." Raven said: "Now they shall die twice." | He was told: "You are a chief, and already | you have spoken." |

(b) WHY THE ANT HAS A THIN WAIST

Then, when they were talking, Ant tightened his belt | in order to bury the dead. He almost || cut himself in two, and was small after 20 that. |

(c) RAVEN HIDES THE GAME

Then Raven could not succeed. He had had two children. Then | Raven was angry. He hid himself and hid all | the buffaloes. (Both) were lost, | Raven and the game. All went on, but he was lost. | It 25 was not known where Raven had gone. It was known | that he had done it. For a long time they were hungry. After a long time | they all became thin. |

Raven thought: "Let me go to the town to see if | they are starving." Then he started. He transformed himself into a raven. He flew || away and flew back to the town. He flew about above 30

[BULL, 59

n'u'pxane letq!a nle e't se n'u'pxane k.lo wasna'me s. lats!enanoxu'n e .

Qakiya'mne: "kaas kul'a qakina'la qu'kuen kultsankaa'la?" qakiya'mne: "kanmi'yit maatsants!a'naxaka'lne: sa'n'a tsxalqaqalo'k!ue'ine k!ana'xa pal k!dka'lwiy. tsxal'u'pxane kaas tsxal'a qa'qana." ta'xas kanmi'yit qawanxa 'mna'mne: n'anaxa''mne. qous a:n'ilqa'haks qao xa'xe n'itxo'ume'k, neis qaltowukqa'ane pal ko''wa's. lalatqawu'mne qapsqakqa'ane op'na'mo's.

Qawɛsa qa'ane qu'kuen qalwi'yne: "a'a'ke hulatsle'nam aa'kɛk.lu''nam." a'a'ke lae:tkɛ'nme k qu'kuens nulnuxu'n e laxa noxu'n e aa'kik.luna'me n'u'pxane sɛ'n a's qous a:n'ilqa'haks sakqa'pse qalwi'yne: "há, ma kldkɛ'lwiy sɛ'n a qa.u'pxa kaas naqa'akila'qaps lu'kpo s." pal klenqa'pte k qu'kuens, slaqa qa'pse qalwi'yne: "hule'e k aa'kaqle'l'e s sɛ'n a." ta'xas n'unanuxu'n e yuwaxamɛtɛnka'me k a'a'kuwum'e'se sɛ'n a's pal kqa'lwiy ksɛ'l'e ps. qa.one'he: tsɛnkina'pse sɛ'n a's qake'ine sɛ'n a: "hutsɛnkɛ'n e qu'kuen."

Ta'xas q!a'pe n'anaxana'mne mitiyaxa'ine qu'kuen. 50 tu'xua at xatkı'ne sı'na pal ko'was qatsemak!qa'ane. qu'kuen pał ke'isek tsemak!qa'ane: ta'xas łaxaxa'mne: ta'xas tsinkine'ine qu'kue'n. ts!inalkine'ine naso'ukue'ns aa'kit.ła. c'se's. ta'xas q!a'pe' qonaxa'mne'. tuk!xo'ulne' aa'kit.ła''na'm. pał kuwelk.ło'u'na'm q!ape'lq!u'ntkalhaquwu'm-55 ne: sk'n ku ts wa q anu'n e a ka ka'n qo's. ta'xas qa'naltınakı'lwıtskı'kine skı'n ku ts. ta'xas tsxana'mne qakik'lne qu'kuen: "ta'xas tsxanatawa's'nu kaas ken'aqa'ken iya'm'u. nowas'na'mne'. kın'it.la'atso't. k!umnaqaqa'ane' łka'm'u." qatsxa'n'e qu'kue'n. yık!ta'kse aa'kaqlı'l'e's. sıl'i-60 ła'n'e ktsxa'l'e'p. tsxałqa.u'pel/łne pal ke'en naso'ukue'n, pał ke'en a_a'kik.łu''na'm. n'''nse' a'na'e's a_a'ka'qle'ls lu'kpo's. ta'xas łukinli'sine a'na'e's. n'ikli'sine qakili'lne: "wasa'qana'n' he'itsxan." qatsxa'n'e' qu'kue'n. wa'watska'kine: n'u'pxane ski'n kuts pai n'i'nse qous a 'k!a ''nqo's. 65 n'u'pxane: ma kqawala'lwiys ska'n kuts. qalwi'yne: "ta'xas pał hutsxatkinu'kune'." qake'ine qu'kue'n: "ka kuł'a'qaqa'la'm." wake'ine. n'u'pxane ska'n ku ts nank!ata'kse. qalwi'yne: "ta'xa's palutsqa.e'pine:" qakile'lne: "wasa'qana'n' he'itsxan." a:n'e'siłpałne xu'n e. qake'ine: "kaa 70 kuł'a 'qaqa'ła 'm." łahułnuxu'n e sk/n ku ts. łao k lon/n'me''nxounqa'ane' qu'kue'n. łaananuxu'n'e'. yuk!kuaka'te'ine: sken:ku:ts ta'xas n'elkile'ine:

Qała'k'ne's qa'nałwa'nuxu'n'e qu'k'en. ta'xas łaqawoukatı'lne'. a'n'a'n naqts!\qlt'lne'. qake'ine': "qò qò qò." 75 sa'nilwi'yne skı'n'ku'ts. tsuk'ua'te a'm'a'ks qawaxamı'te the town. | He saw that there was nothing moving. He knew that they must be hungry. | Away he flew. |

They said: "What shall we do with Raven that we may catch him?" | They said: "Don't go out to-morrow. Beaver || shall be the 35 only one to go out, for he is wise. He will know | what to do." Then the next day they did not move. | He went out. He went some distance, lay down, | and lay on his back hungry. His stomach was empty, and he lay there | just like dead. ||

Raven staid there. He thought again: "I'll go back to | the 40 town." He transformed himself into a raven. He flew away | and flew to the town. He saw Beaver lying | a little ways off. He thought: "Oh, Beaver is wise, | but he doesn't know where the buffaloes are." Since he had become || a raven, he thought: "Let me eat 45 Beaver's eyes." | He flew down. He sat down on Beaver's belly. | Because he thought he was dead, he was not afraid. | Beaver took him. Then Beaver said: "I caught Raven." |

All ran out to get Raven. | He almost got away from Beaver, 50 because Beaver was hungry and weak. | Raven was fat and strong. Then the people arrived. | Raven was caught and taken to the chief's | tent. They all went in. The tent was ballasted. | It was a big tent, and they were all around it. || Coyote climbed up to the top 55 of the tent. | Coyote was looking in through the smoke hole. Then they spoke. | They said to Raven: "Now, tell us, what did you do with | the game? The poor children are hungry. You have hidden it." | Raven did not speak. He wept. | He cried, because he was to 60 die. They were not to kill him, because he was a chief, | because it was a town. He wore around his neck the eyes of buffaloes. | They took off his neckwear and ate it. They told him: | "Quick, speak!" Raven did not speak. He looked up, | and saw Coyote there in the smoke hole. | He knew that Coyote was a coward. He thought: 65 "Now | I'll be saved." Raven said: "Which way | shall I put my head?" He shouted. He saw Coyote, who was scared. | He thought: "Now I shall not die." They said to him: "Quick, | speak!" He shouted louder, and said: "Which way | shall I put my head?" Then 70 Coyote flew up, and | Raven jumped out. He flew out. | He was saved. Coyote was scolded.

Raven flew straight up, and was lost to sight. | Magpie had clear eyes. He said: "Qo, qo, qo!" || Coyote became angry. He took dirt and threw 75

aa'kaqlil'e'se's. qats!upEnaqle'lne: a'n'a'n. snakelwetske'kine: ta'xas yik!ta'kse: aa'kaqle'l'e's pal k!e'tqa'ps a'm'a'ks sel'aqa-qa'pse: qake'ine: "neis lalu'quanoxu'n'e:"

Ta'xas ts:/mi''y:t nakq!ey:'tine: qakiya'mne:: "qa'la: ktsxal-80 ts!/na·m ne_is łayaqananoxu'ske·?" qakiya'mne qaqanu'k.ło· a'a'ke tiłna'ako kanmi'yit ts!:na'xe ne netsta'hałke'ste k. qa:na'xe: s/qawa'\kanmitu'kse: qakaltunwa'kawi'tsom/se: na'qtse·k!a'sl·aka'kane: ta'xas ts!:naltsaqana'xe: qa:na'xe: n'u'pxane: sant.la:name'sine: n'esnit.la'ase: telnamukesta'ke:s. 85 łaża'że: qa.u'pżane kaas at naqa'qanaps. n'u'pżane yunał/kse łu/kpo. qakiła/mne: "kaas kuł'a qakina/ła?" qake/ine: "hultkına'la nöpı'k!a." nao'k!"e n'ınqa'pte k qaqanu'k.lo''s, nao''k!ue n'anqa'pte k no'kueys. qao'sa'qa'ane taha'm'u nao''k!ue'a ts!anyaxak!o'une: xuna'xe a'a'k!aaqs. 90 n'u'pxane: tsaqu'na: 's xa'altsins sao sa qa'pse: qous a'a'k!aaqs. ne· ne_i tszt!na'na. łats!zna'xe· ne_i tzłna'm·u. nao·'k!^ue· tzłna'm'u a'a'ke ts!/nyaxak!o'une n'u'pxane ts/t!na'nas; qous a'a'k!aaqs sao sa qa'pse: tu'xua tsxalhut!nc'nmitqa'pse: k!u-95 mna'nli kpakta'pse: tunaknana'se: tsukua'te; ts!:nalke'n:e: k.łatina'xa'm qak.ła'pse neis t.łnamuma'l'e's: "qa'psins kın'u'pskein?" qake'ine: "k!umnaqaqa'ane at tsxal'e'kine ma'k!s. ta'xas q!a'pe·lın'o.'kuinoktsiyamı'sine, sıltska'xe na tsıt!na'na." nao 'k !ue · talna'm · u ts !anya' xane · a'a 'qanu · ks tsxal'a'qtsxo · 100 wa'tskana''s. qana'xe'. sk/kqa'pse so'ukse a'qanu'ks. ts!/nalke'n'e: qa.u'pxane' ma kskiłxunme'tquł neis netsta'hałs, nao'k!ue·s n'ı'nse· neis a'qanu·ks. tınałkı'n·e·. ta'xas sıl'ıtkı'n·e· nöpe'k!as nei netsta'hałke'ste'k. ta'xas qao sa qa'ane aa'ket.ła. e'se's tełna'mu's a'aqła's. qao sa qa'ane naqsanmi 'yet.s, 105 ta'xas n'e'kine nei netsta'hałke'ste k. at qa.u'pxane nei telna'muke'ste'k at n'askik.le'itse' neis tselmi'yet.s. kanmi'yet.s at łaz'n se nao 'k !ue s xa'ałtsins, nao 'k !ue s at łaz'n se no 'k ueys. ta'xas n'u'pxane nei netsta'hałke'ste k at yaqaqna'pske at ława'se łu'kpo's neis a 'kt.la.t'se's neis tstłme ytna'mu's. 110 nao''k!ue''s qous qaq!a'nse aa'ko'ktse'ke'ns aa'k!a'laxwe'e'ts,

k!ue''s at wankt'n'se aa'kilq!a'lukps.

Tstlmiyt't.se qak.la'mne: "ta'xa's hulats!tnaxa'la aa'kik.lu''
115 na'm ma kowa's'na'm. hulatsukuata'la lu'kpo'." ta'xas

ts!tna'xe: n'u'pxane pal su'kuakate'ise lu'kpo's. nao'k!ue

nei nttsta'hal paq!ame'k!o'une neis aa'kokutst'ke'ns. nao'k!ue

tsukua'te neis aa'kilq!a'lukps. ta'xas ts!tna'xe nao'k!ue:

ta'xas la.t'n'e u's'me'ks. nao'k!ue ts!tna'xe qous tsaqa'haks

120 ytsouxa'lhaqa'pske lu'kpo's. ta'xas wankt'n'e aa'kilq!a'lukps.

nao'k!ue's qous qaq!a'nse aa kilq!a'lukps ta'xas k.la'wa's

łu'kpo's ta'xas at wank!'nse nao'k!ue's aa'kokts!'ke'ns, nao'-

it | into his eyes. Magpie did not shut his eyes. He was looking up. | Then his eyes began to water. They were filled with dirt. Therefore | they are this way. He said: "Raven flew back this way." |

Then at night they held a council. They said: "Who will | go the 80 way he flew back?" Then they said: "Jack Rabbit | and Hare." On the following day the two youths started. | They went along. There was a river there. The wind blew toward them, | and they took his scent. Then they started, going up the river. | They saw a tent. It was the tent of two old women. | They arrived there. 85 They did not know what it was. They saw many | tracks of buffaloes. They said to each other: "What shall we do?" | One said: "We will work our supernatural powers." One turned into a jack rabbit. The other became a stone. They staid there. One of the old women went to draw water. She went to a water hole in the ice. | There she saw a little dog near the water hole. | She did 90 not like it, and pushed it into the water hole. Then | the young dog was cold. The old woman went back. The other old woman | also went to draw water. She saw the pup there at the | water hole. It was almost frozen to death. | She pitied it. It was thin. She took 95 it and started carrying it. | She went in, and said to her companion: "Why did you | do that?" She said to her: "It is poor; it will eat bones. | They must all be starved. Therefore this pup came here." | The other old woman went to get an anvil stone to pound | dried 100 meat. She went along, and there was a good stone. | She started to carry it. She did not know that she had thrown into the water the one young man, | and that the other one was a stone. She carried it in. Then | the two youths worked their manitou powers. They staid there in the tent of the old women. They staid there several days. | Then the two youths ate. The old women did not 105 know it. | The two slept together during the night. On the following morning | the one was again a dog, and the other was a stone. | The two youths saw what happened | when the buffaloes came to that tent every night. | There was a bladder hanging by the door, | and 110 there was a bunch of claws hanging there. When | the buffaloes came back, they shook the bladder | and the claws. |

At night they said to each other: "Let us start back to the town || where they are hungry! Let us take back the buffaloes!" Then | they 115 started. They saw a great number of buffaloes. One | of the youths burst the bladder with a stick; the other | took the bunch of claws. Then the one started. That one was | first. Then the other one started. There at the source of the river, || where the buffaloes were, 120

¹ Evidently an error, for later on he is a pup.

ta'xas nawasxo'ume k. qake'ine : "qwa:, qwa:, qaqanu'k.lu; qwa:, qwa:, qaqanu'k.lu ts!ka'm a'le iya'm u."

N'u'pxane tdnamuku''ste k parl sdraqayaqaha'se iya'm'u's. qakila'mne: "a: pal sdraqayaqa''xe iya'm'u." nao''k!ue wan125 ki'n'e aa'kuqtsi'k'ens. litkik.le ti'kse pal kpa'q!ame'k!o'ule's.
nao''k!ue mitiya'xane aa'kilq!a'lukps. lo'use: tseika'te neis
tsit!na'nas. qalwi'yne ktsilwa't!e't ktsxal'ama'nme'te'xa's.
lo'use: n'u'pxane nawasxona'kse pal n'ilki'kse: qake'ine:
"qa'psin kinsiltso'ukuat nei tsit!na'na? n'ula'n'e sil'aynila130 wa'sine iya'm'u's ma hun'o'kisqli't!ne qaqanu'k.lo: ma
husilxunaqki'n'e: kintka'lke'n."

Ta'xas tahamukua'ste k tsukua'te popo'es qao xa'xe neis a'k!aloko a'se iya'm u's yaoxal'etuwaqa'ane ta'xas nawatsinulxo'une qalwi'yne ktsxalq!akpaka'txo qaqanu'k. 135 lo 's.

N'uk!ułmat/łne kaq!u'lqa. ta'xas łałaxa'xe nei n/tsta'hał n'u'pxane neis t/łnamukuista'ke pał qous n'/nse naw/ts-nulxona'pse mitiya'xane neis kaq!u'lqa ps. n'/tk/nme k qaqa-nu'k.lo''s. ts/na'xane a'kulats!/se's. qayaqa'wo''s a'ksaq!/-140 se's qa'wisnuxo'nxu'ne. qanaqkupla'lte nei t/łna'm'u. n'i-t/nme tnu'qlasaq!xo'une: nao'k!ue t/lna'm'u a'a'ke qanla'lte nao''k!ue saq!/se's; a'a'ke n'it/nme tnu'qlasaq!xo'une: ta'-xas neis a'k/t.la'e's q!a'pe's a'quloma''e's ts!/naqayqa'pse. o'k!uquna'ts ho'q!uka'e's ts!/naqayqa'pse nao''k!ue mitiya'xa-145 ne t!/namo''e's. ts/nk/n'e qous qana'kanuqxuna'pse: nao'-k!ue mitiya'xane neis qa'qayqa'pse ho'q!uka'e's. ts/nk/n'e qous qanakanuqxuna'pse: ta'xas xa'ts/nlxa'tke'n. qous qao'-xak/s/nm/tnaxowa'tik k!e'ila'.

Ta'xas hu'sdq!apqalq!anuxwa'te qu'kuen ki 'ay iya'm u's.

66. The Deluge

Ho'ya's, hutsqalq!anuxwa'te c'nla k yawo'une k! ne k!u-pc'lam.

Qa·n/t.la'ane· //nla·k n'/n·se· t/lnamu''e·s kia'wa·ts; at n'a-na'xe· //nla·k; kia'wa·ts at nalq!at!e'ine· lawi·'ya·ls. naqsan-5 mi·'yit.s qaaq!anu'kse· at yaqa'oʻxalq!at!e'ike· kia'wa·ts. ta'-xas tsxal·ats!/na'xe· naq!ako'une·, a'a'ke· tsxal'iku'lne· qaoʻxalxuna'xe· neis aaʻku'q!nuks kia'wa·ts. ta'xas n'iku'lne·, ta'xas a'a'ke· na'qtse·k. qa.kila'qktse·k ta'-xas la.upka'xe·. n'u'pxane· neis wu'os n'o·k!uni·lhotsu'kse·. 10 tseika'te· pal qous n'/nse· kal'upka'ske· qapsins n'upka'se·. n'u'pxane· pal n'/n·se· yawo'un/k!s. ta'xas n'upka'se·. qak·la'pse·: "hun'ot/sine·. hutsxaltsukuat/sine·." pal ktsla'kil

there he shook the claws | and sang, saying: "Qwa, qwa, Jack Rabbit! | Qwa, qwa, Jack Rabbit! Bring the game!" |

The two old women saw the game going by. | They said to each other: "The game is passing along." The one shook | the bladder. 125 It made no noise. It had burst. | The other one went to get the claws. They were not there. She looked for | the dog. She thought she would send it in pursuit to get them back. | It was not there. Then she knew that he was singing, and that he was the one. She said: | "Why did you take that little dog? He has done it. He has stolen || our game. I knew by his eyes that he was Jack Rabbit. | 130 Therefore I put him into the water, and you brought him in." |

Then the two old women took hammers, and they went | to the trail of the game in the snow. They stood on each side, ready to strike with their hammers. | They thought they would strike Jack || Rabbit. |

One scabby bull was left behind. The youth came back, | and saw the two women ready to strike him. | Then he ran after the scabby bull. He transformed himself into a | jack rabbit. He held on with his teeth to the bull's testicles, and was || hanging down between his 140 legs. One of the old women struck it | and flattened out one leg (of the scabby bull). The other old woman struck him | on the other leg and made it flat. Then | all the parflèches in the tent began to roll out; and | because the fat and marrow began to roll, the other old woman ran after it. || She caught it, and it dragged her along. | 145 The other one ran after it, and the fat and marrow were rolling this way. She took it, | and it dragged her along. They could not hold it. | They fell down crying. |

Now I have told how Raven stole the game.

66. The Deluge¹

Well, I'll tell how Chicken Hawk | killed the Water Monster. {

There was the tent of Chicken Hawk and his wife Grouse. | Chicken Hawk went hunting, and Grouse picked huckleberries. || For several days Grouse picked berries near a lake. | Then she would start again. She perspired and wanted to drink. | Grouse went to the water of that lake. Then | she drank and she swam. After swimming, | she went to the shore again. Then she noticed that the water was rising. || She looked at it, and there it was where something came ashore. | She saw that it was the Water Monster. He came ashore, and | said to her: "I want you; I'll take you!" She loved | Chicken

¹ See p. 40.

'nła ks; ne ists k!aqa'k.łaps yawo' unik!s n'o n' lne pał at k!upe'łka's. ta'xas qałwi'yne, qak.ła'pse "hutsxal'e'kine ła-15 wi'vał." ta'xas namate'ktse: ta'xas pał ktselwalkwa'yet.s ta'xas ktslats! 'na'm pał ktsla'kił nułaqana''e's 'nła'ks. łało'use ławi 'ya łs ktsxa'ł e ks c'nła ks. mc'ka kschwałkwa'yit.s łahałq!at!e'ine: sa hankı'n e. ta'xas lats!\na'xe a 'k\t.la'e's. k.lała'xam tsema'k!iłts/łmey/t.se. k.łała'xam pe./k!a.ks łaapsaa-20 osaqa'pse'z'nłaaks. namate'ktse'. n'o'ne'lne'. qake'lne': ''hoquasouk^u'n'e' na ławi'_iyał. husa 'haniłxone'_ine'. huq^ua 'hałq !at !e'_ine'. honupsłatqa'nkikqa'ane yesenwunme ye'tke:" neists k.łats!e'nam kia'wa'ts n'u'pxane neis tuq!tsqa'mna's kia'wa'ts, n'i'n'se nöpek!a'e's. sel'aqa'k.le'k kia'wa'ts. q!akpakitxo'une'. tsu-25 k^ua'te', qa's&tsukwa'te'. ne_is ktsiłmi''yit.s n'aqtuq!_uwak&n'e'. qake'ine: ''n'ise'ine kaa'k.la'm'. hutsxalqa.c'kine:'' ta'xas n'itxo'ume·k. nalokaxanmite'tine. at qawuneke't.se; at łao kunuxa''mne: at ława'łne: at n'c'nse: aa'kma'k!tsuks ne_is k_uwa'łna't. n''\'r'se' ne_is ma k!aqtuk!wa'kin tuq!ts-30 qa'mna's. qaapsilsa nilxone' ine o'k! quna ks/l'o'nil nulaqana."e's, sd'aqaqa'pse' k!a'qane'ts.

BUREAU OF AMERICAN ETHNOLOGY

Kanmi'ye't.s łaana'xe' ı'nłaak. qake'ine' kia'wa'ts: "mı'ka koq^ua_aps/łxo'_une· hutsłats!e·'nałq!at!e'_ine· ma ksa'hank/'n'e·k ławi 'yał ne is wa'łkuwa s." ta'xas tskna'xe kia'wa ts, a'a'ke 35 łaqa.ł'tkınma'lne yawo'unik!s. a'a'ke łaqaaqa'pse kalq!at!e'ike ts 'nła ks. k. ła xa 'xam a 'k t. ła 'e 's ta 'xas a :n 's e . t uk 'a 'xa 'n 'metetine kia'wats. kanmi'yets we'hams qake'ine kia'wats: "pa'me k hutsxal a halq lat le' ine me'ka kusa nilxo' une to'x ua hułe'e'p pał kantsłaga'e'k ga'psin aa'kog!le'et hunalg!a't!e'." 40 a'a'ke łats!\na'xe kia'wa'ts.

Ta'xas nuko'yilxone'ine c'nlak. qalwi'yne: "pal selqapsqaqa'pse qaapse ka nikxone ine kataha'mu. ho'ya's hukts!a'na m qous at yaqa'o xalq lat le'ike: "ta'xas ts! na'xe c'nlaak. laxa'xe sao sa qa'pse tahamu''e s sa tiyilhawasxona'kse qalwi'yne. 45 n'u'pxane pał qasa niłxone ise. qao sa qa'ane ta'xas tu'x a wałkuwayı't.se: ts!:na'xe kia'wa'ts qous aa'ku'q!nuks. qake'ine: "ho'ya's hults!!na'lpe'st kanul'a'qana yawo'unik!." tse_ika'te· ı'nła_ak qo_us yaqao xa'ske· nawasxona'kse· tılnamu''e's. kxo'na's n'u'pxane qous wu'o's qawakal'upka'se 50 yawo'unik!s. qao'xa'xe' kia'wa't nałk/n'e' ławi'yałs. ta'xas k!u'pka'm yawo'unik!. malenk!alma'n'e' n'aqtu'q!waqaxa'ktse' neis ławi'yałs. ta'xas n'esakinu'n'e kia'wa'ts neis qawa'aqałupkaqo'ume k yawo'unik!. ta'xas at wake'ine kia'wa ts klo'ma'ts wdka'niłpa'łne'xoma'łne' yawo'unikls. ta'xas55 to'xua ktswałkuwa'yit.s ta'xas ła'hułqa'atse yawo'unik!. ta'xas łats!ka'xe kia'wa'ts. nawasxo'une qake'ine: "ta'xas

Hawk when the Water Monster spoke to her. She was afraid that he would | kill her. Then she thought thus, she was told: "I'll eat | huckleberries." Then she gave them to him. In the evening | she 15 started back. She loved her husband, Chicken Hawk. | There were no huckleberries which Chicken Hawk was to eat. Even though she had picked until the evening, | she had done badly. Then she went back to her tent, | and arrived when it was very dark. When she arrived, Chicken Hawk | was already there. She gave it to him. She 20 was afraid. She said to him: "I did not | get many huckleberries. I felt ill. I did not pick berries. I have been lying down all day." When Grouse was going back, | she saw the bird grouse, who was | her manitou. Therefore she was called Grouse. She knocked it down. She took it, and at night she took a piece of it into her mouth. | She 25 said: "I have a headache; I will not eat." | She lay down. She groaned. After a little while | she got up again. She vomited. She vomited yellow water. | That was the bird that she had swallowed. | She was not sick at all. She did so because she was afraid 30 of | her husband, whom she deceived. |

KUTENAI TALES

In the morning Chicken Hawk went out hunting. Grouse said: "Even | though I am not feeling well, I'll go to pick berries. | Yesterday I did badly picking huckleberries." Grouse left, and | she did the 35 same with the Water Monster. She did also the same, and | picked berries for Chicken Hawk. When she arrived at the house, she groaned still more. | Early the next day Grouse said: | "Although I am sick, I'll go and pick berries. | If I should happen to die, you would not eat any more of the fruit that I pick." | Then Grouse 40 started again.

Chicken Hawk felt uneasy. He thought: "Maybe | my wife is not sick. I'll go there | where she is picking berries." Chicken Hawk started. He came to | the place where his wife was. She was singing. He thought | he knew that she was not sick. He stood there. 45 When it was almost | evening, Grouse started for the lake. | She said: "I'll give something to eat to my husband the Water Monster." Chicken Hawk looked on, (and saw) his wife going and singing. | She went to the shore. He saw the Water Monster coming out of the water. | Grouse went there. She carried the huckleberries. | When 50 the Water Monster came ashore, he opened his mouth, and she emptied | the huckleberries into his mouth. Then Grouse sat down. | The Water Monster was coming ashore. Then Grouse shouted, | and she and the Water Monster laughed and made noise. || When it was almost 55 evening, the Water Monster went back into the water. | Then Grouse started for home. She sang. She said: | "It is getting evening,

ks/łwałkuwa'yi't me'ka husa'nk/nmił kuwałq!at!e'ike'ts ławi''yałs kanuł'a'qana /'nła'k."

Ta'xas saandwi'yne 'nla'k. lats!na'xe: qalwi'yne 'nla'k:

60 "kutsxal'u'pi'l yawo'unik! pal at ksa'ha'n; pal at k!up'lka. ksdqa'lwiy ktsxal'u'pla'p ksd'aqa'ke'n katdnamo''mi'l." ta'xas la'ts!na'xe: lalaxa'xe: aa'kt.la'e's. wo'q!umaane'k't.se: ktsdmi''yt.s nulpa'lne tdnamu''e's neis aa'kmana'me's. nalukuaxa'nmet'tse: n'u'pxane ma: kqaapsilsa'hanilxo'une's. latkaxa'-65 mne kia'wa'ts. na'lukuatsla''mne: namat'ktse: nulaqana''e's lawi''yals. qakt'lne: "ta'xas a'nutsemak!ilsa'ndxone'ine: a'a'ke lasaha'n'e 'n lawi''yal." qa.t'kine t'nla'k neis lawi''yals. laqao'xakt'n'e: qakt'lne tdnamu''e's: "hutsxalqa.t'kine at saha'n'e 'aa'qoulaqpika'e'sts aa'q!utsk!a'la'kna'na. haqa'lwiy 70 kule'e'k iktu'qo'n'. ta'xta huts!t'kine:" n'txo'ume'k kia'wa'ts. qake'ine: "hutsxalqa.tktuqo'une: hutsema'k!ilqaapsilxone'ine: hutsakqa'ane:" ta'xas kq!u''mne wt'lna'ms qake'ine kia'wa'ts: "a'a'ke hutslaha'lq!at!e'ine: yunaqa'ane lawi'ne kia'a'a'a'a'a'ke hutslaha'lq!at!e'ine: yunaqa'ane

ławi'yał sd'a'qałydna'ntsta'pane:"

Qake'ine. c'nła'k: "at sukua'qana'n'." ta'xas łaqatsxa'ne łaa'klła'ks c'nła'k. ta'xas sdtsxanatc'łne kia'wa'ts ktsxa'l'e'p aa'ke yawo'unikls. ta'xas ts!ma'xe kia'wa'ts. tsukua'te c'nła'k a'kle's n'a'se: n'ctkc'n'e nöpc'kla's neis a'kle's. pał kqasts!-o'mqa'qa yawo'unikl sd'aqaqa'pse c'nła'k kle'itke'n nöpc'kla's neis a'kle's, ktsxałmitxa'm'o yawo'unikls. ta'xas ts!cna'xe: k.ła'xam qao sa qa'ane nułpa'łne kia'wa'ts słaatiyiławasxona'kse: ta'xas qao xa'se: ta'xas a'a'ke n'upka'se yawo'unikls. ta'xas n'upxana'mse. laxa'xe: qawoukata'pse k.ła'-xa'm. pe.c'kla'ks nul'c'kine yawo'unikl neis ławi'yałs kałqla'-85 tleis kia'wa'ts. łaxa'xe c'nła'k. qakc'łne: "a: swo:" tseikata'pse yawo'unikls pał pe.c'kla'ks sdmc'txane: qake'ine yawo'unikl: "hoyasulu''mqo'l." c'n'la'k qa.onila'pse: ta'xas mctxa'łne yawo'unikl. ta'xas lahulqa'atse neis wu'o's. kia'wa'ts mitiya'-

xane 'nla ks. qak'lne: "kanul'a'qna 'nla k. ma kutsl'ak.

90 le s." qake'ine 'nla k: "hintsxalqak!u mna hikpayaxwuta'-pane: nink!umna'nta'pane." mitxa'lne kia'wa'ts. n'upi-li'lne neists yaqa'hakqa'ake kia'wa'ts qakxanoxu'n'e toq!tsqa'mna. qake'ine 'nla k: "ta'xas hintsxali'n'e kia'wa'ts. atintsxali'ki'lne."

Ta'xas łats!na'xe 'nla'k. yawo'unik! neis k.ła./kts/nqa'ts wu'o's qous qayaqa'wo's aa'ko'q!nuks qa'o xal'itxo'ume'k pał k!skuwu'm'a'l. natstkilqa.ö'pine: ta'xas n'e ku'lne neists y/sq!nu'kske. n'oukoku'xune na aa'qanm/tu'k aa'qan oxu'nukna'na aa'qana q!nukna'na. q!apel ale tu'kune: n'aqsanmi'inukna'na a'tskil/lne wu'o pał s/lq!a'pi lhoma sle./tine: ta'xas to'xua tsxalo kuinukuna'mne: n'ola'n'e ko'k!unuq!luma'nam

and I have done badly picking | huckleberries for my husband Chicken Hawk." |

Then Chicken Hawk was angry. He went back. Chicken Hawk thought: ||"I'll kill the Water Monster. He is bad. He kills people. | 60 He wants to kill me doing this to my wife." Then | he went back. He arrived at home. After a while, | when it was dark, he heard his wife groaning on the trail. | He knew that she was not sick. Grouse came in. || Her head was tied up. She gave huckleberries to her 65 husband, | and said to him: "I was still more sick, | and the berries are bad." Chicken Hawk did not eat the huckleberries. | He put them back, and said to his wife: "I'll not eat them. | The leaves and twigs are bad. If you want || me to eat them, wash them. Then 70 I'll eat them." Grouse lay down. | She said: "I will not wash them. I am very ill. | I will lie down." Then, after she had slept, in the morning | Grouse said: "I'll pick berries again. There are many | huckleberries. I like to do it." ||

Chicken Hawk said: "Take care!" Chicken Hawk did not say | 75 anything else. Then it was said that Grouse | and the Water Monster should die. Grouse started. Chicken Hawk took | his two arrows, and he worked his manitou power over his arrows. | The Water Monster is skillful. Therefore Chicken Hawk worked his manitou power over his arrow, to shoot the Water Monster with it. Then he started. When he arrived where she was, he heard Grouse singing along. Then he went there. The Water Monster also came ashore. | Then they met on shore. He arrived there. They did not see him | when he came there. The Water Monster had already eaten the huckleberries | which Grouse had picked. Chicken Hawk arrived. He said 85 to him: "O friend!" | The Water Monster looked at him, and at once he shot at him. The Water Monster said: | "I'll swallow him." Chicken Hawk was not afraid of him. The Water Monster was hit. Then he went towards the water. Grouse went to | Chicken Hawk, and said to him: "My husband Chicken Hawk, I love you." | Chicken 90 Hawk said: "I will not take pity on you. | You brought me into trouble." Grouse was shot and | was killed. There where Grouse lav a bird flew up. | Chicken Hawk said: "You shall be grouse. | You shall be eaten."

Then Chicken Hawk started. When the Water Monster sank 95 down | in the water in the middle of the lake, he lay down, | for he was wounded in the belly. After a while he died. He drank | the whole lake. He drank all the rivers and all | the creeks and little lakes. There was no more water. || For several days the people looked for 100 water, but everything was dry. | They were about to die; it happened

¿'nła'k pał k!o'uła. qake'ine: "hutsxał'akuku¿'n:e wu'o, na'-pe't hoquasts!u'mqa'qa, hutsxał'ae'ko'łnała'ane: mɛ'ksa'n no-kuyakate'ine: yawo'unik!. a:nts!ak.la'nałsa'nɛlwiynata'pane:"
105 nawasxo'ume'k ¿'nła'k. ta'xas ts!ɛnaxa'mne: qous yaqa'hakqa'ake: yawo'unik!. tsukua'te: ¿'nła'k a'k!e's łaakakɛ'ne: neis aa'k.luktsum'o.¿'n'e's yawo'unik!. qakal'akanoxunu'kune: ta'xas n'e'kulɛ'lne: pał sɛlxa'tkinukuna'mne: ta'xas lats!ɛnal'-upaxa''mne: aa'kik.lu.''na'm.

110 N'upxa'îne pe'k!a k pal selhotsu'kune a:n'u'palu'nisna'mne. łaxaq!asu'kune: a:n'upalu'nisna'mne: a'a'ke łała'xaq!asu'kune. ta'xas nutsınqatsa'mne aa'kuwuk le'et. ta'xas notsu'kune, notsu'kune', notsu'kune'. ta'xas youxaxa'm'ne' aa'kuwuk.le'et. n'upsna lhotsu'k_une: ta'xas tsxalqawunek't_ine: ktsxal a'lo 115 a'm·a·k. o·k!uwina'm·o c'nła·k nawasxo'ume·k. c'nła·k n'c'n·se· nöpek!a'e's neis tuq!tsqa'mna''s e'nła'ks sel'aqal'ate'lne: e'nła'ks. n'akaki'n'e aa'kinuq!ma'ana's neis tuq!tsqa'mna''s i'nfa'ks. n'eyaki'n e: qaki'he aqisma'kinik!s: "hakibitski'lki na a'a'kınuq!ma'ana. na'peit n'asqa'lsama'q!leilnouke'lqaya'qa'-120 qa q'a 'souk, ta 'xas tsxalalo 'une na a 'm a k. hutsxalalonala 'ane . ts!ouktawa'sane yawo'unik! na'peit hoquasts!o'mqa'qa tsxala'unakxo'une; hutsxatkinuknala'ane." ta'xas nakilwitskile'lne ne_is k!eya'ke'n c'nła'k a_a'kEnuq!ma''na's. ta'xas nawasxo'_ume'k 'nla·k. ta'xas n'ok!uilqayaqa'qaq!aso'ukune neis aa'kuq!le'le s 125 a'ake qayaqaqaq!aso'ukune kqayaqa'wuha'q!lil. nawasxo'umek 'nla·k. a'a'ke· łaxaq!asu'kune· nei k!oukoqa'pq!lił. n'upxa'łne· tsznukyo'ume·k. qakiłz'łne· z'nła·k tsznukyo'ume·k. qake'ine·: "hakilwitske'lki'l." nawasxo'ume.k e'nla'k. qakile'lne": "la.unakxu'n·e·." qake'ine·: "ta'xas hos/qa'tal'u'pnala'ane·." nawas-130 xo'ume·k. ta'xas lats!:nal'unakxu'ne·. ta'xas lats!:nal'unalo'nesna'mne: ta'xas ła unaxa'mne: a 'kuk!płe'et. ta'xas wu'o łałaxaq!asu'kune nei ma yisaq!aso'ukue soukuilq!ukuna'mne. Ta'xas husdq!a'pqalq!anuxwa'te c'nla'k yawo'unik yaqal'd-

67. Wolf

ke'nke neis pe'k!a'ks.

Ho'ya's, hutsxaltsxa'ne yaqal'ıtkı'nke ka'ake'n neis pı'-k!a'ks.

Qa'hak.luna'mne: qak.lik te'tqat! ka'ake'ns. salite'tine: laa'-k!laks aa'kik.luna'me's pa'lkeis qak.la'kse: nelo'uqats. n'e'tkens 5 la'n'e's telnamu''e's at saha'nse: n'e'tkens lan'e'se's tat!e'se's at so'ukse: sa'nilwi'yne: ka'ake'n. lama'te: telnamu''e's. lats!e-na'xe' neis aa'kik.lu'e's. k.lala'xam qake'ine: "hults!ena'xala'e's aa'kek.lu'e's katelna'm'u. hutsxalwanaqananala'ane:" ta'xas ts!ena'xe: k.la'xam n'upxa'se: ska't!e's. neis ska't!e's nöpk!a'-10 qa'qa'pse; sa'qa'qa'pse: k!u'pxa''s neis ksa'hanilwi'ynaat.

on account of thirst. | Chicken Hawk did it. He said: "I'll try to get back the water. | If I am clever, we shall drink again, but | it is dangerous. The Water Monster may make war on me in another way." || Chicken Hawk sang, then he went along to the place where | the 105 Water Monster lay. Chicken Hawk pulled his arrow | out of the wound of the Water Monster. Then the water came flowing out, and | the people drank. They were all saved. Then | the people of the town went back to the shore. ||

Now, it was seen that the water was rising. They went farther 110 away from the shore. The water reached up there. They went still farther away from the shore, and again the water reached there. They climbed the mountains. The water rose, rose, rose. They went to the top of a mountain. It was still rising, and it seemed that in a little time all the land would be gone. | Then Chicken Hawk 115 sang in the same way. The chicken hawk was his manitou; that is, the bird chicken hawk. Therefore he was called Chicken Hawk. He opened his sacred bundle (which contained) the tail of the bird chicken hawk. He placed it upright, and said to the people: "Watch this | tail. If the water passes the three stripes of the tail, | then the world will come to an end. We shall all be drowned. | The 120 Water Monster will kill us all. If I am clever, | the water will go down, and we shall be saved." Then they watched | the tail that Chicken Hawk had put up. Chicken Hawk sang. | Then the water reached the first stripe. | The water also passed the second stripe. 125 Chicken Hawk was singing, | and the water also reached the third stripe. Then it was seen | that the water ceased to rise. They said to Chicken Hawk that it had ceased to rise. He said: | "Watch it!" Chicken Hawk was singing. He was told: | "The water is going down again." Then he said: "Now we shall not die." He sang. Then the water went down. Then they all went down. They came 130 down to the foot of the mountain. Then the water | reached back to its own place, and everybody was glad.

Now I have told you what Chicken Hawk and the Water Monster | did in olden times. |

67. Wolf

Well, now I will tell you what Wolf did | long ago.

There was a town, and a man was named Wolf. He was married | to a woman in another camp. Her name was Doe. || When his wife 5 made moccasins for him, they were bad. When she made moccasins for her elder brothers, | they were good. Wolf was angry. He left his wife. | He went back to his town. When he arrived, he said: "Let us start for | my wife's town. Let us fight them!" Then | they started. When they arrived, his brother-in-law knew it. He had manitou || power. Therefore he knew that they were angry at him. | 10

85543°—Bull. 59—18——15

nawasxo'umik kianq!alena'na. qakt'hne. tthamu''e's: "pt'k!a·ks tsxałsa·niłwi'ynatawa'sane· ka'ake'n. n'ctk!ame'ine. qanaxa'ntse'ite telnamu"e's a'a'ke xale'e's ta'xas laxa'xe ne_i k_iyuna'qa k_uwanaq_ana'mik ne_is a_a'kmoxo"e's kianq!al-15 na'na. o'k!uquna ksel'e'tken nöpe'k!a's n'etke'nmi'k tsu'pqa's. n'ınqa'pte k neis yaqak.le'ike: n'iktka'xe qous qa witsq!ayułe. 't.se'. qao 'xał'yuxa'xe' qan'yu'n o 's. ta'xas ka'ake'n k!ok'tka. n'tsk'he ska't!e's neis ya'qa'nmu'xo'nak'ske neis k!oku''le's. n'u'pxane pal·o'use ska't!e's. n'u'pxane ma kinë'p-20 k!aqa'qaps. qalwi'yne: "ku'tsxalqatanu'k!ue'n." qao'xa'xe' a 'kmoxo. 'se's. nawasxo' ume'k, n' nqap'te'k ka' ake'ns. wo uka'te: o'k!uquna kst'e'tke'n nöpt'k!a's st'aqaqa'pse kuwo'uka t a 'k. lik!/se's ska't!e's. ne s yaqanal/kske qanawisk/kine. wouka'te qous qa'witsq!ayułe.c't.se qous qanyu'n o's salqaka'o-25 w/sqa'pse· ska't!e·s. n'/ktka'xe· ka'ake·n. n'u'pxane· nei k!/nqa'ptek kianq!aha'nas ks/ts!/n'as ka'ake'ns. n/nko'e's n'/ktka'xe: qa'alin'iktka'xe: laxa'se: ka'ake:ns neis la'witsq!ayułe. ¿'t.se'. qao xal'una xe'ts łayouxa xe' qanyu'n o's neists k!u'n'a'm ka'ake'n qous ma yaqa''wisqa'pske' ska't!e's. sawasla'kse'. 30 tse_ika'te· qoʻus le' ine·s hawtsq!ayule.t't.ske· qoʻus qanyu'n·o·'s suwesqa'pse: a'a'ke ła.iktka'xe ka'aken. n'u'pxane kianq!alna'na kselts!e'na's ka'ake'ns. ts!enal'una'xe aa'kenme'tuks. qalwi'yne: "hults!!na'm'il kapa'pa k!!'k!oum'." k!!'k!oum' sant.ła'ane qous łe'ine aa'kınmı'tu ks. ta'xas ka'ake'n k.łaxal-35 wulik_ina'_ate't qo_us ma ya_aqa'_aw¿sqa'pske ska't!e's. lo'_use: s¿lqanal'unaq!male'kse: metiya'xane: qalwi'yne: ka'ake'n: "ma ksa'han k!\'\c'k!oum. qa.\'\ns\'\ts\\alpha\lamat\'\cktsa'p. na'pe't huquałaxa·"nxo· tina'xa'm¹ papa''e's, ta'xas kuts/łyuk!ka'aka't." ts!:naxe: k.la'xam kianq!alna'na ktina'xa'm² laat:nqa'mik 40 kl/kloum' qak.la'pse papa'es: "a: qouqalet/lo. sinuta'pane ka'ake'n." qatseikatka'ane kk'kloum. a'a'ke laqake'ine. kiang!ałna'na. qatse'ikata'pse kl'kloums. neists n'kinoqu'ko kk'kloum at qake'ine: "saak, sa'k sak sa'k sak." a'a'ke łaqake'ine: "wa:saqanapm/łe:n'. aaqa't!a:ks ma qaska'xe: 45 ka'ake'n." qake'ine k!!'k!oum: "ksa'nla'luk.le'ite't; ma ke'e'n ska't'ne's, ma kintsłakiłe' imał. qa'psins ksałsa'nakwiyna' ate's." qake'ine kiang!ałna'na: "wasa'qanan'. toxua tsxalwa'xe ka'ake'n. tsxal'at!xna'pane'.'' qake'ine' k!a'k!oum: "ke'e'n ka'ake'ns?" qake'ine. kianq!alna'na: "hê, n'anqa'pte'k ka'ake'ns." 50 qake'ine k!/k!oum: "n/nko k/n'/tk/nme k iya'm u tsu'pqa?" qake'ine kianq!ałna'na: "hê, ta'xta na ła'a husda.ctkc'nme k te'tqa't!. ta'xas huseltkaxa''mne:." qake'ine k!e'k!oum: "en qa'o xal'txo una m'." n'txo ume k kianq!alna na. qunya'-

The two-year-old Buck sang. He said to his wife: \ "The Wolves are mad at us." He dug a hole, | and let his wife and his son go in. Then | the many warriors arrived where the young Buck was sitting. Because he was working his manitou power, he had become a deer, | 15 and he became what his name was. He went up a mountain. | He went up there to the top. Wolf | killed all the people. He looked for his brother-in-law. Where those who had been killed were piled up, | he did not see his brother-in-law. He knew that he had manitou power. | He thought: "I shall not be able to kill him." He went | 20 to his seat and sang. Then he became a wolf. | He looked; and because he was working his manitou power, he saw | the tracks of his brother-in-law. Then he went that way. | He looked, and saw him on top of a mountain. | His brother-in-law was standing there, facing 25 this way. Wolf went up. Then the one | who had become a young buck saw him. Wolf started to go up to him. | He just began to go up; and when Wolf arrived, there was another high mountain. | He went down, and went up toward the top. | When Wolf was going down, at the place where his brother-in-law had been standing, there were his tracks. | He saw another high mountain on the other side, and he 30 was standing on top. | Again Wolf went up. The Buck saw | the Wolf starting, and went down to a river. | He thought: "I'll go to my father's mother, Fish." Fish's | tent was on the other side of the river. When Wolf stepped | down to the place where his brother-in- 35 law had been standing, he was not there. | He saw his tracks going down. He followed them. Wolf thought: | "Fish is bad. Maybe he will not give him to me. If I | do not catch him, and if he enters his grandfather's tent, I shall not be able to get him." | He started. When the Buck arrived and went in, Fish was sitting inside. | Fish 40 was told by his grandson: "Put me somewhere. | Wolf is pursuing me." Fish did not look at him. Buck spoke again. | Fish did not look at him. | He said while he was smoking: "Sak, sak, sak, sak, sak, sak!" | (Buck) said again: "Hurry up! The Wolf is close by. He is coming along." || Fish said: "What you say is bad. He is | your brother-in- 45 law. You loved each other. Why is he angry at you?" | Buck said: "Hurry up! Wolf has almost arrived. | He'll bite me." Fish said: "Is he a wolf?" | Buck said: "Yes, he has become a wolf." | Fish 50 said: "Can you transform yourself into a deer?" | Buck said: "He is just outside. I became | a man again when I came in." Fish said: | "Lie down there!" The Buck lay down. | Fish touched his

xane, kl'kloum aa'qlatl'n'e's; n'''n'se aa'qlatl'n'e's tsu'p-55 qa's. yuwaxamet'ktse kianqlalna'na's. qak'lne.: "maats wanxaam''le'n'." qalwi'yne kianqlalna'na: "koqualwi'ymi'l ktsqoquak'n'ap, kusiltkaxa''mi'l." pal tsin klo''klue's pa'l'ya's kiwa'xame't kl'kloum. pal kuwi'lqa kianqlalna'na. tunwakakiwa'ts'a'qlane. ta'xas n'u'pxane tikaxa''mse ka'ake'ns.

Qałwi'yne kiang lałna'na taxas kts!u'k!unil'u'pxanaps ka'ake'ns. qapes'nola'akatqle't!ine: qatseikata'pse: a'a'ke ka'ake'n ła. etke'nme k te'tqa t!s. neists ktsxałtina'xa 'm a 'ket. ła. -'se's k!'k!oum's. qak'he: "k'nqa.u'pxa kianq!aha'na?" qatse, kata'pse ne, s ma skilyaqak'nske, kiaq!alna'nas, a'a'ke qakı'lne: "ksamlaluk.le'itet ma ke'en ska't'nes; ma kintsla'kel·e'ima·l. qa'psins kins/lsa·'nilwi'ynaat?'' qake'ine· k!/k!oum: "k!tkt'nme'k iya'm'u's kianq!aha'na?" qake'ine ka'ake'n: "hê, n'enqa'pte·k." qake'ine· k!!'k!oum: "qa'psins tsma'qsi·lt-70 ka'xa'm kaakat.la'mil. pal ke'e'n tsu'pqa's, at tkaxa''mne ka kt.la"mi l neis ke'e'n tt'tqa't!s. anaxa'mt'le'n'. ltn xunmtqu'leik. at qaqana''ne iya'm'u.'' laanaxa''mne ka'ake'n. n'itki'n'e' tsa'atsa's k!/k!oum. wasa qana'ane'. aa'k!anqu't!e's qanal'anme'te: n'enqapta'kse tsu'pqa's neis tsa'atsa's qous le'ine's 75 qawtsinu'qse. neis k.laana'xam ka'ake'n, n'u'pxane qous łe'ine's pał suwitsinu'qse neis kianq!ałna'nas. łatinaxa''mne ka'ake'n. qake'lne kle'kloums: "hamate'ktsu yaqso''mil. hun'u'pxane tsu'pqa qous le'ine 's.'' qake'ine kk'kloum: "pal kenqa'ke kın'ınqa'pte k ka'ake'n; a'a'ke kianq!alna'na k!ınqa'p-80 te·k tsu'pqa's. taxta' ka'ake'n m/te'ixa tsu'pqa's xunm/tqu'kue's aa'kanma'tu'ks, a'a'ke ka'ake'n at tsxalalqana'qane'." qake'ine: ka'ake'n: "ha: pal qaqa'ane:" laanaxa''mne: ka'ake'n. n'tkt'nme'k. ka'ake'nsn'tnqa'pte'k. ta'xasn'alqana'qane'. sd'aqanıtsa'pse k!ı'k!oums pał kqa'e'ns tsu'pqa's qou sawıtsnu'q-85 sker, pał kerems tsarhałs klertkans tsurpqars. qalarnie tsurpqa qawetsnu'qkue, n'e'n e tsa'hal. neists k.laana'xams ka'akens; kianq!ałna'na łao'kunuxa''mne: qakt'he: k!t'k!oums: "ałqana'ntap'm''''' hutsxal'up''''he'. pał k!o''kuit ka'akınık!namo'umił." ta'xas kk'kloum n'owo'ukune. tsukua'te se'tle's. 90 nałak/n·e·. tsukua'te· aka''mt le·s. tsukua'te· a·k layukua'e·s. tsukua'te pal'ya'es. qake'ine kianq!alna'na: "wasa'qana'n', p/k!aks tsxal'alqana'qane'.'' qake'ine k!/k!oum: "kaà: taxta' na's n'''n 'e'.'' ta'xas n'anaxa''mne'. xun'aqk''n 'e' yaqso'm''l'e's. qawasa qna'ane: ta:'xas tu'xua tsxal'alqana'qane: ka'ake'n. 95 ta'xas n'oqouxaxa''mne k!!'k!oum a'a'ke kianq!alna'na tsukua'te: kse'ie's kk'kkoum. xunaqkı'n'e: nakun'kı'n'e: tu'xua ła xa nxo ne ka kens ne lo ka kens ne lo ka kens ne lo ka kens ne lo ka kens na du kens

ta'xas łaxa'nxo'une ka'ake'ns. ta'xas kianq!ałna'na tsxałme't-

mittens, which were mittens of deer (skin). || He threw them on Buck, 55 and said: "Don't | move!" Buck thought: "I thought he | would do something for me, therefore I came in." There was just one mitten | which Fish threw on him. Buck was big, | and his legs stuck out. Then he saw Wolf come in. ||

Buck thought he would be seen by Wolf, | and did not turn 60 his eyes from those of Wolf, who did not see him. Now Wolf retransformed himself into a man. When he was about to enter the tent | of Fish, he said to him: "Didn't you see Buck?" | He did not look at him. He did the same as he had done with Buck. | He did 65 the same. (Wolf) was coaxing him. After a while Fish spoke, | and said to him: "Your talk is bad. He is your brother-in-law. You loved each other. Why are you angry at him?" Fish said: "Did Buck transform himself into game?" Wolf said: | "Yes, he transformed himself." Fish said: "Why should he | come into my 70 tent if he is a deer? If he should come into my tent, he would become a man. Go out. Maybe | he went into the water. Game does that." Then Wolf went out. | Fish made a figure of grass. He hurriedly threw it out of the smoke hole. The figure became a deer, which stood there on the other side of the water. | When 75 Wolf went out, he saw | Buck standing in the water on the other side. Wolf went in again, | and said to Fish: "Give me a canoe. I | see a deer on the other side." Fish said: "You | said you became a Wolf, and Buck became | a deer. Later on, when a wolf runs after a 80 deer and it goes into the water | of a river, then a wolf also will swim across." | Wolf said: "Is that so?" Wolf went out. |

He transformed himself into a wolf. He became one. Then he swam across. | Fish had told a lie. It was not a deer standing in the water; || it was grass that he had made into a deer. It was not 85 a deer | that was standing in the water; it was grass. When Wolf had gone out again, | Buck arose, and said to Fish: | "Take me across, so that I may kill him, for he killed all my relatives." | Then Fish arose, took his blanket, || and put it on him. He took his 90 belt and took his hat. He took | his mittens. Buck said: "Hurry up! | He is about to swim across." Fish said: "He is still here." | Then he went out and launched his canoe. | He did not hurry. The Wolf had almost gotten across. || Then Fish and Buck went aboard. | 95 Fish took his paddle, put it into the water, and pushed with it. He almost | caught up with Wolf. Then he put the paddle in on the other side. He paddled, | and caught up with Wolf. Then Buck

5

xane ka'ake'ns. qawukata'pse neis qaluwoxo'une yaqso'-100 mt'l'e's naq!maktk.le'tt'kse. ka'ake'n nulpa'lne yaqso''mils. tseika'te neis ma swttsinu'qse kianq!alna'nas: pt'k!a'ks paltsxalsdmtxana'pse. qakt'lne: "a: ska'tuwa ma kutsla'k.le's maats ö'plo." qake'ine kianq!alna'na: "htn'tsqak!u'mnanlökpayaxwuta'pane. htn'o'kt'e kaakintk!na''mu." ta'xas mit-105 xa'lne ka'ake'n. n'upilt'lne. qake'ine k!t'k!oum: "ta'xas lats!t-namt'le'n' ttlnamu''ne's. xale''ne's k!umnaqaqa'ane."

Ta'xas husiq!apke'ine yaqanike'tke ne pe'k!ak.

68. Skunk

Ho'ya's, hutsxalhaqalpalne'ine yaaqaqa'pske kletken tsa'a-timo xa'xa'sts wu'qtle neis pe'kla'ks.

Qa'hanit.la'ane tsa'atimo xa'xa's n'ı'n se tsa'e's wu'qt!e's. a'a'ke qanit.la'ane wa'ta'k n'a'se altıte''e's, n'ı'n se na'mlat!sts 5 q!u'tsa'ts.

Nuwa'sine q'u'tsa'ts a 'ku'la'ks. qake'ine: hao'm'." qak.la'pse tete''e's: "ha:'ksa kate''te, kate'te, qa'psin kın'u'pske:?'' qake'ine: q!u'tsa:ts: "hunuwa'sine:." qak.la'pse: tzte''e's: "tsukua'te'n' qa'psin kznszlho''was." 10 qake'ine q'u'tsa'ts: "aa'ku'lak huslowa'sine." qak.la'pse tte''e's: "tsukua'te'n' aa'kanxamulu'la'k kanle''e'k." qatsukua'te q'u'tsa'ts. qak.la'pse: "kansilho'was na qa'tsuk?" qake'lne: "héi." qak.la'pse tete''e's wa'ta'ks: "ts!en'ame'lki'l wu'qt!e. tsxal'ı'n·e· nula'qananı'ski·l. maatsıntsxaltseikatkı'lne· 15 xa'xa's. at saha'n'e. tsentsxałok!"e'ine wu'qt!e nułaqanane'ski ł. at qahowa's ine wu'qt le: qasts lu'mqaqa'ane kla''na m." Ta'xas ts!\text{na'xe' nana'atimo na'mlat!ts q!u'tsa'ts. qak.la'pse' tete"e's: "hen laxa'ki l elqa'hak hentsqao se'qapke'lne: taxta" wałkuwa'yit.s hen'upxame'łkieł ła'wa''m wu'qt!e. ta'xas 20 h/n·tsu`tsamiłk/łne·.'' k.ła'xa·m nana'atimu a:n'/dqa'haks qana o saqa'ane. n'u'pxane xa'xa pe. 'k!a ks kaaqat!o'ux^ua·s na.u'te·k¿sta'ke·s pał kɨnöpk!aqa'qa. słaqaqa'pse· k!u'pxa qaho saqa'ane. sla'atiyil'aqtsakxo'une. n'tkt'n'e nöpe'k!a's. tsukua'te set!e'se's tsa'e's. n'alake'n'e'. n'anaxa'mne 25 ne_is nöpck!a'e's ta'xas naqtsakxo'_use'. qake'_ine' q!u'tsa'ts: "ta'xas holhutsaxa'la qous n'c'n e wu'qt le pal saho"saqa'ane." qak.la'pse tsu''we's: "qa.¿'n'e wu'qt!e qou k!aka'xa'm. n'e'n'e' xa'xa's.'' qake'ine' q!u'tsa'ts: "qousts k!aka'xa'm wu'qt!e. sła:t_iyiłkikk.luxonate't_ine xa'xa's qo_us 30 a'qla's." qak.la'pse tsu'e's: "qao'la'n'e xa'xa's qou kua'k.lo xuna'ate t. n'ula'se nöpik!a'e's xa'xa's." wune ki't.se, ta'xas n'alse'nte k q'u'tsa ts. qak.la'pse tsu''e s: "ta'xa lu'n o hoł qunaxa'ła. maatszntsqo 'quałwi'yne qa'en wu'qt!e pał

was about to shoot | Wolf, who did not see him. He touched his canoe, || and it made a little noise. Wolf heard the canoe. | He looked 100 at it, and Buck was standing in the water, | about to shoot him. Wolf said to him: "O brother-in-law! I love you. | Don't kill me!" Buck said: | "I shall not take pity on you, for you have killed all my relatives." || The Wolf was shot and killed. Fish said: | "Go 105 back to your wife. Your son is poor." |

Now I have told all that happened in olden times.

68. SKUNK

Well, I'll tell you what happened, what the brothers | Skunk and Fisher did long ago. |

Skunk and his brother lived in a tent. Fisher was his younger brother. | There also was the tent of Frog and her granddaughters, Chipmunk and | Big Chipmunk. |

Chipmunk was hungry for meat, and said: "Haom, | haom!" Her grandmother said to her: "O granddaughter, granddaughter! | what do you mean?" Chipmunk said: "I am hungry." | Her grandmother said to her: "Take whatever you hunger for." | Chipmunk said: 10 "I am hungry for meat." | Her grandmother said to her: "Take a little piece of dried meat. Eat it." | Chipmunk did not take it. She was told: "Do you want fresh meat?" | She replied: "Yes." Then her grandmother, Frog, said to her: "Go to | Fisher. He shall be your husband. Don't look at || Skunk. He is bad. Only Fisher 15 shall be your husband. | Fisher never is hungry. He is a skillful hunter." |

Then the sisters Chipmunk and Big Chipmunk started. | Their grandmother said to them: "When you get there, stay at a distance. After a while, | in the evening you will see Fisher coming back. Then | you may go near." When the sisters arrived (at the tent), | they 20 staid at a little distance. Skunk knew already | that the two girls were coming. He had manitou power; therefore he knew that they were there. He was always pounding bones. He worked | his manitou power. He took his younger brother's blanket, put it on, and went out, | and his manitou pounded bones. Chipmunk said: | 25 "Let us go near! There is Fisher. | He is at home." She was told by her elder sister: "That is not Fisher | who came out, it is Skunk." Chipmunk said: | "Where Fisher came out, there is always the noise of Skunk pounding (bones) | inside." She was told by her elder sister: 30 "It is not Skunk who | makes the noise. Skunk's manitou does it." After a while | Chipmunk insisted. Then her elder sister said: "Well, | let us go, but do not feel badly about it if it is not Fisher. |

[BULL. 59

kı'nsıl'alsı'nte k. ma kqa'ke katıtena'la taxta' walk_uwa'yi't.s 35 kutsqunaxala'e's la'wa's wu'qt!e's.''

Ta'xas ts!na'xe. k.la'xa'm tinaxa''mne n'u'pxane nok!ue'yse xa'xa's. lunama'sine namataktsa'pse aa'ku'la ks xa'xa's. ta'xas n'a'kine. qak.la'pse: "le'n'o'tiktsaka'lne kama'nmil tate'na'ski'l." n'at.lakinata'tine xa'xa's qous la''nta's. 40 qaka'lne: "na qahosaqa'pki'l." ta'xas nei nana'atimo la'ntao xa'xe qakasusa qa'ane. ta'xas xa'xa's sla:'tiyi'l'a'qts-xo'une wa'tskana's.

Ta'xas ława'xe wu'qt!e qakı'lne ta't!es: "ts!nyaxa'akloʻun'. hutseiku'lne:" qawaxameʻti'ktse aaʻkuqle'itle's. 45 wułec't.se· wuo'e's wu'qt!e. qałwi'yne· xa'xa's qa.c'n'se· łtsxałqatso'ukuat naas na.u'te's wu'qt!e: ta'xas k!o'wo'k, tsukua'te wa'tskana's xa'xa's. ła'ntawaxame'te'ktse neis nana'atimo's. qake'ine xa'xa's: "a'laseses, a'laseses." ta'xas tu'xua kts!ana'xa'm qake'ine: "maats wa'nkeskeskes." 50 ta'xas kts!:/na'm xa'xa's qalwi'yne:: "pal ks:/wule''et.s wuo'e's wu'qt!e'. hulqa'o'xam kawu'o'." ta'xas laxa'xe'. qsaak!o'une: ła'hutsenqku'peke'm'ek xa'xa's. qalwi'yne: "hulwasa'alaxa'mi'l. qaa'nsaltsqatso'ukua't neis na.utekasta'ke's." łałaxa'xe. namate'ktse tsa''e's neis wu'o's tsukua'te 55 wu'qt!e: n'u'pxane: pał n'ı'nse: wuo.'se's xa'xa's. qous ła'qawaxami'te. qakili'he xa'xa's: "kaas ksi'l'en kawu'o. n''\(\alpha'\) n'e' wuo'ne's." namatikts''hne łaa'k!laks aa'ku'qle''s. qakile'lne: "ts!:nyaxa'ak!o:n' kawu'o:." ts!:na'xe xa'xa:s. qsa_ak!o'_une: łaska'xe: ta'xas łats!:na'kine: yck!taqałku-60 k^ul'n·e·. na ta'xa· sakilhaqa'naq!nu'k_une· ne_is nula'se· ne_is kuyı'k!taqalku'k^ue· xa'xa·s. ta'xas k.lala'xa·'m. namatı'ktse· tsa"e's wu'o's.

Kul'e'ikul wu'qt!e qakil'he xa'xa's: "ts!nyaxa'q!uwun'." neists ksakamu'xo wu'qt!e n'u'pxane k.la'xa's na.u'tekesta'-65 ke's. k!o'utaps, xa'xa's pe'k!a'ks ktso'ukua't.s. ta'xas selsa'handwiyna'ate ta't!e's. tsukua'te aa'qu'qt!e's wu'qt!e'. n'itnu'ste neis aa'qu'qt!e's iya'm'u's. ta'xas nei aqu'qt!e' at qal'ate'he we'ma'pes. neists kqake'lil xa'xa's k.lts!enyaxa'-q!uo. namatiktse'he neis k!etnu'sle's aa'qu'qt!e's. qakile'he:

70 "hentsxalts!ena'kine pal kselwalkuwa'yi't." ta'xas qalwi'yne xa'xa's ta'xas qale'n'siltsqatso'uku'a't wu'qt!e naas na.u'tekesta'ke's. a'a'ke latsuku'a'te wa'tskana's. qa'nal'a''nta'wa'x-me'te. qake'he: "a'laseses, a'laseses. maats wa'nkeskeskes." ta'xas ts!ena'xe xa'xa's. k.la'xam neis yaaqaaha'kqa'pske' ta'xas ts!ena'xe xa'xa's. k.la'xam neis yaaqaaha'kqa'pske' aa'ku'la'k. ta'xas n'e'tuqluk!samu'n'e neis aa'kts!e'ka's. qa'u'pxane neis ke'e'ns aa'kts!e'ka's. pal k!etnu'sle's. ta'xas n'alaxo'une. k.lao'uwo'k

You urge me very much. Our grandmother said after a while, in the evening, || when Fisher comes home, then we should go there." | 35

Then they started. When they arrived, they entered, and saw | Skunk alone, nobody else. Skunk gave them meat. | Then they ate. He said: | "Your grandmother wants me to marry you." Skunk prepared a place in the rear of the tent. || He said to them: "Stay 40 here." Then the sisters | went to the rear of the tent and staid there. Skunk was | pounding dried meat all the time. |

Then Fisher came home. He said to his elder brother: "Go | and get some water. I want to drink." He threw his drinking horn to him. Fisher's water was far away. Skunk thought: | "Fisher might take 45 the girls." Then he arose. | Skunk took dried meat and threw it backward to | the sisters. Skunk said: "Divide-de-de-de it." | When he was almost going out, he said: "Don't move-ve-ve-ve!" | Then 50 Skunk started. He thought: | "Fisher's water is far away. I shall go to my water." Then he arrived there | and dipped it up. Skunk started to run. He thought: "I | want to get back quickly. He might take those girls." | He came back and gave the water to his younger brother. Fisher took it, | and knew that it was Skunk's 55 water. Therefore he threw it back. | Skunk was told: "This is not my water, | it is your water." He was given another horn, | and was told: "Draw some of my water." Skunk started. | He just dipped up the water and came back. He came back quickly, | and 60 spilled it while running. Now there remain many little lakes, the result of | what Skunk spilled while walking. Then he came home and gave | the water to his brother.

After Fisher had drunk, he said to Skunk: "Go and get my game." |
Fisher had known while he was away that the two girls had arrived, ||
and that they wanted him, and that Skunk had already taken them. 65
Therefore | he was angry at his elder brother. Fisher took entrails. |
He painted the entrails of the game red. These entrails | are called "rectum." Then Skunk was told to bring in | the meat. He was given the painted entrails. He was told: || "Go quickly, because the 70 sun is getting low." Then Skunk thought | that Fisher might take those two girls. | Again he took dried meat and threw it backward. |
He said: "Divide-de-de-de-de it. Don't move-ve-ve-ve!" | Then Skunk started. When he came to the place where the meat was, || he 75 tied it with that line. | He did not know that it was entrails. He

q!aqa'pse· ne¡s a¸ikts!\'ka·s. qake'¡ne· xa'xa·s: "hyà·. ko·q!ua'kak\'\'nmo ka'tsa." ta'xas n'e·sqa't.le.\'tine·.

Ta'xas neis kts! 'nam xa'xa's. qake'ine wu'qt!e: "ta'xas tu'nuwaka'ki'l. qa'psin kınsılwa'se lhutska'ki'l. taxta' kula'wam ta'xta xma hınhutskakı'lne. ta'xas e'ike'l aa'ku'la'k. hınul'e'ike'l hutsu'qananiyala''ne.'' ta'xas n'ı'kine nana'atımo aa'ku'la'ks.

Ku'l'e k qakilı'lne: "ta'xas ho luqna'neya'la. saha'n e xa'xa s. nöpk!aqaqa'ane: tsxal'o ktawa'sane:" qake'ine wu'q-t!e:: "ıs la''nta s q!a'pilhaqa'pse hoq!ka'e s. q!a'pe 's aka'-kin mı'lki l." ta'xas nei nana'atımo naka''nte neis huq!ka.-ı'se s xa'xa s.

Qake'ine: ''ka ko'l'a'qanaxa'la noulite'tine ka kit.la'amil xa'xa s.'' qake'ine q!u'tsa ts: ''hults!naxa'la ka ke't.la.'' ta'xas ts!:na'xe: tinaxa''mne: qa'taltenaxa''mne wu'qt!e pal tsa'le.etinana'se: qake'ine na'mlat!: ''hults!:naxa'la ka ke't.la.'' k.la'xam ktina'xa'm, a'a'ke qa'taltinaxa''mne wu'q-

95 t!e:. qake'ine: wu'qt!e:: "ta'xa's hults!naxa'la kaak't.la, m'ksa'n noule:t'tine: xa'xa's kaak't.la''mil." ts!na'xe: n'itk'-n'e: nöp'k!a's wu'qt!e:. qaak'sn'ts!la.'nse:. n'tk'nme'k. n'nqa'pte'k neis tsema'k!i'lwu'qt!e's. n'tk'n'e: nao''k!ue's trhamu''e's. n'nqapta'kse: neis tsema'k!ilna'mlat!s. a'a'ke'

100 n'ıtkı'n'e' nao''k!^ue's tılnamu''e's. n'ınqapta'kse' ne_is ts**e**-ma'k!ilq!u'tsa'ts. ta'xas waq!anu'n'e' ne_is a_a'kıts!la'e'ns.

Qahosaqa'ane: ta'xas xa'xa's neis kwa'miln:'ke'ts, nu-la'n'e' wu'qt!e', sd'a'qal'asqat!le.a't.se', qalwi'yne' ktsxalhot!-namitqa'ptseit ta't!e's. ta'xas xa'xa's n'at!ko'une: at laq!-105 aakqa'pse' neis aa'kts!e'ka'e's. qa.u'pxane' neis ke'e'ns walma'pis. qalwi'yne': "ta'xas hule'ima't naa aa'ku'la'k." pal ta'xas ksaltsalmi'yat.s ta'xas ma'te'. lats!ana'xe'. kalala'xam

n'u'pxane pal nuquna'ne yame's ine letenq!oku'pse ta'xas

n'tla'ne: qalwi'yne: "kultsxa'l'e'p pal ksil't'sqat!le'et."

110 qake'ine: xa'xa's: "ka'yap! naso'ukue'n, naso'ukue'n." tseika'te: hoq!ka'e's. lalo'use: q!a'peis lo'use: n'u'pxane: n'oku''se: sawtsqa'pse: hoq!ka'e's. tsaqanaxa''mne: sukwilq!u'kune: qalwi'yne:: "ta'xas kustxa'tkino:ku." qawtsaqa'ane: neis ktstme'yt.s. wt'lna'ms nulpalnt'lne: stltsxa'ne:

115 qakile'lne ne nana'atımo na'mlat!: "ken'o'ukul'akakenme'lki l hoq!ka'e's?" qake'ıne na'mlat!: "ma kuouk'i l'aka ke'n mi l." qake'ıne q!u'tsa ts: "ma kou'k!'i l'qaakake'nmi l." qake'ıne wu'qt!e: "ta'xas tsxal'ouktawa'sıne xa'xa's. saha'n e. n'e'n se nöpek!a'e's neıs hoq!ka'e's. ta'xas selqa'tal'e'pıne. 120 ta'xas tsxalsaanelwiynatawa'sıne."

Łaakaxa''mne xa'xa's. nawasxo'_ume'k. n'etke'n'e nöpe'k!a's. n'enqa'pte'k neis tsema'k!iłxa'xa's. neis pe'k!a'ks welqa'ane

thought it was | a line. It was painted red. He put it on his back. When he arose, | the tump line broke. Then Skunk said: "Oh, | I broke my brother's tump line!" Then it became cold.

When Skunk started, Fisher said: "Now | come out! Why did you some here early? Later on, | when I came back, then you ought to have come. Now eat meat! | After you have eaten, we will move away." Then the sisters ate | meat. |

When they had eaten, they were told: "Now let us move! Skunk 85 is bad. | He has manitou power. He will kill us all." Fisher said: | "There in the corner of the tent are all his rotten bones. Take them all out." | Then the sisters took out Skunk's | bones. |

Fisher said: "Where shall we go? Skunk knows the place where 90 my tent is." | Chipmunk said: "Let us go to my tent!" | Then they started. They entered; but Fisher could not | go in, for it was too small. Then Big Chipmunk said: "Let us go | to my tent!" When they arrived, they went in, but Fisher could not go || in. Fisher 95 said: "Then let us go to my tent, | although Skunk knows the place of my tent!" | Then Fisher worked his manitou power, and two trees stood there. He transformed himself, | and became a real fisher. He transformed one | of his wives, and she became a real big chipmunk; || and he transformed his other wife, and she became | a real chipmunk. 100 Then they climbed one of the trees. |

They staid there. Then Skunk, when there was a wind storm, which Fisher had made, and therefore it was cold, thought his | elder brother would cause him to freeze to death. Then Skunk was cold. He left his tump line at the door. He did not know that it was 105 entrails. | He thought: "I'll leave this meat." | Then, when it was dark, he left it. He went on. When he came back, he knew that they had moved camp. There was no fire. Then | he cried. He thought: "I'll die, because it is cold." | Skunk said: (?) "Chief, 110 chief!" | He looked for his rotten bones. They were all gone. Then he saw | that there was one rotten bone in a hole. He went in. He was glad. | He thought: "Now I am saved." | He staid there that night. Early in the morning he was heard talking. | Then the 115 sisters were asked: "Big Chipmunk, did you take out all | his rotten bones?" Big Chipmunk said: "I took them all." | Chipmunk said: "There is one bone that I did not take." Then Fisher said: | "Then Skunk will kill us all. He is bad. | That rotton bone is his manitou. Now he can not die. || He will make war on us." | 120

Skunk came out. He sang. He worked his manitou power. | Then he became a real skunk. Long ago the skunk was large. | He killed

¹ My interpreter could not translate this sentence.

[BULL. 59

xa'xa's. at n'up'line q!a'pe's qa'psins, m'ka tsema'k!e's. ne_ists k!/nqa'pte·k tsema'k!iłxa'xas·. nawasxo'_ume·k. qake'_i-125 ne: "a'q!ono'uko no'ukuey, a'q!ono'uko no'kue: aa'ki'lq!an·otsa'ko ma_a·k!.'' kuławasxo'_ume·k. qake'_ine·: "pa·'me·k k.łaqouka'łuqłe'et neis łunik!le'et.s." łuqua'q!o'lu'kpane. ła:litets!la.e'nse: neis lunik!le'et.s luqua'q!o:lu'kpane; a'a'ke 'ła:lttts!la.t'nse'. n'asqa'pants!la.t'nse', nao'k!ue''s qao'xaq!o-130 łu'kpane: n'akaqku'piłqaqana'pse: ałtdnamo'utimo's wu'qt!e's ne_is k.łohanzts!ła'e'ns qahoxaqa'n muqłu'k!^uatsq!a'nse: ¹ ła'ts_ine is łouxa'q lolu'kpane. ła'tsine is łału qwaqkupi'łqaqana''ne ałtełnamo'utimo wu'qt!e: qahakiłatsu'kpane' xa'xa's. nuk.łu'kune q!u'tsats. n'ukuaxu'n e. qao xa'xe xa'xa s ne s q!u'-135 tsatts qanaqa'n q!oʻlu'kpane aa'k!alma.e'se's q!u'tsatts. nutka'wumaku'pse: ta'xa's łamı'txane neis tılnamo'utimo's wuqt!e's. a'a'ke n'ukuaxu'n e namlat!. ne s ma skilvaaqakı'nke q!u'tsats. a'ake qakı'n e ta'xas n'uk!uqape'ine wu'qt!e. wune·k/t.se· k!a'tsukpu'xanaps xa'xa·s. ta'xas ku'k.łuk 140 wu'qt!e· a'a'ke· n'ukuaxu'n·e· n'oukte'ine· alteinamo'utimo wu'qt!e:

Qaoʻxa'xe· xa'xa·s. tsukua'te· ne_is nana'_at_imo·'s, ła.¿tk'n·e·. ła.¿tq!a'nxa''mse·. ta'xas n'''n;se· tɛłnamu''e·s.

Qake'ıne xa'xa's: "ta'xa's ka ko'laaqanaxa'la? saha'n'e 145 wu'qt!e: ła.:/tq!a''nxa'm' tsxal'ouktawa'sine:.'' qake'ine na'młat!: "hułts!!naxa'ła kaakı't.ła." neists k!ouku!'tka xa'xa's ta'xas ła.¿tkː'nme·k tː'tqa·t!s. a'a'ke· ła.¿tkː'n·e· pa'łke¡s ne¡s nana'atimo's. łaqa.c'nse neis tsema'k!cha'młat!sts q!u'tsats. ta'xas ts!ına'xe: aakıt.la''e's na'mlat!. tınaxa''mne: tsale'itna-150 na'se:. qake'ine: xa'xa's: "łaa'kaxa'm'e'n'." łaakaxa''mne: na'młat!. ta'xas xa'xa's n'atsu'kpane: ta'xas n'um/tsk/n'e no'ukueys. ta'xas weltee't.seta tenaxa''mnet ta'xas ktselmit'yet.s n'txo'ume k. qayaaqawahakqa'ane i xa'xa s, yanaxuna'kse ałtełnamu''e's. ta'xas wune'ke't.se'. ktsełmi''yet.s qaq!u'mne'i-155 se altzhamu''e s. qakz'he : "ta'xas hulq!u'mne na'la. hunuk.lu'kune:" qatsın k!apaltiyaxna'pse at q!utseta'pse. skina'pse maats k.lq!u''mne: ta'xas tsema'k!ilhats!alaqa''ne xa'xa's. qakı'lne: "ta'xa's, taxta' atutsla'k.lınq!oyala''ne:;" at łaq!utseita'pse: ta'xas q!u'mne'ine: xa'xa's; mc'ka kq!u-

160 tse'_itił qa'tał a haq !małe'_itsin. n'u'pҳane ne_i nana_a't_imo ta'ҳas ks/łtsema'k !ilq !akpak/t.le_its ҳa'ҳa's. qakila'mne: "ta'ҳas hoł ats !/naҳala'e's wu'qt !e'. ta'ҳas laowo'kune. tsuku-at/lne ҳa'ҳa's. pał ke'e'n aa'kuwuk.le''et ne¡s yaaqahank !an-me'_ike', ne¡s loquak n/lne ҳa'ҳa's. n'/nse aa'k la'm'e's ne¡s

everything, even strong animals. | When he became a real skunk, he sang, and said: "Burnt rocks, burnt rocks, remains of a burnt | bone!" 125 He finished singing. He said: | "There is a faint sound on the other side." Then he sent out his fluid, | and the tree was no longer standing there. Then he sent his fluid to the other side, and | the tree was no longer standing there. There were two trees left. He sent his fluid to one of them. || Fisher and his wives came out quickly | and jumped 130 across to the other tree. | He sent his fluid to the other side, and they jumped again to the other tree, Fisher and his wives. Skunk sent out his fluid. | Then Chipmunk was tired and fell down. Skunk went to Chipmunk | and sent his fluid into her mouth. | Then her 135 belly swelled up. Then he shot with his fluid at Fisher's (other) wife, and Big Chipmunk also fell down; and as he had done to Chipmunk, he did to her also. Then only Fisher remained. After some time Skunk shot his fluid again. Then Fisher became tired | and 140 also fell down. He killed Fisher's wives and | Fisher. |

Skunk staid there. He took the sisters, and he restored them to life. | Then they became his wives. |

Skunk said: "Where shall we go now? Fisher is bad. If he should 145 come to life, he will kill us all." Big Chipmunk said: | "Let us go to my tent!" When Skunk had killed them all, | he became a man again, and the sisters became women. They were no more a real big chipmunk and a chipmunk. | Then Big Chipmunk started for her tent. They entered. | It was too small. Skunk said: "Come out!" Big Chip- 150 munk came out. | Then Skunk shot his fluid, and the stone broke. Then it was a large place. They entered. At night | they lay down. Skunk lay in the middle, | and his wives were on each side. After some time, when it was dark, | his wives did not sleep. He said to 155 them: "Let us sleep! | I am tired." They did not listen to him, but they tickled him. | They did this so that he should not go to sleep. Then Skunk became very sleepy. | He said to them: "It's enough. Let us play later on." | They tickled him again. Then Skunk slept; and even though they tickled him, | he did not wake up. The sisters 160 saw | that Skunk was really dead asleep; and they said to each other: | "Now let us go to Fisher!" They arose. | They took Skunk. The helo was on a mountain, | and they turned Skunk the other way. His

¹ Pierre: qao xaqa n.muqlu'k!uatsq!a'nse.

² Pierre: qaakilatsu'kpnae.

³ wdcc'tse. FAR.

⁴ Pierre: qayaaqawaakqa''ne.
⁵ Pierre: yaaqaank!anme'ske.

165 aa'k!a'łaxwi'e'ts, neis yaakile'nske aa'kawuk.le'et.s n'e'n se aa'ksa'q!e's. ta'xas laanaxa''mne nei nana'atimo. nawasxo'u-me'k. n'etke'n'e nöpe'k!a's neis ma yesk!ame'ike na'mla't!. qasqaple.e't.se xa'xa's. q!a'piltsenxuna'pse no'kueys. ta'xas lats!ena'xe na'mlat! nana'atimo yaaqaakqa'pske wu'qt!e's.

BUREAU OF AMERICAN ETHNOLOGY

170' K.łała'xam łaetke'n'e ła.etq!a''nxa'ms, ta'xas k.łao'uwuk wu'qt!e n'u'pxane ałtełnamu''e's qake'łne: "kaas ke'e'n xa'xa's." qak.ła'pse: "qou sawetsqa'ane aa'kawuk.le''et.s." qake'łne: "ta'xas hults!enaxa'ła elqa'ha'k a'm'a'k at saha'n'e xa'xa's; me'ka neis ktsema'k!e's no'kueys ken'-

175 tkınmı'lki l tsxal'umtskı'n e. tsxal aakaxa''mne.'' ta'xas ts!ına'xe altı lnamo'utımo wu'qt!e. ma'te am a'k!e s.

Qahak.le'itsine: xa'xa's. naq!male'itsine: n'u'pxane: pal sdsaxuna'pse tdnamu'es. qake'ine: "a:nlu'n'u qa'haxone'ıki'l, hentsaxu'napke'lne'." qawanxa'amse'. a'a'ke' laqa-180 ke'he: "a:nlu'n'u qa'haxune'iki'l." neis qalwanxo'une, n'u'pxane tsemak!e'ise ta'xas wanxa''mne pał q!a'pilhawitsxuna'pse: pał suwitsqa'ane no'ukueys, pał q!a'piłg!u'ntkaxuna'kse neis ye'ske yana'ha ksts nas yu'n unık!xo'e's. pał sıl'aqa'talwanxa''mne: ta'xas n'ila'ne, 185 qałwi'yne: "ta'xas kułts/l'e'p." n'u'pxane m/ka at ma k!um'tskin no'ukueys. ta'xas n'atsu'kpane'. qaakil'atsu'kpane n'atsu'kpane, n'atsu'kpane wune k't.se k!a'atsukp, ta'xas ławansa'q!ane. qahakil'atsu'kpane, ta'xas laq!a'piłwanxa''mne: na'tstkił'atsu'kpane: ta'xas wcł:e.c't.se: pał 190 sdqa'tal·a.u'pxane· kiyu'kiyit.s. qalwi'yne: "nei hulinlu"qua xo'ume k.'' ne s łuquaxa''mne ta'xas łaatsu'kpane. wuncke't.se n'u'pxane tsaak!aalmi'yitnana'se pal selatsu'nok!o'une: qake'ine: "hà: ma qa:psqawe:'s/lno'hos." 1 ta'xas a'a'ke łaatsu'kpane. ta'xas a:n'almak!anu'kse. ta'xas 195 nuk.łu'kune: k!a'atsukp. qałwi'yne.: "ho'ya's hułtse'ika't naqa'simak!a'anu k." n'akakı'n e aaq!ulu'kp!e s. qao xakı'n e a'ak.ła'akuwu'ut!e's neis aa'q!ułu'kp!e's n'anak!o'une'.

Qahana'xe qu'k'e'n. n'u'pxane yaaqakana'pske xa'xa's qous qawasqa'ane ła'a's. neists k!ana'k!o aa'q!ulu'kp!e's 200 xa'xas. naas aa'kaq!ne'e's qu'k'en naas qahak!o'use 2 qatseika'te. kwuna'ke't.s łatinak!o'une xa'xa's aa'q!ulu'kp!e's. naku'm seke'ite. qake'ine: "k.lata'm sakqla'lxo qu'k'e'n k.lqa'qoq'a'kam at k!u'k!'uil. qao'k!qaxo'ume'k." pał kqatse'ika't.s n'upxa'se neists ktsxal'a'kum'sa'keit. sal'a'qal-205 qatseika'te. łaan'ak!o'une. qake'ine xa'xa's, nawasxo'ume'k. qake'ine.:

"Ha'p ho'he'ha; ha'p ho'he'ha; ha'p ho'he'ha."

head was || toward the door, and his legs lay toward the mountains. | 165 Then the sisters went out again. They sang. | They worked their manitou power, and the size of Big Chipmunk's hole | was almost the size of Skunk. The stones squeezed him all over. Then | Big Chipmunk and her sister went back to where Fisher lay. ||

KUTENAI TALES

When they got there, they restored him to life; and when Fisher 170 arose, | he saw his wives. He said to them: "Where is | Skunk?" They said to him: "He is in a hole in the mountain." | He said to them: "Let us go to a far-away country. | Skunk is bad. No matter how strong the stones || you made, he will break them, he will come out 175 again." Then | Fisher and his wives started and left the country. |

Skunk was asleep. He woke up, and knew | that his wives hurt him. He said: "Move away a little! | You hurt me!" They did not move; and | he said again: "Move away a little!" He pushed them, | and 180 he noticed that (what he touched) was hard. Then he moved, | and everything was tight on his body. He was in a hole in the rock. It was all | around him on each side of his body and on top of his body. | He could not move. Then he cried. | He thought: "I must die." He 185 knew that he even | used to break rocks. Then he sent out his fluid. He went on sending out his fluid, | sending out his fluid, sending out his fluid. After he had sent out his fluid for some time, | he could move a leg. He went on sending out his fluid, and | he could move all around. For a long time he sent out his fluid, and then the space was large. | He could not see the daylight. He thought: "Let me | lie 190 the other way," and he turned the other way. Then he sent out his fluid again. After some time he saw a little hole. The rocks opened. He said: "Oh, it looks like a star!" | He sent his fluid again. Then the hole was larger. Now | he was tired sending out his fluid. He 195 thought: "Now let me see | how large the hole is." He took out his musk bag and put it on the end of | his bow. He stuck it out.

Raven was going along at this time. He saw what Skunk was doing. | He stood there outside; and when Skunk put out his musk bag || here in front of Raven, he passed it in front of him. | He did not 200 look at it. After some time Skunk took his musk bag in again. | He smelled of it, and said: "It might smell like the eye of Raven. | Maybe he is coming this way. He is one who is always going about." (Raven) had not looked at it, | because he knew that (Skunk) would smell of it. Therefore || he had not looked at it. (Skunk) put it out 205 again. Skunk sang, | and said: |

¹ Pierre more quickly: qapsqawislno'hos.

² Pierre: qaak!o'use.

[&]quot;Hap ho he ha! hap ho he ha! hap ho he ha!" |

N'atka'nme'k qu'kuens. n'anqa'pte'k neis tsema'k!ilqu'kuins. nuq!iyu'k!o'une neis aa'q!ulukp!e'se's xa'xa's nulnuxu'n'e 210 pał k! nqa'pte k neis tsema'k! iłqu'kuins, sal'aqalhułnuxu'n e. n'u'pxane xa'xa's neis a kikqapxuneyic'se's qu'kuins. qake'ine: "Yà:." łatkaq!ałke'n·e· aa'k.łakuwo'ut!e·s. ło'use· aaq!ołu'kp!e's. ta'xas n'ila'n'e'. qake'ine': "ka'yap! naso:'kue'n, ka'yap! naso:'kue'n, naso:'kue'n.'' pał ke'e'ns ktsemak!qa'pimo neists 215 ktsukua't.le's sil'a'qalwalke'ine k!e'ila. qake'ine: "han'upsła't i yilma'n louk! a 'pałnux' wate'lik. tsen k! a 'pałte'la m' ka kts!aaqa'nalu'kuilmi''yit.'' ta'xas tsın k!a'paltı'lik xa'xa's. n'u'pxane qa'lakna'sqa'nalwaakikqa'pxuna'kse qu'kuins. laapskeikal'okua'kikqapxuna'kse: ta'xas q!a'kqapxuna'kse: qa-220 ke'ine: "qou lu'n'u at ma kuqa ha'alkqaats na la:'n'a qa'o xal·a.u'n alu kudmi 'yit.'' qahakqa''ne xa'xa s. tsukua'te aa'ktsama'l'e's. lu'qune aa'ksa'q!e's. n'anakt'n'e'. pal k!u'ktsłe. tna'nas. tsxal'aqa'tal'anaxa''mne: scl'aqaqana''ne: k.lu'qua aa'ksa'q!e's. k!ana'ke'n. a'a'ke' lu'qune' nao''k!ue's. a'a'ke' 225 n'anakı'n e. łu'qune aa'k.ła't!es. a'a'ke n'anakı'n e. neis k!uk!qa'pe's aa'k.ła't!e's. łu'qune'. n'anaqayqa'pse'. ta'xas łało.u'se a 'q!onakiłma'k!e's. nawasxo'ume'k. qake'ine:

BUREAU OF AMERICAN ETHNOLOGY

"Huł'a:'naqa'yuk!a 'la kka''me k; huł'a:'naqa'yuk!a 'la kka'me k."

Ta'xas sa'kxaqayqa'pse' aa'kouk!ala'ak!e's. ta'xas la.anaqayqa'pse. qao`xaqayqa'm'e'k nao''k!ue''s aa'k.la't!e's tsukua'te nao'k!ue's łat!apts!ake'n'e tsukua'te aa'ksa'q!e's a'a'ke łaxa'tsinilt!apts!ake'n'e. ta'xas łao'wo''kune xa'xa's. ta'xas xa'xa's qawasqa'ane: saha'n'se: k.la'lo's aa'quqt!e'e's. 235 qao xa'xe: tsukua'te: aa'ku'ła:ls. qanakı'n:e: to'uxua so'ukuse: Ts!/na'xe' neis ma yaaqana'nuxu'ske qu'kuins. neis lawat!-'naks. qana'xe: wat!a'xe: ts!malhulqa'atse: aa'kmuqle'e't.s. wułe. c't.se'. ta'xas łaxa'xe' a kik. luna'me's. ne sts k. la'xam qu'kuin ła. etke'nme'k te'tqa't!s qu'kuin. ta'xas qake'ine': 240 "husztwałkinmz'tne aa'q!ołu'kp!e's xa'xa's." ta'xas q!a'pe sukuilq!ukna'mne: qakiya'mne: "ta'xas xa'xa's at tsxal'aqa.up/he q!a'pe's qa'psins. k.ła'lous aa'q!olu'kp!e's." ta'xas at k.ling!oymoli'sine: ta'xas wune'ki't.se kk.ling!o'ymo'l, ta'xas łaxa'xe xa'xa s. n'upxa'lne k.la'xam te'tqa t! qakile'l-245 ne: "qa'ła kı'n'e'n?" qake' ine xa'xa's: "nei łu'n'qo aa'kinuqle'et hoquaqa'xe. hoqua'k.le'k k.lu'n'qo'ke'ikaqts!dam·a·łwuxon/hkh/nma/wo." qakil/he: "qous sn'/t.la/ne naso'ukue'n qa'k.leik qu'kuins, n'e'n'e' ta'xta ke'wam naas aa'kik.luna'me's, nalka'n'e xa'xa's aa'q!ulukp!a'se's. a'a'ke' 250 n'e'n e naso'ukuen qa'k le k k.la'wla. n'a'sine naso'ukuen na a 'kik. łu' 'nam." quna 'xe xa 'xa s a 'kt. łat 'se s qu' kuins.

Raven transformed himself into a raven. He became a real raven. He took hold of Skunk's musk bag with his bill. Then he flew away, because he had become a real raven, therefore he could fly. | Skunk 210 noticed the flapping of the wings of Raven, and said: | "Oh!" He pulled in his bow quickly. His musk bag was gone. | Then he cried, and said: "(?) . . . chief, | chief!" for his power | had been taken 215 away from him; therefore he cried. He said (to himself): | "You always make too much noise about your ears. Now, listen whether | the sky will make noise!" Then Skunk listened. | He noticed that Raven went right up. | Then it came down making a noise. Then the noise stopped. | He said: "There, farther along, I walk about. 220 Here, on this side, | went down the noise from the sky." Skunk was lying there. He took | his knife and cut off his leg. He pushed it out. | Because the hole was small, he could not get out. Therefore he did so. He cut off | his leg. He pushed it out. He also cut off the other one and | pushed it out. He cut off his arm and put it out, 225 too. Now there was one arm left. He cut it off, and it rolled out. Then | all his limbs were gone. He sang, and said: |

"Let my back roll out. | Let my back roll out." |

Then his back rolled out. Then he rolled out. | He rolled himself 230 on his one arm. He took | the other one and stuck it on. He took his leg, and he | stuck on both of them. Then Skunk arose. Then | Skunk stood up. He was bad. He had no entrails. | Then he 235 went and took leaves and put them in. Then he was almost good. |

He started to the place where Raven had flown, there across the mountains.¹ | He went along. He went across the mountains, and he went along the prairie. | Far away he came to a town. When Raven had arrived, | he had transformed himself into a man. Then he said: || "I have brought with me Skunk's musk bag." Then 240 they were all | glad. They said: "Now Skunk will | no longer kill everything. He has no musk bag." Then | they played with it. They played with it for a long time. | Then Skunk came. A man was seen coming along. He was told: || "Who are you?" Skunk said: 245 "I come from that prairie | over there. I am named | Coming-from-the-Prairie-far-away-with-Head-washed-with-White-Clay-carrying-my-Bow-Sideways." He was told: "Over there is the tent | of the chief. His name is Raven. He just came | to this town and brought Skunk's musk bag. Now, || there is also a chief named Grizzly 250 Bear." There were two chiefs | in this town. Skunk went to Raven's

neis k.łaxa'łke'n qu'kuin aa'q!ułukp! e'se's xa'xa's n'etke'n'e', n'ınqapta'kse tsıt!na'nas. neists ktina'xa'm xa'xa's naas aa'ka'łaxwu'e'ts qaanluk!ua'tse tset!na'nas. mitiyaxna'pse: 255 sukuilq!u'kse: qake'ine: "k!aaqakı'n:ap tsout?" sıl'ouna'pse: ts·il'aqakına'pse: mı'ksa'n qu'kuin qao'une qalas nı'n'e:ns. ta'xas n'esaknu'n'e xa'xa's namatektse'he ke'e'k ta'xas n'e'kine: saha'n'se neis ke'e'k pał k.ła'łous qa'psins oqone'k!e's. qawel'il'e'kine: k.laqa'e'k. saha'n'se oqone'k!e's, 260 o'k!uquna k!oqo'usakxasınmı'tko. qakilı'lne: qake'ine k.la'wla: "kanlts!aa'mi'l." n'owo'kune. laanaxa''mne xa'xa's neis yaaqa'kxal'owo'ukue. qahakqa'pse. aa'ku'la:ks. qake'ine. lka'm'u: "wa'naskske'kqa aa'ku'ła k." qake'ine qu'kuin: "maats c'ke'n'. n'c'n'e' kṣa'tkṣa'ł. at qa.c'kɨne' łka'm'u. huts!c'sɨ-265 nil'e'kine.'' tinaxa''mne xa'xa's aa'ket.la.e'se's k.la'wla's a'a'ke namatektse'her ke'e'k. a'a'ker qawel'il'e'kiner. kqaaqa'skern łaanaxa''mne', a'a'ke' qaha kqa'pse' aa'ku'la ks neis yaaqa'kxał'owo'ukue: a'a'ke: n'ısınil'ıkıne: k.la'wla. n'ı'nse: neıs ke'e:k

270 n/n'e·k at s/ł·aqa ya aqanmuxo/se.

Ta'xas tu'xua tsxałwałkway/t.se n'anaxa'mne qu'kuin.
qake'ine: "ta'xa's akaxa''mki ł k/nła k.ł/nq!o'yki ł, ma ka'qa
k/nk.l/nq!oymu'kui ł." ta'xas q!a'pe n'anaxa'mna'mne ta'xas
n'anałkin/łne ne ts/l na'na qous a:n'/lqa'haks p/sk/n/łne.

275 ta'xas qanaqlıkxa'lne: nutsınqku'pe kı'mek. mit_iyaxa'lne: laxa''nxo_ul at qanaqlıkxa'lne: ta'xas xa'xas k!umna'nlukpakitmu'lne: a_a'q!ulu'kp!es. ne_ists k!u'pxanaps to'xua mit_il yaxna'pse: laqu'lqaq!ana'q!nenı'lne: qalwi'yne: xa'xas. "pa'-ko'xasınmı'tko', xma ktsxal'o'plap. ta'xta: kanmi'yit.s kutsla-

280 tso'ukua·t." ts/łmi·'y/t.s qa:'qask/n/łne· kk.l/nq!o'ya·m. ta'xas xa'xa·s xuna'xe· aa'k/nm/tuks. xunakuxu''mne· nt/k.lu'mqu'l-ne· kanmi·'yit.s q!apenma'tsw/sk.lo'mqu'lek. k!o·nanu'qkwas ta'xas k.lak.l/nq!o'yam. qalwi'yne·: "ta'xas kutslatso'ukua·t ka·q!o'lukp." qa:kilk.l/nq!oya'mne· ta'xas xa'xa·s qous

·285 a:n'.dqa'haks qa'o xal'.saknu'ne: ta'xas qalwi'yne: "qa..'n-s.ltsqa.u'pla'p." naas laqahanut.l.'sine: qous w.'lil'.dqana'se: lalu'qualqa'tse: lats!ka'se: ta'xas n'aq!ana'q!ane'n.'lne: lahutsqa'nkaqkup.kina'kse: qawaka'se: laqalaxa''nxol.'sine: ta'xas xa'xa's qana'we'ts.nk!a'akine: laqao xa'se: aa'q!olu'kp!e's.

290 łatsaqanaxa''mse qanmitxuna'pse la.owo'kune xa'xa's qakiłamna'mne: "ta xas maats tseikatemo'kui l xa'xa's pal n'ı'ne sılatsukua'te aa'q!olu'kp!e's." łalo'une kk.lınq!o'ymul.

Ta'xas huszhułtsxamu'ne yaaqa qna'ake tsa'atimo xa'xa's.

¹ Pierre: qaakqa'pse.

tent. | Raven brought out the musk bag. He worked over it, | and it became a pup. Skunk did not go in. | The pup was tied up at the doorway. It went to him | and was glad. He said: "What did they 255 do to me, Tso't?" It knew him; | therefore it did so. But Raven did not know that it was he. | Then Skunk sat down. He was given food. Then | he ate. The food was bad, for there was nothing | in him. He did not eat much. He did not eat more, because his insides were bad, || because he was dry inside. He was told by Grizzly 260 Bear: | "You should go on." He arose. Skunk went out, and where | he stood up, there was meat. A child said: | "There lies some meat." Raven said: "Don't | eat it. He dropped it from his mouth. Children must not eat it. I'll || eat it myself." Skunk 265 entered Grizzly Bear's tent and | was given food. Here again he could not eat much. When he stopped, | he went out; and there was meat again where he stood up, | and Grizzly Bear himself ate it. It was what Skunk had caten. | Because he had no belly, when he ate, | it went right through him. 270

Then, when it was about evening, Raven went out. | He said: "Come out and play! | You have a toy." Then they all went out. Then they brought out the pup. A little distance away they put it down. Then they kicked it. It ran, and they ran after it. | When they 275 caught up with it, they kicked it. Then Skunk had pity | on his musk bag. When it saw him, it almost | ran up to him. Then he nodded his head the other way. Skunk thought: | "I am thirsty. It might hurt me. Later on, to-morrow, | I'll take it back." At 280 night they stopped playing. Then | skunk went to the river. He jumped in and soaked himself. | In the morning and all day he soaked himself. When the sun was going down, | they played again. He thought: "I'll take back | my musk bag." They went on playing. Then Skunk | sat down a little ways off. He thought: | "It 285 might hurt me." They chased it toward him, and it went there. Then it turned back and came back. Then he nodded his head to it, and it came running this way. It came, and they could not catch up with it. Then | Skunk turned himself toward it, and his musk bag went to him. | It got into him again and threw him down. 290 Skunk got up. | They said to one another: "Don't look at him, for it is Skunk. | He himself took back his musk bag." Their toy was gone.

Now I have told what Skunk and his brother did.

[BULL. 59

69. Frog and Antelope

Ho'ya's hutsxalhaqalpalne' ine ne is pr'k!a ks yaaqalhoqua'ke. nr'ltuk!upts wa'tak.

Qaahak.luna'mne: qal'at.lititna'mne: ts!outs!u'q!ua. n'e'n e naso'ukue'ns ne'ltuk!up. nelnukupqa'ane' ne'ltuk!up. me'ka yaa-5 kałnuku'pqa at nuquna'pse nz'łtuk!ups. ta'xas q!a'pe nuqua'łne nöpe'k!a. qaak.lo'une wa'ta kne''nte k. ta'xa naso'ukue n wa'ta k qalwi'yne: "ho'ya's hul'a'yne l nc'ltuk!"p." qakc'lne aa'kik.lu''e's: "holalwats!malna'la nc'ltuk!up." qak.la'pse: "kaas kul'a qakina'la n/ltuk!"p? pal kalnuku'pqa." qak/lne: 10 "hults!maxala'e's q!a'pe hutsxalhalwats!malnala'ane." ta'xas qakı'lne aa'kık.lu'e's tsxalyaaqaqna'pske qake'ine q!a'pe wa'ta'k: "ho'ya''s pał szłso'ukune kznkznzwi'yte'k." qake'ine ne_i naso'_uk^ue'n: "hutsts!:na'xe', huts!uk!^ue'_ine'. taxta' na'pit qa'lwiy kanmi'yit.s ta'xas hutsqunaxala''ne:'' qake''ne 15 wa'tak: "so'ukune:" ta'xas ts!:na'xe: k.ła'xam ne'ltuk!ups qaki'he ni'ttuk!"p wa'taks: "qa'psin kinsiqo'ukam kaaki't.la?" qake'ine wa'ta k: "hosdqok 'a'xe han a'qantsqaon'dap kutsa'lwats!na'ła." n'uma'tsine ndtuk!"p. qalwi'yne: "tsc'namts yaakkalnuku'pqa kuse'ilmat. k!aqa'ke wa'ta k.'' qakile'lne 20 wa'tak: "tsın a'pert hınqa'lwiy k.le'en kaa'k.le'itert aa'k.litı'tine's. tsen tsematiktsa'p'ne'." qake'ine wa'ta'k: "ha hosukuilq!u'kune kutstso'ukuat aa'k.lite'tine's." ta'xas n'omatsinate'her pał kga'e'n ke''ma't ne'ltuk!ups k!aga'ke'. gake'ine wa'ta'k: "kanmi'yit qa'alin kiyu'kiyit hutsxalwa'xe huts-25 qsama'łne ka_akı'k.łu." ta'xas łats!:na'xe wa'ta k. k.łała'xa m qaki'he aa'kik.lu'e's: "ta'xas huts!aynilnala'ane ni'ltuk!up ała'aqałtı'timo." kanmi'yit.s ts!:na'xe wa'tak. q!a'pe yunaqa'ane pa'ike kqsa'mal ne s te'tqa t!s wa'taks. ta'xas tu'xua ktsła'xam a 'kık. łuı'se's. qake'ine' wa'ta'k nei naso'ukue'n. 30 "su'kuilqaakaxana'mne". ta'xas ts!:na'ki'l h:nts!:'txoneik:'lne nei at yaaqanaxa'mke: qa'alin atenyesenwonen mitk!oneike'lkie' hen tsqa'sin'wun ilkike'lamke'lne : '' ta'xas quna'xe watakne''nte k qous at yaaqa'kxa xame'ske: ta'xas n'etxo'ume k q!a'pe: neis at yaaqa'naxame'ske laxanoqoyeqa'ane qous at yaaqa'o -35 xałakamınga tsamı'ske ta'xas kul'e'itke n. ta'xas ne yısa'k e quna'xe a 'kik.luna'mis. qakiya'mne: "ta'xas wa'takne"nte k sdwa'xe', ma ktsalwats!nala'awas.'' ta'xas n'anaxa'mna'mne' q!a'pe. ta'xas qunaxa''mne at yaaqakxaxa''mke ta'xas n'itetiya'mne 2 suk.lite'tine wa'tak. q!a'pe's na k!aqo'x'ma-40 qa'pse aa'k.kte't!e's. ta'xas n'itetale'he'. weltiya'mne pal kqalwi'yna m ktsxalhu'qua'l wa'tak. nako''e's pal k!u'pxa

ktsxałhogua'ka, gakiya'mne: ta'xas nı'ltuk!up n'itwısqa'ane:

69. Frog and Antelope 1

Well, I'll tell you how, long ago, | Frog won over Antelope. | There was a town. It was named Fish Hawk Nest.² | Antelope was chief. Antelope runs fast. Even | the best runners were beaten 5 by Antelope. He was a manitou, and won over everybody. | There was a town of Frogs. Then Chief | Frog thought: "I'll cheat Antelope." He said to | his tribe: "Let us play with Antelope!" They said to him: | "What shall we do with Antelope? He runs fast." He said to them: | "We shall go, all of us. We shall play with him." 10 Then | he told his people what to do. All the Frogs said: | "Well, your thoughts are good." That chief said: | "I'll go alone. Later on, if | he agrees, to-morrow we shall go." The Frog said: | "It is 15 well." Then he started. When he arrived at Antelope's (tent), | Antelope said to Frog: "Why do you come to my tent?" | Frog said: "I come here to see if you are not afraid to run a race with me." Antelope laughed. He thought: | "Even if he runs fast, I can easily do (leave behind) what Frog says." Frog was told: | "If you agree, 20 my property shall be your property. You may give it to me." Frog said: "Go; I am glad. I'll take your property." Then they laughed at him | because he could not do (leave) what Antelope said. Frog said: | "To-morrow just at noon I'll come, | accompanied by my 25 tribe." Then Frog started. When he came home, he said to his tribe: "Now we will cheat Antelope | and his children." On the following morning the Frogs started, all of them. | There were many. The women went along with the men Frogs. When they almost | came to the town, the chief Frog said: | "Before any one comes out, go and 30 lie down on the trail they go. Just at that distance jump! You shall be that far apart." Then the Frogs went | to the starting place, and all of them lay down on the way they were to run. They lay down up to the point where the track turned. When this 35 was all done, others went | to the town. They said: "The Frogs | have come to play with us." Then all of them went out. | They went to the starting place. Then | the Frogs bet their property. All their clothing was blue. | Then they bet with them. They staked 40 much, | because they thought the Frogs would be beaten. They thought | they themselves would win. Thus they spoke among them-

n'umatsna'ate 'ene ne'k!e's. sakqa'ane wa'tak. ta'xas tseika'te ne'ltuk!ups. qakiya'mne.: "ta'xa lu'n'u." ta'xas wa'tak 45 pec'k!aks n'ektekmenyo'nqa'ane: ta'yas ne'ltuk!up n'uma'tsine: suk.likpakta'pse· /n'en/k!e's. qats!/na'kine·, neists k.laxamınxo''naqa wa'tak, n'ıtxo'ume'k łaa'k!lak wa'tak. n'ıktekmenyounqa'ane: ta'yas q!a'pe qaqana'ane wa'tak. ta'yas ne'ltuk!up qats!ena'kine: qawule.e't.se', ta'xas mata'pse: 50 ta'xas a:nts!:na'kine nc'ltuk!ºp. ta'xas tsema'k!ilmata'pse: ta'xas ts!:na'kine'. me'ka kts!:'na'k ne'ltuk!up, ta'xas wa'tak u's'me ks n'¿'n e: ta'xas k.ła'xam tsxałya'akiłakamınqa'atske: ne_ists wulkina'ate't wa'tak at ne_is łału'q^ual'itxo'_ume'k. ta'xas k.łałuqua'tqa'ts ne'ltuk!up. ta'xas pee'k!a'ks wa'tak welel'a.el-55 qana'xe: ta'xas tsema'k!il'alse'n'te'k ne'ltuk!up. n'u'pxa'ne' pał tsxałszłmata'pse n'u'pskił alzta'akxa'xe nc'łtuk!up. k.łaxa'xam wa'tak ta'xas n'umats_ina'mne q!a'pe, mc'ksa'n n'ese'ine: aa'kelwi'ynam neis kuqua'ka wa'ta'k. tseikate'lne: wa'ta'k. qaq!awats!e'inmik,¹ o'k!uquna naas kqao'xa'qum'-60 ła'asxo: kqaqa'nal'łaqawa''nxa.'m. k.łaqa'ke ka'qo'um'ła'asxo: sła qa qa'pse kqaqawats!: 'n me k, me'ksa'n ne'ttuk! p n'ese lkikuwa'sane: neis qa'oʻxaltu'wul'atxo'ume'k. qake'ine: "salhoquna'pine wa'tak." ta'xas tsukua'te neis kuqua'ka wa'ta k. łats!/na'xe ne kqa'nanoqo'yqa łaqawanxa''mne ta'xas kts/l-65 mi·'yıt.s, ta'xas łats!ına'xe· q!a'piłkilpałne·namı'sıne· kma'taps wa'taks ne'ltuk!up.

Ta'xas husiq!apqaipainem'ine yaaqaihuqna'mke wa'takts n'ituk!up neis p'k!aks.

70. THE STAR HUSBAND

Ho'ya's, hutshaqalpalne'ine yaqalsalitz'tke k!o'k!ue na.u'te aa'kzlno'ho's.

Qanit.ła'ane pzk!a'knzk!. n'a'sane na.u'te n'anaxa''mne ta'xas ktsxałq!u''mne nao'k!ue waawitskz'kine. n'u'pxane yunałnoho'se. n'u'pxane k!o'k!ue's tsa qona'se. qake'ine: "pał szłsukuqts!ta'te'k qo aq!a 'niłnoho'ske hulsalz'tit." ta'xas n'uma'tsine nei na.u'tekz'stik neists k!aqa'ke. ta'xas łatina-xa''mne. kq!u''mne. wz'łna'ms naq!amale'itsine. nakq!iyz'tse. n'u'pxane qa.złkz'kse ałakinz'k!e's. n'o'kuno'xa''mne. n'u'pxane 10 qa.o'hune neis aqłsma'kinzk!s. nul'ak'le'ise qa'kzsna'qanema'-lne. n'u'pxane pał salitz'tine. łaa'k!laks n'u'pxane yunaqa'-pse nztsta'halnz'nta'ke's. qałwi'yne.: "qa'psin kszl'aqa'qa kszl-yuna'qa nztsta'halnz'ntik. kqaz'siniłtsuku'a'tap? kszlhul'a'k.le naa kanul'a'qana." qak.la'pse: "ta'xa naa hun'z'n'e nei ktszl-tap.' ta'xas husiltsukuatz'sine." tseika'te nei kuwz'lqa aa'kilno'-

selves. Then Antelope stood up. | He laughed at his enemy. Frog was lying there. Then he looked | at Antelope. They said: "Now start!" Then Frog | jumped up. Antelope laughed. | His enemy 45 looked funny to him. (Antelope) did not run fast | when Frog gave his first jump. Then another Frog lay there and | jumped up, and all the Frogs did so. Then' | Antelope did not go very fast. He had not gone far when he was left behind. || Then Antelope ran more 50 quickly. He was left far behind. He ran fast; but even when he ran fast, the Frogs | were ahead of him. Then he arrived at the turning place; | and when he got there, the Frogs lay down in the opposite direction. Then | Antelope turned back, but the Frogs were always ahead of him. | Then Antelope tried hard. He knew | 55 that he would be beaten. Antelope was not yet near the starting point | when Frog arrived. Then all laughed; but | the people were sick at heart, because Frog had won. Frog was looked at. | He was not out of breath, because he had just given one jump | and then had 60 not moved any more. He just jumped back from there. Therefore he was not out of breath, but Antelope was puffing. | He lay on his back, and said: | "You beat me, Frog." Then Frog took what he had won. He went back, and those who lay down did not move. In the evening they went back, and it was heard by all that | Frog 65 had beaten Antelope.

Now I have told how Frog beat | Antelope in olden times.

70. THE STAR HUSBAND

Well, I'll tell a story of how a girl was married | to a star.

The people of olden times lived in a tent. Two girls went out. |
When they were about to go to sleep, one of them looked up.
She saw | many stars. She saw a small one, and said: | "That is a 5 nice little star [hanging] there. I'll marry him." Then | the two girls laughed when she said so. They went in again. | After they had slept, early in the morning she woke up. There was talking, | and she knew that those were not the voices of her parents. She arose, and she saw || that she did not know the people. She was sit-10 ting down next to an old man. | She knew that she was married to him. She saw many other | young men. She thought: "When there are many | youths, why don't they marry me? My husband is old." | He said to her: "Here I am! The other || night you said to me, 15 'You little nice one! Marry me.' | Now I have taken you." She looked

¹ Pierre: qaq!awats!c'n·mik.

40

hos. ta'xas n'ı'n'e: ın nıtsta'halnı''nte'k. ne_i ktsaqu'n'a aa'kiłno'ho's, n'e'n'e kuł'a'k.le'. ta'xas n'ila'n'e' ne_i na.u'te', k!u'pṣa ke'imat am'a'k!e's. qao saqa'ane'. n'akak!o'une' 20 a_a'kuqle its a_a'kilno'ho's palke_inc''nte-k. qsama'lne ne_i na.u'te: qakile'lne: "at ma'atsentsometske'n:e a'm'a'k na qa'hanq!una'awouk.'' qalwi'yne' ne na.u'te': "qa'psins k!u'pski a_a'kiłno'ho's?" qa'hanq!unawo'_ukse qanał'omztskz'n'e a'm'a'ks. pal pa'qtsnana'se' a'm'a'ks. qayaaqa'naw¿tsk¿'kine'. 25 n'u'pxane: qous u'm'e's pal n'a'n'se: am'a'k!e's. no'hune: aa'kink!namo'e's sla:tq!una'xoq"a'atse: ta'xas n'ila'n'e'. n'etke'n'e qa'psins. n'ituk!sa'amik, ła.unaxa'mek. ła.u'pxane ma'he aa kinik!namo'e s. qak.la'pse : "kaa kinaqa'na m? kus?'isqa'xamita'was.'' qake'ine: "nei ma koqua'ke; 30 hułsał/tit ne_i ktsaqu'na a_a kiłno'hos, ta'xas kuq!u''mne kuhaq!ma'alets, hun'u'pxane aa'kdno'ho's, pal nuka'yaxana'pine. husalite'tine a'kilno'ho's nei ma ktsaqu'na pal n'e'n'e kuł'a'k.łe'; ne_i k_uw¿'łqa a_a'k¿łno'ho's pał n'¿'n'e' n¿tsta'hał." ta'xas qake'ine yaqaqana'akets ksdao'k'am: n'u'pxane 35 a_a'kiłno'ho's łaqawa'se ne_is na.u'te's, tse_ika'te pał łao na'se: ts/mi'yit.s kq!u'mne''nam, k!o'kunuxa''mnam. we'lna'ms n'upxa'îne ne na u'te qa o kunuxa' mne wunek/t.se tse kat/îne. n'upxa'her pal n'e'nre upna'mo, pal n'upla'pse a_a'kelno'hors n.e_is k.ła'mat pał nuk^ua'łałta'pse:

O Ta'xas husiq!a'pqaipainem:'ine yaaqaqana'ake k!o'uk!ue na.u'te:

71. LITTLE SUN

Ho'ya's, hutsaqalq!anuxwa'te nata'n:k!na'na.

Qaak.luna'mne: ts!outs!u'q"a. qake'ine: naso'uk"e:n: "hutsxał'anaxaka'ane: qa'ła netsta'halne''ntik yaakałnöku'pka?'' qake'ine nata'nık!na'na: "hutsxalts!!na'xe:" ta'xas pı'k!a'ks 5 słyuk^uiye'tine qats!:na'xe. qalwiyna'mne kszlqats!:'na'm. ta'xas n'unanuqk"a'n'e', ta'xas qaixuktsiya'mne: ta'xas kqa'qaskı'n'i'l qous qana'xe' nata'nık!na'na. qalwiyna'mne' ktsxalqala'xa'm pal kwule'et.s. qal'at.li'tztnam'z'sine' neists yaaqao'xa'mke kqawa 'kame'tuk qa hak.luna mne kqawa 'kame'tuk. 10 k!unanu'qkua kqaixuktsiya'mne: qa kilkqaixuktsiya'mne: n'upxa'łne nata'n/k!na'na neis qaka'xe ła:tinu'k.łatmu'mek. qałwiyna'mne: wa'łk''a's ksiłts!: 'ka'm ts!outs!u'q''a's. pał qqaapsaaka'te' tsa quna'ne'. s/qa.upxal/sine' pa'l nalnu'kupqa'ane'. qakik'lne: "qoʻus snzt.la'ane: naso'uk'ern." ta'xa nei naso'uk'ern 15 qa'k.le·k qa.e·txa'me·nqa'me·k. tznaxa''mne·. ta'xas tɨnaxa'mname'sine: ktsxaltuq!utsqa'ke: neis yaaqakxa'mke: neis nasoukuz'n'e's nata'nzk!na'na qala at.lz'sine: ku'p5'qa tzlna'm'u.

at the large stars. Now, these were the young men. The little stars were the old ones. Then the girl | cried when she saw that she had [left] been taken away from her country. She staid there. The star women were digging roots. The girl went along with them. | 20 She was told: "Don't break the ground where | there is a tree." The girl thought: "What do | the stars mean?" There was a tree. and she dug up | the ground. The ground was just thin. She thought she would look, and down below she saw this world. She recog- 25 nized | her relatives walking about. Then she cried. | She made something, and tied herself to it, and let herself down. Then she met her relatives. They said to her: "Where did you go? | We lost you." She said: "When I said | I would marry the little star, then 30 after I had slept, | when I woke up, I saw a star coming down for me. | I married the star. That little one was an old man. The large stars were young people." | Then she told what she had done and how she had come down. The Star noticed that the girl was not 35 coming back. He looked for her. She had gone down again. At night they slept. The next morning when they got up, it was noticed that the girl would not rise. They looked at her for a long time. Then it became known that she was dead. She was killed by the Star | whom she had left. He struck her down.

Now I have told you what a girl did.

71. LITTLE SUN

Well, I'll tell you about Little Sun.

There was a town, Chicken Hawk Nest. The chief said: "I'll | go out to fight. Who among the young men can run fast?" | Little Sun said: "I'll start." It was already | noontime, but he did not 5 start. They thought he would start. When the sun was nearly setting, they began to play ball. | When they had finished, Little Sun went there. They thought he would not get there, for it was far. The place where he was to go was called | Kqawakmituk ([?] River). There was a town at Kqawakmituk. When the sun was setting, 10 they played football. The game was going on, | and Little Sun was seen going along dragging his blanket. They thought: "He must have started from Fish Hawk Nest." | He did not look as though he were strong. He was small. They did not know that he was a fast runner. | They said to him: "There is the tent of the chief." The name of this chief was | Not-sitting-down-Long. He went in. Then 15 they all went in | to hear the news. The chief from whom | Little Sun came was called Crazy Old Woman.

Ta'xas kułna'k!uktsa'pse naso'ukuen qa.etxamnaqana'ke's. qake'ine naso'ukue'n: "ta'xas he'itsxan'. qa'psin kense'ik-20 qa'ts?" qake'ine nata'nk!na'na: "a: n'duwat!tka'ane naso'ukuenk. Itska va'me's k. Itsval'anava'ka la'talsanika'tine, husits!ka'xe'.'' qa'hanqa'me'k naso'uk'e'n. qake'ine': "kts!aqsanmi'yit.s ktsxalts!/nam k!anaxa'ka?" qake'ine nata'n/k!na'na: "we'lna'ms pał kskilse'iltsxa. qake'ine tsxalqa'lsanmiye't.se. 25 kts!:tmase'ite'ł a'k!uwo'ukts aa'k.ła'akuwo, kts!:tkaxni'yam. ta'xas q!aptsxalo·l'itkine'lne. ta'xas kxa tsa nmi'yet, ta'xas tsxalts!/naxa''mne:'' qakik'he nata'n/k!na'na: "k/n'aqaso'usalts!/kam!" qake'ine: "taxta naa k!unanu'qkua." n'upxale'sine pal selhałnukupqa'ane: qakik'łne: "a'a'ke tsxalqaqa''ne: tsxalqa'-30 łsanmiye't ne: ta' xas a'a' ke' tsxalts! naxa''mne: q!a'pe' lentsu'n·e·k/tine·. kxa·tsa·nmi·'yit tsxalqawu`lil'/dqa`nakupmalna/mne· kiyeikounmi'yit ta'xas tsxal'u'pxanamna'mne aa'k!ame'n'a.'' Ts:łmi''yit qa'k_iyekse'łe'k nata'nek!na'na. kanmi''yit.s qao saqa'ane. kiyu'kiyit qawanaakate'ine nata'nk!na'na. 35 k!unanu'qk"a''s ta'xas sd'ats!zna'xe'. łatinu'k.łatimu'm'e'k. ła'tił'''' two każan''' łe'k a'a'k!wouks qa.k.luna'mne ts!outs!u'qua. k!unanu'qkua kqaixuktsiya'mne. qaa'le'n selo lkqaixuktsiya'mne n'upxa'ine nata'nzk!na'na ne laka'nuk.iat mume'ke. tznaxa''mne naso'ukue'ns aa'kzt.ła.z'se's. n'zt!qaoxaxa''mne 40 ktsxalhulpa'lnil qa'stsxalaqa'ki ks naso'ukuens. qake'ine: "wa'lkuwa ne, ma kuts!!'n am qa'alen selo lkqai'xuktsiya'mne kuła'xam.'' qakił/łne: "kqa'suwo'kts kınla'xa'm?" qake'ine: "tsusdqake'ine:" qakik'he: "ts!m'aselkqai'xuktsiya'mne kents!e'na m.'' qake'ine: "tsqa'psints qou ta'xo yaqao xa'm-45 ke shoʻltqaixuktsiya'mne kula'xam.'' n'upxale'sine pal schałnu'kupqa''ne: qakik'he: "qaasts k!a'qa'ke naso'ukue'n?" qake'ine: "qaha''lin he'nyaqakikm:'lke a'a'ke qame'le'le'k. na ho'sanmiye'tke' ta'xas selxa'tseqa'pte'k kiyu'kiyit kints!upxana'mki laa'k!amz'n a tsxalqats!:na'xe' 50 naso'_uk^ue·n. xałe'e·s tsxal'zs_inilts!zna'se·. ta'xas husloltuq!tsqake'ine:" q!a'pe'leheta'mne:

Ta'xas n'tkint'he' aa'k!ts t!a'wu. kxa'tsanmi'yit, ta'xas ts!na'hwats!xakana'mne'.¹ qao xaku'pmalna'mne' a'a'ke' kaqawa'kamt'tuk ts!naxa''mne'. a'a'ke qawt'li't't'qanakup-55 malna'mne'. kanmi'yt aa'k!amt'n'a, qa'alin kiyu'kiyit qao xalya'qxaxa'mne'. ts!naxa'mne' yunaqawu'mne'. qa'naxa'mne' at ts!na'xe k!e'itik kaake'ns. at qa.upxa'lne' qa'psin. qa'naxa'mne'. ta'xas nuwasna'mne'.

N'aqa'ane suwo'timo, nao'k!ue qa'k.lik ktsuku'pxa. pe'k!a ks 60 qake'lne suwu'e s ktsuku'pxa tsxalyaaqaqana'ake q!akpa'kse Then they filled the pipe for Chief Not-sitting-down-Long. | The Chief, said: "Now speak! Why did you come?" | Little Sun said: 20 "The chief made a request | that some one should go on the warpath. Nobody wanted to come, but I came." | The chief was seated. He said: "After how many days | shall the warriors start?" Little Sun said: | "He spoke this morning, and said, 'For three days || work on 25 arrow wood and bow staves. Put feathers on your arrows. | Then. when everything is done, on the fourth day they shall start." | They said to Little Sun: "When did you start?" | He said: "This evening." Then it was known that he was a runner. | They said to him: "It shall be so. In three days they || also shall start. They 30 will all be ready. | On the fourth day they will not go far and stop. | On the fifth day they will meet on Low Hills." |

It was dark, and Little Sun staid over night. He staid there in the morning. At noon Little Sun was not ready to go. At sun- 35 set he started back, dragging his blanket. They began to peel their arrow wood. In the town Fish Hawk Nest | they played ball in the evening. Just when they had finished their game, | Little Sun was seen. He came dragging his blanket. He entered the tent of the chief. They assembled, and they were going to listen to what the 40 chief would say. He said: | "Yesterday after I started, I reached there just after the game was over." He was asked: "How high was the sun when you got there?" He said: | "I just said so." He was told: "They were playing ball | when you started." He said: "Why, at the place to which I went | they had just finished their game 45 when I arrived." Then it was known | that he was a runner. He was told: "What did the chief say?" | He said: "He will do just as you said. | Four days from to-day | you will meet at Low Hills. The chief will not go, | but his son will go. Now I have told the news." | 50 And all said: "Yes."

Then they made arrows and bows. After four days | they went on the warpath. They stopped over night. | The people of Kqawak-mituk started also. They did not go far, and staid over night. | In 55 the morning they went to Low Hills, and just at noon | they met. Many started—a crowd—and they went along. | Scouts went ahead. They did not see | anything. They went on. Now they were hungry. | There were two friends. One was called Pipe Lighter. Some time

There were two friends. One was called Pipe Lighter. Some time before this, | Pipe Lighter had told his friend what he would de His 60

¹ Pierre says the modern word would be ts!ensl'a'naxakana'mne.

[BULL. 59

suwu'e's. ta'xas nuwa'se swu'e's ktsuku'pxa. tse:n naqa'tsine kpa'kse ne is ma k!aqa'ke l. qanaxa'mne qalwi'yse swu'e's ktsuku'pxa: "ho'ya's hul'ako'kue'n." qanats!la.-'n'e' qaha'qkupq!a'nlupxamako'une'. qakile'lne' ktsuku'pxa: 65 "ktsuku'pxa." qake'ine: "qa'psin?" qakil:'lne: "nö'pqo:" qake'ine: "kaas ke'e'n?" qakile'lne: "lu'n'u's suwetsqanu'n'e'." qakilamna'mne'. ma'qa'k nalatsukiya'mne' o'k!uquna kloko''yqa nö'pqo'. sd'aqalhala'tsu'kkdamna'mne'. łtsxał'oyet!axwa'te'l. tseikat.le'sine neis yaaqałke'tke'. sq!an-70 łupxamaku'pse: taxas n'akakı'n'e a'k!e's ktsuku'pxa. qao xal'atsqana'ane: qak.lamna'mne: "qe'n a tsxalselk!umnaqa'lalke'n'e'.' ta'xas tseikate'lne'. ta'xas n'umatsinate'lne'. qawakiyama'sine neis klomatslna'atel qao'xa'xe ktsuku'pat łao pengana wetske he: ta zas sukunułk lo une: 75 ta'xas n'umatsna'mne: me'txane: sqku'pki kq!mukupk!o'une: aa''ke pe'k!aks łao''quwakme'tink!akxo'une ta'xas tsema'k!il'omats;na'mne', o'k!uquna ks:/m:'txa łouk!s. a'a'ke. lame'txane' sqkupkikmulupk!o'une'. sq!ma'witsleng!a''ntse' sqku'pkikwa's e në pqo s. n'upxa'ine ne louk! wan xa'mne. 80 qałwa 'me kztsqum łasxu'ne nö'pqo n'et wztsq!anu'n e qa'xamkike'luwetskile'lne qa'lski kamoxu'n'e në'pqo: pal sel'dwana'mne: ta'xas n'at.luqulaxokua'ane: ktsuku'pxa swu'timu. tsxakxa'he nö'pqo.

Ko:łatkikxani''yam ła:ts!:naxa'mne: qa:naxa'mne nupsła'-85 t_ivil'qa.upxa'he qa'psin; a'a'ke lahuwasna'mne a'a'ke n'a'sne· swo't_imo· a'nłaa'k!ła·k, n'u'pxane· nao'k!ue· ma yaa'qak.la'pske swu'e's. qa:nuxuno'kune xonaxa'mne. qak.ła'pse swu'e's: "ne_i ma kı'ntsxa." (huqua.upxamı'lne ka_as na qa'k.le'k ne_i swu't_imo.) qak.la'pse' swu'o: "s_uwo'." 90 qake'lne: "qa'psin?" qakile'lne: "es wesqa'ane to'ho'l." qake'ine: "ma'qa'k, ta'xa nei kiyuna'quwum." qakilamna'mne: "ma'qa'k, sawesqa'ane: to'ho'l." ta'xas tseikate'lne: swo'timo. nao'k!ue t!apts!ake'n'e neis tsxalaako'umo. qawo'kalı'sine at qous laqa'o'xakqkupkikı'luwıtskı'kine 95 wu'o's. ta'xas qao'xal'atsqana''na. ta'xas n'upxale'sine pał tsxało'ute qous łouk!s. ta'xas n'umatsna'mne nała'tsuk^uya'mne: ta'xas qu'na kna'xane: qkupkikmu'lupuqk!o'_une: wa'nxa''mne: nei łouk!u, n'ınqa'pte:k to'ho:l. n'upkaqk!o'ułne: ta'xas n'ckc'łne: pał ktsaqu'n'a qao wumna'mne 100 pał k_iyuna'q_uwum.

Ła ts!/naxa'mne: ts!/na'xe: k!e'teikka'kin. ława'xe: qa.u'pxane: qa'psin. ta'xas ts/miy/tine: qa:naxa'mne: nei ts/miy/tina'mu. nei to'xua /na'hak tsxana'mne: qakiya'-mne: "ma'qa'k. sn/msikqa'ane: aqlsma'kin/k!." pal kta-105 mo'xo. s/d'aqlu'k!unat/lne: aqlsma'kin/k!. qao'xaxa'mne:

friend had forgotten. | Then the friend of Pipe Lighter became hungry. At once | he remembered what he had been told. They were going along, and | the friend of Pipe Lighter thought: "Well, let me try!" There was a tree, | and there was a burl on it. Pipe Lighter was addressed: | "Pipe Lighter!" He said: "What is it?" He was told: 65 "A bear." | He said: "Where is it?" He was told: "Farther on, on a tree." | They said to one another: "Hold on!" They whispered, | because the bear was wild. Therefore they whispered, | so as not to scare it away. They looked at what they referred to. | It was a 70 burl. Then Pipe Lighter took out his arrow. He went there softly. Then they said to one another: "Behold, he will make a mistake!" Then they looked at it, and they laughed at him. | They did not make any noise when they laughed at him. Pipe Lighter went there | and looked around to see it. Then he aimed at it. | The people were 75 laughing. He shot. There was a noise of an arrow striking wood, but already he had another arrow ready to shoot. Then they laughed aloud, | because he was shooting at wood. | He shot again, and hit something soft. His arrow stuck out, | and there was the noise of a bear. It was seen that the wood was moving. | The bear started to 80 run up the tree. It stopped; | and while they were looking at it for a little while, it fell down. It was killed. Then Pipe Lighter and his friend scared the people. | They began to eat the bear. |

After they had eaten it, they went on. They went along. | Nothing 85 was seen yet, and they were again hungry. Now, there were two other friends. The one knew | what his friend had told him. There was a brook, and they went to the water. His friend said to him: "What did you say?" (I do not know | the names of the friends.) The friend said: "Friend!" | He said: "What?" He was told: 90 "There is a charr." | He said: "Wait, wait! There are many." They said to each other: | "Wait! There are charrs." Then the friends were looked at. | The one put on what he was going to use as a spear. | He did not look. He was not looking there at | the water. Then he 95 went along softly. Then it was seen | that he was about to spear wood. Now they laughed | and whispered. Then he threw his spear, and it struck something soft. | It moved and became a charr. | It was taken out of the water. It was eaten. It was small. They were not satiated, | because there were many. | 100

They started again. They wanted to see what was happening. They arrived, | and did not see anything. Then in the evening they went on. | At night those who were the last talked, and said: | "Wait! It smells like people." | It was very dark. Then they smelled the 105

tsu kupk!o'ułne. n'upxa'łne sałqahama'ane aqłsma'kinak! qake'ine ka'ke'n-k!ayu'kua: "ta'xas hułts!anaxa'ła. na hutsyaqana'mke hantsqanaki'łne." pał ktamu'xo: ta'xas ts!ana'xe ka'ke'n-k!ayu'kua qa:naxa'mne na'nimsa'kqane 110 neis aqłsma'kinak!s ka'ken-k!ayu'kua qa:naxa'mne ta'xas kanmiya'tine, n'upxa'łne n'ałm'anma''ne k!anaxa'ka a'a'ke pał n'a'n'e k!anaxa'ka tsxalts!ana'l'ana'xane ktuna'xa's. ts!ana'nmanela'lne. qa:naxa'mne:

Ts!/na'xe k!e'ite kka'ke ns swo'timo. nao'k!ue qa'k.le k 115 ku'tet!-k!ayu'k^ua, nao'k!^ue qa'k.le'k qu'k^ue'n-k!ayu'k^ua. qa·na'xe· sınk!amına'se·. qanalwat!a'xe·. pe.ı'k!a·ks layaxawuxa'xe: nao'k!ue qake'ine: "hyá:' huła'litqana watak'sine swu'o.'' n'u'pxane pal naas v'me's skeikk.luname'sine. sk/keil'ita'qanapa'xaneyam/sine: k!o'k!ueis qa'alen qaka'nk!-120 one'lse: ta'xas n'et wesqa'ane ku'tet!-k!ayu'kuats qu'kuenk!ayu'kua. a'a'ke n'atuwasqa'ane. ta'xas nei kqa'ka'nk!o''nil. ta'xa ne_i k_iyuna'qa q!a'pe qakawɛtskɛ'k_ine qa'wɛsqa'ane ku'tet!-k!ayu'k'a. qakt'he: swu'e:s: "niknqa'apske:l'aaqaqa'ane.'' łu'qua łqak.ła'pse suwu'e's: "wa's nc'nko nc'linqa'aps-125 ke·l'aaqaqa'ane:.'' ta'xas tsein tseikat:'lne· nei k!u's'mokuawe'sqa. qa'luquanenme'te'k qa'qxalhuts!enqa'tse' ku'tet!. n'ınqa'pte'k ku'te't!s ta'xa n'ı'n'e' ku'te't!-k!ayu'k'a. ne_i k!/ław/sqa qa·w/sqa'ane: ne_is qa·nuxu'n·e· to·q!utsqa'mna. n'''n'e' e''qo'l. qao''xanoxu'n'e' qo's saw'sqa'pske' qawaxame't_uwetsq!anu'n'e'. łahołnoxu'n'e'. 130 a_a'k.łam'e'se's. ta'xa n'ı'n'e qu'kuen-k!ayu'kua n'ınqa'pte'k aa'qulu'k!pkups. ta'xas n'umatsina'mne: k!umnaqałpałne'ixo nei te'tqa't! kqa'ke pı'k!aks ksil'ayaxawa'aka's aqlsma'kınık!s. qakil:/lne: "ma ku:\silqa\akilm:txanala'e\s alakin:/k!e\s qo 135 ku'tet! sal'aqa'ha wosa qa'anet qou nao'k!ue sanquluk!phen'u'pṣane· tuq!tsqa'mna selqao ṣanoṣu'n e.'' ta'xas n'umatsina'mne: qalwi'vne nei yaqa'sinil'upxa'ke: "ma ke'e'n aqisma'kin:k!. qous laintso'uxam nei ku'tet! ta'xas n'ınqa'pte·k tı'tqa·t!s. a'a'ke· qous k.la..tqananu'xo· nei tuq!ts-140 qa'mna, a'a'ke łaznga'pte k tz'tga t !s."

Ła. upxana'mne swo'timo kutet!-kayu'kua qu'kuen-k!a-yu'kua. qak.la'mne: "pa'me'k hun'a qaqaa'ane." nao'k!ue qake'ine: "a'a'ke pa' me'k hun'a qaqna'ane." qakila'mne: "pa'me'k hulakilwatskilna'la." ta'xas laqao xa'xe. na'k.la-145 tsu'lwatska'lne neis anea'k!es. wune'ka't.se n'u'pxane ta'xas la tsxala'taqnapaxna'kse. qakila'mne: "ta'xas hulats!-anaxa'la." lats!ana'xe. qa:na'xe.

Toʻxua szltszlmiyzt.se n'u'pxane ska'se neis kiyuna'-qa ps alswu'e's. k.lala'xa m qakz'hee: "hun'upxanala'ane.
150 kaznenzk!na'la. n'upxanawa'sine pa me'k hok!umnaqaaka'-

people. They went there, | and started a fire. Then they saw tracks of people. | Wolf Hat said: "Let us start, here | where I am going. You go along." It was very dark. Then | Wolf Hat started. He went along. Wolf Hat smelled || the people. They went along. 110 Then | in the morning the wide trail of the warriors was seen. | There also were warriors. They were going to fight against the Kutenai. | They followed the trail, going along. |

The friends went ahead to see what was going on. One was named | Lamb Hat, the other was named Raven Hat. | They went to a val- 115 ley and went on. After they reached the other side, | one of them said: "Go, friend! I can not do much with you, | friend." He saw that down below there was a town. | They were about to put up a tent. One man pointed right toward them. | Then Lamb Hat and 120 Raven Hat stopped. | They stood there. When the one person pointed their way, | many looked at them. | Lamb Hat was standing there. He said to his friend: "You might be in some difficulty." | His friend said to him also: "You might be in some difficulty." || Then the one 125 standing ahead was looked at. | He jumped around, and a lamb started up the mountain. | Lamb Hat had become a lamb. | Then the one standing behind stood there. Then a bird flew that way. | A small magpie flew that way to the head of the one standing there. It stopped there and flew away again. | Then Raven Hat had turned 130 into a stump. | The people all laughed, because that man had made a mistake | when he said that people had appeared on the one side. They said to him: "We shot the parents of the lamb. | Therefore it 135 is there. The other one is a stump. | You see, a bird flew to it." | Then they laughed. The one who had seen it thought: | "They were persons. When the lamb goes behind there, | it will become a man: and when the bird flies away, | it will also become a man again." | 140

Then the friends Lamb Hat and Raven Hat | saw each other. They said: "Indeed, I did something." The other one | said: "Indeed, I also did something." They talked together. | "Indeed, let us watch for a while!" Then they looked secretly || at their enemies. 145 After a while they saw | that they were beginning again to make their tents ready. They said to each other: "Let us | start back!" Then they started and went along. |

When it was almost dark, their many | friends saw them coming. When they arrived there, they said: "We saw | our enemies. They 150

te·nala'ane." ta'xas ts!:naxa'mne. ta'xas ts:!miye'tine, qa:naxa'mne: łaxaxa'mne: neis yaaqa'hak.lo'uke: ¿ne·nɛ'k!na·m. pa·ł sa·'hanłe.c'tine. q!u'ntkałhak!ancłc'k!ine. qa'tał'unaxa'mne: qake'ine: o'k!:na'mu ku'tet!-k!ayu'kua: "ta'xa 155 ła'n'a nawetsyaaqana'mke'. qaka'kil.'' ta'xas ts!ena'xe'. qake'ine ku'tet!-k!ayu'kua: "nawetsya'qa'o xaqanq!ankime'ike, a'a'ke qaka'ki l." ta'xas ts!:nal'una'xe. l:tk::kino ku'lne. me'ka kanxamenukna'na qa'talha'kinoukue'lne: ta'xas qla'pe·łqayaqalqatsa'mne: yzsałso'uku!akowa'lke: ta'xas q!u'nt-160 kalhaqowu'mne ne s yaqa hak.lohu'k'e ninek'lnam ta'xa s n'tk'kink!a'le xa'lne: qa'kuwu'mne: ta'xas k!atawakanmi'yit, at łae ktekme te'hne qa'psin. ta'xas su'kuiłwoukate'lne: qakiya'mne: "ta'xas wanaqana'ki'l." ta'xas nalat.łokaxaniya'mne ku'sto-ł. ta'xa's wanaqana'łne enene'k!-

165 nam. Kopö'qa-telna'mu xale'e's n'ok!ultsaquna'se at n'upski lqa.u'pxane kuwanaqananamna'me's qalwi'yne: "kutsxal'a'sma'l qa.e·txamınqa'me·k naso'ukue·n kaas na·qa'qana kutsxalqa'qana." ta'xas m/te'xalit/'tine qa.e'txam/nqa'me'k. a'a'ke nei 170 netsta'hał qa'k.le·k ka·'kiyaxa'kukp. ta'xas qapesnula·'ka'te· ne_is naso'_uk^ue'ns qa.e'txamnaq_ana'ke's. ta'xas nułpałnit¿'t_ine'. ta'xas k!umitske'nle's aa'kik.luna'me's, at qakiyame'sine': "ha'hei', ke''nło te'tqa't! ko'q'aaqawe'tsk!o naso'uk'en kak!a'akit! ktsik!e'nqo'kua'mle'ite't.'' qanakı'kine swo'timo 175 qa.e.txamınqa'me.kts ka.kiyaxa'kukp. pı'k!aks wılıl-uq!tsqana'xe: qatseika'tse: suwu'e:s aa'k:t.lana'me:s. ta'xas qayaqawuxa'xe: sa'nıt.lanamı'sine: qous qayaqa'wous. a'pkok!us qawoxaqu'm'iasxu'n'e qa.e'txamınqa'me'k. qanal'ako'une'. qake'ine: "ha'hei', ke''nlo te'tqa't! ho'pa'ks koqua'qa-180 we'tsklo: naso'ukuen kakla'akitl.'' ta'xas ka'kiyaxa'kukp a'a'ke tsxa'ne qake'ine: "ha'hei', ke''nlo te'tqa't! ho'paks kohek!/st/l/ke·t qa.e·txam/nqa/me·k naso/ukue·n.'' ta/xas laqaa'kakı'n'e tsuk!oteya'l'e's qa.e'txamınqa'me'k a'a'ke ka'kiyaxa'kukp a'a'ke neis k!a'ako a'a'ke łaqaa'kakı'n'e 185 tsuk!oteya'l'e's. ta'xas q!aluk.le.e't.se'.

k!o.`ktił menek!-Ta'xas tsema'k!i l'ata'wakanmiye't.se nam. sakısuwisqa'ane suwo'timo. qao xaxamı'sine tseikatk'sine: n'upxak'sine parl sti'upt'ine naso'ukue'ns qou swo'timo qa.e'txamınqa'me'kts ka'kiyaxa'kukp. ta'xas n'upxa'ine 190 ks/l'e'n naso'ukue'ns ka''kiyaxa'kukp. ta'xas lats!/naxa'mne'. Nei wa'łkuwa's ma k!o'kuna'k ma k!u'pxa aqłsma'kinck! n'upsa't_iyilqalwi'yne: "ma kusd'u'pxa aqlsma'k_inck! ma ktsEmak!/le''n k!aqa'qa k!/nqa'pte'k ku'te't!ts toq!tsqa'mna maats kutsq!u"mne tsdmi 'yet." ta'xas qaqana'ane ta'xa 195 kts/łmi·'y/t, ta'xas kq !u'mne na'mne s, n'/t.latsu'n e. n'/lqana'

saw us. We tried unsuccessfully | to do something." Then they started. Now it was night. | They went along, and they arrived at the town of their enemies. | It was a bad place. There were rough bowlders around there. They could not | go down. The same one, Lamb Hat, said: | "Come here, the way I am going!" They went 155 that way, and started. | Lamb Hat said: "When I am going to step, | come this way also." Then they started, going down. They did not make any noise on the stones. | Even though there were small stones, they did not make any noise stepping on them. Then | they all went down to the place where there was good grass, and $\|$ they sur- 160rounded the place where the enemy was encamped. Then | they watched for them. They stood there. Early in the morning | they threw up something. They saw it clearly, | and they said: "Now fight them!" Then | they blew whistles and fought the || enemy. | 165

Crazy Old Woman's son was the youngest one. He had not seen | any fighting. He thought: "I'll go with Chief | Not-sitting-down-Long. Whatever he does, I'll do." Then Not-sitting-down-Long began to pursue them, and the youth named Rattling Claws did not 170 turn his eyes from | the chief, Not-sitting-down-Long. Then he heard | that the town was being destroyed. They said: | "Ha, he! There is nobody like me [no man]. I hold Chief Harelip with my knife. | His clothing is fringed on one side." The two friends, || Not-sitting-down- 175 Long and Rattling Claws, went along. The friends were already way in the town. They did not look at the tents. | They went to the middle. There was a tent there in the middle. | Not-sittingdown-Long jumped quickly to the head of the tent and stabbed him there. | He said: "Ha, he! There is nobody like me. I am the first to hold down with my knife | Chief Harelip." Then Rattling Claws | 180 also spoke, and said: "Ha, he! There is nobody like me. I am the first | to count coup for Chief Not-sitting-down-Long." Then | Notsitting-down-Long did not pull out his spear, and | Rattling Claws also did not pull out his spear || from the place where he had stabbed 185 him. Then the noise stopped.

Very early in the morning all the enemies had been killed. | The two friends stood there. The people went there. They looked, and it was seen that | the friends Not-sitting-down-Long and Rattling Claws had killed the chief. Then it was seen | that it was Chief 190 Harelip. Then they started back.

The one who had seen the people the day before | always thought: "I have seen people. | It is sure that they have turned into a lamb and a bird. | I shall not sleep to-night." Then he did so. | At night 195 when they slept, he hid himself. He went away | higher up. There

85543°—Bull. 59—18——17

259

BOAS]

were trees where he lay down. He did not | sleep. Then he staid there. When he saw that it was morning, | he heard some noise. His people were fighting. | He thought: "Didn't I tell you?" Then he listened. | Very early in the morning he saw that they were all 200 killed. | The enemies assembled and sang. | They shouted for joy. When they went back, he cried. He was heard | above. They said to one another: "Don't look at him! | He will carry the news back. He is the only one left." He was left there crying. ||

They started back. After several days they arrived at | the place 205 from which they had started. They sat down. | During the days when they were fighting, the elder brothers | of Rattling Claws always said: "Oh, Rattling Claws counted coup for | Not-sitting-down-Long." Now he was chief. | Then, when they sat down to separate, | 210 the brothers of Rattling Claws spoke again, and said: "O Rattling Claws! | Chief Not-sitting-down-Long first counted coup for him. | He held down with his spear Chief Harelip." Then they arose again. | Not-sitting-down-Long said: "Why do you say that? He just | counted coup for me. I have made Rattling Claws | my chief, for 215 he did this, although he was a youth. | Now, if you say this, he shall not be | my chief. The grizzly bear will never be taken away from him." Thus | Not-sitting-down-Long spoke badly. Then they separated. |

They went home to Fish Hawk Nest. They shouted with joy. | 220 The people of the town went out. The warriors were seen coming home. They looked to see who was chief. The file of people was seen, and one was walking far ahead. It was seen that he was to be the chief. He was not recognized. When they arrived, it was 225 known that it was | Rattling Claws. Then they entered the tent of Crazy Old Woman. | Crazy Old Woman spoke (and said): "Well, tell the news! | What has been done?" Those who arrived spoke, and said: "What must we say? | Rattling Claws held down with his spear | Chief Harelip. He counted coup." Then | Crazy Old Woman 230 was glad on account of his son, who was chief | warrior, although he was still a boy. | He was going to be clever. Then they went out. At night | the chief went out. He spoke, and said: "My children, | I am glad that you have arrived, that your warriors are not dead, | 235 that you have killed (the enemy). Te-morrow you shall not go out. The day after to-morrow | you will not be tired any more, and you may go out hunting. | You will hunt bighorn sheep. It will give good smell | to your wives. They will grease their hair with the tail fat of the bighorn sheep."

On the next day they did not go out. On the following day | one 240 son of Crazy Old Woman went out. | He ran fast. Then the hunter

xe· neis a:n·a'ata·s. qa:lats!lat/nse· qa'o xal'txo'ume·k. qa-q!u'mne''ne· qao saqa'ane· n'u'pxane· ta'xas stkanmiytt-se· nulpakntt'tine· k!a·qalouk.le'e·t.s. pa'l stkwana'qanak'sine· a'a'kt·k.lu'e·s. qalwi'yne·: "kultk.lt'ske·l?" qa'wtsk!a'paltt'le·k
200 ta'xas tsema'k!il'atawaka·'nmiytt.se· n'u'pxane· pa·l st'o·kult'sine· la.et!qao xa'se· tnent'k!e·s, ta'xas nawasxuna'kse. n'alq!anqalo'ukse· ta'xas lats!mas n'ila'n·e· nulpaht'he· neis na'ata·'s. qakilam·namt'sine·: "a: maats tseika'tki·l tsxal·a-ha'lpalne'ine· pal kstlo·k!qa'pe·" qa:qakqa'lilq!anlo'ukune·.

Lats!maxa'mne: naqsa'nmi'yit lalaxaxa'mne: nei ma qa'kilyaakakxaxa'mke: n'esa'kanuna'mne: ta'xa nei yisanniye'tke: kuwana'qanana'mnam. n'upsla'tiyilqaki'kse: alta't!e's ka'kiyaxa'kukp: "ha: ka'kiyaxa'kukp, ke'k!e'stde'ke't qa.e'txamnaqna'ke's ka''kiyaxa'kukp." ta'xas sd'e'n'e: naso'u-210 kue'ns. ta'xa nei k!sakinu'nam ktsxal'ayanqa'atsam, lats-xa'se: alta't!e's ka''kiyaxa'kukp. qake'kse:: "ha: ka''kiyaxa'-kukp kek!estde'kta'ps naso'ukue'ns qa.e'txamnaqna'ke's. qa'-qawe'tsk!o: naso'ukue'ns kak!a'ake't!s." ta'xas k.lahuwo'kunam. qake'ine: qa.e'txamenqa'me'k: "qa'psin kensd'aqake'ike'l, me'ka tse'n'eis ke'k!e'stile'kta'p. pele'k!a'ks hun'itke'n'ei ktsxa'l'e'n kanaso'ukue'n ka''kiyaxa'kukp pal ke'e'n netsta'halna'na na'sts k!aqa'qana. na ta'xa ken'aqake'iki'l ta'xas tsxal'aqa-e'n'ei kanaso'ukue'n. at qa'waq!wute'hei k.la'wla." ta'xas

samke'ine qa.etxamınqa'mek. ta'xas laya'nqatsa'mne. 220 Łałaxaxa'mne ts!outs!u'q!ua. nałq!anq!a'łukna'mne n'anaxa'mna'mne: ne_i a_a'kik.ło''nam. n'upxa'łne: ks/ła'wa'm k!anaxa'ka. tseikatz'her qa'la ktsxal'z'ner naso'ukuen. n'upxa'łne neis vaqa'hałhaqwumz'ske a:n'u'sme ks łaqasosa'xe k!u'k^ue'. n'upxa'ine' qo_usts ktsxa'i'e'n naso'_uk^ue'n. qaohu'i-225 nev. ta'xas ławaxa'mnev. ta'xas nohu'łnev pał n'e'n'ev ka'k_iyaxa'kukp. ta'xas t_ina'xanam¿'s_ine· kopö'qa-tÆna'mu. tsxa'ne· kopö'qa-t/lna'mu: "ho'ya's, tuq!tsqak.la'pki·l kaa k!a qanz'ke t." tsxa'ne ne k.la'wa m. qake' ne: "ka xama kuaa'qakiya'ła: ka'kiyaxa'kukp qa'qawtsk!o'une naso'ukue'ns 230 kak!a'akit!s. kts/k!/ke'nqo'k"amłe'it/ts.'' ta'xas suk"iłq!o'uk_une· kupë'qa-t*i*lna'mu xale'e's. ke'e'ns naso'_uk^ue'ns wanaqananamna'me's. pał k!upske'l'ens netsta'hałna'nas. taxta' ktsxalqa'sts!um'qa'qaps. ta'xas laanaxa'mna'mne: ts:lmi'yit n'anaxa' mne naso' ukuen. tsxa'n e qake' ine: "alkaa' qa'lt.

235 husukuilq!o'ukune na kanla'wa'm, kanqa'e'p kan'anaxa'ka, kan'upile'ite't. kanmi'yit hantsxalqawanxa''mne lu'n'u kanmi'yit ta'xas hantslaqahuk.lu'kune ta'xas hantsxal'ana'xe hantslana'xane kuwa'lqle tsxalsukunamse'ik!aqape'ka'me'k altanamu''ne's. ts!alamane'mo kuwa'lqle's aa'ka'nqa'ts.''

240 Ta'xas kanmi'yit qawanxa'mna'mne ka'nmi'yit ta'xas

BOAS

n'anaxa''mne ne klo'k! es xale'es kupë'qa-tiha'mu nahokupqa'pse ta'xas ts!:na'xe k!a'ana'm. qalwi'yne ne kahoku'pqa ktsxalwa'sil·awa'q!awo. qa:na'xe n'u'pxane kuwi'lqle's. mitiya'xane. q!apınmatsnu'te. qala'xan'xo'une. 245 ka'kiyaxa'kukp n'a'sma'lne k!o'k! es ta't!es. qa'na'xe qalwi'yse ne ta't!es kaas xma n'a'qaka'te ka'kiyaxa'kukp. "ho'ya's hul'a'qane'ts." qaki'lne: "pi'k!a'ks simitiyaxnawa'sane k.la'wla, ka'kiyaxa'kukp." nutsinqkupe'ki'me'k. n'umatsinata'pse ta't!es. laha'ts!:naki'kine. n'u'p-

250 xane nei kwe'lqa pa'l pele'k!a'ks selmiti'yaxana'pse k.la'wla's. qake'lne tsa'e's: "pe'k!a'ks selmiti'yaxnawa'sane k.la'wla." nutsenqku'peke'me'k nei kwe'lqa. ka'kiya'xkukp qalwi'yne: "ma ksel'aqane'tsa'p." qapsla'teqana''ne. tsenkina'pse k.la'wla's. n'it!xana'pse neis k!o'k!ue''s ta't!e's wat!axu'se.

Tsdmi'yıt łałaxaxa'mne: tsxana'mne: "ka'kıyaxa'kukp n'ıt!xana'pse k.la'wla's." qawunikı'tıne tsxana'mne: qaki-ya'mne: "kupö'qa-tdna'mu xale'e's wat!axu'se'." wunikı'tıne ktslmi'yıt n'anaxa''mne kupö'qa-tdna'mu naso'uku'e'n. qa-260 ke'ıne: "ka' k!aqanı'ke't! hınlınqo'qaqana'ane' ne kın'anaxa'ka. slaqaqa'ane kınsa'nwıtsqu'xa at qaqa'ane'." ta'xas latınaxa''mne aa'kit.la'e's. tınaxa''mnamı'sıne, qakilı'lne: "qaqa'ane'; qa.e'txamınqa'me'k naso'uku'e'n qaqawıtsk!o'une naso'uku'e'ns kak!a'ake't!s ktsi'k!'ke'nqokamle'ıtits. k.lats!-265 ka'xa'm ta'xas n'upsla'tıyilqakiya'mne: 'qa.e'txamınqa'me'k qa''qawıtsk!o'une naso'uku'e'ns.' ta'xas k.lawa'xam aa'k!amı'n'a qa'kiltsxana'mne: 'ka'kıyaxa'kukp qa''qawıtsk!o'une naso'uku'e'ns kak!a'ake't!s.' qae''txamınqa'me'k nık!ıstilı'kte' ka'kıyaxa'kukps. ta'xas qa'kiltsxa'ne, qake'ıne.: 'qawa'q!a-270 wutı'hee k.la'wla.'''

Ta'xas hosdq!a'pqalq!anuxwa'te:.

72. PINE CONE

Ho'ya, hutsaqalq!anux"a'te kalqu'pa'l.

Qa'nalunisna'm'ne'. qao'xak.luna'mne' aa'kkkqla'lak!aq-lu'nuk. ts!mal'ana'xe' swo'timo qal'at.lititna'mne' aa'ko'qu-wit!. laxa'xe' nei swo'timo. qa'kdme'txane' n'uk!uil'ilwa'ne' 5 ne'l'ya'ps. qa'nukxuna'kse' lawuq!o'ha'ks. qa'naq!u'kup-xane'le'k. swo'timo. nao'k!ue' qa'k.lek ku'tet!-k!ayu'kua, nao'k!ue' qa'k.le'k a'ts!pu-k!ayu'kua. nao'k!ue' sd'e'kine' aa'kxa'ska'ks. qa'nqapxa'me'k' qakila'mne': "a: swu'o kaa xma ken'a'qa'qana.'' n'u'pxane' neis ksa'hanle'et.s neis 10 yaqaka'mke'. qa:qa'samal suk.le.itnana'se'. sl'aqake'la'mne'. qakila'mne': "kaa xma ken'aqa'qana hulwanaqana'nala'ati'l.'' qake'ine' ku'tet!-k!ayu'kua: "há: swu'o. ts xma hun'etke'n'e'

started. The fast runner thought | he would bring home meat early. He went along and saw | a bighorn sheep. He followed it the whole day, but he could not catch it. || Rattling Claws went with one of his 245 elder brothers. He went along. | His elder brother thought: "How is Rattling Claws going to look? | Let me deceive him." Then he said to him: | "Grizzly Bear is following us, Rattling Claws." He ran away quickly. | Then his elder brother laughed at him. They went on. || Now, the elder brother saw that a grizzly bear was follow-250 ing them. | He said to his younger brother: "A grizzly bear is following us." | The elder one ran away. Rattling Claws | thought: "He is deceiving me." And he did not mind him. | Then the grizzly bear took him and killed him. The elder brother || rolled 255 down to the water. |

At night they came home. They told: "Rattling Claws | has been bitten by a grizzly bear." It was not long before they spoke, | and said: "Crazy Old Woman's son fell down." After some time, | late at night, Chief Crazy Old Woman went out. | and said: "What has 260 happened? You must have done something when you were out fighting; | therefore the misfortune happened. That is the reason." Then | he went back into his tent. They went in, and he was told: | "It is this way: Chief Not-sitting-down-Long held with his spear | Chief Harelip and counted coup. | When they started back, they 265 always said: 'Not-sitting-down-Long | held down with his spear the chief.' Then, when they arrived at | Low Hill, they said: 'Rattling Claws held down with his spear | Chief Harelip. Not-sitting-down-Long counted coup for | Rattling Claws.' Then (Not-sitting-down-Long) spoke there, and said: | 'The grizzly bear | will never be taken 270 away from him.'" |

Now, I have told it.

72. PINE CONE

Now I'll tell about Pine Cone.

There was a party traveling. They were encamped at Timbered Hollow. | Two friends went hunting to a place named Bottle. | The friends went along and shot a mountain goat. || There were rocks in 5 the center of the precipice. They made a fire to roast the game. |

One of the friends was called Lamb Hat, | the other one was called Wolverene Hat. The one was eating | the brisket. They were sitting there eating. They said to each other: "O friend! | what would you do?" They knew that the place that they had passed was bad. The || only good place was narrow. Therefore they said so to each 10 other. | They said to each other: "What would you do if we should be attacked?" | Lamb Hat said: "O friend! I should work my

[BULL, 59

nöpı'k!a. na xma huqana'xe na nanoqxome'ike." qakilı'lne a'ts!pu-k!ayu'kua: "nı'nko ka xma kın'aqa'qana?" qake'ine: 15 "a'a'ke xma hun'ıtkı'n e nöpı'k!a. na xma hulaqana'xe na huyaqakaxala'ake."

Qawunike't.se: nao'k!ue: łaqana_awetske'k_ine: n'u'pxane: pał pe'k!a·ks selwa naqna'he: neis ya·qaka'amke pal kqa·qa'sama'ł suk.łe'et.s ne_ists qaqa'se ne_is ınenı'k!e's. qakiła'm-20 ne: "ho:wanaqnałate'he:." net!enke'senmoqkupinu'xon'qa'me'k. nao'k!ue na's yaaqaha'nukxunaka'ske naas qa'nalhutsanqa'atse. nao'k!ue neis yaaqaka'ske kuwa'naqna'naps neis łaqana'xe. neis k!u'pxana.ps /nen/k!e.s ta'xas k!o'hawok qous yaqaakilo wo'uke ste'ike , n'upxa'lne qous qakxalutsan-25 qa'atse ku'tet!; qous a'a'ke qake ka'xe a'ts!pu nala'xane. aa'kxa'skama'la ks nei a'ts!pu. ta'xas qatseikat!'lne nei a'ts!pu. naas yaqa'halyunaquwo:me'ske na slaqa'halqayaqaha'xe: qalwiyna'mne ke'e'n a'ts!pu. a'a'ke qalwiyna'mne ke'e'n ku'tet!. ta'xas salqatse ikata'lne ta'xas 30 k.łaxaxa''me's qous yaqa''ninq!oku'pske'. ta'xas n'etske'le'lne'. q!a'pil'itsk.le'hee pal selo'une. qakiya'mne: "lentsxal'e'n e ne_i ma kqa'n am ats!pu, a'a'ke kntsxal'ı'n e ne_i ma kqa'n'a'm ku'tet!." ta'xas łaa'ntsu_uxa'xe ku'tet!. ne_is łaqa'hał'una'xe. ła./nqa'pte·k aqłsma'kin/k!. nao'k!ue neis 35 qa'nal'omona'xe: aa'kınukxona'ke's. a'a'ke: la.ınqa'pte'k aqlsma'kinzk!. ta'xas laqaz'n'e ku'tet!s, nao'k!ue a'a'ke łaqa. 'n'e a'ts! pu's. ta'xas ła. upxana'mne pal tsmak!ke'ıne ktsxal'ı'tke'n nöpı'k!a's. ta'xas lats!!na'xe'.

Ta'xas neis ¿nen¿'k!e's swɔ'timo n'¿'n'se' kuyo'ukue's.

40 ta'xas kuyo'ukue' tseikat.lɛ'k!ine' neis swɔ'timo's. n'u'pxane' neis ku'tet!s pał n'¿nqapta'kse' aqlsma'kinɛk!s. neis a'ts!-pu's neis ma kqa'lwiy ke'e'ns a'ts!pu's pał n'¿'n'se' nao'-k!ue''s. •ta'xas su'kuiltseikat.lɛ'k!ine'. n'u'pxane' qous k.laantso'uxa's pał aqa.ɛ'n'se' ku'tet!sts a'tspu's. pał xa'tsɛn-45 l'aɛ'n'se' tɛ'tqa't!s. tseikat.lɛ'k!ine'. nanuqka''nxo'une'. pał ta'xas la.upxana'mse'. lats!ɛnakɛ'kse'. ta'xas mitiya'xane' yaqanakɛsq!malɛ'kske'.

Łaqana'xe· swo'timo· n'u'pxane· sakq!anu'kse· tunuxa'xe· n'u'pxane· tư'tqa·t!s qous aa'ku'q!nuks. qao xa'xe· no'hune· 50 pał n'ư'n se· kałqu'pa·łs. kałqu'pa·ł nul·ak.le'ine· szktskutse· ha'nq!o·'s. k.la'xam qaku'lne·: "hosan·oxo·''nqa·'n. ska'xe· kwanaqnana'was." qake'ine· kałqu'pa·ł: "atu'tske·'n ku't·et!- k!ayu'kua." qakilu'lne·: "hutsmak!kiyala'ane· kuyo'ukue· ska'xe· skanutawa'sane·." a'a'ke· łaqake'ine· kałqu'pa·ł: "atu'tske·'n
55 kaas xma k!aaqa'kam kuwa'naqnana'was." ta'xas łaqana·'wutske'kine· nei swo'timo neis łaya'aqaka'mke·. n'u'pxane· ta'xas n'e·s aa'ku'q!nuks tunuwaka'se· kuyo'ukue·s. qakilu'lne·

manitou power, | and I should go right up this precipice." | Then Wolverene Hat was asked: "What would you do?" He said: || "I should work my manitou power, and I should go back | the same 15 way we came through." |

It was not long before one of them looked, and he saw | that already they were pursued by enemies. The way they came | was a narrow ledge (good place). Then the enemies came. They said to each other: | "We are attacked." Both stood up quickly. | One climbed 20 up the precipice. | The other one, when the attacking party came, went back. When the enemies saw them stand up | at the place where the two stood, a lamb was seen going up, | and a wolverene 25 also came from there. | The wolverene had in its mouth the brisket. They were not looked at. The | wolverene went past the place where the crowd was. They thought it was a wolverene, and they also thought | it was a lamb, and then they were not looked at. When | they arrived at the place where the fire was, they looked about for 30 them. | They looked all over. There was nothing. They said to one another: "Maybe | that wolverene that went past us was he, and maybe | the lamb that went by was he." Then the lamb went out of sight. It went around and went down. Then it became a man again. The other one | went along the bottom, below the precipice, 35 and also became | a person again. Then there was no lamb, and the other one was no longer a wolverene. Then they met again. They spoke the truth when they said they would work their manitou power. Then they started.

Now, the enemies of the friends were Kuyo'kwe. || Then the 40 Kuyo'kwe looked for the tracks of the friends; and they saw | that the lamb had become a person, and that the | wolverene—what they thought was a wolverene—was the other one. | They looked carefully for the tracks. They knew that when | the lamb and the wolverene had gone out of sight, both had become || men again. They looked for 45 their tracks and followed them. | Then they met again. The two went back. They were pursued | along their trail. |

The friends went back. They saw a lake. They went out to the water. | They saw a man on the shore of the lake. They went there. They knew || it was Pine Cone. Pine Cone was an old man. He was 50 hunting | muskrats. When they arrived, they said to him: "Run away! They come | in pursuit of us." Pine Cone said: "You tell a lie, Lamb | Hat." He was told: "We tell the truth. The Kuyo'kwe come | in pursuit of us." Pine Cone said again: "You tell a lie. || Where should they come from to pursue us?" Then | the friends 55 looked back, and where they had come from they saw them. | The Kuyo'kwe came out to the lake. Pine Cone was told: | "Look! There

POAS]

kaiqu'pa·l: "tseika'te·n' qous n'ı'n·e kuyo'ukue. yu'-qua·lyunaqa'ake." ta'xas lamatı'lne kalqu'pa·l. lahats!ına-60 xamı'sine. qanawıtskı'kine. n'u'pxane pal n'ı'se kate'ise ınenı'k!e·s. ta'xas ts!ınaxa: me·nlukpqa'ane. ta'xas laxa'xe kuyo'ukue. n'u'pxane kuyo'ukue pal n'ı'n·se kul·a'k.le·'s. qakila'mne: "maats upı'lki-l. pal ksılhul·a'k.le."

Kuyo'ukue qana'xe kalqu'pa loku'ne s'tles n'ituk!-65 samu'n e ta'na'ls. nalak_ine'ktse se't le's. qalwi'yne ktsxałqa'łwiys kuyo'ukue's ke'e'n. n'upxa'se tszne's ke'e'ns se't!e's. qatseika't.se'. qa''qawi'slaxama'tamuna'kse' ta'na ls. ta'xas k.łaxa''nxo''l. tsukua'te a'a'k!e''s. n'a'qtsxane aa'kınq!a $qap! \ell'se's. \quad m\ell't \dot{x}_a ne' \quad kuyo'{}_u k^u e's. \quad qatak! o'{}_u ne'. \quad kuyo'{}_u k^u e'$ 70 qałwi'yne tsxal'u'pła ps ne s nul'a'qana 's. tse ka'te a 'kk'se s pał n'aqtsxa'se: ta'xas ne_i kqa'tak!o'_una'ps kałqu'pa'łs. ta'xas n'umats;nat:'lne: na'qsa''s a'k!e''s k!a'qtsxa' a'a'kınq laqap lı'se's at kqata'aklo kuyo'ukue's. ta'xas qaak.łał/n·q!oyomu'łne· kałqu'pa·ł. pał qałwiyna'me's ktsxał-75 qa.upc'li l. nu'lk.lenq!o''ymu'l ta'xas tsxalts!enaxame'sine ne_is łayaqana'mke: swo't_imo ku'tet!-k!ayu'k^ua. ta'xas łaxaxa'me's aa'kik.lu'e's ktsxalwana'qana'l. n'uk!uqape'ise a'a'k!e's kałqu'pa·ł. łałttną!aqa'pse: mt'txane kuyo'ukues. tsuk!o'une: n'up'lne kuyo'ukues. kuyo'ukue k!u'pxa k!u'plaps kal-80 qu'pa ls, qakila'mne: "ta'xas up:'lkirl, pal ks:l'upla'was." kałqu'pa ł neists k.ła'ło ps a'a k le s. ta'xas ts kna'nłukpqa'ane . qałwi'yne kszlqatano''k!una'ps kuyo'uk''e's. ta'xas neists k.ła'ło''s a'a'k!e's. qalwi'yne: "ta'xas kutsxa'l'e'p pa'l ksił·a'ło_u ka'a·k!.'' miti_ixa'łne·. qałwi'yne· kłtsxałm/'txa·ł. 85 ta'xas t!awu''e's aa'k.ła'ake's qanałwanke'n'e'. sa qa na'ane' me'txanaps kuyo'ukue's kts!elqan'me'txo ak!e'se's. k.laxa"nxo" qanlalte'lne: q!akpakitxo'alne: ta'xas n'ila'n'e kuyo'ukue neis k!u'pła ps kałqu'pa łs. ta'xas łats! na'xe am'a'k!e's.

80 K.łała'xa'm swo'timo ku'tet!-k!ayu'kua aa'kkk.luna'me's, qake'ine: "skanutawa'sane kuyo'ukue. sukuakate'ine: qa.κ'n'se itsxalqa.upc'lil kalqu'pa'l." qa witskpaya'mne kqa'wa'm kuyo'ukue. qakilamna'mne: "ta'xas hults!maxala'e's kalqu'pa'l knsakqa'nwitsnutc'hne. skl'a'qa'lqawa'se suyo'ukue's." ta'xas ts!maxa'mne neis layaaqaka'mke swo'timo. laxaxa'mne nei aa'ku'q!unu'k. tunuxa'xa'm. n'upxa'lne kalqu'pa'l sakqa'ane, a'a'ke n'uk!ue'ine kuyo'ukue sa'kqa'ane. n'upxak'sane kalqu'pa'l pal n'upc'lne. pal'ats!ma'xe kuyo'ukue neis k!u'plaps kalqu'pa'ls, nei ta'xa aa'ku'q!unuk yaqa'kqa'ake kalqu'pa'l naa ta'xa qala't.litztna'mne kalqu'pa'l.

Ta'xas husdq!apqalq!anuxwa'te kalqu'pa'l.

are the Kuyo'kwe. | They are many." Then Pine Cone was left, and they went on. || He looked and saw them. The enemies looked 60 terrible. | Then he started to run. The Kuyo'kwe arrived. |
The Kuyo'kwe saw that he was an old man, | and they said to one another: "Don't kill him, for he is old!" |

The Kuyo'kwe went along. Pinc Cone took off his blanket | and 65 tied it with rushes.1 He tied his blanket over them. He thought the Kuyo'kwe would think it was he. They saw that it was only | his blanket. They did not look at it. The grass was standing there with the blanket on. | When he was overtaken, he took his pointed arrow | and shot the Kuyo'kwe. The point did not pierce them. The Kuvo'kwe | thought that the old man would kill them. They looked 70 at the arrow | which he shot. Then they laughed at him, because Pine Cone's arrow had not pierced them. | He shot all his arrows, and the points did not pierce | the Kuyo'kwe. They made fun | of Pine Cone. and they thought they would not kill him. After playing with him, 75 they would go on | in the direction where Lamb Hat and his friend had gone. After arriving at their camp, they were going to fight with them. Now, Pine Cone had one arrow | left. There was no point to it. He shot at a Kuyo'kwe, pierced him, | and killed him. When the Kuyo'kwe saw that Pine Cone | had killed one of them, they spoke 80 among themselves. "Kill him, for Pine Cone has killed one of us!" He had no more arrows. He started to run. He thought the Kuyo'kwe could not kill him. Then he | had no more arrows. He thought: "I must die, for | I have no more arrows." They pursued him. He thought he would be shot. I Then he moved about his bow 85 on his back. He did this for the purpose | that when the Kuyo'kwe should shoot him, he would throw off the arrows. | When they reached him, they struck him and knocked him down. Then the Kuyo'kwe cried | because Pine Cone had killed one of them. Then they started back | to their own country.

When Lamb Hat and his friend came back to the town, | they said: 90 "A great number of Kuyo'kwe are pursuing us. | Maybe they have killed Pine Cone." They were waiting for | the Kuyo'kwe to come. They talked among themselves: "Now let us go! | Maybe the Kuyo'kwe do not come because they are fighting with Pine Cone." || Then 95 they went the way the two friends had come. | They arrived at the lake. They went out to it, | and they saw Pine Cone lying there and one Kuyo'kwe lying there. | Then it was known that Pine Cone had killed him. | The Kuyo'kwe had gone back when Pine Cone had killed one of them. || That lake where Pine Cone was lying is now | 100 called Pine Cone.² |

Now I have told about Pine Cone.

¹ A brittle grass with round stems growing in the lake, softer than reed and larger than rushes.

² Alkali Lake, about 20 miles south of Windermere.

[BULL, 59

73. The Kuyo'uk'E

Ho'ya's, hutsxalhaqalq!anuxwa'te yaaqal'oukta'pske telna'-mo's kuyo'ukue.

Qaakqa'nke k.luna'mne klo kunmi 'yit laxak.luna'mne yaaksaanu'qo qal'at.lettina'mne kanmi'yit nuqunaneya'mne n'uk!uqape'ine neis ko'o stilna'm u. n'aqtsakxo'une sil'aqalqats!ina'xe ta'xta kanmi 'yit.s tsxalts!ina'xe neis yaaqana'wislo nisnami'ske ta'xas ktsilmi'yit.s nanmo'kune neis ma'k!s. ktsxaltso'ukuat t!ina'mo's. qalwi'yne: "kutsxalhanmu'ko q!a'pe naas tsilmi'yitina'mo's. kanmi'yit wi'lna'm lo kutsilts!ina'm."

10 kutsiłts!/na·m." Ta'xas na'nma'niłka'ane' kuyo'ukue'. pał ke'e'n wanuytna'mo souk!ałuk"¿'łne: laxa'xe kuyo'uk"e yaaksaanu'qus. laxa'xe ne_is ko'o's. n'u'pxane: san'ınq!oku'pse:. qao'xa'xe: pał ke'e'n k!anaxa'ka tinawetske'kine: neis az'ket.lana'me's. n'u'pxane: pal 15 n'ok!ue'se: taha'mu's. qakila'mne: "hultina'xa'mnala'e's pal kusikt!kwa'ła'. hułqahak'yr'kse'yała'e's aa'krt.ła'e's pał ksrł'sqat!le'et." tinaxa''mne qa'nqa'me'k. nei tilna'mo n'u'pxane tkaxa''mse kuyo'ukues. pał n'u'pxane yunaqa'pse pał n'e'n se k!anaxa'ka's. n'on/he'. ta'xas ługła'nt/kse' łan'/se's aa'ga'ti-20 k.łukua. ¿'se's aa'qa'tuwumłat! ¿'se's. szł' ¿'tmase' itse'. nowo' ukune' t/lna'mu. n'anaxa''mne:. tkałk/n'e łouk!us. ta'xas xuna''nte:. ta'xas w.l.nq!ku'pse: ta'xas kuyo'ukue: qake'ine:: "pal selso'ukune taha'mu. klu'pxa kua kwala'es, klakuktsa'was." qaoxaxe tana'mo. aa'quluma'e s n'aqte'ite n'akaka'n e aa'kuwu-25 m·a'łqaps. tsukua'te n'a'se aa'kanq!a'wo ks. xunak!o'une neis aa'q!u'ta: ls neis yaakilw.lanq!oku'pske: ta'xas luquinku'pse: ta'xas n'oma'tsine kuyo'ukue qakila'mne: 'salso'ukune talna'mu. k!u'pxa kuit!kwała'e's. k!/łkuktsa'was. k!u'pxa kuhuwasnała'e's, k!e''tke'n ku.c'kinała'e's.'' ta'xas n'u'pxane' nei 30 t/lna'mu ktsema'k!/l·uqu'/nko·ps neis aa'q!u'ta·ls. qanalwanqkupke'n'e', pał q!a'pe' kuyo'ukue' k.ła'łous aa'kuqła''nt!e's. k!itma'seit neists kwanqku'pkin teha'mu. ta'xas n'oukilhoukuna'pse t!ina'mo's nei kuyo'ukue nupa'q!alala'nk!a'tek. nei t:lna'mu ne_ists k!u'pxa k!aqa'qanaps n'anmuqkup'noxunka'me k. 35 nutsznąku pekz merk. nejsts kanmu ku mark k taż nas ktsoż ku at t!ina'mo''s qaa'lo'qa'witske'n'e' aa'kinoqua'akups. nawetsnuqua'kupk!o'une. qao xak/ne aa k.la'm'e's ne a kinq!u'kups. neists klanaxa''mktse'k. nuts/nqkupek/me'k. n'u'pxane' qakiła'mne kuyo'ukue: "m/ti/xa'ki'ł. k/nłq!akpakitxo'ukui'ł." 40 qana'xe ne taha'mu. n'u'pxane ne syaaqana'mke. qana'se kuyo'ukue's pał ktamo'xo's nupxa'se yaaqana'mke ta'xta n'u'pxane pal nak!almukwa. e't.se. n'u'pxane me'ka ma kqaoxa'ke'n aa'kınuq!u'ko'ps pał łaqałoku'n'e pał sil'aqaqa'pse

73. The Kuyo'kwe

Now, I'll tell how an old woman killed all the | Kuyo'kwe. |
They were camping about. One day they camped at | Smoky
Place, as it is called. On the following day they moved on. || Only
one old woman remained on the village site. She was pounding
(bones). | Therefore she did not go. On the following day she was
going to leave | in the direction where the others had gone. Then at

(bones). | Therefore she did not go. On the following day she was going to leave | in the direction where the others had gone. Then at night she boiled | the bones. She was going to take the fat along. She thought: "I'll | boil all of them to-night. Early to-morrow morn-

ing I | shall start." |

10 Then the Kuyo'kwe followed the tracks of the people. It was winter | and good traveling. The Kuyo'kwe arrived at Smoky Place. When they arrived | at the village site, they saw a fire burning. They came there, and $\|$ the warriors looked into the tent. They saw $\|$ one 15old woman. They said to one another: "Let us go in. | We are cold. Let us stay here over night in her tent. | It is cold." They entered. They sat down. The old woman saw | the Kuyo'kwe enter. She saw that there were many | warriors. She was afraid. They took off their clothes, i their moccasins, their leggings, and their shirts, 20 and dried them. The old woman arose. | She went out and brought in fuel. She put it on the fire. | Then there was a great fire. The Kuyo'kwe said: | "The old woman is good. She knows that we are cold, and she makes a fire for us." | The old woman went there. She untied a parflèche and took out lard. || She took two sticks and 25 put | the fat on the fire. Then the fire blazed up. Then it melted. The Kuyo'kwe laughed, and said: "That is a good | old woman. She knows we are cold. She makes a fire for us. She sees | that we are hungry, and she prepares food for us." Then | the old woman saw 30 that the fat was really melted. | She just stirred it. All the Kuyo'kwe were without clothing. | They were drying it. The old woman moved it about, and then all the grease caught fire. | The Kuyo'kwe jumped back. When | the old woman saw what they were doing, she ran out quickly. | She started to run. She took the fat 35. of the bones that she was boiling. She did not know how to hold the light. She was holding a torch. She put it on her head to serve as a light. | When she ran out, she ran. | She noticed | that the Kuyo'kwe said: "Pursue her! Strike her on the head!" | The old 40 woman went out. She knew which way she was going. | The Kuyo'kwe went along. It was very dark. They saw which way she went. They began to know it, because she had a light. They knew that she had just | put a fire on her head. She did not take it off.

k!u'pṣa''s kuyo'ukue's yaaqana'mke'. tsukua'te' neis aa'kan45 q!u'kups. nas san'umu'k!se' qanalwat!mi'te' neis lu`qua'qumlasxu'n'e'. n'itq!ankikqa'ane'. ta'ṣas kuyo'ukue' kimite'iṣa neis
ta'na'mu's. ta'ṣas to'ṣua tsṣal'aṣa'nṣo'une'. nei kalnuku'pqa.
qa.u'pṣane' pa'k!a'ks ksal'oq!ua'lke'ns neis aa'kanq!u'kups. nas
kqanalwa't!mat.s aa'kanu'm'o'k!us. qalwi'yne' k!upsla'tiyi'l'an's
50 neis ta'na'mu's neis yaaqa'nmoṣu'ske' aa'kanq!u'kups. qanalwa't!aqu'mlasṣu'n'e'. qa.u'pṣane' neis ksan'u'm'o'k!s. ta'ṣas nei
kiyuna'qa kuyo'ukue' qanalwa't!aqa'nqum'lasṣu'n'e'. ta'ṣas
q!a'pe' kuwat!ma'te'k pal kuwat!nɔ'mo'k!. ta'ṣas q!a'pe' q!akpakitṣo'ume'k. ta'ṣas ta'na'mu laowo'ukune'. nulpa'lne' kuyo'u55 kue's neis u'me''s nal'ukua'ṣanmita'tse'. laqao'ṣa'ṣe' aa'kat.la'e's. lalo'use'; pal sal'o''kte'.

BUREAU OF AMERICAN ETHNOLOGY

Qalwi'yne: "ma kqa'e'n naso'ukue'n's kanxa'le. hults!ma'-mil ktsxal'e'kam." ta'xas ts!ma'xe neis yaaqana'weslonesname'ske: ta'xas laxa'xe: tinaxa''mne: aa'ket.la.e'se's xale'e's. 60 qake'lne: "lu'n'u. ts!e'na'n' ka'ke't.la. hun'o'kte: kuyo'ukue: naqa''ne: kqa'e'p. hentsxal'upe'lne: a'a'ke: yunaqa'pse: aa'k-lite't!e's. hentstsukua'te: yaake'iso'k. ma kenqa'e'n naso'u-kue'n. ta'xas hents!e'n'e: naso'ukue'n." ta'xas ts!ena'xe: nei netsta'hal. a:nkuwune'kit.s ta'xas tsxanatka'ane: nei telna'mu. 65 ta'xas q!a'pe: ts!enaxa'mne: k.laxa'xam pal pele'k!aks n'o'kte: nei netsta'hal neis yaakqa'e'ps, pal n'upe'lne: a'a'ke: yake'i-suks aa'k.le'et.s pal tsukua'te: ta'xas n'e'n'e: naso'ukue'n's nei netsta'hal.

Ta'xas husiq!a'pqaiq!anaxwa'te tiha'mu yaqai'o kuz'tke 70 kuyo'ukue's.

74. THE GREAT EPIDEMIC

Ho'ya's, hutsaqalpalne'ine nei pe'k!ak yaqaneke'tke:

Qa'kit.łaquwu'mne: n'u'k!\unisa'nik.luna'mne: n'\u00f6pina'mne: n'\u00f6vunukna'mne: taxas kqaatsa'mne: tuq!tsqa'kit'amna'mne: q!a'pe: ktuna'xa pał sa'nik.ło'une: k.łaxa'xa'm k!\u00f6k!\u00f6k.lo'u'nam tuq!tsqakiła'mnam pał q!a'pe: qakuwu'mne: taxas nei k!\u00f6'-k!k.lo: łaqa'u'pxaka'ane: ta'xas q!a'pe: n'upna'mne: n'\u00f6vk!\u00f6qape'ine: naqsanmi:'yit.s, ta'xas xatkinu'kune: nei k!\u00f6vk!\u00f6qa'-pe; n'\u00f6'ne: t\u00f6'tqa't! nei k!\u00f6vk!\u00f6qa'pe: qalwi'yne: "ho'ya's hule'ikqa'ts na a'm'\u00f6'k, na'qa'nqaq\u00f6: qa'ki'lha'qwo'm ku'sil'\u00fa-ta'xas ts!\u00f6naqu'he: yaqso'm\u00f6'le's. s\u00f6kqa'ts\u00f6mu'ne: ts!\u00f6naqu'he: ta'xas n'\u00f6'n'e: kiyapt!\u00fakilha'qa ktuna'xa. laxa'qo'l ma n'\u00faqa'akilha-quwu'm'e's at lunam\u00f6'sine: n\u00f6''nqa'ts at ts\u00f6n'au'hula'me's. 15 ks\u00f6\u00f6'tikna'e'ts. no:'\u00f4qa'ts qa.uk\una'kanaat wunmana'mu's at la'ts!\u00f6naqu'he: k.la'xa'm ma n'\u00faqa'hak.luna'me's n\u00f6''nqa'ts at

Therefore | the Kuyo'kwe knew where she went. She had taken the fire. || There was a cliff, and she threw the torch down and jumped 45 aside. | She lay down. Then the Kuyo'kwe | followed the old woman. Now the fastest runner had almost overtaken her. | He did not see that she had taken off the torch quickly, | and that she had just thrown it over the cliff. They thought it was still || the old woman. 50 When the fire was falling, he just | jumped down. He did not know that there was a cliff. Then the | many Kuyo'kwe jumped down. | All went down over the high bank. Then they were all | killed. The old woman got up again. She heard the Kuyo'kwe || below groaning. 55 She went back to her tent. | There was nobody there. She had killed them all. |

She thought: "My son is not a chief. I'll go to him. | He shall come." Then she started. She traveled the way they had gone. | Then she arrived, and entered the tent of her son. || She said to him: 60 "Go on; go to my tent. I killed all the Kuyo'kwe. | Some of them are not dead. Kill them. Much is their property. | Take some good clothing. You are not a chief. | Then you will be a chief." Then the youth started. | After a while the old woman told about what had happened. || Then all started. When they got there, the 65 youth had already killed | all those who were not dead. He had killed them and | taken their property. Then the youth became | a chief. | Now, I have told how the old woman killed all the || Kuyo'kwe. | 70

74. THE GREAT EPIDEMIC

Well, I'll tell a story of what happened long ago.

The people were living there, and at once they had an epidemic. They died. All died. Then they went about. They told one another the news. | Among all the Kutenai there was sickness. They arrived at one town, | and told the news to one another. It was 5 everywhere the same. At one town they did not see anybody. They were all dead. | Only one person was left. One day the one that was left was cured. He was a man. He was alone. He thought: "Well, | let me go around this world to see if there is any place where there is any one. If there is no one left, | I won't see it 10 again. There is nobody. Nobody ever comes on a visit." Then! he started in his canoe. He went about in it. He started in his canoe, and | came to the last camp of the Kutenai. When he arrived by the water where the people used to be, | there was nobody; and when he went about, he saw only dead ones, | no signs (of a living person). He knew that nobody was left. | There were no signs (of 15 life). After the one who was alive had left, not having seen anything, | he went along in his canoe. He arrived where there had been

BOYZ]

[BULL. 59

tsın upna'mu's at sık.lo'use neis a 'kık.luna'me's at lats!/na'xe: ta'xas s/daqa'so'xalhaqa'pse ktuna'xa's kqa'atse ne_is a_a'k₂k.luna'me's. q!a'pe''s sak.l:nmoxuna'kse' up'na'mu's' 20 ne_is a'qła''s a_a'kt.lana'me's. ne_ists k.la't_iyiłkqa'_atske'. k!u'pxa q!a'pe's pał szłało'use aqłsma'kinzk!s. at n'upsła'tiyil'ila'n'e: qałwi'yne: "kułstrok!"qa'pe na a'm'ak, ok!"qanats xa'altsins at pał n'u'pse: " qous k.ła'xam kiyapt!a ki łhaquwu'm'e's, ta'xas ke'ikqa'ts. n'u'pxane nah'kse aqlsma'kinkls, pal qani-25 t.ła'ase: neis yaqaha'k.ło'uske: upina'mo's. a:n'dqa'haks qous qa'hakka'ase: ko'o's. n'u'pxane: naqa'n'a's: naqanqa'lsa's me'ksa'n n'u'pxane: nale'kse: kuwe'le:ks a:nktsa'lekina'nas. qa.u'pxane naqanqa'lsa's. n'u'pxane k.la'qaps kxa'tkino ks. la:ts!:naqu'ine: qalwi'yne: "nei hulqana'qo'l neis at ma kqanalk.lu'-30 ne's na ha'kilhaqa'ake'; na'pit na'qa te'tqa't! na'qanhoqna'me·k." ta'xas ts!:naqu'ine: qa'naqu'ine: n'u'pxane: qous na'atas n'a'se· në'pqo. skik!'¿'kse· ma'xa.'s. qalwi'yne:: "hults!:na'mil kutsme'txa. hun'e'lwa kutsxa'l'e'k. kuts!etma'sit. pal kusel'u'pxa k.ła'quwo'm honul'¿tma'se't. ta'xas kutsła.¿'ts!ki'l nei 35 kou'pṣale'k!e'n aqlsma'kinek!. lenqa'apskilhaqa'ane te'tqa't! k.łu'wa's ne_i pa'łke_i ktsxa'l'e'k." ta'xas ts!:na'xe'. łaxa'xe' qoʻus yaqaha'wasa qa'pske nö'pqo's. laxa'xe n'u'pxa pal qa.¿'n·se· nö'pqo·'s pał n'¿'n·se· pa'łke¡s. n'u'pẋane· nao·'k!ue·'s n'e'n se kuwe'lqa ps, nao 'k !ue 's n'e'n se na u'te 's qalwi'y-40 ne': "kuszłsuk": 'łq!o'k kuu'pxa aqłsma'kinzk!. ke'e'n pa'łkei hułtso'ukuat ktsxa'l'e'n katzha'mu." ta'xas qona'xe'. tsznkz'n'e' neis na.u'te's. tsxa'ne nei na.u'te. qakt'ine ma'e's "ka'ma, hon'u'pxane: te'tqa:t!.'' tseikata'pse: ma''e's. n'u'pxane: nei pa'łke, pał tsemak!k/kse sw/n'es. n'u'pxane t/tqat!s pał 45 szłtsukua't.se swz'n'e's. ta'xas n'ila'n'e ne, pa'lke, a'a'ke ne, na.u'te', a'a'ke' ne_i nztsta'hał, o'k!uquna k!u'pxa q!a'pe's ktuna'xa's ke'e'ps. ne''sts k!u'pxana'm sla qa'qa'pse. k!o'ukui'l'ilaxo''na'm. qake'ine ne kuwz'lqa pa'lke: "maats tsukua'ten' na kaa'qa'tt, n'upski tsa quna'ne: 'sinittsukua'to: 50 hentsxal'e'ne kanul'a'qana. taxta'' we'lqa na kaa'qa'lt tsxal'e'n e' telnamu''ne's. ta'xa's hentsxal'etke'n e' aa'qa'ltine's." ta'xa's nei natsta'hal n'a'n'se tahamu''e's neis kuwa'lpqa'ps pa'łkei's. qawunek't.se qake'ine nei pa'łkei: "ta'xa's hun'u'pxane n'ı'n'e kuwı'lqa na.u'te na kaa''qalt ta'xas le'e'n' 55 telnamu''ne's, ta'xas tsxalso'ukse kents!:tke'nme'l aa'qa'lt!e's. ta'xas tsemak!e'ise' a_a 'kuła'k!e's.'' ta'xas nei nztsta'hał ts $_u k^u a' te'$ ne_is na.u'te's n'ı'n se tahamu''e's. ta'xas qake'ıkal'atako'ume'k ktuna'xa.

Ta'xas huslq!a'pqałne'ine yaqaneki'tke nei pi'k!ak ta'xas.

a town. He went out, | and there were only dead ones. There was nobody in the town. | He started to go back. Then he came to the last place where Kutenai lived. He went | to the town, and dead bodies were all piled up | inside the tents. He always went about, and 20 he knew | that all the people were gone. He was crying as he went along. | He thought: "I am the only one left in this country, for the dogs | also are dead." When he came to the farthest village, | he went about, and he saw some footprints of people. | They had a tent. 25 There were no dead bodies. Farther away there | was the village site. He knew there must be two or three (alive). | He even saw footprints—large ones and smaller ones. | He did not know if there were three. He knew some one was saved. He went on in his canoe, | and thought: "I'll paddle that way. Those who lived here used to go that way. | If it is a man, he might have moved." | Then he 30 started in his canoe. He went along in his canoe, and saw above there | two black bears eating berries. He thought: "I'll go | and shoot them. If I shoot them, I'll eat them. I'll dry them. Then I'll | see if any one is left. After I have dried the meat, | I'll look for 35 them. I have seen footprints of people. They might be hungry men or women. They shall eat." Then he started, and went there where the bears were. He arrived, and saw | that they were not bears, but women. He saw one older one, | and the other one a girl. He thought: | "I am glad to see people. Let me take that woman | 40 to be my wife." Then he went and took hold of | the girl. The girl spoke, and said to her mother: "Mother, | I see a man." Her mother looked. The woman saw | that her daughter was telling the truth. She saw a man | taking her daughter. Then the woman and | the girl 45 and the youth cried, because they saw that all | the Kutenai were dead. When they saw each other, they all cried together. The older woman said: "Don't | take my daughter. She is still small. Take me. | You shall be my husband. Later on, when this my 50 daughter is large, | she shall be your wife. Then you shall have children." | Then the youth married the older woman. | It was not long before the woman said: "Now | I see that my daughter is grown up. Now she may be | your wife. It is good if you have children. | 55 Her body is strong now." Then the youth took | the girl for his wife. Then the | Kutenai increased from these. |

Now I have told what happened long ago. Enough. ||

75

75. THE GIANT

Qaak.luna'mne: n'o'kue'ine netsta'hal n'et!xana'pse e'ika's. ta'xas tana'mu nul'a'qana at n'ala'n'e' ke'eps a'qa'lt!e's. k!o'kunmi'yit.s łahutsa'xe e'ika neis a kek.luna'me's tselmiyetna'mu's. qous ahan'tqa'haks qa'ntt.lanamt'sine. qao'xa'xe. 65 n'u'pxane nul'a'qana's tcha'mu's pal n'c'n se. qalwi'yne: "hulq!u"mne: ta'xta kanmi'yt.s kutsxa'l'ik na nul'a'qana taha'mu.'' ta'xas q!u'mne'ine: wa'ham's n'ala'n'e nei tchamukuc'ste'k. kul'e'ila n'ukunuxa''mne nei tcha'mu ktsxał''/łko'. n'u'pxane sk/k.leits qa'la's. tseika'te pał n''/n'se 70 e'ıka''s. qakı'he nul aqana''e's: "tseıka'te'n' e'ıka skık.le'ıtsıne kakat lanala 'e s.' n'ukunoxa 'mne ne i nul'a qana. tsukua'te aa'ktsama'l'e's, lu'lama''ne' e'ika''s, nalqla'nqalo'ukune'. qakiya'mne: "qa'psins tahamuk"e'ste k ksasok"e'lq!o k. ma ksa'kił'e''ła?'' qunaxam'sine. sakqa'pse e'ika's pał stł'opt'lne. Ta'xas husiq!apqaipaineme'ine yaqa qa na'ake teinamuku'ste'k neis pe'k!a'ks.

76. THE GIANT

Ho'ya's hutsxaltsxa'n'e yaaqaqana'ake k!o'k!ue pɛk!a'-knɛk! nɛtsta'halq!lik!a'mal n'enqa'pte'k e'ika's.

Qa'k.luna'mne n'uk!ue'ine nztsta'halq!lik!a'mal ts!znal'ana'xe: ta'xa na nztsta'halq!lik!a'mal n'z'ne kqasts!o'm-5 qa'qa k!a'anam. (hoqua.u'pxane kaas naqa'k.le k.) n'ok!ue'ise k!/wa n/yaps. n'um/tse'ite'. kul'um/tse't nowa'sine'. qalwi'yne: "hul'it;ma'se't tsxalszl'ztxama'qa. hulaha'lxo' kanmi'yit.s pał kwułe'it xama kts!ane'ke neis hułqa.eitima'set." ta'xas n'etke'n'e aa'kowasklo'we's ta'xas n'etklane'he neis 10 a_a'ku'ła·ks at q!ayakı'n·e·. ta'xas to'xua q!a'pe·'s tsxalq!a yakı'n'e' neis aa'kowask!o'we's n'as qaakqa'pse' aa'ku'laks paqts!nana'se:. qa.u'pxane: kaas naaqakeikal:u'xo's. pal ko'wa's qalwi'yne: "hule'e'k." xunak/n'e' neis aa'ku'laks. ku'kups ta'xas n'e'kine: sukuaxane'ise at qaqa'laxne'ise 15 ne₁s k!/łwa. qałwi'yne: "qa'psin ke'e'n ksd'a'qałsukua'xane:." qak.ła't_iyiłtse_ika'te', qa.u'pxane' ka_as na_aqake_ikału'xo''s. ta'xas qa'hanqa'mek tslemiye't.se. nas qaakilese'ise, ta'xas tseika'te: n'u'pxane: neis aa'kula'k!e's qa'sil'o'use: tseika'te', n'u'pxane aa'ktsa'maals pal n'ula'se ta'xas 20 n'u'pxane pal n'a'nse a kula'k!e's neis ma ksukua'xane's. qałwi'yne: "ho'ya's a'a'ke hułaqa'siłu'q'a kaa'ku'łak." a''ke łaga'sił u'qune. xunakı'n e ku'kupsts n'ı'kıne. n'u'pxane pa·ł sukuaxane'ise·. ta'xas tszmneixa'ame·k. tsxa'kil·uk!moxa'me'k aa'kuła'k!e's. mz'ka ke''e'k nukuma'nxa'me'k. 25 ta'xas ła'ktq!o'xumasa'q!ane ta'xas wunekt't.se: ktsłmi'yt

75. THE GIANT

There was a town. All the youths were eaten by a giant. | Then 60 an old woman and her husband cried, for their children were dead. | Every day the giant went to that town at night. | There, at the far end, was a tent. He went there, | and he saw an old man and an old woman. He thought: | "I'll sleep, and in the morning I'll eat the old 65 man and | the old woman." Then he slept. Early in the morning the old couple cried. | While crying, the old woman arose. She was about to start a fire, | when she saw some one sleeping. She looked at him. It was | the giant. She told her husband: "Look at the giant sleeping || in our tent!" The husband arose, took | his knife, 70 and cut off the giant's head. He shouted. | The people said: "Why are the old couple glad? | They were crying." They went there, and the giant was lying there. They had killed him. |

Now I have told what the old couple did | long ago. |

76. THE GIANT'

Well, I'll tell you what happened to a newly married man | among the people of olden times who became a giant. |

There was a town. There was a newly married youth. He went hunting. | The newly married youth was a skillful | hunter. (I do not 5 know his name.) He killed | a mountain sheep. He skinned it. After skinning it, he felt hungry. | He thought: "I will dry some of it, so that it may be light. | I will carry it to-morrow. It is far, and it would be heavy if I should not dry it." | Then he made a place to dry it. He began to cut up | the meat, and hung it up. He was 10 about to hang almost all | on his drying frame. There were two thin pieces of meat | lying there. He did not know where they fell off from. | He was hungry. He thought: "I'll eat it." He put the meat on the fire; | and when it was done, he ate. It tasted good. What he had killed did not taste that way. He thought: "What 15 may it be, that it tastes so good?" | He looked at it for some time, but he did not see where it had come from. | Then he sat down. When it was dark, he felt a pain here. | He looked, and he saw that his own flesh was missing. | He looked at it, and he saw that a knife had done it. Then | he knew that it was his own flesh that tasted 20 good. He thought: "Well, I'll cut off another piece of my flesh." He cut it off, put it on the fire, and when it was done he ate it Then he saw | that it tasted good. He wanted some more. He began to cook | his flesh on the fire, and, although he had eaten, he wanted. some more. Then there was no more flesh on his legs. It was late 25

[BULL. 59

sakił'e'kine a 'kuła'kle's. ta'xas kanmiye't.se sakel'e'kine. nuk_uma'nxa'me'k. qatal'aqa.e'k_ine'. ta'xas pe'k!aks a'a'ke sał awałkwaya t. se. ta zas q!a pe s a kuła k!e s n'a kine q!a'piłkits!xa'me'k. ta'xas tsan ma'k!e's n'anqapta'kse'. aa'ka-30 qł/ł'e's n'/kine. ts/n sqapinił ałaxapa/kin o'k!uqunaats wałuna'k!e's n'e'kine'. q!a'peis n'e'kine' aa'kuła'k!e's. tsen qaaqapki·kwu'mne· aa'quqt!e'e's me'ksa'n snaxuna'kse· aa'k.luma'e's. słagaga'pse kga'e'k a 'quqt!e'e's a 'kwu'm'e's. tsa sgapg!ano'ukmała'kine. n'e'nse kqa'e'k ałqa's'e's aa'kenułma'k!e's; 35 o'k!uquna łałtq!oxumaqa'ane aa'k.ła'mała'k!e's. sanqa'me'k. ta'xas łaqatseika'te neis aa'ku'ła ks ne'łyaps. ta'xas qalsa nmiye't.se k.laqa'wa'm ne_is a_a'kik.luna'me's. ta'xas n'ok!ue'ise ta't!e's ts!\nal'\ats!k.la'pse neis yaaqanale'ike ts!\na'nuqkanxuna'pse. qana'xe. n'u'pxane pad qaakil'dwa'se 40 ne'lyaps tsa''e's. pa'l ts!:nanoke'it.se' qous u'me''s. qa'na'xe' salqa noxunu'kse:. n'u'pxane: aa'kanq!o'kups. pa'l sawasaqa'pse: tsa''e's pał qaë'pse'. qałwi'yne' na'qanya'qak ksal'a'qal'aqats!/nam. qaoxa'xe s/tsxa'se. qak/kse: "hya' ma kutsla'ke ł ka'tat. kutsxal'aymite'tamu." n'u'pxane palqos naqana'k-45 se. k!aaqaqa'pqaps pa'l ts/n''/nqapta'kse mak!/se's. qak/'lne': "kaa kin'aqa'qana ki'nsil'aqaqa'pqa." qak.la'pse: "holaqa.i'n'e aqlsma'kınık!. ho'n'ınqa'pte'k e'ıka. maats qoukua'n' ma ku tsła'k. łe s.'' ta' xas ła xa' xe tsznkna' pse . qałwi' yne pa ł tsın ke'e'ns ma'k!e's. k.lqatsma'k!qa. tsın'kina'pse'n'ıpla'se', 50 a'a'ke n'ıkına'pse kanmi'yet.s aa'kın'ok!ue'ise tsa''e's. qakı'kse: "hutsxalts!!na'xe: na'pe't holaqa'wamts hutsxał'u'pine'.'' ta'xas ts!:na'xe nei netsta'ha'ł, a'a'ke łaxa'xe a'a'ke n'upla'pse. kanmi'yit.s ne_is k!ukqa'pe's tsa''e's. ts!/na'se' qake'ine' nei n/tsta'hałna'na: "ta'xas a'a'ke' 55 hutsxal'u'pine ma kutsla'kiil alka'ta't pal ksil'o'ukunuuk a'a'ke' hutsxal'ö'pine'.'' qous qana'xe' nei nztsta'halna'na. tsaquna'ne'. qaakil'u'pxane' nöpe'k!a's qak.la'pse': "ts!:name'le'n'. ho'paks ktse'kam ta'tine's saosa qa'ane'. n'oukwa'xane' ałtatine'smi-ł. n'enqa'pte-k e'ika-'s." ta'xas qaaki-lsu'kuiltsxa-60 nata'pse: ne_is nöpe'k!a·s ne_i netsta'hałna'na ya_aqa·l'enqaptake'ske e'ika 's a'a'ke neis yaaqa l'upe'lske neis k.laxa'ke ks. tsxanata'pse tsxalyaaqaqa'na'ake ta'xas ts!na'xe laxa'xe. n'u'pxane saosa qa'pse neis ta'tles n'ese kate'ise klumnaqaqa'pse. qak.la'pse: "ka'tsa ma kutsla'k.le's. hun'a-65 qa'pte·k e'ika. hutsxal'ıkını'sine·.'' ta'xas n'ıtkı'n·e· neis ma yaaqak.la'pske nöpe'k!a's. ta'xas selqa'tal'upla'pse. łats!/na'xe. ta'xas n'u'pxane. miti yaxna'pse. łałaxa'xe. aa'kik.luna'me's nei natsta'halna'na. qake'ine: "skanuta'pine e'ika. pa'ł n'enqa'pte'k nei ka'ta't e'ika's. pa'ł n'e't!xane 70 neis ma ktsl/na's ałkata'tmił. qatał'tlxana'pine. stats!-

at night, | and he was still eating his flesh. Then in the morning he was still eating. | He wanted more. He could not stop eating. It was | evening again, and he had eaten all his flesh. | He had gnawed it off, and only bones remained. | He ate his own eyes, and only the 30 orbits remained. | He even ate his own tongue. He ate his whole body. Only his intestines remained lying there. His intestines remained, and his throat. | It was that way; he did not eat his intestines and his stomach. | Only his bones remained; and he did not eat his brains and his marrow, | but there was no more flesh on his 35 skull. He was sitting down. Then he would not look any more at the mountain sheep. | Three days passed, and he did not return to his town. Then one of his elder brothers went to look for him. He followed his tracks. He went along, and saw where his younger brother had killed | the mountain sheep. He could see his tracks 40 below. He went along. | There was a creek. He saw a fire. | His younger brother was there. He was not dead. He thought: "Maybe his leg is broken, | and therefore he does not go home." He went there and spoke to him. He said: 'Oh, I love | my elder brother! I'll keep myself alive for two days with him." (The elder brother) saw him sitting there. | He looked strange. Only his bones remained. 45 He said to him: | "What did you do, that you look like this?" He was told: "I am no more | a human being. I have become a giant. Don't come near me! | I love you." Then (the elder brother) went there. He was taken hold of. He thought: | "There are only bones. He is not strong." The giant took hold of him and killed him | and ate him. On the following day his next younger brother | 50 said: "I'll go. If I do not come back, I shall have died." | Then the youth started. He also arrived, | and he also was killed. On the following day the remaining one | started. The boy said: "I also | may die. I love my elder brothers. They are all dead now, | 55 so I will die, too." The youth went on. | He was small. He saw a manitou. He was told: | "Go there! Your eldest brother who went out first is there. He ate all | your elder brothers. He became a giant." Then the youth was told plainly | by the manitou that 60 (his elder brother) | had been changed into a giant, and how he had killed the two who went there. | He was told what to do. Then he started. He arrived, | and saw his elder brother. He looked terrible. He was pitiable. He said: "My younger brother, I love you. | I have become a giant. I'll eat you." Then (the boy) did | 65 what the manitou had told him, and he could not kill him. | (The boy) went back. He saw that (the giant) followed him. The boy arrived | at the town. He said: "A giant pursues me. | My brother has become a giant. He | ate my elder brothers who went there. 70

kanuta'pine'.'' ta'xas nuqunaneya'mne'. neis t/mamu'e's "hutsxale'ika qaosa qa'pse. qake'ine nei pałkeina'na: qak.la'pse qaosa qa'ane. ma kutsla'kel kanul'a'qana." neis netsta'halna'nas: "laqa.e'n'e nei at ma ktsla'k.le's 75 n'eseikate' ine: ' qaqalwi'yne ne pa'lke ta'xas nuqunaneya'mne: qaosa qa'ane ne pa'lke. qalwi'yne: "ma ktsla'k.ła·p." qawunek:'t.se· nułpa'łne· ne¡s łaya·qaka'ske· ne¡s netsta'hałna'na's qakiyame'sine: "Hyâ', ma kutsla'kil kanxałena'na kutsxa'l'e'k; ma kutsła'kił kat/łna'muts kutsxa'l'e'k." 80 ta'xas n'u'pxane la ska'se. n'u'pxane pa l'a'se kate'ise. pa l łaqa. c'nse aqłsma'k inck!s. qałwi'yne: "maats huł'o'nił pał ke'e'n kanul'a'qana.'' ta'xas qa'wanxa''mne'. ta'xas wa'se'. qakı'lne: "kanul'a'qana, ma kutsla'k.le's. qa'pse'n kınsılaqaqa'pqa?" qake'ine ne tetqat! ne e'ika: "hulaqa.e'n e 85 aqlsma'kınık!." ta'xas lawa'se neis aa'kit.la'e's. n'ısakenu'se. qak.la'pse: "ts!kakı'ne'n' kanxa'le:." ta'xas namatı'ktse', naquwiltse'ite: tsemak!wetske'n:e: qake'ine: nei e'ika: "ma kutsla'ki ł kanyałna nats kutsya lek." ta yas pa ł ktsemak w ltskin ne_is kaq^uw'ltse_it. ta'xas nuts_inuq!^ukın'lne: n'u'pxane ne_i 90 pa'łk'e, pa'ł pe'k!a'ks tsxalsd'upe'lse'. qake'lne': "haq!ama'l'atskakı'n'e', hutsxalts!:nal':ktoqo'une'. saha'nse' aa'q!u'le''s. taxta'a huława'łke'n hentsxal'e'kine'.'' ta'xas łapeske'n'e'. ts!/na'xe ne pa'łke. kuł'/ktu'qo nuts/nqkupek/me'k ne yaqanału'n isname'ske. ta'xas wune ke't.se. łaqawa'se. telna-95 mu"e's ne_i e'_ika ta'xas łaanaxa''mne'. tse_ika'te' t*i*-lamu''e's. n'u'pxane pał szł'a qane tsa pse ta'xas tskna xe neis ya qanaw:słun:snam:/ske. qa:na'xe. nei kiyuna'da aqłsma'kin:k!. qakila'mne: "kaas kul'a qakna'lats kul'upilna'la?" qakiya'mne: "ho'yas huł'akok" na'ła hounaqa'n tsxal'upina'ła." qa-100 han mo'k! une: ta'xa nei u'me' skikq!anu'kune'. n'oulu'ne skikq!ano'kune', n'oulu'ne', ta'xas ne a'kin'u'muk!. n'itk!ame'ihe: ta'xas qa'hawitsqa'mek k!o'k!ue ti'tqa't!. qake'ine:: "hutsxa·lwat!mit/k/ne' e'ika. tsxal'upu'qune' qous aa'q!a'n·o·ks." ta'xas na aaqa't!a·k qa·haqawu'mne: ta'xas 105 n'upxa'he ska'xe ne e'ika. ta'xas aaqa't!aks qaska'xe nułpałn/łne. pał sła'ti viłtsxa'ne. qake'ine: "hułaxa'anxone'ske'ł q!a'pe' hutsxalekiniske'he'. sukua'xnenala'pine' ałka'tsa ku'e'k." ta'xas ne_i k_iyuna'qa a_a'qłsma'k_in_ik! n'o_un'the ne_is k!aqa'kiks ktsxal'o_uka'xana'ps. qalwiyne-110 na'mne ktsousan'u'xon'a'quwum. qake'ine ne ktsxal'u'pil: "maats wanxa"mki l taxta hoqua tal'u'pil, ta'xas hontsousan·uˈxounqapk/łne·.' ta/xas qaqa'nal·aqawanxa'mna/mne·. ta'xas wa'xe e'ikai neis aaken ""muk!s aaq!a'saks qanama-

He could not eat me. | Now he is pursuing me." Then they moved away. The giant's wife | staid behind. The young woman said: "I want | to stay. I love my husband." The youth said to her: | "He is no longer the one who used to love you. | He is terrible." The 75 woman did not want to leave. | Then they moved away. The woman staid behind. She thought: "He loves me." | It was not long before she heard him coming along | the way the boy had come-Some one said: "Oh, I love my little son! | I'll eat him. I love my wife. I'll eat her." | Then she saw him coming. She saw that he 80 looked terrible. | He was no longer a human being. She thought: "Don't let me be afraid; | he is my husband." Then she did not move, and he arrived. | She said to him: "My husband, I love you. What | makes you like this?" That man the giant said: "I am no longer | a human being." He arrived at his tent. He sat down. | He 85 said to her: "Give me my son!" She gave him to (her husband), | who made him dance. He held him tightly. The giant said: "I love | my little son. I'll eat him." He held him tightly | and made him dance. He made him defecate. Now the woman knew | that he 90 was about to kill him. She said to him: "Give him to me for a little while. | I'll go and wash him. His excrement is bad. | Then when I bring him back you may eat him." He let him go. | The woman started. After she had washed him, she ran away | where the people had gone. After some time, when his wife did not arrive, | the giant went 95 out. He looked for his wife. | He knew that she had deceived him. Then he started | the way they had gone. The many people were go-. ing along. | They said: "What shall we do with him? How shall we kill him?" | They said: "Let us try (and see) if we can kill him." | There was a cliff; and below it was a lake, a deep | lake. It was deep. 100 Then they dug a hole in the cliff, | and one man staid there. He said: | "I'll kick down the giant. He will be drowned in the deep lake." Then the people staid a little ways off. | The giant was seen coming 105 along. A little ways off he was heard coming. | He was talking. He said: "When I | overtake you, I'll eat all of you. My brother whom I ate tasted good to me." | Then the many people | were afraid when he said that he would eat all of them. They thought | of 110 running away. The one who was about to kill him said: | "Don't move! If I can not kill him, then you may run away." | Then nobody moved. | Then the giant arrived. The trail was close to | the

na'mne: łak!/nta: qanamana'mne: qa:hank!am/ne: yaaqa'115 haosa qa'ake' nei ktsxal'u'pil. ta'xas wa'xe e'ika. qana'qkupql/kxa'lne: e'ika. neis k!u'pxa e'ika p/k!a:ks pal tsxals/ts!qaql/kxa'lne:, qalwi'yne: ktsxal'a'tskalsaq!k/nka:. qawouku/nka'ane: nuln/nmoxu'ne: pal kuw/t!n/m:o'k!. qous o'me's
qawoxalxunaqu'ne: o'k!uquna ts/n k!/nqapta'ke's ma'k!e's qa120 talha'qne:. n'o'k!unil/ktsinoqu'n:e:. ta'xas tseikat/lne:. wune:k/t.se laqa.upxa'lne: pal s/l'upel/lne: e'ika:.

Ta'xas huszłq!apqałpałnemz'ine k!u'k!^ue pzk!a'kinzk! yaaqal'znqapte'ike e'ika's.

77. THE MOTHER-IN-LAW TABOO

Neis pr'k!a ks aqlsma'kinck! at nahu'kpine la'mne. nawas-pa'ltimo at qa'talt!aqta la'mne. at qa'talsukuiltseikata'mne aa'kaq lne'e's. n'u'pxana'm nawaspa'ltimo at n'rsn'k!ateyxona'mne. qa'la qa'ahu'kpini la nawaspa'l'e's at n'upxalr'sine k.lqatsla'ke lawaspa'l'e's. qa'la tsema'k!il'ahu'kpini lawaspa'l'e's. ksd'a'qal'ahu'kpini lat k.lqa'sa 'nilwi'ynaat at k.lqa.r'lki lawaspa'l'e's qa'la qa.ahu'kpini lawaspa'l'e's at n'upxalr'sine at k.l'upsa'l'e's qa'la qa.ahu'kpini lawaspa'l'e's at n'upxalr'sine at k.l'upsa'tiyilsa nilwi'ynaat at k.lupsla'tiyilqa.o'nil ktsxal'-10 r'lki lawaspa'l'e's. nasts qaqa'pse kuwr'tske'n neis pr'k!a ksaqlsma'kinik!. nas ta'xas q!akpa'me'k ma yaqaqa'pske k!e'tke'ns al'ats!mr'l'e's nula'se'; neis k!u'pxa kamnu'qlo's aqlsma'kinrk!s at ya'qakna'mske nawaspa'ltimo's sla'qa'qa'pse k.laqa'ahu'kpine'lam nawaspa'ltimo.

Pierre Andrew: yaaqa'osa qa'ake.

edge of the cliff. There staid || the one who was going to kill him. 115 Then the giant arrived. | He was kicked hard. When he saw that he was about to be kicked, | he tried to take hold of the leg, but he missed it. | He began to fall. The cliff was high. At the bottom | he fell into the water; and because only his bones remained, || he could not 120 swim, and sank at once. They looked for him a long time, | but he was not seen again. Thus the giant was killed. |

Now I have told you how a person long ago | became quickly a giant. |

77. THE MOTHER-IN-LAW TABOO

Long ago the people used to be ashamed of each other. | Mother-in-law and son-in-law could not talk to each other. They could not look | at their faces. When mother-in-law and son-in-law met, they were afraid of each other. | Those who were not ashamed of the mother-in-law were known || not to love her. Whoever was much 5 ashamed of | his mother-in-law was known to love her very much. |

The reason why he is ashamed is that then his mother-in-law will never get angry at him and never scold him. | Whoever is not ashamed of his mother-in-law is known | to be always angry at her, and never afraid to scold || his mother-in-law. The people held it this 10 way in olden times. | Now they forget how their grandparents used to do, | because they met white people. | This is the way the mother-in-law and son-in-law did, | and why they are not ashamed of each other any more. |

III. ABSTRACTS AND COMPARATIVE NOTES

The folk tales of the Kutenai show intimate relations to the tales of the tribes of the plateaus, as well as to those of the plains east of the mountains. A considerable number of tales are common to the Kutenai and the neighboring Salish tribes, particularly the Okanagon. There are also a considerable number of identical tales found among the Kutenai and the Blackfeet.

It seems that the series of Transformer tales centering around Nałmu'qtse and Ya.ukue'ika'm are peculiar to the Kutenai, although the tale of the origin of arrows is also known to the Okanagon. These tales are quite distinct from the Transformer tales of the Shuswap and Thompson Indians, and also from the tales of Old One as found among the Blackfoot. In 1891 I was told that when human beings were first created, they arose before they were quite finished, and danced until they fell down dead. Then human beings were created who became the ancestors of the Indians.

So far as the incomplete material allows us to judge, one of the most characteristic traits of Kutenai folk tales is the systematic development of animal society. Frog is the old grandmother of Muskrat, the Chipmunks, and Doe. Her brother, Owl, is hostile to her grandchildren. The fish K !! 'k !o m is the grandfather of Doe, but his relationship to Frog is not stated. The Chipmunks are the wives of Fisher. Chicken Hawk's wife is Grouse. Coyote's wife is Dog. Their children are Misqolo'wum and Q!ota'ptsek!. Coyotes' brothers are Moose and Kingfisher. The only animal that is married to various people is Doc, but it is not certain whether the same Doe is meant every time. She is the wife of White Stone. Their child is Ya.uk^ue'_ika'm. Ya.uk^ue'_ika'm's brother is the father of Duck. The Doe is also married to Wolf, and at another place to Lynx. and Doe have two sons, who are Sun and Moon. The other animals do not seem to be related to this group, but live in the same village, and are either friends or enemies.

It is one of the characteristic traits of Kutenai and Okanagon mythology that the tales are welded together into connected groups. This tendency is not as marked as it is among the Navaho and probably also the Ute tribes, but it sets off the Kutenai tales clearly from the disconnected tales of the Shuswap and Thompson Indians.

In our series one group of tales centers around the creation of the sun. The first part of the story relates to the origin of the brothers who finally become sun and moon. Rabbit finds his sister Doe, whom he hides in the tent of his grandmother Frog. Lynx marries the Doe, and their children are two boys. The couple are deserted;

and when the boys grow up, they come to the place where the sun is being made (see p. 285).

The second part of the story begins with the origin of Ya.ukue'ikam, who also goes to the place where the sun is being made and tries his powers. The story of his origin is briefly as follows: Frog's grand-daughter, Doe, is taken into the water by White Stone, whom she marries. Their son is Ya.ukue'ikam, who in a number of exploits obtains for the use of mankind arrow wood, the arrow straightener, sinew, flint, and the bow stave (see p. 290). Then he goes with Coyote to the place where the sun is being made. They pass a number of dangers—the fat, the giant, and the thunderbirds (see p. 285).

When the various parties meet, one after another tries to act as the Sun, and finally the sons of the Lynx are accepted.

We have no other incidents that are clearly connected with this tale, but I suspect strongly that the tale of the deluge produced by the Chicken Hawk may connect in a similar way with the story of the Sun (see p. 304).

On account of Ya.uk^ue'_ika m's great powers, the people are afraid of him and drown him. The fish resuscitate him; and he follows the people, finds his brother's wife and her son, and tells them to resist those who maltreat them. He kills the chief, and the people are even more afraid of him (see p. 291). This passage recalls the story of Coyote's son (see MAFLS 11:120). Finally Ya.uk^ue'_ika m goes to the east end of the world (see p. 291).

The second cycle, apparently independent of the former one, is that of the war against the sky.

Nałmu'qtse crawls about in the country, and his tracks form the rivers (see p. 288). During this period Muskrat kills his sister-in-law and escapes to the sky. The animals make a chain of arrows and climb up, but Wolverene tears the chain. The animals fight with Muskrat. When they find the arrow chain broken, they kill the thunderbird, and with its feathers they fly down. The Bat and the Flying Squirrel, who receive no feathers, sail down. The Sucker jumps down and breaks its bones. The Woodpecker family are not given feathers. They climb down the sky, and reach the earth in the west, passing through the horizon (see p. 288). They meet Nałmu'qtse and try to kill him by throwing into his mouth a redhot stone wrapped in a goat heart. Nałmu'qtse causes it to fall aside. He warns the woodpeckers not to sleep in wooded places and not to touch a charr floating in the water (see pp. 288, 289). The Woodpeckers disobey; and when they sleep in a wooded place, a toad sticks to the body of one of them. When Flicker touches a charr, he and his wife Duck are swallowed by a water monster. In order to find out where Flicker is, Woodpecker sends out birds to invite the fish to his tent. They come led by their grandfather (a fish with thick head). They smoke, and the fish indicates by signs that Flicker is in the lake. The Woodpeckers try in vain to kill the water monster, which escapes along the Columbia River. At Red Water, near Windermere, it is wounded: therefore the water is red there. It escapes into a cave. Nałmu'qtse is told to stop up the outlet of the river, and he makes the portage separating Columbia Lakes from Kootenai River by molding the soil with his knees. Fox kills the monster. They cut it up, and Flicker and his wife Duck come out. The flesh of the monster is thrown about to serve as food for the people (see p. 289).

Then Nałmu'qtse arises, his head touches the sky, his hat falls down, and he himself falls over and dies.

In the Okanagon tales the making of the bow and arrow, which forms a large part of the Ya.uk^ue'ika'm tradition, is connected with the war on the sky. The most connected form of the tale has been recorded by Albert S. Gatschet (Globus, vol. 52, p. 137). mals make war against the sky in order to obtain the fire. unable to reach the sky with their arrows. The Wren decides to make a bow and arrow. First he kills an elk (here is introduced the story of Chickadee and Elk, p. 304). The Wolf tries to steal the elk, and Wren throws red-hot stones wrapped in fat into his mouth. He uses the rib of the elk for making his bow. He obtains the feathers for his arrow by allowing the eagle to carry him into his nest. He obtains flint by causing the owners of flint to fight. Then he goes to the place where the animals shoot the arrows up to the sky. He meets Covote. (Here is introduced a story of the small animal that is able to shoot trees. See Blackfoot, de Josselin de Jong VKAWA 14:73; Uhlenbeck VKAWA 13:182; Pend d'Oreilles, Teit MAFLS 11:114.)

The Wren kills Coyote, and Fox resuscitates him. Coyote meets the Wren a second time. They gamble, and he wins Wren's clothing. He goes on, and meets young Grouse, whom he kills. The old Grouse then scares him so that he falls down a precipice (see p. 293). Wren recovers his arrows, makes the arrow chain, and the animals climb up. When Grizzly Bear climbs up, the chain breaks, owing to his weight. Then Eagle, Beaver, and Turtle are sent to obtain the fire. (See Lillooet, JAFL 25:299, where other references are given.)

The Turtle falls down from the sky and kills a person. Then follows the story of the Turtle who asks to be thrown into the water (see p. 305). The story closes with the return of the animals.

In the following I give brief abstracts of the tales recorded in the present volume and of those published by me in the "Verhandlungen der Berliner Gesellschaft für Anthropologie, Ethnologie und Urgeschichte," 1891. The page references to both series are given in the margin. Those in parentheses refer to the series of Kutenai tales

published in the "Verhandlungen der Berliner Gesellschaft für Anthro-
pologie, Ethnologie und Urgeschichte." Comparative notes have
been added, which, however, do not claim to be exhaustive. Refer-
ences to the Tahltan and Kaska relate to manuscripts by Mr. James
A. Teit to be published in the "Journal of American Folk-Lore." I
have used the following abbreviations:

AA AmAnt	."American Antiquarian and Oriental Jour-
BAAS	nal." .Reports of the British Association for the
BAM	Advancement of Science. Bulletin of the American Museum of Natural History.
BArchS	•
	nology.
	"Contributions to North American Eth- nology" (United States Geographical and Geological Survey of the Rocky Moun- tain Region, J. W. Powell in charge).
	Publications of the Carnegie Institution.
CU	.Columbia University Contributions to Anthropology.
FL	* 0.
FM	Anthropological Publications of the Field (Columbian) Museum.
GSCan	.Memoirs of the Geological Survey of Can- ada.
JAFL	
JAI	"Journal of the Anthropological Institute of Great Britain and Ireland."
JE	Publications of the Jesup North Pacific Expedition.
MAFLS	Memoirs of the American Folk-Lore Society.
PAES	Publications of the American Ethnological Society.
PaAM	Anthropological Papers, American Museum of Natural History.
RBAE	Annual Report of the Bureau of (American)
mp a a	Ethnology.
TRSC	Transactions of the Royal Society of Can- ala.
U'Cal	.California Publications in American Archæology and Ethnology.
UPenn	Anthropological Publications of the University Museum of the University of
VAEU	Pennsylvania. "Verhandlungen der Berliner Gesellschaft für Anthropologie, Ethnologie, und Urge-
VKAWA	schichte." ."Verhandelingen der Koninklijke Akade- mie van Wetenschappen te Amsterdam."

Dear Comm	Ton Don Indianish Communication
Boas, Sagen	Franz Boas, Indianische Sagen von der
	Nord-Pacifischen Küste Amerikas.
Curtin, Creation Myths	.Jeremiah Curtin, Creation Myths of Primi-
	tive America.
Curtin, Modoc	.Jeremiah Curtin, Myths of the Modocs.
•	.Edward S. Curtis, The North American
	Indians.
Cushing, Folk Tales	.Frank Hamilton Cushing, Zuñi Folk Tales.
Dähnhardt, Natursagen	
	.George Bird Grinnell, Blackfoot Lodge
Gillineit, Bougo Pares	Tales.
Loland	.Charles G. Leland, The Algonquin Legends
Leiand	
	of New England.
Matthews	.Washington Matthews, Ethnography and
	Philology of the Hidatsa (Misc. Publ. No.
	7, U. S. Geological Survey, F. V. Hayden
	in charge).
Merriam	.C. Hart Merriam, The Dawn of the World.
	.Emile Petitot, Traditions Indiennes du
2 002000	Canada Nord-Ouest.
Rand	
	Frank Russell, Explorations in the Far
russen, Expr. in Far With	North (University of Iowa, 1898).
Schoolcraft Hiswaths	.H. R. Schoolcraft, The Myth of Hiawatha
ECHOORIAI, IIIawamaa	
	(Philadelphia, 1856).
1 THE STIN /4 versions: Nos 32 48 54	and VAEL 23:161) First Lorgian -Coxote

1. The Sun (4 versions: Nos. 33, 48, 54, and VAEU 23:161). First Version.—Coyote asks Chicken Hawk to accompany him to the place where the Sun is being made. Coyote wants to try first to act as the Sun. Chicken Hawk tells him that on their way they will pass grease, and that in passing he may take one bite. Coyote disobeys, takes more than one bite, and the grease falls down and rolls down a precipice with Coyote. They reach the place where the Sun is being made. Coyote walks along the sky, but is found unsatisfactory. Chicken Hawk follows, and is found to be a good Sun.¹ Coyote is envious and tries to shoot him.² His bow and arrows catch fire, and the earth begins to burn. He lies down on a trail, which does not burn, and he is saved.³

Second Version.—The animals try who is to be the Sun. When Raven acts as the Sun, it is dark. When Chicken Hawk tries, the sky is yellow. When Coyote tries, it is hot. He tells everything he sees. When he returns, they tell him that he is too hot and too talkative. A woman has two children, who arrive, and try in their turn. When the first one goes along the sky, it is comfortable; and when the sun sets, it is cool. He is selected as Sun. The younger brother is selected to act as the Moon.¹ Coyote is envious and shoots the Sun at sunrise.² His arrow catches fire, the earth begins to burn, and he saves himself by lying down on a trail. For this reason trails do not burn.³

Third Version.—Coyote and Ya.ukue'ika'm are traveling along. Ya.ukue'ika'm tells Coyote that they will pass a piece of fat, and that he may take one bite. After they pass, Coyote turns back in order to have another bite, and the fat rolls down. He runs after it. The fat falls into the water and sinks. When he goes back on his tracks, all the fat has been transformed into white stone. In order to get the fat that

67

49

69

111

¹ See discussion in Boas RBAE 31:727 (references to Okanagon, Shuswap, Thompson, Tsimshian, Wasco, Wishram); see also, Coeur d'Alène (Teit MAFLS 11:123).

² Shoshoni (Lowie PaAM 2:252, 253).

Ute (Powell RBAE 1:52).

³ Thompson (Teit MAFLS 6:39, 74).

has fallen into the water, he heats stones, intending to boil it. Ya.ukue',ka'm misses Coyote, and finds that the fat is gone. He follows down to the water, and sees Coyote engaged in heating stones. Ya.ukue'ika'm makes a spear and spears the fat, which breaks up and floats.—They go on, and Ya.ukue'ika m tells Covote not to pay any 113attention if he should hear a child crying. After they pass the child, Coyote turns back and puts his finger into the child's mouth. The child sucks the finger and pulls in Coyote's arm. When Ya.uk'' ka'm notices that the child is silent, he turns back and kills the child with his knife. All the flesh on Coyote's arm has been sucked off. The child was a giant.—They go on, and Ya.ukue'ika'm tells Coyote not to listen if he should hear birds crying. Coyote disobeys, and finds himself in the nest of the thunderbirds together with Ya.ukue'ika'm. Ya.ukue'ika'm asks the young thunderbirds when the old birds come back. They reply that they come back in the evening in the form of a thundercloud. Ya.ukue'ika'm tells Coyote that the thunderbird will ask whether he is tired, and that he is to reply that his younger brother Ya.ukue'ika m is tired. When this happens. Ya.ukue'ika m is told by the old thunderbird to stretch out his leg, because the bird wants to suck out the marrow. At this moment Ya.ukue'ika m kills the thunderbird with his spear. The same is repeated when the old male thunderbird comes back. When the old birds are dead, Ya.ukue'ika'm sits on the back of one of the young thunderbirds, which flies up, and then carries him down, while Coyote is shouting. Then Coyote sits on the back of the other thunder-117bird; and when he shouts, the bird takes him down. Ya.ukue'ıka'm ordains that thunderbirds may only scare people who lie about them.1 Ya.ukue'ika'm and Coyote reach the place where the Sun is being made. Ya.ukue'ika m is tried; but the day is red because his clothing is painted with ochre. Coyote is tried, but when he acts as the Sun, it is too hot; and he tells what the people are doing, and asks them to leave some food for him. The two sons of the Lynx arrive. They have been brought up 119by their mother, who had been deserted by Lynx. He had gone to catch salmon for making soup for his wife. The young Lynxes meet him, and he tells them that he is unable to catch salmon. The boys show him how to catch salmon. When the Lynx children arrive at the place where the animals try to make the Sun, one of them goes up and is found a satisfactory sun. Then they send the other one up as the Moon. Coyote is envious and shoots at the rising sun, which sets his arrow on fire. The fire pursues him. He lies down on a trail and covers himself with a blanket. The fire passes over him without hurting him. Therefore trails do not burn.4

```
<sup>1</sup> Apache, Jicarilla (Russell JAFL 11:257).
```

Arapaho (Dorsey and Kroeber FM 5:383, 387).

Assiniboin (Lowie PaAM 4:170).

Beaver (Goddard PaAM 10:234).

Chilcotin (Farrand JE 2:12).

Chippewayan (Goddard PaAM 10:48; Lowie *ibid*. 192; Petitot 359; much distorted in Lofthouse, Transactions Canadian Institute 10:46).

Dog-rib (Petitot 323).

Gros Ventre (Kroeber PaAM 1:88).

·Hare (Petitot 144).

Kaska (Teit J A F L 30:437).

Okanagon (Gatschet, Globus 52:137).

Ponca (Dorsey CNAE 6:30, 215).

Sanpoil (Gould MAFLS 11:108).

Shoshoni (Lowie PaAM 2:295?).

Shuswap (Teit JE 2:649; Dawson TRSC 32; Boas, Sagen 4).

Sia (Stevenson RBAE 11:48).

Thompson (Teit MAFLS 6:45; also 76; 11:57).

Ute, Uinta (Mason JAFL 23:318).

² See discussion in Boas, RBAE 31: 727 (references to Okanagon, Shuswap, Thompson, Tsimshian, Wasco, Wishram).

³ Shoshoni (Lowie PaAM 2:252, 253).

Ute (Powell RBAE 1:52).

⁴ Thompson (Teit MAFLS 6:39, 74).

Fourth Version¹ (VAEU 23).—Hare's wife (a small red bird) has deserted him and (162) lives with a red hawk. Hare finds tracks of elks (not moose, as given in the original), and goes home to make snowshoes. The animals start in pursuit of the elks. When Hare goes to get wood for his snowshoes, he meets Doe. He wishes to marry her. She refuses him. He goes home and tells his grandmother Frog what has happened. She informs him that the Doe is his sister. Hare takes her home, and she lives in the tent. Her presence is unknown to the other people. Hare goes out to pursue the elks. His grandmother tells him to put mittens on his feet in place of his snowshoes. When going out, he meets Raven and other hunters, who are returning empty handed. They maltreat him, but he goes on. He meets Woodpecker, a diver, and Wolf. He passes the game hunters, and meets Hawk and his wife, who pelt him with snow. Only Weasel, Fox, and young Wolf are ahead of him. On the following day he meets them. They return, because they are unable to overtake the elks.

Hare puts on his mittens and soon overtakes the elks. With one arrow he kills (163) one-half of them, and with the second the rest. He butchers them and shakes the fat, which becomes small in size. He fills the stomachs with blood, piles them up, and tells them to burst if any one should carry them. He carries the fat home, shakes it, and it assumes its former size. He feeds his child, and throws some fat into the fire in order to inform his brother Duck, who comes and is given food. He sends his brother to tell the people that they may go to bring in the meat. He wishes that Hawk should select the stomachs. Bear demands the ribs; Wolf, the legs; Raven, the eyes. Hawk loads the stomachs on the back of his wife. Hare follows them, steps on her snowshoes, so that she falls. The blood runs over her, and she freezes to death. The skins are carried into Frog's tent. When within a few days they are ready tanned, the people grow suspicious, and find the tracks of Doe. Lynx finds the place where the girl stopped, tears out four hairs, which he puts on the ground. The hairs impregnate her when she urinates. Doe gives birth to a child. The people hear it crying, and discover the Doe. In order to discover the unknown father of the child, Frog orders the men to take up the child.² Coyote, Raven, and others take it, but the child continues to cry. Lynx comes back from hunting. He buries his clothing and strike-alight under stones. When the people see Lynx coming, the child quiets down; and (164) when he takes it up. it does not cry any more. They maltreat Lynx, extinguish the fires, and desert him, Doe, and their child.3

Lynx is a good hunter. After some time Doe has a second son. The people are starving. Lynx's grandmother, Magpie, comes to look after her grandson. He feeds her. In summer Lynx goes to fish salmon. He makes a fish weir. When the boys are grown up, their mother sends them to the place where the sun is being made. She tells them that they will pass their father's fishing-place. The boys start and reach the place where the sun is being made. Raven is the sun: it is dark and cold. Coyote acts as sun; it is very hot, and he tells the people to keep food for him. Because he runs home quickly the day is short. He tells everything he has seen in the daytime. The sons of Lynx are tried, and one is made the sun, the other the moon.⁴ Coyote is (165) envious, and shoots the sun at sunrise. His arrows catch fire, fall down, and set fire to the grass.⁵

¹ Shuswap (Boas, Sagen 9).

Thompson (Teit MAFLS 6:37, 11:11; JE 8:215; Hill-Tout BAAS 65:534).

² Lillooet (Teit JAFL 25:328).

Nootka (Boas, Sagen 108).

Shuswap (Boas, Sagen 9; Teit JE 2:684).

Thompson (Teit MAFLS 6:37; JE 8:215; Hill-Tout BAAS 69:534).

³ See RBAE 31:784.

⁴ See discussion in Boas RBAE 31:727 (references to Okanagon, Shuswap, Thompson, Tsimshian, Wasco, Wishram).

⁵ Shoshoni (Lowie PaAM 2:252, 253).

Ute (Powell RBAE 1:52).

2. The War on the Sky 1 and Nałmu'qtse (3 versions: Nos. 50, 52, and VAEU 73 23:165). First Version.—Muskrat wants to marry his brother's widow. She refuses him, and he kills her with an arrow which differs in style from the tribal arrows.2 The people try to find out who killed her, and call in Frog, Muskrat's grandmother. Although she knows what has happened, she declines to tell, and answers by signs. The people think that the Sky people have killed the woman, and decide to make war on the Sky. They shoot arrows up to the Sky and make a chain.3 Since it is 75 not quite long enough, Raven puts his beak at the lower end. Then it reaches the ground. When the animals are ready to go up, Wolverene asks them to wait for two days because he has to put away his things. When he comes back, he finds the animals have gone. He becomes angry and tears down the chain of arrows. The remaining people pursue Wolverene, who, when almost overtaken, cuts up himself and becomes a squirrel, which he puts under his own belt. When somebody thinks he recognizes him, he says that he is hunting squirrels.—Muskrat has made a largé lake in the sky and put up many tents around it. When the people attack the village, a left-handed man comes out. This happens in every tent, and the people recognize that there is only one person, Muskrat. They go back; and when they come to the place where the arrow chain had been, it is gone. They go to the drinking-place of Thunderbird, kill him, and distribute his feathers. While these are being distributed, two bats expect to be given the best feathers, but finally nothing is left for them. They spread out their blankets and sail down. Flying Squirrel pulls out his skin and sails down. The Sucker throws himself down and is broken to pieces. When his brother's widow touches him, he is cured.—The warriors Flicker, the Woodpeckers and their sister (a bird with yellow breast and gray feathers), have been left in the sky. They walk to the place where heaven and earth meet. At Nelson they meet supernatural beings, who tell them never to touch a fish and not to stay over night in the woods. They find a charr which has drifted ashore. Flicker tries to kill it, but is swallowed by it and taken into the lake.4 They camp in the woods, and a toad crawls under Woodpecker's blanket and sticks to his body. The others go on and meet Nałmu'qtse, who was crawling along Kootenai River naming the country. He asks the Woodpeckers, his nephews, for some food. They put a red-hot stone into the heart of a mountain goat, and try to throw it into his mouth.⁵ They miss, and the 79 place is called Little Heart. Woodpecker sends two water birds to invite in all the Fish, telling them that the lake will be dried up if they should not come. The birds dance at every bay, inviting the Fish. The chief of the Fish, K!/k!om', is the last to arrive. He is given a pipe; and Woodpecker, his brothers, and the Fish smoke. The Fish inquires for his grandson; that is, the Flicker that had been swallowed by the water monster; and he moves his eyebrows, showing that Flicker is in the lake. As a reward he is given meat, which may now be seen as a red spot on each side of the body. The Woodpeckers make ready to kill the water monster. The first who tries to attack him is Long Legs, who, however, is swallowed. Woodpecker tries next. He intends to kick the monster, but the blow glances off. The monster is chased along Kootenai River and comes back by way of Windermere to Red Water. Woodpecker hits it on the foot. Its blood makes the water red. At Long-Water Bay 81

¹ Lillooet (JAFL 25:311).

Okanagon (Hill-Tout JAI 41:146; Gatschet, Globus 52:137; Teit MAFLS 11:85).

Pend d'Oreilles (Teit MAFLS 11:118).

Shuswap (Teit JE 2:749).

Thompson (Teit JE 8:246; Boas, Sagen 17).

See also Sanpoil (Gould MAFLS 11:107, 108).

² Lillooet (Teit JAFL 25:326).

Shuswap (Teit J E 2:679).

Thompson (Teit JE 8:361, 362).

³ See discussion in Boas RBAE 31:864.

⁴ See discussion in Boas RBAE 31:611, 659, 687, 718, 868.

⁵ Sec discussion in Boas RBAE 31:682; also Alsea (personal communication from Leo J. Frachtenberg), Hidatsa (Matthews 67).

the monster hides in a cave under water. Flicker takes Woodpecker's war bonnet and spear and tries to chase the monster out of the water. When the monster appears, Flicker is afraid, and drops the spear. Nahmu'qtse is asked to dam up the end of the lake and to prevent the escape of the monster. He breaks off a piece of the mountain and solidifies it with his knees, making the portage between Columbia River and Kootenai River. Woodpecker continues the pursuit; but when the monster looks at him, he becomes afraid and is unable to kill it. The Fox finally takes a tomahawk, kills the monster, and cuts it up. Flicker and Duck come out. They have become white in the stomach of the monster. While in its stomach, they made a fire with their canoe. The monster had asked them not to make too large a fire, because it might melt its fat. The Flicker had been worn down to its present size.

They cut off the ribs of the monster and throw them down the river, where they become a cliff. The body is cut up and scattered about. It becomes the food of the people. They forget the Kutenai, and only a little blood is left, which they scatter over the country. For this reason the Kutenai are few.¹

Second Version.—Nałmu'qtse is called the grandfather of the Kutenai. He is a man of giant size, and never stands up. He knows that he is about to die, and travels over the country, giving names to places. Wherever he crawls, a river flows.² He meets the Woodpecker brothers and their sister sitting on a mountain. They have come down from the sky after the animals have made war on Muskrat (as told before). They are angry because they have not been given any feathers to fly down. Woodpecker tries to kill the people; and when he meets his uncle Nałmu'qtse, he tries to kill him too. He throws a heart containing a red-hot stone at him, pretending that it is food.³ Nałmu'qtse nods, and it falls down, and the place is called Little Heart. Nałmu'qtse warns Woodpecker, telling him not to touch a charr and not to sleep in dense woods. The Woodpeckers disobey, and Flicker is swallowed by a water monster.⁴ Nałmu'qtse crawls along and decides to stand up. When he rises, his war bonnet touches the sky. It falls, and he also falls, saying that the place will be called Ear.

Third Version (VAEU 23).—The father of Muskrat ⁵ has two wives. After his death (165) Muskrat wants to marry his second wife, who refuses him. He shoots her with an arrow of unknown design. He lies down, pretending to be sick. The people find the dead woman, and inquire for the owner of the arrow. Muskrat smells of it, and says it came from the sky. They make war against the sky. Coyote shoots up an arrow without reaching it. Other animals try in vain. Finally two Hawks shoot. Their first arrow strikes the sky after flying one day and one night. They make a chain of arrows, ⁶ which Raven completes by putting his beak in the nock of the last arrow. Wolverene asks the other animals to wait, because he wants to look after his traps. They leave before he returns; therefore he is angry and tears down the arrows, which are transformed into a mountain (Mount Baker, near Cranbrook, B. C.). Muskrat has climbed up into the sky, where he makes tents along the shore of a lake. The houses are dirty. He shoots from the houses, passing under ground from one to the

87

85

83

89

¹ Cœur d'Alène (Teit MAFLS 11:122).

Nez Percé (Mayer-Farrand MAFLS 11:149).

Shuswap (Teit JE 2:661, 662, 665-667).

Thompson (Teit MAFLS 6:80; JE 8:255).

² Chippewayan (much distorted in Loft house, Transactions Canadian Institute 10:44).

Dog-Rib (Sir John Franklin, Narrative of a Second Expedition to the Shores of the Polar Sea [London, 1828], p. 293).

Etheneldeli (Caribou-Eaters), (Samuel Hearne, A Journey from Prince of Wales's Fort in Hudson's Bay, to the Northern Ocean [London, 1795]. p. 343).

Kato (Goddard UCal 5:188).

Kaska (Teit J A F L 30:444).

³ See discussion in Boas RBAE 31:682. Also Hidatsa (Matthews 67).

⁴ See discussion in Boas RBAE 31:611, 659, 687, 718, 868.

⁵ Lillooet (Teit JAFL 25:326).

Shuswap (Tcit JE 2:679).

Thompson (Teit JE 8:361, 362).

⁶ See discussion in Boas RBAE 31:864.

^{85543°—}Bull, 59—18——19

other. Woodpecker discovers that there is only one person, Muskrat, whom they kill. (166) When they find the arrow chain broken, they snare thunderbird, put on his feathers, and fly down. Those who receive feathers are transformed into birds; the others, into fish and land mammals. Coyote sails down, steering with his tail. The Sucker breaks all his bones. He is given new ones: therefore the sucker's body is now full of bones.

3. Ya.ukue',ka'm (No. 53).—Frog warns her granddaughter, Young Doe, not to 89drink at a water hole. She disobeys. and is pulled down by a man named White Stone, who lives in the water, and marries her. Their son is Ya.uk^ue'_ika m.—White Stone's brother. Gray Stone, dislikes Ya.ukue', ka'm, who is sent by his mother to visit his great-grand mother Frog. Ya.ukue'ika'm goes; and when he sees the old Frog Woman, he is afraid.² He makes her sleep and plays in the tent. He goes back to his mother, who wants him to stay with his great-grandmother. When Frog wakes, she notices that somebody has been there. She makes a small bow and a small basket, and hangs them up. Ya.ukue', ka'm gets back, makes her sleep again, and plays with the bow, which he breaks. When the Frog wakes, she says that her grandchild must have been a boy, because he had been playing with a bow. Next time the Frog captures him. When Ya.ukue'ika'm is growing up, he asks the Frog Woman for arrow wood and service-berry wood.³ She warns him, but he sets out to obtain the wood from the Grizzly Bear, who owns it. Cranes, Marmots, and Beavers are Grizzly Bear's watchmen, appointed to warn him of the arrival of strangers. The youth bribes them to be quiet until he returns. He takes the service-berry bushes and makes his escape. The animals make a noise; Grizzly Bear assumes his animal form, and pursues Ya.ukue'ika'm. The animals make excuses, but the Bear threatens to kill them after having overtaken Ya.ukue'ika'm, who causes a hill to rise behind him, which detains Grizzly Bear. Thus arrow wood is obtained. He goes to his mother's tent, and Gray Stone promises to kill Grizzly Bear. Gray Stone rubs himself with grease and becomes a stone, which is heated by the fire. He orders Ya.ukue'ika'm to stand next to the doorway. Grizzly Bear, when trying to bite him, closes his eyes; Ya.uk^ue',ka m steps aside, and the Bear bites the post. Meanwhile Gray Stone becomes so hot, that the stone almost bursts. Just when the Bear opens his mouth, the fragments of the stone 97fly about; Gray Stone goes right through Grizzly Bear, who dies. After this the Grizzly Bear remains a bear. Ya.ukue'ika'm skins the grizzly bear, and drags the skin which is attached to the head into Frog Woman's tent. She is afraid of the grizzly bear. She paints her legs red and stands in the doorway, holding a hammer. She had put up a sharp stone in the doorway. Ya.ukue'ika'm drags the grizzly-bear skin in, and Frog strikes it; but Ya.ukue'ika m jerks it at that moment, so that she strikes the stone. which she breaks. Ya.ukue', ka'm asks for feathers for his arrow. He is told that ducks on a lake own the feathers. He goes there, wearing ear ornaments. Ya.ukue'ika'm, who is painted red, asks one of the Ducks to come ashore, asks for his feathers, and promises to pay him with his ear ornaments. The Duck obeys, and becomes very beautiful. When the other Ducks see it, they all go ashore, and he takes their

feathers. He adorns all of them.⁴ Thus feathers are obtained.

Ya.uk^ue'_ika m goes to obtain the arrow straightener from Bighorn Sheep. He goes to Bighorn Sheep, who tells him that the arrow straightener is on the other side of the river. When he is climbing the mountain, Bighorn goes back across the river in his

¹ Blackfoot (Uhlenbeck VKAWA 13:156, 158).

Hidatsa (Matthews 68).

Shuswap (Teit JE 2:674, 694), etc.

Takelma (Sapir UPenn 2:125, 157).

² Shuswap (Teit JE 2:693).

⁸ Beaver (Goddard PaAM 10:235).

Gros Ventre (Kroeber PaAM 1:88-90).

Kaska (Teit JAFL 30:437).

Okanagon (Gatschet, Globus 52:137).

Thompson (Teit MAFLS 6:76).

⁴ See p. 296, No. 18.

121

123

125

canoe. He puts the penis of the Bighorn into the water, by means of which he produces a snowstorm. Ya.ukue'ika m knows what is coming. He finds a tent, and is taken care of by his brothers and sisters. (probably animals) that live there. The house owner counteracts Bighorn's charm by striking his testicles. Bighorn thinks he hears the bursting of Ya.ukue'ika m's eyes, and Bighorn causes the cold to stop. While it is cold. Bighorn is throwing warm things on himself. After some time Bighorn Sheep returns to look for Ya.ukue'ika m. After the Bighorn has crossed the river, Ya.ukue'ika m goes into his canoe, crosses the river, and does the same as the Bighorn has done. A snowstorm arises, and he goes into Bighorn Sheep's tent and throws warm things on himself. When he hears the noise of eyes bursting, he says, "Don't let it be cold any more!" After all this has happened, the old man has been transformed into a mountain sheep, and Ya.ukue'ika m takes the arrow straightener. Thus man obtains the arrow straightener.

In order to obtain sinew, Ya.ukue'ika'm goes to the tent of Mouse, who is afraid of the Bull Moose, which almost breaks the tent. He obtains first a poor bow, then a good bow, kills the Mocse for Mouse, and takes the sinew. Thus man obtains sinew.

He goes to obtain Flint.² Flint is a man. If a person pays him well, he transforms himself into stone, and allows pieces to be broken off. When Ya.uk^ue'_ika m arrives, Flint retains the form of a man, because he expects high pay. Ya.uk^ue'_ika m tells Flint that Diorite Man claims to be stronger than Flint. By carrying tales from one to the other he causes them to quarrel and to fight. When they strike each other, large pieces of flint and diorite fall off, and he is able to obtain the stone he needs. Thus he produces flint and tough stone for the use of man.

Ya.uk^ue'_ika'm goes to obtain bow wood. Two squirrels as large as grizzly bears 10 stand on each side of a trail. He kills them. From the body creeps the small squirrel of our times. He passes between two moving trees, which crush any one who passes between them. He keeps them apart by putting his spear across.³ Then he scatters the cedar wood.

Ya.uk^ue'_ika .m asks his mother where the sun rises, and he tells her that he is going there.

4. The People TRY to KILL Ya.ukue'ika'm (No. 55).—The people kill Ya.ukue'ika'm and throw him into the river. Then they break camp and order Crane to drag a young tree to cover their tracks. The fish nibble at the drowned man's body, and he awakes. He kicks the fish, but they say that they are restoring him. He follows the people, meets Crane, whom he kills. He also kills Crane's wife. When he approaches the people, he sees his sister-in-law, who is lagging behind and who is crying. She carries her child, Duck, on her back. The child recognizes him and tells his mother, who, however, disbelieves him. Ya.ukue'ika'm shows himself, and she tells him that the people take away his brother's game, and that Duck has to render menial services to the chief, that they also take away the tent site that she is preparing. Ya.ukue'ika'm tells his brother and his sister-in-law to resist the people. The people are afraid when the two act independently. The chief, after defecating, calls Duck to clean him, and Duck kills him with arrow points that he has attached to his head. Ya.ukue'ika'm shows himself, and the people are afraid of him.

¹ Kaska (Teit JAFL 30:438).

² Kalapooya (information given by A. S. Gatschet).

Shuswap (Teit JE 2: 645; Dawson TRSC 1891: 35).

Thompson (Teit MAFLS 6: 76).

Tillamook (Boas JAFL 11: 144).

See Boas, RBAE 31: 612, No. 5.

⁸ See Boas, RBAE 31: 613, No. 9.

⁴ Takelma (Sapir Ul'enn 2:20).

Thompson (Teit MAFLS 6:25).

⁵ Quinault (Farrand JE 2:100).

191 5. Coyote and Tree ('hief's wother likes him, and wishes him to become passes Tree Chief's tent. Tree ('hief's mother likes him, and wishes him to become her son's friend. The two friends go out. When they pass Wolf's trap, Coyote diverts the attention of his friend and pushes him in. He pretends to be unable to pull him out. He induces him to throw out all his clothing, including a hawk, which he carries on his head, and his saliva. Then he leaves him and goes to the town where a chief lives who has two daughters. The chief, Golden Eagle, believes that he is 195 Tree Chief. Wolf and his wife find Tree Chief in the trap. He has taken the form of a young child. Wolf wants to kill him; his wife wants to raise him. They agree that whoever reaches him first shall do with him what he pleases. Wolf's wife digs through the ground very quickly and rescues him.²

197 He holds it up, and it is full of birds. Next he asks for the leg skin of a yearling buffalo calf. He makes a netted ring, rolls it into the tent, and tells the woman to cover her head. It becomes a buffalo, which he kills. He tells the woman to put the blood and guts behind the tent. On the following day they are transformed into 199 pemmican. Coyote has married one of the daughters of Golden Eagle. Tree Chie takes some pemmican, and goes to the river to draw water. There he meets the chief's daughter, to whom he gives the pemmican. Next the boy asks for the leg part of the skin of a buffalo bull. He obtains a buffalo in the same way as before. He puts the blood in the skin and puts it away. On the next day the blood has been transformed into pemmican; the skin, into a painted blanket. He goes again to draw water, and tells the girl to say that she has received pemmican from the one whom she saw at the river.

starving. Golden Eagle throws up a feather of his body, which becomes an eagle, which is perched on a tree. He arranges a contest, and orders every one to try to shoot the eagle. Each is to have one shot. Coyote shoots repeatedly, but does not hit the eagle. Tree Chief appears, and hits the eagle. Coyote pretends that his arrow had hit it; but when he is carrying along the bird on his arrow, it is seen that it 203 is a prairie chicken. The boy goes back to the Wolf. In the evening he meets the girl again, and tells her that on the following day at noon he will show himself. He goes to the village in the same form as he used to have. The people are puzzled, because he himself and Coyote look alike. Tree Chief's saliva turns into shells, which are eaten by the sparrow hawk that sits on the youth's head; while Coyote has lost this art, and his hawk is starving.

Tree Chief tells the chief, his father-in-law, to look at his fortune-telling place. The chief sees tracks of buffalo cows, and sends the people to go hunting. Tree Chief goes ahead, piles up buffalo chips, which he transforms into buffaloes. The people kill the buffaloes. Tree Chief takes an old mangy buffalo cow. He is laughed at by Coyote. Tree Chief takes it home. He gives his arrow to his wife, and tells her not

205

Arapaho (Dorsey and Kroeber FM 5:348, 372).

Assiniboin (Lowie PaAM 134).

Blackfoot (Uhlenbeck VKAWA 12:30; 13:160; Wissler PaAM 2:47).

Cheyenne (Kroeber JAFL 13:170).

Crow (Simms FM 2:291).

Hidatsa (Matthews 63).

Kutenai (Boas VAEU 23:166).

Nez Percé (Mayer-Farrand MAFLS 11:159).

Ojibwa (de Josselin de Jong BArchS 5:2; only beginning).

Okanagon (Teit MAFLS 11:85).

Omaha (Dorsey CNAE 6:55, 604).

Pawnee (Dorsey CI 59:159, 164, 280 et seq.).

Shoshoni (Lowie PaAM 2:274).

Shuswap (Teit JE 2:695).

Teton (Curtis, N. A. Indians 3:111).

² See Blackfoot (Uhlenbeck VKAWA 13:117).

to touch any one with it. When he is skinning the mangy cow, it turns into a fat buffalo. A dog tries to get some of the meat. The woman touches it with the arrow, and the dog falls down dead. When she touches it again, the dog revives. Coyote also kills a dog, and tries to revive it by touching it with an arrow, but he is unsuccessful. Tree Chief's wife carries the meat in her blanket into her tent. On the following morning the blood is transformed into permican: the skin, into a painted blanket. Coyote is unable to imitate this feat. Coyote tries to make buffalo out of buffalo chips, but is unable to do so. Finally Tree Chief gets impatient, and strikes Coyote with a firebrand, intending to kill him.

209

211

Coyote runs westward, while Tree Chief goes eastward. Tree Chief says both will 213 come back at the end of the world.

Second Version (VAEU 23).—Tree Chief is Coyote's friend. Golden Eagle asks (166) Tree Chief to marry his daughter. The two young men start, and on the way Coyote throws Tree Chief into a pit. He asks for the bird which Tree Chief carries on his head, for his blanket and saliva. He puts these on, leaves Tree Chief in the pit, and goes to the village of Golden Eagle, where he marries the girl. Tree Chief transforms himself into an infant. The owner of the pit and his wife try who can reach the child first. Tree Chief by magic makes the soil loose where the woman is digging, so that she reaches him first. When the boy is a few years old, he asks for a snare in order to catch birds. He sets it, moves his hands, and the snare is full of birds. He asks for the skin of a buffalo calf and makes a netted ring. He tells the old people to lie down, and rolls the ring against the tent. The ring becomes a buffalo calf, which he kills. The intestines, which the woman puts away according to the boy's orders, are transformed into permican. The same happens to the skin of a one-year-old buffalo, which is transformed into a young bull, which he kills. He tells the old people that he is Tree Chief. He goes to the river and meets Golden Eagle's younger daughter, whom he marries. The people are starving because the buffaloes have disappeared. Tree Chief tells the hunters to wait at a buffalo drive. By kicking buffalo chips he transforms them into buffaloes, which are driven to a precipice. There are two buffaloes for each hunter. Tree Chief selects an old lean one for himself. He tells his wife not to strike their dog. When she disobeys, the dog falls down dead. He tells her to strike the dog again, and the dog revives. Coyote is unable to imitate this. Tree Chief drives away Coyote, reminding him that he had tried to kill him.

6. COYOTE AND FOX 1 (No. 1).—Coyote asks Fox for his blanket. They race. (This is probably a reference to the tale of Coyote borrowing Fox's blanket and being carried away by the wind.)

7. Coyote and Locust (No. 2).—Coyote carries Locust. They meet a Grizzly Bear. Coyote puts Locust down at the edge of a cliff. Locust scares the female Grizzly Bear, who falls down the cliff and dies.² Coyote and Locust eat the body. Later on they meet the male Grizzly Bear. Coyote is put down and turns into a stump, which the Grizzly Bear tries to bite. Coyote is retransformed and gives fat to the bear to eat. He says it is beaver fat. The bear asks whether they have seen the female Grizzly Bear. After first denying to have seen her, Coyote tells the Bear that he

 $\mathbf{2}$

 $\mathbf{3}$

4

¹

¹ Okanagon (Hill-Tout JAI 41:152).

Shuswap (Boas, Sagen 6; Teit JE 2:634, 742).

Thompson (Teit MAFLS 11:8).

² The idea of a person being frightened by the sudden flying up of birds or by a sudden movement, and caused to fall down a cliff, is rather widely spread.

Assiniboin (Lowie PaAM 4:110).

Lillooet (Teit JAFL 25:305, an incomplete version of the story of Coyote and Grouse).

Ojibwa ((Jones PAES 7:43, 191, 415).

Okanagon (Gatschet, Globus 52:138).

Pawnee (Dorsey CI 59:459).

Pend d'Oreilles (Teit MAFLS 11:114).

Sanpoil (Gould MAFLS 11:101).

Shuswap (Teit JE 2:629, 740).

(the Bear) has eaten his wife's fat. Coyote runs away, pursued by the Bear. Coyote falls, and his hands strike a buffalo horn, with which he scares away the Grizzly Bear.¹

- 8. Coyote and Grizzly Bear 1 (No. 57).—Coyote sees Grizzly Bear feeding, and calls him names. Grizzly Bear pursues him. While they are running, Coyote jumps over the Bear. The Bear chases him around a stone. Coyote falls down and falls on the horns of a buffalo, which stick on his hands. Coyote rises, and with the horns frightens away the Bear. The Bear swims the river, and is hit with the horns.
 - 9. COYOTE AND LOCUST 3 (No. 3).—Locust is carrying his leg. Coyote envies him,
 4 and breaks his own leg too. The two make friends. Coyote goes ahead, and is kicked by Locust, who kills him. When Magpie picks at Coyote's eyes,⁴ Coyote revives.
 - 5 He slaps himself, and the dung tells him 5 that he will become a knife attached to Coyote's foot. Locust goes ahead, and Coyote kills him.
 - 10. Coyote and Grizzly Bear (No. 4).—Coyote makes fun of Grizzly Bear's dung.¹
 In order to catch Coyote, the Bear first creates service berries, then wild cherries,
 - 7 which Coyote does not eat. Then he creates rose hips; when Coyote is eating these, Grizzly Bear catches him, together with the bushes. Coyote pleads that he did not offend Grizzly Bear. When Grizzly Bear tries to hit him. Coyote runs away. He
 - offend Grizzly Bear. When Grizzly Bear tries to hit him, Coyote runs away. He calls for the help of his manitous. One of these becomes a river; another, a log which lies across the river and bobs up and down; a third one becomes a tent. Coyote is told to come out of the tent as soon as the Grizzly Bear appears, and to abuse him. When the Bear reaches the river, he tries to cross on the bobbing log. Coyote holds the log. but lets go of it while the Bear is crossing over it. The Grizzly Bear falls off and is drowned.⁶
- 11. Coyote goes visiting ⁷ (No. 5).—Coyote's wife is Dog. Coyote sends his chilget dren to visit their uncles. They go to Kingfisher, who stretches his hand back to get his sharp horn. Kingfisher sends his two children to bring two switches. He ties his hair over his forehead, and jumps from the top of the tent into the water through a hole in the ice. He comes back carrying two switches filled with fish. The following day Dog sends her children to visit their uncle Moose. Moose cuts off his wife's nose, throws ashes on the cut, which heals up at once. He sends his children to get roots, which are rolled in the ashes of the wife and become guts. He slaps himself, and camas appears. On the following day Coyote tries in vain to imitate him.

```
Assiniboin (Lowie PaAM 4:121).
```

Blackfoot (Wissler PaAM 2:32; Uhlenbeck VKAWA 12:63).

Cree (Russell, Expl. in Far North 209).

Shoshoni (Lowie PaAM 2:277; Lowie-St. Clair JAFL 22:266).

² Shuswap (Teit JE 2:654).

Ute (RBAE 1:54), etc.

³ Nez Percé (Spinden JAFL 21:23).

Perhaps Shuswap (Teit JE 2:655).

⁴ Nez Percé (MAFLS 11; Mayer-Farrand 151; Spinden 180).

⁵ Chilcotin (Farrand JE 2:16).

Chinook (Boas BBAE 20:92).

Flathead (Wilson, Trans. Ethn. Soc. of London, 1866, 4:312).

Kaska (Teit JAFL 30:444).

Kathlamet (Boas BBAE 26:45).

Lillooet (Teit JAFL 25:308, 317).

Nez Percé (Mayer-Farrand MAFLS 11:141).

Okanagon (Teit MAFLS 11:73-75).

Shoshoni (Lowie PaAM 2:237, 241, 254).

Shuswap (Teit JE 2:635).

Tahltan (Teit MS).

Takelma (Sapir U Penn 2:65, 83).

Thompson (Teit MAFLS 6:30, 60; MAFLS 11:2; JE 8:234).

6 See Waterman JAFL 27:43, "Crane Bridge."

⁷ See discussion in Boas RBAE 31:694; also Nez Percé (MAFLS 11: Mayer-Farrand 164; Spinden, 181); Osage (Dorsey FM 7:13, 15); Shoshoni (Lowie-St. Clair JAFL 22:266); Thompson (Teit MAFLS 11:6); Zuni (Edward S. Handy JAFL 31).

A number of Californian tales of unsuccessful imitation may perhaps be distantly related to the tale of the bungling host. See Wishosk (Kroeber JAFL 18:102); Yana (Sapir U Cal 9:211).

13

14

15

16

61

63

65

16

17

12. Coyote and Buffalo ¹ (2 versions: Nos. 6 and 47). First Version.—Coyote finds the skull of a buffalo bull. He kicks it. After a while he hears a noise and sees Buffalo coming in pursuit. His manitous hide him in the stump of a burnt tree, which the Buffalo shatters; next in a stone, which he also shatters; in a pond, which Buffalo drinks; in a rose bush, which Buffalo can not tear to pieces. Coyote asks for peace and offers to smoke with Buffalo. Buffalo says that he lights his pipe by holding it up to the sun. Buffalo's wife had been taken away by other Buffaloes, and he had been killed. Coyote sharpens Buffalo's horns, and the two set out to recover Buffalo's wives. They overcome the other Buffaloes, and Coyote receives the larger Buffalo Cow, which is to be his wife. He sends her ahead, and tries to shoot her in a valley. The arrow does not enter her body. Finally he kills her. After butchering her, he sits on a stone. Wolf comes and eats the Buffalo, and Coyote is unable to get up until the meat has been eaten.² He pounds the bones and tries to extract the marrow. A bird tells him that he must not pound them,³ that Badger is to do so. While Badger is pounding, Coyote is asked to take hold of Badger's tail.

The marrow is put into a bladder. Badger runs away, eats it, and throws back the empty bladder. Coyote intends to break the remaining bones, and is told by a bird that the bird will do it. Coyote is sent away and told to return when he sees smoke. When he returns, the birds have flown away with what remains of the Buffalo.

Second Version.—Coyote finds the head of a Buffalo Bull, passes it three times, and breaks it with a stone. He covers a flat rock with his blanket, and lies down singing. He hears Buffalo coming in pursuit. He runs away. When he is tired, he calls on his manitous. The first one has the form of a stump, in which Covote hides. Buffalo breaks it in two. The next one is a stone, which Buffalo also breaks in two. The third one is a bush, which Buffalo can not tear. They make peace and smoke together. Coyote institutes the peace pipe. Buffalo tells Coyote that other Buffaloes took away his two wives and killed him. Coyote sharpens Buffalo's horns, and they overcome the other Buffaloes and take back the two wives. Buffalo gives to Coyote one of his wives, which Coyote selects because she is not as strong as the other one. Coyote sends his Buffalo wife ahead and kills her. He sits down on a stone and cries for the wife whom he has killed. Wolves come and eat the Cow, while Coyote is unable to get up.² After the Wolves have disappeared, the stone lets him go. He is about to break the bones to extract the marrow, when Badger forbids him to break the bones, and offers to break them himself. Coyote holds on to Badger's tail while Badger is pounding the bones. Badger puts the marrow into the bladder and runs away with the marrow, eating it. He throws back the bladder. Coyote intends to pound the remaining bones. Two birds forbid him to do so, and tell him that they themselves will pound them. Coyote is sent to make a spoon. When he comes back, the birds fly away with the chopped bone.

13. COYOTE AND BUTTERFLY (No. 17).—Coyote hears Butterfly singing. (The story is unintelligible.)

14. Coyote and Grouse 4 (No. 8).—While Grouse and husband are away. Coyote enters the tent, puts their children into a bag, and carries them away. The children break the bag and escape.

¹ Assiniboin (Lowie PaAM 4:122).

Nez Percé (Spinden MAFLS 11:190).

Okanagon (Teit MAFLS 11:76).

Shoshoni (Lowie PaAM 2:276 [first part only]).

Shuswap (Boas, Sagen 6).

Thompson (Teit JE 8:208; MAFLS 11:32).

See Thompson (Teit MAFLS 6:29).

² Assiniboin (Lowie PaAM 9:108, 112).

Shuswap (Teit JE 2:633 [here it is merely said that Coyote is too lazy to rise], 741).

Thompson (Teit MAFLS 11:7).

³ See Sanpoil (Gould MAFLS 11:104).

⁴ Caddo (Dorsey CI 41:102).

Pawnee (Dorsey CI 59:458).

Shoshoni (Lowie PaAM 2:258, 259, 261).

- 17 15. COYOTE AND STAR (No. 9).—(Unintelligible.)
- 18 16. Coyote and the Woman¹ (No. 10).—A woman sees Coyote coming. She is afraid and lies down, pretending to be dead. Coyote comes up to examine her, and thinks she has been dead for a long time.
- 17. Coyote and the Manitou with the Hat ² (No. 11).—Coyote meets a manitou whose hat is made of fat. He eats of it and hurts the manitou.
- 18. Coyote and the Ducks (3 versions: Nos. 12, 59, and VAEU 23:167). First Version.—Coyote and his two children reach a lake on which there are many ducks. He tells his children to wail for his brother-in-law. A Mallard Duck comes ashore to hear what is going on. The others follow. and Coyote pulls out their feathers.³
- 161 Second Version.—Coyote tells his son to wail for his brother-in-law. The Ducks 163 hear him. One comes ashore, and says that he wants to play with them. They go from one lake to an adjoining one. The Ducks fly; Coyote and his son walk. Coyote stretches a net across the connecting river and induces the Ducks to swim. Then he catches them, takes them home, and dries them. The surviving Ducks 165
- discover what he is doing and fly away. Lynx steals Coyote's ducks, and pulls his face and his tail long. When Coyote discovers this, and when he overtakes Lynx while asleep, he takes back the ducks and pushes in his tail and face.4

Third Version.—In this version the tale forms an incident of the tale of Coyote and Dog. (See p. 299.)

19. Coyote and Owl⁵ (3 versions: Nos. 13, 24, and 36). First Version.—Owl carries away crying children. Coyote pretends to be a child and cries. Owl asks for the child. He is put into the birch-bark basket of Owl, who carries him home. The children dance in Owl's tent. Coyote closes Owl's eyes with gum, and throws him into the fire. The children return.

```
<sup>1</sup> Assiniboin (Lowie PaAM 4:116, 204).
 Blackfoot (Wissler PaAM 2:35; de Josselin de Jong VKAWA 14:18).
 Crow (Simms FM 2:284).
<sup>2</sup> Blackfoot (de Josselin de Jong VKAWA 14:72; Uhlenbeck VKAWA 13:177).
 Caddo (Dorsey CI 41:100).
 Crow (Simms FM 2:285).
 Hupa (Goddard UCal 1:167).
<sup>3</sup> See p. 290, note 4.
4 Blackfoot (Uhlenbeck VKAWA 13:176).
 Chippewayan (Lofthouse, Transactions Canadian Institute 10:44).
 Nez Percé (Mayer-Farrand MAFLS 11:140, 142).
 Shoshoni (Lowie PaAM 2:276).
 Shuswap (Teit JE 2:678).
 Sia (Stevenson RBAE 11:148).
 Thompson (Teit MAFLS 6:38: JE 8:216).
 Tillamook (Boas JAFL 11:142).
 Ute, Uinta (Mason JAFL 23:301).
5 Arapaho (Dorsey and Kroeber FM 5:239 [Big Owl]).
 Bellabella (Boas, Sagen 241).
 Bellacoola (Boas, Sagen 249).
Chilcotin (Farrand JE 2:36).
 Chinook (BBAE 20:110).
Comox (Boas, Sagen 89).
Cowichan (Boas, Sagen 49).
 Fraser Delta (Hill-Tout JAI 34:347).
Hopi (Voth FM 8:173).
 Kato (Goddard UCal 5:236).
Kutenai (Int. Congr. of Anth., Chicago, 1894, 283, 284; E. F. Wilson, Our Forest Children, 1890, 3:166).
Lillooet (Teit JAFL 25:314).
 Micmac (Rand 183).
Nez Percé (MAFLS 11: Mayer-Farrand 176; Spinden 192).
Osage (Dorsey FM 7:41).
Rivers Inlet (Boas, Sagen 224).
Shoshoni (Lowie PaAM 2:288).
Shuswap (Teit JE 2:698).
Squamish (Boas, Sagen 57; Hill-Tout BAAS 70:545).
Stsee'lis (Hill-Tout JAI 34:347).
Thompson (Teit MAFLS 6:63; 11:26; JE 8:265).
```

Ute (Powell RBAE 1:45).

Second Version.—Owl carries the children away in a bark basket, the inside of which is set with awls. Coyote pretends to be a child, and is carried away by an Owl. He sends the children to get gum. Owl dances; and when he gets hot, Coyote gums up his eyes and burns him. The ashes are transformed into owls.

Third Version.—Covote transforms himself into a child. When he cries, he is 51thrown out of the tent, and Owl carries him along. He induces Owl to dance, and kills him.

37

38

38

39

51

- 20. Coyote and Trout (No. 25).—In winter Coyote meets a Trout Woman, marries her, and follows her into the water, which they reach by jumping into a water hole. The Trout goes to a place where people are fishing, saying that there is much food there. Coyote breaks the hook. The people make a large hook, by means of which they pull him out of the water. When he is all out, the people club him. He shouts, saying that he is not a trout, but Coyote. He resumes his former shape.
- 21. Coyote and Caribou (No. 35).—Caribou grows fat by eating young grass. When 51 he is fat, Coyote kills him and then mourns for him.
- 22. Coyote and Deer (No. 37).—Coyote intends to kill Deer, and in pursuing him is frightened by the wind. He kills Deer, who is holding his own head. He asks whether he is holding Deer's father's war bonnet. The story is not by any means clear.
- 23. Covote's Contests 1 (No. 49).—The people of several towns have killed 69 71

```
Coyote's relatives. Coyote asks Woodpecker, Flicker, Hawk, Chicken Hawk, and
 <sup>1</sup> The following are parallels of similar matches:
    Climbing:
      Chinook (BBAE 20:57).
      Coos (Frachtenberg CU 1:91).
      Luiseño (Du Bois UCal 8:148).
       Nez Percé (Spinden MAFLS 11:194).
      Quinault (Farrand JE 2:103).
      Shuswap (Boas, Sagen 2; Teit JE 2:645).
      Wishram (PAES 2:87).
     Diving:
       Alsea (personal communication from L. J. Frachtenberg).
       Chinook (BBAE 20:57).
      Comox (Boas, Sagen 79).
      Nez Percé (Spinden MAFLS 11:194).
      Pawnee (Dorsey CI 59:228).
      Quinault (Farrand JE 2:103).
      Shoshoni (Lowie PaAM 2:277).
     Shooting:
      Chinook (Boas, BBAE 20:58).
      Kathlamet (Boas, BBAE 26:67).
      Nootka (Boas, Sagen 107).
      Tlingit (Boas, Sagen 319).
     Wrestling:
      Shoshoni (Lowie PaAM 2:277).
       Wishram (Sapir PAES 2:89).
      See also Kathlamet (Boas, BBAE 26:138); Thompson (Teit JE 8:244, 245, 340; MAFLS 6:67);
        Lillooet (Teit JAFL 25:319).
    Eating:
      Luiseño (Du Bois UCal 8:148).
      Shoshoni (Lowie Pa AM 2:277).
    Sweat house:
      See Boas, RBAE 31:807, 808; also Yana (Sapir UCal 9:69, smoke test).
      Kathlamet (Boas BBAE 26:115); Luiseño (Du Bois UCal 8:149); Quinault (Farrand JE 2:104)
    Harpooning:
      Chinook (Boas BBAE 20:33, 58).
      Tillamook (Boas JAFL 11:25).
      Yana (Sapir UCal 9:71).
    Gambling:
      Chinook (Boas BBAE 20:34).
      Quinault (Farrand JE 2:113).
      Tillamook (Boas JAFL 11:31).
      Wishram (Sapir PAES 2:81, 85).
    See also Boas RBAE 31:812; Yana (Sapir UCal 9:69 et seq.); Luiseño (Du Bois UCal 8:148 et seq.).
```

Bluejay to accompany him and to have contests with these people. In the first town they have a diving-contest, in which Duck is matched against Beaver. According to Coyote's instruction, Duck hides under a canoe and breathes through a knot hole. After Beaver has come up, Duck comes up too. In the second town they have a wrestling-match. Flicker wrestles with Kneecap and is almost defeated. Hawk sends his supernatural power to help Flicker. When Kneecap is almost overcome, Flicker finishes the contest alone. In a third town they have an eating-match, which is won by Bluejay. Then Coyote and his friends begin to quarrel, each wanting to go to a different place. Coyote wants to go to swamps, Duck to lakes, Flicker to dry trees, Woodpecker to thick woods, Hawk to scattered trees. They separate accordingly.

- 12724. COYOTE AND DOG (2 versions: No. 56 and VAEU 23:167).—Coyote's wife, Dog, and her two children, cut fuel. When the tree falls, a deer jumps out, which Dog holds. The children call Coyote to kill it. When they call him, he spills the rose hips on which they are living, makes a bow, and goes to shoot the deer. He tramps down the snow and tells Dog to let go of the deer. His first arrow passes over the 129deer, which breaks through the snow. The second one passes under it. The deer escapes. Coyote travels along on his snowshoes, and finds that they are full of shrews, which he roasts. Dog is carrying her daughter on her back. She sees the fire, and thinks that Coyote has killed the deer. Dog and her daughter leave Coyote and his 131 son. Coyote reaches a lake and catches young beavers, which he ties to his son as ear ornaments. While he is away, the beavers revive, and drag the boy into the water. Coyote returns to save the boy, and kills the beavers. He gives the beaver fat to his 133son, while he eats the meat, but afterwards he exchanges meat and fat. Coyote plays sliding down a hill. While he is doing so, his son freezes to death. On going on, he comes to a town in which he finds a woman and her child. The child knows his 135thoughts. He discovers that the child is his grandson. He rejoins his wife, the Dog. When the hunters return in the evening with venison, Coyote enters the tent; but they pretend not to see him, and soil his blanket. When he returns, his wife tells 137him that only hunters are allowed to take part in the evening meal. On the following day he joins them, and says he will kill two bucks and a grizzly bear with seven young ones. When they are out, Coyote sits down at the head of the line of hunters. people claim that this is improper, because he has not obtained any game. chief of the hunters, Sun, carries pitchwood for starting a fire. Covote puts flicker feathers in his moccasin, and when he runs fire starts. He surrounds the deer with fire and kills them. The hunters say that every hunter must carry his own game. Coyote calls his manitous, who tell him that the hunters blow on their game to make it small. He does the same, and carries home seven bears and two bucks. When he kicks the game into the tent, it assumes its natural size. In the evening he does not join the feasters until his wife tells him that he may go. In the Sun's tent he sees a shield (drying-frame?), which he steals. After walking a long distance, he lies down to sleep, and on the following morning finds that he is back in the Sun's tent. This is repeated until the Sun tells him that he must walk a whole day and a whole night
- (167) Second Version (VAEU 23).—Coyote's wife, Dog, goes gathering wood and catches a deer. She sends her daughter to Coyote to kill it. Coyote has no arrows, and makes two. He travels slowly because the snow is deep. He tells his wife to let go of the (168) deer. He misses it. He tells his wife that they will pursue the deer, and asks her to follow. The woman packs up the tent and follows. Coyote feels that his snowshoes are heavy, and finds that they are full of mice, which he fries. He gives one

before lying down.²

¹ Blackfoot (Uhlenbeck VKAWA 13:191).

² For the attempted theft see:

Nez Percé (MAFLS 11; Mayer-Farrand 173; Spinden 186). Okanagon (Hill-Tout JAI 41:144).

pile to his wife and daughter, and keeps another for himself and son. The dog and her daughter desert him. She goes to the Sun, who marries the daughter. Coyote consoles his son, saying that Dog will come back when she has nothing to eat. He catches beavers, and uses two young beavers as ear ornaments for his son. He goes to get wood. The beavers revive and pull the boy into the water. Coyote rescues him. He goes with his son to a place where two lakes are, connected by a small river. He cries, sitting on the shore of the lake. The Ducks ask him why he is crying. The Ducks offer to play with him. They dive and fly from one lake to the other. In this game Coyote is almost drowned. In order to take revenge, he splits a tree and spreads it. Thus he places it in the river. He tells the ducks to swim from one river to the other, and every day a few are caught in the trap. Coyote takes them to his tent and singes off the feathers. Lynx smells the burning feathers, causes Coyote to sleep, steals the ducks, and pulls out the nose and legs of Coyote and of his son, In return Coyote and his son kick in Lynx's face and break his tail.² Lynx is frightened and runs away. Coyote goes to search for his wife, and finds her in the Sun's house. His daughter is holding an ugly child, which hears his thoughts when he thinks that the child is ugly. He wishes to kick the child. The child moves, and thus produces a gale, which starts their fire. The hunters come back, and all the women must leave before they begin to eat. Coyote is also sent away because he has not been out hunting. When he does not go, the hunters soil his blanket and do not give him anything to eat. The woman feeds him. Sun is blind. Wolf tries to restore her eyesight, and after four attempts he succeeds. On the following day Coyote joins the hunters, who go out carrying torches. Coyote does not carry any fire. When he puts feathers into his snowshoes, he produces fire with every step. The chief tests the running-powers of men by letting two run in a circle in opposite directions. Coyote kills seven grizzly bears and two deer. The hunters shake the game in order to make it small, and leave him. Coyote learns from his dung advisers what to do with the (170) animals. He blows on them, and they shrink. He puts them into his belt and runs home. He is allowed to eat with the hunters. One day he leaves in order to visit his son. He steals the Sun's torch. After walking some distance, he lies down to sleep; and when he awakes, he finds he is back in the Sun's house. After this has happened three times, the Sun tells him that he must run for three days and three nights without stopping, and then the Sun will not return to him.

25. COYOTE AND FOX 3 (No. 58).—Coyote and Fox send their sons to obtain supernatural power. Coyote's son returns soon; Fox's son stays away the whole night. The one receives as his power moonlight; the other, darkness.4 The two boys go to a village in which the people play with a hoop. Young Coyote wants to steal it; Young Fox wants to wait until morning. When Young Fox is ready to start, Young Coyote is asleep. The hoop is in a tent in which two people stand watching the doorway, each holding a hammer.⁵ The two pass, take the hoop, which touches the doorway a little and makes a sound. The two old people awake and call the other 147 people, who pursue the boys. Young Coyote carries the hoop. When he becomes tired, he gives it to Young Fox. Young Coyote is caught, and the people say they will not kill him. Young Fox rolls the hoop ahead and sings, saying that Young Coyote has been killed. Old Coyote understands that Young Fox has been killed. The hoop rolls into the tent, and falls down where Coyote is sitting. Then he knows that his own son has been captured. Old Coyote and Fox make war on the people

143 145

149

See p. 296, No. 18.

^{2 †} See p. 296, footnote 4.

³ Compare the related tales:

Pawnee (Dorsey CI 59:231).

Shuswap (Teit JE 2:642).

Thompson (Teit MAFLS 6:32; JE 8:313; also Teit MAFLS 11:2).

Nez Percé (Mayer-Farrand MAFLS 11:142).

⁵ See p. 304, No. 30.

155

157

159

171

who have captured Young Coyote. They find the people using Young Coyote in place of their hoop. Fox makes a sign to him, and Young Coyote runs away and makes 151his escape.

Salmon hears about the hoop, and tries to win it by gambling with Coyote. Coyote and his partner Young Fox lose the hoop. Coyote sends Young Fox to Old Fox to borrow his partridge tail. Fox plays with Young Coyote as partner against Salmon, and wins back what Coyote has lost. Salmon loses his daughter, who is then married to Young Coyote.

The couple have a child. They travel in their canoe to the Salmon country. Fox accompanies them. The woman is seated in the bow of the canoe. They reach a dangerous place. Fox, Coyote, and his son enter a bladder. Fox has his pipe in the hole of the bladder. The canoe upsets above the falls and sinks; but they come up unharmed below the falls, drifting down in the bladder. The same happens at another place.

When they reach the Salmon country, the woman climbs a steep precipice, on which she hopes to kill Coyote and Fox. Fox throws tobacco on it, and they are able to climb it. The woman asks her elder brother to kill Fox and Coyote. He throws dog manure into the fire in order to suffocate them, but Fox saves them in his bladder.2 They are sent out to fish salmon during the night. Covote stays behind in the tent, and is warned not to fall asleep, because the people will kill him. He is also told to come out if he should see a small fire, which would indicate that Fox and Coyote were fighting with the Salmon people. Two old persons stand in the doorway; and when Coyote sees the light of the canoe getting small, he rushes out. Coyote deceives the old people, who kill each other with their hammers. Coyote goes aboard the canoe.

The woman's brother transforms himself into a salmon. A Salmon boy, who accompanies them, moves his torch so that Fox shall not hit the salmon with his spear. The boy tells Fox to strike the salmon tail. If he should have done so, the salmon would have upset the canoe. Fox knows this, and strikes the stomach of the salmon. They cut off its head. Coyote is told not to look back. He disobeys, and the canoe can not be moved. The pursuers are satisfied when Fox throws the salmon head into 161 the water, and the canoe moves on.

The people are sent to dive for the salmon head, and the one who succeeds in getting it is promised the Salmon chief's daughter.³ Turtle succeeds, and marries the girl, who refuses to talk. When he makes her laugh by tickling her, he finds that her mouth has a foul smell, and he leaves her.

26. COYOTE KILLS PANTHER AND LIBERATES THE SALMON (No. 60).—Coyote's wife, 165 Dog, sends him to visit Panther. He finds him engaged in making arrows, while his wife is cleaning skins. They refuse to give him food. He sends his wife, telling her that their meat is hanging close to the doorway. Panther scolds her. When she returns. Covote makes a bow for himself and his son, and a hammer for his wife and his daughter. They attack Panther, and eventually kill him and his family. They skin them and throw the bodies out of the tent.

Coyote acts as Panther used to do: he calls the game, which appears, and which he shoots. Since he shoots too much, the game disappears, except two animals. The animals suffer, and say that they recognize that it is Coyote who has shot too many of them. They send Little Flathorn, who discovers the bodies of the Panthers. The animals make war on Coyote. They throw stones down from the mountains. Coyote paints himself and puts on his war dress. His wife and his children are killed by the stones, and finally he himself is hit.

¹ Shuswap (Teit JE 2:624).

² See Boas RBAE 31:808; also Blackfoot (Uhlenbeck VKAWA 13:157).

³ Okanagon (Hill-Tout JAI 41:160).

Shuswap (Teit JE 2:676).

Thompson (Teit MAFLS 6:64, 11:25; JE 8:240).

He transforms himself into a plank 1 and drifts down the river. He lands at a fish trap. Two girls find him and carry him to the tent. When they put fish on the plank, it eats the fish. They recognize that he is Coyote, and throw him into the water.

173

He sees two girls picking berries, and transforms himself into an infant, which they carry home. The girls stay at home, watching the child. Coyote sees that when one of the girls stretches her hand backward, salmon fall down; and that when the other one stretches out her hands, a fawn falls down. When the berries are all eaten, they deliberate whether they may leave the child alone and tell him to put out the fire. Since he is able to do so, they go out. When the girls are gone, he discovers the salmon and fawns behind the tent. He digs a ditch to the river. On the following 175 day he completes the ditch and drives the salmon into the river. He throws the fawn into the fire and leaves it. He sets fire to the house. When the girls come back, they find the salmon gone. They think that the bones in the fireplace are those of the child. Finally they recognize that they have been fooled by Coyote, and ask him to leave some food. He shakes his blanket, and a few of the salmon turn back.

He meets Wolverene, who is fishing. Wolverene's sister announces his arrival; and Wolverene says that the visitor is Coyote, and asks her not to look at him. For this reason Covote does not give them salmon. He meets Sparrow, who is fishing. When his arrival is announced, Sparrow accepts him, and his daughter marries him. Therefore he leaves salmon there. On the following morning he tells the salmon to go into the fish trap, first one, then two, then three, and finally many. Coyote leaves 179 his wife, and closes the passage between Columbia Lakes and Kootenai River.

177

27. Origin of the Seasons ² (No. 61).—Coyote goes to Squirrel to ask for food. She has no more, and tells him that spring is still far away. He tells her what to do. Squirrel cries, and says there will be no food until spring. The seasons are kept in another town; and after twelve months of winter, the owners until the bag containing spring, summer, and fall. The people start to steal the summer season. They go to a town in the sky, and Lynx is sent ahead to enter the tent. The people are placed outside at intervals, the strongest one farthest away from the tent.³ The Lynx boy goes into the tent, and two old women tell him where the springtime is hanging. He heats some gum by the fire; and when it is melted, he sticks it on the mouths of the old women. Then he takes down the bag containing the spring. The women can not speak, but finally the people discover that the bag containing the spring is being

181

```
<sup>1</sup> For the second part see:
```

Cœur d'Alène (Teit MAFLS 11:121).

Flathead (Wilson, Trans. Ethn. Soc. of London, 1866, 4:313).

Hupa (Goddard UCal 1:124).

Lillooet (Teit JAFL 25:303).

Nez Percé (Spinden JAFL 21:15; Mayer-Farrand MAFLS 11:139).

Okanagon (Hill-Tout JAI 41:146; Teit MAFLS 11:67, 70).

Sanpoil (Gould MAFLS 11:101).

Seshelt (Hill-Tout JAI 34:43).

Shoshoni (Lowie PaAM 2:275, 278).

Shuswap (Teit JE 2:629, 741).

Thompson (Teit MAFLS 6:27, 28; 11:7; JE 8:205, 301; Hill-Tout BAAS 1899:559; FL 10:207; Boas. Sagen 18).

Wishram (Sapir PAES 2:3).

Also Caddo (Dorsey CI 41:61, 108).

² Assiniboin (Lowie PaAM 4:101).

Chippewayan (Petitot 373; a much-distorted version, Lofthouse, Transactions Canadian Institute 10:43). Crow (Simms FM 2:283).

Gros Ventre (Kroeber PaAM 1:65).

Ojibwa (Carson JAFL 30:492; Jones PAES 7, pt. 2, 469).

Shoshoni (Lowie-St. Clair JAFL 22:279).

Shuswap (Teit JE 2:624; see also 671).

Slavey (Bell JAFL 14:26).

Thompson (Teit MAFLS 11:3).

Yana (Sapir UCal 9:211).

See also Chilcotin (Farrand JE 2:25).

8 Kaska (Teit JAFL 30:443).

Shoshoni (Lowie PaAM 2:245).

Thompson (Teit MAFLS 6:33, 11:2).

carried away. The animals throw it from one to another, and at last to the grizzly bear, who tears the bag; then the heat comes out, and the snow melts.

28. Coyote Juggles with his Eyes 1 (No. 62).—Coyote sees a man, Snipe, who takes his eyes out of their sockets and throws them up. Then they fall back. Coyote steals the eyes. He puts his fingers into the eyes of Snipe, who finally catches him, tears out Coyote's eyes, puts them into his own eye sockets, and takes Coyote's eyes to his tent. Coyote finds some gum and puts it into his orbits; but when it is hot, the gum melts. He puts some foam into his orbits; it bursts, and he is blind again. He picks huckleberries, which he uses for eyes. Then he meets two children who are picking huckleberries, takes out the eyes of one of them, and uses them for his own. On his way to the town he hears that the people are using Coyote's eyes to obtain good luck. He kills the old woman who gives him this information, shakes her body out of her skin, and assumes her shape. When the granddaughters of the old woman come, he asks them to take him to the place where the people are playing with Coyote's eyes. Then he dances, and during the dance he takes away the eyes.

```
out of her skin, and assumes her shape.2 When the granddaughters of the old woman
      come, he asks them to take him to the place where the people are playing with Coyote's
189
        29. COYOTE AND DEER<sup>3</sup> (No. 63).—The deer kills the people. Coyote resolves to
      pull out its teeth. When the deer gets his scent, it pursues him. Coyote catches
        <sup>1</sup> Apache, Jicarilla (Mooney AA 11:197).
         Arapaho (Dorsey and Kroeber FM 5:52).
         Assiniboin (Lowie PaAM 4:117).
         Blackfoot (Wissler PaAM 29; Grinnell, Lodge Tales 153; Uhlenbeck VKAWA 13:195).
         Caddo (Dorsey CI 41:103).
         Cheyenne (Kroeber JAFL 13:168).
         Comanche (Lowie-St. Clair JAFL 22:278).
         Cree (Russell, Expl. in Far North 215).
         Gros Ventre (Kroeber PaAM 1:70).
         Hopi (Voth FM 8:194).
         Navaho (Matthews MAFLS 5:90).
         Nez Percé (Spinden JAFL 21:19; Mayer-Farrand MAFLS 11:155).
         Shoshoni (Lowie-St. Clair JAFL 22:269; PaAM 2:272).
         Shuswap (Boas, Sagen 7; Teit JE 2:632).
         Sia (Stevenson RBAE 11:153).
         Thompson (Teit JE 8:212).
         Ute, Uinta (Mason JAFL 23:315).
         Zuñi (Cushing, Folk Tales 262, 268; Handy JAFL 31).
        <sup>2</sup> Alsea (personal communication from L. J. Frachtenberg).
         Assiniboin (Lowie PaAM 4:147, 157).
         Blackfoot (Wissler PaAM 2:152).
         Chippewayan (Lofthouse Transactions Canadian Institute 10:44).
         Chukchee (Bogoras JE 8:45).
         Coos (Frachtenberg CU 1:151, [169]).
         Cree (John McLean, Canadian Savage Folk, 74).
         Eskimo (Boas BAM 15:185).
         Fox (Jones PAES 1:355).
         Haida (Swanton BBAE 29:110, 118, 136, 160).
         Menominee (Hoffman 133).
         Nez Percé (Spinden JAFL 21:211; Mayer-Farrand MAFLS 11:156, 173).
         Ojibwa (Jones PAES 7:147, 263, 401; Schoolcraft, Hiawatha 40; de Josselin de Jong BArch S 5:14; Speck
           GSCan 71:34).
         Omaha (Dorsey CNAE 6:241).
         Pawnee (Dorsey CI 59:170, 442, 506; see also MAFLS 8:250).
         Shoshoni (Lowie PaAM 2:241, 243, 260).
         Shuswap (Teit JE 2:676, 694).
         Stseē'lis (Hill-Tout JAI 34:349).
         Takelma (Sapir UPenn 161).
         Thompson (Teit JE 8:[213], 239, 242, 266, 309; MAFLS 6:63).
         Tillamook (Boas JAFL 11:137).
         Wishram (Sapir PAES 2:111).
         Yana (Sapir UCal 9:158, 216; Curtin, Creation Myths, 318, 359).
         Zuñi (Cushing, Folk Tales 461).
        Blackfoot (Grinnell, Lodge Tales 140).
         Caddo (Dorsey CI 41:50).
         Cheyenne (Kroeber JAFL 13:161).
         Menominee (Skinner PaAM 13:411).
         Pawnee (Dorsey CI 59:67).
         Shuswap (Teit JE 2:653).
         Tahltan (Teit MS).
         Thompson (Teit MAFLS 11:3).
```

the deer and pulls out its teeth and makes a tail of grass for it. He tells the deer to snort when it sees people. He kills two deer and comes to the town, and people are scared when they see him carrying the deer.

30. RAVEN (No. 65).—A chief wishes that everybody shall die twice. Everybody 213 agrees except Raven, who wants to eat the eyes of corpses. His decision is accepted. The people kill Raven's two children, and he wishes in vain to have the previous decision reversed.1

Ant tightens his belt in order to bury the dead. For that reason the ant has a narrow waist.2

Raven is hungry and hides the buffalo.³ The people are starving. They ask Beaver to pretend to be dead. Raven appears and wants to eat Beaver's eyes. Beaver holds him, and the people capture him. Raven is taken into the tent where the people are assembled. Coyote sits on top of the smoke hole. Raven refuses to tell where he has hidden the game. Finally he shouts and frightens Coyote, who falls down. Then Raven flies away through the smoke hole. Magpie has good eyes, and

```
sees in what direction Raven is flying. This makes Coyote angry, and he throws dust
 Apache, Jicarilla (Goddard PaAM 8:194; Russell JAFL 11:258).
   Arapaho (Dorsey and Kroeber FM 5:17, 81).
   Assiniboin (Lowie PaAM 4:104).
   Blackfoot (Wissler PaAM 2:20, 21; de Josselin de Jong VKAWA 14:29; Grinnell, Lodge Tales 138, 272).
   Caddo (Dorsey CI 41:14, 15).
  Chevenne (Kroeber JAFL 13:161).
  Cœur d'Alène (Teit MAFLS 11:125).
   Comanche (Lowie-St. Clair JAFL 22:279).
  Coos (Frachtenberg CU 1:43; also 4:41).
   Diegueño (Du Bois JAFL 14:183).
   Dog-Rib (Sir John Franklin, Narrative of a Second Expedition to the Shores of the Polar Sea [Lon-
     don, 1828], p. 293).
  Eskimo (David Crantz, Historie von Grönland 262).
  Hare (Petitot 115).
  Kaska (Teit JAFL 30:444).
  Klamath (Gatschet CNAE 2:103).
  Lillooet (Teit JAFL 25:356).
  Maidu (Dixon BAM 17:43, 46, 47; PAES 4:29, 51; Merriam 55).
  Miwok (Merriam 55, 132).
  Navaho (MAFLS 5:77).
  Pawnee (Dorsey CI 59:44, MAFLS 8:17).
  Pomo (Merriam 213).
  Quinault (Farrand JE 2:111).
  Sanpoil (Gould MAFLS 11:106).
  Shasta (Dixon JAFL 23:19; Frachtenberg-Farrand JAFL 28:209).
  Shoshoni (Lowie PaAM 2:239).
  Shuswap (Teit JE 2:746).
  Tahltan (Teit MS).
  Takelma (Sapir UPenn 2:99).
  Thompson (Teit JE 8:329, 330; Teit MAFLS 11:1).
  Ute (Powell RBAE 1:45).
  Wintun (Curtin, Creation Myths, 163, 174).
  Wishosk (Kroeber JAFL 18:96, 99).
  Yana (Sapir UCal 9:91).
  See also Luiseño (Du Bois UCal 8:134, 146).
 <sup>2</sup> Thompson (Teit MAFLS 6:25).
 3 Apache, Jicarilla (Goddard PaAM 8:212; Russell JAFL 11:259).
  Arapaho (FM 5:275).
  Beaver (Goddard PaAM 10:250).
  Blackfoot (Wissler PaAM 2:50; Uhlenbeck VKAWA 13:164; Grinnell, Lodge Tales 145).
  Chippewayan (Petitot 379; Lowie PaAM 10:184).
```

Comanche (Lowie-St. Clair JAFL 22:280).

Nez Percé (Mayer-Farrand MAFLS 11:162).

Gros Ventre (Kroeber PaAM 1:65).

See also Caddo (Dorsey CI 41:10).

Kaska (Teit JAFL 30:441).

Pawnee (Dorsey CI 59:43). Thompson (Teit JE 8:241).

into Magpie's eyes. Therefore magpies' eyes water. The people send Jack Rabbit (Dog?) and Hare to look for game. They reach a tent inhabited by two old women. They see the tracks of buffaloes. The one transforms herself into a pup; the other one, into a stone. The dog lies down near a water hole. One of the old women wants to throw the pup into the water; the other one pities the pup and takes it home. The other woman takes the stone home in order to use it as an anvil. A bladder and a bunch of claws are hanging in the doorway. When the buffaloes come in, these two give notice by their noise. At night the one boy breaks the bladder with a stick; the other one steals the claws. When the boys are some distance away, they shake the claws and sing, calling the buffaloes. The game runs out of the tent. The women find that the bladder is broken and the rattle taken away. The women with lifted hammers stand by the side of the trail of the game. The two youths hang on with their teeth to the testicles of a buffalo bull. The women strike it, and make its sides flat. All the pemmican in the house rolls out. Thus the game is secured by the people.

31. The Deluge (2 versions: Nos. 27 and 66). First Version.—Chicken Hawk's wife picks huckleberries. A sea monster abducts her. Chicken Hawk shoots the monster, which drinks all the water. When Chicken Hawk pulls out his arrow, the water streams out, and there is a deluge. Chicken Hawk takes off his tail and puts it up, saying that if the water rises higher than the stripes on his tail the people will die. The water stops before reaching the last stripe, and then goes down again.

Second Version.—Chicken Hawk's wife, Grouse, picks huckleberries. When swim-219ming in a lake, the water monster threatens to kill her. She pours the huckleberries 221into its mouth. When she goes home, she pretends to have been unable to pick huckleberries because she felt ill. When she goes out again, she meets the sea monster, who becomes her lover. When going home, she pretends to be sick. Finally Chicken Hawk goes out to watch her. He sees her with the sea monster. When his wife 223comes home, he tells her that the huckleberries are bad, and asks her to wash them. On the following day Chicken Hawk follows her, and shoots the water monster with one of his two arrows. With the other one he shoots his wife, whom he transforms into a grouse. The water monster goes back into the lake and drinks lake and rivers. 225 Then he dies. The people almost die of thirst. Chicken Hawk pulls out the arrow. and the people are able to drink again. The water rises, and the people climb the mountains. He places his tail upright, and says that if the water should pass the third stripe of the tail the world would come to an end. The water stops rising before reaching the last stripe, and goes down again.

```
Assiniboin (Lowie PaAM 4:177).
Bellacoola (Boas, Sagen 247).
Caddo (Dorsey CI 41:66).
Cheyenne (Kroeber JAFL 13:184).
Chippewayan (Petitot 407; Lowie PaAM 1:187).
Chukchee (Bogoras JE 8:26).
Cree (Russell, Expl. in Far North 202).
Lillooet (Teit JAFL 25:334).
Ojibwa (Jones JAFL 29:379, 387; Schoolcraft, Hiawatha 265).
Passamaquoddy (Leland 273).
Shuswap (Teit JE 2:724, 725).
Sioux (Wissler JAFL 20:195).
Thompson (Teit MAFLS 6:83; JE 8:372).
Ts!Ets!a'ut (Boas JAFL 9:259).
```

Tungus (A. Schiefner, Baron Gerhard von Maydell's Tungusische Sprachproben [Mélanges asiatiques tires du Bulletin de l'académie impériale des sciences St. Petersburg, 7:349]).

Yana (distantly related) (Sapir UCal 9:156).

```
<sup>2</sup> Chilula (Goddard UCal 10:361).
```

Huron (Hale JAFL 1:181).

Luiseño (Du Bois UCal 8:156).

Micmac (Speck JAFL 28:62 [frog keeps water in bladders]).

³ Kaska (Teit JAFL 30:439).

⁴ A Beaver story (Goddard PaAM 10:237) may refer to a similar deluge.

23

23

- 32. CHICKADEE AND ELK 1 (No. 14).—Chickadee wishes to cross a river, and asks 21Elk to take him across. While Elk is carrying him, Chickadee kills him.
- 33. Frog and Partridge (No. 15).—Frog Woman marries Partridge. After a while Partridge finds his first wife, and they go back to their children.
- 34. Beaver and Turtle 2 (No. 16).—Turtle goes after the head of a chief while he is asleep. He is captured the next morning. The people threaten to cut off his head: Turtle says he does not fear a knife. They threaten to shoot him: he says he does not fear a bow. They threaten to chop him up: he says he does not fear an ax. They threaten to drown him, and he asks them not to do it. When he is thrown into the water, he swims away, shaking the head of the chief. The people try to pursue him; but Beaver gnaws through their bows, and the pursuers go back.
- 35. Skunk and Panther 3 (3 versions: Nos. 17, 26, and 34). First Version.— Panther sees Skunk coming, and pretends to be dead. Skunk carries him on his back. Skunk puts Panther down and covers him with his bucket, which Panther breaks. When Skunk comes back, he sees Panther's tracks. Panther climbs a tree. Skunk

```
Apache, Jicarilla (Goddard PaAM 8:228; Russell JAFL 11:263).
 Assiniboin (Lowie PaAM 4:202).
 Chilcotin (Farrand JE 2:40).
 Nez Percé (Spinden JAFL 21:21).
 Okanagon (Gatschet, Globus 52:137).
 Osage (Dorsey FM 7:15, 16).
 Pawnee (Dorsey CI 59:453).
 Sanpoil (Gould MAFLS 11:107).
 Shoshoni (Lowie PaAM 2:267).
 Shuswap (Teit JE 2:751).
 Thompson (Teit MAFLS 6:76).
 Ute (Kroeber JAFL 14:270).
 Ute, Uinta (Mason JAFL 23:316).
 Wichita (Dorsey CI 21:271).
 Zuñi (Cushing, Folk Tales 243).
 See also Caddo (Dorsey CI 41:99); Maidu (Dixon BAM 17:83).
<sup>2</sup>Biloxi (J. O. Dorsey JAFL 6:49).
 Blackfoot (Wissler PaAM 2:160).
 Cherokee (Mooney RBAE 19:278).
 Cheyenne (Kroeber JAFL 13:189).
 Dakota (Wissler JAFL 20:126).
 Hopi (Voth FM 8:182).
 Kickapoo (Jones PAES 9:39).
 Laguna (Parsons Pueblo-Indian Folk-Tales, No. X, JAFL 31).
 Menominee (Skinner PaAM 13:392).
 Micmae and Passamaguoddy (Leland 56).
Natchez (Swanton JAFL 26:193).
 Ojibwa (Jones JAFL 29:368; PAES 7 [pt. 2]: 117, 343; Radin GSCan 48:61).
 Okanagon (Gatschet, Globus 52:138).
 Osage (Dorsey FM 7:16).
 Pawnee (Dorsey MAFLS 8:275; CI 59:469).
 Ponca (Dorsey CNAE 6:275; JAFL 1:207).
 See also Celebes (Revue des traditions populaires 14: 547); Philippine I. (Bayliss JAFL 21:47); Visayan
```

(Millington and Maxfield JAFL 20:316); Ceylon (Jātaka No. 543, ed. Fausböll, 6.161, 12); Burmah (Journal Royal Asiatic Society n. s. 24); China (Stanislas Julien, Les Avadânas 1.201); Angola (Chatelain MAFLS 1:154; A. Seidel, Geschichten und Lieder der Afrikaner 153); North American negroes (Harris, Uncle Remus 53; Parsons JAFL 30:171, 181, 225, where other references to American negro versions will be found).

Compare the corresponding tale of the crayfish (Schildbürgerbuch, edited by Bobertag 41) and of Brer Rabbit (JAFL 1:148; Harris, Uncle Remus 25; Fortier MAFLS 2:35; Parsons MAFLS 13:15); Brazil (Herbert Smith, Brazil, The Amazons and the Coast 551). (Quoted after Dähnhardt, Natursagen 4:44.) See also Chinook (Boas BBAE 20:121); Quinault (Farrand JE 2:91); Snohomish (Haeberlin, personal information).

```
3 Okanagon (Hill-Tout JAI 41:148).
 Sanpoil (Gould MAFLS 11:106).
 Shoshoni (Lowie PaAM 2:271).
     85543°—Bull. 59—18——20
```

sees Panther's reflection in the water. He tries to hit him in the water with his fluid. When he is unable to do so, he lies down and sees Panther in the tree. He turns to shoot him; but Panther kills him with his arrow, which he points with his claw.

- Second Version.—Panther sees Skunk coming, and pretends to be dead. Skunk puts him into a bucket and carries him along. Skunk says he is afraid only of whistling. Somebody whistles. Skunk is scared, puts down Panther, who breaks the bucket. Skunk finds Panther's tracks. Panther climbs a tree. When Skunk drinks, he sees Panther's reflection, and tries to kill him in the water by means of his fluid. When he is tired, he lies down and sees Panther in the tree. He shoots him and kills him.
- 48 Third Version.—Skunk finds Fox, whom he puts into a pot. He says that he is afraid of whistling. Somebody whistles. Skunk runs away. Fox breaks the pot and escapes. Skunk pursues Fox, who hides in a tree. Skunk sees Fox's reflection in the water,² and tries to kill him. When Skunk is tired. Fox shoots him.
- 43 36. CHICKEN HAWK AND TOAD (No. 28).—(This story is almost unintelligible.) Chicken Hawk and Blue Hawk are hunters. Toad and Golden Eagle (?) marry them. Chicken Hawk kills Toad. Toad's parents find her. and try to kill Chicken Hawk. They capture him and put him over the fire. Blue Hawk knows what is happening to his brother, and rescues him.
- 37. Chipmunk and Owl 3 (2 versions: Nos. 32 and 46). First Version.—Frog is the grandmother of Chipmunk. She sends her to the river, where she gathers rose hips. She meets Owl, who pretends that Chipmunk's mother wishes her to accompany Owl. Chipmunk asks Owl to cover his eyes, and runs away. She runs back to her grandmother, and asks her to hide her. Frog puts her into a kettle of soup, in which Chipmunk is drowned.
- Second Version.—Frog warns her granddaughter, Chipmunk, not to go to the river. She disobeys, and meets Owl, who tries to seduce her by saying that her relatives want her to accompany him. She always replies that the particular relative is dead. Chipmunk asks Owl to cover his eyes, and escapes. Owl just succeeds in scratching Chipmunk's back. Chipmunk asks her grandmother to hide her. When she puts her into a basket. Chipmunk makes a noise. When she puts her into her mouth, she can not hold her. She puts her into a kettle with soup. Owl arrives. Frog says that she has not seen Chipmunk. Owl asks for a drink, discovers the soup, drinks it, and finds Chipmunk in the bottom. He kills her. Frog washes the benes of Chipmunk, and revives her.
- 25 38. Mosquito 4 (No. 18).—Mosquito is invited to eat choke cherries and service berries, but declines. He is offered blood, and drinks a great deal. He is killed, and small mosquitoes fly out of his body.

```
Assiniboin (Lowie PaAM 4:109).
 Bellacoola (Boas, Sagen 253; JE 1:84).
 Blackfoot (Uhlenbeck VKAWA 12:64; Wissler PaAM 2:29; Grinnell, Lodge Tales 157).
 Caddo (Dorsey CI 41:97).
 Chilcotin (Farrand JE 2:28).
 Comox (Boas, Sagen 66, 80).
 Haida (Swanton BBAE 29:329; JE 5:265).
Kaska (Teit JAFL 30:433).
 Kwakiutl (Boas, Sagen 168; Rep. U. S. Nat. Mus. 1895:373).
 Nootka (Boas, Sagen 114).
 Ojibwa (Jones PAES 7:117, 179).
 Osage (Dorsey FM 7:17).
 Quinault (Farrand JE 2:100, 123).
 Shuswap (Teit JE 2:753).
Tahltan (Teit MS).
 Thompson (Teit MAFLS 6:45).
 Tsimshian (Boas RBAE 31:741).
 See also Dähnhardt, Natursagen 4:230; Pochutla, México (Boas JAFL 25:206); Chatino, México.
  (Boas JAFI, 25:237); Bahama Islands (Parsons MAFLS 13:106).
<sup>2</sup> See note 1, above.
3 Okanagon (Hill-Tout JAI 41:143); Sanpoil (Gould MAFLS 11:105).
4 Lillooet (Teit JAFL 25:311).
```

Shuswap (Teit JE 2:709).

Thompson (Teit MAFLS 6:56; JE 2:229, 335).

47

39. RACE OF FROG AND ANTELOPE 1 (2 versions: Nos. 29 and 69). First Version.— Frog and his friends go to Antelope's tent in order to play. They stake their clothing. Frog makes his people lie down along the race course. When Antelope is running, one Frog after another appears ahead of him.

Second Version.—Chief Frog goes with his people to Fish Hawk Nest, the town of 245 Antelope, in order to race with him. They stake their property. The men and women Frogs lie down along the race track. Frog stakes his blue clothing. Antelope laughs at Frog. In the beginning Antelope does not run fast; but when he finds that Frogs are always ahead of him, he runs faster and faster until he is exhausted.

40. The Two Tsa'kap (No. 31).—There are a brother and sister Tsa'kap. The boy bathes in a lake, and is swallowed by a charr. His sister catches the charr on the hook, and cuts it open. The brother speaks inside, and comes out.² They go back to their tent. The sister warns him not to shoot a squirrel. He disobeys. When he shoots, his arrow falls down in a tent, in which he finds a woman, who compels him to undergo a swinging-contest. When the Tsa'kap swings, the rope does not break. When the woman swings, it breaks and she is killed.3 The sister warns him not to go in a certain direction. He disobeys, and kills a beaver. The supernatural people say that he stole it from them. He returns home and asks his sister for their father. The sister first prevaricates, and then tells him that their father has been killed by a grizzly bear. The brother goes to kill the grizzly bear. He shows his strength by shooting at a tree, which falls over. He kills the grizzly bear with his arrow, skins it, and takes his father's scalp. He returns, and he and his sister move camp.

41. The Mink (VAEU 23).—Mink has three brothers. He is the lover of the Grizzly-(170) Bear woman, and Grizzly Bear tries to kill the brothers. He gives them a basket which he said contains berries. As soon as Bear is gone, Mink opens the basket

```
<sup>1</sup> Algonquin (E. R. Young, Algonquin Indian Tales, p. 246).
 Apache, Jicarilla (Goddard PaAM 8:237).
 Arikara (Dorsey CI 17:143).
 Caddo (Dorsey CI 41:104).
 Cherokee (Mooney RBAE 19:271).
 Cora (K. T. Preuss, Die Nayarit-Expedition, Leipzig, 1912, p. 209).
 Eskimo, Asiatic (Bogoras BBAE 68).
 Natchez (Swanton JAFL 26:202 [No. 10]).
 Oaxaca (P. Radin and A. Espinosa, El Folklore de Oaxaca, pp. 124, 193; Boas JAFL 25:214).
 Ojibwa (Radin GSCan 43, 44).
 Piegan (Michelson JAFL 29:409).
 Sanpoil (Gould MAFLS 11:111).
 Tarahumare (Lumholtz, Unknown Mexico, 1:302).
 Thompson (Teit JE 8:395; JAFL 29:326).
 Zuñi (Cushing, Zuñi Folk-Tales, p. 277).
 See Dähnhardt, Natursagen 4:54; Araucanian, Brazil, Cherokee, NANegro, Tupi; for North American
  negroes, also Parsons JAFL 39:174, 225; also Kamerun, Cross River (Alfred Mansfeld, Urwald
   Dokumente, Berlin, 1908, p. 224); Hottentot (Leonhard Schultze, Aus Namaland und Kalahari,
  Jena, 1907, p. 528); Visayan (Millington and Maxfield JAFL 20:315).
2 See discussion Boas RBAE 31:611, 659, 687, 718, 868.
3 Apache, Jicarilla (Mooney AA 11:210).
```

Arapaho (Dorsey and Kroeber FM 5:11).

Assiniboin (Lowie PaAM 4:157).

Blackfoot (Wissler PaAM 2:57).

Chinook (Boas BBAE 20:21).

Cree (Russell, Expl. in Far North 205).

Fox (Jones PAES 1:103).

Gros Ventre (Kroeber PaAM 1:87).

Hupa (Goddard UCal 1:128 [sea-saw]).

Lillooet (Teit JAFL 25:370).

Modoc (Curtin 154).

Osage (Dorsey FM 7:26).

Pawnee (Dorsey CI 59:179, 474, also 235 [slide]).

Ponca (Dorsey CNAE 6:161; JAFL 1:74; Am Ant 9:97).

Quinault (Farrand JE 2:82).

Seshelt (Hill-Tout JAI 34:49).

Shoshoni (Lowie PaAM 2:260, 262).

Thompson (Teit JE 8:252).

Yana (Sapir UCal 9:234 [elastic tree]).

and finds it contains bear hair with which he was to be poisoned. Bear sees this and rushes after them. He kills the brothers. Only Mink survives. Mink makes a small pit and throws something into it, which is transformed into a girl. He throws (171) her away. He repeats this experiment, and finds a boy, whom he raises. When he sees the Bear on the other side of the river, he jumps into the water. The Bear tries to get him, makes a raft, drifts down the river. Here Mink kills him. He meets Bear's brothers, transforms himself into a fly, but is seen by the Bears. Then he transforms himself into a very small fly, which the Bear swallows without noticing it. He kills the Bear with his knife. At Bonner's Ferry he builds a salmon weir under an overhanging rock. Every day the weirs are found empty, except that of Mink. The people see a meteor coming down, which empties the weirs. The meteor is a basket. The thieves leave the basket and carry the fish back. The animals discover that the rope by which the meteor is let down is a snake. Owl and Lynx cut the snake. They find that in the basket there are a buffalo, a mountain goat, a frog, and a turtle. These are transformed into stones. The people try to kill the frog by striking it with sticks, but they are unable to do so. For this reason the place is named Strong Belly.

42. Wolf (No. 67).—Wolf is married to Doe. He does not like the moccasins that his wife makes, and therefore goes to fight his brothers-in-law. The Buck hides his wife and son in a hole, and transforms himself into a deer. He goes up a mountain. The Wolves kill the people, but can not find Wolf's brother-in-law. Wolf follows the tracks of his brother-in-law; but whenever he reaches one mountain, Buck is on the following one. Finally Buck goes to his father's father, the fish K!/k!om', who is smoking. The Fish throws his mittens on the Buck, and thus hides him. Wolf enters Fish's tent, but does not see his brother-in-law. He asks for him, but the Fish denies having seen him. Fish makes the figure of a deer of grass, throws it out of the smoke hole, and it becomes a deer, which stands on the other side of the river. When Wolf sees it, he swims across the river in order to get it. Then the Fish launches his canoe and goes aboard with Buck. They catch up with Wolf and kill him.

43. Skunk ² (No. 68).—Skunk and his younger brother Fisher live in one tent; Frog and his granddaughters Chipmunk and Big Chipmunk, in another one. The Chipmunks want to get meat; and Frog sends them to Fisher, but warns them to beware of Skunk. She tells them that Fisher always gets home in the evening. The girls wait at some distance from the tent. Skunk causes his guardian spirit to pound bones in the tent, while he himself goes out dressed like Fisher. Big Chipmunk 233 insists that the person who came out is Fisher, and finally persuades her elder sister to go in with her. When Fisher comes home, he sends Skunk for water. Skunk is afraid to go far away, and goes to his own spring. Fisher sends him back to get water from his spring ³ and to bring in the game. He gives him a tump-line made of entrails. ⁴ 235 Skunk is afraid that Fisher may take the girls, but has to go. Fisher causes a gale to overtake Skunk. The tump-line breaks repeatedly, and he is almost frozen to death. Meanwhile Fisher finds the girls, and with them leaves the tent. He tells them to

¹ See discussion in Boas RBAE 31:611, 659, 687, 718, 868.

² Achomawi (Dixon JAFL 21:163).

Coos (Frachtenberg-St. Clair JAFL 22:35).

Kathlamet (Boas, BBAE 26:129).

Shuswap (Teit JE 2:752).

Takelma (Sapir UPenn 2:65).

Ute, Uinta (Mason JAFL 23:311).

Yana (Sapir UCal 9:133).

See also Lillooet (Teit JAFL 25:318); Shuswap (Teit JE 2:684); Thompson (Teit MAFLS 6:67; JE 8:243, 345).

³ Shoshoni (Lowie PaAM 2:238, 239).

Shuswap (Teit JE 2:718).

⁴ Lillooet (Teit JAFL 25:309).

Thompson (Teit MAFLS 6:26; JE 8:297; Boas, Sagen 18).

Ute, Uinta (Mason JAFL 23:321).

241

243

247

249

43

remove all the rotten bones, because one of these is Skunk's guardian. They go first to Chipmunk's hole, then to Big Chipmunk's, but both are too small. They climb a tree at the place where Fisher lives. When Skunk succeeds in getting home, he finds the tent empty, and after searching finds a single rotten bone that Big Chipmunk had left. Then he pursues the fugitives. By means of the bone, which is his guardian spirit, he finds the tree. He shoots it with his fluid, and it falls. Fisher and his wife jump to another tree, but finally they fall down and are killed. Skunk restores the sisters, and they go to Big Chipmunk's tent. It is too small, but by shooting his fluid into it he enlarges it. They sleep in the tent. When Skunk is sound asleep, the women leave him and go to search for Fisher. They reduce the size of the tent by means of their supernatural power, so that it becomes as small as before. They restore Fisher to life and move away. When Skunk is awakened, he finds himself in the narrow hole, unable to move. He succeeds in enlarging it a little by means of his fluid, and sees an opening. He pushes out his musk bag at the end of his bow; and Raven, who happens to fly by, takes it away. Skunk cuts off his legs and his arms,2 and puts one part of his body after another out of the hole. When outside, he puts himself together, but parts of his entrails have been lost. He puts leaves in their place. Raven takes the musk bag to his village. He transforms it into a pup, and they play with it. Skunk reaches the village and is given food, which, however, falls right through him. He goes out, and sees the children playing with the pup. He makes signs to it, and the pup runs towards him. It is retransformed into his musk bag, which he takes away.3

44. The Star Husband 4 (No. 70).—Two girls sleep outside and see many stars. One of them says that she wants to marry a small star that she sees there. When she wakes, she finds herself sitting next to an old man, who tells her that he is the star. The large stars are young men; the small stars, old ones. She goes out digging roots, and against the commands of the people breaks the ground near a tree. She can look down, and sees her relatives walking about. She makes a rope and lets herself down. At home she tells what has happened, and on the following morning she is found dead, killed by the star.

45. The Woman and the Giant 5 (2 versions: No. 30 and VAEU 23:171). First Version.—A woman who is traveling with her child meets a Giant. The Giant asks

```
<sup>1</sup> Shuswap (Teit JE 2:636).
   Takelma (Sapir UPenn 2:53).
   Thompson (Teit MAFLS 6:35, 82; JE 8:208, 253).
   See also JAFL 25:259.
  <sup>2</sup> Takelma (Sapir UPenn 2:93).
   Yana (Sapir UCal 9:124).
 <sup>3</sup> See Boas RBAE 31:569, No. 38; 706.
  Arikara (Dorsey CI 17:14).
   Assiniboin (Lowie PaAM 4:171).
   Blackfoot (Wissler PaAM 2:58; W. McClintock, The Old North Trail 491).
  Caddo (Dorsey CI 41:27, 29).
  Chilcotin (Farrand JE 2:28).
   Dakota (Riggs CNAE 9:90).
   Gros Ventre (Kroeber PaAM 1:100).
  Kaska (Teit JAFL 30:457).
  Koasati (personal information from Dr. J. R. Swanton).
  Micmac (Rand 160, 306).
  Otoe (Kercheval JAFL 6:199).
  Pawnee (Dorsey CI 59: 56; Grinnell JAFL 2:197).
  Quinault (Farrand JE 2:108).
  Shuswap (Teit JE 2:687).
  Songish (Boas, Sagen 62).
  Tahltan (Teit MS).
  Thompson (Teit MAFLS 11:7).
  Ts'ets'aut (Boas JAFL 10:39).
  Wichita (Dorsey CI 21:298).
  See also Arapaho (Dorsey and Kroeber FM 5:321); Crow (Simms FM 2:301).
 <sup>5</sup> See discussion in Boas RBAE 31:762 et seq.; also Chippewayan (Lofthouse, Transactions Canadian
Institute 10:50).
  Sanpoil (Gould MAFLS 11:105).
```

her how it happens that her son is so white. She tells him that she cooked him in 45 order to make him white. He asks to be treated in the same way, and is killed.

- (171) Second Version.—A woman has gone out berrying, and puts her child down in the grass. A giant steps up to her and asks why the child, whom he calls his brother, is so white. The woman says that this is the result of roasting. The giant asks to
- (172) be roasted too. The woman puts him into an oven, covers him over with stones, lights the fire, and kills him.—A giant who sits on the bank of a river is overtaken by some boys, who kill him by shooting him from behind.
 - 46. The Giant (2 versions: Nos. 51 and 76). First Version.—Two brothers go out hunting. The elder one shoots a bighorn sheep. He starts a fire, and dries the meat over the fire. He roasts a piece of the meat, and does not like the taste. Then he cuts a piece of flesh from his body. roasts it, and likes the taste. He eats himself entirely. The younger brother goes out to search after him. He sees a fire, and hears his brother saying, "I love my brother, and it will take me two days to eat him." The transformed brother pursues him, strikes him with his intestines, and kills him. The elder brother's wife goes out to search for her husband. Something tells her to 90 put sharp stones on her clothing. She does so. The man strikes her with his intestines have a latter than the strikes her with his intestines.
 - 55 put sharp stones on her clothing. She does so. The man strikes her with his intestines, but tears them. She runs home and tells the people what has happened. They move camp. The man's wife and his son alone remain. Crane stays near by. The transformed man comes. He takes the child and tears it in two. The woman offers to wash it, goes out, and runs away. She tells the people what has happened. Crane hides in a hole near a steep bank. When the man pursues his wife, he passes this place, and Crane kicks him into the water, where he is drowned.
- 273 Second Version.—A young man goes hunting sheep and dries the meat. Suddenly he sees two slices of meat, which he eats and which he likes. When he sits down, he feels a pain, and sees that he has eaten of his own flesh. He cuts one piece after
- 275 another from his body until only bones and intestines remain. After three days one of his elder brothers goes to look for him. When he finds him, the transformed brother says that he loves him, but kills and eats him. Thus he kills all his brothers. The
- 277 youngest one is warned by his guardian spirit. The boy makes his escape, and tells the people to leave. The hunter's wife stays behind with her son. When the man arrives, he holds his son tightly and makes him dance. The woman pretends that she wants to wash the child, and runs away. When she reaches the people, they make
- 279 a hole next to a cliff, and one of them kicks him into the water, where he is drowned.
- 55 47. RABBIT, COYOTE, WOLF, AND GRIZZLY BEAR (No. 45).—Rabbit runs past Coyote, 56 saying that he has been scared. Coyote follows, passes Wolf, and tells him that he has been scared. Wolf passes Grizzly Bear and scares him. They all reach a prairie,
- 57 where they sit down and ask one another what frightened them. One accuses the other, while Rabbit finally says that snow fell from the trees and frightened him. They laugh and separate.
- 26 48. Lame Knee 1 (No. 20).—The chief orders the people to break camp in order to plant tobacco. The young men tell Lame Knee to take away the chief's wife. He
- 27 holds her when she comes to draw water. The chief is told that Lame Knee is holding his wife. He sends repeatedly, ordering him to let her go, but Lame Knee refuses.
- 28 Then the chief cuts off Lame Knee's head, which rolls away smiling. He cuts off his arms and his legs. When the people are asleep, they hear the voice of Lame Knee, who has come back to life. He kills the chief and marries his wives.
- 28 49. The Youth who Killed the Chiefs 2 (No. 21).—The daughter of an old man is married to a chief, who kills all her sons, while he allows her daughters to live.
- 29 The chief hunts buffaloes, but is stingy, and does not give any food to his parents-in-law. The woman has a son, but conceals the fact from her husband.³ When the

¹ Blackfoot (Wissler PaAM 2:143).

² Arapaho (FM 5:298).

Blackfoot (Wissler PaAM 2:53; Grinnell, Lodge Tales 29).

See also Dakota (Riggs CNAE 9:101); Omaha (Dorsey CNAE 6:48).

³ See RBAE 31:857.

31

32

33

249

251

253

255

257

259

261

261

263

265

boy grows up, the woman tells her father to shoot a buffalo cow. The chief demands it, but the woman's father refuses to give it up. When the chief tries to kill the woman's father, her son shoots him. The youth enters the chief's tent, kills his wives, and gives the tent to his mother. He goes traveling, and reaches a village in which the people are hungry. A woman gives him a little to eat; and when he is not satisfied, she tells him that the chief is rich but stingy. The youth goes into his tent. The chief becomes a rattlesnake, which he kills. Then he gives meat to the people. He goes down the river to another village, where the same happens with the Grizzly-Bear chief. He goes on down the river, and the same happens to the Buffalo chief.

50. Little Sun (No. 71).—The chief at Fish Hawk Nest, Crazy Old Woman, wants

to go to war, and calls for a runner. Little Sun offers to go. He starts when the people begin to play ball in the afternoon. He arrives at the place to which he had been sent, which is far distant, before the people stop playing ball in the evening. He arrives dragging his blanket. He tells Chief Not Sitting Down Long what is wanted. He tells the chief that his people are to work for three days preparing bows and arrows, and then to start. They are to meet at Low Hills. In the afternoon Little Sun starts back, dragging his blanket, and arrives at Fish Hawk Nest in the evening. After four days they start, and meet at Low Hills at noon. Among the warriors are Pipe Lighter and his friend. They are hungry. Pipe Lighter shoots at a burl on a tree. which is transformed into a bear. The first time his arrow strikes, it sounds like wood. The second time he kills the bear. The people are afraid of him. When the people are hungry again, his friend spears a piece of wood in the water, which is transformed into a charr. The first time he strikes it, it is wood; the second time, it is a fish. In the evening they reach the village of their enemies. Two scouts, Lamb Hat and Raven Hat, go out and see the village of the enemy. The people (except one man, who is suspicious) think they are animals. Lamb Hat transforms himself into a lamb, and is able, with the other warriors, to go down a slope of loose stones without making any noise. Crazy Old Woman's son, Rattling Claws, goes with Not Sitting Down Long. who captures Chief Hare Lip, and shouts that he is holding him. Rattling Claws counts coup for the chief. Early in the morning all the enemies have been killed. The one man, who had been suspicious, keeps away. In the morning he sees that the village has been destroyed. The warriors spare him and let him carry the news back to his people. While the warriors are going back, Rattling Claws brags, and says that Chief Not Sitting Down Long counted coup for him. The chief becomes angry, and wishes him to be killed by a grizzly bear. They arrive at Fish Hawk Nest. Rattling Claws going ahead, indicating that he is chief warrior. Chief Crazy Old Woman tells them to rest and then to go out hunting. Rattling Claws and one of his elder brothers go hunting bighorn sheep. The elder brother tries to frighten him. saying that he is being pursued by a bear. When a grizzly bear is really coming, and the elder brother warns Rattling Claws, he does not believe him, and is killed by the bear. This is due to the wish of Chief Not Sitting Down Long, whom he had offended

51. PINE CONE (No. 72).—Two friends, Lamb Hat and Wolverene Hat, are hunting mountain goat. When enemies come, the one transforms himself into a mountain goat, which climbs the steep mountain. The other one becomes a wolverene, and runs back along a ledge upon which they are standing. The enemies pursue them, and the friends reach an old man named Pine Cone, who is hunting muskrats. They warn him, but he disbelieves them. When he sees the enemies coming, he hides, and puts his blanket over a figure made of rushes, intending to deceive the enemies. The enemies find him, and he tries to shoot them. His arrows hit them, but do not pierce them. His last arrow has no point, and with it he kills one of the enemies, who then attack him. He tries to ward off their arrows with his bow, but is killed. The enemies go back. When the people of the two friends reach the lake, they find the body of Pine Cone.

- 267 52. The Kuyo'kwe (No. 73).—The people are moving camp, and a woman is left behind boiling bones. The Kuyo'kwe arrive and look into the tent. They enter, take off their clothing, and the woman makes a fire for them and gives them to eat. She throws melting fat into the fire, which startles the Kuyo'kwe. She takes this
- 269 opportunity to run away. She carries a torch. The Kuyo'kwe pursue her. She reaches a cliff and throws down the torch, while she herself jumps aside. The Kuyo'kwe believe that they are still following her, and fall down the precipice. The woman follows the people, and tells her son to take the property of the dead enemies. Thus the boy becomes a chief.
- 269 53. The Great Epidemic (No. 74).—During an epidemic all the people die. One man only is left. He travels from one camp to another, trying to find survivors.
- 271 He sees some tracks, and thinks that some people must have survived. He notices what he believes to be two black bears, follows them, and finds a woman and her daughter. He marries first the woman, then her daughter, and the present Kutenai are their descendants.
- 273 54. The Giant (No. 75).—The people in a village are eaten by a Giant. An old couple live at the end of the village. The Giant enters their tent, and says that he will eat them in the morning. The old woman wakes up. She calls her husband, who cuts off the Giant's head.
- 26 55. The Man and the Wasps (No. 19).
- 33 56. The White Man (No. 22).—A white man is chopping off a branch on which he is sitting. He is warned, but continues until he falls down.
- 34 57. The Frenchman and his Daughters ² (No. 23).—A Frenchman has three daughters. When walking in the woods, he finds a stump, which is the home of the Grizzly Bear. The Grizzly Bear demands to marry the Frenchman's daughter. He
- 35 takes the eldest daughter to the stump. She marries the Grizzly Bear, but runs away in the evening because she is afraid. The same happens with the next daughter.
- 36 The third daughter goes to the Grizzly Bear and stays with him. The young woman's mother goes to see how she fares. During the night the Grizzly Bear is invisible. In the morning she sees him again.
- 279 58. The Mother-in-law Taboo (No.77).—The men were ashamed to talk to their mothers-in-law. Only those who disliked their mothers-in-law talked to them.

Blackfoot (Uhlenbeck VKAWA 13:171, 197).

Kaska (Teit JAFL 30:431).

Shoshoni (Lowie Pa AM 2:273).

Ts'ets 'aut (Boas JAFL 10:45).

Ute, Uinta (Mason JAFL 23:316).

² See Bolte und Polivka, Anmerkungen zu den Kinder- u. Hausmärchen der Brüder Grimm, 2: 229.

IV. VOCABULARY

The following vocabulary contains a selection of the more important stem-words, prefixes, and suffixes, together with examples showing the use of these stems. So far as possible, these examples have been taken from the texts. The Kutenai-English vocabulary has been arranged in such order that sounds which are closely related stand near together. The order selected is, vowels, labials, dentals, palatals, velars, laterals. This results in the following order of sounds:

The long lists of nouns beginning with a_a 'k- have been placed together. I have embodied in this list a long list of nouns collected by Dr. Chamberlain, which I have not checked. I have kept these separate, because it is impossible to distinguish between a_a 'k-, a_a 'k!-, a_a 'q-, a_a 'q!-.

In the verbal forms I have generally given the stem without ending and without prefix. This is indicated by hyphens at the beginning and at the end of the word. Prefixes have been marked by a following hyphen and the abbreviation pr., although they may also take verbal prefixes. Suffixes have been marked by a preceding hyphen and the abbreviation suff. References are to page and line of the preceding texts; 256.161, for instance, means p. 256, line 161. Words marked Kel. were obtained from a young Lower Kutenai named James Keluwat; those marked Aitken were collected by Mr. Robert T. Aitken, who accompanied me part of the time I spent among the Kutenai.

KUTENAI-ENGLISH

```
a. oh!

a- pr. out of. (See an-, ak-)

-a- verbal stem 256.182

-ai- > -as+n (see -as- two)

(n')ao'k/ue' the one, the other 64.120. (See ok/u-)

-ay- to steal, to cheat 38.8; 244.7
```

```
-awut- to shout for joy 188.44
-apak!en- to pin, to stick into 138.244; 170.105
-apis- to be straight 174.224
apko k/u head of tent 134.174
am \cdot a \cdot k land, country 76.73
(a \cdot ma'le \cdot t \text{ post } 94.157 \text{ [perhaps } a_a' - male \cdot t])
at but, however
-at- to name 122.56
ata- pr. above 256.161. (See na'ata)
-as- to be two 236.129
ats- pr. stealthily, secretly 180.32
atsa' wats! husband's brother 122.44
a'tse brother's wife
a'tso pottery dish, kettle, bucket 32.12
(a_a'tsu''la bag 17.5 [perhaps a_a'k-tsula])
-atskup- to break wind 48.40
ats!po: wolverene 74.19
ats!mil great-grandfather 278.12
an- pr. out of (away from speaker) 178.13
a:n- pr. more 56.10
a'na necklace 214.61
a'n'an magpie 4.15
-anaxa'm- to go out 90.59
-anaxaka- to go to war (= to go out for something?) 76.72
-anaxe to hunt (= to go out?) 124.67
-anck!e'- to be heavy 128.45
-antsa- to practice witchcraft 76.82
antsu- pr. behind 202.274
-a'nxo- to reach, to overtake
ak- pr. out of (toward speaker) 180.37
akamen- pr. around 136.231
a_{\alpha}'k- prefix of noun<sup>1</sup>
  a_a'ma'le't tent pole, post
  a_a'tsu''la bag 17.5
  a_a'ka'wu tent cover
  a<sub>a</sub>'kawu'k!o parting of hair
  aa'ka'mal corral (-kamal)
  (akamen- around. [See in alphabetical order preceding this group])
  a'a'ka\cdot mt belt 74.27 (-ka\cdot mt)
  a'a'ka'k water hole 38.9
  a_a'ka'k!o trap 162.42
  a_a'kaql:'lna m eye 4.14 (-qlil)
  a_a'ka'q!ne' face 72.5 (-q!ne')
  aa'kaxapa'knam orbit 182.20 (-xapak). (See aa'kenel alaxapa'knam)
  aa'kaxa'pqle rapids, cascade 154.226, 235 (-xapqle)
  aa'kaxmala'na m flesh 42.37 (-xma-la)
  a_a'ka·t bag
  a_a'key hand 142.36 (-hey)
  a_a'k\iota t.la'na·m tent 11.4 (-t.la)
  a_a'k:ts tent pole, stick 14.14 (-[:]ts)
  aa'k:tsk!a'la'k branch of a tree 33.9 (-tsk!a'-lak)
  a_a'ke'tsqa fish trap 176.253 (-kets-)
```

¹All nouns of this group have been entered here, because in many cases the exact form of the stem has not been ascertained.

```
a_a'k- prefix of noun
 aa'ketsq!ahe'yna'm finger (-ts-q!a-hey)
  aa'k:tsq!aekama'lak talons of birds (-ts-q!a-hey[?]-ka-malak)
  a_a'kıtsq!a'kna'm toe (-ts-q!a-k) Kel.
  aa'k:tsq!a'kam a root found in swamps (Aitken)
  aa'k:tsq!alu'pta'k hoof of deer or cattle
  aa'ketsla'ame plain
  aa'kitslaq!o''na berry cake (Aitken)
  aa'k!'ts!ga'l bark of tree (-ts!gal)
  aa'kets!ka'ki'l coal (-ts!kakil)
  a_a'kets!ta'e'n tree 3.9 (-ts!tae'n)
  a<sub>a</sub>'ken!'k!na'm thigh, parents 98.244
  a_a'kenel·alaxapa'kna·m orbit 274.30. (See a_a'kaxapa'kna·m)
  aa'kino malnoka kna membroidered vest (Aitken)
  a_{\mathbf{a}}'kenv'm·o·k! cliff 2.4 (-nvm·ok!)
  a_a'kenoka'kna'm rib 80.189 (-nokak)
  aa'kenusu'k!po'n place with scattered trees 72.74 (-nusuk!po'n)
  aa'kenu'kweit pitfall 190.33
  aa'knukxume'k it is rock 112.80
  aa'kenoqua'ako pitchwood, torch 136.221; 266.36 (-nuqua-ko)
  a_a'kenuqo'yka·k fist (-n[u]-qoyka-k). (See a_a'qo'ytka·k wrist)
  a<sub>a</sub>'k:nu'qle' tomahawk 80.173
  aa'kenuqle'et prairie 192.60 (-nuq-leet)
  aa'kenoq!ota'tit a small hawk
  a_a'kenu'q!yuk ya'q!e't tobacco seeds (a_a'kenu'q!yuk flower Kel.)
  aa'kenuq!ma'ana bird's tail 152.181
  aa'kenuq!la'nuk flat stones 170.117 (-nuq!la-nuk). (See aa'kekts!la'nuk)
  aa'kenuq!la:nu'k!ue:n sharp, flat stones
  aa'kenuq!ula:k!a'ako: plank, board 170.125
  aa'kenuq!uloxona''tet a small, gray bird
  aa'kenuqto'ta:m bald-headed eagle
  a_a'kenuxo'unuk brook 162.37 (-nuxonuk)
  a_a'kenu'la'm snake 52.10
  a_a'kenu'lma'k marrow 15.14 (-nulmak)
  a_a'kenmi'tuk river 30.8 (-nmit-uk)
  aa'kenku'ma'l (buffalo) calf
  a_a'kenk!a'alik toe (probably a_a'keng!a'lik [-ng!a point; -lik foot])
  a_a'kenk!u'ma'l cradle 112.43 (-nk!umal)
  a<sub>a</sub>'ke'nqa't fat on top of tail of bighorn sheep 258.239
  a_a'ke'nqa'n (a_a'ke'nq!a'n ? Kel.) top
    aa'kenganu'qla'm crown of head
  aa'kenga''lna'm forehead
  aa'ka'ngo frame of tent
  aa'kenqo''wa wing, feather 74.49 (-nqowa)
  aa'kenqu'm'yu shoulder
  aa'k!'nqo'l stem of tobacco plant
  a_a'keng!a'wo'k stick 118.192 (-ng!a-wok)
  aa'kenq!a'qa arrow point 264.68 (-nq!a-qa)
  a_a'kenq!a'qa't fish tail (-nq!a-qat)
  aa'kenq!a'lqa sinew 74.26
  a_a'kenq!u'ts ak fawn 172.165
  a_a'keng!u'ko fire 38.4 (-ng!u-ko)
  a, kenxamulu'la k a piece of dried meat 230.17
  aa'kenlu'men arm above elbow
  aa'kenlqa'yka'k whirlpool
```

```
a_a'k- prefix of noun
  (-ak:k- see in alphabetical order following this group)
  aa'k!k!nqowaxoniyi'e's flapping of wings (-k-nqowa'xo-me'k)
  aa'k:/kpuk! backside 18.7 (-kpuk!)
  a_a'kıkts!la'nuk flat stone 64.84 (-k-tsl!a-nuk). (See a_a'kınuq!la'nuk)
  aa'kekne'la'm hair rings made of brass spirals
  a_a'k:kqapxoniyi'e's flapping of wings (-k-qa[p]-xo-me\cdot k)
  aa'kıkqlalanmi'tuk bend in river (Aitken) (-k-qlala-nmit-uk)
  aa'k:kqla'lale'ıt hollow place in ground (-k-qlala-leit)
  aa'k:kqla'lawuqle'ıt hollow place in mountain side (-k-qlala-wuq-leit)
  aa'kckqla'lak!aqlu'nuk hollow place with dry timber 260.2 (-k-qlala-k!aqlunuk)
  a_a'kık.le'yam name 76.101 (-k.l-e'yam)
  a_a'k:k.lite'yam noise 148.99 (-k.l:t-e'yam)
  a_a'k_i k_i l u' n a'm village, town 31.10 (-k_i l u)
  aa'k:q!ye't talking 138.275
  a 'kılalaqu'no'k cave under water 80.152 (probably a 'kıqlalaqu'nok, from
      a_a'k[\epsilon]-qlala-qu-nuk)
  aa'kde'nqan cyclone, dust storm
  aa'ki'lwey heart, mind, innermost part 62.49 (-lwey)
  aa'k!/lma'k! cherry (Prunus demissa) 6.11 (-lma'k!)
  a_a'kelmi'yet sky 72.12 (-lmiyet)
  aa'kelno'hos star 17.9 (-lnohos)
  a_a'kdk!aku'ko't season 180.23 (-lk!aku-kut)
  a_a'kdq!a'nit song Kel.
  a_a'kılq!an·otsa'ko ma_a k! burnt bone. (See a_a'q!ono'uko')
  aa'kdq!aku'pk!o fence post, rail
  a_a'k:lq!a'lukp bunch of dew hoofs of deer 216.111 (-lq!al-ukp). (See a'a'kukp
      claw, finger nail)
  a_a'k:dq!aluq!pwaq! (a_a'k:dkalu'kwak) a black bird with white spots, size of a robin
      (Aitken)
  aa'ke'lxo body Kel
  (-ako_{u}- see in alphabetical list following this group)
  a<sub>a</sub>'kowa'sk!o place for drying meat 272.9 (-was-k!o)
  aa'ko''wal onion
  a_a'kowa'lwo'k birch (-wo'k tree, wood)
  aa'kuwuk.le'it mountain 76.97 (-wuk-leit)
  aa'kumaql:'lna'm eyelashes (-qlil eye)
  a_a'ku'me' wind
  aa'ko'mo' fruit of Viburnus opulus
  aa'kumle'ıt frost (-leit country, weather)
  aa'ko'unal three-pointed fish spear
  a_a'ko'<sub>u</sub>ka'k neck
  a'a'kukp claw, finger nail 58.20 (-ukp)
  aa'kukts: ke'n bladder 64.100
  aa'kuk.łako'wum locust 1.7
  aa'kok!uatse'nko hair ribbon, worn in front 126.15
  aa'kok!ua'tswum cinch (-wum belly)
  aa'kok!uatsk!a'k!o ear ornament 130.103
  aa'kok!uats:tsq!a'yna'm finger ring (-tts-q!a-hey)
  aa'kok!uatska'lma bridle, halter
  a_a'ko_u k! ala'_a kna'm back (-k!a-lak)
  aa'kok!uplo''lat red cedar
  a_a'ku'k!pa\cdot k heel (-k!p-a\cdot k)
  aa'kuk!paxma'ko firebrand 210.454
```

```
a_a'k- prefix of noun
 a_a'kuk!p^{\varepsilon}'ka'm root 10.12
  a_a'ku'k!pma·k! ear ornament 98.214 (-k!p-ma·k!)
  a_a'kuk!pla''mka''kna'm nape of neck 114.99 (-k!p-la'm-ka'k)
  aa'kuk!ple'ıt foot of mountain 224.131 (-k!p-leit)
  a_a'ku'qwa't! ear (-qwa't!)
  a_a'ko'q_uwit! bottle (also place name) 260.3
  aa'ko'quma'l rattle
  aa'kuqmo'ko' ashes Kel
  a_a'ku'qtna·m intestines 11.14
  aa'kuqsala'na'm nose 11.11 (-qsala)
  a_a'ku'qta skin 210.448 (-qta)
    a_a'ku'qla'nt clothing 9.3
 u_a'kuqla'wo fish line, fish hook 38.14; 39.2
  a_a'ku'qla''m hair (-ql[?]-la'm)
  a<sub>a</sub>'kuqla'la<sub>a</sub>k' buffalo drive (-qlala hollow in ground) 204.307
  a_a'ku'qle horn 3.10 (-qle)
  a_a'kuqle'et an edible root (?) 248.20. (See a_a'kuq!le'et)
  a_a'kuqlık!a'lna'm calf of leg 190.9 (-qlık!al)
  a_a'kuqlu'pe'n young tree 188.19 (-qlupen)
 a_a'kuqlo·laxa'na·m beard Kel.
  a_a'ku'q!ua'l rice (a_a'q!u'qa'l?)
  a_a'ku'q!o· strawberry (a_a'q!u'ko·?)
  a_a'kuq!yum:'n'a side hill 204.320 (-q!yu-m:n'a)
  a_a'kuq!yu'muk! cliff 102.323 (-q!yu-muk!). (See a_a'k:nɔ'm'o'k!)
  aa'kuq!yuk!alaxwe'et doorway 94.147 (-q!yu-k!a-laxweet)
  aa'kog!yule'et mountain 46.7 (-q!yu-leet)
  a_a'kuq!m\ddot{v}'ko· ashes 10.10 (-q!m\ddot{v}-ko)
  a_a'kuq!no'kuat nest 114.101 (-q!nokuat). (See a_a'qo''qua
  a_a'ku'q!nuk lake 44.12 (-q!nuk)
  a_a'kuq!laye't!in corpse 5.3
  a_a'kuq!ta''m hair. (See a_a'ku'qta''m)
  a<sub>a</sub>'kuq!le'et berry, fruit 172.170 (-q!-leet?)
  aa'ku'q!li·l stripe, painting, writing 224.124 (-q!lil)
 a_a'koxni'yam firewood 124.102
 a_a'ko'la pipe stem 78.124.
    aa'kula'wo'k pipe-stem wood (Alnus incana)
 a_a'ku'lats penis 102.325
  a_a'ku'lak body, meat 2.7
  a_a'ku'la'l leaf of pine; green boughs 16.6; 240.235
  a_a'k_i y u' k w a war bonnet 192.50
 a_a'kwi'yat! side 142.22 (-wiyat!)
 a_a'kwet! wing, shoulder 98.251
  a_a'kwi't! ice
 a<sub>a</sub>'kwi'tsa'k elbow, ankle, wrist, knuckle
 a'a'kwum belly (-wum)
  a'a'kwo'k bark for canoe
 aa'kwakua(c'se's) its bushes 92.112
  a_a'kwo'q!ta dried skin
  a_a'kpe'tsna'm food (-pets)
 a_a'kma'na'm trail 68.68 (-ma)
    aa'kma'e's xa'altsen (=dog's trail) Milky Way
  aa'kma'k!tsuk yellow fluid 220.28 (-mak!ts-uk)
  a_a'kma'q!a'n egg, testicle 102.309 (-maq!an)
```

```
a_a'k- prefix of noun
  (-akme- see in alphabetical order following this group)
  aa'kmenuqlu'nuk white stone 88.13 (-menqlu-nuk)
  aa'kmoq!o''ma'l tobacco 62.44
  a_a'kmoxo'na'm seat 192.66 (-mo-xo)
  aa'kmölu'pu'q lungs
  a_{\mathbf{a}}'ktaptse'<sub>i</sub>kna'm forearm 7.11 (-taptse<sub>i</sub>k)
    a_a'k:nuqtapts:k_ina'm elbow
    aa'kenkataptse'kina'm wrist
  a<sub>a</sub>'kte'<sub>i</sub>mo' whetstone, strike-a-light 76.105 (-te)
  a'a'ksaq! leg 3.13 (-saq!)
  a_a'ktsa'mal knife 106.383
  aa'kts!e'ka rawhide strap 96.193
  a<sub>a</sub>'knenmo'xo act of falling 170.124 (-nen-mo-xo)
  (ak_in_ik! see in alphabetical order following this group)
  a_a'knu'lma'k marrow 15.12 (-nulmak). (See a_a'kenu'lma'k)
  aa'kxa'ska'k breast piece of game 260.8
  a'a'k_{*}la'm head 192.73 (-la'm)
 a'a'k.la't! arm 180.55 (-lat!)
 a'a'k.lak back 264.85
 a<sub>a</sub>'k.laqpe'sqap tripe 15.12
 a_a'k.la'xwe valley
 a_a'k.la'xwe'k! pit for cooking 44.2 (-laxwe'k!)
 aa'k.le'ite't property 90.38
 a_a'k.letsate'yam dream (-le_its-at-eyam)
 a_a'k.\ell\ell'kna'm foot, tracks 142.38 (-\ell\ell)
 (-ak.le\cdot t see in alphabetical order following this group)
 a'a'k.lo snow 126.22 (-lu)
 a'a'k.lom' bat 74.51
 a_a'k.luma'na'm throat 274.32 (-luma)
 aa'k.lu'ma'k cottonwood
 a_a'k.luk.le'et noise 168.81 (-luk-leet)
 aa'k.luktsum'o'en wound 224.107
 a_a'k.lo'_uk!wa shadow 116.144
 a_a'k! arrow 72.3
   a'a'k!wo'k arrow wood, service-berry wood 92.85
 a_a'k'ayukwa'ana'm hat 88.54 (-k'ayukwa)
 aa'k!awats!e'iko graveyard
 a<sub>a</sub>'k!a'<sub>a</sub>me' hole, pit 192.37 (-k!ame')
 a_a'kame'n'a valley 14.13
 aa'kaslaka'kna'm nostril
 aa'k!ano'uko' sharp stones 82.25
 aa'k!anu'le'k rough, sharp stone (-k!anu'lek)
 a_a'k!a'ngo'(t) smoke hole 9.12
 aa'k!aku'xa drinking-place 74.48
 a_a'k!a'_akpo'k! hips
 a_a'k!ak.tu'nuk place with dry trees 72.69 (-k!a-k.tunuk)
 a_a'k!aq hole in ice 88.5. (See a'a'ka'k)
 a_a'k'a'qayt snowshoes 128.45
 aa'k!aqla'ha'l swamp
 a_a'k!a'_aq!yu leg part of skin 196.123
 a_a'k!a'lak shore
 aa'k!alaka'kna'm navel
 a_a'k!ala'x:kp anus 96.169
```

```
a_a'k- prefix of noun
  aa'k!alaxuwe'et doorway 96.191
  a<sub>a</sub>'k!ale'et largest rivers
  a<sub>a</sub>'k!alu'kuil tracks in snow 122.13
    aa'k!alu'ko trail in snow 218.133
  a_a'k!alma'na'm mouth 64.102 (k!a-lum)
  a_a'k!a'_atmo·k hoop 146.57
  a_a'k!almokua'et light 156.279
  a_a'k!o'ne<sub>i</sub>s saddle
  a_a'k!u'nka'k nose, beak 164.82 (-k!un-ka'k)
  a_a'k!watsq!a'yna'm finger ring (-k!wa-tsq!a-hey)
  a_a'k!ma'ma'l cheek
  (ak!lan) (see in alphabetical order at end of this group)
  (aqa)
  a_a'qa'oxal otter
  aa'qay:'nme'k wave
  a'a'qat tail (-qat) 164.82
  a_a'qa\tik.lu'ku_a leggings 266.19
  a_a'qatwu'mlat coat 1.8 (-qat-wum-tat)
  (a_a q a' t'- see in alphabetical order at end of this group)
  aa qatskana'mke joint
  a_a'qa'tsko flint 104.371
  aa'qanq!yum:'n'a hillside (a place name) 94.135 (-qan-q!yu-m:n'a)
  aa'qanl:knat:txai'yam bed
  a_a'qaxapk.la't!na'm armpit (-qaxa-pk-lat!)
  (aqa [l]- see in alphabetical order at end of this group)
  a'a'qal cloud
  a_a'qala''mla scalp (-qa-la'm-la)
  aa'qalwi'yat! side of body
  a<sub>a</sub>'qalpalne'yam historical tale 126.117 (-qal-pal-me'k)
  a<sub>a</sub> qalq!anoxwa'te myth 142.1 (-qal-q!anoxwate)
  aa'qeya'mlapskak.le.e'tske name of place near Nelson
  a_a'qo'ytka'k wrist (?). (See a_a'k:nuqo'yka'k fist)
 a_a'qo'wat fur, hair 208.410 (-q_uwat)
 a_a'qu'pa't! bud
 a_a qo'pal cone of pine or larch 264.101
 a_a'qu'ta·t ax 15.10
 aa'qonake'lmak! limb (-mak! bone)
 a_a'qunk!a'la'k fog
  a_a'qoka'pma't infant (until the time when it is taken off the cradle board)
 aa'qu'kam fringes (-qukam)
 aa'qoku'wum housefly
 aa'qok.la''k!o saddlebag
 a_a'qo'k!a'm beaver holes in water 130.91 (-k!am)
 aa'qo'qol bark rope
 aa'qu'q!wuk spruce-bark basket
 a_a'qo''quat nest. (See a_a'kuq!no''uat)
 a_a'qu'qwat! (or a_a'ku'qwa't!) ear
 a'a'quqt entrails 232.66
 a_a'qo_uq!l_{\ell'}lup foam 184.45
   aa'qouq!lelupenqo'wa insides of quills
 aa'quxma'nuk gray stone 94.138 (-quxma-nuk
 a_a'qo·t calf of leg (-qo·t)
 a_a'qo·ta'_aka' a place name 104.353
```

```
a_a'k- prefix of noun
  a_a'qo_ula'qp_lk leaf 222.69
    a<sub>a</sub>'qola'qpe's Apocynum cannabinum
    a<sub>a</sub>'qo<sub>u</sub>la'kpe'kna'na Salix desertorum
  a_a'qu'lum parflèche 128.42
  a_a'qu\ell u'k'pko' stump 2.11 (-qu\ell u-k'p-ko)
  aa'qwatq!alika'kna'm eyebrow
  (-aqte see in alphabetical order at end of this group)
  a'qto black bear, one year old
  (-aqtuq!u) (see in alphabetical order at end of this group)
  (aqsa-)
  aa'qsu'k!uitna'mu summer 100.268
  (aqts-)
  (aqts!:xmala-;) (see in alphabetical order at end of this group)
  (-aqn_its-)
  a'a'q_anuk anvil 216.99 (-q_a-nuk?)
  (a'qla)
  (-aqtuk!-) (see in alphabetical order at end of this group)
  (aq!a)
  a_a'q'asak edge (see also aq'as in alphabetical order at end of this group) 98.220
  a'a'q!a'n handle
  a_a'q'a'na'k knee 80.170; remains of broken bones 64.109
  a<sub>a</sub>'q'a'nuk deep water
  aa'q'anuk.le'et prairie on side of hill 182.62 (-q'an-uk-leet)
  aa'q!a'nkme island
  aa'q!ank!'tsqa beaver dam 130.90
  aa'q!anqats!la'e'n place with thick trees 72.72 (-q!an-qa-its!lae'n)
  a_a'q!a'nq!ak notch of arrow 72.16
 a_a'q!a'nq!me:wae:k throat (?) (a_a'q!uwa'e:k windpipe [?])
  a_a'q!a'nlup milt of fish ·
    aa'q!anlupxama'ko' lump, wart
  (a_a qakou see in alphabetical order at end of this group)
  a'a'q'a't gloves
  a_a'g!a'te' antlers 124.99
  a_a'q!alıka'kna'm eyebrows 78.130 (-q!alık[ak]). (Also a_a'q!watq!a'lıka'kna'm)
  a_a'q!o''wuk! thigh
  a_a'q!u'ta't fat 2.7
  a<sub>a</sub>'q!utsa'ne'k passer-by (not used in modern speech) 60.15
  a_a'q!utsk!a'lakna'na little twig 222.69. (See a_a'k:tsk!a'la'k)
  aa'q!uma'awo'k willow
 a_a'q!u'na·n' tooth 188.16
 aa'q!onak!'lma'k! (or aa'qonak!'lma'k!) limbs 240.227
 a_a'q!u'na'q white blanket 174.222 (a_a'q!u'nal)
 aa'q!uka'ma'l travois 29.2
 a_a'q!ono'uko no'ukuey burnt stones 236.125. (See a_a'q!a'na'k)
 aa'q!u'ko' strawberry, raspberry
 a<sub>a</sub>'q!ok.lu'pqa small feathers, bird's down 86.19
 a_{\mathbf{a}}'q!uk.lu'mna'm saliva 192.53 (-q!-uk-lum)
  aa'q!oxumale'et bow and arrows; "plant standing up," used for arrowshafts 190.1
  a'a'q!ul canoe calking
  aa'q!u'le excrement 276.91
  aa'q!ulu'mko grave
  a_a'q'u'lka vein, sinew
  aa'q!u'lukp backside 238.197
```

aa'k- prefix of noun

words in a_a 'k- recorded by chamberlain 1

aa'kauma'kso'k Skukum Chuck (below Finlay Creek)

aa'kapmate's yu''wat! hornet. (See yu''wat!)

a'a'ka'm white pine, bark used for making canoes

aa'kamo'kin a fish, sp (?)

 a_a 'kamtsınka''k $(na\cdot m)$ lower jaw. (See a_a 'kınkamtsınka''k $[na\cdot m]$ chin)

aa'ka'tak Sand Creek, Warren Creek

 a_a 'kanakałmu'ko' field

aa'kanu'xo Tobacco River

a_a'kanu'k.le'l Missoula, a place about four miles from Sand Point, Idaho

aa'kanka'wok stick

aa'kanka'nuk.lulmukna'e't window

aa'kankaltsı'ka noose (in rope)

aa'kankome'ika fireweed (Epilobium angustifolium)

aa'kanlixuna'e't lightning

aa'kako''wo'k region inhabited by the Lower Kutenai

aa'ka'k!o's Finlay Creek

a 'kakolmite'yuk region of a camping-place on the trail to the Lower Kutenai

 a_a 'kak.tu'lat (also a_a 'kok.tu'lat) juniper (Juniper communis)

aa'kalat.la'tna m old lodge

aa'kala'laa'al sack-cloth, also name of a man

aa'kalc'kna'm stockings, socks

aa'kalme'et eye of needle

aa'kalnolatako''ko' steam

a_a'kiye'n_ik! Kutenai of Pend d'Oreille and St. Ignace

a_a'kıskak.le'et Joseph's Prairie, at Cranbrook, B.C.

aa'kitslak.lu'lal gum tree

aa'kino'mukna'na crackers, biscuit

aa'kenc'lxal gunpowder

aa'ke'nuk thigh of bird

a_a'k_inukota'te'k a medium-sized, gray bird

aa'kınu'kmak three-pointed fish spear

a_a'kenu'k'luk Kicking Horse River

aa'kenuk.luxona'ka Artemisia discolor; A. frigida; Bigelovia graveolens. (See aa'ku o'k.laixuna'ate't)

aa'kınuk.luxokona'aka awv'mo medicine made of Artemisia discolor

aa'kenuk.lohona'te't a small, gray bird

a_a'kenuxle'etna'na Hot Springs, Ainsworth, B.C.

aa'ke'nhas breast of bird

aa'ke'nskwał Carex scoparia

aa'kenka'ma'k dragon fly

 a_a 'kınkamtsınka''k(na'm) chin

 a_a 'kenko'ko'l sand

 a_a 'kenku'la'l wheat (Lower Kutenai a_a 'kenkowa'la'l)

aa'kenqai kaxlukua'tse's handle of tin cup

aa'kikaku'kwi'et a small, gray bird

a_a'ke'k.tuk longitudinal strips on sides and bottom of canoe

 a_a 'kila'ktsu (also a_a 'kola'ktsu) thread

aa'kilaktsumu'in seam

¹ The following words have been entered as a group by themselves, because it is impossible to distinguish from the collector's orthography the sounds k, k!, q, q!.

^{85543°-}Bull. 59-18---21

```
a_a'k- prefix of noun
    aa'kilalaqai eye of potato
    a_a'kilu'kuatspu'kna'm braces, suspenders. (See a_a'kuk.lu'kuatskpu'k[na'm])
    aa'kilkanoskowo k Cherry Creek
    aa'kilkaxnilko'lom strings for tying up parflèche
    a'a'ko' points of bark canoe
    a<sub>a</sub>'koa'pla stomach of partridge
    aa'komu'na'm lower lip
    a 'kutskakilukpo'xal small ornamental pieces on border of root kettle (ye'tske')
    a<sub>a</sub>'ko''nak apple peel, rind
    a<sub>a</sub>'ku''no'k Barnard, B.C.; also sluice box
    a, kuno kyo k berries of Philadelphus Lewisii
    a_{a}'kunwo'k binding strips at pointed ends of canoe
    a_a'kunle'et frost, rime
    aa'ko'u'k Aralia nudicaulis
    aa'ku'kmat bladder of fish
    a_a'ko'kna'm shin
    a_a'ko''kyu bent side strips on top of canoe
    aa'kukwate'lil wad of gun
    a_a'koka'yuk!almE(na\cdot m) (also a_a'kokwiyok!alEma) upper lip
    aa'ko''ko' bridge
      huts \ell t kokop k \ell' n \cdot e I shall make a bridge (hu - ts - \ell t - koko[p] - k \ell n - ne)
    a_a'kuk!pwu stock of gun (a_a'k[u]-kp-wu)
    a_a'kukpanmitu'kxo: Bonner's Ferry (a_a'k[u]-kp[a]-nmituk-xo:)
    a_a'kukpıtsk!a'la'k knot in tree (a_a'k[u]-kp-[:]tsk!alak butt end of branch)
    aa'ku'kple quill end of feather
    a<sub>a</sub>'kukplu'lal pepper
    a_{\mathbf{a}} kuk. la'_{\mathbf{i}}(na m) palm of hand (a_{\mathbf{a}} k[u] - k la[?] - hey - na m)
    a_a'kuk.lak.lc'k(na·m) sole of foot (a_a'k[u]-k.lak[?]-lck-na·m)
    a ku o k laixuna te t Artemisia discolor, used for headache
    aa kuk.ta'xat Lower Kootenay River
    a_a'kuk.tu'kua stalk
    a_a'kuk.tu'kuatskpu'k(na·m) suspenders
    a<sub>a</sub>'kuk.luka'tslo' moccasin string, lacings
    a koquatse'qa gills (of fish)
    aa'kolawite'yal moss (Lillagenilla rupestris)
    a_a'ko'la'm eel
    a_a'kolamka'k(na'm) hair of head
    aa'kola'na'm palate
    aa'kola'anak moss (Lillagenilla rupestris)
    aa'kula'ko bag, pouch, pocket
    aa'kole'kam powder flask
    aa'kolu'quats handle (of tin pail). (See aa'kuk.luka'tslo and aa'kuluqa'tslum)
    a<sub>a</sub>'kuluqa'tslum shoe lacing
    a_a'kolu'xpe fence post
    a_a'kya'mlu'p Nelson
    aa'kwc'tsko: screw, buckle of belt
    aa'kwu'kxo' wicker fish weir
    aa'kwitsle'et hill
    a<sub>a</sub>'ktsa'k.le Wild Horse Creek
    a_a'k.la'xa fish spear
    a_a'k.lEmalak(na'm) turnip
    aa'k.la'lxo square pieces forming border of root basket
    a_a'k.lilkaku'pko hoe (?)
```

```
a_a'k- prefix of noun
  a'a'k!am region of Fort Steele and St. Eugène Mission
    a'a'k!am aa'ku'q!nuk St. Mary's Lake
    a'a'k!am aa'kenmi'tuk St. Mary's River
  a'a'k!ne's Wasa
    a'a'k!ne's aa'ku'q!nuk Hanson's Lake
    a'a'k!ne's aa'kenuxo'unuk Hanson's Creek
-akek- to go (dual) 34.11
-ako_u to stab 108.442
-ako_uku_{\ell}n- to try 252.63
-akme- to call guardian spirit 8.1
ak_i nek! relatives, parents 96.188
-ak.lel- to question 180.17
ak!la(n) different 72.15
aga fat 80.187
aqa(l)- pr. therefore 92.84
agat!- pr. a little ways off 276.104
-a_{\alpha}qa- to be strange 90.45
-agte- to untie 2.16
-agtuq!u in mouth 220.25
aqsa- pr. under blanket, under cover 102.298
-agts- to break 64.117
aqts!:(xmala)- white (skin) 42.37 (aqts!-xmala)
-agnits- to fool 228.83
a'qla inside 90.45
-aqtuk!- to smell
aq!a thicket 188.21
ag!an- pr. into (woods)
aq!as edge 276.113
-aq!ako_{u} to be on fire; to perspire 120.207
-axe to go
  ts!ena'xe he starts 1.1
  wa'xe he arrives 2.4
  skaxe he goes along 2.9
-axne to taste 82.7
-at suff. grass 256.159
-at- thick, stout, wide 39.3
at \cdot a \mod 190.8
ata friend (used by women to designate a woman friend) 170.135
-ala- verbal stem
  -alaken- to put on with hand 230.24
  -alaxo_{u} to put on back 232.77
-alas- to divide 232.48
alc'tskeil reciprocal term used by brother and sister 44.8
-alikwa.c't(ne) burning food 162.47
-alsen(t)- to endeavor, to try hard 70.37
alga brain
algan- pr. across 21.3
e oh 86.39
-eya(ken)- to put up 224.123
iya'mu game, cattle, buffalo 212.23
-ip- dead 70.18. (See -up-)
-c'mqol- to swallow 80.174
```

```
ct- to make, to do
  -etaqua- to get ready 78.136
  -ctetcl to bury 212.19
  -tete'l(e\cdot k) to bet 152.198
  -it: t.la- to make a house 74.34
  -te^{-k} to act 66.34
  -telxo- to increase 82.204
  -tk:n- to make with hand 1.5
  -\epsilon tk/o_{u} to do with a point (i. e., to kill with arrow) 86.18
  -ctqa- to stop
  -itxo'_ume\cdot k to lie down 60.9
-e tax- to sharpen 1
-ituk!sa- to tie 2.8
-\iota twas(k!o)- to dry meat 82.5
-\epsilon tw\epsilon s(qa)-, -\epsilon tw\epsilon ts- to stop, to stay 46.7; 158.350
-\epsilon tmo(k!o)- to sow 26.5
-tnumo ts(te)- to make a law 76.96
etkek- pr. up (?) 4.10
-tk!an- to butcher 196.144
-itgana(qa)- to pick up 204.310
-itq!an(kik)- to lay down 268.46
-etg!a'nxam- to come back to life 4.16
-ctq!anxo- to tan skin 208.409
(-e \cdot txam \cdot n -)
  qa.e.txa\me.nqa\me.k not sitting down a long time 248.15
-(c)t.la tent, house, lodge 1.5; 9.6
-ct.latsu- to hide 42.13
-it.lik_inatit- to propose a plan 232.39
-\iota t!(qa)- to be full 46.23
-\iota t!_u wo to be ten 180.23
  ct!uwu'nwo one hundred
-ct!na- to stretch out 114.96
t!na- pr. over 60.9
-t!k!o- cold 126.105. (Also -tsqat!-)
-it!qao(xa)- to come together, to put together, to pile up 66.18; 134.168
-it!(xa)- to bite 3.6 (perhaps it-xa to do with teeth)
-cs- to own 198.168
-cs(k/o)- to shoot 44.23
-\iota sak_i nu- to sit down 62.79
-cse'- to hurt, to wound 182.26
-\iota se(qa)- sharp 62.57
-cse (ka'te') - to look terrible 80.163
-cse<sup>-</sup>t- pr. very 98.252
-cscn- pr. self
-csnc- pr. self
-cskaxamete- to lose 52.7
-csqawcts- to stand holding 50.18
-csqaq!anaq!ne.'ncl- to nod 78.109
etskel- to look for or at something 24.6
  (-wetskek- to look, intr.) 180.57
-(\iota)tfk!ala\cdot k branch of tree 57.8
-tsqawa qa (l)- to walk along shore (?) 76.83
```

¹ Many of the verbs beginning with d-, e-t-, are derived from d- To DO; but in many cases the derivation is uncertain.

```
2'ts!na't! cedar 108.449
-(\iota)ts!la'e'n tree 3.9
-cn- to be 62.69
  -\epsilon nqa'pte'k to become 74.24
-en'a ke senqame'ike they two sat down 114.104 (-kes- two)
-enalaga'a<sub>a</sub>ke those who are in line 130.71
(ts') nalgana' nte he had something to put in 78.134
ene'nek! enemy 256.186
ene'sin horsefly
inc'stin molar and canine teeth
ene'tska gopher
inu't!ke grouse
(-\epsilon nmak) to pay
  -etenmak- to pay 106.384
-en·mesa- to be six 180.28
c'nta edge, shore 2.4
't'ntsuk! mouse
-cntse- to mind 76.93
-enk!at-
  la'nta oxakısınk!a'te'k the two jumped to the back of the tent 92.116 (lanta-
    oxa-ks-ink!a-te\cdot k
\neg(\iota)nqowa wing 74.49
c'nla \cdot k chicken hawk 42.2
-\epsilon k- to eat 2.6
-ik_iy_ik_{s'} to camp over night 76.91
e'ka monster, giant 42.33
-iki(me^{k}) to run 3.4
(-\epsilon k \epsilon t!_{\boldsymbol{u}} wo, \text{ see } -\epsilon' t!_{\boldsymbol{u}} wo'-\text{ to be ten})
  qa.\iota k\iota t!_{\boldsymbol{u}}wo nine 136.208
-cken suff. with foot 8.9
(-\(\ell kpak[te]\), -ukpak- to be disposed
  sa:nlckpakta'pse he hated him 86.27; he disliked it 216.91 (sahan-l-)
  -ukpak-
  sa'hanlukpa'kte he hated him 76.104
  suk.lukpa'kte he likes it
  k!umna'ntukpakitmu'tne he pitied it 242.276
cktck- pr. up 256.162
-cktxone(mu)- to rub (with) 124.70
-iktugo- to wash 80.182
-iksia(t)- to scratch 58.19
-cktscn(uq)- to sink 78.141
-cktsck- to catch 52.10
-ckinatet- to lay out place for tent 124.95
-(c)k.ley name 84.5
(\epsilon)k!na'mu relative 168.93
e \cdot qo \cdot t a small magpie (?) 64.113
il- pr. behind 4.8; 254.125
-\epsilon l(k\epsilon n)- to come (?) 78.116
-ita- to cry 20.2
-ilala cave 80.152
den- pr. may be 86.30
-denkloma'te'k to cover head with blanket 196.130
-e·leik out of the top of something
-il_{i}kt to mean 152.182
-dwa- to shoot 82.3
```

```
-t'lwa gum 20.9
-dwat!- to work 66.1; 250.20
-(\epsilon) livey- mind, heart 76.106
  qalwe'yne he thought thus 122.52
-dwitsk- to watch 92.89. (See -dskd-)
-e·lma·k! cherry 6.11
-ilta(xa)- to lick off 16.1
-(c)lno'hos star 17.9
-clkel- to scold, to quarrel 72.64
-cłk-
  -dkdwey- wise 214.35 (-dk-dwey)
-(cl)ke to say 218.128
-\epsilon lko- to make a fire 272.9
dqa- pr. some distance back 92.88
-clqawcsqoku- to float 98.240
-i lq! oku to be in danger 60.26
-i lxo to feel 66.30
u- pr. down (always with -n if away from speaker, or with -k if towards speaker).
(See un-, uk-)
o'u white goose
-o \cdot ya to be warm 102.300
-oyt!axwa(t)- to scare 252.69
uwa'ha no!
-uwok_{u} to arise 24.2
-oho- (o_{u}-) to know 72.9
up- pr. from water to land 178.266
-up- to die 8.10. (See -ip-)
  -upd- to kill 4.9
  -up_{u}q_{u} to drown 8.10
o pat! whitefish 150.341
-up(qa)- to be foolish
-up_iy_it_i^{\prime}e_i^{\prime} stingy 164.5
upen- pr. sideways, about 74.29
-upt!cnmit-
  n'upt!inmitilwe'yxome'k he trembled for fear 80.162 (-[i]lwey mind)
-ups(t)- to take one's own 190.7
(n')upsawitsaakinxa'ane he stood ready to spear 80.155 (ups-awitsa-kin-xa-ne)
upskil- pr. still 144.33
-upxa- to know, to see 64.115
om(e^{\cdot}) pr. below 254.118
-umats- to laugh 5.12
-umits- to break 26.6
-omo- to walk 76.77
(n')umnaqalpalne'ixo - he makes a mistake 254.132
-u'mqol- to swallow 222.87. (See -c'mqol-)
-ute- to want, desire 62.107
-ut_ime^{-1} to be warm 37.13
-us- first 4.7
-utspat!- to be helpful
un- pr. down (away from speaker) 184.43
one k last 210.469
(n')un \cdot aqalo \cdot qniya'x_une he helps 60.20
-ond- to be afraid 50.17, 22, 4
uk- pr. down (towards speaker)
```

```
-uk suff. fluid 82.197
   aa'kenmi'tuk river
 -oko ashes 10.10
 -okoy(qa)- wild 190.55
 -(u)kot season 180.19
 -o·k_{u}(e)- to be all 66.31
 -ukp claw 58.20
 -uktuk- to smell bad 160.377
 -uktman(qa)- to be crazy, foolish
 -ukts(qa)- to be slim 240.223
-(u)ktsiken bladder 64.100
 -ukunak- to see at a distance indistinctly 256.191
 -uknu- to rise 60.13; 138.275
 -ok/\mu(e) to be one 72.65
   ok!u_{cl} pr. at once 30.6
   ok!uent- pr. at once 55.1
   uk!und- pr. at once 180.40
 (n')uk!en(axe') he walks about 62.77
 -uk!u(n)- to open 34.3
 -uq suff. in water 8.10; 21.3
 -(u)k!pukam root 10.12
 o'k!q_una because 60.15
 -o_u qa- short 164.80, 83
 -oqua_ako pitchwood 136.221 (-ko fire)
 ogo- pr. in 152.218
   o'qo_uks inside 136.233
 (n)ugo'kxamu'me'k he went out of himself 70.46
 -oqoq!u'ko:l- to be black
 -uqtaptse·k! elbow 7.11
 -uq_u na(me^{-k}) to move camp 46.18
 -uqlawo:- (-uklawo-?) to fish 38.12; 39.2
 -uqla'nt clothing 9.4
 -uq!yu(leet) mountain 46.7
 -uq!wiya- to swallow 76.88
 (n')uxte^{-k} to defecate 124.69
 -ula pipe stem
 -ula- to do 68.73
 -ulu- to be deep 110.12
 -ulaks meat, flesh, body 2.7
 -ula·l green boughs 16.6
 ya- pr. on each side 62.73
 ya—ke (verbal noun) where there is 84.56
 ya.ukue'ika m name of a culture hero 112.43
 ya'wo below water 48.39; below 122.14
 yawo'unek! bright red; water monster 80.161
 -yapt!a- to be farthest, last 268.12
 -yaptsa(ken)- to push in (?) 164.79
 yama'kpa'l red-headed woodpecker 80.152
 yam'u smoke 16.4, 7
 ya't!aps curdled blood 196.143
 yusul- (?) 94.153
 -yanxu- to starve 192.75
 yaakwu'la k Longwater Bay 78.151
 yaq(le'et)- to be steep 110.9
```

```
-yaq- to break (a stick) 14.14 (yaq!- 64.94)
ya'qa fish trap 170.136
yaqa'nla'lt flying squirrel 76.63
yaqso''mil canoe 70.13
-yaq!- to break. (See -yaq-)
 ya'q!e_it tobacco 154.249
-yax- to come into contact, to reach, to get
  -qunyaxa- to touch 19.2
  -ts!\epsilon nyax_{a}- to go to get back 62.60
  -ts!enyaxak!o- to dip water 196.162 (ts!en-yax-ha-k!o)
  -m\iota tyax_{a}- to pursue 7.13
-yet- suff. time
  wanuyetna'm'u winter time 178.4
  wałkwa.cy:tne evening 36.10
yes—ke entirety
  ye'ske size 108.437
  yesa'ske number 168.78
  yestertke world 92.82
yc'tske cooking-basket
  yetske'ime pottery vessel
-ye'iku- to be five (from hey hand?)
  kye_iko_unmi'y_it the fifth day 250.31
  ye<sub>i</sub>ku'nwo fifty
-yekse'le k to stay over night 76.81
-yek!ta- to be spilled 196.142
-yclna'nts(te') to be pleased with something, to wish for something 222.74
yu- pr. up 20.9
yu'wa go ahead!
yu''wat! yellow-jacket, hornet, wasp 26.1
-yuna(qa)- to be many, much 60.15; 74.34
-yukua war bonnet 80.153
-yuk!kuaka(te) to miss, to fail to obtain 78.149
  -yuk!k_uakatd- to be saved 214.71
w- pr. to arrive
  wa'xe he arrives 184.67
  walke'n e he brings it 184.35
wa'- pr. up (waha- 166.28)
  wa·wetske'kine he looked up 16.9
  wa \cdot m_i tak! o'_u ne he shot upward 72.14
waha' no! 134.193
wa'ma't! buck 136.204
-wa·miłniłk·t- snowstorm 234.102
wa'ta'k frog 88.3
wat!- pr. across (over a high object)
  wat!me'te'ke'n'e' he kicked him across 84.61
  qanalwat!a'xe' he went across 254.116
was- pr. quickly
  wasaqana'ane he hurried 194.102
  wa's:l'axa'xe' he comes back quickly 62.78
wasa'q_ana'n tobacco 13.12
wa'tsk_ana dried meat 216.100
-wats!- to dive 70.9
-wats!- to play 72.55
```

```
-wan- to move 8.7
  wanla't!ne he moved his arm 180.55
  wanuqke'n e he moved it in the water 100.289
wanakate'<sub>i</sub>(ne') he is ready to go 250.34
-wanaq_a(na)- to go to war 226.14
wanu(yetna'm'o) winter 178.4
  wanuy't_ine it is winter time
wa''nmo blood 206.358
-wa(k)- to take away
  wakatte'lne his wife is taken away from him 62.51
  wakine'tne it is taken from him 166.54
wa'kuks a bird sp.? 64.120
-waq(e'ine) to be thick
-wag!_awu- to carry meat 104.362
wag!o''pe's rose hips 7.2
-walenk!alalu'ne it is snowing
wału'nak tongue 274.30
-wałne- to vomit 220.28
waloq!kuku't_i(ne) (waluxko·ku't<sub>i</sub>ne) it is raining 114.86, 106
wa'lkwa yesterday 250.41
  walkway:tine it is evening 76.90
wi- (?)
  wist/a''la seven 136.207
  wuxa'atsa eight
-wiyat!- side of body 142.22
wet!- to be deep 192.44; 278.118
-w_c t! wing, shoulder 98.251
wet!qkupqo·qtam·ake'n·e· a blow glances off from head 78.144 (-qkup-qo·q-la'm-a-
    k \cdot n - ne
-wis- to stand
  n'itwisga'_ane he stood still 82.13
  la \cdot awa \cdot kmew \cdot su' k_u ne he emerges again 70.26 (la \cdot a \cdot wa \cdot -k \cdot me \cdot w \cdot s \cdot uk \cdot ne)
  ga·wisga'ane he stands thus 254.122
  wisqu'le·k it floats
-wis(e\cdot k) to sweat in sweat lodge
  wisi'al sweat lodge
we'suk!u a small bird, yellow at tip of feathers, with tip on head 194.118
-wets-
 tunwakakiswits a'q!ane legs stick out 228.58 (tunwa-k-a-kis-wits-saq!-ne)
  nawitskpayati'lne he was waited for 78.123
watswets a small, gray bird living on lake shore 78.113
-wetskek- to look 166.28
  -wetskil- to watch for something 82.22
-wetsq!nu(ne) to climb 64.120
-wd(qa)- large 58.16
  kwc'lqle bighorn sheep 82.3
wdma'pe's rectum 232.68
w/lma·l rattlesnake 31.5
we'lna'm early 36.2; 66.39
-wo bow
  a<sub>a</sub>'k.lakwo'<sub>u</sub>te's his bow stave 15.7
  swu'_ute he has a bow 52.10
  n't'wukun'teik he made a bow for himself 68.59
```

```
-wu- to touch
   wuqkupxo'une he touched him roughly 192.42
   wuk!o'_{u}ne he hits it 60.34
 wu(qa)- to be long 164.66
   ww'saq! long-leg 78.139
   qawule: tine not far 64.83
   yesenwosa'q!ke the length of his legs 84.53
 wu'u water 70.12
-wup- to be new 208.406
-wum belly, stomach 80.185
   wilwu'mne his belly is big 25.11
 wv'm'a·l wild rhubarb 5.12
wo'ne gambling-bone 152.195
wunmana'mu alive 268.15
-wo_{\boldsymbol{u}}k^{\boldsymbol{u}} \mod 60.33
-wuku(at)- to see 226.21 (wo_u-ka-t)
  -wukuq_a to find 72.5
wu'qt!e fisher 230.2
wo'q!ka: soup 46.35. (See ho'q!ka)
h\dot{a} oh! 86.31
hai oh! 86.30
hao'm (exclamation) 230.6
ha- to have; to be 70.37;
  -haga'ane to have 148.121; to be born 92.84
  -hate to have
    huna'ate. I have it
    naka'ane he has an arrow
  -(yu)ha(kx'ne') he rubs it on 20.9
ha—ke place 80.185
  hank!aminake place where there is a hole in a mountain 14.12
-ha- demonstrative verbal prefix.1
  -han:ms:qq_a- to smell 254.109
  -hakvms:ke_i(te) to smell of 238.204
  -hanokue_i(te) to drag 96.184.193
  hakunk:'n(\cdot e\cdot) to pull 44.17
  -hałukme- noise 60.13
  -hałukwaxniyam to whistle 40.9
  -haw:sqa'ane he stands
  -hawiskaxu'ktse to swing 44.26
  -haw:sk!akana'na'm to dance squatting 52.8
  -hawetske'n·e· he stands holding
  nawetsqatke'n'e it holds it by the tail 15.13 (qat-tail)
  naw! tsxane he stands biting 94.157
  -hawe'tsno't- to coax 228.65
  ganawitso''me wind blows a certain way 168.85
hayax_a to go and get 92.90
-hawasxo- to sing 16.12
ha'phohe'ha (exclamation) 238.207
ham- prefix of color terms
  -hamqoq!uku:lakat.le:t:tine:- blackish:sky 66.9
 namqok!oko'ulne it is black
-hamat- to give 206.353
```

¹ Many of the following verbs in ha contain presumably this prefix.

```
-ha·m·duqkat·le·k to slide on snow 132.126
-hamaxu'kue to fall 88.56
ha'tsa mother's brother and sister's child (reciprocal term) 76.104
-hatslet- it is a well-hidden place 192.38 (ha-ats-let)
-hats/ata(qa)- to be sleepy 90.55
-han-
 -hanuq!uya'a(te) to swallow (-uq!wiya-)
 -hanuxo- to fly
 -hanmuko- to boil 134.170 (-huko- to boil)
 -hanguxol- sun dance 50.24
 -hang!o'ko- fire 64.115
  -hanlukp(qa)- to run 48.25
-hanaq-, -hanqa- to sit down
  ya qaha nqame 'ke' where he was seated 136.211
  sanaqna'kse sitting there 132.140
-hanil-
  nanilwokumxa'lne they waited 74.48
-(ha)nohos red 128.59. (See 78.135)
-han u \circ qo.i \cdot xo'u(ne) she broke it 96.204
ha'nq!o muskrat 74.33
hakil- pr. (See -kil)
  nakelwetsqa'ane it stands in it 37.4
-hako- to butt 60.23
-hakup(malna'mne') to stop over night 250.53
-hakumal- to be bloody 58.20
hako: to get (milk) 118.169
-hakwa- to howl 140.20
  (n)hakwase'kme'k to pant 140.20
ha'ksa (exclamation) 90.47; 230.7
-hag!alikwa.et- to catch fire 120.229
-hakq!yet- to talk, to discuss 66.2; 216.79. (See -uq!wiya-)
-hakq!_u was xo'_u me^{\cdot}k to cough
-hakq!me'- to burst 104.339
-hak.latsulwitskil- to look secretly 254.144
-hak.let- noise 168.69
-hak.luq!uwiyaxa- to wish
-hak!ak.lonuk- dry trees 72.69.
(qa)hak!o_{u} to pass (?) 238.200
-haq_a- to swim 218.8
  la.u'pkaqkine'lne it was taken ashore 170.136 (la-up-k-haq-ken-l-ne)
  na'qtse'k he washes his body, bathes
-hagai- to roll 240.226
-haqanak!aqla'ha'l swamp 72.65
-haqanit to drive game 29.1. (See -halaqanit-)
-hagan(ke) to call 130.106 (hagan-ke)
-haqal-
  nagalpalne'ne he talks 72.59. (See -pal-)
-hagosa- (?)
  nago_{u}sag!maxo'_{u}me \cdot k he sat down on top 12.9
-haqoka'm- fringed 202.276
-hagul- to travel by canoe 150.158
-hagwil- to dance 37.11
(qa)haqowu'm'ne they were assembled 138.279
-haqtuq!ua- to put in 112.50
```

```
-hagts!eqlel- to have clear eyes 214.74 (-qlel eye)
-haqloy_{\ell}t(qa)- green
-haq!awu- to carry meat 188.47
-haq!a-ko:- to be on fire 174.182 (aq!a-ko:?); to perspire 120.207
-haq!a naq!ne_i to nod 194.102
-haq!ank!o^{\prime\prime}(te^{\cdot}k) limping 26.9
  q!o·malq!a'n·ko· Wounded-Knee 26.9
-haq!anqots!lae'n place with thick trees, forest 76.81; 86.43 (-ha-q!anqo-ts!lae'n)
-haq!anqoquat(qa)- round (-ha-q!anqo-quat-ne)
-haq!axo'_{u}x_{u}(ne) to shoot 166.47
-haq!al:kwa:t_i(ne) to be on fire 68.65; (172.171)
-haq!ma- to do suddenly
  -haq!maxo- to scare 116.130
  nukuhaq!ma·kikqa'ane suddenly he entered 12.13
  naq!male'itsne he awoke 138.274
  ganaq!mak.lenq!oku'pse fire started 136.226
-haq!nuk- lake (ha-q!nuk)
  n'a qa'nalhoq!nukna'na little lakes 72.67
-haq!lsak- to cut hair 148.129
-hał-
  nalxo'une he carries on back 4.2
  nałke'n e he carries in hand 80.173
  n'atskalke'n'e' he takes it 134.182
  nal'ana'xe he goes hunting 82.2
  nalume'n'e wind blows 164.61
  kałnuku'pqa swift
  -halqok!almaxa- to kiss (-k!a-lma mouth)
  -haluk.lit<sub>i</sub>ya'x_a(ne^{-}) to shout 210.437
  -halatsukwiya'm(ne) to whisper 252.67 (-ats- secretly)
  -halaqand- to drive game 134.167. (See -haqand)
  -halnuqu- to carry torches 156.266
  -hałke'kwas- to pant
  -halko_{u} to carry water 134.173
  yu·halhaq!aku'n·e· it is burnt on top (-haq!a-ku-)
-hala'_a(ne) to faint 130.67
-hat \cdot axwat(e \cdot k) to be proud 78.140
-halitet- to marry (halalite't_i[ne]) to be married 152.208)
-halengloylo kua'a(me\cdot k) to utter war cry 166.37
-halikina<sub>a</sub>t_i't_i(ne) there is evidence of some one laving been present 90.49
-halones- to go away 128.42
-hałuqk_i n_i lx n e_i m o'(n \cdot e') to use a spoon 64.114
hal·ya· oh! 12.6
-halwats! to gamble 70.32
-halnukup(qa)- to run 244.4. (See -hanlukp- under -han-)
-hałnukux_{u}- to bleed from mouth 130.96
-halnukp- to be ashamed 208.424
-halqo·ma·t- to surround 148.128
-halq!at!ei- to pick berries 88.4
-halq!ahalt- lehal 150.161
hê oh! 94.140
he_i yes
he he ha burden of song 100.291
```

```
-hey- hand
  mane'ine he covers it with his hand
  ta'ntagahe' ine: he put his hand back 9.7
  a_a'ke'<sub>i</sub>e's his hand 72.11
heyd (exclamation) 82.17
he'm o pine
-hcs- to give food 29.3; 174.208
hesan- pr. away. (See hosan-)
-henehe- a game, dancing in circle 52.8
-hek!est- to count coup 256.182
-hele kxaqken- to put into water 100.289 (-hele kxa-qu-ken-)
-hduk- to be dry 78.116 (hd-uk-)
-helke- to make noise 82.16
-hdkupxo_{u} to blow 138.245
-hu- to finish
  -huku_{\ell}n to finish something (-hu-k_{\ell}n)
  -hul'e'k- to finish eating 130.86
  kułate qna ready 96.195
  -hul·ak.le to be full grown 92.119
  -hunmeilak.le- to be full grown 102.305
hu-te to use
ho'ya well! go on! let me go on! 84.1
-hoyet!t- to drive 174.202
-huwas- to be hungry 82.4
-hupa- to be first 74.37
-hup\ddot{v}(qa)- to be crazy 256.166
-hupumak(ne') snow falls from trees 57.7
-humas- to be dry 222.100 (-hu-mas-)
-huto gsa- to tie hair in knot (?)
-hutkawumako- belly swells up (-wum belly)
-hut!- to freeze 234.103
  hosan- pr. away. (See hesan-)
  no sanoxunqa'ane he ran away 68.65
  hosanmiye'tke to-day 250.48
-huts- pr. towards
  nutsa'xe' he approaches 124.90
  nutsu'kune water rises 118.189
-huts- to lie
  nutske'ine he lies, speaks untruth 86.16
-hutsqan- to be lengthwise 170.104. (See -maqan- crosswise)
  kutsqa'nq!le·l striped lengthwise
-hutsen- to start
  no tsenqkupeke'me'k he started running 58.18
-hunuq!me'- to skin 15.4
-huko- red-hot 68.75; to boil; cooked, done 272.14
-hukuya(kate_i)- to be dangerous 224.103
  -hukoydxone_i- to feel uneasy 220.41 (-ilxo body)
  -hukue_i(qapqa)- to be wild 190.55
-huk_u nu to raise. (See -uknu-)
-huk.luk- tired 60.19
 huk.lukpa(me.k) lonesome 148.122
-huk!ue·n- to be open 144.52
  ōk!uenke'ne'n' open it! 148.102
```

```
-huk!ukyıt;- it is (day) light 68.52; -hoq!uk;yıt- to shine 120.217
-huk!nug!tuma thirsty 42.29
-hoq- to win 72.63
-hugaxo- to fall 110.8
-huqna(me\cdot k) to break camp 84.40
  nuq_unaneya'mne they broke camp 276.71
-huq!utsko- to extinguish fire 172.173
-huq/yu'k/o_u to grasp with beak 240.209
ho'q'ka rotten bone 234.87. (See wo'q!ka.)
-hog!ko:- it melts 80.187
hul- pr. from land towards water 100.263; 240.209
  -huluq^{u} to swim 142.43 (-hul-uq-)
-hulpal- to hear, to listen 92.107 (-hul-pal). (See pal)
-hulnak!o- to fill pipe 62.39, 46
hya (exclamation) 148.95
pa brother's daughter
-payo t-
  q!akpayote'lne it is forgotten 82.196
pa'pa grandmother (said by male), grandfather, grandson 88.27
papa'la''m leaves of tobacco plant
pa·mck nevertheless 86.41
pats- pr. apart
  partsenmet- to scatter 106.418
pat! nephew 64.94
-pagts- to be thin 272.12
-paq!_ame - .to burst 184.47
pa \cdot l weak disjunctive, but 78.125
-pał-
  -hagalpalne<sub>i</sub>- to talk 72.60
  -k!apal(tele\cdot k) to listen 102.316
  -hulpal(ne) to hear, to listen 66.24; 92.107
  wdka'nilpalnexu'n'e he made big noise 98.219; 220.54
pa'l'ya mittens 228.57
pa'lke_i woman 26.12
-pes- to let go
  p_{\ell}s_{\ell}k_{\ell}'n^{*}e^{*} he let it go with hand 90.51 (-k_{\ell}n^{-})
-p:tsqa- to be afraid
  ptsqalwe'yne he is afraid 174.185 (ptsqa-lwey-ne)
-pets food
  a_a'kpe'tsna·m food
  pe'tsak spoon
  petseke/meik he eats while going 198.187
-pets-
  p_t t s x o'_u n e he chops off 104.343
pc'k!a'ks long ago 88.2
po'po hammer 128.35
po'stin American (=Boston)
p!e·q!s night hawk 172.152
ma mother 94.138
ma but 94.138
-ma trail
  a_a'kma'na m a trail 62.51
\mathfrak{L} n'almama<sub>a</sub>'ne trail is wide 254.111 \mathfrak{q} \mathfrak{M}
  wumana'mne it is a long trail
```

```
-ma- (long objects)
  k!almanmi'tuk a wide river 86.10
-mayet season
  tuma'yet spring of year 100.258
ma'yo'k weasel
-mat-
  matqlaxwa'ate he spits it out 6.8, 12
-mate to leave 134.172
ma'teit! whitefish
-mas(e_i)- to be dry 64.117
ma_a ts don't! 58.3
-mats to be dirty 194.84
-matsqak
  k!a'le matsqak ma'ak big toe (-al- wide)
man- pr. past
  manglanke'me'k he went past 84.60
man- pr. back
  lamanwetskike'lne he looks back 158.343
-man- to cover 58.17
ma'aka flicker 80.180
ma·k! bone 84.31
-magan- crosswise
ma'qak later on 126.106
-maq!an egg, testicle 102.300
-maq!ne·(xo)- to slap
ma'xa a berry, sp. (?) 270.32
mal(u)- pr. sideways 150.170
  malu'q!lil striped sideways 150.170
-mal suff. together, with 130.85; 166.42
-malin- to open
  malenk!alma'n'e' he opened his mouth 220.51
-malak bone
  a_a'k.lam·ala'k skull (a_a'k-la'm-malak)
-me' suffix
  a_a'k!a'_ame hole
  yets!ke''me' pot
-miyit day
  yesenwunmiye'tke the whole night 144.9
  nagsanmi'yet several days 88.6
  aa'kelmi'yet sky 86.51
  tscłmi'yct evening 68.52
  ktschmetchnu'qka going at night (=moon) 68.50
-met- to throw 68.65
  m_c t x a- to shoot 74.32
misqulo'uwo'm name of Coyote's daughter 60.11
me'tsu'k a small water fowl, long, slender neck, white belly, dark back 98.246
mitsqo'ko'ti'lna' a bush with white berries, not edible 126.14
mets/qa'qas chickadee 176.231
-menxo qa- to jump 96.168; 246.45
-me·k reflexive ending of verbs in -ne·
mc'ka even 66.25
mc'ksa'n but 98.219
-mu(w \iota s u' q)- to emerge
  n'awak!mosu'q_une it emerges 110.39 (n-a-wa-k-mo-w\iota s-uq-ne)
```

```
-mu suff. by means of
  km:txa'm'u shooting with it 72.3
-moxun<sup>e</sup> to fall into, to hit 192.39
  ksaakmu'xo' while he was away 232.64
  sanmuxo'me'k to pile up 168.87
    sanmolke'n e he had a pile 136.237
moqkupnoxunqa'me'k he runs 60.18
mo'q!_{u}ne young beaver 130.92
-mnuqka-, menuqka-
  yaqa'nalwat/menuqka'ske' where the sun sets 86.21 (ya-qanl-wat/-menuqka-s-ke')
t-pr. into, always with n going, or with k coming. (See tin-, tik-)
ta_a q oh if!
-taptse'k forearm, elbow 7.11
-tamoxu(n \cdot e) it is dark 266.41
tat! elder brother 68.53
ta'nal reed (?), rushes (?) 264.65
-takxaxo_{\boldsymbol{u}}(ne) to fall 132.124
ta·k!a·ts squirrel 74.27
ta'xta later on 3.7
tal- pr. can
-timo suff. mutually, together with
  swv't_imo friends 1.2
  ala qaltitimo parents and children
tte granddaughter of woman; grandmother of girl; mother-in-law 184.67; 58.22
ttu father of male
t/tga't! man 166.42
ten- pr. going into 88.32; 90.61
  latnalki'n·e· he carried it back into 90.61
tek- pr. coming into 92.116
  t_i k_i m_i t_{in} ne he pulled it in 96.203
-te·k reflexive suffix of transitive verbs in -te·
t/tte't! father's sister (said by woman) 58.14
te'lna old woman 3.4
  telna'mu wife, old woman 26.6; 62.55
tdna'ako hare (?) 216.81
tuw- pr. back
  tuwul' txo'ume k he lay on his back 246.62
  tuwuninmuxu'n e he fell back 96.170
tuwukxo'nal diorite 106.394
to'hol charr 44.14
tu'ts/a\cdot k! thumb
-tunak- to be lean 216.95
tunwa- pr. out of, out of woods (Lower Kutenai tun-)
  tunwakakiswits aq!a'ane his two legs stuck out 228.58
  ktuna'xa Kutenai 254.112
-tuk!xo(tne') (tent) is covered 214.53
-tuq!ts- news 78.132
  tug!tsgake'ine to tell news 250.50
tug!tsqa'mna bird, small animal 196.121
tu'x_{u}a almost 66.30
-t.la tent, house
  a_a'ket.la'na'm tent 8.5
  n'etet.la'ate k he made a tent for himself 74.34
  sa \cdot n\iota t \cdot la' \cdot ane there is a tent 9.5
```

```
-t/a- to knock
  tlaxo'<sub>u</sub>ne to knock at door 202.291
  t!amuxo- to drum
  t/awo gun 90.50 (t/a-wu)
    t/a\wu'mka bowstring 128.27
t/a\pis(wukna'na) a little bush 60.33
t!aptsle'nwa's cricket
-t/apts- to stick on 98.234; 252.93
t!a'tka uvula
-t!ats!anel*(ckt'n*e) to tramp on something 126.20
-tlanoko'u(ne') to burst by heat 96.168
-t/anukqlo'_uku(ne) to snort 168.89
t!a'n'qu'ts partridge 152.181
t/aqu'mo: netted ring 194.117
tlaqta·la'mne they talk together 278.2
-t!aqts- to hurt
  t!aqtseyxo'_{u}me'k he hurt his hand 26.3 (taqts-hey-xo_{u}-me'k)
-t/alo'_{u}k^{u}(ne) to make noise 92.92 (t/a-lo_{u}k^{u}-ne)
t!ena'mu grease 110.2
t!uk.lun.maku't_ine two seasons
s- pr. along
  sakqa'ane it lies here
  sag!a'n'e it hangs
  sa:net.la'mne there is a house
sao-, saw- pr. there (demonstrative)
  sa·usaqa'ane he staid there 2.14
-sahan-, -sa·n- to be bad
  saha'n'e' it is bad 58.25
  sa\hanlee'tne it is a bad place 256.153
  sa'hanlukpa'kte he hated him 76.104
  sa'kelsa'nelwe'yne' he is still angry 86.26
 sa'nla Piegans 52.13
-sa'n(qa)- to be tired 204.316
sak (exclamation) 226.43
-sak-
  ksake'me'k tired walking 114.109
sakel- pr. still
  sa'kilsa'nilwe'yne' he is still angry 86.26
-sakno'ktse'k he is starving 176.251
  ksano 'ktsiyenke'tsqa starving, although having a fish trap 176.251
-s_{\ell}n- there stands (s-n-)
  senk!ala xwietsne there is a door 34.4
-saq- to lie
  saq(qa_a)- to lie down
-saqxal- there 96.201; 98.240; 130.105
-saq!- leg
  a_a'ksa'q!na'm leg 3.13
  wu'saq! long leg 78.139
  lusaq!a'lne leg is cut off 28.3
-salitet- to marry 164.2. (See -halitet-)
se<sub>i</sub>t! blanket 1.2; 154.260
sc'n\cdot a beaver 70.11
-sen akpa'me'k he wants to act his own way 74.30
      85543°—Bull. 59—18——22
```

```
-8ck- fat 50.4
-sd- pr. continuative 35.9; 40.5, 19.9
su father of girl
soya'pe Englishman 33.8
-80uk- to be good 58.39
  suk.lettine it is a good place 100.260
  ksukuaka'te plenty 168.80
  sukunohu'se bright red 90.71
  suk^{u}xo'_{u}me^{\cdot}k he took a good seat 68.62
  sukud'upxane he sees well 128.53
swa' panther 164.8
swa'q!_amo salmon 176.252
-swits- there stands
  switsle. i'tine there is a hill 12.2
  switsnu'kune there is a stone 26.3
swen daughter 270.44
  swina'le' sister's daughter (said by woman)
swo friend (used by man to designate male friend) 222.85
-std(e^{-k}) to stake in gambling 150.180
st!u'kuał female
-(stsu'm- always with qa- not)
  qastsu'mqaqa'ane' he is wise, skillful 70.38
-snemsik(qa_a)- it smells of 252.104
skat relation between sister's husband and wife's brother 224.9
ske'n'ku'ts coyote 1.1
  selsken ku'tstek to act foolishly 210.434
-skik- a flat object is somewhere 12.1
  skikts!la'nuqle!it flat country (=prairie) (see under flat)
-skckil- a flat object is still there 82.197
sq!u'm \cdot o \cdot service berry 92.104
-ts and 2.5
ts- pr. future 1.8
-tsa- to be small
  hutsat.lanana'ne I have a small house
  ktsaqu'na small 50.4
  tsale.ctinana'ne a place is small 234.93
tsa younger brother 70.39
tsa'hal grass 50.4
-tsamal knife 10.9
tsa'atsa grass figure representing deer 90.60
tsa'kap a spirit (?) 44.8
-tsakd- to refuse 72.2
tsa'qa partridge berry 58.8
tsagan- pr. into a pile of things; up river
  tsaqa natsq!ahe'ine he stretched his hand into it 18.8
  ts!enaltsagana'xe' he started up river 216.83
· tsaqa'haks source of river 216.119
-tsema'k! very, strongly
  ts Ema'k!ke' ine to speak the truth 98.215
  tsemak!qa'ane he is strong 180.41
  tsEma'k!e·l'utimile.c'tine it was really hot 116.152
  tsema'k!dwu'qt!e the real fisher 234.98
tsiya younger brother 184.61
tsemne xa'ame k he wants to eat more 272.23
tset!(na'na) pup (of dog) 216.92
```

```
-tse<sub>i</sub>te suff. to cause 164.76
tsi'tsgo'm water ousel 78.113
ts!en only 74.24
-tsen- to catch, to hold
  tsinki'n'e' he catches it
  tsenxu'n e it squeezes him
tsenmal(qa'ane') something happens 55.4
tsc'nla shrew 128.46
tsens(ke'ine') he did not mean it 192.44 (-kei- to say)
ts:nla(kate'ine') it looks nice 188.29
tse_i(ka'te) he sees it 58.20
-tsck!- to destroy
  tsc'k!xane to break with teeth
  tsek!ke'n'e' to split with hand 44.19
tsiklen- pr. on one side 256.174
-ts_{\ell}k!ma_{\ell}n(k_{\ell}'n\cdot e\cdot) he makes a mistake 128.55
-tsd- to be dark 66.30
tsu sister of girl 58.11
tsu'u milk 118.170; breast 166.33
tsu'wak! fish hook 39.3
tsu'm(o\cdot ku) bubble (-uku water) 70.25
tso_{u}t name of a dog 242.255
-tsutil- to suck 112.51
(k)tsquna'akenxa'm u spear 80.165
-tsunok!o_{u}- to open (rock) 238.193
tsu(k!o'_{u}ne) to pierce 264.78
tsuku(a'te') to take 2.7
  tsukokuc'n e to take with hand 106.411
  tsukuqkuc'n e to take with hand out of water 98.212
  tsukuatu'mał slave
tsuk(la'ma'ne') to comb (-la''m head)
-tsuku- to start a fire 136.221
  tsuku'pxane to light a pipe 13.13
tsuk!na'a(ne) to invite to a feast 78.115
tsuk!oti'yal spear 80.153
-tsula bag
  a_a'tsu''la bag 17.5
-tspuq!ue_{i}- to be soft 184.47
-tska(ken)- to give 104.361
-tsk!alak branch. (See [-\epsilon]tsk!ala\cdot k)
  pitstsk!alakxo'une he chops off a branch
-tsq!ahey finger (-hey hand)
-tsxa(n \cdot e) to talk 66.3
  tsxa·małktsała/mne· to shake hands 62.73
-tslake_il- to like 206.371
(k)ts!ak!lana'ke a different way. (See ak!la)
-ts/aq_a- to rub, to oil 94.143
ts!axu'na ant 212.18
ts!en- pr. to start away from speaker 2.2
ts! Ema'k!- hard
-ts!enak- to run
ts/ck- pr. to start towards speaker 152.189
ts!elq!cnku'pse it burnt quickly 68.64
```

```
-ts!upna- to shut 46.29; 94.157
 ts!up'na'kot autumn 100.257
 ts!o'uts!o fish hawk
   ts!o_u ts!u'q!ua fish-hawk nest 244.3
 -ts!kakd- coal
   yu'nats!kak:'lne' there is much coal
 -ts/qaat bark of tree
   huluts!qalxo'une I tear off bark
 -ts!ta- pr. flat
   a_a'kıkts!la'no_uk flat stone 64.84
   skikts!la'nuqle'it prairie 204.309
 -ts!lae·n tree
   ga'akithag!a'nqu'ts!ta'in there is a forest 86.43
 n- prefix of indicative forms of all verbs beginning with an h
 n'- prefix of indicative forms of all verbs beginning with a vowel
 na this 60.21
 na.u'te girl 126.11
 nao'k!ue the other one 68.48 (See o'k!u-)
 nawa'spal son-in-law, father-in-law 29.3, 4; 200.236
 na'he'k birch-bark basket 58.25; 90.51
 na'pit if 90.52; 226.37
 -nam 'suff. some one (indefinite subject)
 name't'a red paint 96.190
 -nam'te xa (?)
   l'apko kluna'm'te xa he might jump to the head of the tent 96.200
 na'mlat! a species of chipmunk 230.4
 na'_{a}ta above 204.330; 212.30. (See ata-)
 nata'ne k! sun, moon 13.13; 120.224
 naso'_{u}k^{u}e^{\cdot}n chief 29.4
 na'na younger sister of girl 58.14, 15
   alna'na sisters 78.126
   nana'at_imo sisters 230.17
 -nana suff. small 44.13; 55.6; 76.92
 na''nka orphan
   kana'nka''qal orphan adopted by me
 na''ka young gopher
 na'ksaq master 50.25
 na'k!_ayo fox 1.1
 -nag- to swim 58.27
 naga- some one 268.61; 270.30
 nagan- pr. probably, about 36.3; 62.71; 270.26
   naganga'lsa about three 270.26
   naqa'at- pr. 62.71
 na'qpo_uk soup 58.26, 34
na'qsa- pr. several 4.14; 88.6; 144.12, 19. (See naqa-, naqan-
 naq!an- pr. into woods
 na'x_ane caribou 50.1
 -na·t- to continue
 nałagłe'lek golden eagle 74.52
 na'lme't! badger 64.96, 100
 nalmö'qtse name of a hero 80.166; 84.1
 nałmuxna'yi't (nałmexna'yet) a small woodpecker 80.153, 159, 161
 ne that one 8.12; 9.13; 86.9
 netsta'hat youth 30.1; 126.11
   netsta hatq!lik!a'ma'l youth about to marry
```

```
nctsna'pku moose 10.7; 11.5
nc''nha'ks there is water 86.9
ne'nko thou 44.28; thine 29.14
-neyax- to send for some one 72.6
nc'te shade 66.26, 41; 116.152
nilo'_uq^uat doe 88.3
ne'lya p mountain sheep 168.72
nc'ltuk!up antelope 244.2
ne'lse'k buffalo bull 60.1, 5, 17
n'lko iron, money 52.6
  n:lko'uts!ap arrow point of metal 106.383
ndlksaq porcupine
ndxamyu'wat! snail
n\ddot{v}pc'k!a manitou 5.1; 94.134; 224.9
nu'm \cdot a thunder 74.48
-nv'm·ok! cliff 2.4; 84.52; 278.118
-nut- to pursue 15.15; 26.8; 58.22; 60.19
-not-
  sk_i k_i not x on i' le' k there is a rattling noise 146.74, 75
-(nohos)-, nos- red 78.135, 147; 90.71; 96.190
-nusu'k!po'n place with scattered trees 72.74
  a_a'kınusu'k!po'n
nu'ku(ey) stone 60.7, 27; 94.142
  -nuku in compounds 60.8; 64.83; 88.19
-no kak rib 80.189
-(nokui)-
  ts!enawes'nokue'ite they dragged them 168.59 (also 248.11; 250.35, 38)
nuktsa'qleil hummingbird
  (k!uktsa'qle_il pointed eye)
nuktsnaq!a''nka'm snipe 184.31
nu'k.lo_{u}k^{u} elk fawn
-(nuk!u)-
  hun'onyilnu'k!_une. I know how to get it. (See 98.217)
-(nok/u_in)- to get out (to open) 76.72
-nuqa'ko_u pitchwood 168.69; 266.36
-nug-
  a_a'kınuqle'et prairie 55.6; 180.39
-nuq_u- to smoke 266.3
  -cknoquk_{u}- to smoke a pipe (= to eat smoke) 62.40
-nuqka- to go up, to rise 66.21; 68.43
  ktsdme'tilnu'qka moon (= the one going up at night) 68.55
  yu'wa'kmnuqka'n'e' he went up on high 66.8
-nuglum- white
  a<sub>a</sub>'km:nuqlu'nuk white stone 88.13
  kianuglu'mna rabbit
  kianuqlo \cdot q!u'lo \cdot kp bumblebee (= white end)
  nugłu'k!ue·n loon
-noq!um- to break 90.60, 63
-nug!- (?)
  knu'q!lam' long-haired one (Chinaman)
-nuq!la-
  a<sub>a</sub>'kınuq!la'nu'k!ue'n sharp, flat stones 96.191
-nuxu- to fly 212.29; 214.70; to run away 80.165
  kalnuxu'kna m a race 1.6
```

```
-nu{-
  -nulk!o- to aim, to stab 68.63; 80.159
  nawitsnulxo'une he stood ready to pound 96.192
nu''ta old man
  nu·l'a'qana husband 84.32; Frenchman 34.1
-nulmak marrow 64.101
-nma- to carry
  qatsanma'xo' one who carried three
  la \cdot aimaxo'_{u}ne he carried two 188.40 (aim < as-nm)
-nmakut year
-nmiyet day
-nmituk river 8.3; 80.190; 86.10
-nmuk_{u}- to boil something 266.7, 8
-nmok! cliff. (See -num·ok!)
-nmu(xo)- to pile; to throw many things 82.201; 118.195; 130.68
-nk!un- to point
  qa'nank!unc'lne it was pointed that way 180.55, 56
-ngo (?) frame of tent
-ngowa feathers 86.18; 98.208
  k.lungowa''xo' feathers coming off 98.213
-nq!a- point 9.7; 14.3; 62.56, 57
-ng/oko- fire 80.186; 128.57; 136.233; 266.13
-n\ell\ell'kxo
  kianle'kxo woodchuck
k- prefix of participle and interrogative 5.4
k- pr. coming, motion towards speaker. (See ak-, ts! ck-)
ka- pr. my 58.14
-ka- to take
 ta·upkak!o'une he took it out of fire 2.7
  k!upka'anqo't what he had taken out of water 130.98
-ka suff. some one (indefinite object) 92.92
  tsxanatka'ane she told some one 268.64
-ka- arrow 15.6
  n'aimaka'ane he had two arrows 68.59 (< n-as-nma-ka-ne)
kaá (exclamation) 228.92
ka_a where 96.186; ka'a 78.129
-kamał corral
  skikiska'ma'l there are two corrals
ka'min I 44.37, 38; 78.139. (See ka-my)
  kamina'la we, our 70.11
-ka·mt- belt
  a<sub>a</sub>'ka'mta'm somebody's belt
-kat(e^{\cdot}) to look
 tseika'te he sees
  n'ise kate ine it looks terrible 90.42
  koa''qaka'te' how do I look? 92.117
 namak!tsa'akat.le'tctine''ne' it looks yellowish 66.15
  sukuakate'ine plenty 92.100
katikaki'lsaq! Blackfoot Indians
ka'tska'ts a bird, yellow breast and gray wings 78.126
kanq!usqwe'ikak mallard duck 19.8, 10
ka kiyaxa kukp Rattling-Claws (a name) 256.175
ka'ake n wolf 194.81
kak!a'akit! Hare Lip (a name) 256.173
kaq!a'te bull moose 104.350. (See kilq!a'te bull elk)
```

```
ka'xax turtle 160.362
-ka(xu)- to fall
  n'o nilkaxu'n e it fell down 96.196
kaxu'lo\cdot k goose 17.10
kala'wo'k thorn bush (?)
ka'lta't shrew 130.68, 86
ka'alka ghost
-ke_{i}- to say
  qake'ine he said so 1.1
  słutske'ene he lied 23.2; 58.38
kia'wa'ts fool hen, grouse (?) 17.1; 218.3
kiapt!aha`natsq!ahai'na`m little finger
  kiapt!aha'nłukp claw 25.2
kianu'kxo goat 86.23
kianuqlu'mna rabbit 55.1
kianuq!u'lupq bumblebee
kiang/al(na'na) two-year-old buck 226.11
kianle'k!xo woodchuck 92.96
kiakqa'lo_{\boldsymbol{u}}k a hawk, sp. (?) 70.5 (kiaqka'lo_{\boldsymbol{u}}k 42.3)
kiakxa'xa't something tied together (?)
kia'kxo' fish 118.182
kiaq!nu'kua't golden eagle 42.1 198.207
kiag!aku'tats sparrow hawk 192.54, 76
kia'q!ta duck 98.210 (kia'qta 19.13)
kiyu'kmul digging-stick 52.11
k: timuk! white clay
-k s- dual
  tkamukuc'ste k two children 9.10,13
  n'anakisxa'mne they two went out 9.9
  henwelkesqle'lne you have big eyes (hen-wel-kes-qlel-ne)
-kits-
  n'entakitsxo'une he chopped it off close to edge 33.9
  qa_ankitsxo'_une he chopped along 33.11
-kits tent pole
  a'a'kets tent pole
-ketsqa fish trap 176.253
-kets!x_a to gnaw (-x_a with teeth) 274.39
  ksano'ktsiyenke'tsqa they are starving with their fish trap 176.251
-ken suff. with hand 188.11, 16
  t/apts/akc'n'e he stuck it on 188.26
  ksa<sub>a</sub>na'<sub>a</sub>ki·n bad gambler 150.157
kendzodz (King George) Canadian
-kn(clwiy)- to think about something
  kinelwi'ytik he thinks about it 68.1
  silkinitwiyteya'ate he is thinking about it 68.2
-ke<sub>i</sub>k- to cook 42.37, 38
-kik- to make noise, to puff, to howl 146.55, 64; 218.125 (-kak- 146.57)
  n'anmuqkupnoxo'ne'lk:kwake'me'k she ran out howling 11.8 (n-an-mu-qkup-
    noxone-l-k\epsilon k-wa-k\epsilon me\cdot k)
  letkekinokue'lne without noise of stones 256.157 (let-kek-noku-el-ne)
-kik-
  naqa'nkikqa'me'k he jumped sideways 170.106
-kel- (with demonstratives yakel-, hakel-, sakel-, qakel-)
  -kelhaq!anqots!la'e'n thicket 76.81, 90 (-ts!lae'n tree)
  ya'akd'ana'mke when they had been hunting 82.12
```

```
-k:l- plural
 hunak:lw:sqawala'ane we stand
kelku'lka pemmican 196.146; 208.396, 397
kilq!a'le bull elk. (See kaq!a'le bull moose)
-ko- suff. fire
  q!apku'pse' everything is burnt 174.195
  naq!_a ko'_u ne it is burning 174.194
  t!anoko'_{u}(ne) it burst by heat 96.168
ko'o tent site 122.29; 266.5
-kup- raw
  ke'_iko^{\cdot}p raw, purple
ku'pe_i owl 58.7, 9
ku'po·k! black woodpecker
-kumal- to be bloody 208.403, 405
ko''s pipe 154.230
ku'sto \cdot l whistle 256.164
ko'uko toad 76.92
ko kt mother's sister 58.13
ko'dli'dlus butterfly 16.13
-kuł-
  kulwiya't!ne left-handed 74.37
kwe'se food 134.185; 166.22
-k_iyukpuktse(te) to initiate, to send a boy to get manitou power 146.91
-kpa(me \cdot k) to wait
  nawetskpayate'lne he was waited for 116.141 (n-hawits-kpa[ya]-tel-ne)
-kpuk! backside 18.7; 64.87
ktuna'xa Kutenai (perhaps k-tuwun-axe going out to valley; modern Kutenai
    would be ktu'na'm)
kts: tsqa.t spruce
kts!c'q!ła prairie chicken 200.239
kq/a \cdot laxa'a \cdot ltsin horse 52.5, 14 (= elk dog)
-kq!owas(xo)- to cough
 laga'oxalkikq!owasxoneyiki'me'k he came back there coughing 166.12 (la-qaoxal-
    k-kq!owas-xo-ney-k\iota-me\cdot k
-kq!u to laugh
  qakq!u'n'e' he laughed thus 156.301
 welkekq!u'n e he laughed aloud 132.127
k.la'wla grizzly bear 2.9, 12
-k.laqanan- to fight 106.407
-k.le name 74.30; 226.16
-k.lenq!o- to play, toy 52.9; 90.71; 98.219
-k.lu town, village 62.59; 74.24
  ha_ak.lo'_ukue those in the town 70.11, 39
-k.łuk- to divine
  sa'kelk.lu'kmul used for divination 184.66
-ku water, fluid (compare -qu in water)
 n'ut_ime'_ik_une water is warm 66.28
 ya·knosc'zkue· where there is red water 78.150
k!ayu'kua hat 254.107; 260.12
-k!apal- to listen 170.122; 182.30
  k!apalte'le'k he listened 160.13
-k!a(me) hole 23.10, opening. (See words beginning with -k!a and -k!ala)
  n'tk!ame'ine he made a hole 226.12
-k!a·mena valley 14.12, 13; 254.116
```

```
-k!asla'akak nostril
-k!a(no'uko') sharp (stones) 82.25
-k!ango t smoke hole 9.12
-k/a_ak lair of a deer, hole (?) 126.4, 5
-k!aqayt snowshoes 128.45
-k!aqlahal swamp 72.65
-k!ax(me\cdot k)
  ts!enha'q!mak!axne'kse' he struck him suddenly 70.47
-k!ałakak navel
  aa'k!alaka'kna'm navel
  a_a'ko<sub>u</sub>k!ala'<sub>a</sub>k!e's his back 240.230
-k!alaxapak- berry patch
  sk:\k:l\w:lk!alaxapa'kse there is a large berry patch 184.50
-k!alaxekp anus 25.1; 26.2
-k!alaxawuet doorway 144.48; 166.26 (-k!alaxweet 34.4)
-k!aleet large river
  a<sub>a</sub>k!ale'et Kootenay River
-(k!a)lma mouth 96.167, 168
-k!almukwa'e't light 186.86; 266.42
  tsaak!aalmi'yitna'na a little light (shining) through a hole 238.192
-k!a_almo k hoop 146.58, 59
k!\ell'k!o_um' a fish with large head and thin tail 78.123; 226.33
-k/o- suff. with point 2.7; 72.16
k!u''mtsak(s) shell 192.53
-k!umna- to be poor
  k!umnaqaqa'ane he is poor 42.15, 16; 110.33
k!u'sti't! larch
-k!on nose (of man)
-k!unkak bill, beak, nose (of an animal) 70.16; 96.197; 164.84
k!u'q_une lynx (= short face)
-k!po'kam root 11.12
-q(a) suff. with knife
  lu-quale'sne it was cut off 28.1 (= it was deprived of it with a knife)
  lusaq!qa'lne his leg was cut off 28.3 (lu-saq!-qa-l-ne)
qa- not 3.3, 5.11; 144.33, 35
qa- thus
  qake'ine he said thus 1.1
  qaqa'ane he is thus 4.5
  qalo'_{u}k_{u}ne he cried thus 19.7
  qalwe'yne he thought so 62.69
qa- pr. along
  qaosaqa'_ane he staid 5.14; 9.15
  qaka:nk!onc'lne he pointed at them hither 254.119
  laqa'nank!on/lne he pointed at them thither 192.41
  ya<sub>a</sub>qanak<sub>i</sub>lhaqwu'mke generations 68.2
  qanalwa'ts!ne they play along 70.19
  qaknu'te he came pursuing her 64.105
  qakal'akanoxonu'kune' it came flying out 224.107
  qa'kdhaqa'ane it is right along there 92.88
-qa- to be
  yunaqa'ane there are many 1.5
  tsemak!qa'ane he is strong 180.41
-qa.ik_{\ell}t_{u}^{\prime}wu (see also [=\ell k_{\ell}t_{u}^{\prime}wo]) to be nine
qaixo'ktse'k he plays ball with bat. (See qay- to roll)
```

```
quo-, quw- pr. there (demonstrative) 48.8
  gaosaga'ane he staid there 2.4; 6.6; 14.13
  qaoxa'xe he arrived there 2.6; 15.8
  qooxal'ctkc'n'e just there he made it 6.11
  qawakale'kine he comes to his own tracks
-(ha)qay to roll 196.130; 210.466
  tsxalhaqayeqa'me'k he will roll himself 52.2 (ts-xal-ha-qay[e]-qa-me'k)
qayaqa- pr. through 7.15; 74.59
  qayaqa'wo half, middle 8.8
  qaya<sub>a</sub>qa'la'm yearling buffalo calf 196.124
qaha- pr. along
-qaps- pr. like
  qapsqaqa'ane it is like (it) 198.204
  selqa'psqakesqle'lne his eyes were like — 194.90 (sel-qaps-qa-kes-qlel-ne)
qa'psin something, what 66.35 90.34
-qat tail 126.7
  qalyuwa kaq!alqa'tine he put the tail up quickly 188.29 (qal-yu-wa-kaq!al-
    qat-ne')
gatat- pr. can not. (See qa- not, tat- can)
  qataltsxa'n·e· he can not speak 70.38
-qa^{\cdot}twumla_{a}t shirt 82.25
gas- pr. alongside of 80.175
-qas- to break to pieces
 qa'sx_ane he bit a piece off 48.10 (qas-x-ne)
 qasnenqa'me'k he cut himself to pieces 74.26 (qas-nen-qa-me'k)
qaspe'l'o\cdot ku crane 84.37
ga'snat shield 192.57; 202.277
qa'sk!o male
-qasl'oq!wek to be disappointed 130.74
-gats- to come from a place 66.35; 86.8
qa'tsuk fresh meat 230.12
qan- pr. along there
 qa na'xe he went along 60.2
  qanla'lte he struck it 3.11
-gan- plural 222.98
 wuqanmitu'k_une rivers are long (wu-qan-nmituk-ne)
  t_inaqanxa''mne they went in 72.58
-qa'k.lek- he was named thus 88.13. (See -k.le.)
-gagas- to stop 62.36, 66
 qaqaske'n'e' he stops
-qa·noxunuk- a creek is somewhere 274.41. (See qa- along)
-qał-
  qalqa'atse he went around in a circle 60.3
  kuqa ha'alkqaats I who walk about 240.220
qa'la somebody 60.20, 92.90; who? 72.57, 248.3
  qa'la \cdot n whoever 70.34
qala'k'ne's straight upward 214.73
qa'_{a}len just 76.86, 87 (qa'h_{a}len 44.12)
(qalt) child 136.235; 160.358
  aga''lt!e's his child 42.34
  alaqa'lt!e's his children 70.35; 92.111
  n'asqa'tte she had two children 66.33
-qalsa- to be three 60.5; 250.24
  qalsaqa'lte "he has three children 34.1
```

```
ge'na (qe'n'a) behold 98.242; 170.135; 252.71
go there, that 14.12, 13; 15.11
-q^u suff. in water. (See -uq)
  nonago'n'e' he fell into the water 8.10
-qupal spruce cone 260.1
  a_a'qu'pal spruce cone
-qumlas(xo)- to jump 126.6; 156.285, 291
-quta'l ax 15.10
  a_a'qu'ta'l ax
qu'st:t! trout 39.1, 6
qun- pr. contact
  qunya'x_ane he touched it 60.1; 76.67
  qo·na'xe he visits 74.57
  qunatsa'axane he poked him 122.48
  quna kenxamu'n e he stabbed him with it 114.99
qo'<sub>u</sub>ka·n' come! 60.21, 27
-qok!am beaver's house 130.91, 104, 105. (See -k/a[me] hole)
qo'kue\cdot n raven 74.17; (qu'kue\cdot n) 212.1
-qoquat nest
qu'qo_uq swan
qoqu'ske bluejay 72.59
-qoqu'n(te) to do something on purpose 192.44
-qoquts!ala-
  skikqoquts!ala'ine it lay there wet 134.190
-qoq!okul- black
  kamqoq!o'kul black
(-quxma-) gray
  aa'quxma'nuk gray stone 88.19
-quluk!pko stump 126.3, 4 (in derivatives -quluk!pkup-)
-q_{\boldsymbol{u}}wa_{\boldsymbol{a}}(te)
  sukq_uwa'_ate it has good hair 204.327
-q_{u}wat ear
  k_u w c' l q_u w a' t' e'' s mule (= his big-ears) 190.7
-qsa- to go, to move (?)
  qsama'lne to go together 126.2; 134.154
  qsak!o'une to dip
-qsała nose 11.7, 9
  a_a'kuqsa'la nose 11.11
-q_a nuks- to crawl 86.25
-qkup- quickly 3.4; 12.3, 10; 70.41
-qqa'atse he goes about 58.2, 3. (See -qa'ts-)
-qxa- (perhaps better -kxa, from -k- towards speaker)
  lao'\nil'a\qxaqku\platt\'lne' he struck again from underneath 70.44 (la-o'n-l(a)-
    qxa-qkup-lal-te-l-ne.)
  tsxalyaqxa \lambda lalta'pse will strike from each side 156.278 (tsxal-ya-qxa-lal-tapse)
-qla(te), qla(ken)- to skin 168.58, 59
-qła·ł-
  n'tktkqla'lalqa'tse he went way around 4.10; 7.14
-qle horn 3.10; 14.3
  aa'ku'qle horn 3.10; 62.56
-qld eye 46.29; 94.153, 158
  a_a'kaql'l'e_is his eye 58.18
-qlupin young tree 120.11; 126.14; 166.38; 188.19
```

```
-q!a- plural
  ats!melq!aluk!puka'm'e's his grandfathers 72.60
  kaq!ak!o''nıst my saddles
  kaq!aka'ko my traps
  kaq!aka'ma'lt my corrals
q/awa ts/e'nme he was out of breath 60.19, 25; 74.25; 94.136
-q!awuka- to scrape, to cut tobacco
  kq!awu'uka:l plug tobacco
-q!aha- q!a- to hang, 180.35, 45
-q!a- to break
  q!axo'une it is broken 126.3
  q!axomu'n'e he chopped with it 128.35
-q!ap- all, entire (before suffixes)
 q!a'pe all 20.10
  q!apku'une he was burnt entirely 20.10
  q/apxa'mek he at himself entirely 82.10 (q/ap-xa-mek)
  q!apil- all, entire (before independent verbs) 84.7; 94.143
q!a'pqa'l kingfisher 9.5, 7, 8
-q!an- to hang 166.29. (See -q!aha-)
-q!an- flat, spread out
  qa'oxal'tq!anktkqa'ane he lay down there quietly 120.232
  a_a'q!ana'k_ana'm knee
  yu·wisq!a'na·k Knee-Cap (a name) 70.40
  skckq!ano'ukune it is flooded
  hag!an'uqle' tke' where there is a level place (on a hill) 16.3
  qa'q!a'nmoqts!enu'kune' there was a flat prairie 154.245
  a<sub>a</sub>'q!anguts!la'e'n thickly-wooded place 72.71; 76.81
  qayaqqawaqq!anq!le'lne he made a mark in the center 198.183
  -q!anguqwat- round
  naglangugwatga'ane it is round
-q!anlupxamako- there is a lump, excrescence, on surface 252.64, 69
-q/akpa(me^{k}) to forget 50.19; 82.196; 114.89; 206.356
-q/akpa(kit) to kill by striking 70.34; 74.25; 250.60
-q!ax- to tie up (for shamanistic performance)
  kq!axna'mnam some one who is tied up 52.1
-q!al- to stretch out 3.9
  qal'ıt!naqkupq!alsa'q!ne he stretched his leg out quickly 84.61
  n'a'kaq!alke'n'e' he stretched it out 200.234 (n-a'-ka-q!al-ken-ne')
-q!al·kak- eyebrows 78.128, 130
q!aluk.le.c'tine noise stopped 256.185 (-luk-le.ct-ne)
-q!eyit
  nakg!eyc'tine they talked 74.41
-q!o mat to be dirty 27.6 (?)
  skikq!uma'lne he lay (there) dirty 134.190
q!u'me a fish sp. 76.65
-q/u'mne'- to sleep 66.21
q!u'tsa_ats chipmunk 46.20; 58.1
-q!utse'_{i}(te') to tickle 160.377; 236.156
q!o_{u}koxa'me\cdot k he made a fire 80.186, 187
q!untka- pr. around 256.159
  q!untkalhawasxo'me'k he sings going around 52.13
-q/uxma fleshy 190.7. (See -xma)
  la'ltq!o'xumasa'q!ane he also had no flesh on legs 272.25
  k/a'k/lan'aq/o'xumale'et different kind of tree (?) 190.1
```

BOAS]

```
q!u'!wa_a rose hip 7.1
-q!yu- top (?)
  aa'kuq!yuk!alaxwe'et doorway 94.147
  aa'qanq!yume'n'a hillside 94.135
  wa'kaq!yule.c'tke end of mountain 136.217
  qa·witsq!ayule.e'tine top of mountain 226.16
-q!wiya(te) to swallow
  k!unuq!uviya'ate he swallowed him 86.46
-q!ma- lightly
  wu'q!maxo'une he touched it lightly 146.55
  wo'q!umaane'ke'tine' a little while
  sq!ma'wi'tsleng!a''ntse' it stuck out a little 252.78
-q!nu- to climb
  wa \cdot q!_a nu'n \cdot e he climbed up 214.55
  nu lqanka qoq!unu'ne he climbed across the water 8.8
-q!nuk lake
  a<sub>a</sub>'ku'q!nuk 76.99; 78.112
  kwe'lq!nok a big lake 74.33
-q!nukua·t golden eagle 17.10
  kiaq!nu'k_uat golden eagle 198.170
-q!le_il stripe, mark 208.406
  kqayaqa'wuha'q!lil middle stripe 224.125
-xa- suff. with teeth, with mouth
  q!a'px_ane he at all 64.89; 84.32
  kawi'tsxa standing biting 94.158
  sukuaxane'ise it tastes good 272.14
-xa- to put, to place
  n'oqoxake'n'e' he put it into it 76.106
  lao qoxaxa''mne he went back aboard 152.218
xa uncle (father's brother) 88.25; 94.138
xa'pe_i camas 11.1
-x_a ma- light (?)
  \ell t x_a maq a' a n e it is heavy 272.7
-xat(k \cdot nuku)- to save
  xatk/n·e· he saved himself 214.50
  xatknu'k_une he was saved 68.71
  xatk_inuku_i'n: he saves him
-atkax'niyatu'mat reciprocal relation between parents-in-law and children-in-law,
    intermediate relative dead
xa'tsa uncle (mother's brother)
-xa'atsa- to be four 62.66
  kxa:tsa:nmi'y:t four days 250.26
xatsen- pr. both
  xatsengawa't!ne both ears
  xa'ts:n:ltsukua'te he took both 28.9
-xanxo (-a'nxo?) to overtake 3.10
xa'xas skunk 23.12; 230.2
-xa(xe) to reach
  kyu xa xa m one who reached the top 74.32
  qaoxaxa''mne they reached there 76.71
-xal- pr. future, always with ts- (tsxal-) 76.75; 84.33
-xal- suff. with saw
xa'l(e) child 84.33
  xale'ine O child! 102.332
  xalna'leil nephew, niece (sister's child, said by woman)
```

la'xa bed 198.199

```
xa'altsin dog 60.11; 164.2; horse 190.14
-xo- suff. with back, with body, by striking
  pisxo'unu put me off! 2.4
  natxo'une he carried him 2.2
-xo_u-
  qanalts Eqan'ma'n xouqa'ane he flew into it 96.168
  gakilag/maxoka'ane he scared them 136.227
xun- pr. into fire (xun-qu into water)
  xunakine'lne he was thrown into fire 37.13
  xunmetqu'ine he throws it into water
  xunmetqule'lne it was thrown into water 23.5
xma ought 26.8; 76.85, 93
-xma flesh 42.37; 96.171
  aa'kaxmala'na m flesh
-t- suff. passive
  psxo'lne he was put off 2.4
-l- suff. object
  qake'lne he said to him (qa-ke-l-ne)
t- pr. evidently, must be
  k.lsa'kq!nuk it must be a lake 72.12
la- pr. again, also
  lalo'_use again there is nothing 64.90
  lao k/ue. e'se one more 88.56
-la - back, in turn 2.10
ta'a outside 226.51. (See ta'ta \cdot k)
  k.lalaha'q_uwom they were outside 200.226
lawi'ya'l huckleberries 184.51
ła'wo female elk 21.1
taps- pr., tapsit- pr. again 60.25, 31; 148.117
lam' a switch for stringing fish, twig (?) 9.9, 10
-la'm head
  a_a'k. la''ma'm head 78.143
-la(mal) blanket 264.67
  słama'lne it is a blanket 204.342
  n'anuxo''nlatimo'me'k he shook his blanket 174.209
-tatiyit- pr. always
  n'o'k!uenla'atiy''ltsha'qaiyelmo'xona'titmo'lne at once he was always rolling about
  n'upsta'tiyit'i'kine he was always eating
-lateqkat(ken)- to go to get
  n'uk!lateqkatke'n'e he went to get one 118.194
-tat! arm 180.55
la'tuq! duck 70.6; 80.180
ta'ts_ine the other side 162.28; 236.131
ta \cdot n' moccasin 224.5
ła'n'a come! 62.38; 240.220
ta"nta rear part of tent, back of fire; outer side of tent, at bottom, all around 97
  sla'\tiyil'a\n'taqanaqna'kse' he always sat with back to fire 88.32
la'q!a part of tent near door
  laq!anxo'_una \cdot l \quad door 94.146; 96.196
lalaq!aqa'ne he choked while eating
-lax- to complete
  laxa'go'l he arrived at water 268.12
  k.lalaxa'lkin one who carried it back 194.111
```

```
łaxło"mał widow, widower
la'la'k outside
-lal(te<sup>-</sup>) to strike
  qanta'tte he struck it 15.5
  qaoxala'lte he hit it there
-lehi'(te') to say "yes"
-le.at weather, country 16.3
  yeste. c't.se there is a mountain 46.2
  sahanle.c'tine it is bad weather 66.18
let- pr. without
  letqawu'mne it is empty 72.62
  ltu'kune there is no water
  letkuma'lne it is not bloody
-litet clothing
  a_a'k.lite't_ine's your clothing 244.20
  suk.lite'tine good clothing 244.39
-litet-
  tse kalite tine he looked around 60.13
  hun'o_u lite' t_i ne. I know a place
l/se paddle 228.96
-leits- to sleep
  k_{n}we'l\cdot e\cdot ts sound asleep 144.44
  skik.le'itsne he lay asleep 144.42
  n'askik.le'itse two were asleep 216.106
-lcn pr. may 250.30
  henlen'o'ute you may want it 64.107
le'_{ine} on the other side 100.281; 226.34
-l \cdot k foot
  a_a'k.k'kna'm foot, tracks 24.8
  ganagle'kxane he kicked it 24.3
-l_{\ell}k- noise (?)
  ga atskik. liknati'tine he made noise inside 58.24
lo'u awl 37.4
tou fir
u- nothing
  lu'n'e' nothing 3.2
  tu"nte he made it nothing 98.233
  tugkupqsala'ate quickly he cut off the nose 11.7
-lu snow
  a'a'k'lu snow
tu- other side, far side
  k.luha'kq!nuk lake on other side 162.56
  k.lohanets!la'e'n tree on other side 236.131
  lu'n'o beyond, far away 72.61
  loa'q!mawisqa'ane he jumped a little to the other side 94.155
luma'yıt springtime 100.258; 180.45
tuna't!e brother-in-law, sister-in-law (all kinds), intermediate relative dead,
    72.1; 76.69
łu'kpu buffalo cow 29.2, 7
to_u k!^u \mod 128.35; 130.99
-łuk!puk-
  ats!milq!aluk!puka'm'e's his great-grandfather 72.60
-luk!mo- to roast 128.50
  luk!moxa'me'k he roasted it 82.7
luq^ua- (see lu- other side, far side)
  luqualitxo'ume'k he lay down the other way 94.151
```

tsema'k!il·oquenku'pse: it melted strongly by heat
-lwey mind, heart 60.14; 132.144
k!upxalwi'yte: one who knows mind 132.144
-lnohous star 17.9
k!agsa'lno'ho's how many stars?
lka'm'u child 17.9
lkamn:'ntik children 188.45
-lq!oku-(-lq!oku-) to be in danger (?) 60.26
nulq!o'kune: he is wise

ENGLISH-KUTENAI

```
aboard, he went back lao qoxaxa''mne (see -xa-)
about, probably upin- pr. nagan- pr.
  about three naqanqa'lsa
above ata- pr., na'ata
across algan- pr.
  (over a high object) wat!- pr.
  he climbed across the water nu·lqanka·qoq/unu'ne: (see -q/nu-)
  he kicked him across wat!me'te'ke'n'e' (see wat!-)
  he went across qanatwat!a'xe (see wat!-)
act, to -ite'k (see -it-)
  to act foolishly setsken ku'tstek (see ske'n ku'ts)
  he wants to act his own way -sin'akpa'me'k
afraid, to be -on: t-, -p:tsqa-
  he is afraid p:tsqatwe'yne (see -p:tsqa-)
again la-, laps-, lapsil-, pr.
  again there is nothing lalo'_{u}se (see la-)
aim, to -nut!/o- (see -nut-)
alive wunmana'mu
all, to be -o \cdot k_{\mathbf{u}}(e \cdot)-
all (before independent verbs) q!apil- (see -q!ap-); (before suffixes) -q!ap-; q!a'pe
    (see -q!ap-)
almost tu'x_{u}a
along s-, qa-, qaha-, pr
  along there qan- pr.
  he went along qa \cdot na'xe (see qan-)
  it is right along there qa'k:lhaqa'ane (see qa- pr.)
  they play along qanalwa'ts!ne' (see qa- pr.)
alongside of qas- pr.
also la- pr.
always -latiyit- pr.
  he was always eating n'upsla't_iyil'\epsilon'k_ine' (see -lat_iyil-)
  at once he was always rolling about n'o'k!uenta'atiye'ttsha'qaiyetmo'xona'titmo'tne
    (see -lat_iyil-)
American (= Boston) po'sten
and -ts
angry, he is still sa'kilsa'nilwe'yne' (see -sahan-, -sakil-)
animal, small tuq!tsqa'mna
ankle aa'kwi'tsa k
ant ts!axu'na
antelope ne'ttuk!up
antlers a_a'q!a'le
anus -k!alax\underline{e}kp, a_a'k!ala'x\underline{e}kp
anvil a'a'qanuk
```

```
apart parts- pr.
 Apocynum cannabinum a_a qola qpe's (see a_a qoula qpek)
 approaches, he nutsa'xe' (see -huts-)
 Aralia nudicaulis a_a'ko'u'k C
 arise, to -uwok_{u}-
 arm a'a'k.la't!, -lat!
   he moved his arm wanta't!ne (see -wan-)
 arm above elbow a_a'kentu'men (see also forearm)
 armpit a_a \cdot qaxapk.la't!na \cdot m
 around q!untka-, akamen-, qal-, pr.
 arrive, to w- pr.
   he arrived at water taxa'qo't (see -tax-)
   he arrived there qaoxa'xe' (see qao-)
   he arrives wa'xe (see w- pr. and -axe)
 arrow -ka-, a_a'k!
   he has an arrow nakaa'ne (see -ha-)
   he had two arrows n'aimaka'ane (see -ka-)
 arrow point a_a'kenq!a'qa
   (of metal) nelko'uts!ap (see ne'lko)
 arrow wood a'a'k!wo'k (see a_ak!)
 Artemisia discolor, frigida a_a'kenuk.luxona'ka C; used for headache a_a'ku o k.lai-
     xuna'ate t C
   medicine made of a_a'kınuk.luxokona'aka awv'mo C (see a_a'kınuk.luxona'ka)
 ashamed, to be -halnukp-
 ashes a_a'kuqmo''ko', a_a'kuq'm\ddot{v}'ko', -oko
 ashore up- pr.
 asleep, sound k_u w e' t \cdot e \cdot ts (see -le_i ts-)
   he lay asleep skik.le'itsne (see -leits-)
   two were asleep n'askik.le'itse (see -leits-)
 assembled, they were (qa)haqowu'm'ne
 autumn ts!up'na'kot
 away hosan- (hesan-), ts!en-, pr.
   he ran away no \cdot sano xunqa' \cdot ane \cdot (see hosan-)
 awl lo'u
 awoke, he naq!male'itsne' (see -haq!ma-)
 ax a_a'qu'ta·l, -quta·l
back tuw-, man-pr.; -la-
   he fell back tuwun:nmuxu'n'e' (see tuw-)
   he lay on his back tuwul'atxo'ume k (see tuw-)
   he looks back lamanwitskiki'lne (see man-)
  back a'a'k.lak, -k!alakak, a'kouk!ala'akna m
   with back -xo- suff.
 backside a_a'q!u'lukp, a_a'k\iota'kpuk!, -kpuk!
 bad, to be -sahan-
   it is bad saha'n'e
   it is a bad place sa'hanlee'tne' (see -sahan-)
 badger na'lme't!
 bag a_a'tsu''la, tsula, a_a'ka'l, a_a'kula'ko (?) C
 ball, he plays — with bat -qaixc'ktse'k
 bark of tree a_a'ke'ts!qa \cdot l, -ts!qa_a l
   I tear off bark huluts!qalxo'une (see -ts!qaal)
 bark for canoe a'a'kwo'k, a'a'ka'm C
 Barnard, B.C. a_a'ku''no'k C
        85543°—Bull. 59—18——23
```

```
basket, birch-bark na'he k
  spruce-bark a_a'qu'q!wuk
bat a'_a'k.lo'm'
bathe, to na'qtse'k (see -haq_{a}-)
be, to -qa-, -ha-, -\epsilon n-
  there are many yunaqa'ane (see -qa-)
beak a_a'k!u'nka'k, -k!unkak
bear, black, one year old a'qto
beard aa'kuqlo:laxa'na:m
beaver s:'n'a'
  young beaver mo'q!_une
beaver dam a_a'q!anke'tsqa
beaver holes in water, beaver's house a_a'qo'k!a·m, -qok!am
because o'k!q_una
become, to -inqa'pte'k (see -in-)
bed ła'xa, aa'qanlıknatıtxai'yam
behind antsu-, il-, pr.
behold! qe'na
belly a'a'kwum, -wum
  belly swells up -hutkawumako-
  his belly is big welwu'mne (see -wum)
below vm(e) pr., ya'wo
belt a'a'ka'mt, -ka'mt-
bend in river a<sub>a</sub>'k<sub>i</sub>kqlalanmi'tuk
berry a_a'kuq!le'et (see also service berry, strawberry, etc.)
  partridge berry tsa'qa
  berries of Philadelphus Lewisii a_a'kuno''kyo'k C
  berry, a, sp. (?) ma'xa
  berry cake a_a'k\iotatslaq!o''na
 berry patch -k!alaxapak-
    there is a large berry patch ski'kil'wilk!alaxapa'kse (see -k!alaxapak-)
bet, to -\epsilon tet \epsilon' l(e^{\epsilon}k) (see -\epsilon t-)
beyond lu''n o (see lu)-
big, large -wil(qa) - wil(qa)-
  his belly is large withwirme (see -wum)
Bigelovia graveolens a_a'kenuk.luxona'ka C
bill, beak -k!unkak
birch aa'kowa'lwo'k
bird tuq!tsqa'mna
  a small bird, yellow at tip of feathers, with tip on head we'suk!u
  a bird, yellow breast and gray wings ka'tska'ts
  a small, gray bird, living on lake shore wetswe ts
  a small, gray bird a_a'kikaku'kwi'et C
  a small, gray bird a_a'k:nuq!uloxona''t:t, a_a'k:nuk.lohona'te't C
  a medium-sized, gray bird a_a'kenukota'te'k C
  a black bird with white spots, size of a robin a_a'kelq!aluq!pwaq!
  a bird, sp. (?) wa'kuks
biscuit aa'keno'mukna'na C
bite -\iota t!(\dot{x}a)- (perhaps \iota t-\dot{x}a to do with teeth, see -\dot{x}_a)
  he bit a piece off qa'sx_ane (see -qas-)
black, to be -oqoq!u'ko'l-
  black kamqoq!o'kul (see -qoq!okul-)
  it is black namqok!oko'ulne (see ham-) - bee m-
Blackfoot Indians katikaki'lsaq!
```

```
bladder a_a'kuktse'ke'n, -(u)ktseken
  (of fish) a_a'ku'kmat C
blanket se'it!, -la(mal)
  white blanket a_a'q!u'na'q
  it is a blanket stama'tne (see -ta[mat])
bleed from mouth, to -halnukux_{u}-
blood wa''nmo
  curdled blood ya't!aps
  to be bloody -hakumal-, -kumal-
  it is not bloody letkuma'lne (see let-)
blow, to -h.tkupxo_{u}
  wind blows natume'n'e' (see -hat-)
  wind blows a certain way qanawitso'me (see -ha-)
bluejay qoqu'ske
board a_a'k:nuq!ula\cdot k!a'ako
body -ułaks, aa'ke'lxo', aa'ku'lak
  with body -xo- suff.
boil, to -hannuko- (see -hanuxo-), -huko-
  to boil something -nmuk_{u}-
bone -malak, mark!
  burnt bone aa'k:lq!an'otsa'ko maak!
  rotten bone ho'q!ka
  remains of broken bones a_a q! a' na k
Bonner's Ferry a_a'kukpanmitu'kxo C
bonnet, war -yukua, a_a'k_iyu'kwa
border, square pieces forming — of root basket a_a'k.la'lxo C
  small ornamental pieces on border of root kettle a<sub>a</sub>'kutskakilukpo'xal C
born, to be -haqa'_ane (see -ha-)
both xatsin- pr.
  both ears xatsingawa't!ne (see xatsin-)
  he took both xa'ts:n:ltsukua'te (see xats:n-)
bottle a_a'ko'q_uwit!
boughs, green -ula \cdot l, a_a \cdot ku' \cdot la \cdot l
bow -wo.
  he made a — for himself n':t'wukun:'le_ik (see -wo')
  bow stave, his a_a'k.lakwo'_ute's (see -wo')
bow and arrows a_a'q!ox_umale'et
bowstring t!a'wu'mka (see -t!a-)
braces a_a'kilu'kuatspu'kna m C
brain atqa
branch (of tree) -aa'ketsk!a'la'k, -(e)tsk!ala'k, -tsk!alak,
  he chops off a branch petstsk!alakxo'une (see -tsk!a-lak)
break, to -q!a-, -umits-, -aqts-, -yaq!-, -noq!um-
  (a stick) -yaq-
  (camp) -huqna(me\cdot k)
  (to pieces) -qas-
  (wind) -atskup-
  (with teeth) ts\iota'k!x_ane (see -ts\\iota k!-)
  she broke it -han \cdot u \cdot qo.i \cdot xo'u(ne)
  it is broken q/axo'une (see -q/a-)
breast tsu'u
  (of bird) aa'ke'nhas C
breast pieces of game a_a'kxa'ska'k
breath, he was out of q!awarts!c'nme'k
bridge a_a'ko''ko' C
  I shall make a bridge hutsitkokopkin e (see a 'ko'ko') C
```

```
bridle a<sub>a</sub>'kok!uatska'lma
bright red sukunohu'se (see -so_uk-), yawo'_unek!
brings, he — it walke'n'e' (see w- pr.)
brook aa'kenuxo'unuk
brother (said by sister) alv'tskeil
brother, elder, tat!
brother, younger tsa, tsiya
brother's daughter pa
brother's wife a'tse
brother-in-law (all kinds), intermediate relative dead luna't!e
bubble tsu'm(o\cdot ku)
buck wa'ma't!
  two-year-old buck kiang!al(na'na)
bucket a'tso
buckle of belt aa'kwe'tsko C
bud aa'qu'pa't!
buffalo iya'mu
  buffalo bull ne'lse'k
  buffalo calf a<sub>a</sub>'kenku'ma'l
  yearling buffalo calf qayaqa'la'm (see qayaqa-)
  buffalo cow lu'kpu.
  buffalo drive a_a'kuqla'la<sub>a</sub>k'
bumblebee kianuq!u'lupq, (= white end) kianuqlo \cdot q!u'lo \cdot kp (see -nuqlum-)
burden of song he he ha
burning, it is naq!_a ko'_u ne (see -ko-)
  burning food -alikwa.c't_i(ne^*)
  it is burnt on top yu'halhaq!aku'n'e' (see -hal-)
  it burnt quickly ts!:dq!anku'pse.
  he was burnt entirely q/apku'une (see -q/ap-)
  everything is burnt q!apku'psc (see -ko-)
burst, to -paq!ame'-, -hakq!me'
  to burst by heat -t!anoko'_{u}(ne) (see also -ko-)
bury, to -ctetct (see -ct-)
bush, a — with white berries, not edible metsqo'ko'le'lna'
  a little bush t!a'ps(wukna'na)
  its bushes a_a'kwakua(\epsilon'se's)
but at, mc'ksa'n, ma, (weak disjunctive) pa'l
butcher, to -ctk!an-
butt, to -hako-
butt end of branch (see a<sub>a</sub>'kukpetsk!a'la'k) C
butterfly ko'dli'dlus
calf of leg a_a'kuql_ck!a'lna'm, a_a'qo'l
call, to -hagan(ke)-
  to call guardian spirit -akme-
camas xa'pe_i
camp, to, over night -ckiycksc'le'k
can tal- pr.
Canadian kendzerdz (King George)
can not qatal- pr.
  he can not speak qataltsxa'n'e' (see qatal-)
canoe yaqso''mil
canoe calking a'a'qui (?)
canoe, longitudinal strips on sides and bottom of a_a'ke'k.luk C
canoe, side strips on top of, bent a_a'ko''kyu C
canoe, binding strips at pointed ends of a_a'kunwo'k C
```

```
Carex scoparia a<sub>a</sub>'k<sub>l</sub>'nskwal
  caribou na'x_ane
  carry, to -nma-
       to carry meat -haq!awu-, -waq!awu-
       to carry torches. -halnuqu- (see -hal-)
       to carry water -hallou- (see -hal-)
       he carried him nalxo'_une (see -hal- -xo-suff.)
       he carried two la.aimaxo'_une (see -nma-)
       he carried it back into latnalk: 'n·e' (see t:n-)
       one who carried it back k.lalaxa'lkin (see -lax-)
       one who carried three galsanma'xo' (see -nma-)
       he carries in hand nalke'n e (see -hal-)
 cascade a_a'kaxa'pqle.
 catch, to -tsin-, -iktsik-
      he catches it ts:nk:'n'e' (see -ts:n-)
 cattle iya'mu
      hoof of a_a'ketsq!alu'pta'k.
  cause -tseite suff.
 cave -ilala (?)
      cave under water a<sub>a</sub>'k:lalaqu'no:k
 cedar c'ts!na:t!
      red cedar aa'kok!uplo''lal
 charr to'hol
 cheat, to -ay-
 cheek a_a'k!ma'ma't
 cherry a_a'k'' lma'k!, -e' lma'k!
 Cherry Creek a_a'kilkanoskowo'k C
 chickadee m:ts!qa'qas
 chicken hawk c'ntak
 chief naso'ukue'n
 child (qalt), xa'l(e), lka'm'u
      O child! xale'ine (see xa'l[e])
      she had two children n'asqa'tte (see [qatt])
      he has three children qalsaqa'lte (see -qalsa-)
chin a_a'kenkamtsenka''k(na'm) C
Chinaman knu'q!lam' (=long-haired one) (see -nuq!-)
chipmunk q!u'tsaats
      a species of chipmunk na'mlat!
choked, he — while eating lataq!aqa'ne
chopped, he — along qa_ankitsxo'_une (see -kits-)
     he chopped it off close to edge n'entakitsxo'une (see -kits-)
     he chopped with it q!axomu'n\cdot e (see -q!a-)
     he chops off p_i tsxo'une (see -p_i ts-)
     he chops off a branch pitstsk!alakxo'une (see -tsk!alak)
cinch aa'kok!ua'tswum
claw -ukp, a'a'kukp, kiapt!aha'ntukp (see kiapt!aha'n:tsq!ahai'na'm)
clay, white k:'timuk!
cliff -nmok!, -nv'm \cdot ok!, a_a \cdot knv'm \cdot o \cdot k!, a_a \cdot kuq!yu'muk!
climb, to -q!nu-, -wtsq!nu(ne)
     he climbed across the water nu \cdot lqanka \cdot qoq \cdot unu'ne \cdot (see -q \cdot nu - lqanka \cdot qoq \cdot unu'ne \cdot (see -q \cdot nu - lqanka \cdot qoq \cdot unu'ne \cdot (see -q \cdot nu - lqanka \cdot qoq \cdot unu'ne \cdot (see -q \cdot nu - lqanka \cdot qoq \cdot unu'ne \cdot (see -q \cdot nu - lqanka \cdot qoq \cdot unu'ne \cdot (see -q \cdot nu - lqanka \cdot qoq \cdot unu'ne \cdot (see -q \cdot nu - lqanka \cdot qoq \cdot unu'ne \cdot (see -q \cdot nu - lqanka \cdot qoq \cdot unu'ne \cdot (see -q \cdot nu - lqanka \cdot qoq \cdot unu'ne \cdot (see -q \cdot nu - lqanka \cdot qoq \cdot unu'ne \cdot (see -q \cdot nu - lqanka \cdot qoq \cdot unu'ne \cdot (see -q \cdot nu - lqanka \cdot qoq \cdot unu'ne \cdot (see -q \cdot nu - lqanka \cdot qoq \cdot unu'ne \cdot (see -q \cdot nu - lqanka \cdot qoq \cdot unu'ne \cdot (see -q \cdot nu - lqanka \cdot qoq \cdot unu'ne \cdot (see -q \cdot nu - lqanka \cdot qoq \cdot unu'ne \cdot (see -q \cdot nu - lqanka \cdot qoq \cdot unu'ne \cdot (see -q \cdot nu - lqanka \cdot qoq \cdot unu'ne \cdot (see -q \cdot nu - lqanka \cdot qoq \cdot unu'ne \cdot (see -q \cdot nu - lqanka \cdot qoq \cdot unu'ne \cdot (see -q \cdot nu - lqanka \cdot qoq \cdot unu'ne \cdot (see -q \cdot nu - lqanka \cdot qoq \cdot unu'ne \cdot (see -q \cdot nu - lqanka \cdot qoq \cdot unu'ne \cdot (see -q \cdot nu - lqanka \cdot qoq \cdot unu'ne \cdot (see -q \cdot nu - lqanka \cdot qoq \cdot unu'ne \cdot (see -q \cdot nu - lqanka \cdot qoq \cdot unu'ne \cdot (see -q \cdot nu - lqanka \cdot qoq \cdot unu'ne \cdot (see -q \cdot nu - lqanka \cdot qoq \cdot unu'ne \cdot (see -q \cdot nu - lqanka \cdot qoq \cdot unu'ne \cdot (see -q \cdot nu - lqanka \cdot qoq \cdot unu'ne \cdot (see -q \cdot nu - lqanka \cdot qoq \cdot unu'ne \cdot (see -q \cdot nu - lqanka \cdot qoq \cdot unu'ne \cdot (see -q \cdot nu - lqanka \cdot qoq \cdot qoq \cdot unu'ne \cdot (see -q \cdot nu - lqanka \cdot qoq \cdot qoq \cdot qoq \cdot qoq \cdot qoq \cdot unu'ne \cdot (see -q \cdot nu - lqanka \cdot qoq \cdot qo
     he climbed up wa \cdot q!_a nu'n \cdot e \cdot \text{ (see } -q!nu - \text{)}
clothing -uqta'nt, a_a'ku'qta'nt (see a_a'ku'qta). -lit:t
    good clothing suk.lite't_ine (see -litet)
     your clothing a_a'k.lite'tine's (see -litet)
cloud a'_a'qal
```

```
coal a_a'kets!ka'ki't, -ts!kaket-
   there is much coal yunats!kake'lne (see -ts!kakel-)
 coat a_a'qatwu'mlat
 coax, to -hawe'tsno't- (see -ha-)
 cold -\(\ell t! k!\(\o\exists\)-
 color terms, prefix of ham-
 comb, to tsuk(la'ma'ne')
 come! la'n'a, qo'_uka'n'
   to come (?) -il(kin)- (see il-)
   to come back to life -etq!a'nxam-
   he came back there coughing laqa' oxalkıkq'owasxoneyikı'me'k (see -kq!owas[xo]-)
   he comes back quickly wa's:l'axa'xe' (see was-)
   to come from a place -qa·ts-
   to come together -it!qao(xa)-
   he comes to his own tracks qawakal:'k_ine (see qao-)
   coming, motion towards speaker k- pr.
   feathers coming off k.lunqowa''xo' (see -nqowa)
 complete, to -lax-
 cone of pine, larch, spruce a<sub>a</sub>'qu'pal, -qupal
contact qun- pr.
   to come into contact -yax-
continuative -s:l- pr.
continue, to -na·l-
\operatorname{cook}, to -ke_ik-
  cooked, to boil -huko-
  cooking-basket ye'tske
corpse a_a'kuq!lay!'t!in
corral -kamat, a<sub>a</sub>'ka'mat
  my corrals kaq!aka'ma'lt (see -q!a-)
  there are two corrals skikiska'ma'l (see -kama'l)
cottonwood a_a'k.lu'ma'k
cough, to -kq!owas(\dot{x}o)-, -hakq!uwas\dot{x}o'ume'k
  he came back there coughing laqa \circ xalk \cdot kq!o was xon eyik \cdot me \cdot k (see -kq!o was [xo]-)
country am'a'k, -le.ct
coup, to count -hek!est-
cover, to -man-
  to cover head with blanket -clenk!oma'te'k
  he covers it with his hand mane' ine (see -hey-)
  (tent) is covered tuk!xo(tne)
covote sk:'n'ku'ts
cracker a<sub>a</sub>'kıno'mukna'na C
cradle aa'kenk!u'ma't
crane qaspc'l'o'ku
crawl, to -q_a nuks-
crazy, to be -uktman(qa)-, -hup\ddot{v}(qa)-
creek, a — is somewhere -qa noxunuk-
cricket t!aptsl:/nwa·s
crosswise -magan-
crown of head a_a'kenqanu'qla'm (see a_a'ke'nqa'n)
cry, to -ita-
  he cried thus qalo'_{u}k_{u}ne (see qa-)
cut, to — hair -hag!lesak-
  to cut tobacco -q!awuka-
  he cut himself to pieces quantinga'me'k (see -quas-)
```

```
cut, to
  his leg is cut off lusaq!qa'lne (see -saq!-, -q[a])
  it was cut off lu \cdot qual e'sne (see -q[a])
  quickly he cut off the nose luqkupqsala'ate (see lu-)
cyclone a<sub>a</sub>'k:l:'ngan
dance, to -haqwil-
  dance squatting, to -hawisk!akana'na'm (see -ha-)
  sun dance -hanquxol- (see -hanuxo-)
danger, to be in -clq/oku-, (-lq/oku-)
dangerous, to be -hukuya(kate_i)-
dark, to be -tsel-
  it is dark -tamoxu(n\cdot e\cdot)
daughter swin
day -nmiyet, -miyet
(day)light, it is -huk!ukyd_{i}-
dead -ip-
deep, to be -utu-, -w:t!-
deer hoof a_a'ketsq!alu'pta'k
  bunch of dew hoofs of deer aa'kalq!a'lukp
defecate, to (n')uxte^{-k}
desire, to -ute-
destroy, to -ts:k!-
die, to -up-
different ak!la(n)
  a different way (k)ts/ak/lana'ke
digging-stick kiyu'kmul
diorite tuwukxo'nat
dip, to qsak!o'une (see -qsa-)
  to dip water -ts/enyaxak/o- (see -yax-
dirty, to be -mats, -q!o mal
  he lay (there) dirty sk_lkq_luma'lne (see -q!o\cdot mal)
disappointed, to be -qasl'oq!wek
discuss, to -hakq!yet-
dish of pottery a'tso
disliked, he — it sa·nlikpakta'pse (see -:kpak[te])
disposed, to be (-\iota kpak[te])
distance, some — back dqa- pr.
dive, to -wats!-
divide, to -alas-
divination, used for sa'kelk.lu'kmul (see -k.luk-)
divine, to -k.tuk-
do, to -ula-, -t-
  to do something on purpose -qoqu'n(te)
 to do with a point (i. e., kill with arrow) -: tk!ou- (see -:t-)
doe \cdot nilo'_u q^u at
dog xa'altsin
done, cooked, to boil -huko-
don't! maats
door laq/anxo'_una \cdot l (see la'q/a)
 there is a door senk!ala xwie'tsne (see -sen-)
doorway a_a'kuq!yuk!alaxwe'et (see -q!yu-, -k!alaxawuet, a_a'k!alaxuwe'et)
down (away from speaker) un- pr.
  towards speaker) uk- pr.
```

```
down, bird's a<sub>a</sub>'q!ok.lu'pqa
 drag, to -hanokue_i(te) (see -ha-)
   they dragged them ts!enawes'nokue'ite (see [-nokui]-)
 dragon fly a_a'kenka'ma'k C
 dream a_a'k.letsate'yam
drinking-place aa'k!aku'xa
drive, to -hoyet!t-
   to drive game -halaqanil- (see -hal-), -haqan\epsilon l
drown, to -upvq_u- (see -up-)
drum, to t!amuxo- (see -t!a-)
dry, to be -mas(e_i)-, -h\iota luk-, -humas-
  to dry meat -\epsilon twas(k!o)-
  dried meat wa'tskana
  a piece of dried meat a kenxamulu'la k
dual -kis-
duck kia'q!la, la'tuq!
dust storm a_a'kele'ngan
eagle, bald-headed a<sub>a</sub>'kenuqlo'la'm
eagle, golden nalaqlı'lık. See -q!nukua't, kiaq!nu'kua''t
ear a_a'ku'qwa't!, a_a'qu'qwat!, -q_uwat
  both ears xatsengawa't!ne (see xatsen-)
  ear ornament a_a'kok!uatsk!a'k!o', a_a'ku'k!pma'k!
early we'lnam
eat, to -\iota k-
  he was always eating n'upsla't_iyil':'k_ine' (see -lat<sub>i</sub>yil-)
  he eats while going petseke' meik (see -pets)
  he ate all q/a'px_ane (see -xa- suff.)
  he ate himself entirely q!apxa'me'k (see -q!ap-)
edge c'nta, aq!as, aa'q!asak
eel a_a'ko'la'm C
egg a_a'kma'q!a'n, -maq!an
eight wuxa'atsa (see w_{\ell}-)
elbow -uqtaptse'k!, -taptse'k, a_a'kwi'tsa'k, a_a'k'nuqtaptse'k'_ina'm (see a_a'ktaptse'_ikna'm)
elder brother tat!
elk, bull kelq!a'le
  fawn nu'k.louku
  female la'wo
emerges, he — again la \cdot awa \cdot kmew \cdot su' k_u ne' (see -wis-)
  it emerges n'awak!mosu'q_une (see -mu[w_isu!q]-)
empty, it is \(\ell_t t q a w u' m n e^{\cdot \text{(see \(\ell_t t_{-}\))}}\)
endeavor, to -alsen(t)-
enemy ine'nik!
Englishman soya'pe
entered, suddenly he nukuhaq!ma`kikqa'ane` (see -haq!ma-)
entire (before independent verbs) q!apit- (see qa!p-), (before suffixes) -q!ap-
  he was burnt entirely q!apku'_une (see -q!ap-)
  he ate himself entirely q!apxa'me'k (see -q!ap-)
entirety yes—ke
  the whole night yesenwunmiye'tke' (see -miyet)
  world, the yislei'tke (see yis—ke), yislei'tske (see -leit)
entrails a'a'quqt
Epilobium angustifolium, fireweed aa'kankome'ika C
even me'ka
evening tschmi'yet (see -miyet), walkwa.eyetne (see -yet-, wa'lkwa)
```

```
evidence, there is — of some one having been present -halikina_a t \cdot t_i(ne)
 evidently t- pr.
 (exclamations) sak, ha'phohe'ha, hao'm', ha'ksa, kaá, heyâ, hya', hal'ya', hê
 excrement a_a q! u' le
 excrescence on surface, there is a -q!anlupxamako-
 extinguish fire, to -hug!utsko-
 eye a_a'kaqt'lna'm, -qtl
   his eyes were like sclqa\psqakcsqlc'lne (see -qaps-)
   of needle aa'kalme'et C
   of potato aa'kilala'qai C
 eyebrow a<sub>a</sub>'qwatq!al<sub>i</sub>ka'kna'm
   eyebrows a_a'q!al:ka'kna'm, -q!al:kak-
 eyelashes aa`kumaqle'lna`m
 face a_a'ka'q!ne
 fail, to — to obtain -yuk!kuaka(te.)
 faint, to -hata'_a(ne^*)
 fall, to -ka(xu)-, -huqaxo-, takxaxo'u(ne), -hamaxu'kue (?)
   he fell back tuwun:nmuxu'n e (see tuw-)
   it fell down n'o'nilkaxu'n'e' (see -ka[xu]-)
   to fall into -moxun·e·
   he fell into the water nonaqv'n \cdot e (see -qu)
   act of falling a knenmo'xo
   snow falls from trees -hupumak(ne^{-})
 far away lu'n'o (see lu-)
   far side lu-, luqua-
   not far qawulee't_ine' (see -wu[qa]-)
 farthest, to be -yapt!a-
 father (of girl) su, (of male) t:'tu
   father's brother xa
   father's sister (said by woman) t:'lte't!
   father-in-law nawa's pal
 fat -s_{i}k_{-}, a_{a}'q'u'ta'l, aqa
   fat on top of tail of bighorn sheep a<sub>a</sub>'kt'nqa't
 fawn aa'keng!u'ts ak
 feather a_a'k:nqo''wa, -nqowa
   quill end of feather a_a'ku'kple C
   small feathers a_a'q!ok.lu'pqa
   feathers coming off k.lunqowa''xo (see -nqowa)
 feel, to -clxo, -ukpak-, -ckpak-
 female st!u'kuat
 fence post a_a'k:lq!aku'pk!o', a_a'kolu'xpc' C
 field aa'kanakalmu'ko C
 fifth, the — day kye_iko_unmi''y\iota t (see -y\iota'_iku-)
 fifty yeiku'nwo (see -ye'iku-)
 fight, to -k.laqanan-
 figure, grass — representing deer tsa'atsa
 fill pipe, to -hulnak!o-
 find, to -wuk^{u}q_{a}- (see -wuk^{u}[at]-)
 finger aa'ketsq!ahe'yna'm, -tsq!ahey
   little finger kiapt!aha`natsq!ahai'na`m
 finger nail a'a'kukp
 finger ring aa'k!watsq!a'yna'm, aa'kok!uats!tsq!a'yna'm
• finish, to -hu-
   to finish eating -hul'e \cdot k- (see -hu-)
   to finish something -huku_{\ell}n- (see -hu-)
```

```
Finlay Creek a<sub>a</sub>'ka'k!o's C
fir lou
fire a_a'kenq!u'ko', -hanq!o'ko- (see -hanuxo-), -ko- suff., -nq!oko-
  to be on fire -aq!ako_{u}, -haq!a-ko, -haq!akwait_{i}(ne)
  to extinguish fire -huq!utsko-
  to make a fire -clko-
  into fire xun- pr.
  he was thrown into fire xunakin'lne (see xun-)
  to start a fire -tsuku-
firebrand a_a'kuk! paxma'ko'
fireweed (Epilobium angustifolium) a_a'kankome'ika
firewood a_a'koxni'yam
first (to be) -hupa-, -us-
fish kia'kxo'
  a species of fish (?) a_a'kamo'kin C
  a species of fish, q!u'me
  a fish with large head and thin tail k!c'k!o_um'
  to fish -uqtawo:-
fisher wu'qt!e
  the real fisher tsema'k!: lww'qt!e' (see -tsema'k!)
fish hawk ts!o'uts!o
fish line a_a'kuqla'wo
fish trap a_a'k:\(\text{tsqa}, -k:\text{tsqa}, ya'\text{qa}\)
fish weir, wicker a_a'kwu'kxo' C
fist a<sub>a</sub>'kınuqo'yka'k
five, to be -ye'_iku-
flapping of wings aa'kikinqowaxoniyi'e's, aa'kikqapxoniyi'e's
flat -q/an-, -ts/la- pr.
  a flat object is still there -sk:kil-
  flat stones a_a'k:nuq!la'anuk, a_a'k:ts!la'no_uk
  a flat object is somewhere -sk:k-
  flat country (= prairie) skikts!la'nuqle'it (see ts!la-)
flesh a_a'kaxmala'na'm (see also -xma), -ulaks, -xma
  he also had no flesh on legs la'latq'o'x_u masa'q'a_ne' (see -q'uxma)
fleshy -q!uxma
flicker ma'aka
flint a_a'qa'tsko'
float, to -clqawcsqoku- (?)
  it floats wisqu'te'k (see -wis-)
flooded, it is sk \cdot kq! ano' u k \bar{u} n e (see -q! an-)
flower a_a k: nu'q!yuk Kel.
fluid -uk suff., -ku.
  yellow fluid a<sub>a</sub>'kma'k!tsuk
fly, to -nuxu-, -hanuxo-
  he flew into it qanalts eqan'm' nxo_u qa'ane' (see -xo<sub>u</sub>-)
  it came flying out qakal'akanoxonu'k_une' (see qa- pr.)
flying squirrel yaqa'nla'lt
foam a_a'qo_uq!l\iota'lup
fog \quad a_a `qunk!a'la`k
food -pits, a_a'kpi'tsna'm (see -pits), kwi'se
fool, to -agnets-
fool hen kia'wa'ts
foolish, to be -up_{\ell}(qa)-, -uktman(qa)-
  to act foolishly sclsken·ku·'tste·k (see ske'n·ku·ts)
```

```
foot -lek, a_a'k.le'knam
  with foot -cken suff.
  foot of mountain aa'kuk!ple'et
forearm -taptse'k, aa'ktaptse'ikna'm
forehead a_a'k:nqa''lna'm
forest -haq!anqots!lae:n
  there is a forest qa'akilhaq!a'nqu'ts!la'in (see -ts!lae'n)
forget, to -q/akpa(me\cdot k)
  forgotten, it is q!akpayote'lne (see -payo't-)
four, to be -xa'atsa-
  four days kxa·tsa·nmi'y.t (see -xa'atsa-)
fox na'k!ayo
freeze, to -hut!-
Frenchman nu'l'a'q_ana (see nu''la)
fresh meat qa'tsuk
friend (used by women to designate a woman friend) -ata
  friend (used by man to designate male friend) swo
  friends swv't_imo (see -t_imo)
fringed -haqoka'm-
  fringes a_a'qu'kam
frog wa'ta'k
from land towards water hul- pr.
  from water to land up- pr.
frost a_a'kumle'et, a_a'kunle'et C
fruit a<sub>a</sub>'kuq!le'et
fruit of Viburnus opulus a<sub>a</sub>'ko'mo'
full, to be -t!(qa)-
fur a<sub>a</sub>'qo'wat
future ts-, tsxat-, pr.
gamble, to -halwats!
gambler, bad ksa_ana'aki'n (see -kn)
gambling-bone wv'ne
game iya'mu
game, dancing in circle -henehe-
generations ya_aqanakdhaqwu'mke (see qa- pr.)
get, to -yax-
  to get (milk) -hako'l-
  to get out -(nok!u:n)-
ghost ka'atka
giant e^{-\prime}ka
gills (of fish) aa'koquatse'qa C
girl na.u'te
give, to -tska(ken)-, -hamat-
  to give food -hes-
glances, a blow — off from head wet!qkupqo'qlam'ake'n'e'
gloves a'a'q'a'l
gnaw, to -k!ts!x_a-
go, to -axe -qsa-, dual -akk-
  he goes about -qqa'atse.
  he goes along skaxe (see -axe)
  go ahead! yu''wa
  to go away -halones-
  go on! ho'ya
  to go out -anaxa'm-
```

```
go, to
  go along, to qa'na'xe' (se -qan-)
  they two went out n'anakesxa'mne (see -kes-)
  to go together qsama'lne (see -qsa-)
  to go up -nuqka-
  he went up on high yu·wa·kmnuqka'n·e· (see -nuqka-)
  to go and get -hayax_a-
  to go to get -lateqkat(ken)-
    he went to get one n'uk!lateqkatke'n'e' (see -lateqkat[ken]-)
  to go to get back -ts!enyaxa- (see -yax-)
  to go to war -wanaqana-, -anaxaka- (= to go out for something?)
  going at night (= moon) kts:lmet:lnu'qka (see -miy:t)
  going into ten- pr.
  he went across qanalwat!a'xe' (see wat!-)
  he went back aboard lao qoxaxa''mne (see -xa-)
  they went in t_i naq a n x a' m n e' (see -qan-)
  he went out of himself (n)uqo'kxamu'me'k
  he went way around n'tktkqla'lalqa'lse' (see -qla'l-)
  he went around in a circle qalqa'atse (see -qal-)
goat kianu'kxo
good, to be -so_uk-
  it has good hair sukq_uwa'_ate (see -q_uwa_a[te])
  it is a good place suk.lec't_ine (see -so_uk-)
  he took a good seat sukuxo'ume\cdot k (see -souk-)
goose kaxu'lo k
  white goose o'u
gopher initska
  young gopher na''ka
granddaughter (of woman) te'te'
grandfather pa'pa
  his grandfathers ats!m:lq!aluk!puka'm'e's (see -q!a-, -luk!puk-)
  great-grandfather ats!mit
grandmother (said by male) pa'pa
  (of girl) te'te
grandson pa'pa
grasp, to — with beak -huq!yu'k!o_{u}-
grass tsa'hal, -al suff.
  grass figure representing deer tsa'atsa
grave a_a'q!ulu'mko'
  graveyard a_a'k!awats!e'<sub>i</sub>ko'
      (-quxma-)
gray
grease t!ena'mu
green -haqloy t(qa)-
grizzly bear k.ta'wta
grouse (?) kia'wa'ts, inu't!ke'
grown, to be full -hul\cdot ak.le\cdot-, -hunme_ilak.le\cdot- (see -hu-)
gum --:/lwa:
gum tree a_a'k:tslak.lu'lal C
gun t!a'wo (see -t!a-)
gunpowder a_a'kenc'lxal C
hair a_a'qo'wat, a_a'ku'qla''m, a_a'kuq!la''m (?)
  hair of head a_a'kolamka'k(na\cdot m) C
  it has good hair sukq_uwa'_ate (see -q_uwa_a[te])
  long-haired one (Chinaman) knu'q!tam' (see -nuq!-)
```

```
half qayaqa'wo (see qayaqa-)
halter a_a'kok!uatska'lma
hammer po'po
hand a_a'key, -hey-
  his hand a_a'ke'ie's (see -hey-)
  he put his hand back la'ntaqahe'ine' (see -hey-)
  he covers it with his hand mane'ine (see -hey-)
  with hand -ken suff.
  to make with hand -tkin- (see -it-)
handle a'a'q!a'n
  (of tin pail) aa'kolu'quats C
  (of tin cup) a_a'kenqai kaxlukua'tse's C
hang, to -q!an-, -q!aha-
  it hangs saq!a'n'e' (see s-)
Hanson's Creek a'a'k!ne's aa'k:nuxo'unuk C
Hanson's Lake a'a'k!ne's aa'ku'q!nuk C
happens, something ts:nmal(qa!ane
hard ts! Ema'k!-
hare (?) t:lna'ako
Hare Lip (a name) kak!a'akit!
hat aa'k!ayukwa'ana'm, k!ayu'kua
hated, he — him sa \cdot nl \cdot kpakta'pse' (see -ikpak[te]), sa \cdot hanlukpa'kte' (= he felt bad)
    (see -sahan-, -\iota kpak [te])
have, to -ha-, -haqa'ane, -hate (see -ha-)
  I have it huna'ate (see -ha-)
  he has an arrow naka'ane (see -ha-)
  he had two arrows n'aimaka'ane' (see -ka-)
  he has a bow swu'_{u}te (see -wo)
  you have big eyes henwelkesqle'lne (see -kes-)
  to have clear eyes -haqts!:ql:l-
hawk, a species of (?) kiakqa'lo_{u}k
  a small hawk a<sub>a</sub>'kenoq!ota'tit
head a'a'k.la''m, -la''m
  of tent apko:k!u
hear, to -hulpal(ne)- (see -pal-)
heart a_a'k:\elllwey, -\elllwey, -(\ell)lwey-
heavy, to be -anck!e:-
  it is heavy l\iota tx_a maqa'_a ne (see -x_a ma-)
heel a_a'ku'k!pa'k
helps, he (n')un'aqalo'qniya'x_une'
helpful, to be -utspat!-
hide, to -ct.latsu-
hill a_a'kwitsle'et (?) C
hill a_a'qanq!_iyum\epsilon'n'a (see _q!yu-)
  Hillside (a place name) a_a'qanq!yume'n'a
hips a_a'k!a'_akpo'k! C
hit, to -moxun e.
  he hit it there quoxala'lte (see -lal[te])
  he hits it wuk!o'_une (see -wu-)
hoe (?) a_a'k.lilkaku'pko' C
hold, to -tsin-
  it holds it by the tail nawetsqatke'n e (see -ha=)
```

```
hole (?) -k!a_ak, -k!a(me), a_ak!a'_ame (see also -me)
  he made a hole n'tk!ame'ine (see -k!a[me])
  hole in ice, water hole a'a'ka'k, a_a'k!aq
  where there is a hole in a mountain hank!am_inake (see ha \rightarrow ke)
hollow place in ground a<sub>a</sub>'k<sub>i</sub>k<sub>q</sub>la'lale'<sub>i</sub>t
 hollow place in mountain side a_a'kıkqla'lawuqle''t
  hollow place with dry timber a_a'k:kqla\lak!aqlu'nuk
hoof of deer or cattle a<sub>a</sub>'k<sub>c</sub>tsq!alu'pta'k
hook a_a'kuqla'wo, tsu'wak!
hoop a_a'k!a'_almo·k, -k!a_almo·k
horn a_a'ku'qle', -qle'
hornet a_a'kapmate's yu''wat! C
horse xa'attsin, kq'a'taxa'attsin (= elk dog).
horsefly ine'si n
hot, it was really tsema'k!e'l'utime'le. 'tine' (see -tsema'k!)
Hot Springs, Ainsworth, B.C. a_a'kenuxle'etna'na C
house, tent -t.la, -(\epsilon)t.la
  to make a house, tent -tt.la- (see -t-)
  there is a house, tent sa'nıt.la'mne' (see s-)
housefly a_a qoku'wum
however at
howl, to -hakwa-, -kik-
  she ran out howling n'anmuqkupnoxo'ne'lkekwake'me'k (see -kik-)
huckleberries lawi'ya'l
hummingbird nuktsa'qleit
hundred \iota t!_{u}wu'nmo (see \iota t!_{u}wo)
hungry, to be -huwas-
hunt, to -anaxe (= to go out?)
  he goes hunting nal'ana'xe (see -hal-)
  when they had been hunting ya'akil'ana'mke (see -kil-)
hurried, he wasaq_a na'_a ne' (see was-)
hurt, to -cse'-, -t!aqts-
  he hurt his hand t!aqtseyxo'ume k (see -t!aqts-)
husband nu \cdot l'a'q_a na (see nu'' la)
  husband's brother atsa' wats!
I ka'min
ice a_a'kwi't!
if na'pit
in oqo- pr.
in water -q^u, -uq, suff.
increase, to -:telxo- (see -:t-)
indicative forms of all verbs beginning with an h, prefix of n-
  of all verbs beginning with a vowel n'-
infant (until the time when it is taken off the cradle board) a_a'qoka'pma't
initiate, to (see manitou) -k<sub>i</sub>yukpuktse (te<sup>*</sup>)
innermost part a_a'ke'lwey
inside o'qouks (see oqo-), a'qla
  (of water) ya'wo
  (of quills) a_a qo_u q! l l u p l n q o' w a (see a_a qo_u q! l l' l u p)
interrogative and participle, of verbs beginning with h, w, y, prefix k-
  of verbs beginning with vowel k!.-
  of monosyllabic verbs kl-
intestines a_a'ku'qtna'm
into t-, (away from speaker) ten- pr.
  (towards speaker) tek- pr.
  (a pile of things) tsaqan- pr.
```

```
into fire xun- pr.
 into water xun-qu
 into woods aq!an-, naq!an-, pr.
 invite to a feast, to tsuk!na'_a(ne)
 iron ne'lko
 island a_a q!a'nkme
 jaw, lower a_a'kamtsınka''k(na'm) C
 joint aa'qatskana'mke
 Joseph's Prairie, at Cranbrook, B.C. a<sub>a</sub>'kıskak.le'et C
 jump, to -m:nxo qa-, -qumlas(xo)-
   he might jump to the head of the tent l'apko·k!una'm'te:xa (see -nam'te:xa [?])
   he jumped sideways naqa'nkikqa'me'k (see -kik-)
   he jumped a little to the other side loa'q!mawisqa'ane
   the two jumped to the back of the tent la'nta oxakısınk!a'te'k (see -enk!at-)
 juniper a_a'kak.lu'lal C, also a_a'kok.lu'lal
 just qa'_alan
 kettle of pottery a'tso
 kicked, he — him across wat!me'te'ke'n'e' (see wat!-)
   he kicked it qanaqle'kx_ane (see -lek)
 Kicking Horse River a<sub>a</sub>'kenu'k.luk C
 kill, to -upt- (see -up-)
   by striking -q!akpa(kit)
kingfisher q!a'pqa't
 kiss, to -halqok!almax_{a} (see -hal-)
 knee a_a'q!a'na'k, a_a'q!ana'k<sub>a</sub>na'm (see -q!an-)
 Knee-Cap (a name) yu·wisq!a′na·k (see -q!an-)
 knife a_a'ktsa'mal, -tsamal
   with knife -q(a) suff.
 knock, to -t!a-
   (at door) t!axo'une (see -t!a-)
 knot in tree a_a'kukpitsk!a'la'k C
 know, to -upxa-, -oho-
   I know how to get it hun'onyilnu'k!une (see -[nuk!u]-)
   I know a place hun'o_u lite't_i ne (see -litet-)
   one who knows mind k!upxalwi'yte (see -lwey)
 knuckle a_a'kwi'tsa'k
 Kootenay River a_a k! a l e' e t (see -k! a l e e t)
   Kootenay River, Lower a_a'kuk.la'xal C
 Kutenai ktuna'xa
 Kutenai of Pend d'Oreille and St. Ignace a<sub>a'kiye'nek!</sub>
 lacings a_a'kuk.luka'tslo· C
 lair of a deer -k!a_ak
 lake -haq!nuk-, a_a'ku'q!nuk, -q!nuk
   a big lake kwe'lq!nok (see -q!nuk)
   it must be a lake k.lsa'kq!nuk (see l- pr.)
   lake on other side k.luha'kq!nuk (see lu-)
   little lakes n'a qa nalhoq!nukna (see -haq!nuk-)
 land am·a·k
 larch a_a'qo'pal, k!u'sti't!
large -wil(qa)-
last, to be -yapt!a-
   last one k
later on ma'qak, ta'xta
```

```
laugh, to -kq!u-, -umats-
  he laughed aloud w:lk:kq!u'n:e (see -kq!u-)
  he laughed thus qakq!u'n'e' (see -kq!u-)
law, to make a -\(\alpha t numo \cdot ts(te) -
lay down, to -\epsilon tq!an(k\epsilon k)-
lay out place for tent, to -:kinat:t-
leaf a_a'qo_ula'qp_{\ell}k
  leaf of pine a_a'ku'la'l
  leaves of tobacco plant papa'ta''m
lean, to be -tunak-
leave, to -mate
left-handed kulwiya't!ne (see -kul-)
leg a'a'ksaq!, -saq!-, aa'ksa'q!na'm (see -saq!-)
  leg is cut off lusaq!a'lne (see -saq!-, -q[a])
  long leg wu'saq! (see -saq!-, -wu[qa]-)
  leg part of skin a_a'k!a'_aq!yu
  length of his legs, the yisinwosa'q!ke' (see -wuq[a]-)
leggings a_a'qa'tik.lu'kua
lehal -hałq!ahałt-
lengthwise, to be -hutsqan-
  striped lengthwise kutsqa'nq!le'l (see -hutsqan-)
let go, to -pis-
  let me go on! ho'ya
  he let it go with hand peseke'n e (see -pes-)
level place (on a hill), where there is a haq!an'uqle'c'tke' (see -q!an-)
lick off, to -\epsilon lta(xa)-
lie, to (to recline) -saq-,
  it lies here sakqa'ane (see s- pr.)
  to lie down saq(qa_a)- (see -saq-), -\iota t \dot{x} o' u me \cdot k (see -\iota t-)
  he lay on his back tuwul'txo'ume'k (see tuw-)
  he lay (there) dirty sk_{\ell}k_{\ell}q_{u}ma'lne (see -q!o:mal)
  it lay there wet skikqoquts!ala'ine (see -qoquts!ala-)
  he lay down there quietly qa \circ xal' \iota tq! ank \iota kqa' ane (see -q!an-)
  he lay down the other way luqualitxo'ume'k (see luqua-)
lie, to (to speak untruth) -huts- (see -ke_i-)
light (not heavy) -xama-
light (?) a_a'k!almok^u a'et, -k!almukwa'e't
  a little light (shining) through a hole tsa_ak!a_almi`yitna'na (see -k!almukwa'e`t)
light a pipe, to tsuku'px_ane (see -tsuku-)
lightly -q!ma-
 he touched it lightly wu'q!maxo'une (see -q!ma-)
lightning a_a'kanlixuna'e't C
like, to -tslakeil-
  he likes it suk.lukpa'kte' (see -ckpak[te])
like -qaps- pr.
  it is like (it) qapsqaqa'ane (see -qaps-)
  his eyes were like sclqa'psqakcsqlc'lne (see -qaps-)
limb aa'qonake'lmak!
limping -haq!ank!o''(te'k)
line, those who are in -inalaqa'aake
lip, lower a_a'komu'na'm C
  upper lip a_{\mathbf{a}}'koka yuk! a m E(na m), also a_{\mathbf{a}}'kokwiyok! a m E E E E
listen, to -k!apal-, -hulpal(ne) (see -pal-)
  he listened k!apaltc'le'k (see -k!apal-)
```

```
little, it stuck out a sq!ma'\witslenq!a''ntse' (see -q!ma-)
  a little while wo \cdot q/uma_a ne \cdot k \epsilon' t_i ne (see -q/ma_a)
locust a kuk.łako/wum
lodge, tent, house -(\iota)t.la
  old lodge \sigma_a'kalat.la'tna'm C
lonesome huk.lukpa(me\cdot k) (see -huk.luk-)
long, to be -wu(qa)-
long ago pe'k!a'ks
(long objects) -ma-
long-haired one (Chinaman) knu'q!lam' (see -nuq!-)
Longwater Bay ya_akwu'la\cdot k
look, to -kat(e^{\cdot}), -w \cdot t \cdot s k \cdot k-
  to look for or at something -:tsk:l-
  how do I look? koa \cdot qaka'te \cdot (see -kat[e \cdot])
  to look secretly -hak.latsulwitskil-
  to look terrible -cse'(ka'te')
  it looks terrible n'ise kate'ine (see -kat[e])
  he looked around tse kalite't ine (see -lit:t-)
  he looked up wa'wetske'kine' (see wa'- pr.)
  he looks back lamanwetskike'lne' (see man-)
  it looks nice ts:nla(kate'ine')
  it looks yellowish namak!tsa\akat.le\tetine\'ne\' (see -kat[e\cdot])
loon nuqlu'k!uen (see -nuqlum-)
lose, to -iskaxamete-
lump a_a'q!anlupx_ama'ko' (see a_a'q!a'nlup)
  there is a lump, excrescence, on surface -q!anlupxamako- (see -q!an-)
lungs a<sub>a</sub>'kmölu'pu'q
lynx k!u'q_une (= short face)
magpie a'n'an
  a small magpie (?) e'qo't
make, to -ct-
  I shall make a bridge hutsetkokopke'n'e' (see a_a'ko''ko' C)
  to make a fire -: lko-
  he made a fire q!o_{u}koxa'me'k
  to make a house, tent -ct:t.ta- (see -ct-)
  he made a tent for himself n' c t c t \cdot t a' a t e' k (see -t \cdot t a)
  to make a law -ctnumo ts(te)-
  to make with hand -tkin- (see -tt-)
  he made a bow for himself n't'wukunt'leik (see -wo')
  he made a hole n' \cdot tk! ame' \cdot ne' (see -k! a[me'])
  just there he made it qooxal'etke'n'e' (see qao-)
  he made a mark in the center qaya_aqawa_aq!anq!lc'lne (see -q!an-)
  he made it nothing lu''nte (see lu-)
male qa'sk!o
mallard duck kang!usqwe'ikak
man te'tqa't!
manitou nöpe'k!a
  to send a boy to get manitou power -kiyukpuktse(te:)
many, to be -yuna(qa)-
  there are many yunaqa'ane (see -qa.)
mark -q!le_il
  he made a mark in the center qaya_aqawa_aq!anq!lc'lne (see -q!an-)
marrow a_a'kenu'lma'k, -nulmak
marry, to -halitet-, -salitet-
      85543°-Bull. 59-18---24
```

```
married, to be -halalite't_i(ne)
 master na'ksaq
 may -len pr.
   may be den- pr.
 mean, to -il_{\ell}kt
   he did not mean it tsins(ke'ine')
 means, by — of -mu suff.
 meat -ulaks, a_a'ku'lak
   to dry meat -\epsilon twas(k!o)-
   dried meat wa'tskana
   a piece of dried meat a_a'kenxamulu'la'k
  fresh meat qa'tsuk
medicine made of Artemisia discolor a 'kenuk.luxona' aka awu'mo (see a 'kenuk.-
  łuxona'ka) C
melt, to luquen ko-
  it melted strongly by heat tsema'k!il·oquenku'pse (see luquen'ko-)
  it melts -hog!ko:-
middle qayaqa'wo (see qayaqa-)
milk tsu'u
Milky Way (= dog's trail) a_a'kma'e's xa'altsın (see a_a'kma'na'm)
milt of fish a_a'q!a'nlup
mind a_a'ke'lwey, -(e)lwey-, -lwey
mind, to -entse-
miss, to -yuk!kuaka(te)
Missoula, a place about 4 m. from Sand Point, Idaho aa'kanu'k.le'l C
mistake, he makes a (n')umnaqalpalne'_{i}xo^{-}, -ts_{i}k!malen(ke'n^{-}e^{-})
mittens pa'l'ya
moccasin la'n'
money ne'lko
monster, giant e'ka
moon nata'ne'k!
  moon (=the one going up at night) ktsclme'tilnu'qka (see -nuqka-, -miyct)
moose netsna'pku
  bull moose kaq!a'le.
more a:n- pr.
  one more lao·k!ue.c'se (see la-)
moss a_a'kola'anak C, al'a, (Lillagenilla rupestris) a_a'kolawite'yal C
mother ma
mother-in-law te'te.
mother's brother ha'tsa, xa'tsa
mother's sister ko'kt
motion towards speaker k- pr.
mountain -uq!yu(leet), a_a'kuwuk.le't, a_a'koq!yule'et
  end of mountain wa'kaq!yule.c'tke' (see -q!yu-)
  foot of mountain a<sub>a</sub>'kuk!ple'ct
  there is a mountain yisle.i't.se (see -le.it), sakq!yulei't.s (see -le.it)
mouse c'ntsuk!
mouth a'ak!alma'nam, (-k!a)lma
  in mouth -agtuq!u-
  with mouth -xa- suff.
move, to -wan-, (?) -qsa-
  he moved his arm wanta't!ne (see -wan-)
  he moved it in the water wanuqke'n'e (see -wan-)
  to move camp -uq_{\mathbf{u}}na(me\cdot k)
```

```
much -yuna(qa)-
   much coal, there is yu'nats!kaki'lne' (see -ts!kakil-)
 mule (=his big-ears) k_u w \ell t e^{-s} (see -q_u w a t)
 muskrat ha'nq!o
 must be l-
   must be a lake, it k.lsa'kq!nuk (see l- pr.)
mutually -t_i mo suff.
my ka- pr.
myth a_a'qalq!anoxwa'te'
name a_a'k\iotak.\elle'yam, -(\iota)k.\elley -k.\elle'
   he was named thus -qa'k.l_{\ell}k-
name, to -at-
   (names of culture heroes) ya.ukue'ika'm, nalmö'qtse')
   (name of a dog) tso_u t
   (of Coyote's daughter) mesquelo'uwo'm
   (of a man) aa'kala'taa'at C
   (of place near Nelson) a<sub>a</sub>'qeya'mlapskak.le.c'tske'
   (place name) a_a qo \cdot la' a ka \cdot, a_a \cdot ko' q_u wit!
   (of region inhabited by Lower Kutenai) a<sub>a</sub>'kako''wo'k C
   (of region of a camping place on the trail to the Lower Kutenai) a_a kakolmite yuk C
   (of region of Fort Steele and St. Eugène Mission) a'a'k!am C
   (St. Mary's Lake) a'a'k!am \ a_a'ku'q!nuk \ C \ (see \ a'a'k!am) \ C
   (St. Mary's River) a'a'k!am \ a_a'k!nmi'tuk \ (see \ a'a'k!am) C
  (Wild Horse Creek) a<sub>a</sub>'ktsa'k.le' C
  (Skukum Chuck, below Finlay Creek) a<sub>a</sub>'kauma'kso'k C
navel a_a'k!alaka'kna'm, -k!alakak
neck \quad a_a ko'_u ka k
  nape of neck a_a'kuk!pla''mka''kna'm
necklace a'na
Nelson a_a'kya'mtu'p C
nephew pat!, (sister's child, said by woman) xalna'leil (see xa'l[e])
nest a kuq!no'kuat, a'qo''quat, -qoquat
  fish-hawk nest ts/o_u ts/u'q/ua (see ts/o'_u ts/o)
nevertheless pa·m·k
new, to be -wup-
news -tug!ts-
  to tell news tuq!tsqake'ine (see -tuq!ts-)
niece (sister's child, said by woman) xalna'leil (see xa'l[e])
  (brother's daughter) pa
  sister's daughter (said by woman) swina'le l (see swyn)
night hawk ple:qls
nine, to be -qa.ik \cdot t!_{u}wo- (see [-\iota k \cdot t!_{u}wo]), qa.\iota k \iota' t!_{u}wo (see -qa-)
no! waha', uwa'ha
  there is no water letu'kune (see let-)
nock of arrow a_a'q!a'nq!ak C
nod, to -haq!a naq!ne;-, -isqaq!anaq!ne 'nil-
noise a_a'k.luk.le'et, a_a'k.k.lite'yam, -hak.let-, -halukme- (see -ha-, -lik- [?])
  to make noise -helke--, -t!alo'_uk^u(ne), -kik-
  he made noise inside qa \cdot atsk_{\ell}k.t_{\ell}knat_{\ell}'t_{i}ne' (see -t_{\ell}k-)
  he made big noise welka'nilpalnexu'n'e (see -pal-)
  without noise of stones \(\ell_i t k_i n o k u_i' \ell n e^* \) (see -kik-)
noose (on rope) aa'kankaltsı'ka C
nose a_a'k!u'nka'k, -k!unkak; -k!on, a_a'kuqsala'na'm, -qsala
```

```
nostril -k!asla'akak, a_a'k!aslaka'kna'm (?)
 not qa-
   not far qawule'_ine (see -wu[qa]-)
 nothing lu-, lu'n-e- (see lu-)
   he made it nothing lu''nte' (see lu-)
   again there is nothing lalo'use (see la-)
 number yisa'ske (see yis—ke)
 object -l-suff.
 off, a little ways agat!- pr.
 oh e, a•
   oh! hê, hal·ya·, hai, há·
  oh if! ta_a q
oil, to -ts/aq_a-
 old man nu''la
 old woman te'lna, telna'mu
once, at ok/u_{\ell}l_{-}, ok/u_{\ell}nl_{-}, uk/u_{\ell}nl_{-}, pr. (see -ok/u[e^{-}]_{-})
one, to be -ok/u(e)-
  the one (n')ao''k!ue'
  one hundred \(\ell t!_u w u' n w o \) (see \(-\ell t!_u w o \cdot -)\)
onion a_a'ko''wal
only ts!en
open, to -malin-, -uk!u(n)-, -(nok!u_{\ell}n)-
  to open (rock) -tsunok!o_u-
  to be open -huk!ue\cdot n- (?)
  he opened his mouth malenk!alma'n'e' (see -malen-)
  opening, hole -k/a(me^{-})
orbit a_a'kınıl' alaxapa'kna'm, a_a'kaxapa'kna'm
ornamental pieces on border of root kettle, small a_a'kutskakilukpo'xal C
orphan na''nka
  orphan adopted by me kana'nka'gal (see na'nka)
other, the (n')ao''k!ue'
  the other one nao'k!ue
  the other side la'tsine, on the other side le'ine
  other side lu-, luqua-
  lake on other side k.luha'kq!nuk (see lu-)
  he lay down the other way luqualitxoume k (see luqua-)
otter a_a qa'oxal
ought xma
our kamina'la (see ka'min)
out of a- pr.
  out of (away from speaker) an- pr.
  out of (towards speaker) ak- pr.
  out of woods tunwa- pr. (Lower Kutenai tun-)
  his two legs stuck out tunwakakiswi'ts'a'q!ne' (see tunwa-)
  out of the top of something -e'leik-
outer side of tent, at bottom, all around la'nta
outside la'a, la'la k
  they were outside k.lalaha'q_uwom (see la'a)
over ct!na- pr.
overtake, to -xanxo, (?) -a'nxo-
owl ku'pe_i
own, to -18-
own way, he wants to act his sen'akpa'me'k
paddle le'se.
paint, red name't'a
```

```
painting a_a ku'q!li l
palate a_a'kola'na'm C
palm of hand a_a'kuk.la'_i(na\cdot m) C
pant, to -halkekwas- (see -hal-), (n)hakwase'kme'k (see -hakwa-)
panther swa'
parents akinek!, aa'kene'k!na'm
  parents and children ala qalt t't_i mo (see -t_i mo)
parfièche a_a'qu'lum
(participle and interrogative pr.) k-
parting of hair a_a'kawu'k!o'
partridge t!a'n'qu'ts
pass (?), to (qa)hak!o_{u}-
passer-by a_a'q!utsa'ne'k (not used in modern speech)
passive -l- suff.
past man- pr.
  he went past manq!anke'me'k (see man-)
pay, to (-\epsilon nmak), -\epsilon t\epsilon nmak- (see [-\epsilon nmak])
peel, apple a<sub>a</sub>'ko''nak C
pemmican kelku'lka
penis a_a'ku'lats
pepper a_a'kukplu'lal C
perspire, to -hag/a-ko-, -ag/ako<sub>u</sub>-
Philadelphus Lewisii, berries of a_a'kuno'kyo'k C
pick berries, to -halq!at!e<sub>i</sub>-
pick up, to -itgana(qa)-
piece he bit off, a qa'sx_ane (see -qas-)
  to break to pieces -qas-
  he cut himself to pieces qasninqa'me'k (see -qas-)
Piegan sa'nla (see -sahan-)
pierce, to tsu(k!o'_{u}ne^{\cdot})
pile, to -nmu(xo)-
  he had a pile sanmolke'n e (see -moxun e)
  to pile up sanmuxo'me'k (see -moxun'e'), -\iota t!qao(xa)-
pin, to -apak!en-
pine he'm·o
  white pine a'a'ka'm C
pipe ko''s
  to fill pipe -hułnak!o-
pipe stem a_a'ko'la, -ula
  pipe-stem wood (Alnus incana) a_a'kula'wo k (see a_a'ko'la)
pit a_a'k!a'_ame'
  (for cooking) a_a'k.la'xwe'k!
pitchwood -nuqa'ko_u, a_a kenoqua'ako, -oqua_ako
pitfall aa'kenu'kweit
pitied, he — it k!umna'nlukpakitmu'lne' (see -ckpak[te])
place ha-ke
  place for drying meat a_a'kowa'sk!o'
  place with thick trees a_a'q/anqats/la'e'n, -haq/anqots/lae'n
  thickly-wooded place a_a'q/anquts/a'e'n (see -q/an-)
  place with dry trees a_a'k/ak.lu'nuk
  place with scattered trees a 'kenusu'k!po'n, -nusu'k!po'n
  it is a bad place sa'hanler'tne' (see -sahan-)
  it is a good place suk.lee'tine' (see -souk-)
  it is a well-hidden place -hatslet-
  to place -xa-
```

```
plain a_a'kitsla'_ame
plank a_a'kenuq!ula k!a'ako'
"plant standing up," used for arrowshafts a_a q!ox_umalc'et
play, to -k.leng!o-, -wats!-
  they play along qanalwa'ts!ne (see qa-pr.)
  he plays ball with bat -qaixo'ktse'k
pleased with something, to be -yclna'nts(te')
plenty suk^u akate'_i ne^* (see -kat[e^*]), ksuk^u aka'te^* (see -so_u k-)
plural -k\ell l-, -q\ell a-, -qan-
pocket a_a'kuła'ko (?) C
point, to -nk!un-
  point -nq!a-
  with point -k!o- suff.
  (pointed eye) k!uktsa'qle_il (see nuktsa'qle_il)
  he pointed at them hither qaka:nk!onc'lne (see qa-pr.)
  he pointed at them thither laqu'nank!onc'lne (see qa-pr.)
  it was pointed that way qa'nank!unc'tne (see -nk!un-)
points of bark canoe a'a'ko' C
poked him, he qunatsa'_ax_anc (see qun-)
poor, to be -k!umna-
  he is poor k!umnaqaqa'ane (see -k!umna-)
porcupine nc'lksaq
post a.ma'le.t
pot yets!ke'me' (see -me')
pouch aa'kula'ko (?) C
powder flask a 'kole' kam C
prairie aa'kenuqle'et (see -nuq-), skekts!la'nuqle'et (see -ts!la-)
  there was a flat prairie qa \cdot q/a \cdot nmoqts/cnu'k_u ne' (see -q/an-)
  prairie on side of hill a<sub>a</sub>'q!anuk.le'et
prairie chicken kts/c'q/la
probably nagan- pr.
property a_a'k.le'_ite't
propose a plan, to -ct.lckinatct-
proud, to be -hal \cdot axwat(e \cdot k)
puff, to -kik-
pull, to hakunke'n(\cdot e \cdot) (see -ha-)
  he pulled it in t_{\ell}k_{i}m_{\ell}'tx_{a}ne' (see t_{\ell}k_{-})
pup (of dog) tst!(na'na)
purple ke'_iko^*p (see -kup-)
pursue, to -m\iota tyax_{a}- (see -yax-), -nut-
  he came pursuing her qaknu'te (see qa- pr.)
push in, to (?) -yaptsa(ken)-
put, to -xa-
  he put his hand back la'ntaqahe'ine (see -hey-)
  to put in -haqtuq!ua-
  to put into water -hele kxaqken-
  to put on back -alaxo_{u}- (see -ala-)
  to put on with hand -alaken- (see -ala-)
  to put together -ct/qao(xa)-
  to put up -eya(ken)-
  he had something to put in (?) (ts')inalgana''nte
  he put it into it n'oqoxake'n'e' (see -xa-)
```

```
put, to -xa-
  put me off! p \propto xo' u nu (see -xo- suff.)
  he was put off pisxo'lne (see -l- suff.)
 quarrel, to -etket-
 question, to -ak.lel-
quickly -qkup-, was- pr.
  quickly he cut off the nose lugkupqsala'ate (see lu-)
  he comes back quickly wa's: t'axa'xe' (see was-)
  it burnt quickly ts!elq!anku'pse.
  he stretched his leg out quickly qal'at!naqkupq!alsa'q!ne (see -q!al-)
quietly he lay down there qa'oxal':tq!ank:kqa'ane (see -q!an-)
quill end of feather a_a'ku'kple C
quills, insides of a_a qo_uq!lelupenqowa
rabbit kianuqlu'mna (see also -nuqlum-)
race, a kalnuxu'kna m (see -nuxu-)
rail a_a'k:lq!aku'pk!o
raining, it is watoq!kuku'ti(ne')
raise, to -huk_unu-
rapids a_a'kaxa'pqle
raspberry a_a q! u'ko
rattle a_a'ko'q^u ma'l
  bunch of dew hoofs of deer a_a'kelq!a'lukp
rattlesnake we'lma'l
Rattling-Claws (a name) ka kiyaxa kukp
rattling noise, there is a skikinotxoni'le'k (see -not-)
raven qo'kue'n
raw -kup-, ke'_iko p (see -kup-)
reach, to -xa(xe), -a'nxo, -yax-
  one who reached the top kyu \cdot xa' \cdot xa \cdot m (see -xa[xe])
  they reached there qaoxaxa''mne (see -xa[xe])
ready kulat: 'qna (see -hu-)
  to get ready --tagna- (see --t-)
  he is ready to go wanakate' i(ne')
  he stood ready to spear (n')upsawitsa_akinxa'ane
rear part of tent, back of fire la"nta
rectum witma'pe's
red -(nohos)-, nos-, -(ha)nohos
  bright red sukunohu'se (see -so<sub>u</sub>k-), yawo'<sub>u</sub>nek!
red-hot -huko-
reed (?) ta'nat
reflexive ending of verbs in -ne: -me·k
  suffix of transitive verbs in -te -te-k
refuse, to -tsakel-
relation between sister's husband and wife's brother skat
relation, reciprocal, between parents-in-law and children-in-law, intermediate rel-
    ative dead xatkax'niyatu'mal
relation, reciprocal, between brother and sister alc'tskeil
relative (c)k!na'mu
relatives akinek!
remains of broken bones aa'q!a'na'k
rhubarb, wild ww'm'a'i
rib -no'kak, aa'knoka'kna'm
ribbon, hair, worn in front aa'kok/uatse'nko
rice a_a'ku'q/ua'l
```

```
rime aa'kunle'et C
rind aa'ko''nak C
ring, netted t!aqu'mo
  finger ring a kok!uatsetsq!a'yna:m
  hair rings made of brass spirals a_a'kikne'la'm
rise, to -nuqka-, -uknu-
  water rises nutsu'kune (see -huts-)
river -nmituk, a_a'kenmi'tuk (see -uk)
  a wide river k!almanmi'tuk (see -ma-)
  rivers are long wuqanmitu'k_une (see -qan-)
  largest rivers a_a'k!ale'et, -k!aleet
roast, to -luk!mo-
  he roasted it luk!moxa'me'k (see -luk!mo-)
rock, it is a_a'knukxu'me'k
roll, to -hagai-, -(ha)qay-
  he will roll himself tsxalhaqayeqa'me'k (see -[ha]qay-)
  at once he was always rolling about n'o'k!uinta'atiyi'ltsha'qaiyilmo'xona'titmo'lne.
    (see -lat_iyil-)
root -k!pv'kam, a_a`kuk!pv'ka`m, -(u)k!puka`m
  an edible root (?) a_a'kuqle'et
  a root found in swamps a<sub>a</sub>'ketsq!a'kam
rope, bark a_a'qo''qol
rose hip waq!o''pe's, q!u'lwaa
round -haq!anqoquat(qa)-, -q!anquqwat- (see -q!an-)
  it is round naq!anquqwatqa'ane' (see -q!an-)
rub, to -ts/aq_a-
  rub (with), to -\iota ktxone(mu)-
  he rubs it on -yuhake'ne' (see -ha[ke'ne']-)
run, to -halnukup(qa)-, -hanlukp(qa)- (see -hanuxo-), -\iota k\iota(me^{\iota}k), -ts!\iota nak-
  to run away -nuxu-
  he ran away no sanoxunqa' ne (see hosan-)
  she ran out howling n'anmuqkupnoxo 'ne lkekwake me k, (see -kik-)
  he runs moqkupnoxunqa'me'k
rushes (?) ta'nat
sack-cloth a_a'kala'laa'al C
saddle a_a'k!o'ne<sub>i</sub>s
  my saddles kaq!ak!o'nist (see -q!a-)
saddlebag a_a'qok.la'k!o
saliva a_a'q!uk.lu'mna'm
Salix desertorum a_a qo_u la'kpe kna'na (see a_a qo_u la'qp_l k)
salmon swa'q!amo
sand aa'kenko'ko'l C
Sand Creek a_a'ka'tak C
save, to -xat(k \in nuku)-
  to be saved -yuk!k_uakate! (see -yuk!k^uaka[te]).
  he saved himself xatke'n \cdot e \cdot see -xat[kenuku]-)
  he was saved xatknu'k_une' (see -xat[kenuku]-)
  he saves him xatk_i nuk^u c'n \cdot e \cdot (see -xat[k_i nuk^u] -)
saw, with -xal suff.
say, to -kei-, -(il)ke
he said so qake'me' (see -ket-)
  he said thus qake'me (see qa-)
  he said to him qake'ine' (see -i-)
  to say "yes" -lehe'(te')
scalp aa'qala''mla
```

```
scare, to -haq!maxo- (see -haq!ma-), -oy:t!axwa(t)-
  he scared them qakilaq/maxoka'ane (see -xo_{u}-)
scatter, to partsenme't- (see parts-)
scold, to -clkcl-
scrape, to -q!awuka-
scratch, to -\iota ks\iota a(t)-
screw aa'kwc'tsko' C
seam a_a'kilaktsumu''in (see a_a'kila'ktsu) C
season a_a'kelk!aku'ko't, -mayet, -(u)kot
  two seasons t!uk.lun·maku'tine·
seat a_a'kmoxo'na'm
  where he was seated ya'qaha'nqame''ke' (see -hanaq-)
secretly ats- pr.
  to look secretly -hak.latsulwitskil-
see, to -wuku(at)-, -upxa-
  to see at a distance indistinctly -ukunak-
  he sees tse_ika'te (see -kat[e])
  he sees it tse_i(ka'te)
seeds, tobacco a_a'kenu'q!yuk ya'q!e't
self -cscn-, -csnc-, pr.
send for some one, to -neyax-
service berry sq!u'm.o.
  service-berry wood a'a'k!wo'k (see a_ak!)
sets, where the sun yaqa'nalwat!mɛnuqka'ske' (see -mnuqka-)
seven wistla 'la (see wi-)
several na'qsa- pr.
  several days naqsanmi'yet (see -miyet)
shade ne'le
shadow a_a'k.to'_u k!wa
shake hands, to tsxa·malktsala'mne (see -tsxa [n·e·])
  shook his blanket, he n'anuxo''nlatimo'me'k (see -la[mal])
sharp -\iota se(qa)-
  sharp (stones) -k!a(no'_{u}ko')
sharpen, to -e tax-
sheep, bighorn kw\ell' lq le (see -w\ell [qa]-)
  mountain sheep ne'lya'p
shell k!u''mtsak(s)
shield qa'snal
shin aa'ko'kna'm C
shine, to -hoq!uk_iy_it- (see -huk!uky_it_i-)
shirt -qa \cdot twum ta_a t
shoe lacing aa'kuluqa'tslum C
shoot, to -\iota s(k!o)-, -\iota twa-, m\iota txa- (see -m\iota t-), -haq!axo'_{u}x_{u}(ne^{\bullet})
  he shot upward wa·metak/o'une· (see wa·-)
  shooting with it km \epsilon t x a' m \cdot u (see -mu)
shore c'nta, aa'k!a'lak
short, -o_{u}qa-
shoulder a_a'kenqu'm'yu, a_a'kwet!, -wet!
shout, to -haluk.lit_iya'x_a(ne) (see -hal-)
  to shout for joy -awut-
shrew tsc'nla, ka'lta't
shut, to -ts/upna-
side aa'kwi'yat!
  side of body aa'qalwi'yat!, -wiyat!-
```

```
side a, 'kwi'yat!
  on each side ya- pr.
  on one side tsck!e'n- pr.
  on the other side le'ine
  the other side la'tsine
sideways upin-, mal(u)- pr.
  striped sideways malu'q!lil (see mal[u]-)
sinew a_a q! u'lka, a_a k_{l} nq! a'lqa
sing, to -hawasxo-
  he sings going around q!untkalhawasxo'me*k (see q!untka-)
sink, to -iktsin(uq)-
sister (said by brother) alc'tskeil
  sister (of girl) tsu
  younger sister (of girl) na'na
  sisters nana'atimo (see na'na)
  sister-in-law (all kinds), intermediate relative dead luna't!e
  sister's child ha'tsa, (said by woman) xalna'le_il (see xa'l[e^*])
  sister's daughter (said by woman) swina'le' (see swin)
sit down, to -csakinu-, -hanaq-, -hanqa-
  they two sat down -in'a'ke'singame'ike'
  he sat down on top nago_u sag! maxo'_u me^*k (see -hagosa-)
  he always sat with back to fire sla'tiyil'a'n'taqanaqna'kse' (see la''nta)
  not sitting down a long time qa.e.txa'me.nqa'me.k (see -[e.txamen]-)
  sitting there sanaqna'kse (see -hanaq-)
six, to be -cn·mcsa-
size ye'ske' (see yes—ke')
skillful qastsu'mqaqa'ane' (see -stsu'm-)
skin, to -qla(te^{-}), -hunuq!me^{-}
  skin a_a'ku'qla
  dried skin a_a'kwo'q!la
  tan skin, to -tq!anxo-
  white (skin) aqts! \epsilon(xmala)-
skull a_a'k.lam'ala'k (see -malak)
skunk xa'xas
sky a_a'kelmi'yet (see -miyet); a_a'kel.mi'yet
  blackish sky hamqoq!uku*lakat.le*tctine*- (see ham-)
slap, to -mag!ne'(xo)-
slave tsukuatu'mał (see tsuku[a'te:])
sleep, to -q!u'mne'-, -leits-
sleepy, to be -hats!ala(qa)-
slide on snow, to -harmduqkate'le'k
slim, to be -ukts(qa)-
sluice box a_a'ku''no'k C
small, to be -tsa-
small ktsaqu'na (see -tsa-), -nana
  I have a small house (or tent) hutsat.lanana'ne' (see -tsa-)
  a place is small tsale tinana'ne (see -tsa-)
smell, to -aqluk/-, -hancmsiqq_a- (see -ha-)
  to smell of -hakumsikei(te') (see -ha-)
 it smells of -sncmsik(qa_a)-
  to smell bad -uktuk-
smoke, to -nuqu-
  to smoke a pipe (= eat smoke) -iknoquk_u- (see -nuq_u-)
```

```
smoke yam'u
  smoke hole -k!ango't, a_a'k!a'ngo'(t)
snail ndxamyu'wat!
snake a_a'k\epsilon nu'la'm
snipe nuktsnaq!a''nka'm
snort, to -t/anukqlo'_uku(ne)
snow -lu, a'a'k \cdot lu (see -lu), a'a'k \cdot lo'
snow falls from trees -hupumak(ne)
  it is snowing -walenk!alalu'ne
snowshoes -k!aqayt, a_a'k!a'qayt
snowstorm -wa'milnilket-
so, he thought qalwi'yne (see qa-)
socks a_a'kal' \epsilon'kna'm C
soft, to be -tspuq!uei-
sole of foot a_a'kuk.lak.le'k(na'm) C
some one na'qa, (indefinite object) -ka suff., (indefinite subject) -nam suff.
somebody qa'la
something qa'psin
son-in-law nawa'spał
song a_a'k_c lq! a'nil
soup na'qpouk, wo'q!ka'
source of river ts_a qa'haks (see tsaqan-)
sow, to -\iota tmo(k!o)-
sparrow hawk kiaq!aku'tats
speak the truth, to tsema'k!ke'ine (see -tsema'k!)
  he can not speak qataltsxa'n'e' (see qatal-)
spear (k)tsquna'akınxa'm'u, tsuk!oti'yal
  fish spear a_a'k.la'xa C
  three-pointed fish spear a_a'ko'unal, a_a'kenu'kmak C
spilled, to be -yek!ta-
spirit (?), a tsa'kap
spits it out, he matqlaxwa'ate (see -mat-)
split with hand, to tsck!kc'n'e' (see -tsck!-)
spoon p_i'tsa'k (see -p_its; see also -haluqk_in_ilxne_imv'[n'e'])
spread out -q!an-
spring of year, springtime luma'yıt (see also -mayıt)
spruce ktse'tsqa'l
squeezes him, it ts:nxu'n'e' (see -ts:n-)
squirrel ta-k!a-ts
stab, to -nulk!o- (see -nul-), -ako_u-
  he stabbed him with it quna ken xamu'n e (see qun-)
stake in gambling, to -std(e^{\cdot k})
stalk aa'kuk.lu'kua C
stand, to -wis-
  he stands hawisqa'ane (see -ha-)
  he stands thus qa·wisqa'ane (see -wis-)
  we stand hunakilwisqawala'ane (see -kil-)
  there stands -swits-, -sin-
  it stands in it nakilwitsqa'ane (see hakil-) `
  he stands biting nawe'tsxane (see -ha-)
  standing biting kawr'tsxa (see -xa-suff.)
  to stand holding -isgawits-
  he stands holding -hawitski'n'e' (see -ha-)
```

```
stand, to -wes-
  he stood ready to pound nawtsnulxo'une (see -nul-)
  he stood still n'itwisqa'ane (see -wis-)
star a_a'n\epsilon lno'hos, -(\epsilon)lno'hos, -lnoho_us
  how many stars? k!aqsa!lno'ho's (see -lnoho_{u}s)
start, to ts!ena'xe' (see -axe'), -hutsen-
  to start away from speaker ts/en- pr.
  to start towards speaker ts/ck-pr.
  to start a fire -tsuku-
  fire started qanaq!mak.lenq!oku'pse (see -haq!ma-)
  he started running no tsingkupeki me k (see -hutsin-)
  he started up river ts!enaltsagana'xe (see tsagan-)
starve, to -yanxu-
  he is starving -sakno'ktse'k
  starving, although having a fish trap ksano'ktsiyenke'tsqa (see -sakno'ktse'k,
    -k\iota tsqa)
stay, to -\iota tw\iota s(qa)-, -\iota tw\iota ts-
  to stay over night -y.ks.'le'k, -hakup(malna'mne')
  he staid qaosaqa'ane (see qa- pr.)
  he staid there sa.osaqa'ane (see sao-), qaosaqa'ane (see qao-)
steal, to -ay-
stealthily ats- pr.
steam a<sub>a</sub>'kalnolatako''ko' C
steep, to be -yaq(te'et)-
stem of tobacco plant a_a'ke'nqo't
stick aa'kenq!a'wo'k, aa'kanka'wok, a'a'kets
  stick into, to -apaklen-
  to stick on -t!apts-
  he stuck it on t!apts!ake'n'e' (see -ken)
  legs stick out tunwakakeswets a'q!ane (see -wets-)
  his two legs stuck out tunwakakeswits a'q!ne (see tunwa-,
  it stuck out a little sq!ma`\wi`tslinq!a'''ntse` (see -q!ma-)
still upskil-, sakel-, pr.
  he is still angry sa'kilsa'nilwe'yne' (see sahan-, sakil-)
stingy -up_iy_it!e_i-
stock of gun aa'kuk!pwu C
stockings a_a'kalc'kna'm C
stomach -wum
  of partridge a_a'koa'pla C
stone nu'ku(ey), -nuku-
  flat stone a_a'k\iota kts!la'nuk (see -ts!la-)
  gray stone a_a'quxma'nuk (see [-quxma-])
  rough, sharp stone a_a'k!anu'le'k
  white stone a_a'km:nuglu'nuk (see -nuglum-)
  burnt stones a_a q!ono'_u ko no'_u k_u ey
  flat stones a_a'kenuq!ta_unuk
  sharp stones a_a'k!ano'uko', -k!a(no'uko')
  sharp, flat stones a_a'kınuq!la'nu'k!ue'n (see -nuq!la-)
stop (intransitive), to \(\cdot twis(qa)-\), \(-itwits-\), \(-itqa-\) (see \(-it-\)), \(-qaqas-\)
  he stops qaqask: n.e. (see -qaqas-)
stopped, noise q/aluk.le.c'tane
stout -al-
straight, to be -apis-
```

```
straight upward qala'k'ne's
strange, to be -a_aqa-
strap, rawhide a<sub>a</sub>'kts!c'ka
strawberry a_a q'u'ko', a_a ku'q'o'
stretch out; to -it!na-, -q!al-
  he stretched his leg out quickly qal'it!naqkupq!alsa'q!ne' (see -q!al-)
  he stretched it out n'a'kaq!alk\epsilon'n'e' (see -q!al-)
  he stretched his hand into it tsaqa:natsq!ahe'ine: (see tsaqan-)
strike, to -lal(te)
  he struck it qanla'lte (see qan-, -lal[te])
  will strike from each side tsxalyaqxa`lalta'pse (see -qxa-)
  he struck again from underneath lao'nil'a'qxaqku'plalte'lne' (see -qxa-)
  he struck him suddenly ts/cnha^{\prime}q/mak/axne'kse' (see -k/ax[me\cdot k])
  by striking -xo- suff.
strike-a-light a_a'kete' imo
string, moccasin a_a'kuk.luka'tslo C
  strings for tying up parflèche a<sub>a</sub>'kilkaxnilko'lom C
stripe -q!le_il, a_a'ku'q!li'l
  middle stripe kqayaqa\wuha'q!lil (see -q!leil)
  striped sideways malu'q!lil (see mal[u]-)
strong, he is tsemak!qa'ane (see -qa-, -tsema'k!)
  strongly -tsema:k!-
stump -quluk!pko, aa'qulu'k!pko'
suck, to -tsutil-
suddenly, to do -haq!ma-
  suddenly he entered nukuhaq!ma·kikqa'ane (see -haq!ma-)
summer a_a'qsu'k!uitna'mu
sun nata'ne k!
sun dance -haquxol- (see -hanuxo-)
surround, to -halqo·ma·t-
suspenders a_a'kuk.tu'kuatskpu'k(na'm), a_a'kitu'kuatspu'kna'm C
swallow, to -u'mqol, -\iota'mqol, -hanuq!uya'a(te) (see -han-), -uq!wiya-, -q!wiya(te)
  he swallowed him k!unuq!uviya'ate (see -q!wiya[te])
swamp a_a'k!aqla'ha'l, -k!aqlahal, -haqanak!aqla'ha'l
swan qu'qo_uq
sweat in sweat lodge, to -wis(e^{-k})
  sweat lodge w_i s_i' a_i' (\text{see -} w_i s_i' e_i' k))
swells up, belly -hutkawumako-
swift kałnuku'pqa (see -hał-)
swim, to -naq-, -haq_a-, -huluqu- (see hul-)
swing, to -hawiskaxu'ktse (see -ha-)
switch for stringing fish lam'
tail -qat, a'a'qat
  bird's tail aa'kenuq!ma'ana
  fish tail a_a'kenq!a'qa't
  he put the tail up quickly qalyuwa kaq!alqa't_{i}ne' (see -qat)
take, to tsuku(a'te'), -ka-
  to take away (?) -wa-
  to take one's own -ups(t)-
  to take with hand tsukokuc'n'e' (see tsuku[a'te'])
  to take with hand out of water tsukuqkuc'n \cdot e (see tsuku[a'te\cdot])
  it was taken ashore la.u'pkaqk_inc'lne' (see -haq_a-)
  his wife is taken away from him wakalte'lne (see -wak-)
  it is taken from him waking'tne' (see -wak-)
```

```
take, to tsuk^{u}(a'te'), -ka-\cdot
  what he had taken out of water k!upka'anqo'l (see -ka-)
  he took a good seat suk^{u}xo'_{u}me^{\cdot}k (see -so_{u}k-)
  he took both xa'tseneltsukua'te' (?) (see xatsen-)
  he took it out of fire la \cdot upkak!o'_{u}ne' (see -ka-)
  he takes it n'atskalke'n'e (see -hal-)
tale, historical a_a 'qalpalne' yam
talk, to -tsxa(n\cdot e\cdot), -haqalpalne_{i}- (see -pal-), -hakq!yit-
  he talks naqalpalne'ne (see -haqal-)
  they talk together t!aqta·la'mne
  they talked nakq!ey\iota't_ine (see -q!ey\iota t)
  talking a_a keq!ye t
talons of birds a 'kitsq!aekama'lak
taste, to -axne
  it tastes good suk^{u}ax_{a}ne'_{i}se (see -xa- suff.)
tear off bark, I huluts!qalxo'_une (see -ts!qa_al)
teeth, with -xa- suff.
  molar and canine teeth inc'stin
tell news, to tuq!tsqake'ine (see -tuq!ts-)
  she told some one tsxanatka'ane (see -ka)
ten, to be -\iota t!_{\boldsymbol{u}} wo:
tent -t.la, -(\iota)t.la, a_a'k\iota t.la'na'm (see -t.la)
  part of tent near door la'q!a
  he made a tent for himself n' \epsilon t \epsilon t \cdot la' = t \cdot k (see -t \cdot la)
  (tent) is covered -tuk!xo(lne)
  tent cover a_a'ka'wu
  tent frame -nqo, a_a'k' nqo
  outer side of tent, at bottom, all around la''nta
  rear part of tent, back of fire la'nta
  tent pole a_a'kets; a_a'ma'le't; -kits, -[i]ts
  tent site ko'o
terrible, it looks n'use (kate);
testicle -maq!an, aa'kma'q!a'n
that go.
  that one ne
then ta'xa
there (demonstrative) sao-, saw- pr., -saqxal-, qao-, qaw- pr., qo-
  along there qan- pr.
 it is right along there qa'kilhaqa'ane' (see qa- pr.)
  he arrived there quoxa'xe' (see quo-)
  he staid there sa'usaqa'ane' (see sao-), qaosaqa'ane' (see qao-)
  just there he made it qooxal'etke'n'e (see qao-)
there stands -swets-, -sin-
  there is a hill switsteri'tine (see -swits-)
  there is a stone switsnu'kune (see -swits-)
therefore aqa(l)- pr.
thick, to be -waq(e'ine')
thick -at-
thicket -kilhaq!anqots!la'e'n (see -kil-), aq!a
thigh aa'kene'k!na'm, aa'q!o''wuk!
  (of bird) a_a'ke'nuk C
thin, to be -paqts-
thine ne'nko
```

```
think about something, to -kn(\epsilon lwiy)-
  he is thinking about it silkinilwiyteya'at'e, kinelwi'ytik (see -kn[clwiy]-)
  he thought thus or so qatwe'yne (see qa-, -[\iota]twey-)
thirsty -huk!nuq!luma
this na
thorn bush (?) kała'wo'k
thou ne'nko
thread a_a'kila'ktsu (also a_a'kola'ktsu) C
three, to be -qalsa-
  he has three children qalsaqa'lte (see -qalsa-)
throat a_a'k.luma'na'm, a_a'qla'nq!me'wae'k
through qayaqa- pr.
throw, to -mit-
  to throw many things -nmu(xo)-
  he was thrown into fire xunakini'lne (see xun-)
thumb tu'ts!a\cdot k!
thunder nu'm'a
thus qa-
  he said thus qake'_ine (see qa-)
  he cried thus qalo'_{u}k_{u}ne (see qa-)
  he is thus qaqa'ane (see qa-)
tickle, to -q!utse'_i(te)
tie, to -ituk!sa-
  to tie hair in knot (?) -huto gsa-
  to tie up (for shamanistic performance) -q!ax-
  some one who is tied up kq/axna'mnam (see -q/ax-)
  something tied together (?) kiakxa'xa't
time -y\iota t- suff.
tired -huk.łuk-
  to be tired -sa'n(qa)-
  tired walking ksaki'me'k (see -sak-)
toad ko'uko'
tobacco ya'q!e_it (see -yaq!-), wasa'q_ana'n, a_a'kmoq!o''ma't
  plug tobacco kq!awu'uka!t (see -q!awuka-)
  stem of tobacco plant a_a'k_{l}'nqo'l
  tobacco seeds a_a'kınu'q!yuk ya'q!e't
  Tobacco River a_a'kanu'xo C
  to cut tobacco -q!awuka-
to-day hosanmiyi'tke
toe a_a'k\iotatsq!a'kna'm, a_a'k\iotank!a'alik
  big toe k!a'le'matsqakEma'ak (see -matsqak)
together -mal suff.
  together with -t_i mo suff.
tomahawk aa'kinu'qte' < tomover 3710
tongue walu'nak
tooth a_a'q!u'na'n'
top a_a'kı'nqa'n (a_a'kı'nq!a'n), (?) -q!yu-
  to be on top of water -mu(w \cdot su'q)-
torch a_a'kınoqua'ako
touch, to -qunyax_a- (see -yax-), -wu-
  he touched him roughly wuqkupxo'une (see -wu-)
  he touched it qunya'xane' (see qun-)
  he touched it lightly wu'q/maxo'_une (see -q/ma-)
```

```
towards -huts- pr.
  motion towards speaker k- pr.
  towards speaker and out of ak- pr.
  towards speaker and into tik-
town a_a'k.k.lu'na'm, -k.lu
  those in the town ha_ak.lo'_uk^ue' (see -k.lu)
toy -k.l.nq!o-
tracks aa'k.li'knam
  (in snow) a_a'k!atu'kuit
  his tracks a_a'k.tc'k!e's (see -t\iota k)
trail a_a'kma'na'm, -ma
  it is a long trail wumana'mne' (see -ma)
  (in snow) a_a'k!alu'ko (see a_a'k!alu'kuil)
  trail is wide n'almama'_{a}ne' (?) (see -ma)
tramp on something, to -t!ats!aane'(ckc'n'e)
trap a_a'ka'k!o'
  fish trap a_a'ke'tsqa, -ketsqa, ya'qa
  my traps kaq!oka'ko (see -q!a-)
travel by canoe, to -haqul-
travois a_a q!_u ka'ma't
tree -ts!lae'n, -(i)ts!la'e'n, aa'kets!la'e'n (see place, thicket), weed)
  young tree -qlupin, aa'kuqlu'pe'n
  different kind of tree (?) k!a'k!lan'aq!o'x_umale'et (see -q!uxma)
  tree on other side k.lohansts!la'e'n (see lu-)
  dry trees -hak!ak.tonuk-
trembled for fear, he n'upt!enmetelwe'yxome'k (see -upt!enmit-)
tripe a_a'k.laqpe'sqap
trout qu'stet!
try, to -ako_{\boldsymbol{u}}k^{\boldsymbol{u}}\boldsymbol{c}n-
  to try hard -alsen(t)-
turn, in -la'-
turnip a_a'k.lEmala'k(na'm) C
turtle ka'xax
twig la'm'
  little twig a_a'q!utsk!a'lakna'na
two -as, -ai-> -as+n (see -as)
  to be two -as-
  two children lkamuku: ste·k (see -k:s-)
  she had two children n'asqa'lte (see [qalt])
  two seasons t!uk.lun maku't_ine
uncle (father's brother) xa
  (mother's brother) xa'tsa, ha'tsa
under blanket, under cover aqsa- pr.
uneasy, to feel -hukoyilxone_i- (see -hukuya[kate_i])
untie, to -aqte-
up -iktik-, itkik- pr., yu-, wa-
up river tsaqan- pr.
use, to -hu-te
  to use a spoon -haluqk_in_il_{xne_imv}(n \cdot e \cdot)
uvula t!a'tka
valley a_a'kame'n'a, -k!a'mena, a_a'k.la'xwe'
vein a_a'q!u'lka
verbal stem -a-, -ala-
very -tsema'k!, -cse't pr.
vessel, pottery a'tso, yetske'ime (see ye'tske)
vest, embroidered a_a'keno'malnoka''kna'm C
```

```
Viburnus opulus, fruit of a_a'ko'mo'
 village -k.lu, a_a'k_ik.lu'na'm
 visits, he qo'na'xe' (see qun-)
 vomit, to (?) -walne-
 wad of gun aa'kukwate'lil C
 wait, to -kpa(me\cdot k)
     they waited nanitwokucnxa'lne (see -hanit-)
     he was waited for nawetskpayate'lne (see -kpa[me'k], -wets-)
 walk, to -omo-
     I who walk about kuqa ha'alkqaats (see -qal-)
     to walk along shore (?) -ctsqawa·qa·(l)-
     he walks about (n')uk!en(axe')
 want, to -ute-
     you may want it henden'o'ute (see -lin)
     he wants to act his own way -sen'akpa'me'k
     he wants to eat more tsemne xa'ame k
 war, to go to -wanaqana-, -anaxaka-
 war cry, to utter -haling!oylo\cdot kua'a(me\cdot k)
 warm, to be -utime--, -o-ya-
 Warren Creek a_a'ka'ta\bar{k} C
 wart a_a'q!anlupx_ama'ko (see a_a'q!a'nlup)
 Wasa a'_{a}'k!ne's
wash, to -ektogo-
     he washes his body na'qtse'k (see -haq_{a'})
watch, to -clwctsk-
     to watch for something -wetskil- (see -wetskek-)
water -ku, wu'u
     water is warm n'ut_ime'_ik_une' (see -ku)
    there is no water letu'kune (see let-)
    he arrived at water laxa'qo'l (see -lax-)
    deep water a_a'q!a'nuk a_a'\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sigma\sig
    there is water ne'nha'ks
    it was thrown into water xunmetqu'ine (see xun-)
    he throws it into water xunmetqu'ine (see xun-)
    where there is red water ya \cdot knoso'ukue \cdot (see -ku)
water fowl, a small (long, slender neck, white belly, dark back) mc'tsu'k
water hole a'a'ka'k
water monster yawo'unek!
water ousel ts: tsqo m
wave a_a'qaye'nme'k
we kamina'la (see ka'min) .
weasel ma'yo'k
weather -le.ct
    it is bad weather sahanle. \ell't_ine' (see -l\dot{e}.\ell t)
weir, fish a_a'kwu'kxo' C
well! ho'ya
well, he sees suku_{\ell}l'upx_{\alpha}ne' (see -so_{u}k-)
wet, it lay there skikqoquis!ala'ine (see -qoouts!ala-)
what qa'psin
wheat a_a'kenku'la'l, a_a'kenkowa'la'l (Lower Kutenai) C
where ka_a
   where there is (verbal noun) ya-ke.
    where there is a hole in a mountain hank!aminake (see ha-ke)
    where there is a level place (on a hill) hag!an'uqle'c'tke' (see -q!an-)
            85543°—Bull. 59—18——25
```

```
whetstone a_a'kte' imo
while he was away ksc_akmu'xo (see -moxun'e)
whirlpool aa'kenlqa'yka'k
whisper, to -halatsukuiya'm(ne) (see -hal-)
whistle ku'sto:
  whistle to -halukwaxniyam (see -ha-)
white -nuqlum-
whitefish ma'teit!, o pa't!
who? qa'la
whoever qa'la \cdot n \cdot (\text{see } qa'la)
whole night, the yesenwunmiye'tke' (see -miyet). (See entirety)
wide -al-
widow, widower laxlo'mal
wife te'lna
wild -okoy(qa)-
  to be wild -hukue_i(qapqa)- (see -hukuya[kate_i]-)
willow a_a'q!uma'_awo'k
win, to -hoq-
wind a_a'ku'me'
  wind blows natum: n'e' (see -hat-)
  wind blows a certain way qanawitso''me' (see -ha-)
window aa'kanka'nuk.lulmukna'e't C
windpipe a_a q!_u wa'e k (see a_a q!_a nq!_m e wa k)
wing -(\epsilon)nqowa, a_a'kenqo''wa, -w\epsilon t!, a'_a'kw\epsilon t!
winter wanu(y \cdot tna'm \cdot o) (see -y \( t - )
  it is winter time wanuyi'tine (see wanu[yitna'm'o])
  (see -y\iota t-)
wise -ilkilwey- (see -ilk-)
  he is wise qastsu'mqaqa'ane (see -stsu'm-), nulq!o'k_une (see -lq!ok-)
wish, to -hak.luq!uwiyaxa-
  to wish for something -yelna'nts(te')
witchcraft, to practice -antsa-
with -mal suff.
  shooting with it km_i txa'm \cdot u (see -mu)
  with body or back -xo- suff.
  with foot -cken suff.
  with hand -ken suff.
  with knife, -q(a) suff.
  with mouth, with teeth, -xa- suff.
  with point -k!o- suff.
  with saw -xal suff.
without lit- pr.
wolf ka'ake'n
wolverene ats!po
woman pa'lkei
wood louk!u, -wouku, -we.k tree, wood 316; Just :413
woodchuck kianli'k!xo, kianli'kxo (see -nli'kxo)
woodpecker, black ku'po'k!
  red-headed woodpecker yama'kpa't
  a small woodpecker nałmużna yi t
work, to -ilwat!-
world yısleı'tke (see yıs-ke), yısle.ı'tske (?)
wound a_a'k.luktsum'o'ın
  to wound -ise'-
  Wounded Knee q!o·malq!a'n·ko· (see -haq!ank!o·'[te·k])
```

```
wrist aa'qo'ytka'k; aa'kwi'tsa'k; aa'kınkataptsı'kına'm (see aa'ktaptse'ıkna'm), writing aa'ku'q!li'l year -nmakut yellow fluid aa'kma'k!tsuk yellowish, it looks namak!tsa'akat.le't!tine''ne' (see -kat [e']) yellow-jacket yu''wat! yes hei yesterday wa'lkwa youth nıtsta'hal youth about to marry nıtsta'halq!lik!a'ma'l (see nıtsta'hal)
```

O



